Sajal Chakraborti Narasimham L. Parinandi · Rita Ghosh Nirmal K. Ganguly · Tapati Chakraborti *Editors*

Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases

Volume 2



Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases

Sajal Chakraborti Narasimham L. Parinandi Rita Ghosh • Nirmal K. Ganguly Tapati Chakraborti Editors

Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases

Volume 2



Editors Sajal Chakraborti Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics University of Kalyani Kalyani, West Bengal, India

Rita Ghosh Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics University of Kalyani Kalyani, West Bengal, India

Tapati Chakraborti Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics University of Kalyani Kalyani, West Bengal, India Narasimham L. Parinandi Department of Internal Medicine The Ohio State University Columbus, OH, USA

Nirmal K. Ganguly Apollo Hospitals Educational & Research Foundation (AHERF) Indraprastha Apollo Hospitals New Delhi, Delhi, India

ISBN 978-981-32-9365-6 ISBN 978-981-32-9366-3 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore



This book is dedicated to Prof. Amartya Sen (Nobel Prize winner in Economic Sciences in the year 1998) for his outstanding contribution in human welfare economics devoted to ameliorate inequality and poverty. Prof. Sen was born in Santiniketan on 3rd November 1933 on the campus of Rabindranath Tagore's Visva-Bharati University. He spent some of his childhood in Dhaka (now in Bangladesh) and was educated there at the St. Gregory School. His father, Prof. Asutosh Sen, taught chemistry at the Dhaka University. However, it was at Santiniketan where his educational attitudes were formed. After schooling at Santiniketan, Prof. Sen studied at Presidency University in Calcutta, where his intellectual horizon was

radically broaden. After graduation, he moved to Trinity College in Cambridge. He later taught at both these universities, and also at Delhi University, London School of Economics, Oxford University, and Harvard University, and on a visiting basis at MIT, Stanford, Cornell, and the University of California at Berkeley.

Prof. Sen has devoted his career mostly on the well-being of the community. In several writings, he addressed problems such as individual rights, majority rule, and the availability of information about individual lives, which inspired many researchers to turn their attention to basic welfare of common people. His views eventually prompted policy-makers of different developing countries to find ways to enhance well-being of the poor through public works project. He is a vigorous defender of academic freedom, possible education, and public health system.

Prof. Sen undoubtedly is a legendary international figure, who devoted most part of his academic and social life for the development of the poor. He has excellent ability to motivate young researchers. His novel insight to explore and amalgamate philosophy with economics for human welfare is amazing. He is truly a genius. We feel honoured to dedicate this book to Prof. Amartya Sen and wish him good health in his long fruitful activities.

Kalyani, West Bengal India Sajal Chakraborti

Preface

"Queen: O Hamlet, thou hast cleft my heart in twain. **Hamlet**: Oh, throw away the worser half, and live a purer life with the other!"

(William Shakespeare: Hamlet: Act 3; scene-4)

The numbers of diseases in which detrimental oxidation processes play aggravating roles have grown steadily over the past two decades. Among the diseases, oxidant-induced lung diseases are the most prevalent in humans.

"Oxidative stress" indicates a disturbance in the pro-oxidant/antioxidant balance and swings it in favour of the pro-oxidants, leading to potential damage to various components of cells and tissues. The novel roles of oxidants and antioxidants as mediators in signalling cascades have opened new areas of active research. This book provides chapters with evidence for crucial roles of oxidants and antioxidants in regulating different types of lung diseases.

This book focuses on some new strategies of antioxidant defence counting new pharmacologically active agents, presents current knowledge of known agents, and provides possible therapeutics of different lung diseases. It is hoped that the book will serve as a potential stimulus for further research.

Considering the progression of a plethora of research in this area, it is possible that some of the propositions made by the contributors may eventually turn out to be otherwise. A Harvard biochemist once said to his graduate students that "half of what we taught is probably wrong, but at this stage, we do not know which half". Gottfried Schatz (former Secretary General of EMBO, former President of Swiss Science and Technology Council, and former Editor of *The FEBS Letters*) once said that "the uncertainty of scientific knowledge is not weakness, but strength. The scientific vision of the world has dynamic stability. It is not chained to facts, but in a way of looking at them. Most institutions demand absolute faith, but science makes scepticism a virtue. Scientists see the world as it is and not as they want it to be".

This book is an outcome of enthusiasm of various renowned experts in their relevant research areas and contains four subdivisions. *Part 1* describes the general aspects of reactive oxygen species-mediated lung diseases; *Part II* enumerates chronic lung diseases like asthma, COPD, inflammatory lung diseases, and lung fibrosis; *Part III* provides notable information on respiratory syncytial virus (RSV)induced lung diseases and different aspects of lung cancer; and *Part IV* deals with prevention and therapeutics. Each chapter in this book raises many questions that need to be addressed for finding appropriate solutions in the area of oxidant-induced lung diseases.

We are greatly indebted to all contributors for their considerable energy, time, and effort to accomplish a complete chapter with no quid pro quo benefit. We would like to thank Mr. Lenold Esithor and Dr. Madhurima Kahali (Springer Nature) for their cooperation and support during the preparation of the book.

Kalyani, West Bengal, India

Sajal Chakraborti

About the Book

This book is intended to provide multidisciplinary approach demonstrating cellular and molecular mechanisms associated with ROS-induced initiation and progression of a variety of lung diseases such as COPD, emphysema, asthma, cystic fibrosis, occupational pulmonary diseases, and importantly lung cancer. The book also covers translational research on lung diseases and recent research on the prevention and therapeutics of different types of lung diseases. Considering the depth and plethora of information to be covered, each article of this book are immensely useful for the researchers working on understanding the mechanisms associated with different types of lung diseases and to identify targets for drug development. With this multidisciplinary scope, this book will bridge the gap between fundamental and translational research with its application in biomedical and pharmaceutical industry, making it a thought-provoking reading for basic and applied scientists engaged in biomedical research.

Contents

Part	t I General Aspects of Reactive Oxygen Species-Mediated Lung Diseases	
1	The Effects of Free Radicals on Pulmonary Surfactant Lipids and Proteins Mustafa Al-Saiedy, Francis Green, and Matthias Amrein	3
2	Oxidative Stress in Experimental Models of Acute Lung Injury Daniela Mokra and Juraj Mokry	25
3	Potential of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Modulating Oxidative Stress in Management of Lung Diseases Rituparna Chaudhuri, Manisha Singh, and Sujata Mohanty	59
4	Role of NADPH Oxidase-Induced Oxidative Stress in Matrix Metalloprotease-Mediated Lung Diseases Jaganmay Sarkar, Tapati Chakraborti, and Sajal Chakraborti	75
5	Oxidative Stress Mechanisms in the Pathogenesis of Environmental Lung Diseases	103
Part	t II Chronic Lung Diseases	
6	Oxidative Stress-Induced Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Asthma Samarpana Chakraborty, Kritika Khanna, and Anurag Agrawal	141
7	Regulation of Antioxidant Nrf2 Signaling: An ImportantPathway in COPDNirmalya Chatterjee and Debamita Chatterjee	161
8	Role of Oxidative Stress Induced by Cigarette Smoke in the Pathogenicity of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Anuradha Ratna, Shyamali Mukherjee, and Salil K. Das	177

9	Oxidative Stress in Obstructive and Restrictive Lung Diseases Elena Bargagli and Alfonso Carleo	213		
10	TRP Channels, Oxidative Stress and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Amritlal Mandal, Anup Srivastava, Tapati Chakraborti, and Sajal Chakraborti	223		
11	Paraquat-Induced Oxidative Stress and Lung Inflammation Namitosh Tyagi and Rashmi Singh	245		
12	Environmental and Occupational agents and Cancer Drug-Induced Oxidative Stress in Pulmonary Fibrosis Tapati Chakraborti, Jaganmay Sarkar, Pijush Kanti Pramanik, and Sajal Chakraborti	271		
Par	t III Other Lung Diseases			
13	Respiratory Syncytial Virus-Induced Oxidative Stressin Lung PathogenesisYashoda Madaiah Hosakote and Kempaiah Rayavara	297		
14	Reactive Oxygen Species: Friends or Foes of Lung Cancer? Deblina Guha, Shruti Banerjee, Shravanti Mukherjee, Apratim Dutta, and Tanya Das	331		
15	Role of Noncoding RNA in Lung Cancer	353		
16	Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS): Modulator of Response to Cancer Therapy in Non-Small-Cell Lung Carcinoma (NSCLC)	363		
17	Lung Cancer: Old Story, New Modalities! Urmi Chatterji	385		
Part IV Prevention and Therapeutics				
18	The Use of Ozone as Redox Modulator in the Treatment of the Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Emma Borrelli	413		
19	Oxidative Stress and Therapeutic Development in Lung Cancer Animesh Chowdhury, Sarita Sarkar, Soma Ghosh, Ashish Noronha, Tapati Chakraborti, and Sajal Chakraborti	427		

20	Regulation of Oxidative Stress by Nitric Oxide Defines	
	Lung Development and Diseases	445
	Suvendu Giri, Sumukh Thakar, Syamantak Majumder,	
	and Suvro Chatterjee	
21	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor: Promising Targets	
	for Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer.	465
	Della Grace Thomas Parambi, K. M. Noorulla, Md. Sahab Uddin,	
	and Bijo Mathew	
22	Oxygenated Lipid Products in COPD and Asthma:	
	A Clinical Picture	473
	Debamita Chatterjee	

About the Editors

Dr. Sajal Chakraborti is a Professor of Biochemistry at the University of Kalyani, West Bengal, India. His research focus is on the role of proteases, oxidant, and Ca²⁺ signaling phenomena in the pathogenesis of lung diseases. He received Ph.D. from the Calcutta University in the year 1982 and his D.Sc. from the Kalyani University in the year 2004. He did postdoctoral research at the Johns Hopkins University, University of Utah, and New York Medical College as a Fulbright Fellow in 1987– 1990. He received DBT-Senior Overseas Research Award for his research at the Brain Institute, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida, in 1999. He has been involved in teaching and research in Biochemistry for the past 40 years. He has published over 110 original research papers, 22 book chapters, and 15 review articles and also edited 12 books published by Springer.

Dr. Narasimham L. Parinandi is an Associate Professor in the Pulmonary Division of the Department of Medicine at the Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio. He earned his Ph.D. in the year 1986 from the University of Toledo, Toledo, OH, USA. Dr. Parinandi did postdoctoral research at the Hormel Institute, University of Minnesota, and also at the Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine. Dr. Parinandi has published over 100 research papers and edited a book on free radicals and antioxidant protocols.

Dr. Rita Ghosh is a Professor of Biophysics in the Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics, University of Kalyani, Kalyani, West Bengal, India. She obtained Ph.D degree from the Calcutta University and did postdoctoral research at the Swiss Institute for Experimental Cancer Research, Lausanne, Switzerland in 1991–1993. Her research focuses on the different aspects of cell biology and radiation biology. She has been engaged in teaching and research for over 30 years and published over 40 original research papers, and has written some review articles and book chapters.

Dr. Nirmal K. Ganguly was the Director General, Indian Council of Medical Research (ICMR), New Delhi. He is currently associated with the Translational Health Science and Technology Institute, Faridabad, India. He has published over 700 research papers and edited several book chapters and review articles.

Dr. Tapati Chakraborti is a Professor of Biochemistry at the University of Kalyani, West Bengal, India. She did Ph.D degree at the Jadavpur University, Kolkata, in 1992, and did postdoctoral research at the Brain Institute, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida as a Fellow of the American Heart Association in 1999–2002. She has been actively involved in teaching and research for the past 30 years, and one of the important aspects of her research focuses on the regulation of pulmonary vascular tone under stimulation of vasoactive agents. She has published over 80 original research papers, 18 book chapters, and 12 review articles and also edited 3 books entitled published by Springer.

Part I

General Aspects of Reactive Oxygen Species-Mediated Lung Diseases



1

The Effects of Free Radicals on Pulmonary Surfactant Lipids and Proteins

Mustafa Al-Saiedy, Francis Green, and Matthias Amrein

Abstract

The pulmonary surfactant forms a mixed protein-lipid film at the air-lung interface. It plays a dual role of surface tension reduction and host defense against inhaled pathogens. In acute lung injury (ALI) and its more severe form of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), high surface tension throughout the lung results in intrapulmonary shunts and edema leading to atelectasis and hypoxemia. Pulmonary surfactant inhibition is associated with various pulmonary diseases. ALI/ARDS is common (150,000 new cases per year in the United States) with mortality ranging from 30% to 60% depending on disease stage. High surface tension can result from an absence of a surfactant film over significant portions of this interface, or from the presence of dysfunctional layer of surfactant. Elevated cholesterol levels are shown to be a potent surfactant inhibitor. Oxidative damage to both phospholipids and proteins is shown to inhibit surfactant function. The pulmonary surfactant may be degraded by reactive oxygen and nitrogen (RONS) species in the inflamed lung in the presence of physiological cholesterol levels. The inhibitory mechanism of oxidative damage on the surfactant film is outlined in this chapter. Lipid-sequestering therapies, including cyclodextrins, may offer a potential treatment to restore surfactant function and reduce pulmonary inflammation.

Keywords

 $\label{eq:pulmonary} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{Pulmonary surfactant dysfunction} \cdot \mbox{Oxidation} \cdot \mbox{Cholesterol} \cdot \mbox{Surfactant protein} \cdot \\ \mbox{Phospholipids} \cdot \mbox{Peroxidation} \cdot \mbox{Epoxidation} \cdot \mbox{Peroxynitrites} \cdot \mbox{Cyclodextrins} \end{array}$

M. Al-Saiedy · F. Green · M. Amrein (🖂)

Cumming School of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular & Respiratory Sciences, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_1

1.1 Introduction

The pulmonary surfactant is a protein and lipid mixture, secreted by the epithelium into the alveolar lining fluid, which spreads into a surface-active film at the air–lung interface. The film reduces surface tension of the air–water interface (about 70 mN/m) to <1 mN/m [1]. The small airways and the alveoli are unsupported by a collagenous scaffold and depend on low surface tension to maintain their structure. In inflammatory lung diseases, the film is damaged and collapses before the surface tension is sufficiently reduced. This leads to alveolar collapse (atelectasis) and reduces the patency of small airways [2], reducing gas exchange in the lung and further driving inflammation. Failure of surfactant is ascribed to the effects of exudative plasma proteins and, more importantly, the damage to surfactant lipids and proteins in the oxidative milieu of the inflamed lung [3, 4].

In this chapter, we review the structure–function relationship of surfactant and how pathological changes in surfactant composition and oxidative damage cause dysfunction. We list the susceptibility to oxidation for the relevant classes of surfactant lipids and the surfactant-specific proteins. We discuss the implications of a recent observation that the oxidative damage of the film is cholesterol dependent in the context of treatment options for surfactant dysfunction.

1.2 The Function–Structure Relationship of the Pulmonary Surfactant

For a film of molecular dimensions, pulmonary surfactant (PS) is exceptionally strong, a function that depends on its unique composition and structure. The pulmonary surfactant consists of 75-90% (by weight) phospholipids, with a large proportion (~30–45%) being 1,2-dipalmitoyl-sn-glycerol-3-phosphocholine (DPPC) [5–7] (i.e., both acyl chains of this lipid contain no double bonds), whereas mono- and polyunsaturated phospholipids account for the remaining 50-60%. Polyunsaturated species are reported as >10% of total surfactant phospholipids [8, 9]. Neutral lipids, primarily cholesterol, are 2-10% of pulmonary surfactant by weight. PS also contains four surfactant-associated proteins - SP-A, SP-B, SP-C, and SP-D [8]. There are two forms of surfactant aggregates, a highly surface-active form, referred to as the large aggregates, which is enriched in the hydrophilic protein SP-A and hydrophobic proteins SP-B and SP-C, and inactivated form referred to as the small aggregates. SP-A and SP-D's main functions are innate host defense, whereas SP-C and SP-B are required for the surface-tension lowering property of surfactant [1, 10, 11]. The complex mixture of the surfactant film, which includes a high proportion of DPPC, is thought necessary for the surfactant system to achieve low minimum surface tension during the film compression occurring at expiration. Additionally, it appears that the surfactant film requires unsaturated phospholipids to act as liquefiers for efficient surface adsorption and reinsertion of material during film expansion during inspiration [12].

Surfactant function has been studied in situ, in the lung, and fluctuates during the breathing cycle between about 10 mN/m and 0 [13, 14]. The early work on surfactant function and stability showed the surfactant film in a functional state in lipid monolayer and multilayer regions at the air–lung interface. This structure can be reproduced in vitro to study the structure–function relationship in details [1, 15].

To assess surfactant function in vitro, captive bubble surfactometer (CBS) may be used. CBS comes close to mimicking lung function as determined in vivo from pressure-volume studies [16, 17]. The CBS resembles near-physiological conditions and includes temperature (37 °C), dynamic cycling rates (20 cycles/min), and interfacial adsorption from minute volumes of concentrated (27 mg/mL) surfactant containing dense aggregates [18]. Surfactant film functional assessment begins with measurements of film formation, indicated by the fall of surface tension upon surfactant spreading. Subsequently, the measurement of surface tension upon dynamic compression-expansion cycling is performed. The minimal surface tension (MST) reached during film compression is the primary indicator of surfactant function in this test. The amount of area reduction required to reach MST is another indicator of function. Surfactants tested to date include a clinically used, animal-derived surfactant, such as bovine lipid extract surfactant (BLES) that contains both hydrophobic surfactant proteins and the lipids, surfactants extracted from bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) of animal models of health and disease, as well as patient surfactants.

To study the structure-function relationship, surfactants may be spread to the air-water interphase of a Langmuir trough, surface tension lowered by adjusting the film area, the film lifted off the surface by the Langmuir-Blodgett technique and imaged in an atomic force microscope. These studies show that the lipids of the surfactant accumulate in the interface with the hydrophilic head groups exposed to the water and the hydrophilic tail groups stretched out toward the air in a tightly packed film. Functional surfactant, in addition to this monomolecular lipid film, shows multilayered regions scattered over the surface. The multilayer regions of the film are 5 nm or multiples thereof high, consistent with lipid bilayer stacks. By comparing the structure of functional (Fig. 1.1c-e) and dysfunctional surfactants ([1, 16, 19], Fig. 1.2) as well as theoretical considerations ([15], Fig. 1.1f), stacks act as reinforcing elements that prevent the film from buckling at low surface tension. Buckling is the out-of-plane deflection of the film that leads to film collapse [1]. The surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C cross-link the bilayers to the monolayer. This attachment is essential (Fig. 1.1b). Otherwise, they would glide over the monolayer and have a little mechanical effect (Fig. 1.1c demonstrates cross-linking).

Surfactant-associated proteins B and C (SP-B and SP-C) independently enhance film stability and spreading by facilitating the recruitment of saturated and unsaturated phospholipids into the expanding film (Fig. 1.1e [20]). The positive charges of SP-B and SP-C proteins are essential for their activity. The positive charge allows for interactions with PG and other anionic surfactant phospholipids, critical to film adsorption. Additionally, SP-B and SP-C are essential for the formation of tubular myelin, the tubular meshwork the surfactant unfolds into upon release from the type II cells. Tubular myelin then promotes the rapid phospholipid insertion into the



Fig. 1.1 (a) Captive bubble surfactometer. The surfactant is spread at the air-buffer interface of a trapped bubble and its size varied while measuring surface tension (surface tension is calculated from the shape of the bubble). This procedure reproduces surfactant performance in the lung during the breathing cycle [19]. (b) Surface tension during cycles (color coded). Functional surfactant drops to a near-zero value upon area reduction, where a dysfunctional surfactant stays at about 20 mN/m (i.e., the equilibrium surface tension of most lipids). (c) AFM micrograph in threedimensional representation of surfactant (5 μ m × 5 μ m). The film shows stacks of bilayers. Each layer is five nanometers high. (d) AFM topography of the bovine-derived BLES (left) and electrical surface potential of the region (right). SP-C is a strong molecular dipole that gives rise to the high surface potential in the lamellae [22]. (e) Lamellae of surfactant are cross-linked to the monolayer, whereas lamellae of pure lipid films are not. Films of pure lipids (DPPC, top row) and pulmonary surfactant (BLES, bottom row) were imaged by AFM (left column). At this point, partially collapsed lipid films appear no different from surfactant films. However, lamellae of pure lipids can be scraped off from the monolayer in an AFM without trace (top right). Lamellae of surfactant cannot be easily scraped off and leave a trace, indicating that monolayer and lamellae are crosslinked (bottom right). (f) Surfactant film may fail by buckling (i.e., moving out of plane). Computational finite element analysis of the critical buckling load as a function of the coverage of the interface by lamellae (the role of multilayer structures in preventing premature surfactant film buckling) explains the stabilizing effect of the lamellae. For a film to resist surface tension without collapse, about 20% of the area or more needs to be covered by lamellae. The lamellae need to be cross-linked to the film. (g) sketch of the cross-linking function of SP-C. Surface tension (arrows) excerpts lateral pressure on the film. The film withstands the pressure. The multilayers locally distribute the load (symbolized by springs) and prevent buckling

air–liquid interface, regulating the molecular ordering of the film, and the formation of multilayer structures (Fig. 1.1g) [21].

1.3 Diseases That Are Associated with Surfactant Dysfunction

Pulmonary surfactant function is impaired in acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), impacting lung health and survival. With up to 34 cases per 100,000 population per year [16], ARDS is common and constitutes a high burden for the healthcare system and society with a cost of well over \$100,000 per patient in Canada for acute care, for example. In ARDS, a defect in pulmonary surfactant leads to high surface tension, causing alveolar collapse, intrapulmonary shunts, and edema leading to hypoxemia, a dominant factor in the morbidity and high mortality. Direct respiratory failure accounts for about 15% of deaths [23]. In addition, mechanical stress between overinflated and collapsed lung regions strongly amplifies local and systemic inflammation and may help explain the high incidence of multi-organ dys-function (MODS). ARDS with MODS has much higher mortality, up to 80% [23]. Surfactant dysfunction as a major pathogenic factor for ARDS has not been treatable to date [23–27].

Bronchiolitis associated with cystic fibrosis (CF) is characterized by inflammation in the distal airways and impaired surfactant function [28]. In vitro testing of pediatric CF surfactant samples, obtained largely from medium and small airways, revealed that the ability of the pulmonary surfactant to maintain patency of a capillary tube was markedly reduced, a finding that may explain obstructed airflow in CF [28, 29]. Surfactant dysfunction correlates with the severity of pulmonary impairment as reflected by FEV1.

Other conditions associated with surfactant impairment include pneumonia [30, 31], non-CF bronchiolitis [28], ventilator-induced lung injury (VILI) [32], common complication of mechanical ventilation [7], asthma [33], chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD [33]), neonatal respiratory distress syndrome due to meconium aspiration [34], and Niemann–Pick disease [35].

1.4 Mechanisms of Surfactant Inhibition

Surfactant inhibition refers to the processes that reduce or abolish surfactant surface activity. These processes interfere with surfactant unfolding and adsorption, and film formation interferes with film compression and its ability to reach low surface tensions, or affect surfactant film respreading during expansion [8]. In neonates, however, Avery has shown that impaired lung function in neonatal respiratory distress syndrome (NRDS) is caused by a lack of pulmonary surfactant [36]. This led to the well-established and successful treatment by intratracheal administration of exogenous surfactant. ARDS, on the other hand, is associated with dysfunction, rather than lack of surfactant. According to the standard model, exudative proteins

and/or other surface-active substances adsorb to the air–lung interface. High surface tension would then result from an absence of a surfactant film over significant portions of this interface [37]. However, exudative proteins are readily displaced by surfactant at the interface and do not result in lasting inhibition [8, 38], and high surface tension is best attributed to impairment of the film itself [26, 39]. Small amphiphilic molecules such as cholesterol, lysolipids, and free fatty acids in the surfactant proteins and lipid oxidation by reactive oxygen species (ROS) produced in the inflamed lung in high levels also falls into this category [2, 18].

1.5 The Combined Role of Oxidation and Cholesterol in Surfactant Inhibition

The oxidative milieu of the inflamed lung leads to oxidation that renders the surfactant dysfunctional. Surfactant degradation by reactive oxygen species (ROS) is well established and explained by the influx of inflammatory cells in the injured lung, direct and indirect environmental insults to the lung [2, 40, 41]. Free radicals have been implicated in the pathology of pulmonary disease: asthma, bronchiolitis, cystic fibrosis [28, 44], acute respiratory distress syndrome, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [42, 43], and acute lung injury [32].

Free radicals are continuously formed in the human body [45]. Oxidative damage results from an imbalance in oxidant–antioxidant equilibrium. There are (i) endogenous and (ii) exogenous sources of radicals in the lung. Endogenous oxidants are mainly formed by enzymatic reactions, such as cyclooxygenase-dependent and xanthine oxidase peroxidation, or they are produced and secreted by activated inflammatory cells [47], whereas exogenous oxidants (e.g., NO₂, O₃, and O₂) occur naturally from direct exposure to environmental gasses and particles [46]. A balance between oxidants and antioxidants is vital for function, homeostasis of physiological systems. Oxidative damage may originate from the chemical property of oxygen to break up into unstable metabolites (radicals). These radicals can then react with various biomolecules and inactivate their properties [46, 48].

The oxidative dysfunction of surfactant is strictly dependent on the presence of cholesterol, insofar, that its removal reverses surfactant dysfunction for a broad range of diseases [15, 18, 28]. Cholesterol may be removed from surfactant by adding methyl- β -cyclodextrin (M β CD) to the aqueous phase when testing surfactant in vitro or by delivering this substance by inhalation in mice. This restores the normal function of the film [32, 49, 50]. The relatively hydrophobic interior of the toroid-shaped M β CD molecule can host various hydrophobic molecules, including cholesterol. High levels of M β CD can extract notable amounts of cholesterol from interfacial surfactant films [30], cell membranes [29], and unilamellar cholesterol/phospholipid vesicles [30] into water-soluble cholesterol–cyclodextrin complex.

Cholesterol on its own abolishes surfactant function [19] when highly elevated to levels, such as published for some incidences in ARDS [50]. Interestingly, for most pathologies of surfactant, cholesterol is not elevated to a level that is in and of itself

enough to explain dysfunction, and, yet, removal of cholesterol reverses dysfunction. For these cases, the surfactant oxidation has rendered the surfactant susceptible to mildly elevated or even normal levels of cholesterol. In a recent study with pediatric cystic fibrosis, surfactant samples were unable to sustain normal low surface tensions in the CBS (CF, 13.54 ± 1.37 mN/m versus 2.50 ± 0.88 mN/m for lunghealthy controls) (P < 0.001) [28]. After M β CD treatment, the function for 14/16 CF and 2/2 NCFB samples was restored [28, 50]. The proportion of cholesterol in surfactant was significantly higher in CF (13.00 \pm 1.44 wt. %) compared to lunghealthy controls (4.96 \pm 0.70 wt. %) (P = 0.008) and non-CF bronchiolitis $(4.87 \pm 0.48 \text{ wt. }\%)$ (P = 0.017). While elevated, these cholesterol levels are only inhibitory in the presence of oxidation [19]. Non-CF bronchiolitis surfactant is dysfunctional too [50]. This surfactant shows normal cholesterol levels $(5.6 \pm 0.5 \text{ wt}\%)$, and, yet, a function is restored upon treatment by MBCD. Other examples where surfactant dysfunction was reversible by MBCD despite only moderately increased cholesterol are a murine model of acute lung injury as well as a murine model ventilator-induced lung injury, where Vockeroth et al. showed that surfactant inhibition could be reversed by methyl-\beta-cyclodextrin (MBCD) treatment in vitro, despite only a relatively moderate increase in surfactant cholesterol [7, 50].

Another strict correlation relates to film architecture in health and disease. Functional surfactant exhibits well-defined lipid bilayer stacks on a smooth lipid monolayer. Dysfunctional surfactant forms either no- or ill-formed stacks on a rough monolayer. Removal of cholesterol from such films always restores the normal structure. For films containing 20% cholesterol, the surface tension is not reduced much below the equilibrium value, no matter how large the area reduction (Fig. 1.1b right). For these dysfunctional films, the reinforcing lamellar structures are absent [1]. When now methyl- β -cyclodextrin (M β CD) is added to the aqueous phase, the normal function and the normal structure of the film are restored [32, 49, 50]. For a murine model of acute lung injury, a dysfunctional surfactant film showed ill-formed multilayers. There too, treatment with M β CD restored both the normal function and structure of the surfactant (Fig. 1.2e, f) [10, 50].

1.6 Oxidative Stress and Surfactant Inhibition

1.6.1 The Role of Oxidation on Surfactant Proteins

There are many potential inhibitory mechanisms for surfactant function in acute lung injury [18, 19]. These include lipid peroxidation of mono- and polyunsaturated fatty acids [20], denaturation of surfactant apoproteins [21, 22], protein cross-linking and inhibition, [23] and alterations in surfactant recycling [24]. Several proteins have been shown to inhibit the activity of pulmonary surfactant, particularly serum proteins, such as fibrin and its associated degradation products which are found in high concentration in the lungs of patients with ARDS [5–7, 25]. Studies with SP-A and other soluble proteins suggest that methionine and tryptophan oxidation can occur [42] and that proteins are preferred targets in protein surfactant



Fig. 1.2 (a) Minimum surface tensions during compression–expansion cycles of BLES and oxidized BLES with 0%, 5%, or 10% w/w added cholesterol (*p < 0.5, ***p < 0.001). Both oxidation and cholesterol need to be present to cause the surfactant to fail. (b) Oxidative damage is caused by either reactive oxygen species (ROS) or reactive nitrogen species (RNS). Upon analyzing the effect of oxidation on saturated phospholipids (DPPC), monounsaturated (POPC) and polyunsaturated phospholipids, only the latter leads to surfactant dysfunction in the presence of physiological cholesterol levels [5]. (c) Murine model of ALI (acid injury), lung function. Mean values (±SE) for elastance (H) and peripheral oxygen saturation are plotted against time in saline-exposed C57BL/6

mixtures [43]. Other studies explained the role of SP-A inhibition on SP-B and SP-C stability. Thus, it appears likely that ROS and RNS could inhibit surfactant adsorption by affecting SP-B and/or SP-C [2, 40].

Hydrophilic SP-A is the most abundant surfactant protein by mass, contributing about 50% of total surfactant protein. It is made up of six trimers (octadecamer) belonging to the Ca²⁺=dependent carbohydrate-binding collectin family. SP-A is comprised of 248 amino acid residues with a monomeric molecular weight (MW) of 26–38 kDa. SP-A contains four domains: a carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD), a neck, a collagenous domain, and an amino-terminal domain. The structure of SP-A may explain its importance in innate immunity and surfactant stability. It is immunologically active, whereby it enhances superoxide production via macrophage activation. Additionally, SP-A has been proposed to influence film formation and adsorption, compression–expansion cycling surfactant, and film respreading. SP-A's interaction with SP-B, forming SP-A/SP-B complexes at the boundaries of condensed DPPC domains, has been shown important in promoting adsorption and film stability.

Surfactant-associated protein-B (SP-B) is a hydrophobic protein found in surfactant as a disulfide-dependent dimer of 18 kDa. SP-B deficiency in humans results in lethal neonatal respiratory distress syndrome (NRDS), characterized by disorganized surfactant secretory organelles (lamellar bodies) found in type II alveolar cells and the absence of lung compliance [52, 53]. SP-B is a member of the saposin-like family (SAPLIP) that plays an important role in surfactant stability by interacting with the phospholipid bilayers by amphipathic helices. The formation of surfaceactive film requires quick adsorption and film spreading at the air-water interface. Furthermore, the pulmonary surfactant film must resist collapse and reach near-zero surface tension, during respiration. To achieve low surface tension, the film needs to be enriched in saturated phospholipids (DPPC), whereas rapid adsorption requires the heterogeneous lipid-protein mixtures [54, 55]. Although SP-B and SP-C influence the formation and maintenance of the surface film, surfactant-associated proteins lose their functional integrity in the presence of oxidation. Various studies showed the production of protein modifications, MDA and HNE, conjugated dienes, and carbonyl derivatives [40]. Further, intrinsic fluorescence measurements indicated Fenton (peroxidation reaction), but not HOCl, induced conversion of Trp9 of SP-B to hydroxyTrp (OHTrp), kynurenine (Kyn), and N-formylkynurenine (NFKyn) [2, 40]. Electrospray ionization mass spectrometry revealed molecular weight changes consistent with oxidation of Trp (Fenton) residues and Met (HOCl, Fenton). Oxidative modification to Met29 and Met65 (Fenton, HOCl) and to Trp9 (HOCL

Fig. 1.2 (continued) (n = 6), baseline C57BL/6 (n = 6), and acid-exposed C57BL/6 (n = 7) mice. (d) Differential cell count percentage on BAL cytospin films for the ALI model. Enhanced neutrophils correlate with impaired lung function (*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001). (e) AFM topography of the ALI mouse model (20 μ m × 20 μ m). Being untreated, this dysfunctional surfactant showed an abnormal film structure with multilayers and monolayer regions both showing large and small extrusions of lipids. (f) The mouse surfactant after adding M β CD to the aqueous phase upon which the film was spread. The normal film function and structure were restored [50, 51]

with OHTrp and NFKyn plus Kyn with Fenton) was confirmed by matrix-assisted laser desorption mass spectrometry (MALDI-MS) studies on SP-B tryptic fragments [2].

SP-C is a hydrophobic transmembrane protein. SP-C is a single, alpha-helix, bilayer-spanning, confined to the multilayer regions of the surfactant film. The human SP-C gene consists of six exons located on the short arm of human chromosome 8, and its transcription is regulated by thyroid transcription factor-1 (TTF-1). TTF-1 is expressed in type II pneumocytes and was shown to regulate the transcriptional targets of lung maturation and surfactant synthesis. SP-C is synthesized as aproprotein and is cleaved into its mature form in the multivesicular bodies by removing the C- and N-terminal peptides. Further, SP-C is only expressed by the alveolar type II cells postnatally. The deficiency or lack of SP-C leads to severe clinical effects. SP-C-deficient mice developed progressive, severe pulmonary disease associated with epithelial cell dysplasia, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), and monocytic infiltrates in conducting and respiratory airways [20, 56].

In summary, SP-B and SP-C undergo oxidative changes that significantly hinder their biophysical properties. The oxidative inhibition of the pulmonary surfactant was also related to phospholipid inhibition. The surface activity impairment studies found in the reconstituted phospholipid–protein mixtures that both protein and unsaturated phospholipid oxidation are both responsible for the impaired activity of oxidized surfactants. The oxidative damage to either SP-B or SP-C can hinder surfactant function. Damaging surfactant proteins may play a consequential role in surfactant inhibition that arises during oxidative stress-related disorders like ALI, ARDS, and cystic fibrosis [40].

1.6.1.1 Mechanism of Lipid Peroxidation

Lipid peroxides are present in many pathological conditions [57]. In the lungs, reactive oxygen/nitrogen/species are produced by macrophages, endothelial cells, and neutrophils. Reactive radicals are unstable metabolites of oxygen/nitrogen with oxidizing properties. They are responsible for lipid autoxidation in various biological processes and are associated with the processes that lead to cell death and tissue damage. The degree of tissue injury due to oxidation is dependent on the balance between oxidants and antioxidants. Lipid autoxidation does not only increase lipid peroxidation levels; it may also form epoxide-containing lipids. Among the targets of oxidative damage are phospholipids containing unsaturated fatty acyl and cholesterol. Lipid autoxidation is a process in which molecular oxygen/nitrogen and phospholipids react via free-radical-mediated chain reaction [57], resulting in the formation of lipid epoxidation and/or peroxidation.

Lipid peroxidation pertains to nonenzymatic and autocatalytic autoperoxidation process, leading to perpetual breakdown and formation of dioxygen adducts of unsaturated lipids and lipid hydroperoxides. The enzymatically driven lipid peroxidation is also evident in biological systems, such as cyclooxygenase-dependent peroxidation of arachidonic acid and xanthine oxidase induced. The mechanism of lipid peroxidation is well studied, whereby different oxidative mediators are investigated in various biological processes. Particularly, hydroxyl radicals are shown to be highly reactive with unsaturated fatty acids under oxidative stress. Saturated fatty acid chains, such as 1,2-dipalmitoyl-sn-glycerol-3-phosphocholine (DPPC), are shown to be more resistant to oxidative modification as they do not contain allylic hydrogen atoms. In mono- and polyunsaturated fatty acyl chains, monounsaturated (1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (POPC)), 1-palmitoyl-2oleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (POPC), and polyunsaturated (1-palmitoyl-2linoleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (PLPC)), the allylic hydrogen atoms on methylene groups adjacent to the double bonds exhibit low hydrogen-carbon (C-H) bond energies, whereas bis-allylic hydrogens positioned between two double bonds have even lower C-H bond energies. The initiation phase of lipid peroxidation begins with the initial hydrogen abstraction and then followed by the introduction of molecular oxygen (O2). In polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) chains, the addition of O2 could occur multiple times to a single acyl chain due to the rearrangements of a peroxyl radical to a new carbon center or due to the presence of other bis-allylic hydrogen atoms. The intermediate stage of lipid peroxidation results in the formation of additional carbon- or oxygen-centered radicals. Peroxidation intermediate is responsible for perpetuating the damage by radicals. Hydrogen abstraction by radical groups on the initial α -carbon converts it to a non-radical center. The process whereby a single free radical attack damages multiple lipid molecules is known as the propagation phase. Termination phase is the final step in lipid peroxidation; this phase is mediated by either increased radical-radical interactions which forms non-radical products or antioxidants.

1.6.1.2 The Mechanism of Reactive Nitrogen Species

The pulmonary surfactant is exposed to several insults that alter its molecules: reactive nitrogen and oxygen species (RNOS), peroxidases secreted by activated inflammatory cells, and proteases. O⁻²⁻ and •NO react to form peroxynitrite in the epithelial lining fluid [26, 58], which ultimately result in surfactant inhibition as a result of lipid peroxidation and damaged surfactant-specific proteins. Exposure of surfactant contents to peroxynitrite damages unsaturated phospholipids and small hydrophobic surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C [5, 6]. In vitro studies showed that the addition of peroxynitrite to clinical surfactant is capable of decreasing the surface activity, inducing lipid peroxidation, inducing protein-associated nitrotyrosine, and decreasing the function of surfactant proteins, SP-A, SP-B, and SP-C [59].

During edema and inflammation, vasoconstriction is often observed, whereby considerable levels of oxidants are produced (Oe^{2-} and H_2O_2). Superoxide (Oe^{2-}) can react with nitric oxide to produce powerful oxidant peroxynitrite (ONOO-), which can nitrate lipids and proteins, or is converted into hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) under the influence of superoxide dismutase [60].

ONOO- is an important biological oxidant in various oxidation-mediated inflammatory lung diseases. ONOO- may indirectly contribute to the generation of ARDS by depleting antioxidants and inactivating antiproteases. Although free radicals are indiscriminate, PUFA-rich membranes are particularly susceptible [61]. Peroxynitrite anions are formed by the rapid reaction of nitric oxide with superoxide ($k = 6.7 \times 109$ M-1s-1). Additionally, nitric oxide is able to outcompete superoxide dismutase (SOD) for superoxide, resulting in the formation of peroxynitrites. The amount and activity of nitric oxide synthase, the activity of downstream metabolic enzymes, and the redox balance influence the rate of nitric oxide reactions. ONOO- easily oxidizes biological molecules including proteins, lipids, and DNA. Furthermore, ONOO- can modulate various oxidative molecular pathways; it can result in irreversible NO-induced modification of proteins and nitrosylate amines through nitrosative deamination of DNA bases. Peroxynitrous acid (ONOOH) and ONOO- conjugates are also formed in inflamed environment [62]. Under favorable conditions, ONOOH can undergo hemolysis, producing hydroxyl radicals and nitrogen dioxide (•NO₂). HO•can diffuse freely through lipid membranes and react with the unsaturated lipid component (Fig. 1.3). This process is responsible for surfactant film inhibition.

Additionally, ROS can also form from abnormal oxidative levels. Inflammatory cells release peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻), hypochlorous acid (OCl⁻), and hydrogen peroxides in concentrations that may equal 0.1 mM/min. In the presence of ferrous iron, they can induce Fenton chemistry in the epithelial lining fluid [63, 64]. Disease



Fig. 1.3 Oxidative pathway of RNS-mediated phospholipid damage. This illustrates the molecular level the three autoxidation stages (initiation, propagation, and termination)

state is also dependent on the magnitude of the oxidative levels [64]. Protein oxidation-mediated surfactant inhibition has also been shown to be a model of surfactant dysfunction [41, 65].

There is involvement of ONOO-, NO, and other RNSs in the generation and propagation of lung epithelial injury in a variety of pathological conditions [60]. First, induction of immune complex alveolitis in rat lungs resulted in significant elevation of decomposition products of NO (nitrate and nitrite) and albumin levels in the bronchoalveolar lavage, indicating the presence of increased alveolar permeability to solute and suggesting that a surfactant-deficient state may be present [60]. Instillation of NG-monomethyl-L-arginine, a specific inhibitor of the oxidative L-arginine pathway responsible for the production of NO, resulted in a significant diminution of nitrite, nitrate, and alveolar albumin levels, without altering neutrophil recruitment in the lung [60]. Second, exposure of rats to 5 and 10 ppm NO resulted in a significant degree of lung injury and alteration in the physiological function of SP-A [66]. Third, peroxynitrite inactivated α l-proteinase (α l-PI) inhibitor, the most abundant extracellular antiprotease in the epithelial lining fluid, by oxidizing the methionine residue of this peptide [60, 67]. Inactivation of α 1-PI may render the alveolar epithelium susceptible to neutrophil-induced injury [60]. Since alveolar macrophages remain activated for several hours, peroxynitrite levels may continue to rise. This may explain the lack of clinical response to exogenous surfactant replacement therapy observed in patients with ALI and ARDS. These patients suffer from an inflammatory response and increased reactive radical species released by the alveolar macrophages, leading to oxidizing exogenous surfactant and damaging its function.

1.6.1.3 Epoxide-Mediated Surfactant Inhibition

It is known that oxidative stress results in degradation and loss of function of biological membranes. Direct cellular damage of lipid moiety due to lipid peroxide accumulation on both alveolar surfaces and lung parenchymal tissues has been shown in various studies. Epoxides are cyclic ether with a three-atom ring. Normally, the strained ring and polarized carbon-oxygen bond are responsible for the high reactivity of epoxides [68, 69]. However, nonactivated aliphatic epoxides are relatively stable under physiological conditions. Epoxidation of unsaturated phospholipids begins with the abstraction of allylic hydrogen from unsaturated fatty acid tails. The peroxy radical introduction to neighboring unsaturated fatty acids is then followed by rapid rearrangement of fatty acids. Subsequently, the O-O bond is broken, and the nucleophilic π bond donates its electrons to the oxygen, forming the new carbonyl bond. The electrons from the old O-H bond make up the second new C-O bond, whereas the protons are picked up by the original carbonyl group. This oxidative reaction produces transient radical center that is able to attack the adjacent double bond and/or decompose to form epoxides (Fig. 1.4). During peroxide and epoxide transition, alkoxy intermediate formation plays a significant role in the conversion process, as they act as hemolytic scission products of organic nitrates and peroxides. Alkoxy intermediates also play a role in autoxidation processes. In vitro olefin epoxidation may be accomplished by transition metal catalysis or peracidic



Fig. 1.4 Free radical-mediated phospholipid oxidative reaction. This illustrates at the molecular level the three stages of autoxidation (initiation, propagation, and termination)

acids. Peracidic acids have an extra oxygen atom between the acidic hydrogen and their carbonyl group, forming an electrophilic carbon center at the oxygen-rich zone. This proton transfer process is the product of an electrophilic attack from the epoxide oxygen to the carboxylic acid by-product.

The role of epoxides in pulmonary surfactant damage has been studied to a lesser extent. Here we outline the underlying mechanism of epoxide-mediated surfactant dysfunction. Various studies had emphasized the role of hydrogen peroxide on surfactant dysfunction; however, based on mass spectrometry (MS) studies of oxidized pulmonary surfactant, epoxides appear to play a role in surfactant pathophysiology. It is important to mention that MS bears certain limitations. The challenge with MS lies with distinguishing between two similar mass-to-charge (m/z) species.

Saturated fatty lipids are resistant to oxidative damage, that is, dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine (DPPC). However, the monounsaturated (POPC) and polyunsaturated (PLPC) (m/z 794.55, m/z 792.53, m/z 828.51, and m/z 844.50, respectively) phospholipids indicate the presence of an oxidative process (Fig. 1.5). Furthermore, the polyunsaturated phospholipids expressed a variety of oxidative species in their fatty acyl tails. This is due to the degree of available weak allylic hydrogen susceptible to radical attack. The function of pulmonary surfactant is disrupted by Prilezhaev chemistry exposure, producing pure epoxides into the hydrocarbon chain. However, in vitro studies showed that the introduction of epoxidation into BLES in the absence of cholesterol does not result in film inactivation [51]. **Fig. 1.5** Mass spectra of oxidized phospholipids. (**a**) Saturated (DPPC), (**b**) monounsaturated (POPC), and (**c**) polyunsaturated (PLPC) phospholipids. These mass spectra illustrate whether or not oxidation was introduced into the investigated samples as a result of the Fenton chemistry





Fig. 1.6 Molecular illustration of PLPC, epoxy PLPC, and hydroperoxy PLPC. Red arrow denotes the difference between hydroperoxy PLPC and epoxy PLPC

To appreciate this difficulty of identifying the exact molecule, Fig. 1.6 is an illustration of PLPC, epoxy PLPC, and hydroperoxy PLPC. The difference between two epoxide rings and one hydroperoxide group attached to the hydrocarbon tail is 1 m/z. The mass difference is rather small between the two species, causing difficulties in accurate molecular identification.

Lipid epoxides mediate surfactant dysfunction. Some observations indicate that phospholipid peroxidation in lung tissues may be the origin of lipid epoxides [70]. Despite the origin, lipid epoxides appear to be traceable products of lipid peroxidation. In this chapter, we have discussed importance of cholesterol in mediating the inhibition of oxidized pulmonary surfactant. However, further investigation of the inhibitory mechanism of oxidized cholesterol on the pulmonary surfactant system is imperative, as it may provide stronger evidence of the importance of direct phospholipid oxidation in surfactant inhibition.

1.7 Conclusion

This chapter explains the detrimental role of oxidative environments on the molecular alteration of surfactant, leading to reduced surface activity at normal cholesterol levels. The modification of surfactant mono- and polyunsaturated phospholipid constituents yields in measurable changes to surfactant film molecular architecture.

The molecular mechanism of surfactant inhibition indicated in this chapter is relevant to disease. Studies where oxidized surfactants are instilled into animal

19

models have shown good associations between in vivo activity and in vitro performance. The combination of oxidation and normal cholesterol levels abolishes the essential biophysical aspect of surfactant, that is, the ability to reduce the minimum surface tension. With the increased knowledge of pulmonary surfactant inhibition, several avenues may be used to repair impaired surfactant system. In ALI, CF, and ARDS, elevated cholesterol levels can explain the dysfunction on its own [51]. Therefore, reducing cholesterol levels in the surfactant film may be a possible therapeutic target. Identifying viable treatments for pulmonary surfactant dysfunction remains to be an ongoing field of research.

The mechanism of surfactant inhibition differs in respiratory distress syndrome (NRDS) in premature infants and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). NRDS is caused by a lack of pulmonary surfactant which is successfully treated by intratracheal administration of exogenous surfactant [25], whereas in ARDS the surfactant is damaged but is not lacking; therefore, replacement surfactant therapy in ARDS has led to improved oxygenation and increased lung compliance in some clinical trials, but these effects have been transient [25, 71]. None of the many controlled double-blind studies was successful. It is important that surfactant research continues, as improved patient outcome still appears to hinge on a functioning surfactant. Although surfactant replacement therapy may be the wrong approach as it addresses a deactivation mechanism that might not be relevant, various in vitro and in vivo experiments show that this type of surfactant deactivation will not likely respond to surfactant replacement therapy because damaged surfactant at the airwater interface is not readily displaced. Moreover, exogenous surfactant may rapidly be rendered dysfunctional by the same mechanism that degraded the endogenous surfactant [26, 72, 73]. Introduction of exogenous surfactant may also strain the catabolic and recycling system of the peripheral lung. Based on the reversibility of surfactant dysfunction by MBCD for a broad range of inflammatory lung diseases, cholesterol-dependent oxidative surfactant inhibition appears to be a generic inhibitory pathway, applicable to most situations. MβCD may indeed be a potential treatment for surfactant dysfunction in inflammatory lung diseases. Cyclodextrins are nontoxic simple sugars and widely used as drug carriers. When inhaled they are readily cleared from the lung, leaving the body through renal secretion. Cyclodextrins have low toxicity, used as vehicles for delivering many drugs and sequestration of toxic compounds [74]. MβCD was used for its ability to efficiently sequester cholesterol. Additionally, MBCD was shown to take up linoleic acid in vitro, an important lipid mediator of inflammation in ALI/ARDS, as well as suppress acute inflammation in an animal model of ALI [75]. Thus, inhaled cyclodextrins may have two important properties for treating acute lung injury: an anti-inflammatory effect and the ability to repair dysfunctional surfactant.

References

- Leonenko Z, Gill S, Baoukina S, Monticelli L, Doehner J, Gunasekara L, Felderer F, Rodenstein M, Eng LM, Amrein M (2007) An elevated level of cholesterol impairs self-assembly of pulmonary Surfactant into a functional film. Biophys J 93:674–683. https://doi.org/10.1529/ biophysj.107.106310
- Manzanares D, Rodriguez-Capote K, Liu S, Haines T, Ramos Y, Zhao L, Doherty-Kirby A, Lajoie G, Possmayer F (2007) Modification of tryptophan and methionine residues is implicated in the oxidative inactivation of surfactant protein B. Biochemistry 46:5604–5615. https:// doi.org/10.1021/bi062304p
- Gunasekara L, Al-Saiedy M, Green F, Pratt R, Bjornson C, Yang A, Michael Schoel W, Mitchell I, Brindle M, Montgomery M, Keys E, Dennis J, Shrestha G, Amrein M (2017) Pulmonary surfactant dysfunction in pediatric cystic fibrosis: mechanisms and reversal with a lipid-sequestering drug. J Cyst Fibros 16:565–572. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCF.2017.04.015
- Akella A, Deshpande SB (2013) Pulmonary surfactants and their role in pathophysiology of lung disorders. http://nopr.niscair.res.in/handle/123456789/15282
- Al-Saiedy M, Pratt R, Lai P, Kerek E, Joyce H, Prenner E, Green F, Ling C-C, Veldhuizen R, Ghandorah S, Amrein M (2018) Dysfunction of pulmonary surfactant mediated by phospholipid oxidation is cholesterol-dependent. Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj 1862:1040–1049. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBAGEN.2018.01.008
- Patrick P, Li-Juan Y, John W, Fred P, Ruud V, James L (2009) The effects of Hyperoxia exposure on lung function and pulmonary surfactant in a rat model of acute lung injury. Exp Lung Res 35:380–398. https://doi.org/10.1080/01902140902745166
- Vockeroth D, Gunasekara L, Amrein M, Possmayer F, Lewis JF, Veldhuizen RAW (2010) Role of cholesterol in the biophysical dysfunction of surfactant in ventilator-induced lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 298:L117–L125. https://doi.org/10.1152/ ajplung.00218.2009.
- Parra E, Pérez-Gil J (2015) Composition, structure and mechanical properties define performance of pulmonary surfactant membranes and films. Chem Phys Lipids 185:153–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemphyslip.2014.09.002
- Terrasa AM, Guajardo MH, De Armas Sanabria E, Catalá A (2005) Pulmonary surfactant protein A inhibits the lipid peroxidation stimulated by linoleic acid hydroperoxide of rat lung mitochondria and microsomes. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids 1735:101–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2005.05.007
- Al-Saiedy M, Tarokh A, Nelson S, Hossini K, Green F, Ling CC, Prenner EJ, Amrein M (2017) The role of multilayers in preventing the premature buckling of the pulmonary surfactant. Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr 1859:1372–1380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbamem.2017.05.004
- Ding J, Takamoto DY, Von Nahmen A, Lipp MM, Lee KYC, Waring AJ, Zasadzinski JA (2001) Effects of lung surfactant proteins, SP-B and SP-C, and palmitic acid on monolayer stability. Biophys J 80:2262–2272. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(01)76198-X
- Keating E, Rahman L, Francis J, Petersen A, Possmayer F, Veldhuizen R, Petersen NO (2007) Effect of cholesterol on the biophysical and physiological properties of a clinical pulmonary surfactant. Biophys J 93:1391–1401. https://doi.org/10.1529/biophysj.106.099762
- Bachofen H, Schürch S, Urbinelli M, Weibel ER (1987) Relations among alveolar surface tension, surface area, volume, and recoil pressure. J Appl Physiol 62:1878–1887. http:// jap.physiology.org/content/jap/62/5/1878.full.pdf%5Cn, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/3597262
- Schürch S, Bachofen H, Possmayer F (2001) Surface activity in situ, in vivo, and in the captive bubble surfactometer. Comp Biochem Physiol Mol Integr Physiol 129:195–207. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1095-6433(01)00316-6
- 15. Al-Saiedy M, Tarokh A, Nelson S, Hossini K, Green F, Ling C-C, Prenner EJ, Amrein M (2017) The role of multilayers in preventing the premature buckling of the pulmonary sur-

factant. Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr 1859:1372–1380. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. BBAMEM.2017.05.004

- Gunasekara L, Schoel WM, Schürch S, Amrein MW (2008) A comparative study of mechanisms of surfactant inhibition. Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr 1778:433–444. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2007.10.027
- Bachofen H, Gerber U, Gehr P, Amrein M, Schürch S (2005) Structures of pulmonary surfactant films adsorbed to an air-liquid interface in vitro. Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr 1720:59–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2005.11.007
- Al-saiedy M, Pratt RM, Gunasekara L, Todorov N, Lam DK, Amrein MW (n.d) Dysfunction of oxidized pulmonary surfactant is cholesterol-dependent. Methods & Materials Elevated levels of cholesterol in surfactant:8192
- Gunasekara L, Schürch S, Schoel WM, Nag K, Leonenko Z, Haufs M, Amrein M (2005) Pulmonary surfactant function is abolished by an elevated proportion of cholesterol. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids 1737:27–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2005.09.002
- Kramer A, Wintergalen A, Sieber M, Galla HJ, Amrein M, Guckenberger R (2000) Distribution of the surfactant-associated protein C within a lung surfactant model film investigated by near-field optical microscopy. Biophys J 78:458–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0006-3495(00)76608-2
- a Creuwels L, van Golde LM, Haagsman HP (1997) The pulmonary surfactant system: biochemical and clinical aspects. Lung 175:1–39. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00007554
- Serrano AG, Pérez-Gil J (2006) Protein-lipid interactions and surface activity in the pulmonary surfactant system. Chem Phys Lipids 141:105–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemphyslip.2006.02.017
- Raghavendran K, Willson D, Notter R (2012) Surfactant therapy of ALI and ARDS. Cirt Care Clin 27:525–559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccc.2011.04.005.Surfactant
- 24. Nakajima D, Liu M, Ohsumi A, Kalaf R, Iskender I, Hsin M, Kanou T, Chen M, Baer B, Coutinho R, Maahs L, Behrens P, Azad S, Martinu T, Waddell TK, Lewis JF, Post M, Veldhuizen RAW, Cypel M, Keshavjee S (2017) Lung lavage and Surfactant replacement during ex vivo lung perfusion for treatment of gastric acid aspiration–induced donor lung injury. J Hear Lung Transplant 36:577–585. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HEALUN.2016.11.010
- Maruscak A, Lewis JF (2006) Exogenous surfactant therapy for ARDS. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 15:47–58. https://doi.org/10.1517/13543784.15.1.47
- 26. Lewis JF, Veldhuizen R (2003) The role of exogenous surfactant in the treatment of acute lung injury. Annu Rev Physiol 65:613–642. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. physiol.65.092101.142434
- Meng H, Sun Y, Lu J, Fu S, Meng Z, Scott M, Li Q (2012) Exogenous surfactant may improve oxygenation but not mortality in adult patients with acute lung injury/acute respiratory distress syndrome: a meta-analysis of 9 clinical trials. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 26:849–856. https:// doi.org/10.1053/j.jvca.2011.11.006
- 28. Gunasekara L, Al-Saiedy M, Green F, Pratt R, Bjornson C, Yang A, Michael Schoel W, Mitchell I, Brindle M, Montgomery M, Keys E, Dennis J, Shrestha G, Amrein M (2017) Pulmonary surfactant dysfunction in pediatric cystic fibrosis: mechanisms and reversal with a lipid-sequestering drug. J Cyst Fibros 16:565–572. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCF.2017.04.015
- 29. Griese M, Stiftung WS (1999) Pulmonary surfactant in health and human lung diseases: state of the art. Eur Respir J 13:1455–1476
- Truscott EA, McCaig LA, Yao L-J, Veldhuizen RAW, Lewis JF (2010) Surfactant protein-A reduces translocation of mediators from the lung into the circulation. Exp Lung Res 36:431– 439. https://doi.org/10.3109/01902141003721440
- 31. Günther A, Siebert C, Schmidt R, Ziegler S, Grimminger F, Yabut M, Temmesfeld B, Walmrath D, Morr H, Seeger W (1996) Surfactant alterations in severe pneumonia, acute respiratory distress syndrome, and cardiogenic lung edema. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 153:176–184. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.153.1.8542113
- 32. Gunasekara LC, Pratt RM, Schoel WM, Gosche S, Prenner EJ, Amrein MW (2010) Methylβ-cyclodextrin restores the structure and function of pulmonary surfactant films impaired

by cholesterol. Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr 1798:986–994. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbamem.2009.12.003

- Hohlfeld J, Fabel H, Hamm H (1997) The role of pulmonary surfactant in obstructive airways disease. Eur Respir J 10:482–491. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.97.10020482
- Robinson TW, Roberts AM (2002) Effects of exogenous surfactant on gas exchange and compliance in rabbits after meconium aspiration. Pediatr Pulmonol 33:117–123. https://doi. org/10.1002/ppul.10056
- 35. Manson ME, Corey DA, Bederman I, Burgess JD, Kelley TJ (2012) Regulatory role of β-arrestin-2 in cholesterol processing in cystic fibrosis epithelial cells. J Lipid Res 53:1268– 1276. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M021972.
- Zasadzinski JA, Ding J, Warriner HE, Bringezu F, Waring AJ (2001) The physics and physiology of lung surfactants. Curr Opin Colloid Interface Sci 6:506–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1359-0294(01)00124-8
- Whitsett JA, Wert SE, Weaver TE (2010) Alveolar surfactant homeostasis and the pathogenesis of pulmonary disease. Annu Rev Med 61:105–119. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. med.60.041807.123500
- Ciencewicki J, Trivedi S, Kleeberger SR (2008) Oxidants and the pathogenesis of lung diseases. J Allergy Clin Immunol 122:456–468. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2008.08.004
- Zuo YY, Veldhuizen RAW, Neumann AW, Petersen NO, Possmayer F (2008) Current perspectives in pulmonary surfactant – inhibition, enhancement and evaluation. Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr 1778:1947–1977. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2008.03.021
- Rodríguez-Capote K, Manzanares D, Haines T, Possmayer F (2006) Reactive oxygen species inactivation of Surfactant involves structural and functional alterations to surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C. Biophys J 90:2808–2821. https://doi.org/10.1529/biophysj.105.073106
- Robbins CG, Davis JM, Merritt TA, Amirkhanian JD, Sahgal N, Morin FC 3rd, Horowitz S (1995) Combined effects of nitric oxide and hyperoxia on surfactant function and pulmonary inflammation. Am J Phys 269:L545–L550
- 42. Wyncoll DL, Evans TW (1999) Acute respiratory distress syndrome. Lancet 354:497–501. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(98)08129-X
- 43. Luh S, Chiang C (2007) Acute lung injury/acute respiratory distress syndrome (ALI/ARDS): the mechanism, present strategies and future perspectives of therapies. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B 8:60–69. https://doi.org/10.1631/jzus.2007.B0060
- 44. Cantin AM, White TB, Cross CE, Forman HJ, Sokol RJ, Borowitz D (2007) Antioxidants in cystic fibrosis. Conclusions from the CF antioxidant workshop, Bethesda, Maryland, November 11–12, 2003. Free Radic Biol Med 42:15–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2006.09.022
- Aruoma OI (1998) Free radicals, oxidative stress, and antioxidants in human health and disease. J Am Oil Chemists Soc 75:199–212
- 46. a a Comhair S, Erzurum SC (2002) Antioxidant responses to oxidant-mediated lung diseases. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 283:L246–L255. https://doi.org/10.1152/ ajplung.00491.2001
- 47. Asikainen TM, White CW (2004) Pulmonary antioxidant defenses in the preterm newborn with respiratory distress and bronchopulmonary dysplasia in evolution: implications for antioxidant therapy. Antioxid Redox Signal 6:155–167. https://doi.org/10.1089/152308604771978462
- Halliwell B (1996) Antioxidants in human health and disease. Annu Rev Nutr 16:33–50. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.nu.16.070196.000341
- 49. Chintagari NR, Jin N, Wang P, Narasaraju TA, Chen J, Liu L (2006) Effect of cholesterol depletion on exocytosis of alveolar type II cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 34:677–687. https://doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2005-0418OC
- Al-Saiedy M, Gunasekara L, Green F, Pratt R, Chiu A, Yang A, Dennis J, Pieron C, Bjornson C, Winston B, Amrein M (2018) Surfactant dysfunction in ARDS and bronchiolitis is repaired with cyclodextrins. Mil Med 183:207. https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usx204
- Al-Saiedy M, Pratt R, Lai P, Kerek E, Joyce H, Prenner E, Green F, Ling C-C, Veldhuizen R, Ghandorah S, Amrein M (2018) Dysfunction of pulmonary surfactant mediated by phospho-

lipid oxidation is cholesterol-dependent. Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj 1862:1040. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2018.01.008

- Seeger W, Gunther A, Thede C (1992) Differential sensitivity to fibrinogen inhibition of SP-Cvs. SP-B-based surfactants. Am J Phys 261:L286–L291
- Walther FJ, Gordon LM (2000) J. a Zasadzinski, M. a Sherman, a J. Waring, Surfactant protein B and C analogues. Mol Genet Metab 71:342–351. https://doi.org/10.1006/mgme.2000.3053.
- Bachofen H, Schürch S (2001) Alveolar surface forces and lung architecture. Comp Biochem Physiol Mol Integr Physiol 129:183–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1095-6433(01)00315-4
- 55. Mander A, Langton-Hewer S, Bernhard W, Warner JO, Postle AD (2002) Altered phospholipid composition and aggregate structure of lung Surfactant is associated with impaired lung function in young children with respiratory infections. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 27:714–721. https://doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.4746
- Nkadi PO, Merritt TA, Pillers DAM (2009) An overview of pulmonary surfactant in the neonate: genetics, metabolism, and the role of surfactant in health and disease. Mol Genet Metab 97:95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymgme.2009.01.015
- 57. Catalá A (2009) Lipid peroxidation of membrane phospholipids generates hydroxy-alkenals and oxidized phospholipids active in physiological and/or pathological conditions. Chem Phys Lipids 157:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemphyslip.2008.09.004
- 58. Taeusch HW, Bernardino de la Serna J, Perez-Gil J, Alonso C, a Zasadzinski J (2005) Inactivation of pulmonary surfactant due to serum-inhibited adsorption and reversal by hydrophilic polymers: experimental. Biophys J 89:1769–1779. https://doi.org/10.1529/ biophysj.105.062620
- Hallman M, Bry K (1996) Nitric oxide and lung surfactant. Semin Perinatol 20:173–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0146-0005(96)80046-2
- Haddad IY, Ischiropoulos H, Holm BA, Beckman JS, Baker JR, Matalon S (1993) Mechanisms of peroxynitrite-induced injury to pulmonary surfactants. Am J Phys 265:L555–L564
- Sevanian A, Peterson AR (1986) The cytotoxic and mutagenic properties of cholesterol oxidation products. Food Chem Toxicol 24:1103–1110. https://doi. org/10.1016/0278-6915(86)90295-4
- 62. Beckman JS, Beckman TW, Chen J, a Marshall P, a Freeman B (1990) Apparent hydroxyl radical production by peroxynitrite: implications for endothelial injury from nitric oxide and superoxide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:1620–1624. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.87.4.1620
- Zhu S, Manuel M, Tanaka S, Choe N, Kagan E, Matalon S (1998) Contribution of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species to particulate-induced lung injury. Environ Health Perspect 106(Suppl):1157–1163
- Andersson S, Kheiter A, Merritt TA (1999) Oxidative inactivation of surfactants. Lung 177:179–189. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00007639
- 65. Gilliard N, Heldt GP, Loredo J, Gasser H, Redl H, Merritt TA, Spragg RG (1994) Exposure of the hydrophobic components of porcine lung surfactant to oxidant stress alters surface tension properties. J Clin Invest 93:2608–2615. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI117273
- 66. Fubini B, Hubbard A (2003) Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) generation by silica in inflammation and fibrosis. Free Radic Biol Med 34:1507–1516. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0891-5849(03)00149-7
- 67. Okamoto T, Akaike T, Nagano T, Miyajima S, Suga M, Ando M, Ichimori K, Maeda H (1997) Activation of human neutrophil Procollagenase by nitrogen dioxide and Peroxynitrite: a novel mechanism for Procollagenase activation involving nitric oxide. Arch Biochem Biophys 342:261–274. https://doi.org/10.1006/ABBI.1997.0127
- Greene JF, Newman JW, Williamson KC, Hammock BD (2000) Toxicity of epoxy fatty acids and related compounds to cells expressing human soluble epoxide hydrolase. Chem Res Toxicol 13:217–226. https://doi.org/10.1021/Tx990162c
- Fretland AJ, Omiecinski CJ (2000) Epoxide hydrolases: biochemistry and molecular biology. Chem Biol Interact 129:41–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0009-2797(00)00197-6
- Logani MK, Davies RE (1980) Lipid oxidation: biologic effects and antioxidants a review. Lipids 15:485–495. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02534079
- Hallman M, Glumoff V, Rämet M (2001) Surfactant in respiratory distress syndrome and lung injury. Comp Biochem Physiol Mol Integr Physiol 129:287–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1095-6433(01)00324-5
- 72. Günther A, Ruppert C, Schmidt R, Markart P, Grimminger F, Walmrath D, Seeger W (2001) Surfactant alteration and replacement in acute respiratory distress syndrome. Respir Res 2:353–364. https://doi.org/10.1186/rr86
- 73. Spragg RG, Lewis JF, Wurst W, Häfner D, Baughman RP, Wewers MD, Marsh JJ (2003) Treatment of acute respiratory distress syndrome with recombinant Surfactant protein C Surfactant. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167:1562–1566. https://doi.org/10.1164/ rccm.200207-782OC
- 74. Kiss T, Fenyvesi F, Bácskay I, Váradi J, Fenyvesi É, Iványi R, Szente L, Tósaki Á, Vecsernyés M (2010) Evaluation of the cytotoxicity of β-cyclodextrin derivatives: evidence for the role of cholesterol extraction. Eur J Pharm Sci 40:376–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2010.04.014
- Cataldo D, Evrard B, Noel A, Foidart J-M (2010) Use of cyclodextrin for treatment and prevention of bronchial inflammatory diseases, US 7,829,550 B2



Oxidative Stress in Experimental Models of Acute Lung Injury

Daniela Mokra 💿 and Juraj Mokry

Abstract

Overproduction of oxidants within the lung leads to acute lung injury (ALI) which may progress to irreversible lung fibrosis. The sources of oxidants may be (1) intrinsic, that is, derived from phagocytic macrophages and neutrophils and endothelial and alveolar epithelial cells, or (2) extrinsic, that is, caused by inhaled pollutants or high concentrations of oxygen. The complex antioxidant system of the body includes reduction-oxidation enzymatic systems, nonenzymatic scavengers, and dietary components which balance the concentrations of both antioxidant and oxidant substances with dominance of a reducing state. However, decreasing levels of antioxidants and/or increasing levels of oxidants disturb the stability of the antioxidant-oxidant system and lead to oxidative lung injury. Several groups of therapeutic agents, including N-acetylcysteine, flavonoids, corticosteroids, phosphodiesterase inhibitors, etc., appeared to be beneficial in the treatment of various forms of experimentally induced ALI where they significantly reduced the oxidative damage. This chapter reviews the pathophysiology and mechanisms of ALI with respect to oxidative and inflammatory changes and critically evaluates perspectives of promising treatments to prevent or to minimize

J. Mokry

D. Mokra (🖂)

Department of Physiology, Jessenius Faculty of Medicine in Martin, Comenius University in Bratislava, Martin, Slovakia

Biomedical Center Martin, Jessenius Faculty of Medicine in Martin, Comenius University in Bratislava, Martin, Slovakia e-mail: daniela.mokra@uniba.sk

Biomedical Center Martin, Jessenius Faculty of Medicine in Martin, Comenius University in Bratislava, Martin, Slovakia

Department of Pharmacology, Jessenius Faculty of Medicine in Martin, Comenius University in Bratislava, Martin, Slovakia

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_2

the oxidative changes in experimental models of ALI reflecting possibilities of their use also in the treatment of patients with acutely damaged lung.

Keywords

Acute lung injury · Oxidative stress · Lung · Inflammation · Animal model · Antioxidants · Anti-inflammatory treatment

Abbreviations

ALI	acute lung injury
AP-1	activator protein-1
ARDS	acute respiratory distress syndrome
BALF	bronchoalveolar lavage fluid
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CAPE	caffeic acid phenethyl ester
CAT	catalase
cGCR	cytosolic glucocorticoid receptor
cGMP	cyclic guanosine monophosphate
CMV	conventional mechanical ventilation
COX-2	cyclooxygenase-2
CXCL	chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand
DAMPs	danger-associated molecular patterns
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
ET-1	endothelin-1
FiO2	fraction of inspired oxygen
GCs	glucocorticoids
G-CSF	granulocyte-colony stimulating factor
GM-CSF	granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GRE	glucocorticoid response elements
GSH/GSSG	reduced and oxidized states of glutathione
HCl	hydrochloric acid
HFOV	high-frequency oscillatory ventilation
HMGB1	high-mobility group box 1 protein
4HNE	4-hydroxy-2-nonenal
HO-1	heme oxygenase-1
HTV	high tidal volume ventilation
ICAM-1	intercellular adhesion molecule-1
IFNγ	interferon γ
IL	interleukin
iNO	inhaled nitric oxide
iNOS	inducible NO synthase
LPS	lipopolysaccharide

LT	leukotriene
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCP-1	monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
MDA	malondialdehyde
MIP-2	macrophage inflammatory protein-2
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
MODS	multiple organ dysfunction syndrome
MPO	myeloperoxidase
MSAF	meconium-stained amniotic fluid
NAC	N-acetylcysteine
NETs	neutrophil extracellular traps
NF-κB	nuclear factor kappa B
NO	nitric oxide
8-OH-dG	8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine
PaO ₂	arterial partial pressure of oxygen
PDE	phosphodiesterase
PMN	polymorphonuclears
RAGE	receptor for advanced glycation end products
RNS	reactive nitrogen species
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SIRS	systemic inflammatory response syndrome
SNAP	S-nitroso-N-acetyl-penicillamine
SOD	superoxide dismutase
SP	surfactant protein
TAP	total antioxidant performance
TAS	total antioxidant status
TBARS	thiobarbituric acid reactive substances
TGF-β	transforming growth factor-β
TLR	Toll-like receptors
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TUNEL	terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP nick end
	labeling
VCAM-1	vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
VILI	ventilator-induced lung injury
VT	tidal volume
vWf	von Willebrand factor
W/D ratio	wet-dry lung weight ratio

2.1 Introduction

Oxygen is vitally important for human existence. Oxidation processes supply energy for biological actions, and free radicals generated in these processes participate in cell regulation. However, the lung as an organ responsible for uptake and utilization of appropriate quantities of oxygen is highly susceptible to oxidative damage. Therefore, it contains very effective system of antioxidants located in the cells and in the epithelial lining fluid to minimize detrimental effects of oxidants. Under physiological conditions, lung concentrations of antioxidants and oxidants are well balanced with dominance of a reducing state. When the ratio between oxidants and antioxidants shifts toward oxidants, oxidative processes result into protein, lipid, and DNA deterioration [1]. In acute lung injury (ALI), oxidative stress is associated with both overproduction of oxidants and malfunction of antioxidant systems [2]. As the oxidative damage of the lung tissue significantly contributes to pathophysiology of ALI, an intensive research in the preclinical and clinical conditions has to find out treatments which may positively influence changes in the injured lung. This chapter reviews inflammatory and oxidative changes in various animal models of ALI and points out several treatments which may be potentially beneficial in this situation.

2.2 Acute Lung Injury

2.2.1 Definitions, Incidence, and Etiology

Acute lung damage represents a life-threatening situation which can occur in all age groups. Diffuse alveolar injury, formation of lung edema, inflammation, and ventilation-perfusion mismatch may finally lead to decrease in lung compliance and into profound hypoxemia [3].

American–European Consensus Conference in 1994 [4] postulated diagnostic criteria for acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) or ALI in patients with acute lung damage: (1) acute hypoxemia, defined as a ratio of arterial partial pressure of oxygen (PaO₂) and fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂) – for ARDS, PaO₂/FiO₂ is <200 mmHg (26.7 kPa), for ALI, PaO₂/FiO₂ is between 200 mmHg (26.7 kPa) and 300 mmHg (40 kPa); (2) bilateral infiltrates on chest X-ray; and (3) no increase in pulmonary artery wedge pressure. Newer, so-called Berlin definition defined three categories of ARDS according to severity of hypoxemia: mild (PaO₂/FiO₂, less than 100 mmHg) forms of ARDS [5]. The term "acute lung injury" that in the older definition expressed the milder form of lung damage was omitted, and nowadays it is used for general expression of the situation or for experimental studies where respiratory insufficiency is induced artificially and other clinically relevant signs except of hypoxemia cannot be determined.

Despite better understanding of the pathophysiology and wider use of lungprotective ventilations, incidence of ARDS remains high, about 30–80 cases per 100,000 population [6].

ALI may develop from direct reasons, for example, in pneumonia, aspiration of gastric content, near-drowning, inhalation of toxic gases, etc., or from indirect reasons as an accompanying situation in serious systemic disorder, for example, in sepsis, severe trauma, or pancreatitis [3, 7].

2.2.2 Pathophysiology of ALI/ARDS

The hallmarks of ALI/ARDS pathophysiology include ongoing neutrophil-mediated inflammation, excessive transmigration and activation of leukocytes and platelets, increased activation of coagulation pathways, and enhanced permeability through alveolar-capillary membrane [8]. Changes in ALI/ARDS develop in three stages which overlap. The initial or exudative phase (day 1-7) is defined by diffuse alveolar damage of lung epithelium and/or endothelium which is linked with release of various factors causing injury and cell death. The loss of integrity of alveolar-capillary barrier leads to flooding of the alveoli with proteinaceous fluid and dilution of pulmonary surfactant. These changes result into generation of lung edema, decreased lung compliance, and impairment of gas exchange [9]. Damage to the lung tissue is associated with massive transmigration of immune cells into impaired lung. Activated neutrophils, alveolar macrophages, and fixed lung cells produce vast quantities of pro-inflammatory substances, for example, interleukin (IL)-1β, IL-6, IL-8, tumor necrosis factor (TNF) α , proteases, and reactive oxygen species (ROS), further potentiating the lung tissue injury [9, 10]. Within several days, the exudative phase fluently passes to proliferative phase that is characterized by resolution of pulmonary edema and regeneration of damaged tissue by proliferation and phenotypic changes in type II alveolar cells, myofibroblasts and fibroblasts, and new matrix deposition. In the absence of recovery, the situation in some patients may progress to a fibrotic stage characterized by diffuse fibrosis and irreversible change of lung architecture [9, 11].

In direct lung injury, noxious stimuli hit primarily the lung structures. The complex immune response is activated by linking of microbial products or cell injury– associated endogenous molecules (danger-associated molecular patterns, DAMPs) to pattern recognition receptors (e.g., Toll-like receptors, TLR) on the lung epithelial cells and alveolar macrophages which results in inflammation [8]. As additional immune effector mechanisms contributing to the tissue injury, neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) and extracellular histones have been identified. NETs are formed by dying neutrophils that release DNA, histones, and granular proteins (e.g., neutrophil elastase and myeloperoxidase). The released histones, major proteins of chromosomes, are highly cytotoxic. They act as DAMPs and further induce epithelial and endothelial cell death. After entering the circulation, histones stimulate platelet aggregation, promote recruitment of neutrophils, and aggravate systemic inflammation [12, 13]. The systemic leukocyte activation can progress to systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS), multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS), and multiple organ failure [15].

If the primary cause of ALI/ARDS is located in other tissues than the lung, lung inflammation and edema formation may be triggered by high concentrations of histones to which the lung is highly susceptible [12, 14]. However, many other substances including pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α and IL-1 β , high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) protein, or mitochondrial DNA may also act as DAMPs and induce the lung inflammation and ALI/ARDS [16].

However, there are other differences between direct and indirect ALI/ARDS, as well. In the direct ALI/ARDS, injury is more localized to alveolar epithelial cells, with alveolar collapse; accumulation of polymorphonuclears (PMN), particularly of neutrophils; fibrin deposition; hyaline membranes; and alveolar wall edema. In indirect ALI/ARDS, diffuse injury to endothelial cells is more prominent, and typical is the finding of interstitial edema and smaller lung accumulation of neutrophils than in the direct form. Moreover, in the direct form of ALI/ARDS, concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNFa, IL-1B, IL-6, and IL-8 increase in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) or lung tissue homogenates. In the indirect form of ALI/ ARDS, increased levels of these cytokines are detected predominantly in the plasma indicating that the lung injury is secondary due to reaction of substances released from the extrapulmonary sites of injury into the circulation [17, 18]. Regarding the primary injury to epithelial cells in direct ALI/ARDS, surfactant protein (SP)-D has been identified as a valuable marker of injury to type II alveolar cells and receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) as an indicator of deterioration of type I alveolar cells. The damage of endothelial cells and systemic inflammation which are more prominent in the indirect ALI/ARDS can be confirmed by increased concentrations of von Willebrand factor (vWf), IL-6, IL-8, and angiopoietin-2 in the plasma [9, 19].

2.3 Oxidative Stress in Acute Lung Injury

Dysregulated acute inflammatory response in ALI/ARDS is linked with higher level of lung oxidative stress due to an overproduction of oxidants and reduced activity of antioxidants. In normal situation, lung oxidants and antioxidants are kept in balance with little dominance of a reducing state. In pathological situations, such as ALI/ARDS, increases in oxidants and decreases in antioxidants disrupt the equilibrium and lead to oxidative changes. However, the oxidative stress is not responsible only for direct lung injury, but it can also influence the control of lung inflammation [20].

Oxidants can be of intrinsic or extrinsic origin. Intrinsically generated oxidants can be derived from mitochondria, but mainly from phagocytic cells (recruited neutrophils and residential lung macrophages) and from alveolar epithelial and endothelial cells [21]. Exogenous sources of oxidants represent inhaled oxidant gases as well as medicinal oxygen in supraphysiological concentrations which is used for artificial ventilation of patients with severe ARDS [21].

Reactive oxygen species (ROS – superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, hydroxyl radicals, etc.) are formed in sequential reduction of oxygen (equivalent to sequential addition of electrons)[2]. Reactive nitrogen species (RNS), particularly nitric oxide (NO) and peroxynitrite, also contribute to pathophysiology of ALI/ARDS. Nitric oxide (NO) released in small amounts has important neurotransmitter and regulatory functions. However, high concentrations of NO generated due to increased activity of inducible NO synthase (iNOS) in inflammation exert deleterious effects when combine with superoxide and form highly toxic peroxynitrite [2]. To counterbalance the detrimental action of free radicals, endogenous antioxidant systems, such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), glutathione, and glutathione peroxidase, are expressed in high concentrations in the lung lining fluids [21]. ROS and RNS cause the injury by several ways: (a) strand breaks and point mutations of DNA, (b) peroxidation of lipids and generation of vasoactive and pro-inflammatory substances, (c) oxidation of sulfhydryl and other protein groups altering the activity of proteins, and (d) alteration of transcription factors nuclear factor (NF)- κ B and activator protein (AP)-1 resulting in increased expression of pro-inflammatory genes [22]. Oxidation and cross-linking of proteins, lipids, DNA, and saccharides lead to changes of cellular structures and function, increased vascular endothelial permeability, and lung edema formation as well as pulmonary epithelial dysfunction with impaired sodium transport and fluid reabsorption from the alveoli [2].

There are several possibilities to detect free oxygen and nitrogen species and their by-products to evaluate the extent of oxidative changes in the lung [20]. Some fluorogenic markers of ROS may be detected in live cells [23]. However, more studies demonstrate changes in the concentrations of markers of lipoperoxidation, for example, thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS), including malondialde-hyde (MDA), 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (4HNE), isoprostanes, etc.; markers of protein oxidation, such as nitrotyrosine, dityrosine, lysine–lipoperoxidation products, etc.; markers of DNA damage, such as 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine (8-OH-dG), hydrogen peroxide and superoxide products, nitrites/nitrates, etc.; and markers of antioxidant status, such as levels of SOD, CAT, reduced (GSH) and oxidized (GSSG) states of glutathione, or total antioxidant status (TAS) in the samples of BALF, plasma or serum of patients with ARDS or in the BALF, plasma, serum, and lung homogenates of experimental animals with models of ALI. Further information on nitroxide free radicals, carbon monoxide, and other markers of oxidative stress can be obtained from analysis of expired air or exhaled air condensate [20].

2.4 Animal Models of Acute Lung Injury

Experimental models of ALI/ARDS provide an additional knowledge on the pathophysiology of respiratory distress and enable to determine effectiveness of novel therapeutic approaches [24]. Nevertheless, while in humans the criteria for ARDS are well defined, these cannot be completely accepted for animal studies. Official American Thoracic Society Workshop has considered for fundamental signs of experimental ALI: (1) lung tissue damage verified by histopathological investigation, (2) increased permeability of alveolar–capillary membrane, (3) acute lung inflammation, and (4) deterioration in physiological parameters (lung functions, oxygenation, etc.). To estimate whether ALI was successfully induced, at least three of the mentioned "signs" need to be identified [25].

When modeling human lung injury, species differences should be considered. There are unique species characteristics, that is, differences in innate immune response (differences in TLR, mononuclear phagocytic system, NO production, chemokines and chemokine receptors, etc.) and differences in animal size which can limit a direct applicability of results obtained from the animal models [24]. Furthermore, models of ALI are artificially induced in healthy animals, while ARDS often occurs in older patients with concomitant chronic diseases.

According to the primary target, experimental models of ALI can be assorted into three groups:

- (a) Models with primary dysfunction of epithelium (i.e., models of direct ALI), such as model of surfactant depletion induced by saline lung lavage, model induced by intratracheal instillation of lipopolysaccharide (LPS), neonatal meconium, or hydrochloric acid, model induced by exposure to hyperoxia or mechanical ventilation, etc.
- (b) Models with primary dysfunction of endothelium (i.e., models of indirect ALI), such as model induced by intravenous LPS administration or instillation of oleic acid.
- (c) Models with dysfunction of both epithelium and endothelium [24, 26].

2.5 Evidence of Lung Damage and Oxidative Stress in Animal Models of "Direct ALI"

2.5.1 Model of ALI Induced by Intratracheal LPS/Bacteria

Shortly after instillation of bacterial endotoxin LPS or bacteria into the lung, these are recognized by alveolar macrophages via their pattern recognition receptors. Identification of pathogenic bacteria initiates an inflammatory response with generation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF α , IL-1 β , etc.) and chemokines, such as macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-2. These mediators then activate epithelial cells to express various TLR receptors including TLR4 and via stimulation of NF-kB-dependent pathways to produce additional chemokines attracting neutrophils into the lung [27]. Transendothelial migration of PMN into the interstitium began 1 h after exposure to LPS and reached a maximum of 12-24 h, while transmigration of PMN into the alveoli appeared more than 2 h after LPS, with a maximum at 24 h [28]. In other studies, aerosolized or intratracheal LPS increased counts of neutrophils in BALF and lung tissue, elevated pro-inflammatory cytokines and neutrophil chemoattractants, and evoked production of lung edema [29-31]. The influx of inflammatory cells after LPS inhalation correlated well with lung function impairment, and histopathological changes peaked at 48 h [32]. In the recent study, LPS increased expression of TNFa, iNOS, and cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 and generation of ROS in cell line. In addition, LPS activated mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways, enhancing NF-kB activation and iNOS expression [33]. Similarly in mice, LPS elevated counts of total cells, neutrophils, and macrophages; induced lung edema formation due to increased lung cell apoptosis and damaged epithelium barrier function; increased TNF α , IL-1 β , glutamate, and myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity; and reduced endogenous lung antioxidants [33].

2.5.2 Model of Surfactant Depletion Induced by Saline Lung Lavage

Repetitive saline lung lavage partially removes the lung surfactant leading to increased alveolar surface tension, alveolar collapse, and impairment of local host defense [24, 34]. These changes result in hypoxemia, edema production, PMN migration into the alveolar spaces, and elevated expression of cytokines TNF α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-8 [35–41].

Injury to cells and inflammation are accompanied with oxidative changes. In saline-injured and oxygen-ventilated rabbits, total antioxidant performance (TAP) in the lung tissue and plasma decreased, and oxidative DNA damage of the lung increased already 4 hours after induction of the model [42]. In a similar model, MDA as a marker of peroxidation of lipids, 3-nitrotyrosine as an indicator of oxidation of proteins, and levels of nitrites/nitrates as markers of nitrosative stress elevated in the lung tissue [38–41]. Histological investigation showed peribronchial edema, thickened alveolar–capillary barrier, destruction and desquamation of epithelial and endothelial cells, type I cell necrosis, and injury to basement membrane [43] as well as significantly increased apoptosis of lung epithelial cells verified by TUNEL methods and detection of caspase-3 already 4 h after induction of the model [38–41].

2.5.3 Model of ALI Induced by Neonatal Meconium

Meconium and meconium-stained amniotic fluid (MSAF) which can be aspirated due to intrauterine stress or during the labor contain many substances potentially toxic for the lung, such as bile acids, bilirubin, cholesterol, free fatty acids, pancreatic phospholipase A_2 , etc. [44]. In animal models, intratracheal instillation of neonatal meconium suspension caused dose-dependent airway obstruction, drop in lung compliance, and alveolar atelectasis due to dysfunction of pulmonary surfactant, right-to-left pulmonary shunting, lung cell damage and death due to apoptosis and necrosis, and severe hypoxemia, hypercapnia, and acidosis [45-52]. In addition, meconium-induced, neutrophil-mediated inflammation was verified by massive PMN transmigration into the lung, increased pro-inflammatory cytokines in the lung homogenate and plasma, and increased protein content in BALF and wet-dry (W/D) lung weight ratio as markers of lung edema formation [52, 53]. Exposure to meconium also increased neutrophil-derived production of ROS, which in pigs correlated with meconium concentration [54]. In rabbits, meconium instillation triggered oxidative changes leading to significant peroxidation of lipids and proteins in the lung tissue and plasma, as confirmed by higher concentrations of TBARS, 3-nitrotyrosine, SH groups, dityrosine, and lipoperoxidation products and lower total antioxidant status (TAS) and activity of cytochrome c oxidase in the lung mitochondria [52, 53]. The experimental results have been recently confirmed by the results of the clinical study showing elevated concentrations of MDA and 8-OH-dG in the cord blood of full-term and late preterm newborns which were delivered

through MSAF than in the newborns not delivered through MSAF [55]. Meconium aspiration-associated changes can be also responsible for oxidative changes in distant organs, for example, in the hippocampus [56, 57].

2.5.4 Model of ALI Induced by Hyperoxia

Exposure to high oxygen concentrations for longer time can induce primary hyperoxic lung injury, or can exacerbate changes in the lung injured from other primary causes [58]. Under hyperoxia, excessive ROS are directly toxic for cells. In addition, ROS enhance pro-inflammatory pathways leading to dysfunction of alveolar– capillary membrane and influx of PMN into the alveolar spaces [58, 59].

Exposure to oxygen lasting 3–4 days triggered damage to type I cells, necrotic changes of endothelial cells, formation of interstitial and intra-alveolar edema, and increased platelet adhesion and PMN accumulation [60]. Exposure of rats and mice to 100% oxygen for 40–50 h resulted in lung deterioration, and exposure for 60–70 h caused death [24, 60]. Exposure of mice to 95% oxygen for more than 8 h caused DNA base damage in the isolated lung cells in comparison to room air [61]. In rats with 7-day exposure to hyperoxia (\geq 90% oxygen), weight gain slowed down, and lung tissue was severely injured as indicated by hematoxylin-eosin staining, higher W/D ratio, and higher protein and mRNA expression of HMGB1 and RAGE than in the control group [62].

2.5.5 Model of ALI Induced by Mechanical Ventilation

Mechanical ventilation is an important tool for support of critically ill patients with ARDS. However, inappropriate ventilation strategy aggravates the effects of a "first hit" to the lung due to alveolar overdistension caused by high inspiratory pressure of tidal volume at the end of inspiration ("volutrauma") or due to injury from repetitive closing and opening the alveolar units in insufficient value of positive end-expiratory pressure ("atelectrauma") [63]. Thus, this so-called ventilator-induced lung injury (VILI) produces additional lung damage [64, 65].

In animals, already 30 min of excessive ventilation led to detachment and death of endothelial cells and denudation of underlying basement membrane [66]. These changes were associated with increased microvascular permeability, formation of hyaline membranes, stimulated transmigration and activation of PMN, and increased synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines [67–69], particularly of TNF α [65].

While large-volume ventilation caused alveolar hemorrhage, hyaline membrane formation, neutrophilic infiltration, decline in lung compliance, and worsened gas exchange [70], small-volume ventilation mitigated inflammation and lung tissue damage [37]. Ventilation with high tidal volumes (HTV, 18 ml/kg) compared to low tidal volume ventilation (8 ml/kg) in rats increased oxidative stress in the lung expressed by elevated concentrations of methylguanidine and MDA in BALF and lower antioxidative activity expressed by protein expression of glutathione

peroxidase-1. In addition, HTV ventilation increased W/D ratio, leukocyte count in BALF; protein expression of pro-inflammatory markers, such as NF- κ B, vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1; and TNF α and matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9 and decreased expressions of specific surfactant proteins SP-A and SP-D in the pulmonary tissue [71].

2.5.6 Model of ALI Induced by Acid Aspiration

Intratracheal instillation of hydrochloric acid (HCl) within a short time caused surfactant dysfunction, increase in vascular permeability and intrapulmonary shunts, rapid deterioration of gas exchange, and neutrophil-mediated acute inflammatory response [72–74]. Acid-induced sequestration of PMN and increased W/D ratio and concentration of proteins in BALF were associated with overproduction of ROS and elastase, whereas IV administration of SOD and CAT prevented an edema formation, but did not reduce PMN sequestration [75]. Recruitment and activation of neutrophils correlated with high levels of serine proteases. However, the authors found proteases to be the primary mechanism of this injury, whereas administration of deferoxamine, causing chelation of iron necessary for production of hydroxyl radicals, or of catalase, promoting enzymatic breakdown of hydrogen peroxide, did not protect the lung against injury [76]. Due to abundant production of oxidants and serine proteinases degrading certain superoxide dismutases, the capacity of antioxidants declined [77, 78]. Acid aspiration also triggered generation of oxidized phospholipids in the lung, stimulating production of cytokines via TLR-4 receptor [79, 80]. Systemic inflammation can be additionally promoted by increased release of nucleosomes and histones [81]. As a result, acid aspiration models were associated with rapid increase in levels of TNF α , IL-8, IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-10, MIP-2, and eicosanoids and activation of complement [74, 82].

Nevertheless, in addition to HCl making low pH, gastric content consists of food particles, bacterial cell wall products, cytokines, etc. which may participate in aspiration-induced lung injury in humans [83–85]. Intratracheal instillation of both acid and small gastric particles evoked more evident lung injury as verified by finding of worsened surfactant dysfunction and oxygenation and elevated counts of erythrocytes, total leukocytes, and neutrophils and higher concentrations of total protein and albumin in BALF than in the group with instillation of only HCl or small nonacidified gastric particles [86].

2.5.7 Model of ALI Induced by Mustards

Sulfur mustard, nitrogen mustard, and their analogs are used as chemical warfare agents, targeting respiratory system [87]. Mustards as lipophilic agents rapidly penetrating the tissues and cells cause alkylation and cross-linking of cell structures, resulting in oxidative and nitrosative stress, DNA breaks, deterioration of cell function, and cell death by apoptosis or autophagy [87, 88].

Exposure to sulfur mustard in rats resulted in fast local damage, thickening of alveolar walls, increased transmigration of inflammatory cells into the lung, evidence of autophagy and apoptosis processes, elevated protein in BALF, and elevated expression of COX-2, TNF α , and iNOS in the alveoli and of MMP-9 in airway epithelium. In contrary, expressions of antioxidant heme oxygenase (HO)-1 and anti-inflammatory collectin SP-D lowered after exposure to sulfur mustard [89]. Exposure to nitrogen mustard altered lung mechanics, caused marked histological changes, increased protein content and cell counts in BALF, elevated expression of pro-inflammatory enzymes iNOS and COX-2, implicated in lung injury, and enhanced expression of substances controlling turnover of extracellular matrix [90]. Similarly, other authors reported higher levels of pro-inflammatory and profibrotic mediators including ROS and RNS, cytokines, and transforming growth factor (TGF)- β [88, 91, 92].

2.5.8 Model of ALI Induced by Halogen Inhalation

Exposures to halogens, chlorine or bromine, can appear due to accidental release in industry or use of chemical weapons [93]. Inhaled chlorine gas is extremely toxic and caused dyspnea, hypoxemia, airway obstruction, and pulmonary inflammation and edema and in severe cases led to ARDS and death of exposed patients [94]. Subacute effects include abnormal epithelial repair, mucus overproduction, airway obstruction and fibrosis, and worsened lung function [93, 95] as well as systemic vascular dysfunction and cardiac injury [96, 97]. Similar signs were observed in animals, where chlorine inhalation altered breathing pattern, caused hypoxemia, inflammation, mitochondrial damage, formation of lung edema, pulmonary hypertension, airway hyperresponsiveness, lipid peroxidation, surfactant dysfunction, and lung cell apoptosis or necrosis [93, 98, 99]. Mild hypoxemia, airway hyperresponsiveness, and deterioration of small airways verified histologically were observed 7 days after chlorine inhalation in rabbits [99].

Oxidative stress is the principal mechanism contributing to chlorine toxicity [93]. Inhaled chlorine firstly interacts with antioxidants in lung epithelial lining fluid. Chlorine in reaction with water generates hypochlorous acid and HCl, followed by oxidation of plasmalogens in the lung and surfactant. Products of these reactions (chlorinated lipids, 2-chloropalmitaldehyde, and 2-chlorostearaldehyde) can (a) stimulate neutrophils; (b) react with protein side chains, DNA, and lipids of the airway epithelial cells leading to injury; (c) inhibit Na⁺-dependent alveolar fluid clearance that results into lung edema formation; or (d) can be further oxidized to intermediates triggering inflammation via stimulation of MAPK and NF- κ B pathways [100, 101].

Bromine is less reactive than chlorine, but also induces airway hyperresponsiveness and ARDS. Similarly to chlorine, inhaled bromine reacts with antioxidants in the epithelial lining fluid. When the local antioxidant stores are depleted, bromine and hypobromous acid react with epithelial cell membranes to form reactive brominated lipids causing disruption of airway epithelium, inflammation, and lung edema [93].

2.5.9 Model of ALI Induced by Phosgene Inhalation

Phosgene is an industrial gas generated as an intermediate in production of various chemicals: dyes, pesticides, plastics, polyurethanes, pharmaceuticals, etc. Inhaled phosgene causes the pulmonary damage and edema formation which are dependent on the time and intensity of exposure. These changes are the consequences of acylation and oxidant-mediated reactions resulting in protein and phospholipid dysfunction and generation of ROS and RNS [102].

In animal models, exposure to phosgene increased permeability of alveolar–capillary barrier, damaged type I epithelial cells [103], and altered energy metabolism [104], and expression of proteins contributed to glutathione redox cycle [105], increased lipid peroxidation [106], decreased levels of 3'-5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP)[107], enhanced production of leukotrienes (LT)[108], and stimulated release of endothelin (ET)-1 [109].

2.6 Evidence of Lung Damage and Oxidative Stress in Animal Models of "Indirect ALI"

2.6.1 Model Induced by Intravenous/Intraperitoneal Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)

An early phase after intravenous/intraperitoneal LPS is characterized by monophasic thermic response (LPS-induced fever), increased minute ventilation due to changes in breathing rate and tidal volume [110, 111], lower cardiac output and arterial pressure, and higher pulmonary artery pressure due to increased resistance in postcapillary veins [24], tachycardia [112], and changes in heart rate variability (an index of cardiac autonomic control), accompanied with increased IL-6 in the heart tissue [113], intravascular coagulation, and increased risk of death [24]. If LPS-exposed animal survives, the acute phase is followed by hemodynamic stabilization with microvascular injury and PMN lung sequestration, increased permeability, shunt fraction and pulmonary artery pressure, hypoxemia and higher alveolar–arterial oxygen differences, and intravascular thrombosis [24, 114].

In contrast to intratracheal LPS delivery, PMN infiltration into the lung, epithelial damage, and formation of hyaline membranes are relatively small [24]. Intravenous/intraperitoneal LPS triggers apoptotic changes of capillary endothelium preceding other tissue damage [115] and lung edema formation [110, 116]. In addition, leukopenia and release of various pro-inflammatory cytokines, adhesion molecules, and tissue factors can be detected [110, 112, 116–118] as well as changes in concentrations of surfactant proteins [111]. Intravenous/intraperitoneal administration of LPS also led to serious oxidative changes as indicated by higher levels of oxidants and lung MPO activity and lower levels of antioxidants [116, 118–121]. Similar changes have been found in patients with sepsis, too [122–124].

2.6.2 Model of Oleic Acid-Induced Lung Injury

Deleterious effects of intravenous oleic acid administration can be detected early after the administration, with maximum changes at 12 h [24]. There are several presumed mechanisms contributing to this type of the lung injury [125]. Oleic acid directly binds to biological membranes triggering intracellular pathways leading to lung cell death due to necrosis [126]. In addition, increased lung cell apoptosis is indicated by an increase in pro-apoptotic markers including caspase-3 and caspase-6 and decrease in antiapoptotic markers [125, 127]. Other presumed mechanisms participating in oleic acid-induced lung injury are a covalent binding of oleic acid to sodium channels and Na⁺-K⁺ ATPase in the epithelial cells leading to impairment of sodium transport and enhanced edema formation [128]. Furthermore, fatty acids participate in many processes, such as generation of lipid mediators, ROS and RNS, influencing activity of various intracellular signaling pathways, linking to TLR receptors, regulation of gene expression, activation of transcription factors, etc. [129].

2.7 Therapeutic Options

2.7.1 Antioxidants

Antioxidants represent rather heterogenous group of compounds that produce direct or indirect antioxidant effects. Directly acting antioxidants act as scavengers of ROS/RNS. As by-products, they can generate further reactive substances, for example, hydrogen peroxide is produced in dismutation of superoxide by SOD. Some agents can serve as cofactors or substrates for other endogenous antioxidants. For instance, a direct scavenger *N-acetylcysteine* (NAC) can act also as a source of cysteine for GSH synthesis. Thiol group containing antioxidants can interact with carbon-centered radicals. Effects of other substances, for example, polyphenolic compounds, are based on generation of a mild oxidative stress response, which can evoke an antioxidant response leading to suppressed oxidative stress [130, 131].

Administration of NAC successfully diminished oxidative and inflammatory changes in various forms of ALI. NAC reduced chlorine inhalation toxicity [132] and attenuated pulmonary edema, decreased markers of lung oxidative stress, and increased Nrf2 activation in phosgene-induced ALI models [133, 134]. In other models of chemical-induced injury, NAC preserved cell viability [135] and protected the cells from GSH depletion and lipid peroxidation [136, 137]. In sulfur mustard-induced lung injury, NAC improved survival, enhanced gas exchange,

decreased neutrophils and protein content in BALF, and decreased inflammatory markers [138–140]. In hyperoxia-exposed rats, nebulized NAC given once a day for 7 consecutive days decreased W/D ratio, alleviated lung histopathological changes, and reduced protein and mRNA expressions of HMGB1 and RAGE [62]. In meconium-induced lung injury in rabbits, intravenous NAC significantly decreased markers of lipid and protein oxidation and prevented a decrease in TAS [52]. Additional improvement in this model was found when intravenous NAC was delivered together with exogenous surfactant treatment [141, 142].

From other antioxidants, intravenous Cu/Zn *SOD* prevented impairment of the lung function induced in rats by ventilation with high tidal volumes (18 ml/kg) compared to low tidal volume ventilation (8 ml/kg), effectively reversed pulmonary oxidative stress and inflammation, preserved SP-A and SP-D expressions in the lung, and increased serum NO level enhancing NO bioavailability [71].

Glutathione, the most frequent thiol in cells of nonprotein structure, can have lower effectiveness compared to other antioxidants administered orally because of its limited gastric absorption and degradation [131]; however, it can reduce the oxidative damage [143].

Melatonin (N-acetyl-5-methoxytryptamine), a hormone regulating circadian rhythms, also acts as an antioxidant [144]. Melatonin treatment following nitrogen mustard injection restored oxidative and nitrosative stress indicators in the rat lungs to levels comparable with controls, probably due to iNOS inhibition [145]. Melatonin protected the cell culture models against chlorine and phosgene [146] and a rat phosphine-induced model from peroxidation of lipids, depletion of GSH, and DNA breaks [147].

Metal-containing catalytic antioxidants represent synthetic complexes mimicking the activity of endogenous antioxidant enzymes (SOD, CAT, etc.)[148]. For instance, catalytic antioxidant AEOL 10150 diminished oxidative lung damage in in vivo model of sulfur mustard analog inhalation [149] and protected from negative effects of chlorine as it was suggested by suppressed airway hyperresponsiveness, inflammation, and oxidative lung injury [150].

Other potentially beneficial antioxidants in ALI/ARDS are certain *vitamins and their analogs*. Vitamin D delivered to hyperoxia-injured neonatal rats reduced upregulation of TLR4 by hyperoxia and alleviated lung deterioration by preventing the loss of integrity of the lung structures, decreasing deposition of compounds of extracellular matrix, and reducing inflammation and lung cell apoptosis [151, 152]. Trolox (6-hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylic acid) as a water-soluble analog of vitamin E enhanced survival and suppressed oxidative changes in models of sulfur mustard ALI [143, 153]. Atypical synthetic adamantyl retinoid ST1926 given to LPS-injured mice decreased cell counts in BALF and concentrations of IL-1 β , IL-18, IL-6, and TNF α in serum and lung; suppressed NF- κ B, inhibitor- κ B, and I κ B kinase α , as well as TLR4 receptor induced by LPS; and thereby suppressed ROS production [154].

Positive results were observed also for *bioflavonoids*. For example, quercetin protected against sulfur mustard toxicity likely because of detoxication of intermediates and breaking of lipid peroxidation reaction [143, 153, 155]. Pretreatment

with quercetin 1 h before LPS challenge prevented interstitial edema and infiltration of PMN into the lung; attenuated elevation in the BALF total protein and count of neutrophils, W/D ratio, and levels of TNF α , IL-6, MDA, and MPO activity; and stimulated antioxidant activities of SOD, CAT, and glutathione peroxidase in LPSchallenged rats [156]. Other flavonoid fisetins decreased concentrations of lung MPO and expressions of IL-6, TNFa, IL-1β, MIP-1a, and MIP-2 and reduced upregulation in gene transcription of HO-1 and SOD2 in a mouse model of LPSinduced lung inflammation [157]. Anti-inflammatory and antioxidative effects in models of ALI have been recently published also for other compounds from medical plants, such as isovitexin [158] or vitexin [159]. Anti-inflammatory effects of resveratrol, a natural phytoalexin, in intratracheal LPS-induced ALI are probably related to suppression of oxidation, leukocyte activation, and generation of inflammatory mediators. Furthermore, resveratrol mitigated the LPS-induced histopathological changes, edema, and PMN infiltration, prevented an increase of IL-1ß and IL-18 in BALF, inhibited expressions of NLRP3 and caspase-1 mRNA, and suppressed activation of NLRP3 inflammasome in the lung and nuclear translocation of NF- κ B p65 and reduced activity of NF- κ B and generation of ROS [160]. Similarly, resveratrol improved lung histopathological changes during endotoxemia, decreased prooxidant biomarkers MDA and H₂O₂, increased activity of antioxidants (GSH/GSSG ratio, TAC, CAT, and SOD), and suppressed expression of iNOS, NO, and peroxynitrite in intraperitoneal LPS-induced ALI [161].

Other antioxidants, for example, *caffeic acid phenethyl ester (CAPE)*, reduced phosgene-evoked elevation of MDA and SOD activity, reversed the decline of GSH concentrations in BALF and lung tissue, and partially inhibited nuclear translocation of NF- κ B p65 [162].

2.7.2 Glucocorticoids

Glucocorticoids (GCs) act via both genomic and nongenomic mechanisms. The genomic mechanisms are mediated by interaction with cytosolic glucocorticoid receptor (cGCR). After passing through cell membrane, GCs link to ligand-binding domain of cGCR. The glucocorticoid–cGCR complex translocates to nucleus and binds to DNA-binding sites or glucocorticoid response elements (GRE). Linking to GRE⁺, the glucocorticoid–cGCR complex activates transcription of antiinflammatory proteins (IL-10, annexin 1, inhibitor of NF- κ B, etc.) and other proteins regulating metabolism ("transactivation") [163, 164]. Binding to GRE⁻, the glucocorticoid–cGCR complex inhibits transcription of NF- κ B and AP-1 which leads to suppression of synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1, TNF α , interferon (IFN) γ , etc.) [165], expression of iNOS and production of NO [166], etc. ("transrepression").

The nongenomic mechanisms of GCs act through specific membrane-associated and cytosol-associated receptors and second messengers [164]. These effects are, for example, involved in rapid T-cell immunosuppressive action [167], decreasing

arachidonic acid production [168], and activation of endothelial NO synthase leading to NO-dependent vasorelaxation [163].

Treatment with GCs in ALI/ARDS led to controversial results according to the type of injury. In intravenous endotoxin-induced ALI model, intratracheal budesonide enhanced lung compliance and PaO₂/FiO₂; decreased W/D ratio, protein content, concentration of neutrophil elastase, and leukocyte and neutrophil counts in BALF, lowered TNF α , IL-1 β , and IL-8; and increased IL-10 in BALF, reduced lung injury, and improved survival [169]. Similar improvement was found in ALI model induced by large-volume ventilation, where intratracheal budesonide besides the abovementioned benefits decreased neutrophil elastase level, intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1, and MIP-2 and increased IL-10 in BALF and plasma, decreased phosphorylated NF-kB lung levels, and reduced lung histological changes and apoptosis [170]. Intratracheal budesonide also ameliorated combined VILI+endotoxin-induced ALI model which enhanced oxygenation, ameliorated inflammation, reduced lung histopathological changes and apoptosis, and enhanced survival [171]. Potent anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects of intravenous dexamethasone [172] and intratracheal budesonide [47] were observed also in meconium-induced ALI, where these agents significantly decreased markers of both protein and lipid peroxidation in the lung. Positive impact of budesonide was enhanced when administered intratracheally together with exogenous surfactant [51, 53, 173]. Intratracheal budesonide alleviated inflammation and lung cell apoptosis also in saline lavage-induced ALI [39]. In chlorine-induced ALI, high-dose dexamethasone reduced acute inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness [174], mometasone and budesonide showed a dose-dependent inhibition of neutrophil influx into the lung [175], and aerosolized budesonide improved lung functions [176]. In acid-injured lung, dexamethasone reduced neutrophil recruitment, edema formation, and oxygenation [177, 178]. In contrary, in ALI caused by phosgene inhalation, no benefit of GCs in the acute phase of injury was found, and, in the recovery phase, their effect was even harmful [179-182].

Administration of GCs in patients with ARDS is still discussed [183]. Methylprednisolone given in early ARDS improved lung injury score, shortened the use of mechanical ventilation, enhanced survival, increased protein C levels, and decreased plasma IL-6 in patients with direct ARDS [184]. Recent meta-analysis of low-to-moderate dose of prolonged administration of GCs showed that GC delivery diminishes the time necessary for ventilation, extubation, and discharge from hospital and reduces mortality without obvious side effects. Therefore, the use of methylprednisolone in early moderate-to-severe ARDS (daily dose of 1 mg/kg) and late persistent ARDS (daily dose of 2 mg/kg) has been suggested [185]. Promising results were observed also in pediatric ARDS [186–188]. Methylprednisolone given as a loading dose of 2 mg/kg followed by a daily dose of 1mg/kg in infusion from days 1 to 7 decreased levels of IFN- α , IL-6, and IL-10, monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1, granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), and granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and increased total leukocytes and platelet counts and IL-17 α levels on day 7 [187]. On day 7, methylprednisolone reduced MMP-8 (indicating reduced activation of neutrophils), prevented increase in soluble ICAM-1 (indicating decreased endothelial injury), and decreased soluble RAGE (indicating epithelial injury and recovery) which correlated well with respiratory functions [188]. On the other hand, high-dose GCs given in patients with ARDS within 7 days of admission increased mortality rates within 3 months [189]. Similarly, no benefit was observed for methylprednisolone in persistent ARDS or in starting methylprednisolone therapy later than 2 weeks after appearance of the first signs of ARDS [190, 191].

2.7.3 Phosphodiesterase Inhibitors

Phosphodisterase (PDE) inhibitors are enzymes hydrolyzing cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) and cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP). Each type of cells can produce different PDE isoforms; therefore, PDE inhibitors regulating the concentrations of cAMP and cGMP can modulate the function of various cells and organs. Because in the lung the PDE isoforms PDE3, PDE4, and PDE5 are produced at high concentrations, selective PDE3, PDE4, and PDE5 inhibitors and nonselective PDE inhibitors can be of benefit [192].

In isolated perfused rabbit lung model of phosgene exposure, administration of nonselective PDE inhibitor *aminophylline* mitigated peroxidation of lipids and lowered concentration of leukotrienes C(4)/D(4)/E(4) in perfusate, reduced lung weight gain, and prevented a decline in cAMP level in the lung tissue [133]. In meconium-induced ALI, intravenous aminophylline in higher dose (2 mg/kg) and lower dose (1 mg/kg) reduced inflammation, lung edema, and protein and lipid oxidative changes in the lung [193, 194]. Other nonselective PDE inhibitors, for example, *pentoxifylline*, reduced signs of lung damage and inflammatory and oxidative changes in nitrogen mustard-injured rats, as verified by decreased indicators of oxidation lipocalin (Lcn)2 and HO-1 [195]. Pentoxifylline improved lung functions and survival also in rats with acid-induced ALI [196].

Positive effects were observed with selective PDE inhibitors, too. PDE3 inhibitor *olprinone* decreased markers of oxidation of lipids and proteins in the lung tissue, mitochondria, and blood plasma in rabbits with meconium-induced ALI [197]. PDE4 inhibitor *rolipram* inhibited degradation of cAMP alleviating lung edema, inflammation, and AHR in chlorine-induced ALI [198]. Other PDE4 inhibitor *roflumilast* effectively reduced inflammation, lung edema formation, oxidative changes, and lung cell apoptosis and improved respiratory parameters in saline lavage-induced ALI [199]. In phosgene-induced model of ALI, administration of selective PDE4 inhibitor *CP-80633* and PDE5 inhibitor *sildenafil* improved survival in mice [102]. In our recent study, PDE5 inhibitor sildenafil reduced leak of leukocytes (especially of neutrophils) into the alveoli; decreased pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF α , IL-8 and IL-6), markers of oxidative damage (3-nitrotyrosine, MDA, and nitrites/nitrates), lung edema formation, and apoptosis of lung epithelial cells; and improved respiratory parameters in rabbits with surfactant depletion ALI model [41].

2.7.4 Inhaled NO and NO Donors

Despite that *inhaled nitric oxide* (iNO) can provide some benefits in ALI/ARDS as a potent vasodilator, participation of nitric oxide (NO) in pulmonary inflammatory response is controversial. NO modulates inflammation and regulates the immune responses by multiple ways. Low amounts of NO which are in normal conditions generated particularly by endothelial and neuronal NO synthases suppress expression of adhesion molecules, production of cytokines and chemokines, and adhesion and transmigration of leukocyte into the tissues. However, high concentrations of NO produced by iNOS, for example, in inflammation, can be deleterious and proinflammatory. Thus, effects of NO depend not only on the enzymatic source but especially on the cell context, NO level, and initial priming of inflammatory cells [200, 201].

Inhaled NO can react with superoxide and may form toxic compounds in the lung including peroxynitrite, which damages DNA, leads to lipid peroxidation and protein changes, and can stimulate a release of inflammatory mediators. In ARDS patients treated with iNO, increased concentrations of 3-nitrotyrosine, considered for marker of peroxynitrite production, and 3-chlorotyrosine, considered for marker of activation of neutrophils, were found in BALF [202]. In contrary, in porcine model of sepsis, iNO prevented an increase in protein content and neutrophil count in BALF [203]. iNO also positively influenced inflammatory markers in BALF of ARDS patients where iNO mitigated generation of hydrogen peroxide, decreased expression of β_2 integrin CD11b/CD18 in neutrophils, and lowered IL-8 and IL-6 [204]. In more recent studies, iNO mitigated DNA damage, histopathological lung score, and number of PMN in BALF and elevated TAP in the lung, but increased also plasma nitrites/nitrates in rabbits with surfactant depletion [205, 206].

In a similar model of ALI induced by saline lung lavage, intratracheal delivery of soluble NO donor *S-nitroso-N-acetyl-penicillamine (SNAP)* decreased TBARS and expression of iNOS in the lung and lowered plasma levels of nitrite/nitrate. Decrease in markers of oxidative stress was associated with decreased transmigration of neutrophils into the lung, decreased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, and indicators of epithelial and endothelial damage and apoptosis of lung epithelial cells [38]. Nitric oxide-generating agents, such as *sodium nitrite*, resulted in lower protein content in BALF, reduced lung cell apoptosis, restoration of normal lung W/D ratios, and improved survival [207, 208].

Additional benefits for iNO in ARDS patients have been recently published also regarding a posttreatment periodin which the ARDS survivors may suffer from long-term obstructive or restrictive pulmonary dysfunction. The ARDS patients who were treated with iNO given in low dose showed an improvement in selected pulmonary function tests at 6 months after the treatment than placebo-treated patients [209]. Similarly in pediatric ARDS, positive response to iNO was associated with fewer ventilator days [210].

2.7.5 Other Promising Pharmacological Approaches

In ALI/ARDS, molecular pathways including generation of ROS by NADPH oxidases and induction of phosphorylation of MAPK signal transduction pathways can also serve as therapeutic targets [58, 59]. In phosgene-induced model, *specific inhibitors of MAPK* exerted potent modulatory effect on the expression of proinflammatory enzymes COX-2 and iNOS which resulted in diminished lung edema, which was likely mediated by inhibition of MAPK activation and of lower generation of NO and prostaglandin E(2) [211]. In LPS-exposed A549 cells, synthetic *N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor antagonist MN-08* decreased the levels of TNF α , IL-1 β , COX-2, iNOS, and ROS, upregulated expression of HO-1, and inhibited cell apoptosis. In ALI model evoked by intratracheal LPS, MN-08 lowered cells in BALF, attenuated lung edema, and reduced glutamate, MPO, and MDA, while it increased SOD and GSH activities and blocked MAPKs/nuclear translocation of NF- κ B signaling pathways [33].

Promising results were also found on influencing iNOS, enzyme mediating production of RNS by macrophages. *Blocker of iNOS aminoguanidine* reduced changes in nitrogen mustard-injured lung and suppressed oxidative stress and inflammation [87].

Anticoagulants and *antithrombotics* exhibiting potent anti-inflammatory effects could also be beneficial. For instance, *heparin* reduced disturbance in pulmonary coagulopathy and inflammation in chlorine-induced ALI [212, 213], and *activated protein C* decreased pro-inflammatory cytokines and lung edema formation in HCl-induced ALI [214].

Effective in reduction of oxidative stress and inflammation was also *lidocaine*. In rabbits with HCl-induced ALI, lidocaine attenuated HCl-induced increase in superoxide production by neutrophils and improved PaO₂ and lung mechanics [215].

Some improvements were found for *dexmedetomidine*, *a specific agonist of* α 2-*adrenoreceptors*. In neonatal rat model of hyperoxia-induced ALI, dexmedetomidine treatment attenuated lung injury by decreasing W/D ratio, mitigating oxidative and inflammatory changes, and reducing lung cell apoptosis [216].

Positive effects were observed after administration of β -adrenoreceptor agonists, too. Nonselective β -agonist isoproterenol lowered pulmonary vasoconstriction, decreased requirement for tracheal pressure, reduced lung weight gain, diminished leukotriene C(4)/D(4)/E(4)-mediated permeability of lung capillaries, and kept the GSH redox states in the lung tissue of the phosgene-induced ALI [133]. Nebulized short-acting β 2-agonist salbutamol reduced neutrophil influx into the lung but did not improve survival in pigs after phosgene exposure [217]. Longacting β 2-agonist arformoterol mitigated chlorine toxicity on airway reactivity and alveolar fluid clearance by increasing lung cAMP [218].

Positive effects on survival rates in phosgene-injured mice showed also *inhibitors of GABA transaminase* (e.g., valproic acid, vigabatrin) and *anticholinergic/ antiserotonergic compounds* (e.g., cyproheptadine) indicating participation of neurogenic signaling mechanisms, as well as administration of nonselective *TRPA antagonist* (RR) and *TRPA1 inhibitor* (HC-030031) confirming a role of TRP channels in airway irritation and inflammation [102]. *Inhibitor of TRP vanilloid*, an ion channel expressed in lung endothelial cells, reduced vascular permeability and airway hyperreactivity and enhanced gas exchange in mice with chlorine exposure [219].

Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug *ibuprofen* can improve some markers of ALI, as well. For instance, in phosgene-injured animals, ibuprofen increased the survival reducing lipid peroxidation and GSH depletion [133] and reduced lung edema production [220].

Favorable effects were observed also for *inhibitors of cytokines and other inflammatory mediators*. In nitrogen mustard-injured rats, *anti-TNF\alpha antibody* reduced lung histopathologic alterations and protein and cell contents in BALF, decreased expression of oxidative stress marker HO-1, and suppressed collection of M1 macrophages with pro-inflammatory and cytotoxic effects in the lung and reduced profibrotic TGF- β [221]. In acid-injured rats, *IL-8 antibody* reduced lung edema formation and neutrophil transmigration, decreased IL-8, and improved oxygenation [222], *inhibitor of complement pathway* ameliorated increase in TNF α and subsequent neutrophil lung sequestration [223], and *monoclonal antibody to adhesion molecule anti-CD18* inhibited binding of neutrophils to the endothelium [224].

Another promising approach is *sirtuin 3* (SIRT3). This mitochondria-specific protein is necessary for deacetylation of metabolic enzymes and oxidative phosphorylation. The recent study has shown that overexpression of SIRT3 may reduce oxidative lung damage and edema [225].

Serine protease inhibitor ulinastatin decreased synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines via regulation of MAPK/NF-κB signaling pathway in intratracheal LPS-induced ALI [226]. Decrease in BALF cells and concentrations of IL-15 and ICAM-1 in blood serum and improved lung structure after ulinastatin were also found in phosgene-induced model of ALI [227].

Pretreatment with *nilotinib, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor*, attenuated lung edema, histopathological marks of lung injury, and accumulation of cells in BALF, increased SOD and GSH activities, decreased MDA and nitrites/nitrates, and decreased lung levels of TNF α , TGF- β 1, and iNOS in rats with aerosolized LPS-induced model [228].

2.7.6 Lung-Protective Ventilation Strategies

Ventilation with high tidal volumes leads to more severe lung changes than ventilation with smaller volumes. Therefore, current guidelines suggest lung-protective ventilation modes, such as small-volume conventional mechanical ventilation (CMV) with small tidal volumes (VT) (<6 ml/kg body weight) or high-frequency oscillatory ventilation (HFOV), using limited airway pressure ($<30 \text{ cm } H_2O$) and appropriate value of positive end-expiratory pressure [229, 230].

Lung-protective ventilation can reduce oxidative changes which are dependent on the extent and severity of lung injury. CMV with VT of 6 or 8 ml/kg in a pig model of phosgene-induced ALI improved oxygenation, decreased shunt fraction and mortality, and reduced hemorrhage, neutrophilic infiltration, and intra-alveolar edema compared to CMV with VT of 10 ml/kg [231]. Similarly, in gastric juiceinduced ALI, MPO activity, lung injury score, and edema formation were lower in three types of lung-protective ventilation compared to aggressive high-volume CMV [232]. In saline lavage-induced ALI, lung-protective strategies (low tidal volume CMV and HFOV) attenuated lipid peroxidation expressed by MDA and other markers of inflammation and lung injury, protein content, leukocytes, elastase, and TNF α in tracheal fluid [35]. TAP in the lung and plasma of saline lavage-injured rabbits elevated, and oxidative DNA damage declined in animals ventilated with HFOV compared to CMV [42]. In rabbits with meconium-induced ALI, plasma levels of TBARS gradually increased in both CMV- and HFOV-ventilated animals during experiment; however, no between-group differences in the plasma or lung TBARS were found [233].

2.8 Conclusions

Oxidative changes represent a key mechanism in the acute lung damage. Although there are no pharmacological approaches generally approved for the treatment of ALI/ARDS, there are several groups of medicaments which can mitigate neutrophil transmigration, alleviate damage to alveolar–capillary barrier, and reduce generation of ROS/RNS and pro-inflammatory cytokines, proteases, etc. However, positive as well as potentially adverse effects of these agents should be carefully studied in various animal models of ALI before they could be recommended for administration in patients with ARDS.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by the projects APVV-15-0075 and VEGA 1/0356/18, both provided by The Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sport of the Slovak Republic, and the projects "Biomedical Center Martin" (ITMS code 2622020187) and Center of Experimental and Clinical Respirology II (ITMS code 26220120034), both cofinanced from EU sources.

Funding This work was supported by the projects APVV-15-0075 and VEGA 1/0356/18, both provided by The Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sport of the Slovak Republic, and the projects "Biomedical Center Martin" (ITMS code 26220220187) and Center of Experimental and Clinical Respirology II (ITMS code 26220120034), both cofinanced from EU sources.

References

- Rogers LK, Cismowski MJ (2018) Oxidative stress in the lung the essential paradox. Curr Opin Toxicol 7:37–43
- Sarma JV, Ward PA (2011) Oxidants and redox signaling in acute lung injury. Compr Physiol 1:1365–1381
- 3. Ware LB, Matthay MA (2000) The acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 342:1334–1349
- Bernard GR, Artigas A, Brigham KL et al (1994) Report of the American-European Consensus conference on acute respiratory distress syndrome: definitions, mechanisms, relevant outcomes, and clinical trial coordination. Consensus Committee. J Crit Care 9:72–81
- 5. Definition Task Force ARDS, Ranieri VM, Rubenfeld GD, Thompson BT et al (2012) Acute respiratory distress syndrome: the Berlin Definition. JAMA 307:2526–2533
- Standiford TJ, Ward PA (2016) Therapeutic targeting of acute lung injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome. Transl Res 167:183–191
- Mortelliti MP, Manning HL (2002) Acute respiratory distress syndrome. Am Fam Physician 65:1823–1830
- Matthay MA, Ware LB, Zimmerman GA (2012) The acute respiratory distress syndrome. J Clin Invest 122:2731–2740
- 9. Bhargava M, Wendt CH (2012) Biomarkers in acute lung injury. Transl Res 159:205-217
- Cross LJ, Matthay MA (2011) Biomarkers in acute lung injury: insights into the pathogenesis of acute lung injury. Crit Care Clin 27:355–377
- 11. Pierrakos C, Karanikolas M, Scolletta S et al (2012) Acute respiratory distress syndrome: pathophysiology and therapeutic options. J Clin Med Res 4:7–16
- 12. Xu Z, Huang Y, Mao P et al (2015) Sepsis and ARDS: the dark side of histones. Mediators Inflamm 2015:205054
- 13. Lv X, Wen T, Song J et al (2017) Extracellular histones are clinically relevant mediators in the pathogenesis of acute respiratory distress syndrome. Respir Res 18:165
- Abrams ST, Zhang N, Manson J et al (2013) Circulating histones are mediators of traumaassociated lung injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 187:160–169
- Bhatia M, Moochhala S (2004) Role of inflammatory mediators in the pathophysiology of acute respiratory distress syndrome. J Pathol 202:145–156
- Fujishima S (2014) Pathophysiology and biomarkers of acute respiratory distress syndrome. J Intensive Care 2:32
- Pelosi P, D'Onofrio D, Chiumello D et al (2003) Pulmonary and extrapulmonary acute respiratory distress syndrome are different. Eur Respir J Suppl 42:48s–56s
- Shaver CM, Bastarache JA (2014) Clinical and biological heterogeneity in acute respiratory distress syndrome: direct versus indirect lung injury. Clin Chest Med 35:639–653
- Calfee CS, Janz DR, Bernard GR et al (2015) Distinct molecular phenotypes of direct vs indirect ARDS in single-center and multicenter studies. Chest 147:1539–1548
- Guo RF, Ward PA (2007) Role of oxidants in lung injury during sepsis. Antioxid Redox Signal 9:1991–2002
- Ward PA (2010) Oxidative stress: acute and progressive lung injury. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1203:53–59
- Chow CW, Herrera Abreu MT et al (2003) Oxidative stress and acute lung injury. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 29:427–431
- Wan XS, Zhou Z, Ware JH, Kennedy AR (2005) Standardization of a fluorometric assay for measuring oxidative stress in irradiated cells. Radiat Res 163:232–240
- Matute-Bello G, Frevert CW, Martin TR (2008) Animal models of acute lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 295:L379–L399
- 25. Matute-Bello G, Downey G, Moore BB, et al Acute Lung Injury in Animals Study Group (2011) An official American Thoracic Society workshop report: features and measurements of experimental acute lung injury in animals. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 44:725–738

- Mokra D, Calkovska A (2017) Experimental models of acute lung injury in the newborns. Physiol Res 66:S187–S201
- Beutler B, Rietschel ET (2003) Innate immune sensing and its roots: the story of endotoxin. Nat Rev Immunol 3:169–176
- Reutershan J, Basit A, Galkina EV, Ley K (2005) Sequential recruitment of neutrophils into lung and bronchoalveolar lavage fluid in LPS-induced acute lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 289:L807–L815
- Nakajima T, Suarez CJ, Lin KW et al (2010) T cell pathways involving CTLA4 contribute to a model of acute lung injury. J Immunol 184:5835–5841
- Roos AB, Berg T, Ahlgren KM et al (2014) A method for generating pulmonary neutrophilia using aerosolized lipopolysaccharide. J Vis Exp 94:51470
- 31. de Souza Xavier Costa N, Ribeiro Júnior G, Dos Santos Alemany AA et al (2017) Early and late pulmonary effects of nebulized LPS in mice: an acute lung injury model. PLoS One 12:e0185474
- 32. Håkansson HF, Smailagic A, Brunmark C et al (2012) Altered lung function relates to inflammation in an acute LPS mouse model. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 25:399–406
- 33. Jiang J, Jian Q, Jing M et al (2019) The novel N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor antagonist MN-08 ameliorates lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury in mice. Int Immunopharmacol 66:109–118
- Wang HM, Bodenstein M, Markstaller K (2008) Overview of the pathology of three widely used animal models of acute lung injury. Eur Surg Res 40:305–316
- 35. Rotta AT, Gunnarsson B, Fuhrman BP et al (2001) Comparison of lung protective ventilation strategies in a rabbit model of acute lung injury. Crit Care Med 29:2176–2184
- 36. Vangerow B, Häfner D, Rueckoldt H et al (2001) Effects of C1 inhibitor and r-SP-C surfactant on oxygenation and histology in rats with lavage-induced acute lung injury. Intensive Care Med 27:1526–1531
- Ronchi CF, dos Anjos Ferreira AL, Campos FJ et al (2011) High-frequency oscillatory ventilation attenuates oxidative lung injury in a rabbit model of acute lung injury. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 236:1188–1196
- 38. Kosutova P, Mikolka P, Kolomaznik M et al (2016) Effects of S-Nitroso-N-Acetyl-Penicillamine (SNAP) on inflammation, lung tissue apoptosis and inos activity in a rabbit model of acute lung injury. Adv Exp Med Biol 935:13–23
- 39. Mokra D, Kosutova P, Balentova S et al (2016) Effects of budesonide on the lung functions, inflammation and apoptosis in a saline-lavage model of acute lung injury. J Physiol Pharmacol 67:919–932
- 40. Kosutova P, Mikolka P, Kolomaznik M et al (2018) Reduction of lung inflammation, oxidative stress and apoptosis by the PDE4 inhibitor roflumilast in experimental model of acute lung injury. Physiol Res 67:S645–S654
- 41. Kosutova P, Mikolka P, Balentova S et al (2018) Effects of phosphodiesterase 5 inhibitor sildenafil on the respiratory parameters, inflammation and apoptosis in a saline lavageinduced model of acute lung injury. J Physiol Pharmacol 69:815–826. (ahead of print)
- 42. Ronchi CF, Fioretto JR, Ferreira AL et al (2012) Biomarkers for oxidative stress in acute lung injury induced in rabbits submitted to different strategies of mechanical ventilation. J Appl Physiol (1985) 112:1184–1190
- Imai Y, Nakagawa S, Ito Y et al (2001) Comparison of lung protection strategies using conventional and high-frequency oscillatory ventilation. J Appl Physiol (1985) 91:1836–1844
- 44. Co E, Vidyasagar D (1990) Meconium aspiration syndrome. Compr Ther 16:34-39
- 45. Robinson TW, Roberts AM (2002) Effects of exogenous surfactant on gas exchange and compliance in rabbits after meconium aspiration. Pediatr Pulmonol 33:117–123
- 46. Shekerdemian LS, Ravn HB, Penny DJ (2004) Interaction between inhaled nitric oxide and intravenous sildenafil in a porcine model of meconium aspiration syndrome. Pediatr Res 55:413–418
- 47. Mokra D, Mokry J, Drgova A et al (2007) Intratracheally administered corticosteroids improve lung function in meconium-instilled rabbits. J Physiol Pharmacol 58(Suppl 5):389–398

- Vidyasagar D, Zagariya A (2008) Studies of meconium-induced lung injury: inflammatory cytokine expression and apoptosis. J Perinatol 28(Suppl 3):S102–S107
- Mollnes TE, Castellheim A, Lindenskov PH et al (2008) The role of complement in meconium aspiration syndrome. J Perinatol 28(Suppl 3):S116–S119
- Salvesen B, Stenvik J, Rossetti C et al (2010) Meconium-induced release of cytokines is mediated by the TRL4/MD-2 complex in a CD14-dependent manner. Mol Immunol 47:1226–1234
- Mikolka P, Mokra D, Kopincova J et al (2013) Budesonide added to modified porcine surfactant Curosurf may additionally improve the lung functions in meconium aspiration syndrome. Physiol Res 62(Suppl 1):S191–S200
- Mokra D, Drgova A, Mokry J et al (2015) N-acetylcysteine effectively diminished meconiuminduced oxidative stress in adult rabbits. J Physiol Pharmacol 66:101–110
- 53. Mikolka P, Kopincová J, Košútová P et al (2016) Lung inflammatory and oxidative alterations after exogenous surfactant therapy fortified with budesonide in rabbit model of meconium aspiration syndrome. Physiol Res 65(Suppl 5):S653–S662
- Soukka HR, Ahotupa M, Ruutu M, Kääpä PO (2002) Meconium stimulates neutrophil oxidative burst. Am J Perinatol 19:279–284
- Bandyopadhyay T, Bhatia BD, Khanna HD (2017) A study of oxidative stress in neonates delivered through meconium-stained amniotic fluid. Eur J Pediatr 176:317–325
- 56. Castellheim A, Lindenskov PH, Pharo A et al (2005) Meconium aspiration syndrome induces complement-associated systemic inflammatory response in newborn piglets. Scand J Immunol 61:217–225
- Aaltonen M, Soukka H, Halkola L et al (2005) Meconium aspiration induces oxidative injury in the hippocampus of newborn piglets. Early Hum Dev 81:439–447
- Dias-Freitas F, Metelo-Coimbra C, Roncon-Albuquerque R Jr (2016) Molecular mechanisms underlying hyperoxia acute lung injury. Respir Med 119:23–28
- Porzionato A, Sfriso MM, Mazzatenta A et al (2015) Effects of hyperoxic exposure on signal transduction pathways in the lung. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 209:106–114
- Barry BE, Crapo JD (1985) Patterns of accumulation of platelets and neutrophils in rat lungs during exposure to 100% and 85% oxygen. Am Rev Respir Dis 132:548–555
- Barker GF, Manzo ND, Cotich KL et al (2006) DNA damage induced by hyperoxia: quantitation and correlation with lung injury. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 35:277–288
- Qiao J, Chen L, Huang X, Guo F(2018) Effects of nebulized N--acetylcysteine on the expression of HMGB1 and RAGE in rats with hyperoxia--induced lung injury. J Cell Physioldoi: https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.27724 (ahead of print)
- Carrasco Loza R, Villamizar Rodríguez G, Medel Fernández N (2015) Ventilator-induced lung injury (VILI) in acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS): volutrauma and molecular effects. Open Respir Med J 9:112–119
- Dreyfuss D, Saumon G (1998) Ventilator-induced lung injury: lessons from experimental studies. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 157:294–323
- 65. Wilson MR, Takata M (2013) Inflammatory mechanisms of ventilator-induced lung injury: a time to stop and think? Anaesthesia 68:175–178
- 66. Dreyfuss D, Basset G, Soler P, Saumon G (1985) Intermittent positive-pressure hyperventilation with high inflation pressures produces pulmonary microvascular injury in rats. Am Rev Respir Dis 132:880–884
- Pugin J, Dunn I, Jolliet P et al (1998) Activation of human macrophages by mechanical ventilation in vitro. Am J Physiol 275:L1040–L1050
- Vlahakis NE, Schroeder MA, Limper AH, Hubmayr RD (1999) Stretch induces cytokine release by alveolar epithelial cells in vitro. Am J Physiol 277:L167–L173
- 69. Li LF, Lai YT, Chang CH et al (2014) Neutrophil elastase inhibitor reduces ventilationinduced lung injury via nuclear factor-κB and NF-κB repressing factor in mice. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 239:1045–1057

- Altemeier WA, Matute-Bello G, Frevert CW et al (2004) Mechanical ventilation with moderate tidal volumes synergistically increases lung cytokine response to systemic endotoxin. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 287:L533–L542
- 71. Wu NC, Liao FT, Cheng HM et al (2017) Intravenous superoxide dismutase as a protective agent to prevent impairment of lung function induced by high tidal volume ventilation. BMC Pulm Med 17:105
- 72. Kennedy TP, Johnson KJ, Kunkel RG et al (1989) Acute acid aspiration lung injury in the rat: biphasic pathogenesis. Anesth Analg 69:87–92
- Reiss LK, Uhlig U, Uhlig S (2012) Models and mechanisms of acute lung injury caused by direct insults. Eur J Cell Biol 91:590–601
- 74. Gramatté J, Pietzsch J, Bergmann R, Richter T (2018) Causative treatment of acid aspiration induced acute lung injury – recent trends from animal experiments and critical perspective. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc 69:187–195
- Goldman G, Welbourn R, Kobzik L et al (1992) Reactive oxygen species and elastase mediate lung permeability after acid aspiration. J Appl Physiol (1985) 73:571–575
- 76. Knight PR, Druskovich G, Tait AR, Johnson KJ (1992) The role of neutrophils, oxidants, and proteases in the pathogenesis of acid pulmonary injury. Anesthesiology 77:772–778
- 77. Nader-Djalal N, Knight PR 3rd, Thusu K et al (1998) Reactive oxygen species contribute to oxygen-related lung injury after acid aspiration. Anesth Analg 87:127–133
- Nader ND, Davidson BA, Tait AR et al (2005) Serine antiproteinase administration preserves innate superoxide dismutase levels after acid aspiration and hyperoxia but does not decrease lung injury. Anesth Analg 101:213–219
- 79. Imai Y, Kuba K, Neely GG et al (2008) Identification of oxidative stress and Toll-like receptor 4 signaling as a key pathway of acute lung injury. Cell 133:235–249
- Fu P, Birukov KG (2009) Oxidized phospholipids in control of inflammation and endothelial barrier. Transl Res 153:166–176
- Zhang Y, Wen Z, Guan L et al (2015) Extracellular histones play an inflammatory role in acid aspiration-induced acute respiratory distress syndrome. Anesthesiology 122:127–139
- Raghavendran K, Nemzek J, Napolitano LM, Knight PR (2011) Aspiration-induced lung injury. Crit Care Med 39:818–826
- Raghavendran K, Davidson BA, Mullan BA et al (2005) Acid and particulate-induced aspiration lung injury in mice: importance of MCP-1. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 289:L134–L143
- 84. Davidson BA, Alluri R (2013) Gastric aspiration models. Bio Protoc 3:pii:e968
- 85. Ayala P, Meneses M, Olmos P et al (2016) Acute lung injury induced by whole gastric fluid: hepatic acute phase response contributes to increase lung antiprotease protection. Respir Res 17:71
- Davidson BA, Knight PR, Wang Z et al (2005) Surfactant alterations in acute inflammatory lung injury from aspiration of acid and gastric particulates. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 288:L699–L708
- Malaviya R, Venosa A, Hall L et al (2012) Attenuation of acute nitrogen mustard-induced lung injury, inflammation and fibrogenesis by a nitric oxide synthase inhibitor. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 265:279–291
- Weinberger B, Laskin JD, Sunil VR et al (2011) Sulfur mustard-induced pulmonary injury: therapeutic approaches to mitigating toxicity. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 24:92–99
- Malaviya R, Sunil VR, Cervelli J et al (2010) Inflammatory effects of inhaled sulfur mustard in rat lung. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 248:89–99
- 90. Sunil VR, Patel KJ, Shen J et al (2011) Functional and inflammatory alterations in the lung following exposure of rats to nitrogen mustard. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 250:10–18
- 91. Tang FR, Loke WK (2012) Sulfur mustard and respiratory diseases. Crit Rev Toxicol 42:688–702
- 92. Malaviya R, Sunil VR, Venosa A et al (2016) Inflammatory mechanisms of pulmonary injury induced by mustards. Toxicol Lett 244:2–7

- Zhou T, Song WF, Shang Y et al (2018) Halogen inhalation-induced lung injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome. Chin Med J (Engl) 131:1214–1219
- 94. Van Sickle D, Wenck MA, Belflower A et al (2009) Acute health effects after exposure to chlorine gas released after a train derailment. Am J Emerg Med 27:1–7
- Fanucchi MV, Bracher A, Doran SF et al (2012) Post-exposure antioxidant treatment in rats decreases airway hyperplasia and hyperreactivity due to chlorine inhalation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 46:599–606
- 96. Honavar J, Samal AA, Bradley KM et al (2011) Chlorine gas exposure causes systemic endothelial dysfunction by inhibiting endothelial nitric oxide synthase-dependent signaling. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 45:419–425
- Zaky A, Bradley WE, Lazrak A et al (2015) Chlorine inhalation-induced myocardial depression and failure. Physiol Rep 3:pii: e12439
- White CW, Martin JG (2010) Chlorine gas inhalation: human clinical evidence of toxicity and experience in animal models. Proc Am Thorac Soc 7:257–263
- 99. Musah S, Schlueter CF, Humphrey DM Jr et al (2017) Acute lung injury and persistent small airway disease in a rabbit model of chlorine inhalation. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 315:1–11
- Squadrito GL, Postlethwait EM, Matalon S (2010) Elucidating mechanisms of chlorine toxicity: reaction kinetics, thermodynamics, and physiological implications. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 299:L289–L300
- 101. Duerr MA, Aurora R, Ford DA (2015) Identification of glutathione adducts of α-chlorofatty aldehydes produced in activated neutrophils. J Lipid Res 56:1014–1024
- 102. Holmes WW, Keyser BM, Paradiso DC et al (2016) Conceptual approaches for treatment of phosgene inhalation-induced lung injury. Toxicol Lett 244:8–20
- Diller WF, Bruch J, Dehnen W (1985) Pulmonary changes in the rat following low phosgene exposure. Arch Toxicol 57:184–190
- 104. Currie WD, Pratt PC, Frosolono MF (1985) Response of pulmonary energy metabolism to phosgene. Toxicol Ind Health 1:17–27
- 105. Sciuto AM, Phillips CS, Orzolek LD et al (2005) Genomic analysis of murine pulmonary tissue following carbonyl chloride inhalation. Chem Res Toxicol 18:1654–1660
- 106. Sciuto AM (1998) Assessment of early acute lung injury in rodents exposed to phosgene. Arch Toxicol 72:283–288
- 107. Kennedy TP, Michael JR, Hoidal JR et al (1989) Dibutyryl cAMP, aminophylline, and betaadrenergic agonists protect against pulmonary edema caused by phosgene. J Appl Physiol 67:2542–2552
- Guo YL, Kennedy TP, Michael JR et al (1990) Mechanism of phosgene-induced lung toxicity: role of arachidonate mediators. J Appl Physiol 69:1615–1622
- 109. Zhang XD, Hai CX, Cai FL et al (2008) Time course for expression of vegf and its receptor and regulator levels of contraction and relaxation in increased vascular permeability of lung induced by phosgene. Inhalat Toxicol Intl Forum Resp Res 20:805–812
- 110. Rojas M, Woods CR, Mora AL et al (2005) Endotoxin-induced lung injury in mice: structural, functional, and biochemical responses. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 288:L333–L341
- 111. Kolomaznik M, Zila I, Kopincova J et al (2014) Changes in lung surfactant proteins in rats with lipopolysaccharide-induced fever. Physiol Res 63(Suppl 4):S619–S628
- 112. Plessers E, Wyns H, Watteyn A et al (2015) Characterization of an intravenous lipopolysaccharide inflammation model in calves with respect to the acute-phase response. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 163:46–56
- 113. Zila I, Mokra D, Kopincova J et al (2015) Heart rate variability and inflammatory response in rats with lipopolysaccharide-induced endotoxemia. Physiol Res 64(Suppl 5):S669–S676
- 114. Welty-Wolf KE, Carraway MS, Ortel TL et al (2006) Blockade of tissue factor-factor X binding attenuates sepsis-induced respiratory and renal failure. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 290:L21–L31
- 115. Wang HL, Akinci IO, Baker CM et al (2007) The intrinsic apoptotic pathway is required for lipopolysaccharide-induced lung endothelial cell death. J Immunol 179:1834–1841

- Kabir K, Gelinas JP, Chen M et al (2002) Characterization of a murine model of endotoxininduced acute lung injury. Shock 17:300–303
- 117. Bannerman DD, Goldblum SE (2003) Mechanisms of bacterial lipopolysaccharide-induced endothelial apoptosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 284:L899–L914
- 118. Steven S, Dib M, Roohani S et al (2017) Time response of oxidative/nitrosative stress and inflammation in LPS-induced endotoxaemia-a comparative study of mice and rats. Int J Mol Sci 18:pii: E2176
- 119. Koksal GM, Sayilgan C, Aydin S et al (2004) Correlation of plasma and tissue oxidative stresses in intra-abdominal sepsis. J Surg Res 122:180–183
- Andrades M, Ritter C, Moreira JC, Dal-Pizzol F (2005) Oxidative parameters differences during non-lethal and lethal sepsis development. J Surg Res 125:68–72
- 121. Demirbilek S, Sizanli E, Karadag N et al (2006) The effects of methylene blue on lung injury in septic rats. Eur Surg Res 38:35–41
- 122. Goode HF, Cowley HC, Walker BE et al (1995) Decreased antioxidant status and increased lipid peroxidation in patients with septic shock and secondary organ dysfunction. Crit Care Med 23:646–651
- 123. Galley HF, Howdle PD, Walker BE, Webster NR (1997) The effects of intravenous antioxidants in patients with septic shock. Free Radic Biol Med 23:768–774
- 124. Winterbourn CC, Buss IH, Chan TP et al (2000) Protein carbonyl measurements show evidence of early oxidative stress in critically ill patients. Crit Care Med 28:143–149
- 125. Gonçalves-de-Albuquerque CF, Silva AR, Burth P et al (2015) Acute respiratory distress syndrome: role of oleic acid-triggered lung injury and inflammation. Mediators Inflamm 2015:260465
- 126. Hussain N, Wu F, Zhu L et al (1998) Neutrophil apoptosis during the development and resolution of oleic acid-induced acute lung injury in the rat. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 19:867–874
- 127. Guo Q, Jin J, Yuan JX et al (2011) VEGF, Bcl-2 and Bad regulated by angiopoietin-1 in oleic acid induced acute lung injury. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 413:630–636
- 128. Vadász I, Morty RE, Kohstall MG et al (2005) Oleic acid inhibits alveolar fluid reabsorption: a role in acute respiratory distress syndrome? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 171:469–479
- 129. Martins de Lima T, Gorjão R, Hatanaka E et al (2007) Mechanisms by which fatty acids regulate leucocyte function. Clin Sci (Lond) 113:65–77
- 130. Day BJ (2014) Antioxidant therapeutics: pandoras box. Free Radic Biol Med 66:58-64
- 131. McElroy CS, Day BJ (2016) Antioxidants as potential medical countermeasures for chemical warfare agents and toxic industrial chemicals. Biochem Pharmacol 100:1–11
- 132. Leustik M, Doran S, Bracher A et al (2008) Mitigation of chlorine-induced lung injury by low-molecular-weight antioxidants. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 295:L733–L743
- 133. Sciuto AM, Hurt HH (2004) Therapeutic treatments of phosgene-induced lung injury. Inhal Toxicol 16:565–580
- 134. Ji L, Liu R, Zhang XD et al (2010) N-acetylcysteine attenuates phosgene-induced acute lung injury via up-regulation of Nrf2 expression. Inhal Toxicol 22:535–542
- 135. Pesonen M, Häkkinen M, Rilla K et al (2014) Chloropicrin-induced toxic responses in human lung epithelial cells. Toxicol Lett 226:236–244
- 136. Ayaki H, Lee MJ, Sumino K, Nishio H (2005) Different cytoprotective effect of antioxidants and change in the iron regulatory system in rodent cells exposed to paraquat or formaldehyde. Toxicology 208:73–79
- 137. Satpute RM, Hariharakrishnan J, Bhattacharya R (2010) Effect of alpha-ketoglutarate and N-acetyl cysteine on cyanide-induced oxidative stress mediated cell death in PC12 cells. Toxicol Ind Health 26:297–308
- Jugg B, Fairhall S, Smith A et al (2013) N-acetyl-L-cysteine protects against inhaled sulfur mustard poisoning in the large swine. Clin Toxicol (Phila) 51:216–224
- 139. Shohrati M, Karimzadeh I, Saburi A et al (2014) The role of N-acetylcysteine in the management of acute and chronic pulmonary complications of sulfur mustard: a literature review. Inhal Toxicol 26:507–523

- 140. Panahi Y, Ghanei M, Hashjin MM et al (2017) Potential utility of N-acetylcysteine for treating mustard lung. Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr 27:247–266
- 141. Kopincova J, Mokra D, Mikolka P et al (2014) N-acetylcysteine advancement of surfactant therapy in experimental meconium aspiration syndrome: possible mechanisms. Physiol Res 63(Suppl 4):S629–S642
- 142. Mikolka P, Kopincova J, Mikusiakova L et al (2016) Antiinflammatory effect of N-acetylcysteine combined with exogenous surfactant in meconium-induced lung injury. Adv Exp Med Biol 934:63–75
- 143. Kumar O, Sugendran K, Vijayaraghavan R (2001) Protective effect of various antioxidants on the toxicity of sulphur mustard administered to mice by inhalation or percutaneous routes. Chem Biol Interact 134:1–12
- 144. Mayo JC, Tan DX, Sainz RM et al (2003) Protection against oxidative protein damage induced by metal-catalyzed reaction or alkylperoxyl radicals: comparative effects of melatonin and other antioxidants. Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj 1620:139–150
- 145. Ucar M, Korkmaz A, Reiter RJ et al (2007) Melatonin alleviates lung damage induced by the chemical warfare agent nitrogen mustard. Toxicol Lett 173:124–131
- 146. Pita R, Marco-Contelles J, Ramos E et al (2014) Melatonin as potential candidate to prevent the toxicity induced by chemical warfare agents. Arch Toxicol 88:3–4
- 147. Hsu C-H, Chi B-C, Liu M-Y et al (2002) Phosphine-induced oxidative damage in rats: role of glutathione. Toxicology 179:1–8
- Day BJ (2004) Catalytic antioxidants: a radical approach to new therapeutics. Drug Discov Today 9:557–566
- 149. O'Neill HC, White CW, Veress LA et al (2010) Treatment with the catalytic metalloporphyrin AEOL 10150 reduces inflammation and oxidative stress due to inhalation of the sulfur mustard analog 2-chloroethyl ethyl sulfide. Free Radic Biol Med 48:1188–1196
- 150. McGovern T, Day BJ, White CW et al (2011) AEOL10150: a novel therapeutic for rescue treatment after toxic gas lung injury. Free Radic Biol Med 50:602–608
- 151. Chen Y, Li Q, Liu Y et al (2015) Attenuation of hyperoxia-induced lung injury in neonatal rats by 1α ,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3. Exp Lung Res 41:344–352
- 152. Yao L, Shi Y, Zhao X et al (2017) Vitamin D attenuates hyperoxia-induced lung injury through downregulation of Toll-like receptor 4. Int J Mol Med 39:1403–1408
- Keyser BM, Andres DK, Holmes WW et al (2014) Mustard gas inhalation injury: therapeutic strategy. Int J Toxicol 33:271–281
- 154. Dong Z, Yuan Y (2018) Accelerated inflammation and oxidative stress induced by LPS in acute lung injury: unlibition by ST1926. Int J Mol Med 41:3405–3421
- 155. Gautam A, Vijayaraghavan R, Pant SC et al (2007) Protective effect of quercetin against sulphur mustard-induced oxidative stress in mice. Def Sci J 57:707–720
- 156. Huang R, Zhong T, Wu H (2015) Quercetin protects against lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury in rats through suppression of inflammation and oxidative stress. Arch Med Sci 11:427–432
- 157. Geraets L, Haegens A, Brauers K et al (2009) Inhibition of LPS-induced pulmonary inflammation by specific flavonoids. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 382:598–603
- 158. Lv H, Yu Z, Zheng Y et al (2016) Isovitexin exerts anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant activities on lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury by inhibiting MAPK and NF-κB and activating HO-1/Nrf2 pathways. Int J Biol Sci 12:72–86
- 159. Lu Y, Yu T, Liu J, Gu L (2018) Vitexin attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury by controlling the Nrf2 pathway. PLoS One 13:e0196405
- 160. Jiang L, Zhang L, Kang K et al (2016) Resveratrol ameliorates LPS-induced acute lung injury via NLRP3 inflammasome modulation. Biomed Pharmacother 84:130–138
- 161. Zhang HX, Duan GL, Wang CN et al (2014) Protective effect of resveratrol against endotoxemia-induced lung injury involves the reduction of oxidative/nitrative stress. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 27:150–155
- 162. Wang P, Ye XL, Liu R et al (2013) Mechanism of acute lung injury due to phosgene exposition and its protection by cafeic acid phenethyl ester in the rat. Exp Toxicol Pathol 65:311–318

- 163. Rhen T, Cidlowski JA (2005) Antiinflammatory action of glucocorticoids—new mechanisms for old drugs. N Engl J Med 353:1711–1723
- 164. Stahn C, Buttgereit F (2008) Genomic and nongenomic effects of glucocorticoids. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 4:525–533
- 165. Rogatsky I, Ivashkiv LB (2006) Glucocorticoid modulation of cytokine signaling. Tissue Antigens 68:1–12
- 166. Kleinert H, Schwarz PM, Förstermann U (2003) Regulation of the expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase. Biol Chem 384:1343–1364
- 167. Bartholome B, Spies CM, Gaber T et al (2004) Membrane glucocorticoid receptors (mGCR) are expressed in normal human peripheral blood mononuclear cells and up-regulated after in vitro stimulation and in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. FASEB J18:70–80
- 168. Croxtall JD, Choudhury Q, Flower RJ (2000) Glucocorticoids act within minutes to inhibit recruitment of signalling factors to activated EGF receptors through a receptor-dependent, transcription-independent mechanism. Br J Pharmacol 130:289–298
- 169. Gao W, Ju N (2015) Budesonide inhalation ameliorates endotoxin-induced lung injury in rabbits. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 240:1708–1716
- 170. Ju YN, Yu KJ, Wang GN (2016) Budesonide ameliorates lung injury induced by large volume ventilation. BMC Pulm Med 16:90
- 171. Gao W, Ju YN (2016) Budesonide attenuates ventilator-induced lung injury in a rat model of inflammatory acute respiratory distress syndrome. Arch Med Res 47:275–284
- 172. Mokra D, Mokry J, Drgova A et al (2007) Single-dose versus two-dose dexamethasone effects on lung inflammation and airway reactivity in meconium-instilled rabbits. J Physiol Pharmacol 58(Suppl 53):379–387
- 173. Mikolka P, Kopincova J, Tomcikova Mikusiakova L et al (2016) Effects of surfactant/ budesonide therapy on oxidative modifications in the lung in experimental meconiuminduced lung injury. J Physiol Pharmacol 67:57–65
- 174. Jonasson S, Wigenstam E, Koch B, Bucht A (2013) Early treatment of chlorine-induced airway hyperresponsiveness and inflammation with corticosteroids. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 271:168–174
- 175. Chen J, Mo Y, Schlueter CF, Hoyle GW (2013) Inhibition of chlorine-induced pulmonary inflammation and edema by mometasone and budesonide. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 272:408–413
- 176. Wang J, Zhang L, Walther SM (2004) Administration of aerosolized terbutaline and budesonide reduces chlorine gas-induced acute lung injury. J Trauma 56:850–862
- 177. Vadász I, Raviv S, Sznajder JI (2007) Alveolar epithelium and Na, K-ATPase in acute lung injury. Intensive Care Med 33:1243–1251
- 178. Cornélio Favarin D, Martins Teixeira M, Lemos de Andrade E et al (2013) Anti-inflammatory effects of ellagic acid on acute lung injury induced by acid in mice. Mediators Inflamm 2013:164202
- 179. Smith A, Brown R, Jugg B et al (2009) The effect of steroid treatment with inhaled budesonide or intravenous methylprednisolone on phosgene-induced acute lung injury in a porcine model. Military Med 174:1287–1294
- 180. de Lange DW, Meulenbelt J (2011) Do corticosteroids have a role in preventing or reducing acute toxic lung injury caused by inhalation of chemical agents? Clin Toxicol (Phila) 49:61–71
- 181. Liu F, Pauluhn J, Trübel H, Wang C (2014) Single high-dose dexamethasone and sodium salicylate failed to attenuate phosgene-induced acute lung injury in rats. Toxicology 315:17–23
- 182. Luo S, Pauluhn J, Trübel H, Wang C (2014) Corticosteroids found ineffective for phosgeneinduced acute lung injury in rats. Toxicol Lett 229:85–92
- Ariani F, Liu K, Jing Z, Qu J (2013) Glucocorticosteroid in treatment of severe pneumonia. Mediators Inflamm 2013:865635
- 184. Seam N, Meduri GU, Wang H et al (2012) Effects of methylprednisolone infusion on markers of inflammation, coagulation, and angiogenesis in early acute respiratory distress syndrome. Crit Care Med 40:495–501

- 185. Meduri GU, Siemieniuk RAC, Ness RA, Seyler SJ (2018) Prolonged low-dose methylprednisolone treatment is highly effective in reducing duration of mechanical ventilation and mortality in patients with ARDS. J Intensive Care 6:53
- 186. Drago BB, Kimura D, Rovnaghi CR et al (2015) Double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot randomized trial of methylprednisolone infusion in pediatric acute respiratory distress syndrome. Pediatr Crit Care Med 16:e74–e81
- 187. Schwingshackl A, Kimura D, Rovnaghi CR et al (2016) Regulation of inflammatory biomarkers by intravenous methylprednisolone in pediatric ARDS patients: results from a double-blind, placebo-controlled randomized pilot trial. Cytokine 77:63–71
- 188. Kimura D, Saravia J, Rovnaghi CR et al (2016) Plasma biomarker analysis in pediatric ARDS: generating future framework from a pilot randomized control trial of methylprednisolone: a framework for identifying plasma biomarkers related to clinical outcomes in pediatric ARDS. Front Pediatr 4:31
- 189. Kido T, Muramatsu K, Asakawa T et al (2018) The relationship between high-dose corticosteroid treatment and mortality in acute respiratory distress syndrome: a retrospective and observational study using a nationwide administrative database in Japan. BMC Pulm Med 18:28
- 190. Steinberg KP, Hudson LD, Goodman RB, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS) Clinical Trials Network et al (2006) Efficacy and safety of corticosteroids for persistent acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 354:1671–1684
- 191. Sessler CN, Gay PC (2010) Are corticosteroids useful in late-stage acute respiratory distress syndrome? Respir Care 55:43–55
- Bender AT, Beavo JA (2006) Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases: molecular regulation to clinical use. Pharmacol Rev 58:488–520
- 193. Mokra D, Mokry J, Tatarkova Z et al (2007) Aminophylline treatment in meconium-induced acute lung injury in a rabbit model. J Physiol Pharmacol 58(Suppl 5):399–407
- 194. Mokra D, Drgova A, Mokry J et al (2008) Comparison of the effects of low-dose vs. highdose aminophylline on lung function in experimental meconium aspiration syndrome. J Physiol Pharmacol 59(Suppl 6):449–459
- 195. Sunil VR, Vayas KN, Cervelli JA et al (2014) Pentoxifylline attenuates nitrogen mustardinduced acute lung injury, oxidative stress and inflammation. Exp Mol Pathol 97:89–98
- 196. Pawlik MT, Schreyer AG, Ittner KP et al (2005) Early treatment with pentoxifylline reduces lung injury induced by acid aspiration in rats. Chets 127:613–621
- 197. Mokra D, Drgova A, Pullmann R Sr, Calkovska A (2012) Selective phosphodiesterase 3 inhibitor olprinone attenuates meconium-induced oxidative lung injury. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 25:216–222
- 198. Chang W, Chen J, Schlueter CF et al (2012) Inhibition of chlorine-induced lung injury by the type 4 phosphodiesterase inhibitor rolipram. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 263:251–258
- 199. Kosutova P, Mikolka P, Kolomaznik M et al (2017) Effects of roflumilast, a phosphodiesterase-4 inhibitor, on the lung functions in a saline lavage-induced model of acute lung injury. Physiol Res 66(Suppl 2):S237–S245
- Guzik TJ, Korbut R, Adamek-Guzik T (2003) Nitric oxide and superoxide in inflammation and immune regulation. J Physiol Pharmacol 54:469–487
- Ricciardolo FL, Di Stefano A, Sabatini F, Folkerts G (2006) Reactive nitrogen species in the respiratory tract. Eur J Pharmacol 533:240–252
- 202. Lamb NJ, Quinlan GJ, Westerman ST et al (1999) Nitration of proteins in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome receiving inhaled nitric oxide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 160:1031–1034
- 203. Bloomfield GL, Holloway S, Ridings PC et al (1997) Pretreatment with inhaled nitric oxide inhibits neutrophil migration and oxidative activity resulting in attenuated sepsis-induced acute lung injury. Crit Care Med 25:584–593

- 204. Chollet-Martin S, Gatecel C, Kermarrec N et al (1996) Alveolar neutrophil functions and cytokine levels in patients with the adult respiratory distress syndrome during nitric oxide inhalation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 153:985–990
- 205. Fioretto JR, Campos FJ, Ronchi CF et al (2012) Effects of inhaled nitric oxide on oxidative stress and histopathological and inflammatory lung injury in a saline-lavaged rabbit model of acute lung injury. Respir Care 57:273–281
- 206. Ronchi CF, Ferreira AL, Campos FJ et al (2014) Interactive effects of mechanical ventilation, inhaled nitric oxide and oxidative stress in acute lung injury. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 190:118–123
- 207. Yadav AK, Doran SF, Samal AA et al (2011) Mitigation of chlorine gas lung injury in rats by postexposure administration of sodium nitrite. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 300:L362–L369
- 208. Honavar J, Doran S, Oh JY et al (2014) Nitrite therapy improves survival postexposure to chlorine gas. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 307:L888–L894
- 209. Dellinger RP, Trzeciak SW, Criner GJ et al (2012) Association between inhaled nitric oxide treatment and long-term pulmonary function in survivors of acute respiratory distress syndrome. Crit Care 16:R36
- 210. Dowell JC, Thomas NJ, Yehya N (2017) Association of Response to Inhaled Nitric Oxide and Duration of Mechanical Ventilation in Pediatric Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome. Pediatr Crit Care Med 18:1019–1026
- 211. Chen HL, Bai H, Xi MM et al (2013) Ethyl pyruvate protects rats from phosgene-induced pulmonary edema by inhibiting cyclooxygenase2 and inducible nitric oxide synthase expression. J Appl Toxicol 33:71–77
- 212. Zarogiannis SG, Wagener BM, Basappa S et al (2014) Postexposure aerosolized heparin reduces lung injury in chlorine-exposed mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 307:L347–L354
- 213. Zhang Y, Zhao Z, Guan L et al (2014) N-acetyl-heparin attenuates acute lung injury caused by acid aspiration mainly by antagonizing histones in mice. PLoS One 9:e97074
- 214. Jian MY, Koizumi T, Tsushima K et al (2005) Activated protein C attenuates acid aspiration lung injury in rats. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 18:291–296
- Nishina K, Mikawa K, Takao Y et al (1998) Intravenous lidocaine attenuates acute lung injury induced by hydrochloric acid aspiration in rabbits. Anesthesiology 88:1300–1309
- 216. Zhang Q, Wu D, Yang Y et al (2017) Dexmedetomidine alleviates hyperoxia-induced acute lung injury via inhibiting NLRP3 inflammasome activation. Cell Physiol Biochem 42:1907–1919
- 217. Grainge C, Brown R, Jugg BJ et al (2009) Early treatment with nebulised salbutamol worsens physiological measures and does not improve survival following phosgene induced acute lung injury. J R Army Med Corps 155:105–109
- 218. Song W, Wei S, Liu G et al (2011) Postexposure administration of a {beta}2-agonist decreases chlorine-induced airway hyperreactivity in mice. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 45:88–94
- 219. Balakrishna S, Song W, Achanta S et al (2014) TRPV4 inhibition counteracts edema and inflammation and improves pulmonary function and oxygen saturation in chemically induced acute lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 307:L158–L172
- 220. Sciuto AM, Stotts RR, Hurt HH (1996) Efficacy of ibuprofen and pentoxifylline in the treatment of phosgene-induced acute lung injury. J Appl Toxicol 16:381–384
- 221. Malaviya R, Sunil VR, Venosa A et al (2015) Attenuation of nitrogen mustard-induced pulmonary injury and fibrosis by anti-tumor necrosis factor-α antibody. Toxicol Sci 148:71–88
- 222. Folkesson HG, Matthay MA, Hébert CA, Broaddus VC (1995) Acid aspiration-induced lung injury in rabbits is mediated by interleukin-8-dependent mechanisms. J Clin Invest 96:107–116
- 223. Yamada H, Kudoh I, Nishizawa H et al (1997) Complement partially mediates acid aspirationinduced remote organ injury in the rat. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 41:713–718
- 224. Wortel CH, Doerschuk CM (1993) Neutrophils and neutrophil-endothelial cell adhesion in adult respiratory distress syndrome. New Horiz 1:631–637

- 225. Tian YG, Zhang J (2018) Protective effect of SIRT3 on acute lung injury by increasing manganese superoxide dismutase-mediated antioxidation. Mol Med Rep 17:5557–5565
- 226. Li W, Qiu X, Jiang H et al (2015) Ulinastatin inhibits the inflammation of LPS-induced acute lung injury in mice via regulation of AMPK/NF-κB pathway. Int Immunopharmacol 29:560–567
- 227. Shen J, Gan Z, Zhao J et al (2014) Ulinastatin reduces pathogenesis of phosgene-induced acute lung injury in rats. Toxicol Ind Health 30:785–793
- 228. El-Agamy DS (2011) Nilotinib ameliorates lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury in rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 253:153–160
- 229. Umbrello M, Formenti P, Bolgiaghi L, Chiumello D (2016) Current concepts of ARDS: a narrative review. Int J Mol Sci 18:pii: E64
- Umbrello M, Marino A, Chiumello D (2017) Tidal volume in acute respiratory distress syndrome: how best to select it. Ann Transl Med 5:287
- 231. Parkhouse DA, Brown RF, Jugg BJ et al (2007) Protective ventilation strategies in the management of phosgene-induced acute lung injury. Mil Med 172:295–300
- 232. Allardet-Servent J, Bregeon F, Delpierre S et al (2008) High-frequency percussive ventilation attenuates lung injury in a rabbit model of gastric juice aspiration. Intensive Care Med 34:91–100
- 233. Mikusiakova LT, Pistekova H, Kosutova P et al (2015) Effects on lung function of smallvolume conventional ventilation and high-frequency oscillatory ventilation in a model of meconium aspiration syndrome. Adv Exp Med Biol 866:51–59



3

Potential of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Modulating Oxidative Stress in Management of Lung Diseases

Rituparna Chaudhuri, Manisha Singh, and Sujata Mohanty

Abstract

The current therapies for oxidative stress-induced lung diseases are majorly based on the reduction of airway obstruction and improved exacerbations. However, none of the available treatments have been proven to avoid disease progression or reduce mortality. In this context, mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) therapy has become a strong contender for better therapeutic strategies for several pulmonary diseases. MSCs can be readily harvested from various tissues and efficiently propagated and possess strong immunomodulatory/suppressive properties. Animal studies have shown encouraging outcomes with MSC therapy for various lung disorders, like COPD and emphysema. These studies have inspired research groups to understand the mechanisms by which MSCs may bring about their beneficial effects upon transplantation; however, clinical trials have not been as successful. This chapter summarizes and highlights the various aspects of MSC therapy in cellular, preclinical, and clinical settings.

Keywords

Mesenchymal stromal cells · Asthma · COPD · Emphysema · Fibrosis

3.1 Introduction

The adult human lung has a surface area of 35–100 mm², depending on the lung capacity, and is continuously involved in the efficient exchange of gases for oxidative metabolism [1]. The lungs are exposed to a variety of chemicals, toxic gases, smoke, pollutants, airborne toxins and microorganisms. It is widely recognized that

R. Chaudhuri \cdot M. Singh \cdot S. Mohanty (\boxtimes)

Stem Cell Facility, DBT Centre of Excellence for Stem Cell Research, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_3

an altered balance between oxidant-antioxidant levels leads to an excessive accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) in the lungs [2]. A review article [3] in this context highlights how oxidative stress is implicated in the generation and progression of lung diseases. Lungs are continuously exposed to exogenous environmental pollutants in the air, for example cigarette smoke (CS), dust, smoke and ozone and ROS from xenobiotic compounds. The primary function of the lung is the exchange of gases across alveoli and capillaries. Adult human lungs exchange 10 k-20 k litres of air daily. Endogenous lung stem cells and progenitor cells are regenerative populations that are essential for the maintenance of cells and injury repair. These are the facultative progenitor cells basal, Clara cells, Clara-like cells, pulmonary neuroendocrine cells and type II alveolar epithelial cells. Asthma is a chronic inflammatory airway disease, in which recruitment of inflammatory cells and excessive ROS production have been found in the airway of asthmatic patients. Airway inflammation-associated oxidative stress in asthma also induces oxidative modification of proteins and lipids in the airway. High levels of ROS lead to breakdown of antioxidant defences like changes in superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase activity and reduced glutathione, leading to their deficiency and inactivation. Lung diseases like asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder (COPD) and pulmonary fibrosis (PF) are often induced by oxidative stress and are leading causes of morbidity and mortality. The major risk factors for these diseases are varied; however, even after the cessation of the factors, oxidative stress often persists and contributes to disease progression. Emphysema, an oxidative stress-induced lung disorder, is defined pathologically by airspace enlargement and destruction of alveolar septa. Important contributing factors to the pathobiology of emphysema are imbalances between proteases-antiproteases and oxidants-antioxidants. Inflammatory cells are recruited to the alveoli where they release elastases, cytokines and oxidants - cigarette smoke inhalation contributes to pathogenesis of emphysema. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) is a chronic, progressive, irreversible lower respiratory disease characterized by diffuse alveolar inflammation and structural disorder, leading to pulmonary interstitial fibrosis [4, 5].

Treatments which are currently available for asthma and COPD are based on personalized estimation of symptoms and future risk of exacerbations. Available pharmacological approaches involve anti-inflammatory drugs like corticosteroids, bronchodilators and theophylline. These only help in minimizing acute exacerbations and airflow limitation, and, hence, improving the quality of life of patients with COPD [6]. There is no definitive therapy available that prevents disease progression or reduces mortality. Evidence suggests that antioxidant therapies have failed to improve therapeutic outcomes in oxidative stress-induced lung diseases. Various drawbacks like inadequate doses and short lives of antioxidants, unpredictable absorption of enteral antioxidants, difficulty in targeting a specific vulnerable tissue compartment, inability to deliver antioxidants during a viable therapeutic window [3], etc. have limited the effectiveness of antioxidant therapy. Thus, it is important to strategize newer therapies for lung diseases.
In this chapter, we focus on efficacy and safety of MSC therapy in experimental models of COPD, pulmonary emphysema and asthma of preclinical models and clinical trials that have brought up hopeful outcomes as well as exposed certain lacunae. We also highlight the main mechanisms through which MSCs exert their beneficial effects upon transplantation.

3.2 MSC Therapy in Lung Diseases

MSCs are multipotent progenitor cells that have been widely used in respiratory diseases as strong candidates for treatment of destructive disorders like COPD and emphysema due to their tissue repair abilities and immunosuppressive and antiinflammatory properties. MSCs may be harvested from several adult tissues like the bone marrow, dental pulp, adipose tissue, lungs and foetal tissues, such as the umbilical cord, amniotic fluid, human tubal tissue, placenta etc. [6].

Various criteria need to be taken into account while choosing the optimum source for MSC transplantation:

- Tissue source Bone marrow is the most widely used source for MSC-based transplantation in lung diseases. MSCs behave differently depending on their tissue of origin, resulting in differences in tissue repair abilities [7, 8], immunogenicity and anti-inflammatory properties. These may impact the beneficial effects of MSCs in vivo. Thus, other MSC sources are also being considered and used increasingly these days. While all sources exhibit similar benefits in an experimental model of elastase emphysema, in some parameters like macrophage polarization to a more anti-inflammatory phenotype, BM-MSCs were found to be more effective in an experimental emphysema model [6].
- Dosage A broad range of MSC doses (e.g. 10⁴–6*10⁶ cells) has been used to treat lung disorders in mice under research settings. This has been particularly well-studied in case of emphysema, wherein in one such study, the authors suggested 5*10⁴ as the optimal dose using human umbilical cord blood-derived MSCs. The efficacy is usually measured in terms of their effect on the mean linear intercept. However, there were limitations of this study as the variations among the tested doses were small [6].
- 3. Route of administration Two main ways of delivery have been tested for MSC administration systemic (intravenous and intraperitoneal) and local (intrapleural, intratracheal, intranasal and intrabronchial). Generally in translational research, MSC delivery should be least invasive and with less contamination risks; thus, systemic delivery is considered better. However, for sufficient number of MSCs to reach the lungs and the extrapulmonary compartments in severe cases, very large quantities of MSCs will need to be administered, which is difficult to model in small animals, and the results may not be reproducible. Thus, local administration is often used in disease models nowadays. Evidence suggests that while intravenous administration is more effective in achieving beneficial immunomodulatory effects like production of vascular endothelial growth

factor (VEGF), macrophage polarization and endothelial cell proliferation, local administration confers more reparative benefits like reduction in lung hyperinflation and fibrosis in a chronic model of elastase-induced emphysema [6].

4. *Number of administrations* – Single or multiple administrations have been found to be more effective depending upon the degree of disease progression and model system [6].

3.2.1 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) and Emphysema

Oxidants which contribute to the pathogenesis of COPD may originate endogenously (by metabolic reactions) or exogenously (i.e. through cigarette smoke). CS imposes oxidative stress which further activates oxidants released by inflammatory cells endogenously. Under normal conditions, a robust oxidant–antioxidant defence system is in place to maintain a balance. However, exposure to CS results in an excess of oxidants, thus creating oxidative stress, and is a pathogenic mechanism of COPD. Lung inflammation is enhanced via redox-sensitive inflammatory transcription factors, such as NFKB and activating protein-1, and subsequently by activating their downstream transcriptional pathways. Oxidative stress also increases neutrophil sequestration in the lung and enhances lung inflammation. Oxidative stress is also linked to stimulation of mucus release by airway epithelial cells and impaired mucociliary clearance.

Modulation of redox environment by MSCs is an emerging area of interest. Transplantation of MSCs in LPS-induced acute lung injury (ALI) rats has been shown to be accompanied by decreased oxidative stress. Malondialdehyde levels are found to be reduced in the lungs, along with increased synthesis of heme oxygenase-1 (enzyme that has strong antioxidative and cytoprotective effects). Transplantation of BM-MSCs has been shown to reduce oxidative stress in the brain of a rat model of spontaneous stroke, suggesting that this may be well the case in CS-induced emphysema.

Transplanted MSCs also differentiate into alveolar cells, thus benefitting the COPD mice. Differentiation of MSCs into type II alveolar epithelial cells has been shown to activate canonical Wnt signalling pathway [9]. A gene profiling study followed the expression profile in mouse lung post treatment of umbilical cord-MSCs in a 6-month-long cigarette smoke-induced emphysema model over time. Molecular level changes were observed in genes involved with oxidative stress, immune responses and transcription, soon after transplantation. MSCs display immunomodulatory action and interact with the immune system cells like the macrophages, rather than directly interacting with the lung. MSCs may induce macrophage polarization towards an anti-inflammatory phenotype (M2) while inhibiting pro-inflammatory phenotype (M1). MSCs have also been shown to interact with alveolar macrophages to promote their reprogramming via the cyclooxygenase 2/prostaglandin E2 pathway [6]. Li et al. [9] showed that induced pluripotent cell-derived MSCs

when co-cultured with CS-induced airway smooth muscle cells rescued mitochondrial membrane potential loss, cellular apoptosis and attenuated mitochondrial ROS (mtROS) in the latter. MSC-derived conditioned medium had the same effect on mtROS but not on membrane potential or apoptosis, indicating that paracrine effects did not affect these parameters. Mitochondrial transfer was seen in co-culture which was enhanced upon CS exposure. iPSC-MSCs had the same effect on airway hyperresponsiveness, ozone-induced mitochondrial dysfunction and inflammation mouse lungs under in vivo conditions.

Intravenous infusion of MSCs was found to suppress C-reactive protein levels in a clinical trial of COPD patients. MSCs were found to inhibit alveolar apoptosis through changes in expression of apoptotic and/or anti-apoptotic proteins. The apoptotic gene Bax and anti-apoptotic gene Bcl-2 were induced and repressed, respectively, upon administration of MSCs in a papain-induced model of emphysema in rats [11]. Another mechanism to ameliorate alveolar apoptosis could be through suppression of cleavage of caspase-3.

Several studies have evaluated the therapeutic effect of MSCs on COPD and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) through their immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory effects. MSCs can migrate to tissue injury sites, and their immunosuppressive properties are useful for successful autologous and heterologous transplants. MSC administration to the lung in LPS-induced mouse ALI was shown to reduce pro-inflammatory factors like tumor necrosis factor α (TNF) and macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP-2) in the broncheolar lavage fluid (BALF) and plasma, and elevate the anti-inflammatory molecule IL-10. Increased survival rate of rats suffering from LPS-induced lung injury was observed upon injection of umbilical cord-MSCs. Pulmonary and systemic inflammation was also reduced to a significant extent along with reduced lung edema, lung wet-dry ratio, neutrophil counts, myeloperoxidase activity and protein concentration. In E. coli-induced ALI, intratracheal administration of MSCs led to higher survival of mice, and lung injury was reduced due to lower levels of pro-inflammatory molecules like IL-1 β , IL-1 α , IL-6, TNFα and MIP-2. Myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity as well as lung water content were also reduced.

Mouse MSCs have been shown to ameliorate changes associated with emphysema. Destruction in elastase-induced emphysema model was seen through upregulation of hepatocyte growth factor, epithelial growth factor and secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor in the lung. Administration of MSCs was shown to revive emphysema and CS-mediated destruction through the decrease of pro-inflammatory mediators like TNF α , IL-1 β , MCP-1 and IL-6. Protease expression like MMP9 and MMP12 were decreased, and VEGF, VEGF receptor 2 and TGF β were found to be increased, thus reducing lung cell apoptosis [6].

Direct MSC administration to treat CS-induced emphysema model of COPD in rats reduced the mean pulmonary arterial pressure and cell apoptosis. In papaininduced pulmonary emphysema in rats, the protective effects of MSC transplantation were found to be partially mediated by upregulation of VEGF-A expression and inhibition of cell apoptosis [11].

3.2.2 Pulmonary Fibrosis (PF)

Ortiz et al. [12] reported that BM-MSC injection (0.5 lakh cells/mouse) through the jugular vein immediately after challenge with bleomycin (BLM) was found to significantly reduce pulmonary fibrosis. In silicon dioxide-induced PF mice model, hMSCs directly replaced fibrotic cells with normal lung cells and reduced PF symptoms like inflammation and collagen deposition. In a separate study, BM-MSCs were found to significantly reduce BLM-induced lung fibrosis by the downregulation of pro-inflammatory molecules, nitric oxide metabolites and angiogenic cytokines after 4 days of injection. Zhao et al. [13] showed that BLM-induced rats received protective effects from lung damage post BM-MSC engraftment. Combinatorial treatment of cyclophosphamide along with BM-MSCs was also found to protect mice from BLM-induced lung fibrosis. Data from MSC-based clinical trials were found to support the safety of single infusion in IPF patients. BM-MSCs were found to home to injured lungs after damage, exhibited epithelioid phenotype and reduced collagen deposition and inflammation in BLM-induced mice models. BM-MSCs were also found to migrate to airway epithelial cells in a 3D direct-contact wound repair model. These seem to be mediated by certain chemotactic factors and their receptors [10]. Stromal cell derived factor (SDF-1) is one such chemokine that has been shown to be crucial for migration via receptor CXCR-4. SDF-1 was found to promote the chemotactic migration of BM-MSCs. This effect was also seen in mice BLM lung extracts and inhibited by CXCR-4 antagonist (TN14003). SDF and CXCR-4 were found to be increased in IPF lungs compared to normal lungs. Concentration of SDF-1 in serum and BALF and expression level of CXCR-4 were found to be increased in BLM-induced animal models. SDF-1 α mRNA levels in lungs were increased significantly compared to control groups, measured on both days 7 and 14. SDF-1 was also elevated in idiopathic interstitial pneumonia in patient lungs. Chemokine CXCL8 (interleukin 8) was also found to promote migration of hMSCs.

It has been often observed that MSCs show low engraftment and differentiation after administration, even though some beneficial effects are seen. This is believed to be largely due to the action of paracrine factors and immune adjustment. MSC-derived conditioned medium has been seen to exert protective effects in BLM-induced model. MSC-CM decreased pulmonary inflammation, fibrosis, collagen deposition and cell apoptosis. A549, alveolar epithelial cancer cells, were seen to be protected from cell apoptosis through MSC-mediated paracrine action. MSCs secrete a range of molecules like growth factors, chemokines and cytokines which regulate local immune responses that inhibit inflammation. Interestingly, MSCs pre-treated with hypoxia had better healing effect in BLM-induced PF mice.

MSCs elicit their beneficial effects via reducing the expression of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1, matrix metalloproteinase MMP9, γ -interferon and TGF- β to reduce lung inflammation and fibrosis. MSCs have also been shown to increase gene expression levels of γ -glutamylcysteine synthetase, NADPH quinine oxidore-ductase 1, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 and heme oxygenase-1 [10].

3.3 Mechanisms Through Which MSCs Alleviate Oxidative Stress

3.3.1 Mitochondrial Transfer

Mesenchymal stem cells are known to transfer healthy mitochondria to stressed cells through tunnel nanotube formation. Islam et al. [14] showed that BM-MSCs transfer the mitochondria to pulmonary alveoli, thus protecting mice from LPSinduced ALI. MSCs were found to contribute to mitochondrial transfer through connexin 43, nanotube and microvesicles in a calcium-dependent manner. This was shown to rescue mitochondrial bioenergetics in the recipient cells. The attachment of MSCs to alveolar epithelium in ALI was found to be crucial for mitochondrial transfer from MSCs. Ahmad et al. [15] showed that MSCs transferred healhty mitochondria to injured cells in both ovalbumin and cockroach allergen mouse models and significantly alleviated symptoms. This was also shown in vitro in rotenone-induced lung injury model. BM-MSCs were also found to mitigate oxidative damage inflicted by CS-induced COPD mice. MSC-transferred mitochondria reduced inflammation, thus promoting rescue [16]. Chuang et al. [17] showed that WJ-MSCs are able to rescue cybrid cells from myoclonic epilepsy patients through transfer of healthy mitochondria thus improving mitochondrial bioenergetics. Paliwal et al. [7] have shown that MSCs from different sources like AD, BM, WJ and DP showed differential reduction of mtROS through mitochondrial transfer by nanotube formation.

3.3.2 Paracrine Mechanisms

It has been seen that MSCs from all sources act through paracrine actions without being necessarily present at the site of lesion. Most MSCs have been found to disappear within 1 day after injection. Although MSCs can spontaneously differentiate into bone, cartilage and adipose in vitro, they rarely differentiate into lung resident cells like epithelial cells. Thus, a large chunk of the MSCs' reparative abilities are believed to be through their paracrine actions [6].

Phase I clinical studies in newborn infants in case of neonatal lung diseases (bronchopulmonary dysplasia, severe intraventricular haemorrhage, hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy) have shown that MSC treatments are safe, feasible and possibly effective [18]. Very low rates of engraftment of MSCs upon transplantation and low differentiation in vivo, but high beneficial effects, indicate that long-term survival of cells on site may not be essential. Thus, large parts of the therapeutic effects are believed to be associated with their paracrine effects. MSC-conditioned media was shown to ameliorate hyperoxia-induced acute lung injury. MSC-derived exosomes have been shown to ameliorate oxidative damage in lung injury models. In ventilator-induced lung injury, MSC secretome has proved beneficial.

Protective effects of UC-MSCs were seen to be mediated through upregulation of hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)

in hyperoxic neonatal lung injury. Administration of VEGF siRNA-treated MSCs did not protect against impaired alveolarization, angiogenesis, ED-1 positive cells, increased terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase nick end labelling and downregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines.

3.4 How Does ROS Affect the Regenerative Potential of MSCs?

Few studies have explored the effect of ROS on stem cells. It is crucial to understand and prevent ROS-induced effects on stem cells as MSCs are now being widely used for therapeutic purposes. MSCs are known to export their healthy mitochondria to oxidatively stressed cells, thus decreasing their oxidative stress and stabilizing their membrane potential. The mitophagy of such rescued cells is also restored. Antioxidants have been shown to enhance mitochondrial rescue transfer mechanism. It has been seen that MSCs, like other cells, undergo a decline in their regenerative capacity and other biological functions - accumulating cellular senescence and damage with age. There are various cellular and molecular changes in their self-renewal, proliferation and differentiation capacities. MSCs are continually exposed to endogenous or exogenous oxidants. Whereas a low level of ROS is necessary to maintain normal cellular homeostasis and serves as intracellular signalling molecule, high levels can interact with a wide range of cellular molecules and cause harm. ROS can cause DNA damage by triggering specific DNA damage response, leading to cell cycle arrest via activation of p53/p21 and/or p16/Rb pathways. High levels of ROS block the activation of telomerase, thus leading to immortalization of MSCs and cancer development [11].

Oxidative stress-induced DNA damage has been found to bring about posttranslational modifications. Aged mice with higher accumulated ROS have been seen to undergo extensive loss of alveolar type I and II cells and delayed regeneration of alveolar type II cells compared to young mice. Low levels of ROS in mouse airway basal stem cells exhibited higher proliferative capacity, compared to cells with higher ROS. Lung mesenchymal stem cells have been isolated from nasal mucosa and lung compartments. The isolated cells expressed MSC cell surface proteins like CD73, CD105, CD166 and CD90. These have also been shown to differentiate into multiple lineages like adipocytic, osteocytic and chondrocytic. Understanding the mechanisms of senescence of MSCs will help explore novel strategies to improve MSCs' beneficial effects in recipients with age-related diseases where oxidative stress plays a crucial role.

3.5 Strategies to Improve MSC Therapy in Lungs

MSC treatment in research settings has been shown to be effective in repair of lung damage. MSC administration is safe in COPD patients, but the effects in clinical trials have not been very robust in terms of mortality reduction or improvement in

lung function. Thus, combining MSC therapies with specific modulators that can potentiate the beneficial effects of MSC are being tested. Based on the mechanisms of anti-inflammatory, anti-fibrotic, antimicrobial and anti-apoptotic activities, MSCs have been used for lung disease therapy like acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), allergic asthma, silicosis and emphysema. Preclinical studies have shown a good safety profile, thus encouraging the further clinical trials. However, clinical trials have shown limited results – small inoculation cell number, late administration during advanced disease stage, low survival of MSCs in vivo and impaired MSC biological activity/potency could be various reasons. Another issue could be poor engraftment of MSCs in the lungs, given that cells are cleared from lung tissue within 24 hours.

- (i) A study overexpressing CXCR-4 surface receptor which interacts with stromal cell-derived factor-1 showed improved MSC homing to injured sites. This strategy can be used to home a greater number of MSCs into lungs in acute lung injury models.
- (ii) Low-level laser (LLL) has been suggested as an interesting new therapy to boost the MSC response in emphysema. It is non-invasive, economical and safe. Under in vitro conditions, LLL has been shown to promote stem cell proliferation. It also increases cyclic AMP synthesis in alveolar macrophages, leading to reduction in NFKB activation and IL-1 and IL-6 secretion and consequently lung inflammation [6]. In another study, human tubal cells and LLL were combined to treat a CS-induced emphysema model successfully. Reduction of inflammatory cellular infiltration, collagen deposition in the lungs and mucus secretion were potentiated with this combination therapy.
- (iii) Another strategy that has produced beneficial results is optimization of culture conditions. MSCs are classically cultured in tissue culture plates as 2D monolayers. However, in 2D cultures, MSCs may lose their stemness properties, which is not the case in vivo. 3D spheroid cultures of MSCs have been found to prevent apoptosis and maintain self-replicative potential of MSCs due to conservation of cell–cell interactions that are important for survival and colony formation. Aggregated AD-MSCs were found to exhibit better therapeutic performance compared to dissociated AD-MSCs in a mouse model of elastaseinduced emphysema [6].
- (iv) To increase longevity/potency of MSCs in vivo, two techniques have been tried. One is preconditioning of MSCs through brief exposure of cells to low doses of a sublethal/toxic agent to increase stress tolerance. It has been seen that freshly isolated MSCs have better potency in vivo than frozen and thawed MSCs. Besides in terms of preconditioning, hypoxia, heat- and nutrientdepleted microenvironments have been tested to prepare them for in vivo survival.
- (v) MSC potency was shown to be improved by preconditioning the MSCs in an inflammatory milieu. Pooled sera from patients with severe ARDS were used as inflammatory preconditioning media to activate MSCs. These sera contain high levels of IL-10, IL-8 and IL-6 and low levels of IL-1β, TNFα and IFNγ.

- (vi) Chemical substances like pioglitazone, *N*-acetylcysteine (NAC) and tetrandrine have been used to increase MSC potency. Pioglitazone binds to peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor. This modulates transcription of genes involved in glucose and lipid metabolism. NAC-preconditioned MSCs reduced lung inflammation and collagen content in lung tissue of bleomycin-induced PF model. Thus, treatment with primed MSCs significantly reduced mortality of bleomycin-administered animals after 28 days, compared to naive MSCs. Although tetrandrine has not yet been tested in vivo, cell culture results (5 and 10μ M for 24 hours) showed that PGE2 expression was increased in MSCs post treatment.
- (vii) Genetic manipulation: Genetically engineered MSCs to overexpress hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) have been seen to have better survival in vivo, and the effects have been tested in lung injury models. MSCs engineered to conditionally express HSP70-VEGF-MSCs exhibited better survival and therapeutic efficacy than control MSCs in a CS extract and emphysema model. MSCs overexpressing developmental endothelial locus (Del-1), ST2 receptor gene, angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE-2) and manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) dramatically improved the lung injury index, levels of proinflammatory cytokines like TNF α , IL-1 β and IL-6 and neutrophil count in mouse models of ARDS. For pulmonary arterial hypertension, MSCs overexpressing heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) gene have been found to be more effective in the reduction of RV systolic pressure and RV hypertrophy in recipient mice. Genetically modified cells are currently in early-phase clinical trials for pulmonary hypertension patients in the Pulmonary Hypertension and Angiogenic Cell Therapy (PHACeT) trial [8].

3.6 Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Clinical Trials

Lung disorders are one of the leading causes of morbidity worldwide, besides cardiovascular diseases and cancer. Considering the levels of airborne microbes, toxins and microbial by-products that lungs are exposed to, healthy lungs are able to maintain the homeostasis, plasticity and integrity of the tissue [19]. However, no definitive cure or treatment regime is available for the variety of lung disorders. Stem cells-based therapies are the upcoming treatment regimens in various lung diseases due to their characteristic properties of immune-modulation, being immunologically naive and being anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrotic in action. Of all the types of stem cells, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are the easiest to obtain and transplant. They have also shown great in vitro expansion and in vivo regeneration potential.

Keeping the diverse characteristic features of MSCs into consideration, a lot of clinical trials have been conducted, and several are ongoing. According to the registered clinical trials on *www.clinitrials.gov*, 13 clinical trials have been completed, 10 are recruiting patients currently, 4 are ongoing but not recruiting patients now, 11 are not yet recruiting, 1 has been withdrawn, and status of 12 clinical trials is not

known. This data depicts those clinical trials which are using mesenchymal stem cells obtained from various tissue sources for the treatment of lung diseases. The figure given below gives a brief idea of the overall scenario in this direction (Fig. 3.1).

Also according to the clinical registry data, umbilical cord-derived MSCs are the most highly used MSC candidates in the clinical trials, followed by bone marrow-derived MSCs (29%) and adipose tissue-derived MSCs (10%). The remaining other sources of MSCs contributed 12% of the clinical trials (Fig. 3.2).



Fig. 3.1 Current status of various clinical trials using mesenchymal stem cells as the cell source. The data is based on the latest information available on www.clinicaltrials.gov



Fig. 3.2 Pie-chart showing use of mesenchymal stem cells obtained from various tissue sources used in the registered clinical trials of lung diseases

	And a second design of the second sec					
		Number of	Cell therapy-based			Reference/
S.No	Title of study	patient/age	dose	Duration	Conclusion	location
	Predictive value of within-breath respiratory input impedance in the early diagnosis of Obliterative bronchiolitis after allogenetic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation	26 18–70 years	HSCT	2010–2012	Airway calibre and distensibility with lung inflation are increased after HSCT. This effect seems to be related to an increase in lung stiffness and must be taken into account when interpreting lung function changes after HSCT	Barisione et al [21]/ Italy
0	Autologous stem cell treatment for chronic lung disease study	207 16-70 years	Autologous stem cell	2016-2017	Therapy is about safety and minimization of adverse events, a perceived improvement in the patient's lung condition (to be determined by their perceived quality of life), an improvement in the FEV 1 among COPD patients	Rubio et al. [22]/USA
e	A pilot study to evaluate the safety and feasibility of mesenchymal stem cells to induce remission in lung transplant patients experiencing treatment refractory moderate lung rejection	9 18–75 years	2-four million MSC per kg will be infused intravenously	2014-2017	To assess for their capacity to tolerate IV infusion of MSC without acute clinical or physiological deterioration	Zubair et al. [23]/Mayo Clinic/USA
4	An open-label, non-randomized, multicentre study to assess the safety and effects of intravenous implantation of liposuction-derived autologous adipose- derived stem cells in subjects with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)	26 18–85 years	Adipose-derived stem cell (ADSC)	2013–2017	FEV1 decline of approximately or less than 30 ml at 12 month follow-up. Decrease in six minute walking distance (6MWD) of less than 5% over one year	Propis et al. [24]/USA

Table 3.1 Clinical trials of MSCs in lung diseases

2	A pilot study of mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of acute respiratory distress syndrome in patients with malignancies	20 18-older age	Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs)	2017-2020	NA	Olson et al. [25]/USA
9	A phase I trial to evaluate the safety, tolerability, and potential efficacy of allogeneic human mesenchymal stem cell infusion in patients with mild asthma	6 18–65 years	hMSCs	2017-2021	NA	Glassberg et al. [26]/ USA
٢	Open-labeled trial to evaluate the therapeutic effects of inhaled budesonide/ Formoterol in bronchiolitis obliterans after allogeneic stem cell transplantation	32 16-older age	Allogeneic stem cell	2008–2012	Adult allogeneic stem cell transplant recipients with clinical respiratory signs assumed to be secondary to BO, without extra-thoracic extensive graft- versus-host disease	Anne et al. [27]/Paris, France
~	A phase I study to evaluate the potential role of mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis	8 40–80 years	Placental mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs)	2010-2013		Chambers et al. [28]/ USA

There have been quite a few studies reported for the use of MSCs in treating various lung diseases [20]. But most of the clinical trials were conducted to establish the safety and efficacy of use of MSCs in treating these diseases. Most of the studies have taken up intravenous as the mode of infusion of MSCs. However, there are still several ongoing clinical trials in various lung diseases. A brief background of the recent clinical trials in this area is given in the Table 3.1.

Acknowledgement We thank Rajan Mishra, Stem Cell Facility, AIIMS, New Delhi, for assisting us in arranging the required references and proofreading the manuscript.

References

- 1. Geiger S, Hirsch D, Hermann FG (2017) Cell therapy for lung disease Eur Respir Rev:26(144)
- Chaudhuri R, Thompson MA, Pabelick C, Agrawal A, Prakash YS (2018) Obesity, mitochondrial dysfunction and obstructive lung disease: mechanisms and manifestations of obesity in lung disease. Elsevier. ISBN: 978-0-12-813553-2
- 3. Villegas L, Stidham T, Nozik-Grayck E (2014) Oxidative stress and therapeutic development in lung diseases. J Pulmon Respirat Med 4(4):194
- Wecht S, Rojas M (2016) Mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of chronic lung disease. Respirology 21(8):1366–1375
- 5. Grippi MA, Elias JA, Fishman JA, Kotloff RM, Pack AI, Senior RM, Siegel MD (eds) (2015) Fishman's pulmonary diseases and disorders, 5th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York
- Antunes MA, Lapa E, Silva JR, Rocco PR (2017) Mesenchymal stromal cell therapy in COPD: from bench to bedside. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 12:3017–3027
- 7. Paliwal S, Chaudhuri R, Agrawal A et al (2018) Human tissue-specific MSCs demonstrate differential mitochondria transfer abilities that may determine their regenerative abilities. Stem Cell Res Ther 9(1):298
- Silva LHA, Antunes MA, Santos CCD, Weiss DJ, Cruz FF, Rocco PRM (2018) Strategies to improve the therapeutic effects of mesenchymal stromal cells in respiratory diseases. Stem Cell Res Ther 9:45
- Li X, Michaeloudes C, Zhang Y et al (2018) Mesenchymal stem cells alleviate oxidative stressinduced mitochondrial dysfunction in the airways. J Allergy Clin Immunol 141(5):1634–1645
- Li X, Yue S, Luo Z (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Oncotarget 8(60):102600–102616
- Yang SR, Park JR, Kang KS (2015) Reactive oxygen species in mesenchymal stem cell aging: implication to lung diseases. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 486263. 11 pages
- Ortiz LA, Gambelli F, McBride C et al (2003) Mesenchymal stem cell engraftment in lung is enhanced in response to bleomycin exposure and ameliorates its fibrotic effects. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(14):8407–8411
- Zhao F, Zhang YF, Liu YG et al (2008) Therapeutic effects of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells engraftment on bleomycin-induced lung injury in rats. Transplant Proc 40(5):1700–1705
- Islam MN, Das SR, Emin MT, Wei M, Sun L, Westphalen K, Rowlands DJ, Quadri SK, Bhattacharya S, Bhattacharya J (2012) Mitochondrial transfer from bone-marrow-derived stromal cells to pulmonary alveoli protects against acute lung injury. Nat Med 18(5):759–765. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2736
- 15. Ahmad T, Mukherjee S, Pattnaik B et al (2014) Miro1 regulates intercellular mitochondrial transport & enhances mesenchymal stem cell rescue efficacy. EMBO J 33(9):994–1010
- 16. Paliwal S, Chaudhuri R, Agrawal A et al (2018) Regenerative abilities of mesenchymal stem cells through mitochondrial transfer. J Biomed Sci 25(1):31

- Chuang YC, Liou CW, Shang C, Wang PW, Chuang JH, Tiao MM et al (2017) Mitochondrial transfer from Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cell to MERRF cybrid reduces oxidative stress and improves mitochondrial bioenergetics. Oxidative Med Cell Longev Article ID 5691215, 22 pages
- Park WS, Ahn SY, Sung SI et al (2018) Strategies to enhance paracrine potency of transplanted mesenchymal stem cells in intractable neonatal disorders. Pediatr Res 83(1–2):214–222
- Fröhlich E, Mercuri A, Wu S et al (2016) Measurements of deposition, lung surface area and lung fluid for simulation of inhaled compounds. Front Pharmacol 7:181
- Weiss DJ, Casaburi R, Flannery R et al (2013) A placebo-controlled, randomized trial of mesenchymal stem cells in COPD. Chest 143(6):1590–1598
- Barisione EE, Ferretti GG, Ravera SS et al (2012) Dieulafoy's disease of the bronchus: a possible mistake. Multidiscip Respir Med 7(1):40
- 22. Rubio M et al (2017). https://ichgcp.net/clinical-trials-registry/NCT03044431
- 23. Zubair AC et al (2017). https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02181712
- 24. Propis et al (2017). https://ichgcp.net/clinical-trials-registry/NCT02216630
- 25. Olson AL et al (2019). https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02804945
- 26. Glassberg M et al ongoing. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03137199
- 27. Anne B-l et al (2012). https://ichgcp.net/clinical-trials-registry/NCT01560689
- 28. Chambers D et al(2015). https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01385644



4

Role of NADPH Oxidase-Induced Oxidative Stress in Matrix Metalloprotease-Mediated Lung Diseases

Jaganmay Sarkar, Tapati Chakraborti, and Sajal Chakraborti

Abstract

Activation of proteases is known to dysregulate the homeostasis of lung metabolomics and thereby triggers a variety of lung diseases such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) and pulmonary hypertension (PH). Among proteases, matrix metalloprotease (MMP) plays a critical role in regulating the turnover (degradation and synthesis) of extracellular matrix (ECM). MMPs facilitate cell migration by modulating production of cytokines and other signaling molecules, which are involved in the pathogenesis of lung diseases. Under normal condition, proteases are controlled by endogenous antiproteases. For example, MMPs are regulated endogenously by their inhibitors, TIMPs. Agonists induced imbalance of MMP-TIMP results in MMP activation. Oxidative stress by modulating inflammatory signaling targets triggers activation of MMPs and thereby initiates the progression of lung diseases. This suggests that MMP inhibition is an attractive therapeutic strategy to ameliorate oxidant-induced lung diseases.

Keywords

NADPH oxidase · Superoxide · Metalloproteases · Antiproteases · Metabolomics

J. Sarkar · T. Chakraborti · S. Chakraborti (🖂)

Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics, University of Kalyani, Kalyani, West Bengal, India e-mail: sajchak9@klyuniv.ac.in

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_4

4.1 Introduction

Normal function of healthy lungs require alveolar support by the extracellular matrix (ECM). Lung diseases are predominantly associated with the abnormal remodeling or destruction of ECM that alters normal lung function and, if extensive, cause death. Proliferation and migration of cells are regulated by cell matrix interactions and matrix turnover [1, 2]. MMP family members act on lung matrix, thereby causing a variety of pathological consequences of the lung. MMPs can proteolyse and remodel ECM proteins throughout the body [3, 4]. MMPs are classified considering their structure and functions (Table 4.1) [5, 6]. MMP-mediated alteration in tissue integrity appears to be important for normal physiology. MMP-induced activation of some signaling cascades and modification of integrins has been observed to regulate platelet function. A discernible alteration of MMP expression may produce a variety of pathological conditions in the lung such as PH, asthma, ARDS and COPD. An extensive alteration of ECM is important for a variety of lung diseases, which include emphysema and asthma due to intra-alveolar fibrosis by MMPs [7].

NADPH oxidase (NOX), a multisubunit enzyme complex, is the main source of oxygen-derived free radicals in cells and tissues. NOX has seven isoforms, and their action depends on tissue and cell types. This enzyme yields superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) , which can further react with nitric oxide (NO) to form peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻). Thus, ROS-mediated stress plays a pivotal role in malfunctions of the lung that eventually cause different types of lung diseases [8, 9].

4.2 NADPH Oxidase and MMPs

NADPH oxidase (NOX)-derived O_2^{-} is an important component of stress-induced cellular signal network. NOX-induced oxidative stress-mediated signaling could impinge upon normal cellular mechanism and could dictate cells either to adapt to the stress or to go for apoptosis or cancer based on anti-oxidant status. Activation of NADPH oxidase in the lung has been observed to be altered by several chemical, physical, environmental and biological factors and also by the different stimuli, which could further increase in NOX activity [10,11].

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a bacterial endotoxin, increases leukocyte NADPH oxidase and also nonphagocytic NOX in human epithelial cells by activating isoform-specific protein kinase C [12]. Different proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β and IFN- γ play a vital role in activating NOX [13–19]. In pulmonary smooth muscle cells, Ang II stimulates NOX activity through the involvement of c-Src, EGF receptor transactivation, phosphatidylinisitol-3-kinase and Rac [20]. Other vasoactive agents like thromboxane A₂ and endothelin-1 (ET-1) stimulate PLD activity that subsequently activates NOX [21, 22] in pulmonary vasculature. Additionally, agents such as silica, asbestos, bleomycin, cigarette smoke and automobile exhaust components have been observed to increase NOX activity in airway epithelial cells (AECs) and also in the pulmonary endothelial and smooth muscle cells [23–26].

		Molecular	Classic	
MMPs	Others name	active	location	Substrates
MMP-1	Collagenase-1; interstitial collagenase	55,000/45,000	11q22-q23	Collagen type I, II, III,VII, VIII, X
MMP-2	Gelatinase A; 72kDa gelatinase; type IV; collagenase; MMP-5	72,000/66,000	16q13	Collagen type I, II, III, IV, V, VII, X, XI, XIV; gelatin; aggrecan; laminin; fibronectin; elastin; MMP-9; MMP-13
MMP-3	Stromelysin-1; pro-collagenase activator; transin-1; MMP-6	57,000/45,000	11q23	Collagen type II, III, IV, IX, X, XI; gelatin; aggrecan; laminin; fibronectin; elastin; MMP-1, -7, -8, -9, and -13
MMP-7	Matrilysin-1; matrin; PUMP-1; uterine metalloendopeptidase	28,000/19,000	11q21-q22	Collagen type IV, X; gelatin; aggrecan; laminin; fibronectin; elastin; MMP-1, -2, and -9
MMP-8	Collagenase-2; neutrophil collagenase	75,000/58,000	11q21-q22	Collagen type I, II, III, V, VII, VIII, X; gelatin; aggrecan; laminin; fibronectin; elastin
MMP-9	Gelatinase B; 92kDa gelatinase; type IV collagenase	92,000/86,000	20q11.2-q13.1	Collagen type IV, V, VII, X, XIV; gelatin; aggrecan; fibronectin; elastin
MMP-10	Stromelysin-2; transin-2	57,000/44,000	11q22.3-q23	Collagen type III, IV, V; gelatin; aggrecan; laminin; fibronectin; elastin; MMP-1; MMP-8
MMP-11	Stromelysin-3	51,000/44,000	22q11.2	Aggrecan; fibronectin; laminin; α -1 antitrypsin
MMP-12	Macrophage metalloelastase	54,000/22,000	11q22.2-q22.3	Collagen IV; elastin; gelatin; laminin; fibronectin; vitronectin
MMP-13	Collagenase-3	60,000/48,000	11q22.3	Collagen type I, II, III, IV; gelatin; aggrecan; MMP-9
MMP-14	MT1-MMP (membrane-type-1 MMP)	66,000/56,000	14q11-q12	Collagen type I, II, III; gelatin; aggrecan; laminin; fibronectin; elastin; MMP-2; MMP-13

(continued)

		Molecular		
		weight latent/	Chromosome	
MMPs	Others name	active	location	Substrates
MMP-15	MT2-MMP	72,000/60,000	16q13-q21	Gelatin; laminin;
				nbronectin; MMP-2
MMP-16	MT3-MMP; ovary metalloproteinase	64,000/52,000	8q21	MMP-2
MMP-17	MT4-MMP; stromelysin A; stromelysin B	57,000/53,000	12q24.3	Fibrin; fibrinogen; TNF precursor
MMP-18	Xenopus collagenase-4	55,000/42,000	Not applicable	Unknown
MMP-19	RASI-1; RASI-6	54,000/45,000	12q14	Gelatin; aggrecan; COMP; collagen type IV; laminin; nidogen; large tenas
MMP-20	Enamelysin	54,000/22,000	11q22.3	Amelogenin; aggrecan; COMP
MMP-21	Xenopus MMP; XMMP	70,000/53,000	10	Unknown
MMP-22	Gallus domesticus	52,000/43,000	Not applicable	Gelatin; casein
MMP-27	MMP; CMMP			
MMP-23	CA-MMP	56,000/?	1p36	McaPLGLDpaARNh2 (synthetic MMP substrate)
MMP-24	MT5-MMP	63,000/45,000	20q11.2-q12	MMP-2
MMP-25	MT6-MMP; leukolysin	63,000/?	16p13.3	Gelatin
MMP-26	Matrilysin-2; endometase	28,000/19,000	11p15	Collagen type IV; gelatin; α ₁ -PI; fibronectin; fibrinogen; pro-MMP-9
MMP-28	Epilysin	59,000/45,000	17q11.2	Casein

Table 4.1 (continued)

NADPH oxidase-derived oxidants target the inflammatory proteases, for example, matrix metalloproteinases, which leads to lung diseases including PH, COPD, ARDS, asthma, cystic fibrosis and cancer [27–32]. Production of ROS by activated phagocytic cells occurs through activation of NOX complex, which comprises cytosolic (p47phox, p67phox and p40phox and Rac1) and membrane (gp91phox and p22phox) components. Upon agonist-induced translocation of these cellular components to the cell membrane, NOX becomes activated and subsequently induces NADPH oxidase activity to generate superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) [33]. Since lung diseases are predominantly associated with the ECM remodeling, therefore, MMPs and their endogenous inhibitors (TIMPs) play a critical role in ECM homeostasis. In pulmonary fibrosis (PF), cysteine oxidation in the enzyme's active site causes activation of pro-MMP. Importantly, ROS not only activate MMPs but also increase its mRNA expression (Fig. 4.1).



Fig. 4.1 Role of proinflammatory mediators and various stimuli generated by environmental and occupational agents, and also from metabolic pathways on ROS production in the lung and subsequent activation of MMPs leading to a variety of lung diseases

Oxidative stress has been shown to contribute to TGF- β -induced pulmonary fibrosis [34]. Several stimuli like ET-1, Ang-II and TxA₂ have been shown to induce pro-MMP-2 activation. Activation of pro-MMP-2 primarily occurs through the involvement of NOX-derived O₂⁻ and subsequently by other reactive species derived from O₂⁻ such as OH, OOH and ONOO⁻ [35, 36]. Stimulants like ET-1 and TxA₂ in pulmonary smooth muscle cells generate active MMP-2 from inactive pro-MMP-2, which occurs via MT1-MMP upon regulating NOX-PKC α -p38MAPK-NF κ B pathway. This active MMP-2 may be involved in the pathogenesis of many lung disease like PH, ARDS, asthma, COPD and lung cancer (Fig. 4.1) [36].

4.3 MMPs in Pulmonary Hypertension and Right Ventricular Hypertrophy

Pulmonary arterial hypertension (PH) is distinguished primarily by remodeling of pulmonary artery, which leads to hypertrophy of the right ventricle [37, 38]. This mainly occurs primarily due to a noticeable increase in proliferation of pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells [37, 39]. In addition, the progressive phase of PH includes an increase in ECM turnover: its synthesis and degradation. ECM upon degradation could organize different types of proteases in which MMPs gained special importance [40, 41]. Several studies have shown that an increase in the level of MMPs appear to be important in the progression of PH and associated lung diseases [42, 43].

Lepetit et al. [44] have identified a marked increase in MMP-2 activity in PASMCs of patients with PH. MMP-2 is known to be produced upon activation of pro-MMP-2. Membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase-1 (MT1-MMP) interacts with tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-2 (TIMP-2) in the cell membrane. The bimolecular MT1-MMP-TIMP-2 complex associates with pro-MMP-2 by producing a complex (trimolecular complex) and thereby initiates the activation cascade and subsequently releases active MMP-2 into the extracellular medium [45]. Cytokines like IL-1 and TNF- α are present in significantly higher levels in serum of patients with PH [46]. Roy et al. [47] have demonstrated the role of proinflammatory cytokines: TNF- α , IL-1 β and TGF- β in inducing activation of pro-MMPs (such as pro-MMP-9 and pro-MMP-2) and to study the mechanistic pathway(s) for their activation in the SMCs of pulmonary artery (Fig. 4.1).

Lungs treated with monocrotaline (MCT) for producing PH have been shown to be associated with numerous genes involved in the regulation of ECM and subsequently cell adhesion, which was confirmed by gene expression analyses. A discernible increase in MMPs like MMP-2 and MMP-9 have been shown to increase MMP-8, MMP-10, MMP-11, MMP-12 and MMP-20, which play a critical role in PH. Additionally, MMPs can increase in migration of SMCs in monocrotaline (MCT)-treated PH artery [48]. Additionally, increase in the activity of MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-9 and MMP-3 were observed during normoxic recovery from hypoxia-induced PH [49]. In a study using rat hypoxic pulmonary artery, Herget et al. [50] demonstrated collagen breakdown by a marked increase in MMP-13 during exposure with hypoxia [50].

Failure of the right ventricle (RV) is a deadly disease with no effective treatment. In a mouse model, bleomycin-induced failure of the right ventricle (RV), stimulation of α 1-adrenergic receptor (α 1A-subtype) by A61603 was shown to improve PH and RV hypertrophy and failure. ROS is known to directly reduce the function of contractile proteins [51]. Thus, A61603-mediated decrease in oxidative stress could improve contraction of the myofilament by decreasing its damage by ROS. ROS also stimulates mRNA and protein expression. The resulting activation of MMP-2 affects negatively [52–55]. An increase in MMP-2 activity has been shown to alter Ca²⁺ handling characteristics of the pulmonary vasculature [56, 57]. Thus, A61603 reduces MMP-2 expression during A61603 treatment, thereby protecting RV

function due to proper Ca²⁺ handling, which results in a marked decrease in myofilament injury [58]. This indicates that A61603 protects against RV hypertrophy induced by ROS. A61603 treatment appears to be beneficial in this pathology conceivably due to its role to increase SOD and also to reduce NOX-4 activity, which in combination decreases ROS level and subsequently minimizes reductions of myofilament contractility. Additionally, chronic A61603 treatment has been shown to induce inotropic effect to augment RV pump function.

4.4 MMPs and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

COPD is a chronic lung disease, which is ascribed by irreversible decrease in alveolar airway flow [59, 60]. Emphysema and chronic bronchitis elicit pathogenesis of the COPD. Emphysema occurs due to damage of the alveoli with a marked reduction in the plasticity of the lung. This results in lowering of gas trapping and that subsequently decreases pulmonary oxygenation. The major cause of COPD is due to inhalation of silica, asbestos, cigarette smoke and smoke associated with automobile exhaustion [61, 62]. MMPs are known to be involved in emphysema, which results in the pathogenesis of COPD [63].

Immunohistochemical studies of COPD patients lung tissue exhibit an increase in the expression of MMPs, e.g. MMP-1, MMP-2 (present predominantly in alveolar macrophages and epithelial cells), MMP-8 and MMP-9 (primarily secreted by neutrophils) [64]. COPD patients sputum elicit a marked increase in MMP-2 and MMP-9 activities [65, 66]. In bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF), MMP-8 and MMP-9 levels were considerably higher in smokers having emphysema in comparison to the smokers without emphysema [67, 68]. The inflammatory cell migration to the airway cells due to ECM destruction augments MMP-9 expression [69]. As a consequence, TIMP-1 inhibits MMP-9 activity by 1:1 stoichiometric binding [70]. COPD patients sputum elicit active MMP-9, which is absent in normal subjects. Importantly, COPD patients have about 25% pro-MMP-2, while only 5% was observed in the controls. This indicates that pro-MMP-2 level also increases in COPD patients. This is in agreement with a study of Beeh et al. [71], who have shown an enhancement in MMP-9/TIMP-1 ratio in sputum of patients with COPD. Alveolar macrophages isolated from BALF of COPD patients elicited a marked increase in MMP-9 secretion with augmented enzymatic activity in comparison to the smokers and non-smokers, who are apparently healthy [72].

Cigarette smoke extracts also induce MMP-2 gene expression and MMP-2 gelatinase activity in normal lung fibroblasts [73]. Cigarette smoke extracts treatment to lung fibroblasts stimulates EGR-1 mRNA expression. Imai et al. [74] have shown that emphysema patient's lung parenchyma elicits higher MMP-1 expression. MMP-3 and MMP-7 also release cytokines and growth factors such as TNF- α , TGF- β , FGF-1 and IGF-1 that, in turn, promote cleavage of adherence junction proteins from its binding proteins, which results in damage to the cells [75, 76].

MMP-12 is another subfamily of MMPs, mostly secreted by macrophages, and is known to be associated with COPD and airway remodeling [62]. Studies with

different animal models illustrate the involvement of MMP-12 in pathogenesis of cigarette smoke-mediated emphysema in a mice model. In this context, it has been observed that MMP-12 gene knockout mice elicited complete protection from emphysema that occurs upon exposure of cigarette smoke. Cigarette smoke also stimulates the macrophage staffing in association with elastolytic properties of MMP-12 [77].

ADAMs (*a* disintegrin and metalloproteases) are another subfamily of proteases, which belongs to the metzincins family and is structurally related to MMPs [78–81]. ADAM-33 has been observed to be involved in airway inflammation along with hyperresponsiveness in the general population with COPD [82]. Rat exposed to cigarette smoke in a COPD model have higher ADAM-17 level in lung tissues compared to respective control, indicating involvement of ADAM in the obstructive lung pathology [83]. Human airway epithelial cells (NCI-H292) treated with ADAM-17 siRNA develops protection against smoke-induced mucin overproduction [84].

4.5 MMPs and Lung Cancer

Lung cancer (LC) is one of the major causes of cancer-related death in human, and annually above 1.1 million deaths occur all over the world [85]. LC may be categorized as (i) small-cell lung cancer (SCLC) and (ii) non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) [86]. NSCLC is found in approximately 85% of all lung cancer cases, which include squamous cell carcinoma (SQ), adenocarcinoma (AD) and carcinoid [87]. Tobacco stimulates inflammation and oxidative stress in lung tissue [88, 89], modulates the transcription and activation of proteases and thereby elicits proteaseantiprotease imbalance towards protease in the lung parenchyma leading to damage to the lung tissue, which could have influence on the progression of lung cancer [90, 91].

MMPs play a critical role in cancer pathogenesis that has been suggested to be initiated by proteolytic degradation of several ECM components and basement membranes. LC expresses high level of MMPs. Upregulation of MMPs may cause genetic alterations in addition to transcriptional changes and that subsequently activates a relatively large number of oncogenes like β -catenin or lymphoid enhancer factor-1 (LEF-1); however, a marked decrease in tumour suppressors, for example, p53, have also been observed [91, 92].

Serum collected from SCLC and NSCLC patients elicited a marked increase in MMP-9 and TIMP-1 levels with respect to healthy subjects [93]. Patients with NSCLC have shown an increase in MMP-9 level in plasma, but the exact role of MMP-9 in lung cancer is currently unknown. MMP-9 is known to play an important role for metastasis development in NSCLC. Itoh et al. [94] have demonstrated that in MMP-9-deficient mice, metastasis development was vulnerable in comparison to control mice in regard to cancer dissemination. In NSCLC, MMP-1, MMP-2 and MMP-9 have been suggested to be reliable markers as they contribute to metastasis and tumour invasion [95–97]. In stromal fibroblasts, elevated MMP-2 expression

was found in squamous lung cell carcinoma compared with adenocarcinoma. MMP-2 expression in tumour of fibroblast stroma has been suggested to be an excellent angiogenic marker for NSCLC [98]. The involvement of MMP-2 in cancer development was demonstrated in a mice model [99]. It has been demonstrated that MMP-2 inhibition could decrease production of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and subsequently inhibit angiogenesis and apoptosis of endothelial cells [100]. In patients with NSCLC, MMP-2 and MMP-9 expressions were demonstrated by immunohistochemical studies [101–103]. Additionally, the expression of endogenous MMP inhibitors (TIMPs) was found to be correlated with different stages of cancer [104]; and their levels could be considered as prognostic markers to ascertain the progression of lung adenocarcinoma [105].

MMP expression has been shown to vary with cancer subtypes [106]. Lack of MMP-13 did not show a doscernible effect on tumour growth, vascularization and lung metastasis, though MMP-13 mRNA has been shown to be significantly increased with cancer metastasis [99]. Absence of MMP-7 did not show any alteration in the progression of lung metastases, whereas MMP-9 deficiency or treatment with MMP-9 inhibitor decreases lung tumour burden in mice [94, 107, 108]. In different models of tumour metastasis, abrogation of MMP-12 significantly increases lung carcinoma metastasis w.r.t normal animals, indicating that MMP-12 could play a tumour-suppressive role [108]. By activating MMPs with FGF, VEGF and TGF- β , MMPs promote tumour angiogenesis [109, 110]. MMP-14 cleaves the hyaluronan receptor, CD44, and the released extracellular domain of CD44 subsequently binds with MMP-9 in malignant cells surface. This complex subsequently activates TGF- β and thereby triggers angiogenesis [111].

CH1104I treatment to mice has been shown to significantly inhibit metastasis of lung carcinoma cells, which indicates that abrogation of MMP-2 and MMP-9 could decrease metastasis of lung cancer cells [112]. The MMP inhibitor, MMI270, was shown to markedly decrease colony numbers in the lung following treatment with B16-F10 mouse [113]. The MMP inhibitor, BMS-275291, also showed therapeutic potentiality because of its role to ameliorate symptoms of advanced lung cancer [114]. However, more detailed studies are needed before recommending BMS-275291 for chemotherapy of advanced NSCLC [115]. The broad-spectrum MMP inhibitor, BAY 12-9566 N has been shown to counteract the neoplastic growth induced by genotoxic carcinogen [116]. GM6001 is also a potent inhibitor and displays its role in the MMTVPyMT cancer model [117].

4.6 MMPs and Asthma

Asthma is characterized as a chronic inflammatory lung disease associated with airway hyperresponsiveness, infiltration of inflammatory cells in bronchi and significant morphological alterations of airway structure (bronchial remodeling). As ageing progresses, a marked decrease in lung function has been observed [118]. In asthmatic patients, remodeling occurs through (a) thickening of epithelium due to fibrosis-associated deposition of collagen and fibronectin, (b) hyperplasia of smooth muscle cells, (c) enhancement of blood vessels in airways and (d) hyperplasia Goblet mucus-producing cells [119–122]. In asthma, secretion of proteases in airways has also been documented.

MMPs and TIMPs are known to play a critical role in the pathogenesis asthma [123, 124]. To establish MMPs role in the pathogenesis of asthma, Suzuki et al. [125] observed an alteration in the MMP-2 and MMP-9 and TIMPs levels in sputum isolated from patients with asthma. They also found that compared to control (healthy subjects), MMP-2 and TIMP-1 levels were significantly elevated in asthmatic patients, whereas MMP-9 level was markedly greater in asthmatics. Vignola et al. [126] have observed stimulation of both MMP-9 and its inhibitor, TIMP-1, in asthma patients in comparison to control subjects. In asthma patients, MMP-9 has been observed to increase the level of proinflammatory cytokines [127, 128], which induces inflammation of the airways [129]. TNF- α and IL-1 β have been shown to induce MMP-9 knockout mice were unable to elicit airway hyperresponsiveness [133]. Cigarette smoke treatment to asthmatic human respiratory epithelia has been observed to be liable to MMP-9-induced airway remodeling [134–137], indicating that MMP-9 inhibition could have protective role towards asthma.

Other classes of MMPs such as MMP-1, MMP-3, MMP-7, MMP-8, MMP-12 and MMP-19 were shown to be involved in asthma pathogenesis. In airway smooth muscle cells of asthmatics, immunoreactive MMP-1 expression was found to be predominantly higher, indicating that MMP-1 plays an important role in inducing the mass of airway smooth muscle cells, which is characteristically present in patients with asthma [138]. BALF collected from asthma patients elicit higher MMP-8 expression, which seems to be critical determinant in this type of lung disease [139, 140]. This idea was hypothesized from an observation of a mice model of asthma by Gueders et al. [141], which was observed in MMP-8-deficient mice. Bronchial fibroblasts MMP-3 along with MMP-2 stimulate procollagen synthesis and showed a marked increase in hyperreactivity resulting in reduced lung function [142]. However, in severe asthma patients, MMP-7 level is higher in basal epithelial cells, which induces cleavage of Fas ligand (FasL), and thereby damages the airway epithelial cells [143]. Guiders et al. [144] have shown that MMP-9 deficiency in mice decreases tenascin-C accumulation in Th2-mediated airway reactivity, indicating involvement of MMP-19 in asthma. Chiba et al. [145] demonstrated upregulation of MMP-12 in airways of bronchial asthma in a rat model system. MMP-12 was found to be enhanced in monocytes and macrophages that migrates to the site of inflammation and thereby causes remodeling. This remodeling occurs through degradation of ECM components by cytokines-mediated induction of MMPs, which eventually cause airway inflammation [146]. Mitogen-activated protein kinases like ERK1/2, c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3-K) are known to be involved in IL-1β-mediated activation of MMP-12 [147, 148]. These evidences suggest that MMPs are the major class of proteases that could prove useful as therapeutic measures for asthma patients.

R-94138 and marimastat are the two broad-spectrum MMP inhibitors that reduce the progression of allergic inflammation in airways and hyperresponsiveness to allergens in different model systems [149, 150]. However, GM6001 administration did not elicit any alteration in ovalbumin (OVA) caused asthma in mice, albeit inhibits inflammatory cells accumulation in lung parenchyma [151]. In a murine model of toluene-mediated asthma (TDI-OA), MMPI-I (matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor I) and MMPI-II (matrix metalloproteinase 2/9 inhibitor II) have been shown to decrease the number of inflammatory cells in BALF [152, 153]. Several drugs with anti-inflammatory effects, for example, corticosteroids, have been shown to inhibit LPS-induced activation of MMP-12 in macrophages [147, 154]. In patients with severe asthma, corticosteroid treatment is the most effective anti-inflammatory medication and exhibits its anti-inflammatory effect by reversing the imbalance of MMP-9/TIMP-1 [155, 156]. In this context, dexamethasone has been shown to significantly attenuate IL-1β-mediated stimulation of MMP-12 activity [157].

4.7 MMPs in ARDS and Acute Lung Injury

Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) and acute lung injury (ALI) are the foremost life-threatening diseases. ARDS and ALI have been suggested to occur due to injury to epithelial and endothelial capillary membrane of alveoli during inflammation with the involvement of MMPs. MMP-induced ECM-degrading components are involved in the initiation and progression of different types of lung diseases [158–160].

MMPs are predominantly secreted by activated macrophages and neutrophils [161, 162]. It has previously been suggested that these cells are the only MMPs source; however, it has now been known that fibroblasts, endothelial cells and type II epithelial cells of the lung are also the source of MMPs [162, 163]. Kong et al. have shown that lungs of paediatric ALI patients produce higher level of MMP-8, MMP-9, MMP-2, MMP-3, MMP-11 and MMP-12 in comparison to controls [158, 163–165]. In brochoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluids of ALI/ARDS patients, a marked increase in MMP-2, MMP-8 and MMP-9 levels have been observed [163]. The value of the ratio of MMP-9/TIMP-1 may be considered as prognostic marker of ARDS [158, 165].

Several investigators have suggested that MMPs and its inhibitors for therapeutic potentials in ALI [166]. In a mice model, ischemia-reperfusion injury to the lung, bleomycin, hyperoxia, LPS and acid aspiration were shown to trigger ALI [167]. LPS or bleomycin treatment was shown to induce ALI in mice deficient in MMP-8. This occurs due to a marked increase in the deposition of PMNs. The accumulated PMNs cause a marked decrease in MMP-8-mediated macrophage inflammatory protein-1 α (MIP-1 α) inactivation and result in a marked increase in mortality [168, 169]. Induction of LPS in mice with MMP-9 deficiency has been shown to develop emphysema [170]. In mouse lung, inhibition of MMP-9 by chlomethylase-3 (CMT-3) was shown to attenuate inflammation of neutrophils [171]. BALF collected from MMP-9-deficient mice upon ozone exposure showed greater protein content and a discernible increase in epithelial cells and neutrophils with respect to the wild-type cells. This suggests protective effect of MMP-9 in the inflammation during ozone

exposure [172]. However, this kind of protective effect was not found in MMP-7deficient mice [172]. Additionally, ALI induced by hyperoxia showed a marked increase in inflammation in MMP-13-deficient mice due to its absence in the cleavage of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 [173]. It has been observed that MMP-3 also contributes to lung injury during inflammation [174]. Thus, MMPs are involved in lung injury in ARDS, while its inhibition prevents ALI. MMP-3 and neutrophil elastase inhibition by tetracycline was shown to reduce lung injury in an animal model system [175]. Similar protective effects by inhibiting MMP-3 inhibition have also been shown to give similar protection in animal models of sepsis [176, 177]. Therefore, inhibition of MMP-3 activity could prevent acute lung injury. Importantly, treatment with MMP-3 inhibitors needs to start early in the initiation and progression of the disease in order to prevent the pathogenic mechanism.

4.8 MMPs and Lung Fibrosis

Pulmonary fibrosis (PF) is a fatal disease where interstitial myofibroblasts replaced the loss of lung epithelial cells and deposition of ECM component in the interstitial space of the lung, which causes remodeling of pulmonary vessels [178]. PF in addition elicits damage to the alveoli leading to decrease in oxygen transfer and subsequently collapse of alveoli [179]. Intraluminal fibrosis occurs due to the recruitment of inflammatory cells especially macrophages, lymphocytes and neutrophils into airways, which leads to dysregulation of the turnover of ECM components [180, 181].

In PF chronological variations in the localization and the expression of MMPs and TIMPs have been observed [182, 183]. MMP-2 and MMP-9 activities have been observed to be stimulated in BALF from patients with PF [184]. MMP-9 activity has been shown to be notably increased in the early stage of PF, whereas MMP-2 activity is predominant in the latter stage of the disease. Alveolar macrophages of patients with PF revealed greater MMP-9 expression with respect to normal [185]. MMP-2 and MMP-9 overexpression have been shown to damage alveolar epithelial cells, thereby increasing invasion of fibroblasts into the alveoli [184].

Besides the involvement of gelatinases, MMP-7 gene has also been observed to be overexpressed in patients with PF [186]. Zuo et al. [187] in a mouse model have shown that MMP-7-deficient mice inhibits PF [187]. Studies of the transcriptional behaviour of the lung genes of the patients with PF confirm the involvement of MMP-1 [188]. Moreover, collagen showed a prominent role in the progression of PF by cleaving the native helix of fibrillar collagens. Gene expression of other classes of MMPs such as MMP-3, MMP-8, MMP-12, MMP-13 and MMP-28 was also found to be stimulated in PF induced by bleomycin [189–195].

Overexpression of TIMPs causes dysregulation in MMP-TIMP balance, which leads to a marked increase in MMP activity [181]. TIMPs are expressed in different types of lung cells that have different roles in the regulation of the activities of MMPs. TIMP-2 and TIMP-3 genes were expressed during fibrosis. Thus, MMPs could be considered an important prognostic marker in lung fibrosis. In this context,

Corbel et al. [196] have demonstrated that the synthetic inhibitor of MMPs, batimastat, markedly inhibits the bleomycin-induced PF.

4.9 MMPs and Cystic Fibrosis

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is a type of lung disease where protease-antiprotease imbalance increases protease activities which may contribute to progressive bronchiectasis due to damage of alveoli [197]. It has now become clear that MMPs are involved in CF [197]. In the sputum of CF patients, a marked increase in MMPs levels have been observed [198–200].

MMP-9, one of the mostly studied MMPs, is expressed mainly in PMNs, macrophages and epithelial and endothelial cells of the lung. MMP-9 exerts proinflammatory effects by generating a novel neutrophil chemokine, proline-glycine-proline (PGP) [201], and increasing the chemokine potency of IL-8 [202]. Gaggar et al. [201] have shown that MMPs regulate the immune response during CF by generating proline-glycine-proline (PGP), which is an extracellular matrix-derived neutrophil chemoattractant [201]. A marked increase in MMP-9 level was detected in BALF and serum of patients with CF [199, 200, 203]. Geraghty et al. [204] have demonstrated that neutrophil elastase (NE) augments MMP-2 expression in epithelial cells and thereby alters remodeling and inflammatory responses in CF [205].

Other class of MMPs, for example, MMP-7, has also been shown to be associated with CF. Dunsmore et al. [206] have shown the elevation in MMP-7 expression in the AES of patients with CF. Research in the recent past provided evidence supporting involvement of MMP-2 in CF [207]. A previous study indicated that amiloride-sensitive epithelial sodium ion channels play an important role in airway surface lipid depletion, which activates MMP-12-dependent emphysema [207]. Additional studies are required to determine the role of MMP-12 on leukocytes and BALF in patients with CF [208].

In vivo dysregulation of TIMP/MMP status may be correlated to the secretion of CF. It is known that tetracyclines, for example, doxycycline, have intrinsic antiinflammatory properties and inhibit production of MMPs in endothelial cells [209], which have been regarded as targets for CF [201].

4.10 MMPs and Tuberculosis

In global health crisis, *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* is known to be one of the most harmful human pathogens. Primarily, *M. tuberculosis* causes ECM destruction. It causes and thereby creates sites for its proliferation and transmission to another host [210]. This kind of tissue damage due to inflammation is mainly responsible for morbidity and mortality of patients with tuberculosis (TB). Notably, the mechanism by which lung matrix destruction in TB occurs is poorly understood. However, it has been suggested that MMPs are the key molecules in the pathogenesis of TB, due to its novel capacity to damage ECM, for example, collagen.

Chang et al. [211] reported that a marked increase in MMPs levels were found in human TB. They collected BALF from the patients and found an increase in MMP-9 expression in comparison to controls [211]. In TB patients, MMPs are activated and play an important role in degrading the lung matrix, while endogenous tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) failed to balance the activated MMPs [212, 213]. Elkington et al. [214] demonstrated that *M. tuberculosis* upregulate MMP-1, MMP-3, MMP-7 and MMP-10. Coussens et al. [215] have also observed an increase in the level of MMP-1, MMP-7 and MMP-10 in macrophages infected with M. tuberculosis. Immunohistochemical studies have identified the localization of MMP in TB granulomas. MMP-1 and MMP-7 are expressed in Langhans giant cells and macrophages in granulomas of the lung [214], whereas MMP-1 and MMP-9 are localized in epithelial cells of the lung [216, 217]. Thus, targeting MMP activity seems to be the useful intervention in drug-resistant TB [218]. Dexamethasone has been shown to ameliorate early effects in TB meningitis [219] and subsequently decreases MMP-9 level [220]. Another globally used drug to inhibit the activity of MMPs in TB patients is doxycycline. Importantly, multiple MMP inhibitors were developed as remedy for cancer [221], and these are currently under reassessment as adjunctive drugs to diminish immunopathological aspects of TB.

4.11 MMPs and Sarcoidosis

Sarcoidosis is an inflammatory lung disease affecting multiple organs including the lung and lymph nodes with unknown aetiology [222, 223]. Granuloma formation seems to be important for manifestation of a variety of lung diseases that are associated with remodeling and proteolysis of the ECM [224-226]. Proteases in macrophage especially MMPs have been suggested to play a critical role in sarcoidosis [227]. A marked increase in collagenase activity has been detected in BALF from sarcoidosis patients, where MMP-8 appears to be predominant MMPs [228]. MMP-9 levels are also elevated in BALF and sputum of patients with sarcoidosis without a discernible increase in TIMP-1 level [224, 228]. Immunohistochemical studies demonstrated that a cellular component of sarcoid granulomas in the lung has a high degree of immunoreactivity for MMP-1, MMP-2 and MMP-9, whereas the role of MMP-3 and MMP-7 has been observed to be less [229]. The cells of the sarcoid granulomas have low levels of TIMP-1 and TIMP-2, and that maintains latency in the activity of MMPs. The activated proteases cause disruption of the basement membrane leading to its damage [229]. Thus, MMP activation and ECM breakdown with subsequent remodeling could disrupt the normal lung function, which may produce advanced pulmonary sarcoidosis.

4.12 Conclusion and Future Direction

Several evidences are available implying the involvement of NADPH oxidasederived O_2 --induced activation of MMPs for progression of lung diseases. The evidences are well studied in the MMPs knockout mice and also by the specific MMP inhibitor, which suggests that correlation exists between the NADPH oxidase and MMPs activations with lung diseases. It has now become evident that regulation of lung health depends on MMP-TIMP balance. Dysregulation of the balance towards proteases affects lung heath. Therefore, MMP inhibitors have a great potency as useful therapeutic agent to ameliorate lung disease such as COPD, asthma, ARDS and associated PH and also lung cancer.

Recent evidence indicates that the recombinant signal regulatory protein for immunoglobulin kappa J region (RBPJ) and mastermind like 3 (MAML3) are now considered as the novel therapeutic targets for small-cell lung cancer (SCLC); however, its chemosensitivity may be reduced for long-term treatment [230]. Therefore, future research will determine appropriate combinational therapy with other known drugs, which may be of use for treating SCLC patients.

The marine actinomycetes product, 1-hydroxy-1-norresistomycin (HNM), has been observed to increase lncRNAs expression via transcriptional regulation of p53, thereby increasing apoptosis in non-small-cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) [231]. In view of this, HNM is currently considered to be a novel therapy for NSCLC [231]. However, further research is needed to develop more potent HNM derivative that could be useful for long-term treatment of the disease.

Considering that elastin damage occurs in emphysema, a novel biodegradable polymeric nanoparticle (NP) has been developed using doxycycline loaded BSA (BSA.NPs). This opens up a promising way of controlling MMPs and, therefore, emphysema, thereby stopping further lung damage [232]. However, long-term therapeutic potentiality of BSA.NPs needs to be clearly ascertained by future research.

Anti-muscarinic agents are used for therapy of COPD and to some extent in the treatment of asthma because of their broncho-dilatory effects. Recent research showed that they also regulate remodeling of small airways by modulating MMPs and thereby COPD pathogenesis [233]. Further research is important to clearly determine the role of anti-muscarinic agents in ameliorating MMPs and subsequently COPD in animal model systems.

Acute pulmonary embolism is a critical condition that occurs due to prolonged pulmonary hypertension during abnormal activation of MMPs in pulmonary vasculature. Although doxycycline is being used to partly ameliorate pulmonary embolism and PH, yet more potent agents need to be discovered for clinical use of pulmonary embolism and associated PH [234].

Sepsis is a disease of relentless mortality due to non-availability of a potent drug. Research in the recent past indicated involvement of systemic inflammatory response associated with MMP activation in septicemia [235]. Chemically modified tetracycline, CMT-3 is currently used for sepsis, albeit it has limited effect in this scenario [235]. Further research is needed to explore the shortcomings of

therapeutic use of CMT-3 during different stages of septicemia and its association with MMPs.

Acknowledgement Financial assistance from the Council of Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR), New Delhi, is greatly acknowledged.

References

- 1. Dunsmore SE, Rannels DE (1996) Extracellular matrix biology in the lung. Am J Phys 270:L3–L27
- Davey A, McAuley DF, O'Kane CM (2011) Matrix metalloproteinases in acute lung injury: mediators of injury and drivers of repair. Eur Respir J 38:959–970
- Kandasamy AD, Chow AK, Ali MA et al (2010) Matrix metalloproteinase-2 and myocardial oxidative stress injury: beyond the matrix. Cardiovasc Res 85:413–423
- 4. Skiles JW, Gonnella NC, Jeng A (2004) The design, structure, and clinical update of small molecular weight matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors. Curr Med Chem 11:2911–2977
- Fanjul-Fernández M, Folgueras AR, Cabrera S et al (2010) Matrix metalloproteinases: evolution, gene regulation and functional analysis in mouse models. Biochim Biophys Acta 1803:3–19
- 6. Klein T, Bischoff R (2011) Physiology and pathophysiology of matrix metalloproteases. Amino Acids 41:271–290
- 7. Woessner JF Jr (1991) Matrix metalloproteases and their inhibitors in connective tissue remodeling. FASEB J 5:2145–2154
- Gallelli L, Falcone D, Scaramuzzino M et al (2014) Effects of simvastatin on cell viability and proinflammatory pathways in lung adenocarcinoma cells exposed to hydrogen peroxide. BMC Pharmacol Toxicol 15:67
- Lee IT, Yang CM (2012) Role of NADPH oxidase/ROS in pro-inflammatory mediatorsinduced airway and pulmonary diseases. Biochem Pharmacol 84:581–590
- Iuchi T, Akaike M, Mitsui T et al (2003) Glucocorticoid excess induces superoxide production in vascular endothelial cells and elicits vascular endothelial dysfunction. Circ Res 92:81–87
- Marumo T, Schini-Kerth VB, Brandes RP et al (1998) Glucocorticoids inhibit superoxide anion production and p22 phox mRNA expression in human aortic smooth muscle cells. Hypertension 32:1083–1088
- 12. Yan F, Li W, Jono H et al (2008) Reactive oxygen species regulate Pseudomonas aeruginosa lipopolysaccharide-induced MUC5AC mucin expression via PKC-NADPH oxidase-ROS-TGF-alpha signaling pathways in human airway epithelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 366:513–519
- Lo YY, Conquer JA, Grinstein S et al (1998) Interleukin-1 beta induction of c-fos and collagenase expression in articular chondrocytes: involvement of reactive oxygen species. J Cell Biochem 69:19–29
- Frey RS, Rahman A, Kefer JC et al (2002) PKCzeta regu-238 Jiang Et Al. lates TNF-alphainduced activation of NADPH oxidase in endothelial cells. Circ Res 90:1012–1019
- 15. Muzaffar S, Shukla N, Angelini G, Jeremy JY (2004) Nitroaspirins and morpholinosydnonimine but not aspirin inhibit the formation of superoxide and the expression of gp91phox induced by endotoxin and cytokines in pig pulmonary artery vascular smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells. Circulation 110:1140–1147
- 16. Li JM, Fan LM, Christie MR et al (2005) Acute tumor necrosis factor alpha signaling via NADPH oxidase in microvascular endothelial cells: role of p47phox phosphorylation and binding to TRAF4. Mol Cell Biol 25:2320–2330

- Wu F, Schuster DP, Tyml K et al (2007) Ascorbate inhibits NADPH oxidase subunit p47phox expression in microvascular endothelial cells. Free Radic Biol Med 42:124–131
- Yang D, Elner SG, Bian ZM et al (2007a) Proinflammatory cytokines increase reactive oxygen species through mitochondria and NADPH oxidase in cultured RPE cells. Exp Eye Res 85:462–472
- Kamizato M, Nishida K, Masuda K et al (2009) Interleukin 10 inhibits interferon gammaand tumor necrosis factor alpha-stimulated activation of NADPH oxidase 1 in human colonic epithelial cells and the mouse colon. J Gastroenterol 44:1172–1184
- Seshiah PN, Weber DS, Rocic P et al (2002) Angiotensin II stimulation of NAD(P)H oxidase activity: upstream mediators. Circ Res 91:406–413
- 21. Chakraborti S, Sarkar J, Chowdhury A et al (2017) Role of ADP ribosylation factor6-Cytohesin1-PhospholipaseD signaling axis in U46619 induced activation of NADPH oxidase in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell membrane. Arch Biochem Biophys 633:1–14
- 22. Chakraborti S, Sarkar J, Bhuyan R et al (2017) Role of catechins on ET-1 induced stimulation of PLD and NADPH oxidase activities in pulmonary smooth muscle cells: determination of the probable mechanism by molecular docking studies. Biochem Cell Biol. https://doi. org/10.1139/bcb-2017-0179
- Lavigne MC, Eppihimer MJ (2005) Cigarette smoke condensate induces MMP-12 gene expression in airway-like epithelia. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 330:194–203
- Amara N, Bachoual R, Desmard M et al (2007) Diesel exhaust particles induce matrix metalloprotease-1 in human lung epithelial cells via a NADP(H) oxidase/NOX4 redox-dependent mechanism. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 293:L170–L181
- 25. Jaimes EA, DeMaster EG, Tian RX et al (2004) Stable compounds of cigarette smoke induce endothelial superoxide anion production via NADPH oxidase activation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24:1031–1036
- 26. Orosz Z, Csiszar A, Labinskyy N et al (2007) Cigarette smoke-induced proinflammatory alterations in the endothelial phenotype: role of NAD(P)H oxidase activation. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 292:H130–H139
- Rahman I, MacNee W (2000) Oxidative stress and regulation of glutathione in lung inflammation. Eur Respir J 16:534–554
- Barbieri SS, Zacchi E, Amadio P (2011) Cytokines present in smokers' serum interact with smoke components to enhance endothelial dysfunction. Cardiovasc Res 90:475–483
- Lee IT, Luo SF, Lee CW et al (2009) Overexpression of HO- 1 protects against TNF-amediated airway inflammation by down-regulation of TNFR1-dependent oxidative stress. Am J Pathol 175:519–532
- 30. Lee CW, Lin CC, Lee IT et al (2011) Activation and induction of cytosolic phospholipase A2 by TNF-a mediated through Nox2, MAPKs, NF-kB, and p300 in human tracheal smooth muscle cells. J Cell Physiol 226:2103–2114
- 31. Lin CP, Huang PH, Tsai HS et al (2011) Monascus purpureus fermented rice inhibits tumor necrosis factor-a-induced upregulation of matrix metalloproteinase 2 and 9 in human aortic smooth muscle cells. J Pharm Pharmacol 63:1587–1594
- 32. Luo SF, Chang CC, Lee IT et al (2009) Activation of ROS/NF-kappaB and Ca²⁺/CaM kinase II are necessary for VCAM-1 induction in IL-1b-treated human tracheal smooth muscle cells. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 237:8–21
- Bedard K, Krause KH (2007) The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev 87:245–313
- 34. Cui Y, Robertson J, Maharaj S et al (2011) Oxidative stress contributes to the induction and persistence of TGF-b1 induced pulmonary fibrosis. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 43:1122–1133
- 35. Chowdhury A, Chakraborti T, Chakraborti S et al (2016) Cross talk between MMP2-Spm-Cer-S1P and ERK1/2 in proliferation of pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells under angiotensin II stimulation. Arch Biochem Biophys 603:91–101
- 36. Sarkar J, Chowdhury A, Chakraborti T et al (2016) Cross-talk between NADPH oxidase-PKCα-p(38)MAPK and NF-κB-MT1MMP in activating proMMP-2 by ET-1 in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. Mol Cell Biochem 415:13–28

- Mandegar M, Fung YCB, Huang W et al (2004) Cellular and molecular mechanisms of pulmonary vascular remodeling: role in the development of pulmonary hypertension. Microvasc Res 68:75–103
- Pidgeon GP, Tamosiuniene R, Chen G et al (2004) Intravascular thrombosis after hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension: regulation by cyclooxygenase-2. Circulation 110:2701–2707
- Barberá JA, Peinado VI, Santos S (2003) Pulmonary hypertension in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Eur Respir J 21:892–905
- Stamenkovic I (2003) Extracellular matrix remodelling: the role of matrix metalloproteinases. J Pathol 200:448–464
- 41. Woessner JF Jr (1991) Matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in connective tissue remodeling. FASEB J 5:2145–2154
- 42. Frisdal E, Gest V, Vieillard-Baron A, Levame M et al (2001) Gelatinase expression in pulmonary arteries during experimental pulmonary hypertension. Eur Respir J 18:838–845
- Järveläinen H, Sainio A, Koulu M et al (2009) Extracellular matrix molecules: potential targets in pharmacotherapy. Pharmacol Rev 61:198–223
- 44. Lepetit H, Eddahibi S, Fadel E et al (2005) Smooth muscle cell matrix metalloproteinases in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. Eur Respir J 25:834–842
- 45. Jo Y, Yeon J, Kim HJ et al (2000) Analysis of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-2 effect on pro-matrix metalloproteinase-2 activation by membrane-type 1 matrix metalloproteinase using baculovirus/insect-cell expression system. Biochem J 345:511–519
- 46. Yu TM, Chen YH, Hsu JY et al (2009) Systemic inflammation is associated with pulmonary hypertension in patients undergoing haemodialysis. Nephrol Dial Transplant 24:1946–1951
- 47. Roy S, Samanta K, Chakraborti T et al (2011) Role of TGF- β 1 and TNF- α in IL-1 β mediated activation of proMMP-9 in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells: involvement of an aprotinin sensitive protease. Arch Biochem Biophys 513:61–69
- Pullamsetti S, Krick S, Yilmaz H et al (2005) Inhaled tolafentrine reverses pulmonary vascular remodeling via inhibition of smooth muscle cell migration. Respir Res 6:128
- 49. Thakker-Varia S, Tozzi CA, Poiani GJ et al (1998) Expression of matrix-degrading enzymes in pulmonary vascular remodeling in the rat. Am J Phys 275:L398–L406113
- Herget J, Novotna J, Bibova J et al (2003) Metalloproteinase inhibition by Batimastat attenuates pulmonary hypertension in chronically hypoxic rats. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 285:L199–L208
- MacFarlane NG, Miller DJ (1992) Depression of peak force without altering calcium sensitivity by the superoxide anion in chemically skinned cardiac muscle of rat. Circ Res 70(532):1217–1224
- Lovett DH, Mahimkar R, Raffai RL et al (2012) A novel intracellular isoform of matrix metalloproteinase-2 induced by oxidative stress activates innate immunity. PLoS One 7:e34177
- 53. Sawicki G, Leon H, Sawicka J et al (2005) Degradation of myosin light chain in isolated rat hearts subjected to ischemia-reperfusion injury: a new intracellular target for matrix metalloproteinase-2. Circulation 112:544–552
- Schulz R (2007) Intracellular targets of matrix metalloproteinase-2 in cardiac disease: rationale and therapeutic approaches. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 47:211–242
- 55. Ali MA, Fan X, Schulz R (2011) Cardiac sarcomeric proteins: novel intracellular targets 483 of matrix metalloproteinase-2 in heart disease. Trends Cardiovasc Med 21:112–118
- 56. Chakraborti T, Das S, Mandal M, Mandal A et al (2002) Role of Ca²⁺-dependent metalloprotease-2 in stimulating Ca2+ ATPase activity under peroxynitrite treatment in bovine pulmonary artery smooth muscle membrane. IUBMB Life 53:167–173
- 57. Chakraborti S, Mandal A, Das S et al (2004) Inhibition of Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger by peroxynitrite in microsomes of pulmonary smooth muscle: role of matrix metalloproteinase-2. Biochim Biophys Acta 1671:70–78
- 58. Cowley PM, Wang G, Joshi S et al (2017) α (1A)-subtype adrenergic agonist therapy for the failing right ventricle. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 313:H1109–H1118

- 59. Imai K, Yokohama Y, Nakanishi I et al (1995) Matrix metalloproteinase 7 (matrilysin) from human rectal carcinoma cells. Activation of the precursor, interaction with other matrix metalloproteinases and enzymic properties. J Biol Chem 270:6691–6697
- 60. Ferry G, Lonchampt M, Pennel L et al (1997) Activation of MMP-9 by neutrophil elastase in an in vivo model of acute lung injury. FEBS Lett 402:111–115
- Manzano-Leon N, Quintana R, Sanchez B (2013) Variation in the composition and in vitro proinflammatory effect of urban particulate matter from different sites. J Biochem Mol Toxicol 27:87–97
- 62. Heijink IH, de Bruin HG, Dennebos R et al (2016) Cigarette smoke-induced epithelial expression of WNT-5B: implications for COPD. Eur Respir J 48:504–515
- Shapiro DS (2002) Proteinases in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Biochem Soc Trans 30:98–102
- 64. Segura-Valdez L, Pardo A, Gaxiola M et al (2000) Upregulation of gelatinases A and B, collagenases 1 and 2, and increased parenchymal cell death in COPD. Chest 117:684–694
- 65. Cataldo D, Munaut C, Noel A et al (2000) MMP-2- and MMP-9-linked gelatinolytic activity in the sputum from patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 123:259–267
- 66. Wi DB (2005) Perspectives for cytokine antagonist therapy in COPD. Drug Discov Today 10:93–106
- Dahesia M (2005) Therapeutic inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase for the treatment of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Curr Med Res Opini 21:557–593
- Betsuyaku T, Nishimura M, Takeyabu K et al (1999) Neutrophil granule proteins in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from subjects with subclinical emphysema. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 159:1985–1991
- 69. Shapiro SD (2005) COPD unwound. N Engl J Med 352:2016-2019
- Matsumoto H, Niimi A, Takemura M et al (2005) Relationship of airway wall thickening to an imbalance between matrix metalloproteinase-9 and its inhibition in asthma. Thorax 60:277–281
- Beeh KM, Beier J, Kornmann O et al (2003) Sputum matrix metalloproteinase-9, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1, and their molar ratio in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and healthy subjects. Respir Med 97:634–639
- 72. Russell RE, Culpitt SV, DeMatos C et al (2002) Release and activity of matrix metalloproteinase-9 and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 by alveolar macrophages from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 26:602–609
- 73. Wn N, Yinying D, Sun J et al (2007) Cigarette smoke stimulates matrix metalloproteinase-2 activity via EGR-1 in human lung fibroblasts. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 36:480–490
- 74. Imai K, Dalal SS, Chen ES et al (2001) Human collagenase (matrix metalloproteinase-1) expression in the lungs of patients with emphysema. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 163:786–791
- 75. Noe V, Fingeton B, Jacobs K et al (2001) Release of an invasion promoter E-cadherin fragment by Matrilysin and Stromolysin-1. J. Cell Sci 114:111–118
- Steinhusen U, Weike J, Badok V et al (2001) Cleave and shedding of E-cadherin after induction of apoptosis. J Biol Chem 276:4972–4980
- Leclerc O, Lagente V, Planquois JM et al (2006) Involvement of MMP-12 and phosphodiesterase type 4 in cigarette smoke-induced inflammation in mice. Eur Respir J 27:1102–1109
- Porter S, Clark IM, Kevorkian L et al (2005) The ADAMTS metalloproteinases. Biochem J 386:15–27
- Seals DF, Courtneidge SA (2003) The ADAMs family of metalloproteases: multidomain proteins with multiple functions. Genes Dev 17:7–30
- Black RA, White JM (1998) ADAMs: focus on the protease domain. Curr Opin Cell Biol 10:654–659
- Rocks N, Paulissen G, El Hour M et al (2008) Emerging roles of ADAM and ADAMTS metalloproteinases in cancer. Biochimie 90:369–379
- Gosman MM, Boezen HM, van Diemen CC et al (2007) A disintegrin and metalloprotease 33 and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease pathophysiology. Thorax 62:242–247

- Ju CR, Xia XZ, Chen RC (2007) Expressions of tumor necrosis factor-converting enzyme and ErbB3 in rats with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Chin Med J 120:1505–1510
- 84. Shao MX, Nakanaga T, Nadel JA (2004) Cigarette smoke induces MUC5AC mucin overproduction via tumor necrosis factor-alpha-converting enzyme in human airway epithelial (NCIH292) cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 287:L420–L427
- 85. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A (2018) Cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin 68:7-30
- Vandenbroucke RE, Dejonckheere E, Libert C (2011) A therapeutic role for matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors in lung diseases? Eur Respir J 38:1200–1214
- Esposito L, Conti D, Ailavajhala R et al (2010) Lung cancer: are we up to the challenge? Curr Genomics 11:513–518
- Church DF, Pryor WA (1985) Free-radical chemistry of cigarette smoke and its toxicological implications. Environ Health Perspect 64:111–126
- Tetley TD (1993) New perspectives on basic mechanisms in lung disease.
 Proteinase imbalance: its role in lung disease. Thorax 48:560–565
- Barnes PJ, Shapiro SD et al (2003) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: molecular and cellular mechanisms. Eur Respir J 22:672–688
- Wagner S, Breyholz HJ, Faust A et al (2006) Molecular imaging of matrix metalloproteinases in vivo using small molecule inhibitors for SPECT and PET. Curr Med Chem 13:2819–2838
- Egeblad M, Werb Z (2002) New functions for the matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression. Nat Rev Cancer 2:161–174
- 93. Jumper C, Cobos E, Lox C (2004) Determination of the serum matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) and tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-1 (TIMP-1) in patients with either advanced small-cell lung cancer or non-small-cell lung cancer prior to treatment. Respir Med 98:173–177
- Itoh T, Tanioka M, Matsuda H et al (1999) Experimental metastasis is suppressed in MMP-9-deficient mice. Clin Exp Metastasis 17:177–181
- Reichenberger F, Eickelberg O, Wyser C et al (2001) Distinct endobronchial expression of matrix-metalloproteinases (MMP) and their endogenous inhibitors in lung cancer. Swiss Med Wkly 131:273–279
- 96. Kodate M, Kasai T, Hashimot H et al (1997) Expression of matrix metalloproteinase (gelatinase) in T1 adenocarcinoma of the lung. Pathol Int 47:461–469
- Pritchard SC, Nicolson MC, Lloret C et al (2001) Expression of matrix metalloproteinases 1, 2, 9 and their tissue inhibitors in stage II non-small cell lung cancer: implications for MMP inhibition therapy. Oncol Rep 8:421–424
- Ishikawa S, Takenaka K, Yanagihara K et al (2004) Matrix metalloproteinase-2 status in stromal fibroblasts, not in tumor cells, is a significant prognostic factor in non-small-cell lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res 10:6579–6585
- Itoh T, Tanioka M, Yoshida H et al (1998) Reduced angiogenesis and tumour progression in gelatinase A-deficient mice. Cancer Res 58:1048–1051
- 100. Chetty C, Lakka SS, Bhoopathi P et al (2010) MMP-2 alters VEGF expression via aVb3 integrin-mediated PI3K/AKT signaling in A549 lung cancer cells. Int J Cancer 127:1081–1095
- 101. Thomas P, Khokha R, Shepherd FA et al (2000) Differential expression of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in non-small cell lung cancer. J Pathol 190:150–156
- 102. Ylisirnio S, Hoyhtya M, Turpeenniemi-Hujanen T (2000) Serum matrix metalloproteinases-2, -9 and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases-1, -2 in lung cancer – TIMP-1 as a prognostic marker. Anticancer Res 20:1311–1316
- 103. Passlick B, Sienel W, Seen-Hibler R et al (2000) Overexpression of matrix metalloproteinase 2 predicts unfavorable outcome in early-stage non-small cell lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res 6:3944–4398
- 104. Herbst RS, Yano S, Kuniyasu H et al (2000) Differential expression of E-cadherin and type IV collagenase genes predicts outcome in patients with stage I non-small cell lung carcinoma. Clin. Cancer Res 6:790–797

- 105. Pan MR, Chuang LY, Hung WC (2001) Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs inhibit matrix metalloproteinase-2 expression via repression of transcription in lung cancer cells. FEBS Lett 508:365–368
- 106. Tokuraku M, Sato H, Murakami S et al (1995) Activation of the precursor of gelatinase A/72 Kda Type-Iv collagenase/ Mmp-2 in lung carcinomas correlates with the express ion of membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase (Mt-Mmp) and with lymph-node metastasis. Int J Cancer 64:355–359
- 107. Nielsen BS, Egeblad M, Rank F et al (2008) Matrix metalloproteinase 13 is induced in fibroblasts in polyomavirus middle T antigen-driven mammary carcinoma without influencing tumour progression. PLoS One 3:e2959
- Houghton AM, Grisolano JL, Baumann ML et al (2006) Macrophage elastase (matrix metalloproteinase-12) suppresses growth of lung metastases. Cancer Res 66:6149–6155
- Egeblad M, Werb Z (2002) New functions for the matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression. Nat Rev Cancer 2:161–174
- 110. Overall CM, Lopez-Otin C (2002) Strategies for MMP inhibition in cancer: innovations for the post-trial era. Nat Rev Cancer 2:657–672
- 111. Wagne S, Breyholz HJ, Faust A et al (2006) Molecular imaging of matrix metalloproteinases in vivo using small molecule inhibitors for SPECT and PET. Curr Med Chem 13:2819–2838
- 112. Chen MH, Cui SX, Cheng YN et al (2008) Galloyl cyclic-imide derivative CH1104I inhibits tumour invasion through suppressing matrix metalloproteinase activity. Anti-Cancer Drugs 19:957–965
- 113. Kasaoka T, Nishiyama H, Okada M et al (2008) Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor, MMI270 (CGS27023A) inhibited hematogenic metastasis of B16 melanoma cells in both experimental and spontaneous metastasis models. Clin Exp Metastasis 25:827–834
- 114. Lockhart AC, Braun RD, Yu D et al (2003) Reduction of wound angiogenesis in patients treated with BMS-275291, a broad spectrum matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor. Clin Cancer Res 9:586–593
- 115. Leighl NB, Paz-Ares L, Douillard JY et al (2005) Randomized phase III study of matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor BMS-275291 in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin in advanced nonsmall-cell lung cancer: National Cancer Institute of Canada, Clinical Trials Group Study BR.18. J Clin Oncol 23:2831–2839
- 116. Iatropoulos MJ, Cerven DR, de George G et al (2008) Reduction by dietary matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor BAY 12-9566N of neoplastic development induced by diethylnitrosamine, N-nitrosodimethylamine, or 7,12-dimethylbenz(a)anthracene in rats. Drug Chem Toxicol 31:305–316
- 117. Almholt K, Juncker-Jensen A, Laerum OD et al (2008) Metastasis is strongly reduced by the matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor galardin in the MMTV-PymT transgenic breast cancer model. Mol Cancer Ther 7:2758–2767
- 118. Lange P, Parner J, Vestbo J et al (1998) A 15-year follow-up study of ventilatory function in adults with asthma. N Engl J Med 339:1194–1200
- 119. Bousquet J, Chanez P, Lacoste JY et al (1992) Asthma: a disease remodeling the airways. Allergy 47:3–11
- 120. Cataldo DD, Gueders MM, Rocks N, Sounni NE et al (2003) Pathogenic role of matrix metalloproteases and their inhibitors in asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and therapeutic relevance of matrix metalloproteases inhibitors. Cell Mol Biol 49:875–884
- 121. Vignola AM, Chanez P, Siena L et al (1998) Airways remodelling in asthma. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 11:359–367
- 122. Gueders MM, Foidart JM, Noel A, Cataldo DD (2006) Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and tissue inhibitors of MMPs in the respiratory tract: potential implications in asthma and other lung diseases. Eur J Pharmacol 533:133–144
- Dahlen B, Shute J, Howarth P (1999) Immunohistochemical localization of the matrix metalloproteinases MMP-3 and MMP-9 within the airways in asthma. Thorax 54:590–596

- 124. Cataldo DD, Gueders M, Munaut C et al (2004) Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases mRNA transcripts in the bronchial secretions of asthmatics. Lab Investig 84:418–424
- 125. Suzuki R, Kato T, Miyazaki Y et al (2001) Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases in sputum from patients with bronchial asthma. J Asthma 38:477–484
- 126. Vignola AM, Riccobono L, Mirabella A et al (1998) Sputum metalloproteinase-9/tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 ratio correlates with airflow obstruction in asthma and chronic bronchitis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158:1945–1950
- 127. Yao PM, Maitre B, Delacour C et al (1997) Divergent regulation of 92-kDa gelatinase and TIMP-1 by HBECs in response to IL-1beta and TNF-alpha. Am J Phys 273:L866–L874
- 128. Johnatty RN, Taub DD, Reeder SP et al (1997) Cytokine and chemokine regulation of proMMP-9 and TIMP-1 production by human peripheral blood lymphocytes. J Immunol 158:2327–2333
- 129. Mattos W, Lim S, Russell R, Jatakanon A et al (2002) Matrix metalloproteinase-9 expression in asthma: effect of asthma severity, allergen challenge, and inhaled corticosteroids. Chest 122:1543–1552
- Saren P, Welgus HG, Kovanen PT (1996) TNF-alpha and IL-1beta selectively induce expression of 92-kDa gelatinase by human macrophages. J Immunol 157:4159–4165
- 131. Corcoran ML, Stetler-Stevenson WG, Brown PD et al (1992) Interleukin 4 inhibition of prostaglandin E2 synthesis blocks interstitial collagenase and 92-kDa type IV collagenase/gelatinase production by human monocytes. J Biol Chem 267:51519
- 132. Mertz PM, DeWitt DL, Stetler-Stevenson WG et al (1994) Interleukin 10 suppression of monocyte prostaglandin H synthase2. Mechanism of inhibition of prostaglandin-dependent matrix metalloproteinase production. J Biol Chem 269:21322–21329
- 133. Cataldo DD, Tournoy KG, Vermaelen K et al (2002) Matrix metalloproteinase-9 deficiency impairs cellular infiltration and bronchial hyperresponsiveness during allergen-induced airway inflammation. Am J Pathol 161:491–498
- 134. Watson AM, Benton AS, Rose MC et al (2010) Cigarette smoke alters tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 1 and matrix metalloproteinase 9 levels in the basolateral secretions of human asthmatic bronchial epithelium in vitro. J Investig Med 58:725–729
- 135. Corry DB, Kiss A, Song LZ et al (2004) Overlapping and independent contributions of MMP2 and MMP9 to lung allergic inflammatory cell egression through decreased CC chemokines. FASEB J 18:995–997
- 136. McMillan SJ, Kearley J, Campbell JD et al (2004) Matrixmetalloproteinase-9 deficiency results in enhanced allergen-induced airway inflammation. J Immunol 172:2586–2594
- 137. Page K, Ledford JR, Zhou P et al (2009) A TLR2 agonist in German cockroach frass activates MMP-9 release and is protective against allergic inflammation in mice. J Immunol 183:3400–3408
- 138. Rajah R, Nachajon RV, Collins MH et al (1999) Elevated levels of the IGF-binding protein protease MMP-1 in asthmatic airway smooth muscle. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 20:199–208
- Cataldo D, Munaut C, Noel A et al (2001) Matrix metalloproteinases and TIMP-1 production by peripheral blood granulocytes from COPD patients and asthmatics. Allergy 56:145–151
- 140. Prikk K, Maisi P, Pirila E et al (2002) Airway obstruction correlates with collagenase-2 (MMP-8) expression and activation in bronchial asthma. Lab Investig 82:1535–1545
- 141. Gueders MM, Balbin M, Rocks N et al (2005) Matrix metalloproteinase-8 deficiency promotes granulocytic allergen induced airway inflammation. J Immunol 175:2589–2597
- 142. Todorova L, Bjermer L, Miller-Larsson A et al (2010) Relationship between matrix production by bronchial fibroblasts and lung function and AHR in asthma. Respir Med 104:1799–1808
- 143. Wadsworth SJ, Atsuta R, McIntyre JO et al (2010) IL-13 and TH2 cytokine exposure triggers matrix metalloproteinase 7-mediated Fas ligand cleavage from bronchial epithelial cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol 126:366–374

- 144. Gueders MM, Hirst SJ, Quesada-Calvo F et al (2010) Matrix metalloproteinase-19 deficiency promotes tenascin-C accumulation and allergen-induced airway inflammation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 43:286–295
- 145. Chiba Y, Yu Y, Sakai H et al (2007) Increase in the expression of matrix metalloproteinase-12 in the airways of rats with allergic bronchial asthma. Biol Pharm Bull 30:318–323
- 146. Lanone S, Zheng T, Zhu Z et al (2002) Overlapping and enzyme-specific contributions of matrix metalloproteinases-9 and -12 in IL-13-induced inflammation and remodeling. J Clin Invest 110:463–474
- 147. Xie S, Issa R, Sukkar MB et al (2005) Induction and regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-12 in human airway smooth muscle cells. Respir Res 6:148
- 148. Oikonomidi S, Kostikas K, Tsilioni I et al (2009) Matrix metalloproteinases in respiratory diseases: from pathogenesis to potential clinical implications. Curr Med Chem 16:1214–1228
- 149. Kumagai K, Ohno I, Okada S et al (1999) Inhibition of matrix metalloproteinases prevents allergen-induced airway inflammation in a murine model of asthma. J Immunol 162:4212–4219
- 150. Bruce C, Thomas PS (2005) The effect of marimastat, a metalloprotease inhibitor, on allergen-induced asthmatic hyper-reactivity. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 205:126–132
- 151. Corry DB, Rishi K, Kanellis J et al (2002) Decreased allergic lung inflammatory cell egression and increased susceptibility to asphyxiation in MMP2-deficiency. Nat Immunol 3:347–353
- 152. Lee YC, Song CH, Lee HB et al (2001) A murine model of toluene diisocyanate-induced asthma can be treated with matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor. J Allergy Clin Immunol 108:1021–1026
- 153. Lee KS, Jin SM, Kim SS et al (2004) Doxycycline reduces airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness in a murine model of toluene diisocyanate-induced asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 113:902–909
- 154. Shapiro SD, Kobayashi DK, Ley TJ (1993) Cloning and characterization of a unique elastolytic metalloproteinase produced by human alveolar macrophages. J Biol Chem 268:23824–23829
- 155. Bosse M, Chakir J, Rouabhia M et al (1999) Serum matrix metalloproteinase-9: tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 ratio correlates with steroid responsiveness in moderate to severe asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 159:596–602
- 156. Suzuki R, Miyazaki Y, Takagi K et al (2004) Matrix metalloproteinases in the pathogenesis of asthma and COPD: implications for therapy. Treat Respir Med 3:17–27
- 157. Xie S, Issa R, Sukkar MB et al (2005) Induction and regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-12 in human airway smooth muscle cells. Respir Res 6:148
- 158. Corbel M, Boichot E, Lagente V (2000) Role of gelatinases MMP-2 and MMP-9 in tissue remodeling following acute lung injury. Braz J Med Biol Res 33:749–754
- 159. Warner RL, Beltran L, Younkin EM et al (2001) Role of stromelysin 1 and gelatinase B in experimental acute lung injury. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 24:537–544
- 160. Oikonomidi S, Kostikas K, Tsilioni I et al (2009) Matrix metalloproteinases in respiratory diseases: from pathogenesis to potential clinical implications. Curr Med Chem 16:1214–1228
- 161. Shapiro SD (1998) Matrix metalloproteinase degradation of extracellular matrix: biological consequences. Curr Opin Cell Biol 10:602–608
- 162. Gibbs DF, Shanley TP, Warner RL et al (1999) Role of matrix metalloproteinases in models of macrophage-dependent acute lung injury. Evidence for alveolar macrophage as source of proteinases. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 20:1145–1154
- 163. Fligiel SE, Standiford T, Fligiel HM et al (2006) Matrix metalloproteinases and matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors in acute lung injury. Hum Pathol 37:422–430
- 164. Kong MY, Gaggar A, Li Y et al (2009) Matrix metalloproteinase activity in paediatric acute lung injury. Int J Med Sci 6:9–17
- 165. Lanchou J, Corbel M, Tanguy M et al (2003) Imbalance between matrix metalloproteinases (MMP-9 and MMP-2) and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMP-1 and TIMP-2) in acute respiratory distress syndrome patients. Cri Care Me 31:536–542
- 166. Matute-Bello G, Frevert CW, Martin TR (2008) Animal models of acute lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 295:L379–L399
- 167. Vandenbroucke RE, Dejonckheere E, Libert C (2011) A therapeutic role for matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors in lung diseases? Eur Respir J 38:1200–1214
- 168. Owen CA, Hu Z, Lopez-Otin C et al (2004) Membrane-bound matrix metalloproteinase-8 on activated polymorphonuclear cells is a potent, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-resistant collagenase and serpinase. J Immunol 172:7791–7803
- 169. Quintero PA, Knolle MD, Cala LF et al (2010) Matrix metalloproteinase-8 inactivates macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha to reduce acute lung inflammation and injury in mice. J Immunol 184:1575–1588
- 170. Brass DM, Hollingsworth JW, Cinque M et al (2008) Chronic LPS inhalation causes emphysema-like changes in mouse lung that are associated with apoptosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 39:584–590
- 171. Kim JH, Suk MH, Yoon DW et al (2006) Inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase-9 prevents neutrophilic inflammation in ventilator-induced lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 291:L580–L587
- 172. Yoon HK, Cho HY, Kleeberger SR (2007) Protective role of matrix metalloproteinase-9 in ozone-induced airway inflammation. Environ Health Perspect 115:1557–1563
- 173. Sen AI, Shiomi T, Okada Y et al (2010) Deficiency of matrix metalloproteinase-13 increases inflammation after acute lung injury. Exp Lung Res 36:615–624
- 174. Warner RL, Beltran L, Younkin EM et al (2001) Role of stromelysin 1 and gelatinase B in experimental acute lung injury. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 24:537–544
- 175. Carney DE, Lutz CJ, Picone AL et al (1999) Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor prevents acute lung injury after cardiopulmonary bypass. Circulation 100:400–406
- 176. Steinberg J, Halter J, Schiller HJ et al (2003) Metalloproteinase inhibition reduces lung injury and improves survival after cecal ligation and puncture in rats. J Surg Res 111:185–195
- 177. Carney DE, McCann UG, Schiller HJ et al (2001) Metalloproteinase inhibition prevents acute respiratory distress syndrome. J Surg Res 99:245–252
- 178. Crouch E (1990) Pathobiology of pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Phys 259:L159-L184
- Katzenstein ALA, Myers JL (1998) Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: clinical relevance of pathologic classification. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 157:1301–1315
- Morimoto Y, Kim H, Oyabu T et al (2005) Effect of long-term inhalation of toner on extracellular matrix in the lungs of rats in vivo. Inhal Toxicol 17:153–159
- 181. Selman M, Ruiz V, Cabrera S et al (2000) TIMP-1,-2,-3, and-4 in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. A prevailing nondegradative lung microenvironment? Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 279:L562–L574
- 182. Swiderski RE, Dencoff JE, Floerchinger CS et al (1998) Differential expression of extracellular matrix remodeling genes in a murine model of bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Pathol 152:821–828
- 183. Yaguchi T, Fukuda Y, Ishizaki M et al (1998) Immunohistochemical and gelatin zymography studies for matrix metalloproteinases in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Pathol Int 48:954–963
- 184. Pardo A, Selman M (2006) Matrix metalloproteases in aberrant fibrotic tissue remodeling. Proc Am Thorac Soc 3:383–388
- 185. Lemjabbar H, Gosset P, Lechapt-Zalcman E et al (1999) Overexpression of alveolar macrophage gelatinase B (MMP-9) in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: effects of steroid and immunosuppressive treatment. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 20:903–913
- Cosgrove GP, Schwarz MI, Geraci MW et al (2002) Overexpression of matrix metalloproteinase-7 in pulmonary fibrosis. Chest 121:25S–26S
- 187. Zuo FR, Kaminski N, Eugui E et al (2002) Gene expression analysis reveals matrilysin as a key regulator of pulmonary fibrosis in mice and humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:6292–6297

- Oikonomidi S, Kostikas K, Tsilioni I et al (2009) Matrix metalloproteinases in respiratory diseases: from pathogenesis to potential clinical implications. Curr Med Chem 16:1214–1228
- Yamashita CM, Dolgonos L, Zemans RL et al (2011) Matrix metalloproteinase 3 is a mediator of pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Pathol 179:1733–1745
- 190. Cabrera S, Selman M, Lozano-Bolaños A et al (2013) Gene expression profiles reveal molecular mechanisms involved in the progression and resolution of bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 304:L593–L601
- 191. García-Prieto E, González-López A, Cabrera S et al (2010) Resistance to bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis in MMP-8 deficient mice is mediated by interleukin-10. PLoS One 5:e13242
- 192. Nkyimbeng T, Ruppert C, Shiomi T et al (2013) Pivotal role of matrix metalloproteinase 13 in extracellular matrix turnover in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. PLoS One 8:e73279
- 193. Flechsig P, Hartenstein B, Teurich S et al (2010) Loss of matrix metalloproteinase-13 attenuates murine radiation-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 77:582–590
- 194. Manoury B, Nenan S, Guenon I et al (2006) Macrophage metalloelastase (MMP-12) deficiency does not alter bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in mice. J Inflamm (Lond) 3:2
- 195. Gharib SA, Johnston LK, Huizar I (2014) MMP28 promotes macrophage polarization toward M2 cells and augments pulmonary fibrosis. J Leukoc Biol 95:9–18
- 196. Corbel M, Belleguic C, Boichot E et al (2002) Involvement of gelatinases (MMP-2 and MMP-9) in the development of airway inflammation and pulmonary fibrosis. Cell Biol Toxicol 18:51–61
- 197. Rowe SM, Miller S, Sorscher EJ (2005) Cystic fibrosis. N Engl J Med 352:1992-2001
- 198. Gaggar A, Hector A, Bratcher PE et al (2011) The role of matrix metalloproteinases in cystic fibrosis lung disease. Eur Respir J 38:721–727
- 199. Gaggar A, Li Y, Weathington N et al (2007) Matrix metalloprotease-9 dysregulation in lower airway secretions of cystic fibrosis patients. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 293:L96–L104
- 200. Ratjen F, Hartog CM, Paul K et al (2002) Matrix metalloproteases in BAL fluid of patients with cystic fibrosis and their modulation by treatment with dornase alpha. Thorax 57:930–934
- 201. Gaggar A, Jackson PL, Noerager BD et al (2008) A novel proteolytic cascade generates an extracellular matrix-derived chemoattractant in chronic neutrophilic inflammation. J Immunol 180:5662–5669
- 202. Van den Steen PE, Proost P, Wuyts A et al (2000) Neutrophil gelatinase B potentiates interleukin-8 tenfold by aminoterminal processing, whereas it degrades CTAP-III, PF-4, and GRO-a and leaves RANTES and MCP-2 intact. Blood 96:2673–2681
- 203. Roderfeld M, Rath T, Schulz R et al (2009) Serum matrix metalloproteinases in adult CF patients: relation to pulmonary exacerbation. J Cyst Fibros 8:338–347
- 204. Geraghty P, Rogan MP, Greene CM et al (2007) Neutrophil elastase upregulates cathepsin B and matrix metalloprotease-2 expression. J Immunol 178:5871–5878
- 205. Peterson-Carmichael SL, Harris WT, Goel R et al (2009) Association of lower airway inflammation with physiologic findings in young children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol 44:503–511
- Dunsmore SE, Saarialho-Kere UK, Roby JD et al (1998) Matrilysin expression and function in airway epithelium. J Clin Invest 102:1321–1331
- 207. Schubert SC, Trojanek JB, Diemer S et al (2009) Airways surface liquid depletion causes MMP-12 dependent emphysema in bENaC-overexpressing mice. J Cyst Fibros 8(Suppl 2):S53
- 208. Cobos-Correa A, Trojanek JB, Diemer S et al (2009) Membrane-bound FRET probe visualizes MMP12 activity in pulmonary inflammation. Nat Chem Biol 5:628–630
- 209. Hanemaaijer R, Visser H, Koolwijk P et al (1998) Inhibition of MMP synthesis by doxycycline and chemically modified tetracyclines (CMTs) in human endothelial cells. Adv Dent Res 12:114–118
- Kaplan G, Post FA, Moreira AL et al (2003) Mycobacterium tuberculosis growth at the cavity surface: a microenvironment with failed immunity. Infect Immun 71:7099–7108

- 211. Chang JC, Wysocki A, Tchou-Wong KM et al (1996) Effect of mycobacterium tuberculosis and its components on macrophages and the release of matrix metalloproteinases. Thorax 51:306–311
- 212. Price NM, Farrar J, Tran TT et al (2001) Identification of a matrix-degrading phenotype in human tuberculosis in vitro and in vivo. J Immunol 166:4223–4230
- 213. Matsuura E, Umehara F, Hashiguchi T et al (2000) Marked increase of matrix metalloproteinase 9 in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with fungal or tuberculous meningoencephalitis. J Neurol Sci 173:45–52
- 214. Elkington PT, Nuttall RK, Boyle JJ et al (2005) Mycobacterium tuberculosis, but not vaccine BCG, specifically upregulates matrix metalloproteinase-1. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172:1596–1604
- 215. Coussens A, Timms PM, Boucher BJ et al (2009) 1alpha, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits matrix metalloproteinases induced by Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Immunology 127:539–548
- 216. Elkington PT, Emerson JE, Lopez-Pascua LD et al (2005) Mycobacterium tuberculosis upregulates matrix metalloproteinase-1 secretion from human airway epithelial cells via a p38 MAPK switch. J Immunol 175:5333–5340
- 217. Elkington PT, Green JA, Emerson JE et al (2007) Synergistic upregulation of epithelial cell matrix metalloproteinase-9 secretion in tuberculosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 37:431–437
- 218. Elkington PT, D'Armiento JM, Friedland JS (2011) Tuberculosis immunopathology: the neglected role of extracellular matrix destruction. Sci Transl Med 3:71ps6
- 219. Thwaites GE, Nguyen DB, Nguyen HD et al (2004) Dexamethasone for the treatment of tuberculous meningitis in adolescents and adults. N Engl J Med 351:1741–1751
- 220. Green JA, Tran CT, Farrar JJ et al (2009) Dexamethasone, cerebrospinal fluid matrix metalloproteinase concentrations and clinical outcomes in tuberculous meningitis. PLoS One 4:e7277
- 221. Coussens LM, Fingleton B, Matrisian LM (2002) Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors and cancer: trials and tribulations. Science 295:2387–2392
- 222. Fernandez Fabrellas E (2007) Epidemiology of sarcoidosis. Arch Bronconeumol 43:92-100
- 223. Muller-Quernheim J (1998) Sarcoidosis: immunopathogenetic concepts and their clinical application. Eur Respir J 12:716–738
- 224. Fireman E, Kraiem Z, Sade O et al (2002) Induced sputum-retrieved matrix metalloproteinase 9 and tissue metalloproteinase inhibitor 1 in granulomatous diseases. Clin Exp Immunol 130:331–337
- Fireman EM, Topilsky MR (1994) Sarcoidosis: an organized pattern of reaction from immunology to therapy. Immunol Today 15:199–201
- 226. Newman LS, Rose CS, Maier LA (1997) Sarcoidosis. N Engl J Med 336:1224-1234
- 227. John M, Oltmann U, Fietze I et al (2002) Increased production of matrix metalloproteinase-2 in alveolar macrophages and regulation by interleukin-10 in patients with acute pulmonary sarcoidosis. Exp Lung Res 28:55–68
- 228. Henry MT, McMahon K, Mackarel AJ et al (2002) Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 in sarcoidosis and IPF. Eur Respir J 20:1220–1227
- 229. Gonzalez AA, Segura AM, Horiba K et al (2002) Matrix metalloproteinases and their tissue inhibitors in the lesions of cardiac and pulmonary sarcoidosis: an immunohistochemical study. Hum Pathol 33:1158–1164
- 230. Onishi H, Ichimiya S, Yanai K et al (2018) RBPJ and MAML3: potential therapeutic targets for small cell lung cancer. Anticancer Res 38:4543–4547
- 231. Ramalingam V, Varunkumar K, Ravikumar V et al (2018) p53 mediated transcriptional regulation of long non-coding RNA by 1-hydroxy-1-norresistomycin triggers intrinsic apoptosis in adenocarcinoma lung cancer. Chem Biol Interact 287:1–12
- 232. Parasaram V, Nosoudi N, LeClair RJ (2016) Targeted drug delivery to emphysematous lungs: inhibition of MMPs by doxycycline loaded nanoparticles. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 39:64–73

- 233. Karakiulakis G, Roth M (2012) Muscarinic receptors and their antagonists in COPD: antiinflammatory and antiremodeling effects. Mediat Inflamm 2012:409580
- 234. Neto-Neves EM, Kiss T, Muhl D et al (2013) Matrix metalloproteinases as drug targets in acute pulmonary embolism. Curr Drug Targets 14:344–352
- 235. Roy SK, Kendrick D, Sadowitz BD et al (2011) Jack of all trades: pleiotropy and the application of chemically modified tetracycline-3 in sepsis and the acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). Pharmacol Res 64:580–589



5

Oxidative Stress Mechanisms in the Pathogenesis of Environmental Lung Diseases

Rajesh K. Thimmulappa, Indranil Chattopadhyay, and Subbiah Rajasekaran

Abstract

Globally, respiratory diseases are major cause of disability and mortality, and more alarmingly, it disproportionately affects developing countries, which is largely attributed to poor quality of air. Tobacco smoke and emissions from combustion of fossil fuel and biomass fuel are the major airborne pollutants affecting human lung health. Oxidative stress is the dominant driving force by which the airborne pollutants exert their toxicity in lungs and cause respiratory diseases. Most airborne pollutants are associated with intrinsic oxidative potential and, additionally, stimulate endogenous production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS). Elevated ROS and RNS in lungs modulate redox signals and cause irreversible damage to critical biomolecules (lipids, proteins and DNA) and initiate various pathogenic cellular process. This chapter provides an insight into oxidative stress-linked pathogenic cellular process such as lipid peroxidation, inflammation, cell death, mitochondrial dysfunction, endoplasmic reticulum stress, epigenetic changes, profibrotic signals and mucus hypersecretion, which drive the development and progression of lung diseases. Lungs are associated with robust enzymatic and non-enzymatic (GSH, ascorbic acid, uric acid, vitamin E) antioxidant defences. However, sustained production of free radicals due to continuous exposures to airborne pollutants overwhelms lung antioxidant defences and causes oxidative injury. Preclinical studies have

R. K. Thimmulappa (🖂)

Department of Biochemistry, JSS Medical College, JSS Academy of Higher Education & Research, Mysore, Karnataka, India e-mail: rajeshkt@jssuni.edu.in

I. Chattopadhyay Department of Life Sciences, Central University of Tamil Nadu, Thiruvarur, Tamil Nadu, India

S. Rajasekaran Department of Biotechnology, BIT-Campus, Anna University, Tiruchirappalli, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_5

demonstrated the critical roles and therapeutic potential of upregulating lung antioxidants for intervention of respiratory diseases; however, so far clinical benefits in antioxidant supplementation trials have been minimal and conflicting. Antioxidants alone may not be effective in treatment of respiratory diseases; however it could be a promising adjunctive therapy.

Keywords

Respiratory diseases · Oxidative stress · Lipid peroxidation · Inflammation · Cell death · Mitochondrial dysfunction · Endoplasmic reticulum stress · Epigenetic changes · Profibrotic signals · Mucus hypersecretion · Lung antioxidants

5.1 Introduction

With growing industrialization and rapid urbanization, the global burden of respiratory diseases is rising at an alarming rate and is a major source of disability and death following cardiovascular diseases [1, 2]. Globally, around 10% of all disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) lost is attributed to respiratory illnesses mainly chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), asthma, tuberculosis, lower respiratory tract infection and lung cancer [3]. Respiratory diseases disproportionately affect developing countries [1, 2], which is largely attributed to poor quality of air, although socioeconomic and genetic factors contribute significantly. Despite being so widespread, environmental respiratory illnesses are highly preventable.

Lungs are at the direct interface between body and the environment, and therefore, the major threat to lung health is the air we breathe. An adult individual inhales on average 10,000 to 15,000 litres of air every day. Inhaled oxygen along with airborne pollutants dissolves in respiratory epithelial lining fluid. The common pollutants that contaminate air include tobacco smoke, particulate matter, biomass fuel smoke, industrial emissions, ozone, oxides of nitrogen, oxides of sulphur and carbon monoxide. Most of these airborne pollutants are associated with intrinsic oxidative potential, and hence, oxidative stress is thought to be a dominant mechanism by which the air pollutants exert their toxicity in lungs. Several studies have reported elevated oxidatively damaged biomolecules in the exhaled breath condensate, nasal lavage, bronchoalveolar lavage and blood of human subjects following acute exposures to airborne pollutants such as cigarette smoke, ozone or particulate matter. Prolonged exposures to these airborne toxicants also stimulate endogenous cellular production of free radicals by diverse mechanisms including mitochondrial, NADPH oxidase, xanthine oxidase and myeloperoxidase activity. To defend against oxidative insult, lungs are endowed with powerful extracellular antioxidants in respiratory tract lining fluid as well as intracellular antioxidant defences. Measures to improve the air quality that we breathe and understanding the underlying mechanisms of disease development caused by exposures to airborne toxicants are pivotal to reduce the global burden

of respiratory disease. This chapter chronicles the key mechanisms by which oxidative stress mediates development and progression of respiratory diseases. The chapter begins with an overview and sources of free radicals in the lungs and a brief description of key environmental respiratory diseases mainly COPD, asthma, acute respiratory distress syndrome and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Finally, the chapter reviews the antioxidants associated with lungs and clinical studies testing antioxidant therapy for treatment of respiratory diseases.

5.2 Sources of Free Radicals in Lungs

5.2.1 Free Radicals: ROS and RNS

Table 5.1 List

RNS

Free radical is a highly reactive chemical species, which interacts and damages cellular biomolecules (proteins, lipids, DNA and carbohydrates). Free radicals are molecules associated with an unpaired electron in their valency shell, which renders them intrinsically unstable and reactive. In biological systems, free radicals are oxygen-centred radicals and nitrogen-containing radicals collectively called as reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS), respectively. ROS comprises of radical species (such as superoxide, hydroxyl radicals, lipidderived hydroperoxides) and non-radical species (singlet oxygen, hydrogen peroxide and hypochlorous acid and ozone) (Table 5.1) [4, 5]. RNS includes nitric oxide, nitrogen dioxide, nitroxyl anion and peroxynitrite [6]. Elevated cellular levels of ROS and RNS with reduced capacity to detoxify or neutralize them or its derivatives result in a state of oxidative and nitrative stress, respectively.

Low levels of ROS and RNS function as secondary messengers and play a pivotal role in redox cell signalling and regulate diverse beneficial normal physiological processes such as bacterial killing during phagocytosis, vasodilation, tissue repair and regeneration [4, 7, 8]. In contrast, higher levels of ROS/RNS inflict irreversible damage to biomolecules resulting in cell and tissue injury, and if unchecked, it results in onset of inflammatory diseases including respiratory disease [9–11].

of ROS and	ROS	RNS
	Superoxide (O_2^{-})	Nitric oxide ('NO)
	Hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2)	Nitrogen dioxide (NO ₂)
	Hydroxyl radical (HO)	Nitrous acid (HNO ₂)
	Peroxyl radical (RO ₂)	Dinitrogen tetroxide (N ₂ O ₄)
	Alkoxyl radical (RO)	Dinitrogen trioxide (N ₂ O ₃)
	Hydroperoxyl radical (HO ₂)	Peroxynitrite (ONOO-)
	Singlet oxygen (¹ O ₂)	Peroxynitrous acid (ONOOH)
	Ozone (O ₃)	Alkyl peroxynitrites (ROONO)

5.2.2 Sources of ROS and RNS in Lungs

5.2.2.1 Endogenous Sources of ROS/RNS in Lungs

The endogenous source refers to free radicals produced by cells. Adult lung comprises around 40 different cell types [12], which can be broadly classified as epithelial, endothelial and neuroendocrine cells, smooth muscles, fibroblasts and immune cells (macrophages, neutrophils and T cells). All these cells have varied intrinsic capacity to generate ROS upon stimulation. In general, ROS/RNS are produced as intermediates or byproducts of cellular metabolism catalysed by enzymes localized in different organelles primarily plasma membrane, cytosol, mitochondria, peroxisomes and endoplasmic reticulum. The key enzymes that produce ROS/RNS in lungs include cytochrome c oxidase, NADPH oxidase, myeloperoxidase, xanthine oxidase and nitric oxidase synthase. In most of the lung disorders, the mitochondria are primary source of excess ROS [4, 9, 13]. Superoxide produced by mitochondria is a result of incomplete reduction of oxygen to water due to leakage of electrons by mitochondrial respiratory chain [4, 13]. NADPH oxidase (NOX) is a multicomponent transmembrane enzyme complex that generates superoxide as end product via one electron reduction of oxygen [8-11]. In humans, there are seven isoforms of NOX - NOX1, NOX2, NOX3, NOX4, NOX5, DUOX1 and DUOX2. Nox2 is localized in phagosome of phagocytes (macrophages and neutrophils) and produces massive ROS to kill the phagocytized bacteria. NOX1, NOX2, NOX4, DUOX1 and DOUX2 are distributed in various cell types in the human lung [10, 14]. Myeloperoxidase (MPO), a heme-containing enzyme, is localized in lysosomes of neutrophils and macrophages [11] and catalyses chlorination of H_2O_2 to HOCl, a highly reactive radical [11]. Additionally, MPO catalyses oxidation of thiocyanate to generate hypothiocyanite. Xanthine oxidase, localized in the plasma membrane and cytosol, catalyses oxidation of hypoxanthine to xanthine and to uric acid, during which superoxide is generated [6, 15]. The enzyme nitric oxide synthase catalyses oxidation of L-arginine to citrulline and nitric oxide [7, 16]. Nitric oxide produced reacts with superoxide to form very potent RNS intermediate, peroxynitrite (OONO⁻). There are three isoforms of NOS, namely, NOS1 (neuronal NOS, nNOS), NOS2 (endothelial NOS, eNOS) and NOS3 (inducible NOS, iNOS). Pulmonary cells constitutively express NOS1 and NOS2, while NOS3 is elevated in the lung during inflammation [7, 16, 17].

5.2.3 ROS and RNS in Lungs: Exogenous Sources

Inhalation of airborne toxicants such as tobacco smoke, biomass fuel smoke, particulate matter and gaseous emissions (nitrogen oxides and sulphur oxides), ozone, chemical toxins, pesticides and pollen grains largely constitutes the exogenous sources of oxidants in lungs [18]. Among the airborne toxicants, ambient air pollution particulate matter and cigarette smoke are the main contributors of free radicals

in human lungs [1, 3, 19, 20]. Depending on the size, the ambient particulate matter (PM) exhibits different physicochemical properties [21, 22]. Coarse particles larger than 10 microns are composed of natural materials (mineral and silicates) and are trapped and cleared by the nose and upper respiratory tract [23, 24]. Fine PM of size 2.5 microns (PM_{2.5}) and lesser and ultrafine particles (<0.1 microns) are produced by the combustion process from anthropogenic activities and are composed of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), metals, minerals, sulphates and nitrates [23, 25]. PM_{25} and ultrafine particles could reach deep into distal lungs and cause injury to the alveoli [24]. A single puff of cigarette smoke comprises of 10¹⁵ free radicals [20, 26] and over 4000 chemicals including epoxides, peroxides, semiquinones, quinones and PAH. The cigarette smoke free radicals are classified into two phases: tar (particle) and gas. Tar phase has 1017 relatively long-lived radical molecules per gram such as quinone/hydroquinone (Q/QH2) radicals, which produce O_2 - leading to the generation of H_2O_2 and •OH [27]. Gas phase of cigarette smoke comprises of 10¹⁵ organic and inorganic radicals per puff and includes NO•, NOx and ONOO-[28]. Ozone is another powerful exogenous oxidant in the lungs [29]. Plant pollens are associated with NADPH oxidase enzyme and are shown to generate superoxide in the airways following inhalation. Besides possessing intrinsic oxidative potential, the airborne toxicants also stimulate production of ROS by activating NADPH oxidase, damaging mitochondria and by recruitment of inflammatory cells (macrophages and neutrophils).

5.3 Oxidative Stress-Associated Pulmonary Disorders

5.3.1 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD)

As per the recent estimates by a global burden of disease study [1], COPD kills over three million people and is the third leading cause of death. COPD is characterized by progressive, irreversible limitation in expiratory airflow and abnormal lung inflammation. The disease process involves airway inflammation and remodeling, mucus hypersecretion, loss of the terminal bronchioles and destruction of the lung parenchyma [30, 31]. Tobacco smoking is the primary causal agent of COPD; however, recent epidemiological evidence suggests that exposures to indoor and outdoor air pollutants are also a major etiological factor, especially in developing countries. Genetic polymorphisms in genes coding for alpha-1 antitrypsin, metalloproteinase 33, superoxide dismutase-3 (SOD3) and tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF α) are additional risk factors in 10%-20% of the smokers for developing COPD [32-37]. Although the underlying pathophysiological mechanisms are complex, the lungs of patient with COPD show persistent oxidative stress, increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines, increased CD4 and CD8 cells, elevated levels of proteases and increased apoptosis and senescence [38-44]. Oxidative stress-driven mechanisms are strongly implicated in the initiation and progression of COPD [45].

5.3.2 Asthma

Asthma is a very common airway disorder affecting both children and adults worldwide. Clinically, asthmatics show airway hyperresponsiveness, reversible airflow obstruction and abnormal airway inflammation [46]. Genetic factors in the combination of environmental exposures increase the risk of asthma. The common environmental agents that trigger asthma include aeroallergens (indoor and outdoor), tobacco smoke, dust, air pollutants, cold air and viruses. The hallmark pathological features of asthmatic airways include airway remodeling, epithelial desquamation, goblet cell hyperplasia and inflammation and are associated with eosinophils, mast cells, neutrophils, macrophages and T helper type 2 cells (Th2 cells) [47]. In asthmatics lungs, allergen exposure triggers immunoglobulin E (IgE) production from B cells, degranulation of mast cells and infiltration of eosinophil into airways. These events are mediated by Th2 cytokines, namely, IL-13, IL-4, IL-5 and IL-9. Th1 cytokines (IFN-g, IL-12) and Th17 cytokines (IL-23) are implicated in severe or steroid resistance asthma, which is characterized by high neutrophilic inflammation. ROS through direct injury to airway epithelial cells and via redox signalling mechanism are shown to enhance sensitivity to allergens and augment Th2/Th1 cytokine secretion and, therefore, intricately involved in the pathogenesis of asthma [48].

5.3.3 Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS)

Acute lung injury and its severe form ARDS are common complications in patients admitted to intensive care unit. ARDS results from direct or indirect injury to lungs. Direct injury may be caused by gastric aspiration, pneumonia, inhalation of injuries gases and pulmonary contusion. Indirect injury includes sepsis, pancreatitis and trauma. ARDS is characterized by alveolar flooding with protein-rich oedema followed by a progressive fibrotic phase [49]. Death among the patients with ARDS is mainly due to respiratory failure and/or multiorgan failure. Pathogenesis of ARDS involves an early injury to alveolar epithelium and capillary endothelium, which results in leakage and flooding of alveolar and interstitial spaces with protein-rich oedema. This is also accompanied by a massive influx of neutrophils into alveolar and interstitial spaces. Neutrophils secrete proteolytic enzymes (elastase and metalloprotease), ROS, proinflammatory mediators and further lung injury [50]. The early inflammatory exudative phase is followed by a fibroproliferative phase in which fibroblast and myofibroblast infiltrate and proliferate within the alveolar and interstitial spaces leading to lung fibrosis [51]. Oxidative stress is shown to mediate epithelial-endothelial barrier dysfunction and perpetuate inflammation in ARDS patients [52, 53].

5.3.4 Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis (IPF)

IPF is a progressive interstitial pulmonary fibrosis disorder with no known causal etiological factor. The lungs of patients with IPF show excessive deposition of matrix proteins such as fibronectin and collagen in the alveoli and lung parenchyma, which destroys the gas exchange surface leading to respiratory failure [54]. It is more prevalent in the USA and Europe than South America and South Asia. IPF disproportionately affects individuals above age 65 years, and often it is referred to as age-related disorder. Pathogenesis of IPF involves chronic insult to alveolar epithelial cells (AEC), senescence of AEC and fibroblast, increased differentiation of fibroblast to myofibroblast [54] and increased accumulation of myofibroblast, which is mediated by oxidative injury, mitochondrial dysfunction, proteotoxicity and endoplasmic reticulum stress [14, 55]. Emerging evidences implicate ROS by Nox4 as a key player in the pathogenesis of IPF [55].

5.4 Oxidative Stress-Driven Mechanisms in Lung Diseases

5.4.1 Oxidative Stress and Lipid Peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation (LPO) in biological systems refers to the oxidation of cellular membrane lipids; and uncontrolled LPO is the most significant early biological process induced by oxidative stress state. Excess LPO results in defective or dead cell, inactivation of critical proteins and activation of proinflammatory responses. Together, these events not only initiate but also ensue disease progression. Numerous studies have overwhelmingly showed that LPO is a universal pathogenic event in all the respiratory diseases including COPD, IPF, ARDS and asthma [56].

Membrane lipids mainly glycerophospholipids (PL) esterified with polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) and to a lesser extent free PUFA are the targets for oxidation. Free PUFAs released by action of phospholipases inside the cells are substrates for enzymes such as cyclooxygenase, lipoxygenase and cytochrome P450s, and hence, free PUFA undergoes enzyme-dependent peroxidation. PL-PUFAs are predominantly oxidized by non-enzymatic process and highly depend on the radical species. Both radical species ('OH and O_2^{-1}) and non-radical species (H₂O₂, HOCl, ozone and singlet oxygen) may oxidize PL-PUFA in selective or non-selective manner. The chemical reactions mediating the oxidation of PL-PUFA or free PUFA are similar; however, the products generated may vary. LPO process involves three phases - initiation, propagation and termination. During the initiation phase, nonradical lipid molecule becomes a lipid radical. The radical species abstract hydrogen from bisallylic methylene and produce a carbon-centred radical (L[•]) within PUFA, which subsequently reacts with molecular oxygen and forms lipid peroxyl (LOO') radical. During the propagation phase, the LOO' radical abstracts hydrogen from bisallylic methylene of another PUFA molecule and transforms itself into a lipid hydroperoxide and, concomitantly, generates a new L'radical, and in this manner, the peroxidation chain reaction sustains. During termination process,

antioxidant molecule, such as vitamin E, donates hydrogen, reduces lipid radicals without transforming itself into radical and thus terminates the LPO chain reaction. Lipid hydroperoxides may further participate in additional oxidative reactions such as Fenton reaction catalysed by Fe or Cu, intra- and intermolecular oxidative modification and oxidative fragmentation. Finally, LPO produces diverse reactive aldehyde byproducts including widely studied malondialdehyde (MDA) and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (4HNE). The oxidation of PL-PUFA also yields diverse species of oxidized phospholipids (Ox-PLs) (aldehyde, alkene, peroxyl and alkane derivatives), which exhibit varying carbon chain length, hydrophobicity, reactivity, physical stability and biological activity [57]. The oxidized PUFA chain of glycerophospholipid may be released by the action of enzymes such as phospholipase A2 and PAF-acetyl hydrolases [57]. Since the cell membranes are composed of 40–50% of phosphocholine (PC) phospholipids, PC-derived Ox-PLs species are the most abundant Ox-PLs detected in injured lungs.

LPO products such as MDA, 4HNE and Ox-PLs produced in the lungs are not bystanders; rather they actively take part in the pathogenesis of lung disease by inducing cell death, epithelial-endothelial barrier dysfunction, inflammation and immune responses [58]. Ox-PLs and 4HNE are shown to mediate cytotoxicity through disruption of membrane integrity and activating cell death signalling programs such as apoptosis [59, 60] and ferroptosis [61, 62]. Ox-PLs generated following particulate matter exposure caused disruption of the endothelial barrier [62]. Ox-PLs are demonstrated to be dominant mediators of acute lung injury following gastric aspiration and viral infection [63].

A large body of evidence has reported elevated levels of MDA, 4HNE or Ox-PLs or their corresponding protein adducts in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid, lung tissue and/or serum of patients with various lung diseases such as asthma, COPD, ARDS and IPF [43, 64–66]. Immunohistochemical analysis revealed greater accumulation of 4HNE in the airways, alveolar epithelium and inflammatory cells of the lungs of COPD patient when compared to smoker non-COPD patient with similar smoking history [67]. The bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from COPD patients shows higher levels of Ox-PLs when compared to healthy subjects [43, 64, 65]. The lung parenchyma of IPF patients showed greater accumulation of LPO products [54, 55, 68]. In most respiratory diseases, the levels of LPO byproducts increased with the severity of the pulmonary diseases, which suggest that the LPO is the central pathological event.

5.4.2 Oxidative Stress in Activating Inflammatory Response

It is proven beyond doubt that oxidative stress is involved in the initiation, promotion and augmentation of inflammation by affecting multiple redox-sensitive signal transduction pathways, including Toll-like receptor (TLR) signalling, MAPK kinase signalling and inflammasome which ultimately leads to activation of proinflammatory transcription factors particularly nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) and AP-1 [32, 69].

TLR signalling is central in activating pulmonary inflammatory responses following infectious stress and oxidative stress [70]. During infection, TLRs recognize highly conserved microbial motifs referred to as pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP) and activate downstream inflammatory signals [71]. In mammals, there are 13 TLRs, which are present either on the plasma membrane (TLR1, TLR2, TLR4, TLR5, TLR6 and TLR10) or in endosome compartment (TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, TLR9) inside the cell. Upon activation by PAMPs, TLRs undergo hetero- or homodimer and trigger a downstream signal transduction by recruiting adaptor molecules, myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MYD88) or Toll-receptor-associated activator of interferon (TRIF). Except TLR3, a majority of TLRs recruit MYD88 that interacts with IRAK4 and phosphorylate IRAK1. Phosphorylated IRAK1 activates TNFR-associated factor 6 (TRAF6) through phosphorylation, which subsequently stimulates protein kinase C and transforming growth factor (TGF)-\beta-activated kinase 1 (TAK1). Activated TAK1 activates IKK complex and MAPK kinase family members (ERK1/2, p38 MAPK and c-Jun terminal kinase (JNK)) by phosphorylation mechanisms. TLR3 recruits adaptor molecule TRIF and activate TRAF3, which then activates TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1). Activated TBK1 initiates interferon regulatory factor 3 to transcribe IFN-beta cytokine which by autocrine or paracrine mechanism elicits interferon signalling pathway activation.

Transcription factor NF-κB is a central node in regulating inflammation leading to the pathogenesis of COPD, asthma, ARDS and IPF. NF-κB family is constituted of five members – NF-κB1 (P50) (its precursor p105), NF-κB2 (P52) (its precursor p100), p65/ReIA, ReIB and C-Rel – and exists as homo- or heterodimer. Only p65, Rel-B and C-Rel members have a transactivating domain. In an unstimulated cell, the NF-κB dimmer is sequestered in the cytoplasm by one of the three members of IκB protein complex consisting of IκBα, IκBβ and IκBε. Activation of NF-κB may occur through canonical or noncanonical pathways. In canonical pathway, signals elicited by TLR(s) ligands, TNFα or IL-1β converge at IκK complex constituted of IκKα, IκKβ and IκKγ (NEMO). Upon activation IκK complex phosphorylates IκB on serine 32 and serine 36, which results in its proteasomal degradation and subsequently allows NF-κB to translocate into the nucleus. NF-κB binds to κB element in the promoter/enhancer regions and activates transcriptional expression of cytokines, chemokines and adhesion molecules, which are involved in coordinating innate and adaptive immunity [70–72].

Oxidative stress regulates activation of TLR signalling by multiple mechanisms [70]. NADPH oxidase-dependent ROS production is shown to enhance surface trafficking of TLR4 to lipid rafts, thereby augmenting downstream signals leading to hyperactivation of NF- κ B [72–75]. Suppression of ROS generation by pharmacological NADPH oxidase inhibitor, genetic ablation of NADPH oxidase or exogenous antioxidants mitigated lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced TLR4 trafficking to lipid rafts and diminished downstream inflammatory responses [74, 75]. Genetic ablation of NADPH oxidase dampened lung inflammation and injury in mice exposed to gram-negative bacteria, LPS, TNF α or bleomycin, suggesting a crucial impact of NADPH oxidase-elicited ROS in producing inflammation and associated tissue injury [55, 74, 76–78]. On the other hand, ROS derived from NADPH oxidase

have also been involved in the resolution of lung inflammation [79]. Mitochondriaderived ROS also play a crucial role in enhancing TLR1, TLR2 and TLR4 signalling [80] and production of proinflammatory cytokines [81]. ROS is shown to augment TLR3 signalling partly by increasing the expression of TLR3 [82]. Oxidatively damaged biomolecules also act as danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and engage TLR4 to activate inflammatory responses. For instance, oxidized phospholipids generated in lungs following exposures to chemicals, bacteria or virus act as DAMPs and activate TLR4 directed inflammatory responses [83]. which is shown to play an essential role in the initiation of acute lung injury. In contrast, excess oxidized phospholipids may also dampen TLR4 signalling by directly interacting with LPS-binding protein, CD14 and/or MD-2 and inhibit inflammation and protect from sepsis [84]. Often oxidative or nitrosative modification of proteins gives rise to modified proteins, which act as DAMPs and perpetuate inflammation. For example, protein adducts of 4HNE or MDA are shown to elicit inflammatory and immune responses [85, 86] in the lungs. 4HNE has also been shown to activate NF-kB and p38 MAPK and promote inflammation [56]. S-nitrosylation of surfactant-D protein switches pulmonary surfactant protein-D from antioxidant to a proinflammatory mediator [87].

ROS may regulate NF-KB activation by modulating upstream signal kinases (IKK complex) through oxidative modification of signal transducers and/or its binding partners [88]. In early phases of oxidative stress, ROS may enhance NF-KB activation following exogenous stimuli; however sustained oxidative stress may repress NF- κ B activation [88]. I κ K complex, mainly I κ K β , is highly susceptible for redox modification. Exposures to H₂O₂ induced oxidative inactivation of IκKβ, which prevented phosphorylation of IκB protein and thus blocked TNFα-induced NF-κB activation [89]. In another study, H₂O₂ posttreatment augmented IKK kinase activity in response to TNF α and leads to higher NF- κ B activation [90]. H₂O₂ treatment was also shown to enhance NF-kB activation in response to IL-1 cytokine by increasing NF-kappa B-inducing kinase activity [91]. ΙκΚβ is also susceptible for S-nitrosylation, which inactivates IkKß resulting in inhibition of NF-kB activation [92]. ROS and RNS are shown to directly modify NF- κ B or its associated proteins and alter its transcriptional activity. ROS-dependent phosphorylation of serine-276 on REL-A enhanced transcriptional activity of NF-kB [93]. S-nitrosylation of p65 subunit inhibited NF-KB activity. Kelleher et al. [94] demonstrated that p65 subunit is S-nitrosylated in unstimulated lung cells and LPS challenge stimulates denitrosylation of p65 resulting in activation of NF-κB. Excess ROS may also inactivate proteasome, which impedes IkB degradation and thus inhibits NF-KB activation [95]. Certain cellular redox proteins play an important role in modulating upstream pathways leading to NF-KB activation. In the nucleus, thioredoxin binds and protects oxidation of p65 subunit and enhances its DNA-binding activity. It is also shown that thioredoxin mediates denitrosylation of p65 following LPS exposure and facilitates NF-kB activation [94] in the lungs of mice. Pretreatment with antioxidants such as N-acetylcysteine [96], GSH [97, 98] or increased expression of antioxidant [72, 97, 98] attenuated lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-promoted NF- κ B activation emphasizing the role of oxidative stress in regulating NF- κ B activity.

Inflammasome is an intracellular multiprotein complex assembled in the cytoplasm, which recognizes microbial or environmental toxins and DAMPs (e.g. ATP) and activates inflammatory responses. Several airborne environmental pollutants such as silica, ozone, particulate matter and tobacco smoke are shown to activate inflammasome, and therefore, inflammasome signalling is implicated in the pathogenesis of several lung disorders such as acute lung injury, pulmonary fibrosis, COPD and asthma [99, 100]. Activation of inflammasome produces active caspase-1 via autoproteolytic cleavage, which then mediates proteolytic cleavage of precursor pro-IL1ß and pro-IL18 into biologically active cytokines. Among the inflammasome members, NLRP3 is redox sensitive, and therefore, intracellular ROS generated by NADPH oxidase or mitochondria have been shown to alter the activation of NLRP3 inflammasome [101]. Ablation of NADPH oxidase or depletion of mitochondrial ROS inhibited ATP-induced caspase-1 activation and IL-1β secretion in macrophages [102, 103]. ROS may also alter NLRP3 inflammasome activation by oxidizing redox-sensitive binding partners such as thioredoxin interaction protein (TXNIP) and mitochondrial antiviral sensing (MAVS) protein to NLRP3. TXNIP is a negative regulator of thioredoxin. It is shown that ROS generated in response to a wide range of environmental stimuli oxidizes thioredoxin that liberates TXNIP. The liberated TXNIP interacts with NLRP3 and promotes NLRP3 activation [104]. MAVS regulates type 1 interferon and NF-kB signalling following virus infection. It has been shown that ROS may induce MAVS aggregation [105] on the outer membrane of mitochondria, which enables interaction with NLRP3 and promotes activation.

MAPK kinases, namely, ERK1/2, JNK and p38 MAPK, represent key effectors of signal transduction to activate inflammatory responses in the lungs following exposure to environmental toxicants [106]. In macrophages and bronchial epithelial cells, LPS stimulation induces phosphorylation of p38 MAPK and mediates the generation of numerous proinflammatory cytokines such as TNFa, IL-6, IL-1β [107] and also T cell (Th1 and Th17)-polarizing cytokines such as IFNy, IL-12 and IL-23 [108]. In cigarette smoke-exposed mouse models, specific activation of p38 MAPK is shown to be a determinant of susceptibility to emphysema [106]. Several investigations suggest that ROS plays a pivotal function in activating and/or perpetuating MAPK kinase signalling. Exposure of cells to H₂O₂ induces phosphorylation of p38, ERK and JNK [109]. Although precisely how ROS activates MAPK kinase is less understood, it is postulated that ROS mediates oxidative inactivation of protein tyrosine phosphatases and MAPK phosphatases, which inactivate MAPK kinase by dephosphorylating [109, 110]. Because MAPK kinase plays a pivotal role in regulating inflammation, kinase inhibitors, particularly p38 MAPK inhibitors, are shown to be promising drug for treatment of airway disorders such as COPD and asthma [111].

5.4.3 Oxidative Stress in Programmed Cell Death

Apoptosis (a programmed cell death) is involved in removing damaged, infected and potentially neoplastic cells, and increased apoptotic cell death is involved in the pathogenesis of several lung disorders. Apoptosis can be activated by several factors including receptor-mediated signals and DNA damage; however, in most cases, ROS functions as an upstream activator of apoptosis. Apoptosis is mediated by extrinsic and intrinsic pathways [40, 112, 113]. The extrinsic pathway is mediated through interaction of death ligands of the tumour necrosis factor (TNF) family (FasL/FasR and TNFüFC;/TNFR1) with their appropriate cell surface death receptors, while non-receptor-mediated stimuli are involved in intrinsic signalling pathways that initiate apoptosis. Oxidative stress may induce these processes by activating several signalling pathways, including MAPK (ERK, JNK and p38), cellcycle regulators, protein kinase B and caspases [114]. For instance, 4HNE is reported to enhance the mRNA and protein expression of pro-apoptotic regulators/ adaptors such as BAX and caspases [59, 115]. Further, 4HNE can directly interact with death ligand (Fas) on the cell membrane and activate apoptotic process [114]. Finally, 4HNE alters cytosolic calcium homoeostasis and mitochondrial calcium uptake, resulting in apoptosis [116]. Similarly, cigarette smoke exposure is shown to activate apoptosis via ROS by activating MAPK/STAT1 pathway [117]. Several studies have reported oxidative stress-dependent apoptosis in pulmonary fibrosis, obstructive airway diseases and ARDS [12, 40, 41, 44, 113, 118].

5.4.4 Oxidative Stress in Mitochondrial Dysfunction

Besides the 'powerhouse' (ATP production by oxidative phosphorylation) of the cell, mitochondria physically interact and communicate with other organelles to maintain the metabolic homeostasis and many synthetic processes for normal function and survival of cell [13]. Mitochondria may also sense external stressors and alter its function to mount a protective adaptive stress response program [119]. However, prolonged exposures to environmental toxicants induce mitochondrial dysfunction mainly via oxidative stress mechanisms [120]. Mitochondrial dysfunction may present in the form of increased mitochondrial ROS, diminished oxidative phosphorylation, increased mitochondrial mass, secretion of mitochondrial DAMPs, mitochondrial DNA damage, decreased mitochondrial biogenesis and increased accumulation of defective mitochondria [13, 119, 121]. Several studies suggest that mitochondrial dysfunction is a predominant pathological feature in all lung diseases [13, 120, 121].

In lungs, owing to their dynamic function, alveolar type II epithelial cells, bronchial ciliated epithelial cells, vascular smooth muscle cells and macrophages are richer in mitochondria than other lung cell types. In normal conditions, lung cells preferentially use glucose end product, pyruvate, for oxidative phosphorylation. However, during stressful physiological or pathological conditions (such as increased surfactant production), alveolar type II epithelial cells rely on fatty acids

for energy demand. Under chronic stress conditions, mitochondrial bioenergetic metabolic function may get altered in lung cells. For example, cigarette smoke exposure is shown to damage mitochondrial structure and affect oxidative phosphorylation in lung cells [122]. Likewise, primary bronchial epithelial cells from severe COPD patients showed accumulation of abnormal mitochondria [122]. Airway smooth muscles and diaphragmatic and external intercoastal muscle of patients with COPD are associated with altered mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation [123]. Bronchial epithelium in asthmatics is associated with reduced mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation and decreased expression and activity of cytochrome c oxidase [120, 124, 125]. To meet the energy demand and mount stress response, chronic stress may also induce mitochondrial biogenesis in lung cells. Alveolar type II epithelial cells showed increased mitochondrial biogenesis during acute lung injury, pneumonia and hyperoxia-induced lung injury [126]. Bronchial smooth muscles of asthmatic airways are associated with increased mitochondrial biogenesis, and this was linked to higher expression of nuclear respiratory factor 1, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ coactivator (PGC)-1 α and mitochondrial transcription factor A [127]. Abnormal or defective mitochondria in the cells are constantly removed by a process called mitophagy, which is regulated by PTENinduced kinase 1 (PINK1). Expression of PINK1 is negligible in healthy mitochondria; however its levels increase on the outer mitochondrial membrane of defective mitochondria, which recruits parkin and autophagy proteins and facilitates mitophagy. Impaired mitophagy leads to accumulation of damaged mitochondria in the cells, which promotes cellular senescence [128, 129]. Increased cellular senescence has been observed in the lungs of COPD and IPF patients [128-130]. Exposures to cigarette smoke in lung cells are shown to inhibit mitophagy, increase accumulation of damaged mitochondria [128, 129, 131] and induce cellular senescence. Alveolar type II cells of IPF patients are associated with abnormal mitochondria due to diminished PINK1 expression [132]. In mouse models, PINK1 knockdown impaired mitophagy and increased accumulation of defective mitochondria and promoted fibrosis in aging lungs [132]. On contrary, increased mitophagy may also contribute to pathogenesis of lung diseases. For example, Staphylococcus aureus infection increased mitochondrial expression of PINK1 and mediated acute lung injury, which was ablated in PINK1 knockout mice [133]. Mitochondrial dysfunction may also lead to leakage of cytochrome c, which triggers programmed cell death [116, 134]. Mitochondria have been shown to regulate various forms of cell death such as extrinsic apoptosis, intrinsic apoptosis, necroptosis and pyroptosis [134], and all these forms of cell death have been reported in various lung diseases including COPD, asthma and IPF.

At physiological concentrations, many mitochondrial-derived molecules including ROS help in normal cellular signalling. However, when secreted in excess, mitochondrial-derived molecules act as mitochondrial DAMPs (mtDAMPs) and contribute to lung injury. Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), a well-studied mtDAMP, is released by damaged mitochondria, which is shown to engage TLR9 and inflammasome to initiate inflammatory responses in lung cells [135, 136]. Circulatory levels of mtDNA correlate well with severity and mortality in sepsis and ARDS patients [137]. Excess ATP released in the lungs by dead or damaged cells also acts as mtDAMPs and activates inflammatory response via NLRP3 inflammasome [119, 138]. Elevated levels of ATP are reported in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of patients with COPD [139] and asthma as well as in mouse models of asthma [140] and pulmonary fibrosis [141]. Other mtDAMPs such as TFAM and N-formyl peptide are also implicated in driving inflammatory responses in lungs [119]. Cardiolipin, a predominant lipid located in mitochondrial inner membrane, is released by damaged mitochondria and acts as mtDAMP. Levels of cardiolipin increase during lung injury and are shown to mediate cell death and activate inflammasome signals [133, 142]. Additionally, cardiolipin in lung fluid was shown to inhibit surfactant activity and worsen lung function in mouse models of pneumonia [143]. Finally, mitochondrial-derived ROS plays diverse roles in the pathogenesis of lung diseases including perpetuating oxidative stress, augmenting TLR-NF-κB signalling and cell death [13, 81, 119, 125, 134, 135, 144].

5.4.5 Oxidative Stress in Promoting Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is involved in protein biosynthesis and posttranslational modifications and perturbation of ER homeostasis results in ER stress which affects both these process. To overcome the ER stress, cells initiate an evolutionarily conserved mechanism called unfolded protein response (UPR). Activation of UPR leads to decrease in protein synthesis by selectively inhibiting translation, increases protein folding machinery and removes misfolded proteins through endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation (ERAD) pathway [145]. If UPR fails to alleviate ER stress, it activates apoptotic signalling mechanism [146] and, thus, helps in removal of damaged or stressed cells. Chronic ER stress is pathological and is associated in the pathogenesis of many lung disorders. Markers of ER stress are elevated in neutrophil-associated steroid-resistant asthma [147]. In COPD model, cigarette smoke exposure elicited ER stress and apoptosis [148, 149]. ER stress was found to be elevated in lungs of human IPF and murine models of pulmonary fibrosis [146]. ER stress is also reported to be involved in the hyperoxia-induced acute lung injury in neonates [150]. Sustained oxidative stress milieu may promote ER stress by increasing cellular stress and decreasing the efficiency of protein folding pathways [151]. A relationship has been established between ROS generation and activation of ER stress response [152]. NADPH oxidase(s) and mitochondria are reported as a probable ROS source during ER stress.

5.4.6 Oxidative Stress in Epigenetic Alterations

Chronic oxidative stress state may disturb the epigenetic state of the cell by multiple mechanisms. For example, superoxide radicals can directly mediate transfer of a methyl group from SAM to a cytosine residue without the need of DNMT by

deprotonating C5 [153]. ROS may increase DNMT expression and indirectly affect DNA methylation [154]. ROS may also directly or indirectly modify acetylation of histones by modifying activity or the expression of histone methyltransferases (HMTs) and/or histone acetyltransferases (HATs) [155]. On the other side, ROS and RNS are reported to modulate the activity of HDACs (histone deacetylase) that may influence the expression of target genes by removing acetyl groups [156-159] on histones. Recently, various ncRNAs, in particular microRNAs (miRNAs), are regulated by ROS. Interestingly, some miRNAs such as miR-9, miR-21, miR-200 and miR-210 are shown to control cellular ROS levels and are termed as redoximiRs [160]. ROS are also shown to interfere with miRNA biogenesis process as well as miRNA maturation by modulating Dicer and argonaute RISC catalytic component [161]. In the context of the lung, several lines of evidence support that ROSdependent changes in the epigenetic background play an important role in the pathogenesis of respiratory diseases. For instance, cigarette smoke exposures inhibit HDAC2 enzyme activity through oxidative and nitrosative modification, which leads to enhanced inflammatory responses, senescence and steroid resistance in COPD [158, 159]. Another study shows that Sirtuin 1 promotes lung epithelial cell death following hyperoxia by selectively deacetylating the transcription factor nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (NRF2), accompanied by reduced levels of antioxidant enzymes [162]. In case of asthma, one study reported that exposure to environmental particulate matter could lead to demethylation of iNOS gene; subsequently this may lead to increased expression of proinflammatory iNOS, leading to lung inflammation [163]. The involvement of many factors including ROS in epigenetics of IPF has been reviewed [164].

5.4.7 Oxidative Stress in Profibrotic Mechanisms

Fibrotic lungs are associated with increased oxidative stress, as indicated by the elevated levels of biomarkers of lipid, protein and DNA damage, and several reports have implicated ROS in profibrotic processes. Activation and proliferation of fibroblasts/myofibroblasts are thought to be responsible for the excessive synthesis and accumulation of extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins, resulting in fibrosis. During the inflammatory phase of fibrosis, ROS along with growth factors (TGF-β, PDGF and CTGF) and cytokines (IL-6 and IL-13) stimulate fibroblast to produce ECM. Among these, TGF- β is the most dynamic pro-fibrogenic cytokine, which regulates important biological processes such as EMT, fibroblast activation and differentiation and ECM production [165]. ROS may influence the transformation of latent TGF-B complex into its active form, which then binds to its receptors and activates signalling pathways such as SMAD-dependent or SMAD-independent (e.g. MAPK and PI3K) pathways and enhances the transcriptional activity of various profibrotic genes such as α -SMA and COL1 [166]. On the other hand, elevated TGF-β itself reciprocally induces the production of NOX4-dependent ROS [167]. NOX4 is selectively upregulated in the lungs of IPF patients and is associated with the endothelial cell dysfunction and hypoxia [14, 55]. Elevated NOX4-generated

ROS triggers DNA oxidation and activates other ROS-dependent signalling pathways such as JNK and NF-KB [168]. Silencing of NOX4 by siRNA inhibited TGFβ-mediated profibrotic responses in the lungs of mice [55]. Further, NOX4 knockout mice and use of NOX4 inhibitor in mice protected against bleomycin-induced acute lung injury and the onset of fibrosis [76, 169]. In fibroblasts, mitochondrial ROS has been shown to induce the expression of profibrotic genes during fibroblast differentiation [144]. ROS may also modulate integrins, transmembrane receptors that activate FAK, which in turn activate rac1 protein and initiate production of collagen and other profibrotic actors (CTGF and α -SMA) [170]. ROS and RNS may modulate activity of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) through the inhibition of cysteine switch and thus influence ECM degradation. ROS are also shown to induce epithelial cell senescence that may result in a diminished capacity for regeneration of epithelium [171]. In IPF, epithelial damage and epithelial cell senescence in the lung are interconnected with increased mitochondrial ROS production. Similarly, in IPF fibroblasts, ROS generation is reported to require for the maintenance and differentiation [172]. Furthermore, oxidative stress may cause ER stress, which facilitates fibrogenesis through activation of EMT, pro-apoptotic pathways and inflammatory responses [146]. In summary, oxidative stress can alter different cellular processes that amplify fibrotic responses.

5.4.8 Oxidative Stress in Airway Mucus Hypersecretion

A thin layer of gelatinous mucus covers the apical epithelial surfaces of mammalian respiratory tract, which forms a protective barrier against airborne microbes and toxins, but conversely, excessive mucus production becomes pathologic in mucoobstructive airway diseases [173]. Mucus is secreted by goblet cells in the airway epithelium and is mainly composed of mucin, which is a large filamentous glycoprotein [174]. Mucus is also rich in antioxidant scavengers such as glutathione, uric acid and ascorbic acid. Chronic airway inflammatory diseases such as chronic bronchitis and asthma are characterized by mucus hypersecretion [175], and ROS (hydroxyl radicals, superoxide anions and hydrogen peroxides) are key regulators of mucus production in goblet cells via transcriptional regulation of mucin genes [176]. Of 12 mucin genes, MUC5AC is a major inducible mucin gene in airways and reported to be highly expressed in muco-obstructive airway disorders [177, 178]. Increased intracellular ROS and exposure to hydrogen peroxide stimulate EGFR tyrosine phosphorylation and subsequent activation of ERK1/2, resulting in increased expression of MUC5AC in lung epithelial cells [176, 179]. Similarly in nasal epithelium, exogenous hydrogen peroxides exposure induces MUC5AC expression through activation of EGFR-ERK1/2 signalling [178]. Yu et al. [180] reported that ROS depolymerizes hyaluronan into fragments and these hyaluronan fragments interact with CD44 receptor to activate tissue kallikrein, which cleaves precursors of EGF into mature EGF. Subsequently, mature EGF binds and activates EGFR leading to activation of ERK1/2. In addition, ROS is reported to contribute to goblet cell metaplasia, a major player in mucin overproduction through JAK/STAT

pathway [181]. Likewise, activation of other pathways, such as NF- κ B, is also linked to ROS-mediated MUC5AC production in airways. However, the majority of the studies suggest that EGFR is involved in ROS-mediated mucus hypersecretion [173, 177, 178].

5.5 Antioxidant Responses in Lungs

The lungs are exceptionally exposed to greater oxidative environment than other organs. The inhaled toxicants are by themselves oxidants or may induce oxidative stress inside lung cells. To protect from the inhaled environmental oxidants, lungs are endowed with efficient antioxidant defences that includes both non-enzymatic and enzymatic antioxidant defences.

5.5.1 Antioxidant System in Respiratory Tract Lining Fluid

The airways are covered with respiratory tract epithelial lining fluid (RTLF) which forms a physical barrier between the external environment and underlying respiratory tract epithelial cell layer. The respiratory tract lining fluid traps most of the inhaled toxicants, and by the help of mucociliary action, these trapped toxicants are cleared from the lungs. The respiratory tract lining fluid is rich in many non-enzymatic low-molecular-weight antioxidant scavengers, which directly interact and detoxify the inhaled oxidants and thereby prevent the direct contact of inhaled toxicants with the underlying epithelium. The major antioxidant molecules in the RTLF are GSH, ascorbic acid, uric acid and vitamin E (Fig. 5.1). Additionally, airway epithelial cells secrete certain antioxidant proteins into RTLF, which also function as antioxidant scavengers.

5.5.1.1 Glutathione (GSH)

Glutathione, a thiol-tripeptide comprised of glutamate, cysteine and glycine, is the most important antioxidant in RTLF, and its levels in RTLF are close to 100 times more than in the plasma [182]. GSH scavenges a number of ROS products including hydroxyl, H₂O₂, hypochlorous acid and lipid peroxyl radical generated during exposures to inhaled oxidants such as cigarette smoke, ozone and allergens, and therefore, reduced bronchoalveolar lavage GSH levels has been a hallmark feature of many pulmonary diseases including COPD, asthma, ARDS and IPF [183]. Besides scavenging ROS, GSH is a co-substrate for the enzyme glutathione peroxidase and glutathione S-transferase which mediate detoxification of lipid hydroperoxides and xenobiotics, respectively. GSH in RTLF also protects secretory antiproteases such as alpha-1-antitrypsin, alpha-2-macroglobulin and secretory leukoprotease inhibitor from oxidative inactivation [184]. Therefore, a lower level of tissue GSH intensifies oxidant-induced lung inflammatory injury. GSH also maintains thiol status of extra-and intracellular proteins and facilitates post-translational modification of proteins such as S-glutathionylation. Protein S-glutathionylation may alter the function of

many intracellular proteins. For example, S-glutathionylation inhibits DNA-binding activity of p65 or p50 subunits [185], and S-glutathionylation inactivates $I\kappa K\beta$ [186] resulting in diminished NF- κB activity.

5.5.1.2 Ascorbic Acid

Ascorbic acid is another major antioxidant in RTLF. It directly reduces the oxidative potential of oxidants present in tobacco smoke [187] or particulate matter [188] as well as inhibits ROS generation by NADPH oxidase activity [189]. Besides reducing the inhaled oxidants, ascorbic acid also reduces oxidized antioxidants in RTLF such as vitamin E, thereby maintaining the total antioxidant capacity of the lungs during oxidative insult. Ascorbic acid is rapidly used in RTLF fluid upon exposures to environmental oxidants including ozone, nitrogen dioxide, particulate matter and tobacco smoke [190–192] as indicated by the depletion of ascorbic acid levels. Supplementation of ascorbic acid protected from cigarette smoke-induced emphysema by inhibiting protein oxidation in mouse models [192] highlighting the antioxidant potential of ascorbic acid in the lungs. Asthmatics are associated with lower levels of ascorbic acid [193, 194], and the beneficial effect of supplementation of ascorbic acid in asthmatics has been mixed and inconclusive [195]. Ascorbic acid has been shown to attenuate acute lung injury caused by inhalation of oxidant chlorine gas [196]. Ascorbic acid may also take part in pro-oxidant activity in the presence of free iron by taking part in Fenton reaction.

5.5.1.3 Uric Acid

Uric acid formed due to purine metabolism is one of the major water-soluble scavengers of singlet oxygen, ozone and peroxylnitrite (ONOO) in RTLF [190]. Uric acid has been shown to be a major antioxidant in nasal secretion [197] and RTLF and helps in the removal of inhaled ozone and neutralizes the oxidative potential of inhaled particulate matter in humans [198]. Uric acid also reacts and neutralizes gaseous free radical nitrogen dioxide [190, 199]. The antioxidant scavenging activity of uric acid greatly depends on ascorbic acid and hydrophilic environment. Uric acid reacts with radical species and forms urate free radical which is then quenched by ascorbic acid. In lipophilic environment, uric acid fails to stop the self-propagating lipid peroxidation reaction. Subnormal levels of serum uric acid were associated with greater risk for COPD and greater morbidity, including reduced 6-minute walk test and greater burden of exacerbations [200, 201].

5.5.1.4 Vitamin E

Vitamin E (tocopherol) is a lipophilic antioxidant scavenger in RTLF which neutralizes ROS and attenuates self-propagating lipid peroxidation reactions in the airways. Patients with asthma and COPD are associated with lower serum levels of vitamin E [193] as compared to healthy subjects, and this formed the basis for vitamin E supplementation trials to prevent respiratory diseases. Vitamin E trials reduced levels of markers of oxidative damage in smokers [202]. Dietary intake of vitamin E improved lung function in healthy aging population [203]. Vitamin E supplements reduced endotoxin-induced sputum eosinophilia in asthma patients [204]. In experimental mouse models, administration of vitamin E isoform γ -tocotrienol protected from cigarette smoke-induced emphysema [205] and dust mite-induced asthma. However, supplementation of vitamin E showed no benefits in the management or treatment of asthmatics [206].

5.5.2 Lung-Specific Secretory Proteins in RTLF as Antioxidants

Pulmonary surfactant which lines the alveoli surface is composed of a mixture of 90% phospholipids and 10% surfactant proteins. The surfactant proteins included high-molecular-weight hydrophilic surfactant proteins A and D and low-molecular-weight hydrophobic surfactant proteins B and C. Unsaturated phospholipids and surfactant protein are prone for oxidative inactivation following exposures to environmental oxidants such as ozone. Both surfactant proteins A and D exhibited direct antioxidant activity and protected phospholipids and LDL from copper or ferric chloride-induced oxidation [207]. Surfactant proteins A and D also protected macrophages from hydroperoxide-induced cell death [207]. Clara cell-16 (CC16) protein secreted by clara cells also exhibits antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity [208]. Mice with genetic disruption of CC16 showed elevated oxidative damage and structural injury following exposure to cigarette smoke [209]. Low circulating levels of CC16 are shown to be associated with poor lung function growth in children [210] and smoking-dependent lung function decline in adults [211] as well as patients with COPD and asthma [208].

5.5.3 Enzymatic Antioxidant System in Lungs

Lungs are endowed with robust antioxidant protein defences to minimize oxidative stress caused by airborne environmental toxicants. Major pulmonary antioxidant enzymes include superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione peroxidase, glutathione reductase, hemeoxygenase-1, peroxiredoxin-1, thioredoxin and thioredoxin reductase [40, 41, 212, 213]. Exposures to environmental oxidants such as cigarette smoke lead to the coordinated activation of all these antioxidant proteins [39–41] (as illustrated in Fig. 5.1) and help in efficient detoxification of ROS and lipid peroxides generated in the lungs. The importance of individual antioxidant enzyme has been exemplified using knockout and transgenic mouse models.

All the three isoforms of superoxide dismutase, extracellular-SOD (EC-SOD), copper/zinc-SOD (Cu/Zn-SOD) and manganese-SOD (Mn-SOD), are present in lungs and provide first line of defence against superoxide radicals. The importance of each of the SOD isoforms in protecting lungs from oxidants has been well studied. EC-SOD prevented fibrosis in lungs by inhibiting oxidative degradation of the matrix proteins, type I and type IV collagen [214]. Cigarette smoke exposure and elastase instillation caused greater emphysema in EC-SOD-deficient mice; however transgenic EC-SOD mice were protected from emphysema [215]. Similarly, over-expression of human Cu/Zn-SOD in lungs protected from cigarette smoke-induced



Fig. 5.1 Antioxidant defenses in lungs

emphysema in mouse model [216]. Overexpression of Mn-SOD has also been reported in alveolar macrophages during sarcoidosis and in the lung tissue of IPF patients [213]. SOD is highly sensitive for oxidative inactivation, and therefore, SOD levels are depleted in disease lungs. In IPF, there was no expression of EC-SOD in fibrotic areas where there is an enhancement of oxidative burst [214]. Enzyme activity of SOD was significantly low in asthmatics as compared to healthy subjects, which is further depleted during asthma attack [217, 218]. Oxidative and nitrosative modification of Mn-SOD was observed in the airways of asthmatic, which correlated with asthma severity [217]. Therefore, increasing SOD levels in the lungs by pharmacological approaches including SOD mimetics are thought to be a promising approach for mitigating pathogenesis of pulmonary disorders.

Glutathione peroxidase (GPx) detoxifies hydrogen peroxide and reactive lipid hydroperoxides using GSH as an electron donor. In mammalian lungs, four major selenium-containing GPx isoforms are expressed – *GPX1* (classical GPx), *GPX2* (gastrointestinal GPx), *GPX3* (extracellular GPx) and *GPX4* (phospholipid GPx). Bronchial epithelial cells and alveolar macrophages produce Gpx3 in epithelial lining fluid, which detoxify lipid hydroperoxides generated in RTLF. GPx2 is a predominant glutathione peroxidase expressed in the lungs following cigarette smoke exposure and silencing GPx2 by RNA interference enhanced cytotoxicity in bronchial epithelial cells following treatment with cigarette smoke extract [42]. In comparison with wild type, GPx2-deficient mice showed greater levels of oxidative

damage, airway inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness in ovalbumininduced asthma mouse model [219]. Basal levels of GPx in lungs were shown to be a key determinant of severity of pulmonary fibrosis in mouse models [220]. Peroxiredoxins are the family of peroxidase enzymes, which play a dominant role in detoxification of hydrogen peroxide within the cells. Human lung expresses all the six members of a peroxiredoxin family [221]. Thioredoxin reductase is a selenium-containing flavoprotein oxidoreductase enzyme expressed in mammalian lungs, which primarily catalyses NADPH-dependent reduction of thioredoxin, an important redox protein involved in transcriptional regulation of NF-KB [94]. Heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) is a highly inducible protein in the lungs which exhibits antiapoptotic, anti-inflammatory and antioxidant activities. HO-1 catalyses heme to carbon monoxide and biliverdin and the latter is converted to bilirubin. Although the mechanism by which HO-1 mediates antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity is less understood, the end byproducts of HO-1 enzyme activity, CO, bilirubin and Fe are shown to mediate the beneficial effects [222]. HO-1 knockout mice display greater inflammation, apoptosis and tissue injury following an ischemic reperfusion injury [223], while lung-specific expression mitigated LPS- and hyperoxia-induced lung inflammation [224, 225].

5.5.4 Regulation of Antioxidant Enzymes in Lungs

Many lines of evidence show that transcription factor Nrf2 is a central regulator of nearly all cellular antioxidant proteins in the lungs and other organs [226]. In a normal cell, Nrf2 is held in the cytoplasm by a cysteine-rich, redox sensor Keap1 protein, which functions as an adaptor molecule and bridges Nrf2 with Cul3-based E3 ubiquitin ligase [227, 228]. Under normal condition, Keap1-Cul3-based E3 ubiquitin ligase ubiquitinates Nrf2 and directs it to proteasomal degradation. However, upon exposure to ROS and electrophiles, Keap1 protein undergoes conformational change due to oxidative modification of its cysteine residues, which disrupts the interaction of Nrf2 with Cul3-dependent E3 ligase and prevents Nrf2 ubiquitination. Stabilized Nrf2 moves into the nucleus and mediates transcriptional activation of its target genes by binding to cis-element called 'antioxidant response element' in the promoter region. Genetic disruption of Nrf2 ablates transcriptional induction of antioxidant genes in the lungs and sensitizes the mice to several environmental lung diseases such as cigarette smoke-induced emphysema [41], allergen-induced asthma [229], LPS-induced acute lung injury [97] and bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis [230] and sepsis [72, 74, 231]. In contrast, activation of Nrf2 by pharmacological activators and genetic disruption of Keap1 protected mice from development of these pulmonary diseases [226]. Nrf2-regulated antioxidant has been shown to be downregulated in lungs of patients with COPD [232] and IPF [233], underscoring the importance of Nrf2 pathway in protecting the lungs from oxidative stress. Besides Nrf2, NF-KB and AP-1 also regulate transcriptional expression of certain antioxidant genes in the lungs [88, 234].

5.5.5 Antioxidant Therapy for Lung Diseases

Despite the compelling evidence from preclinical and clinical studies that pulmonary antioxidants play a pivotal role in protecting from environmental pulmonary diseases, clinical trials testing antioxidant therapy have shown modest to no significant beneficial effects. Clinical trials with N-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC) supplementation have shown mixed results. Meta-analysis of all clinical trials using oral NAC concluded that long-term intake of NAC may reduce the acute exacerbations of chronic bronchitis [235]. However, more recent randomized double-blinded multicentre clinical trial of oral NAC reported no beneficial effect in the prevention of lung function decline and COPD exacerbation [236]. Vitamin C and E clinical trials showed no improvement on lung function decline in COPD patients [237]. Supplementation of Nrf2 activator, sulforaphane, in the form of broccoli sprout homogenates reduced bronchoconstrictor hyperresponsiveness in asthmatics [238]. In a randomized clinical trial, supplementation of sulforaphane showed no significant upregulation of Nrf2-regulated antioxidants in lungs of COPD patients [239]. In another study, consumption of broccoli sprout showed no effect on eosinophilic inflammation as well as markers of oxidative stress in atopic asthmatic patients [240]. In smokers, consumption of broccoli sprout homogenates reduced influenza virus-induced inflammation [241]. Consumption of broccoli tea has been reported to promote rapid and sustain detoxification of air pollutants in a randomized clinical trial in China [242]. The reasons for lack of consistent benefits of antioxidant trials for pulmonary disease are still puzzling. Perhaps it could be combination of poor efficacy of a single antioxidant agent as well as limited bioavailability.

5.6 Conclusions

Oxidative stress is a central hallmark pathological feature of all the respiratory disease. Oxidative stress elicits both reversible and irreversible macromolecule damage (oxidative modification of lipids, proteins and DNA). As illustrated in Fig. 5.2, besides inducing macromolecular damage, oxidative stress propagates the disease by augmenting other pathological processes such as inflammatory responses, mitochondrial dysfunction, ER stress, profibrotic signalling, cell death and epigenetic changes. Experimental evidences suggest that antioxidant therapy may prevent or mitigate oxidative stress-mediated macromolecular damage and abnormal signal transductions and, thereby, protect from development and progression of disease. However so far, most antioxidant clinical trials have shown poor efficacy to mitigate disease progression, which may be attributed to insufficient bioavailability of antioxidant agent in the lungs and also inability to reverse pathogenic events such as epigenetic changes, macromolecule damage and mitochondrial dysfunction. Antioxidant alone may not be effective in treatment of diseases; however it could be a promising adjunctive therapy.



Fig. 5.2 Oxidative stress-mediated pathological events in driving lung diseases

Acknowledgements This work was supported by Ramalingaswami Re-Entry Fellowship grant from the Department of Biotechnology, Ministry of Science and Technology, India to R.K.T and S.R.

References

- Collaborators GCoD (2018) Global, regional, and national age-sex-specific mortality for 282 causes of death in 195 countries and territories, 1980-2017: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2017. Lancet 392(10159):1736–1788
- Collaborators GDaH (2018) Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for 359 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2017. Lancet 392(10159):1859–1922
- Ferkol T, Schraufnagel D (2014) The global burden of respiratory disease. Ann Am Thorac Soc 11(3):404–406
- 4. Dröge W (2002) Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function. Physiol Rev 82(1):47–95
- Halliwell B (1994) Free radicals, antioxidants, and human disease: curiosity, cause, or consequence? Lancet 344(8924):721–724
- 6. Cantu-Medellin N, Kelley EE (2013) Xanthine oxidoreductase-catalyzed reactive species generation: a process in critical need of reevaluation. Redox Biol 1:353–358

- Antosova M, Mokra D, Pepucha L, Plevkova J, Buday T, Sterusky M et al (2017) Physiology of nitric oxide in the respiratory system. Physiol Res 66(Suppl 2):S159–SS72
- Bernard K, Hecker L, Luckhardt TR, Cheng G, Thannickal VJ (2014) NADPH oxidases in lung health and disease. Antioxid Redox Signal 20(17):2838–2853
- Al Ghouleh I, Khoo NK, Knaus UG, Griendling KK, Touyz RM, Thannickal VJ et al (2011) Oxidases and peroxidases in cardiovascular and lung disease: new concepts in reactive oxygen species signaling. Free Radic Biol Med 51(7):1271–1288
- Bedard K, Krause KH (2007) The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev 87(1):245–313
- Winterbourn CC, Kettle AJ, Hampton MB (2016) Reactive oxygen species and neutrophil function. Annu Rev Biochem 85:765–792
- Beers MF, Morrisey EE (2011) The three R's of lung health and disease: repair, remodeling, and regeneration. J Clin Invest 121(6):2065–2073
- 13. Cloonan SM, Choi AM (2016) Mitochondria in lung disease. J Clin Invest 126(3):809-820
- 14. Thannickal VJ (2012) Mechanisms of pulmonary fibrosis: role of activated myofibroblasts and NADPH oxidase. Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair 5(Suppl 1):S23
- Kelley EE, Khoo NK, Hundley NJ, Malik UZ, Freeman BA, Tarpey MM (2010) Hydrogen peroxide is the major oxidant product of xanthine oxidase. Free Radic Biol Med 48(4):493–498
- Hesslinger C, Strub A, Boer R, Ulrich WR, Lehner MD, Braun C (2009) Inhibition of inducible nitric oxide synthase in respiratory diseases. Biochem Soc Trans 37(Pt 4):886–891
- 17. Sugiura H, Ichinose M (2011) Nitrative stress in inflammatory lung diseases. Nitric Oxide 25(2):138–144
- Ghio AJ, Soukup JM, Madden MC (2018) The toxicology of air pollution predicts its epidemiology. Inhal Toxicol:1–8
- Feld-Cook EE, Bovenkamp-Langlois L, Lomnicki SM (2017) Effect of particulate matter mineral composition on environmentally persistent free radical (EPFR) formation. Environ Sci Technol 51(18):10396–10402
- Pryor WA (1992) Biological effects of cigarette smoke, wood smoke, and the smoke from plastics: the use of electron spin resonance. Free Radic Biol Med 13(6):659–676
- Nel A (2005) Atmosphere. Air pollution-related illness: effects of particles. Science 308(5723):804–806
- 22. Hogg JC, Hackett TL (2018) Structure and function relationships in diseases of the small airways. Ann Am Thorac Soc 15(Supplement_1):S18–S25
- Pinkerton KE, Green FH, Saiki C, Vallyathan V, Plopper CG, Gopal V et al (2000) Distribution of particulate matter and tissue remodeling in the human lung. Environ Health Perspect 108(11):1063–1069
- Rostami AA (2009) Computational modeling of aerosol deposition in respiratory tract: a review. Inhal Toxicol 21(4):262–290
- Roper C, Chubb LG, Cambal L, Tunno B, Clougherty JE, Mischler SE (2015) Characterization of ambient and extracted PM2.5 collected on filters for toxicology applications. Inhal Toxicol 27(13):673–681
- Church DF, Pryor WA (1985) Free-radical chemistry of cigarette smoke and its toxicological implications. Environ Health Perspect 64:111–126
- 27. Song Y, Buettner GR (2010) Thermodynamic and kinetic considerations for the reaction of semiquinone radicals to form superoxide and hydrogen peroxide. Free Radic Biol Med 49(6):919–962
- Pryor WA, Prier DG, Church DF (1983) Electron-spin resonance study of mainstream and sidestream cigarette smoke: nature of the free radicals in gas-phase smoke and in cigarette tar. Environ Health Perspect 47:345–355
- Michaudel C, Fauconnier L, Julé Y, Ryffel B (2018) Functional and morphological differences of the lung upon acute and chronic ozone exposure in mice. Sci Rep 8(1):10611
- Hogg JC, Timens W (2009) The pathology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Annu Rev Pathol 4:435–459

- Hogg JC, Pare PD, Hackett TL (2017) The contribution of small airway obstruction to the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Physiol Rev 97(2):529–552
- Hecker L (2018) Mechanisms and consequences of oxidative stress in lung disease: therapeutic implications for an aging populace. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 314(4):L642–LL53
- 33. Young RP, Hopkins R, Black PN, Eddy C, Wu L, Gamble GD et al (2006) Functional variants of antioxidant genes in smokers with COPD and in those with normal lung function. Thorax 61(5):394–399
- 34. Celedón JC, Lange C, Raby BA, Litonjua AA, Palmer LJ, DeMeo DL et al (2004) The transforming growth factor-beta1 (TGFB1) gene is associated with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Hum Mol Genet 13(15):1649–1656
- 35. Küçükaycan M, Van Krugten M, Pennings HJ, Huizinga TW, Buurman WA, Dentener MA et al (2002) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha +489G/a gene polymorphism is associated with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respir Res 3:29
- 36. Keatings VM, Cave SJ, Henry MJ, Morgan K, O'Connor CM, FitzGerald MX et al (2000) A polymorphism in the tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene promoter region may predispose to a poor prognosis in COPD. Chest 118(4):971–975
- Sandford AJ, Paré PD (2000) Genetic risk factors for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Clin Chest Med 21(4):633–643
- Barnes PJ, Burney PG, Silverman EK, Celli BR, Vestbo J, Wedzicha JA et al (2015) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Nat Rev Dis Primers 1:15076
- Tuder RM, Petrache I (2012) Pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Clin Invest 122(8):2749–2755
- Yoshida T, Tuder RM (2007) Pathobiology of cigarette smoke-induced chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Physiol Rev 87(3):1047–1082
- Rangasamy T, Cho CY, Thimmulappa RK, Zhen L, Srisuma SS, Kensler TW et al (2004) Genetic ablation of Nrf2 enhances susceptibility to cigarette smoke-induced emphysema in mice. J Clin Invest 114(9):1248–1259
- 42. Singh A, Rangasamy T, Thimmulappa RK, Lee H, Osburn WO, Brigelius-Flohé R et al (2006) Glutathione peroxidase 2, the major cigarette smoke-inducible isoform of GPX in lungs, is regulated by Nrf2. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 35(6):639–650
- 43. Thimmulappa RK, Gang X, Kim JH, Sussan TE, Witztum JL, Biswal S (2012) Oxidized phospholipids impair pulmonary antibacterial defenses: evidence in mice exposed to cigarette smoke. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 426(2):253–259
- 44. Yoshida T, Mett I, Bhunia AK, Bowman J, Perez M, Zhang L et al (2010) Rtp801, a suppressor of mTOR signaling, is an essential mediator of cigarette smoke-induced pulmonary injury and emphysema. Nat Med 16(7):767–773
- 45. Kirkham PA, Barnes PJ (2013) Oxidative stress in COPD. Chest 144(1):266-273
- Russell RJ, Brightling C (2017) Pathogenesis of asthma: implications for precision medicine. Clin Sci (Lond) 131(14):1723–1735
- Barnes PJ (2018) Targeting cytokines to treat asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Nat Rev Immunol 18(7):454–466
- Comhair SA, Erzurum SC (2010) Redox control of asthma: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic opportunities. Antioxid Redox Signal 12(1):93–124
- 49. Ware LB, Matthay MA (2000) The acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 342(18):1334–1349
- Rajasekaran S, Pattarayan D, Rajaguru P, Sudhakar Gandhi PS, Thimmulappa RK (2016) MicroRNA regulation of acute lung injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome. J Cell Physiol 231(10):2097–2106
- Tsushima K, King LS, Aggarwal NR, De Gorordo A, D'Alessio FR, Kubo K (2009) Acute lung injury review. Intern Med 48(9):621–630
- Quinlan GJ, Lamb NJ, Tilley R, Evans TW, Gutteridge JM (1997) Plasma hypoxanthine levels in ARDS: implications for oxidative stress, morbidity, and mortality. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 155(2):479–484

- 53. Kellner M, Noonepalle S, Lu Q, Srivastava A, Zemskov E, Black SM (2017) ROS signaling in the pathogenesis of acute lung injury (ALI) and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). Adv Exp Med Biol 967:105–137
- Martinez FJ, Collard HR, Pardo A, Raghu G, Richeldi L, Selman M et al (2017) Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Nat Rev Dis Primers 3:17074
- 55. Hecker L, Logsdon NJ, Kurundkar D, Kurundkar A, Bernard K, Hock T et al (2014) Reversal of persistent fibrosis in aging by targeting Nox4-Nrf2 redox imbalance. Sci Transl Med 6(231):231ra47
- Ciencewicki J, Trivedi S, Kleeberger SR (2008) Oxidants and the pathogenesis of lung diseases. J Allergy Clin Immunol 122(3):456–468. quiz 69-70
- Fruhwirth GO, Loidl A, Hermetter A (2007) Oxidized phospholipids: from molecular properties to disease. Biochim Biophys Acta 1772(7):718–736
- Freigang S (2016) The regulation of inflammation by oxidized phospholipids. Eur J Immunol 46(8):1818–1825
- Awasthi YC, Sharma R, Cheng JZ, Yang Y, Sharma A, Singhal SS et al (2003) Role of 4-hydroxynonenal in stress-mediated apoptosis signaling. Mol Aspects Med 24(4–5):219–230
- 60. Breitzig M, Bhimineni C, Lockey R, Kolliputi N (2016) 4-Hydroxy-2-nonenal: a critical target in oxidative stress? Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 311(4):C537–CC43
- Kagan VE, Mao G, Qu F, Angeli JP, Doll S, Croix CS et al (2017) Oxidized arachidonic and adrenic PEs navigate cells to ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):81–90
- 62. Karki P, Meliton A, Shah A, Tian Y, Ohmura T, Sarich N et al (2018) Role of truncated oxidized phospholipids in acute endothelial barrier dysfunction caused by particulate matter. PLoS One 13(11):e0206251
- 63. Imai Y, Kuba K, Neely GG, Yaghubian-Malhami R, Perkmann T, van Loo G et al (2008) Identification of oxidative stress and toll-like receptor 4 signaling as a key pathway of acute lung injury. Cell 133(2):235–249
- 64. Romero F, Shah D, Duong M, Penn RB, Fessler MB, Madenspacher J et al (2015) A pneumocyte-macrophage paracrine lipid axis drives the lung toward fibrosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 53(1):74–86
- 65. Almstrand AC, Voelker D, Murphy RC (2015) Identification of oxidized phospholipids in bronchoalveolar lavage exposed to low ozone levels using multivariate analysis. Anal Biochem 474:50–58
- 66. Lenz AG, Jorens PG, Meyer B, De Backer W, Van Overveld F, Bossaert L et al (1999) Oxidatively modified proteins in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of patients with ARDS and patients at-risk for ARDS. Eur Respir J 13(1):169–174
- Rahman I, van Schadewijk AA, Crowther AJ, Hiemstra PS, Stolk J, MacNee W et al (2002)
 4-Hydroxy-2-nonenal, a specific lipid peroxidation product, is elevated in lungs of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166(4):490–495
- Paliogiannis P, Fois AG, Collu C, Bandinu A, Zinellu E, Carru C et al (2018) Oxidative stresslinked biomarkers in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Biomark Med 12(10):1175–1184
- Rogers LK, Cismowski MJ (2018) Oxidative stress in the lung the essential paradox. Curr Opin Toxicol 7:37–43
- Gill R, Tsung A, Billiar T (2010) Linking oxidative stress to inflammation: toll-like receptors. Free Radic Biol Med 48(9):1121–1132
- 71. Akira S, Takeda K (2004) Toll-like receptor signalling. Nat Rev Immunol 4(7):499-511
- 72. Kong X, Thimmulappa R, Craciun F, Harvey C, Singh A, Kombairaju P et al (2011) Enhancing Nrf2 pathway by disruption of Keap1 in myeloid leukocytes protects against sepsis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 184(8):928–938
- 73. Tawadros PS, Powers KA, Ailenberg M, Birch SE, Marshall JC, Szaszi K et al (2015) Oxidative stress increases surface toll-like receptor 4 expression in murine macrophages via ceramide generation. Shock 44(2):157–165

- 74. Kong X, Thimmulappa R, Kombairaju P, Biswal S (2010) NADPH oxidase-dependent reactive oxygen species mediate amplified TLR4 signaling and sepsis-induced mortality in Nrf2deficient mice. J Immunol 185(1):569–577
- Nakahira K, Kim HP, Geng XH, Nakao A, Wang X, Murase N et al (2006) Carbon monoxide differentially inhibits TLR signaling pathways by regulating ROS-induced trafficking of TLRs to lipid rafts. J Exp Med 203(10):2377–2389
- 76. Jarman ER, Khambata VS, Cope C, Jones P, Roger J, Ye LY et al (2014) An inhibitor of NADPH oxidase-4 attenuates established pulmonary fibrosis in a rodent disease model. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 50(1):158–169
- 77. Han W, Li H, Cai J, Gleaves LA, Polosukhin VV, Segal BH et al (2013) NADPH oxidase limits lipopolysaccharide-induced lung inflammation and injury in mice through reductionoxidation regulation of NF-κB activity. J Immunol 190(9):4786–4794
- 78. Zhang WJ, Wei H, Tien YT, Frei B (2011) Genetic ablation of phagocytic NADPH oxidase in mice limits TNFα-induced inflammation in the lungs but not other tissues. Free Radic Biol Med 50(11):1517–1525
- Bagaitkar J, Pech NK, Ivanov S, Austin A, Zeng MY, Pallat S et al (2015) NADPH oxidase controls neutrophilic response to sterile inflammation in mice by regulating the IL-1α/G-CSF axis. Blood 126(25):2724–2733
- West AP, Brodsky IE, Rahner C, Woo DK, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P et al (2011) TLR signalling augments macrophage bactericidal activity through mitochondrial ROS. Nature 472(7344):476–480
- Bulua AC, Simon A, Maddipati R, Pelletier M, Park H, Kim KY et al (2011) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species promote production of proinflammatory cytokines and are elevated in TNFR1-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS). J Exp Med 208(3):519–533
- 82. Wang MM, Lu M, Zhang CL, Wu X, Chen JX, Lv WW et al (2018) Oxidative stress modulates the expression of toll-like receptor 3 during respiratory syncytial virus infection in human lung epithelial A549 cells. Mol Med Rep 18(2):1867–1877
- Que X, Hung MY, Yeang C, Gonen A, Prohaska TA, Sun X et al (2018) Oxidized phospholipids are proinflammatory and proatherogenic in hypercholesterolaemic mice. Nature 558(7709):301–306
- 84. Chu LH, Indramohan M, Ratsimandresy RA, Gangopadhyay A, Morris EP, Monack DM et al (2018) The oxidized phospholipid oxPAPC protects from septic shock by targeting the noncanonical inflammasome in macrophages. Nat Commun 9(1):996
- Sapkota M, DeVasure JM, Kharbanda KK, Wyatt TA (2017) Malondialdehyde-acetaldehyde (MAA) adducted surfactant protein induced lung inflammation is mediated through scavenger receptor a (SR-A1). Respir Res 18(1):36
- 86. Wyatt TA, Kharbanda KK, McCaskill ML, Tuma DJ, Yanov D, DeVasure J et al (2012) Malondialdehyde-acetaldehyde-adducted protein inhalation causes lung injury. Alcohol 46(1):51–59
- 87. Guo CJ, Atochina-Vasserman EN, Abramova E, Foley JP, Zaman A, Crouch E et al (2008) S-nitrosylation of surfactant protein-D controls inflammatory function. PLoS Biol 6(11):e266
- 88. Lingappan K (2018) NF-κB in oxidative stress. Curr Opin Toxicol 7:81-86
- Korn SH, Wouters EF, Vos N, Janssen-Heininger YM (2001) Cytokine-induced activation of nuclear factor-kappa B is inhibited by hydrogen peroxide through oxidative inactivation of IkappaB kinase. J Biol Chem 276(38):35693–35700
- 90. Kamata H, Manabe T, Oka S, Kamata K, Hirata H (2002) Hydrogen peroxide activates IkappaB kinases through phosphorylation of serine residues in the activation loops. FEBS Lett 519(1–3):231–237
- Li Q, Engelhardt JF (2006) Interleukin-1beta induction of NFkappaB is partially regulated by H2O2-mediated activation of NFkappaB-inducing kinase. J Biol Chem 281(3):1495–1505
- 92. Reynaert NL, Ckless K, Korn SH, Vos N, Guala AS, Wouters EF et al (2004) Nitric oxide represses inhibitory kappaB kinase through S-nitrosylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(24):8945–8950

- 93. Seldon MP, Silva G, Pejanovic N, Larsen R, Gregoire IP, Filipe J et al (2007) Heme oxygenase-1 inhibits the expression of adhesion molecules associated with endothelial cell activation via inhibition of NF-kappaB RelA phosphorylation at serine 276. J Immunol 179(11):7840–7851
- 94. Kelleher ZT, Sha Y, Foster MW, Foster WM, Forrester MT, Marshall HE (2014) Thioredoxinmediated denitrosylation regulates cytokine-induced nuclear factor κB (NF-κB) activation. J Biol Chem 289(5):3066–3072
- 95. Wu M, Bian Q, Liu Y, Fernandes AF, Taylor A, Pereira P et al (2009) Sustained oxidative stress inhibits NF-kappaB activation partially via inactivating the proteasome. Free Radic Biol Med 46(1):62–69
- 96. Oka S, Kamata H, Kamata K, Yagisawa H, Hirata H (2000) N-acetylcysteine suppresses TNF-induced NF-kappaB activation through inhibition of IkappaB kinases. FEBS Lett 472(2–3):196–202
- 97. Thimmulappa RK, Lee H, Rangasamy T, Reddy SP, Yamamoto M, Kensler TW et al (2006) Nrf2 is a critical regulator of the innate immune response and survival during experimental sepsis. J Clin Invest 116(4):984–995
- Thimmulappa RK, Scollick C, Traore K, Yates M, Trush MA, Liby KT et al (2006) Nrf2dependent protection from LPS induced inflammatory response and mortality by CDDO-Imidazolide. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 351(4):883–889
- Howrylak JA, Nakahira K (2017) Inflammasomes: key mediators of lung immunity. Annu Rev Physiol 79:471–494
- 100. Pinkerton JW, Kim RY, Robertson AAB, Hirota JA, Wood LG, Knight DA et al (2017) Inflammasomes in the lung. Mol Immunol 86:44–55
- 101. Abais JM, Xia M, Zhang Y, Boini KM, Li PL (2015) Redox regulation of NLRP3 inflammasomes: ROS as trigger or effector? Antioxid Redox Signal 22(13):1111–1129
- 102. Abais JM, Zhang C, Xia M, Liu Q, Gehr TW, Boini KM et al (2013) NADPH oxidasemediated triggering of inflammasome activation in mouse podocytes and glomeruli during hyperhomocysteinemia. Antioxid Redox Signal 18(13):1537–1548
- 103. Wu J, Yan Z, Schwartz DE, Yu J, Malik AB, Hu G (2013) Activation of NLRP3 inflammasome in alveolar macrophages contributes to mechanical stretch-induced lung inflammation and injury. J Immunol 190(7):3590–3599
- 104. Zhou R, Tardivel A, Thorens B, Choi I, Tschopp J (2010) Thioredoxin-interacting protein links oxidative stress to inflammasome activation. Nat Immunol 11(2):136–140
- 105. Buskiewicz IA, Montgomery T, Yasewicz EC, Huber SA, Murphy MP, Hartley RC et al (2016) Reactive oxygen species induce virus-independent MAVS oligomerization in systemic lupus erythematosus. Sci Signal 9(456):ra115
- 106. Marumo S, Hoshino Y, Kiyokawa H, Tanabe N, Sato A, Ogawa E et al (2014) p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase determines the susceptibility to cigarette smoke-induced emphysema in mice. BMC Pulm Med 14:79
- 107. Sivanantham A, Pattarayan D, Bethunaickan R, Kar A, Mahapatra SK, Thimmulappa RK et al (2019) Tannic acid protects against experimental acute lung injury through downregulation of TLR4 and MAPK. J Cell Physiol 234(5):6463–6476
- 108. Cuenda A, Rousseau S (2007) p38 MAP-kinases pathway regulation, function and role in human diseases. Biochim Biophys Acta 1773(8):1358–1375
- 109. Lee K, Esselman WJ (2002) Inhibition of PTPs by H(2)O(2) regulates the activation of distinct MAPK pathways. Free Radic Biol Med 33(8):1121–1132
- 110. Lin B, Xu J, Feng DG, Wang F, Wang JX, Zhao H (2018) DUSP14 knockout accelerates cardiac ischemia reperfusion (IR) injury through activating NF-κB and MAPKs signaling pathways modulated by ROS generation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 501(1):24–32
- 111. Chopra P, Kanoje V, Semwal A, Ray A (2008) Therapeutic potential of inhaled p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase inhibitors for inflammatory pulmonary diseases. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 17(10):1411–1425
- 112. Franklin JL (2011) Redox regulation of the intrinsic pathway in neuronal apoptosis. Antioxid Redox Signal 14(8):1437–1448

- 113. Martin TR, Nakamura M, Matute-Bello G (2003) The role of apoptosis in acute lung injury. Crit Care Med 31(4 Suppl):S184–S188
- 114. Ayala A, Muñoz MF, Argüelles S (2014) Lipid peroxidation: production, metabolism, and signaling mechanisms of malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2014:360438
- 115. Choudhary S, Zhang W, Zhou F, Campbell GA, Chan LL, Thompson EB et al (2002) Cellular lipid peroxidation end-products induce apoptosis in human lens epithelial cells. Free Radic Biol Med 32(4):360–369
- 116. Kruman II, Mattson MP (1999) Pivotal role of mitochondrial calcium uptake in neural cell apoptosis and necrosis. J Neurochem 72(2):529–540
- 117. Lee H, Park JR, Kim EJ, Kim WJ, Hong SH, Park SM et al (2016) Cigarette smoke-mediated oxidative stress induces apoptosis via the MAPKs/STAT1 pathway in mouse lung fibroblasts. Toxicol Lett 240(1):140–148
- 118. Harvey CJ, Thimmulappa RK, Singh A, Blake DJ, Ling G, Wakabayashi N et al (2009) Nrf2regulated glutathione recycling independent of biosynthesis is critical for cell survival during oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med 46(4):443–453
- Prakash YS, Pabelick CM, Sieck GC (2017) Mitochondrial dysfunction in airway disease. Chest 152(3):618–626
- 120. Wiegman CH, Michaeloudes C, Haji G, Narang P, Clarke CJ, Russell KE et al (2015) Oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction drives inflammation and airway smooth muscle remodeling in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 136(3):769–780
- 121. Liu X, Chen Z (2017) The pathophysiological role of mitochondrial oxidative stress in lung diseases. J Transl Med 15(1):207
- 122. Hoffmann RF, Zarrintan S, Brandenburg SM, Kol A, de Bruin HG, Jafari S et al (2013) Prolonged cigarette smoke exposure alters mitochondrial structure and function in airway epithelial cells. Respir Res 14:97
- 123. Rabinovich RA, Bastos R, Ardite E, Llinàs L, Orozco-Levi M, Gea J et al (2007) Mitochondrial dysfunction in COPD patients with low body mass index. Eur Respir J 29(4):643–650
- 124. Mabalirajan U, Dinda AK, Sharma SK, Ghosh B (2009) Esculetin restores mitochondrial dysfunction and reduces allergic asthma features in experimental murine model. J Immunol 183(3):2059–2067
- 125. Mabalirajan U, Dinda AK, Kumar S, Roshan R, Gupta P, Sharma SK et al (2008) Mitochondrial structural changes and dysfunction are associated with experimental allergic asthma. J Immunol 181(5):3540–3548
- 126. Athale J, Ulrich A, MacGarvey NC, Bartz RR, Welty-Wolf KE, Suliman HB et al (2012) Nrf2 promotes alveolar mitochondrial biogenesis and resolution of lung injury in Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia in mice. Free Radic Biol Med 53(8):1584–1594
- 127. Trian T, Benard G, Begueret H, Rossignol R, Girodet PO, Ghosh D et al (2007) Bronchial smooth muscle remodeling involves calcium-dependent enhanced mitochondrial biogenesis in asthma. J Exp Med 204(13):3173–3181
- 128. Araya J, Tsubouchi K, Sato N, Ito S, Minagawa S, Hara H et al (2018) PRKN-regulated mitophagy and cellular senescence during COPD pathogenesis. Autophagy:1–17
- 129. Ahmad T, Sundar IK, Lerner CA, Gerloff J, Tormos AM, Yao H et al (2015) Impaired mitophagy leads to cigarette smoke stress-induced cellular senescence: implications for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. FASEB J 29(7):2912–2929
- 130. Chilosi M, Carloni A, Rossi A, Poletti V (2013) Premature lung aging and cellular senescence in the pathogenesis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and COPD/emphysema. Transl Res 162(3):156–173
- 131. Aravamudan B, Kiel A, Freeman M, Delmotte P, Thompson M, Vassallo R et al (2014) Cigarette smoke-induced mitochondrial fragmentation and dysfunction in human airway smooth muscle. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 306(9):L840–L854
- 132. Bueno M, Lai YC, Romero Y, Brands J, St Croix CM, Kamga C et al (2015) PINK1 deficiency impairs mitochondrial homeostasis and promotes lung fibrosis. J Clin Invest 125(2):521–538

- 133. Chen BB, Coon TA, Glasser JR, Zou C, Ellis B, Das T et al (2014) E3 ligase subunit Fbxo15 and PINK1 kinase regulate cardiolipin synthase 1 stability and mitochondrial function in pneumonia. Cell Rep 7(2):476–487
- 134. Tait SW, Green DR (2013) Mitochondrial regulation of cell death. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol:5(9)
- 135. Schumacker PT, Gillespie MN, Nakahira K, Choi AM, Crouser ED, Piantadosi CA et al (2014) Mitochondria in lung biology and pathology: more than just a powerhouse. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 306(11):L962–L974
- 136. Szczesny B, Marcatti M, Ahmad A, Montalbano M, Brunyánszki A, Bibli SI et al (2018) Mitochondrial DNA damage and subsequent activation of Z-DNA binding protein 1 links oxidative stress to inflammation in epithelial cells. Sci Rep 8(1):914
- 137. Krychtiuk KA, Ruhittel S, Hohensinner PJ, Koller L, Kaun C, Lenz M et al (2015) Mitochondrial DNA and toll-like Receptor-9 are associated with mortality in critically ill patients. Crit Care Med 43(12):2633–2641
- McDonald B, Pittman K, Menezes GB, Hirota SA, Slaba I, Waterhouse CC et al (2010) Intravascular danger signals guide neutrophils to sites of sterile inflammation. Science 330(6002):362–366
- Lommatzsch M, Cicko S, Müller T, Lucattelli M, Bratke K, Stoll P et al (2010) Extracellular adenosine triphosphate and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 181(9):928–934
- 140. Idzko M, Hammad H, van Nimwegen M, Kool M, Willart MA, Muskens F et al (2007) Extracellular ATP triggers and maintains asthmatic airway inflammation by activating dendritic cells. Nat Med 13(8):913–919
- 141. Riteau N, Gasse P, Fauconnier L, Gombault A, Couegnat M, Fick L et al (2010) Extracellular ATP is a danger signal activating P2X7 receptor in lung inflammation and fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 182(6):774–783
- 142. Dudek J (2017) Role of Cardiolipin in mitochondrial signaling pathways. Front Cell Dev Biol 5:90
- 143. Ray NB, Durairaj L, Chen BB, McVerry BJ, Ryan AJ, Donahoe M et al (2010) Dynamic regulation of cardiolipin by the lipid pump Atp8b1 determines the severity of lung injury in experimental pneumonia. Nat Med 16(10):1120–1127
- 144. Jain M, Rivera S, Monclus EA, Synenki L, Zirk A, Eisenbart J et al (2013) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species regulate transforming growth factor- β signaling. J Biol Chem 288(2):770–777
- 145. Schröder M, Kaufman RJ (2005) The mammalian unfolded protein response. Annu Rev Biochem 74:739–789
- 146. Tanjore H, Blackwell TS, Lawson WE (2012) Emerging evidence for endoplasmic reticulum stress in the pathogenesis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 302(8):L721–L729
- 147. Kim SR, Lee YC (2015) Endoplasmic reticulum stress and the related signaling networks in severe asthma. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res 7(2):106–117
- 148. Kenche H, Ye ZW, Vedagiri K, Richards DM, Gao XH, Tew KD et al (2016) Adverse outcomes associated with cigarette smoke radicals related to damage to protein-disulfide isomerase. J Biol Chem 291(9):4763–4778
- 149. Geraghty P, Baumlin N, Salathe MA, Foronjy RF, D'Armiento JM (2016) Glutathione Peroxidase-1 suppresses the unfolded protein response upon cigarette smoke exposure. Mediators Inflamm 2016:9461289
- 150. Teng RJ, Jing X, Michalkiewicz T, Afolayan AJ, Wu TJ, Konduri GG (2017) Attenuation of endoplasmic reticulum stress by caffeine ameliorates hyperoxia-induced lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 312(5):L586–LL98
- 151. Plaisance V, Brajkovic S, Tenenbaum M, Favre D, Ezanno H, Bonnefond A et al (2016) Endoplasmic reticulum stress links oxidative stress to impaired pancreatic Beta-cell function caused by human oxidized LDL. PLoS One 11(9):e0163046

- 152. Bhandary B, Marahatta A, Kim HR, Chae HJ (2012) An involvement of oxidative stress in endoplasmic reticulum stress and its associated diseases. Int J Mol Sci 14(1):434–456
- 153. Afanas'ev I (2014) New nucleophilic mechanisms of ros-dependent epigenetic modifications: comparison of aging and cancer. Aging Dis 5(1):52–62
- 154. Kietzmann T, Petry A, Shvetsova A, Gerhold JM, Görlach A (2017) The epigenetic landscape related to reactive oxygen species formation in the cardiovascular system. Br J Pharmacol 174(12):1533–1554
- 155. Mentch SJ, Mehrmohamadi M, Huang L, Liu X, Gupta D, Mattocks D et al (2015) Histone methylation dynamics and gene regulation occur through the sensing of one-carbon metabolism. Cell Metab 22(5):861–873
- 156. Cyr AR, Domann FE (2011) The redox basis of epigenetic modifications: from mechanisms to functional consequences. Antioxid Redox Signal 15(2):551–589
- 157. Mercado N, Thimmulappa R, Thomas CM, Fenwick PS, Chana KK, Donnelly LE et al (2011) Decreased histone deacetylase 2 impairs Nrf2 activation by oxidative stress. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 406(2):292–298
- 158. Osoata GO, Yamamura S, Ito M, Vuppusetty C, Adcock IM, Barnes PJ et al (2009) Nitration of distinct tyrosine residues causes inactivation of histone deacetylase 2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 384(3):366–371
- 159. Barnes PJ, Ito K, Adcock IM (2004) Corticosteroid resistance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: inactivation of histone deacetylase. Lancet 363(9410):731–733
- 160. Lin Y, Liu X, Cheng Y, Yang J, Huo Y, Zhang C (2009) Involvement of MicroRNAs in hydrogen peroxide-mediated gene regulation and cellular injury response in vascular smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem 284(12):7903–7913
- 161. Emde A, Hornstein E (2014) miRNAs at the interface of cellular stress and disease. EMBO J 33(13):1428–1437
- 162. Potteti HR, Rajasekaran S, Rajamohan SB, Tamatam CR, Reddy NM, Reddy SP (2016) Sirtuin 1 promotes Hyperoxia-induced lung epithelial cell death independent of NF-E2related factor 2 activation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 54(5):697–706
- 163. Breton CV, Salam MT, Wang X, Byun HM, Siegmund KD, Gilliland FD (2012) Particulate matter, DNA methylation in nitric oxide synthase, and childhood respiratory disease. Environ Health Perspect 120(9):1320–1326
- 164. Yang IV, Schwartz DA (2015) Epigenetics of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Transl Res 165(1):48–60
- 165. Richter K, Konzack A, Pihlajaniemi T, Heljasvaara R, Kietzmann T (2015) Redox-fibrosis: impact of TGFβ1 on ROS generators, mediators and functional consequences. Redox Biol 6:344–352
- 166. Liu RM, Desai LP (2015) Reciprocal regulation of TGF- β and reactive oxygen species: a perverse cycle for fibrosis. Redox Biol 6:565–577
- 167. Chan EC, Peshavariya HM, Liu GS, Jiang F, Lim SY, Dusting GJ (2013) Nox4 modulates collagen production stimulated by transforming growth factor β 1 in vivo and in vitro. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 430(3):918–925
- 168. Nakano H, Nakajima A, Sakon-Komazawa S, Piao JH, Xue X, Okumura K (2006) Reactive oxygen species mediate crosstalk between NF-kappaB and JNK. Cell Death Differ 13(5):730–737
- 169. Carnesecchi S, Deffert C, Donati Y, Basset O, Hinz B, Preynat-Seauve O et al (2011) A key role for NOX4 in epithelial cell death during development of lung fibrosis. Antioxid Redox Signal 15(3):607–619
- 170. Leask A (2013) Integrin. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) 2(4):160-166
- 171. Waisberg DR, Barbas-Filho JV, Parra ER, Fernezlian S, de Carvalho CR, Kairalla RA et al (2010) Abnormal expression of telomerase/apoptosis limits type II alveolar epithelial cell replication in the early remodeling of usual interstitial pneumonia/idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Hum Pathol 41(3):385–391

- 172. Bocchino M, Agnese S, Fagone E, Svegliati S, Grieco D, Vancheri C et al (2010) Reactive oxygen species are required for maintenance and differentiation of primary lung fibroblasts in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. PLoS One 5(11):e14003
- 173. Button B, Anderson WH, Boucher RC (2016) Mucus Hyperconcentration as a unifying aspect of the chronic Bronchitic phenotype. Ann Am Thorac Soc 13(Suppl 2):S156–S162
- 174. Ridley C, Thornton DJ (2018) Mucins: the frontline defence of the lung. Biochem Soc Trans 46(5):1099–1106
- 175. Kim HJ, Park YD, Moon UY, Kim JH, Jeon JH, Lee JG et al (2008) The role of Nox4 in oxidative stress-induced MUC5AC overexpression in human airway epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 39(5):598–609
- 176. Takeyama K, Dabbagh K, Jeong Shim J, Dao-Pick T, Ueki IF, Nadel JA (2000) Oxidative stress causes mucin synthesis via transactivation of epidermal growth factor receptor: role of neutrophils. J Immunol 164(3):1546–1552
- 177. Rose MC, Voynow JA (2006) Respiratory tract mucin genes and mucin glycoproteins in health and disease. Physiol Rev 86(1):245–278
- 178. Kim KC (2012) Role of epithelial mucins during airway infection. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 25(6):415-419
- 179. Shao MX, Nadel JA (2005) Dual oxidase 1-dependent MUC5AC mucin expression in cultured human airway epithelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(3):767–772
- Yu H, Li Q, Zhou X, Kolosov VP, Perelman JM (2011) Role of hyaluronan and CD44 in reactive oxygen species-induced mucus hypersecretion. Mol Cell Biochem 352(1–2):65–75
- 181. Darcan-Nicolaisen Y, Meinicke H, Fels G, Hegend O, Haberland A, Kühl A et al (2009) Small interfering RNA against transcription factor STAT6 inhibits allergic airway inflammation and hyperreactivity in mice. J Immunol 182(12):7501–7508
- 182. Cantin AM, North SL, Hubbard RC, Crystal RG (1987) Normal alveolar epithelial lining fluid contains high levels of glutathione. J Appl Physiol (1985) 63(1):152–157
- Cantin AM, Hubbard RC, Crystal RG (1989) Glutathione deficiency in the epithelial lining fluid of the lower respiratory tract in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am Rev Respir Dis 139(2):370–372
- 184. Gould NS, Day BJ (2011) Targeting maladaptive glutathione responses in lung disease. Biochem Pharmacol 81(2):187–193
- 185. Qanungo S, Starke DW, Pai HV, Mieyal JJ, Nieminen AL (2007) Glutathione supplementation potentiates hypoxic apoptosis by S-glutathionylation of p65-NFkappaB. J Biol Chem 282(25):18427–18436
- 186. Reynaert NL, van der Vliet A, Guala AS, McGovern T, Hristova M, Pantano C et al (2006) Dynamic redox control of NF-kappaB through glutaredoxin-regulated S-glutathionylation of inhibitory kappaB kinase beta. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(35):13086–13091
- 187. Panda K, Chattopadhyay R, Ghosh MK, Chattopadhyay DJ, Chatterjee IB (1999) Vitamin C prevents cigarette smoke induced oxidative damage of proteins and increased proteolysis. Free Radic Biol Med 27(9–10):1064–1079
- Crobeddu B, Aragao-Santiago L, Bui LC, Boland S, Baeza SA (2017) Oxidative potential of particulate matter 2.5 as predictive indicator of cellular stress. Environ Pollut 230:125–133
- Wu F, Schuster DP, Tyml K, Wilson JX (2007) Ascorbate inhibits NADPH oxidase subunit p47phox expression in microvascular endothelial cells. Free Radic Biol Med 42(1):124–131
- Kelly FJ, Tetley TD (1997) Nitrogen dioxide depletes uric acid and ascorbic acid but not glutathione from lung lining fluid. Biochem J 325(Pt 1):95–99
- 191. Mudway IS, Krishna MT, Frew AJ, MacLeod D, Sandstrom T, Holgate ST et al (1999) Compromised concentrations of ascorbate in fluid lining the respiratory tract in human subjects after exposure to ozone. Occup Environ Med 56(7):473–481
- 192. Gupta I, Ganguly S, Rozanas CR, Stuehr DJ, Panda K (2016) Ascorbate attenuates pulmonary emphysema by inhibiting tobacco smoke and Rtp801-triggered lung protein modification and proteolysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(29):E4208–E4217
- 193. Kelly FJ, Mudway I, Blomberg A, Frew A, Sandström T (1999) Altered lung antioxidant status in patients with mild asthma. Lancet 354(9177):482–483
- 194. Kongerud J, Crissman K, Hatch G, Alexis N (2003) Ascorbic acid is decreased in induced sputum of mild asthmatics. Inhal Toxicol 15(2):101–109
- 195. Wilkinson M, Hart A, Milan SJ, Sugumar K (2014) Vitamins C and E for asthma and exerciseinduced bronchoconstriction. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 6:CD010749
- 196. Behndig AF, Blomberg A, Helleday R, Kelly FJ, Mudway IS (2009) Augmentation of respiratory tract lining fluid ascorbate concentrations through supplementation with vitamin C. Inhal Toxicol 21(3):250–258
- 197. Peden DB, Hohman R, Brown ME, Mason RT, Berkebile C, Fales HM et al (1990) Uric acid is a major antioxidant in human nasal airway secretions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87(19):7638–7642
- 198. Peden DB, Swiersz M, Ohkubo K, Hahn B, Emery B, Kaliner MA (1993) Nasal secretion of the ozone scavenger uric acid. Am Rev Respir Dis 148(2):455–461
- 199. Kelly FJ, Blomberg A, Frew A, Holgate ST, Sandstrom T (1996) Antioxidant kinetics in lung lavage fluid following exposure of humans to nitrogen dioxide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154(6 Pt 1):1700–1705
- 200. Kahnert K, Alter P, Welte T, Huber RM, Behr J, Biertz F et al (2018) Uric acid, lung function, physical capacity and exacerbation frequency in patients with COPD: a multi-dimensional approach. Respir Res 19(1):110
- 201. Horsfall LJ, Nazareth I, Petersen I (2014) Serum uric acid and the risk of respiratory disease: a population-based cohort study. Thorax 69(11):1021–1026
- 202. Guertin KA, Grant RK, Arnold KB, Burwell L, Hartline J, Goodman PJ et al (2016) Effect of long-term vitamin E and selenium supplementation on urine F2-isoprostanes, a biomarker of oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med 95:349–356
- 203. Hanson C, Lyden E, Furtado J, Campos H, Sparrow D, Vokonas P et al (2016) Serum tocopherol levels and vitamin E intake are associated with lung function in the normative aging study. Clin Nutr 35(1):169–174
- 204. Burbank AJ, Duran CG, Pan Y, Burns P, Jones S, Jiang Q et al (2018) Gamma tocopherolenriched supplement reduces sputum eosinophilia and endotoxin-induced sputum neutrophilia in volunteers with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 141(4):1231-8.e1
- 205. Peh HY, Tan WSD, Chan TK, Pow CW, Foster PS, Wong WSF (2017) Vitamin E isoform γ-tocotrienol protects against emphysema in cigarette smoke-induced COPD. Free Radic Biol Med 110:332–344
- 206. Pearson PJ, Lewis SA, Britton J, Fogarty A (2004) Vitamin E supplements in asthma: a parallel group randomised placebo controlled trial. Thorax 59(8):652–656
- 207. Bridges JP, Davis HW, Damodarasamy M, Kuroki Y, Howles G, Hui DY et al (2000) Pulmonary surfactant proteins a and D are potent endogenous inhibitors of lipid peroxidation and oxidative cellular injury. J Biol Chem 275(49):38848–38855
- 208. Laucho-Contreras ME, Polverino F, Tesfaigzi Y, Pilon A, Celli BR, Owen CA (2016) Club cell protein 16 (CC16) augmentation: a potential disease-modifying approach for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Expert Opin Ther Targets 20(7):869–883
- 209. Laucho-Contreras ME, Polverino F, Gupta K, Taylor KL, Kelly E, Pinto-Plata V et al (2015) Protective role for club cell secretory protein-16 (CC16) in the development of COPD. Eur Respir J 45(6):1544–1556
- 210. Guerra S, Halonen M, Vasquez MM, Spangenberg A, Stern DA, Morgan WJ et al (2015) Relation between circulating CC16 concentrations, lung function, and development of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease across the lifespan: a prospective study. Lancet Respir Med 3(8):613–620
- 211. Lam DC, Kwok HH, Yu WC, Ko FW, Tam CY, Lau AC et al (2018) CC16 levels correlate with cigarette smoke exposure in bronchial epithelial cells and with lung function decline in smokers. BMC Pulm Med 18(1):47
- Rahman I, MacNee W (2012) Antioxidant pharmacological therapies for COPD. Curr Opin Pharmacol 12(3):256–265
- Bargagli E, Olivieri C, Bennett D, Prasse A, Muller-Quernheim J, Rottoli P (2009) Oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of diffuse lung diseases: a review. Respir Med 103(9):1245–1256

- 214. Gao F, Kinnula VL, Myllärniemi M, Oury TD (2008) Extracellular superoxide dismutase in pulmonary fibrosis. Antioxid Redox Signal 10(2):343–354
- 215. Yao H, Arunachalam G, Hwang JW, Chung S, Sundar IK, Kinnula VL et al (2010) Extracellular superoxide dismutase protects against pulmonary emphysema by attenuating oxidative fragmentation of ECM. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(35):15571–15576
- 216. Foronjy RF, Mirochnitchenko O, Propokenko O, Lemaitre V, Jia Y, Inouye M et al (2006) Superoxide dismutase expression attenuates cigarette smoke- or elastase-generated emphysema in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 173(6):623–631
- 217. Comhair SA, Ricci KS, Arroliga M, Lara AR, Dweik RA, Song W et al (2005) Correlation of systemic superoxide dismutase deficiency to airflow obstruction in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172(3):306–313
- Comhair SA, Bhathena PR, Dweik RA, Kavuru M, Erzurum SC (2000) Rapid loss of superoxide dismutase activity during antigen-induced asthmatic response. Lancet 355(9204):624
- Dittrich AM, Meyer HA, Krokowski M, Quarcoo D, Ahrens B, Kube SM et al (2010) Glutathione peroxidase-2 protects from allergen-induced airway inflammation in mice. Eur Respir J 35(5):1148–1154
- 220. Kunwar A, Haston CK (2014) Basal levels of glutathione peroxidase correlate with onset of radiation induced lung disease in inbred mouse strains. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 307(8):L597–L604
- 221. Kinnula VL, Lehtonen S, Kaarteenaho-Wiik R, Lakari E, Pääkkö P, Kang SW et al (2002) Cell specific expression of peroxiredoxins in human lung and pulmonary sarcoidosis. Thorax 57(2):157–164
- 222. Ryter SW, Choi AM (2009) Heme oxygenase-1/carbon monoxide: from metabolism to molecular therapy. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 41(3):251–260
- 223. Duckers HJ, Boehm M, True AL, Yet SF, San H, Park JL et al (2001) Heme oxygenase-1 protects against vascular constriction and proliferation. Nat Med 7(6):693–698
- 224. Zampetaki A, Minamino T, Mitsialis SA, Kourembanas S (2003) Effect of heme oxygenase-1 overexpression in two models of lung inflammation. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 228(5):442–446
- Otterbein LE, Kolls JK, Mantell LL, Cook JL, Alam J, Choi AM (1999) Exogenous administration of heme oxygenase-1 by gene transfer provides protection against hyperoxia-induced lung injury. J Clin Invest 103(7):1047–1054
- 226. Yamamoto M, Kensler TW, Motohashi H (2018) The KEAP1-NRF2 system: a thiol-based sensor-effector apparatus for maintaining redox homeostasis. Physiol Rev 98(3):1169–1203
- 227. Cullinan SB, Gordan JD, Jin J, Harper JW, Diehl JA (2004) The Keap1-BTB protein is an adaptor that bridges Nrf2 to a Cul3-based E3 ligase: oxidative stress sensing by a Cul3-Keap1 ligase. Mol Cell Biol 24(19):8477–8486
- 228. Tong KI, Katoh Y, Kusunoki H, Itoh K, Tanaka T, Yamamoto M (2006) Keap1 recruits Neh2 through binding to ETGE and DLG motifs: characterization of the two-site molecular recognition model. Mol Cell Biol 26(8):2887–2900
- 229. Rangasamy T, Guo J, Mitzner WA, Roman J, Singh A, Fryer AD et al (2005) Disruption of Nrf2 enhances susceptibility to severe airway inflammation and asthma in mice. J Exp Med 202(1):47–59
- Cho HY, Reddy SP, Yamamoto M, Kleeberger SR (2004) The transcription factor NRF2 protects against pulmonary fibrosis. FASEB J 18(11):1258–1260
- 231. Kensler TW, Wakabayashi N, Biswal S (2007) Cell survival responses to environmental stresses via the Keap1-Nrf2-ARE pathway. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 47:89–116
- 232. Goven D, Boutten A, Leçon-Malas V, Marchal-Sommé J, Amara N, Crestani B et al (2008) Altered Nrf2/Keap1-Bach1 equilibrium in pulmonary emphysema. Thorax 63(10):916–924
- 233. Swamy SM, Rajasekaran NS, Thannickal VJ (2016) Nuclear factor-Erythroid-2-related factor 2 in aging and lung fibrosis. Am J Pathol 186(7):1712–1723
- 234. Espinosa-Diez C, Miguel V, Mennerich D, Kietzmann T, Sánchez-Pérez P, Cadenas S et al (2015) Antioxidant responses and cellular adjustments to oxidative stress. Redox Biol 6:183–197

- 235. Grandjean EM, Berthet P, Ruffmann R, Leuenberger P (2000) Efficacy of oral long-term N-acetylcysteine in chronic bronchopulmonary disease: a meta-analysis of published doubleblind, placebo-controlled clinical trials. Clin Ther 22(2):209–221
- 236. Decramer M, Rutten-van Mölken M, Dekhuijzen PN, Troosters T, van Herwaarden C, Pellegrino R et al (2005) Effects of N-acetylcysteine on outcomes in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (bronchitis randomized on NAC cost-utility study, BRONCUS): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 365(9470):1552–1560
- 237. Rahman I (2006) Antioxidant therapies in COPD. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 1(1):15–29
- Brown RH, Reynolds C, Brooker A, Talalay P, Fahey JW (2015) Sulforaphane improves the bronchoprotective response in asthmatics through Nrf2-mediated gene pathways. Respir Res 16:106
- 239. Wise RA, Holbrook JT, Criner G, Sethi S, Rayapudi S, Sudini KR et al (2016) Lack of effect of Oral Sulforaphane administration on Nrf2 expression in COPD: a randomized, doubleblind, Placebo controlled trial. PLoS One 11(11):e0163716
- 240. Sudini K, Diette GB, Breysse PN, McCormack MC, Bull D, Biswal S et al (2016) A randomized controlled trial of the effect of broccoli sprouts on antioxidant gene expression and airway inflammation in asthmatics. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 4(5):932–940
- 241. Noah TL, Zhang H, Zhou H, Glista-Baker E, Müller L, Bauer RN et al (2014) Effect of broccoli sprouts on nasal response to live attenuated influenza virus in smokers: a randomized, double-blind study. PLoS One 9(6):e98671
- 242. Egner PA, Chen JG, Zarth AT, Ng DK, Wang JB, Kensler KH et al (2014) Rapid and sustainable detoxication of airborne pollutants by broccoli sprout beverage: results of a randomized clinical trial in China. Cancer Prev Res (Phila) 7(8):813–823

Part II

Chronic Lung Diseases



Oxidative Stress-Induced Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Asthma

Samarpana Chakraborty, Kritika Khanna, and Anurag Agrawal

Abstract

Asthma is a well-recognized global concern with ever-increasing prevalence and economic burden worldwide. Genetic susceptibility and exposure to environmental triggers such as allergens, pollutants, infectious agents and even lifestyle choices are well-established modulators of the disease. Recent studies show that irrespective of the nature of causal trigger (allergic or nonallergic), mitochondria and its dysfunction is a central player in asthma pathogenesis. This chapter discusses the studies and mechanisms through which mitochondria plays its role in causing asthma pathogenesis. Under allergic asthma conditions, immune response and epithelial barrier functions are the key players modulating the function of mitochondria. Other mechanism that leads to the development of obese-asthma phenotype involves disruption of cellular bioenergetics via modulating nitric oxide levels, calcium homeostasis, etc. Repair, reprogramming and/or replacement of the dysfunctional mitochondria are some of the possible therapeutic strategies for better management of asthma.

Keywords

Allergic asthma · Obese-asthma · Mitochondrial dysfunction · Oxidative stress · Immune responses · Epithelial barrier function · Nitric oxide metabolism · Lipoxygenase pathway · Obesity · Metabolic syndrome · ADMA

Authors Samarpana Chakraborty and Kritika Khanna have equally contributed to this chapter.

S. Chakraborty · K. Khanna

CSIR Institute of Genomics and Integrative Biology, Delhi, India

A. Agrawal (⊠) CSIR Institute of Genomics and Integrative Biology, Delhi, India

Academy of Scientific and Innovative Research, Delhi, India

Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, USA e-mail: a.agrawal@igib.in

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_6

Abbreviations

12/15-LOX	12/15-lipoxygenase
12-S-HETE	12-S-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid
13-S-HODE	13-S-hydroxyoctadecadienoic acid
ADMA	Asymmetric dimethylarginine
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
CaMKII	Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II
CLR	C-type lectin receptors
DAMP	Damage-associated molecular pattern
DC	Dendritic cell
DRP1	Dynamin-related protein 1
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
ETC	Electron transport chain
FADH2	2-Dihydro flavin adenine dinucleotide
HDM	House dust mite
IgE	Immunoglobulin E
IL	Interleukins
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MCU	Mitochondrial calcium uniporter
MetS	Metabolic syndrome
MHC II	Major histocompatibility complex class II
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
mtDNA	Mitochondrial DNA
NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (reduced)
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (reduced)
nDNA	Nuclear DNA
NF-kβ	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NFP	N-Formyl peptides
NLR	Nucleotide-binding domain/leucine-rich repeat receptor
NLRP3	Nod-like receptor family pyrin domain containing 3
NO	Nitric oxide
NRF-1	Nuclear respiratory factor-1
OONO-	Peroxynitrite
OPA1	Optic atrophy protein 1
OVA	Ovalbumin
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PBMCs	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PC	Phosphatidylcholine
PGC-1α	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator
РКС-д	Protein kinase C delta type
PQQ	Pyrroloquinoline quinone
PKR	Pathogen recognition receptor
RLR	Retinoic acid-inducible gene (RIG-1)-like receptors

ROS	Reactive oxygen species
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
TCR	T-cell receptor
TFAM	Mitochondrial transcription factor A
Th2	Type 2 T helper cells
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF-α	Tumour necrosis factor alpha
TRPV1	Transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily V member 1
UQCRC2	Ubiquinol-cytochrome c reductase core protein II

6.1 Introduction

Asthma is a chronic disorder presenting features such as airway inflammation, reversible airflow obstruction and enhanced bronchial reactivity. With as many as 339 million people affected with asthma worldwide, its global disease burden is increasing substantially. Poor management of the disease has been associated with reduced quality of life and even premature death in people of all age groups around the world. Asthma has multifactorial disease aetiology with both genetic and environmental factors playing significant roles [1]. It has now also been recognized as a complex, heterogeneous disease with multiple clinical presentations and physiological characteristics. Depending on consistent clinical features, a common natural history (like age at onset) and predictable responsiveness to therapies, asthma has been classified into various subgroups or phenotypes [2]. Due to such underlying heterogeneity, some asthma patients do not respond well to the classical interventions of bronchodilators and corticosteroids. However, detailed asthma research is now unravelling newer mechanisms of asthma pathogenesis that can provide novel handles for treatment of various sub-phenotypes of the disease.

Interestingly, recent studies, in both allergic and nonallergic obese-asthma, have shown mitochondrial dysfunction to be central to disease pathogenesis [3–5]. Mitochondria are no longer thought to be only involved in cellular bioenergetics but have been shown to have significant roles in multiple cellular processes like biosynthesis, signal transduction, danger sensor and cell death pathways [6]. With such multifaceted roles, any oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction can perturb the cellular homeostasis at various levels. Thus, mitochondrial function impairment is now a prominent signature of various inflammatory, respiratory, cardiovascular, metabolic, neurodegenerative and infectious diseases [6–8].

In this chapter, we look into the experimental studies connecting mitochondrial dysfunction with allergic or nonallergic obese-asthma. In allergic asthma, there seems to be a bidirectional interplay, wherein allergens have been shown to induce mitochondrial dysfunction, and pre-existing defects in mitochondria have aggravated the allergic asthma phenotype [5]. Further, delving deeper into the underlying mechanisms of mitochondrial dysfunction and allergic asthma, we explore the association with immune response modulation and epithelial barrier function. As for the

obese-asthma phenotype, we see that mitochondria act as a common thread connecting asthma, obesity and metabolic syndrome [9]. Common molecular mechanisms like elevated expression of 12/15-lipoxygenase and perturbed nitric oxide metabolism lead to mitochondrial dysfunction in both obesity and asthma, thus placing mitochondria at the hub of obese-asthma pathophysiology [3]. Finally, we look into the various strategies to restore the function of mitochondria, mainly by repairing, reprogramming and replacing damaged mitochondria, as novel tools in asthma therapeutics.

6.2 Asthma

Asthma is a chronic disorder of the airways characterized by four major hallmarks, namely, increased airway inflammation, reversible airway obstruction, enhanced airway responsiveness and mucus hypersecretion. It is also accompanied by airway remodelling and epithelial barrier dysfunction. Currently, more than 300 million individuals are affected with asthma worldwide [10], and it is estimated that the numbers will increase up to 400 million by 2025.

Genetic predisposition along with environmental insults, like exposure to smoke, pollution, lifestyle, obesity and house dust mites, are the main causal factors for asthma. It is broadly classified into two types: atopic and nonatopic. Atopic asthma, triggered by allergic reaction against a plethora of reactants like house dust mites, animal dander, pollens and fur, leads to an increase in the level of serum IgE. In allergic asthma, there is strong involvement of the immune system. Allergens are recognized by membrane-bound pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) such as C-type lectin receptors (CLR), toll-like receptors (TLRs) and nucleotide-binding domain/leucine-rich repeat receptors (NLRs). Interaction of these PRRs with allergen induces immune tolerance in healthy individuals, but in asthmatics, they activate cascade of pathways causing inflammatory immune responses [11].

Antigen-presenting cells especially dendritic cells (DCs) act as a connective link between the innate and adaptive immune responses. They pick the external allergens which are then transported to the local lymph node. After processing, the major histocompatibility complex class II (MHC II) molecules present them to the naïve T cells. Upon binding of allergens, DCs drive the differentiation of naïve T cells into T helper cell type 2 (Th2) cells that secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 that recruits inflammatory cells leading to an inflammatory cascade. The primed Th2 cells also activate B cells and convert them to plasma cells causing secretion of allergen-specific IgE antibodies [12]. The IgE antibodies then bind to their receptors present on mast cell surface causing allergen sensitization. Re-exposure of the body to that allergen mediates cross-linking of these IgE receptors, leading to mast cell degranulation and subsequent release of histamine and other mediators that lead to vasodilation, smooth muscle contraction and increased capillary permeability. This process termed as immune hypersensitivity plays a key role in eliciting immune response in allergic/atopic asthma.

Nonatopic asthma, on the other hand, is caused by factors such as occupation, extreme weather conditions, heightened emotions, lifestyle choices and obesity. Neither allergen-specific serum IgE nor total IgE levels are seen to increase in patients with nonatopic asthma. Therefore, they show negative skin test result against common allergens. In addition, clinical or family history of allergy is not observed. Initially, it was hypothesized that development of nonatopic asthma involves mechanisms other than inflammation or immune response. However, studies now demonstrate involvement of different immune modulators in nonatopic asthma as compared to atopic asthma. Increase in the numbers mast cells, eosinophils and T lymphocytes characterize the airway inflammation in atopic asthmatics, whereas nonatopic asthmatics mainly display high numbers of neutrophils and mast cells, possibly via non-IgE-mediated hypersensitivity responses in airways [13]. However, the pathophysiological mechanisms guiding nonatopic asthma are poorly defined.

6.3 Mitochondria

Human mitochondria are essential organelles of the cells that have been thought to have a bacterial descent. According to the endosymbiotic theory, alphaproteobacterium was endocytosed by host cells approximately 2 billion years ago. The resultant double-membrane organelle was semi-autonomous in nature, having its own genetic material and the ability to code for some proteins using its own transcription and translational machinery [14].

Mitochondria have classically been thought to be the powerhouses of the cell as they generate energy through oxidative phosphorylation. Citric acid cycle in the mitochondrial matrix leads to the formation of metabolites and reducing equivalents like NADH and FADH₂. Thereafter, in the inner mitochondrial membrane, electrons move from these energy carriers through a series of complexes (complex I-IV), to the final electron acceptor - molecular oxygen. The proton motive force generated by this electron flow powers the production of ATP from ADP and P_i [6]. Apart from their central function in bioenergetics, mitochondria are also essential to maintaining cellular homeostasis via biosynthesis. With important roles in synthesis of heme molecules and assembling of the iron-sulphur clusters, mitochondria are critical to regulation of iron metabolism [15]. Moreover, the metabolites produced during citric acid cycle also serve as precursors for synthesis of macromolecules like carbohydrates, lipids and proteins. In recent studies, mitochondria have also come up as essential signalling organelles [16]. The highly oxidative environment in mitochondria leads to the generation of reactive oxygen species like superoxide (O^{-}) , hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and hydroxyl radicals (OH). While, under pathological conditions, excessive production of ROS causes damaging effects in the cell, under physiological conditions, mitochondrial ROS (mROS) act as signalling molecules. mROS relay signals between the mitochondria and rest of the cell and are essential for regulating innate and adaptive immune responses, oxygen sensing, stem cell proliferation and hormone signalling [17]. Thus, this delicate balance of the mROS levels is critical to cellular homeostasis and is termed as mitochondrial hormesis or

mitohormesis [18]. Mitochondria also play a central role in apoptosis by involvement via disruption of electron transport chain, release of caspase-activating proteins in the cytoplasm and alteration of cellular redox potential [19].

Since mitochondria are at the nexus of important cellular processes, there exist multiple quality control measures to ensure higher mitochondrial fitness. One of the key pathways in place is mitophagy whereby the damaged, depolarized mitochondria are autophagocytosed, enabling mitigation of mitochondrial stress [20]. The dynamic nature of mitochondria – with continuous fission and fusion – also facilitates stress attenuation. While mitochondrial fusion is regulated by proteins, optic atrophy 1 (OPA1) and mitofusin 1 and 2 (Mfn 1/2), mitochondrial fission is controlled by dynamin-1-like (DRP1) and fission 1 (Fis1). Fusion of mitochondria reduces the heterogeneity of mitochondria and helps in diluting the mtDNA mutations and oxidized proteins. Mitochondrial fission also supports quality control. DRP1-mediated asymmetric fission enables segregation of healthy, polarized mitochondria from the abnormal, depolarized portion. The healthy part can reintegrate into the mitochondrial network, whereas the depolarized part is removed through mitophagy [21]. Another important quality control pathway is the mitochondrial unfolded protein response which enables communication between the nuclear and mitochondrial genomes and maintains the mitochondrial proteome [22].

Even with such quality control measures in place, when the mitochondrial stress exceeds a critical point, mitochondrial function gets affected leading to disruption of energy production, alteration of cellular metabolic profile, dysregulation of signal transduction pathways and eventual setting in of apoptosis. Any cellular injury or stress also leads to release of mitochondrial components like mtDNA, ATP, mitochondrial N-formyl peptides and mitochondria-specific phospholipid cardiolipin in the cytosol or the extracellular milieu. Due to microbial origin of mitochondria, these components have features akin to their bacterial counterparts and thus act as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) [23-25]. These mito-DAMPs are recognized by pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) like NLRP3 inflammasome in the cytosol or toll-like receptors (TLRs) outside the cell, leading to activation of inflammatory signalling and triggering of immune responses [7]. Overall, mitochondrial dysfunction can disrupt critical cellular pathways and is thus central to the pathogenesis of various diseases like respiratory diseases, cardiovascular diseases, neurodegenerative diseases, autoimmune diseases, inflammatory disorders, metabolic disorders and cancer.

6.4 Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Asthma

6.4.1 Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Atopic/Allergic Asthma: Studies and Mechanisms

Asthma has been shown to have a strong hereditary component. Maternal history of atopy and asthma is considered to be a significant risk factor for development of asthma and other allergic diseases. With maternal transmission of mitochondria, an association of mitochondrial genome with asthma and atopic diseases is indicative. A significant association has been observed between mitochondrial haplogroup U and elevated serum IgE levels in European population [26]. Moreover, mutations in mitochondrial genes encoding mitochondrial t-RNAs have also been shown to play a role in increasing the risk to asthma [27]. Also, ATP synthase mitochondrial F1 complex assembly factor 1 (ATPAF1) has been identified as a candidate gene for asthma in Caucasian European children [28]. Along with genetic links, functional studies have also shown mitochondrial dysfunction to be associated with asthma and allergies. Structural changes in the mitochondria of bronchial epithelia of asthmatic patients have been reported [29]. In addition, in the murine model of allergic inflammation, swollen and fragmented mitochondria have been observed in the airway epithelium, associated with activation of apoptotic pathways in the lungs and reduction in lung ATP levels [30]. In another study, exposure of airway epithelial cells to ragweed pollen extract was shown to cause oxidative damage to an important structural protein of complex III of the mitochondrial electron transport chain, ubiquinol-cytochrome c reductase core protein II (UQCRC2), which was in turn implicated in mtROS generation. Mitochondrial dysfunction induced by downregulation of this core protein prior to pollen extract exposure in mice led to aggravated allergic response as seen by increased bronchial hyper-responsiveness and elevated mucin secretion [31]. Thus, the study highlights how pre-existing mitochondrial dysfunction can increase the allergic phenotype. Environmental oxidative stress caused by diesel exhaust particles or tobacco smoke can induce mitochondrial dysfunction, further exacerbating the allergic features in asthmatic and atopic individuals.

The above-mentioned studies demonstrate experimental links between mitochondrial dysfunction and asthma. Multiple other studies have delved into the mechanistic connections that make mitochondrial dysfunction central to pathogenesis of allergic asthma. Broadly, defects in mitochondria translate to epithelial barrier disruption and immune response modulations which play an essential role in allergic asthma pathogenesis.

6.4.1.1 Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Epithelial Barrier Disruption

Recent studies have highlighted the crucial role of epithelial cells in asthma pathogenesis. Epithelial cells in the lungs serve as the first line of defence against noxious agents like allergens, cigarette smoke and invading pathogens. These cells act not just as a structural barrier against allergen sensitization but are also actively involved in activating signal transduction cascades and in mounting immune responses [32]. Mitochondria, through their control of apoptosis, have been shown to maintain the epithelial integrity. Mitochondrial calcium uniporter (MCU) is involved in uptake of calcium in the mitochondrial matrix. Calcium overload in mitochondria leads to mtROS generation, membrane depolarization and, ultimately, release of cytochrome c in the cytosol and induction of apoptosis. In a recent study, Sebag et al. demonstrated protective response against mitochondrial dysfunction and cellular apoptosis caused by IL-13 upon downregulation of MCU in the airway epithelial cells. In concert with in vitro studies, in murine model of ovalbumin-mediated allergic inflammation as well, MCU knockout was associated with preserved expression of tight junction proteins and reduced epithelial cell apoptosis [33]. Another study highlighted the role of a phospholipid transfer protein (Stard7), which enables uptake of phosphatidylcholine in mitochondria, in maintaining mitochondrial homeostasis and epithelial barrier function. In vitro downregulation of Stard7 in bronchial epithelial cells and lung epithelial cell-specific knockout of the protein in mice was shown to alter mitochondrial morphology, change mitochondrial membrane potential and induce mtDNA damage in the cells. This was concomitantly associated with impaired epithelial barrier permeability which was restored by treatment with mitochondria-targeted antioxidant – MitoTEMPO [34].

6.4.1.2 Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Immune Response Modulation

Mitochondrial dysfunction has been shown to activate both innate and adaptive immune responses. Association of mtROS and NLRP3 inflammasome has been reported in allergic asthma [35]. Inflammasome, a part of the innate immune response, is a multi-protein complex that intercepts damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and causes release of pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-1ß and IL-18 [36]. In ovalbumin (OVA), lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and house dust mite (HDM) induced murine model of allergic inflammation, the mitochondrial ROS levels were found to be elevated in the airway inflammatory and epithelial cells. This was also associated with damage-associated mtDNA in the lungs of these mice. While mtROS has been known to activate inflammasome cascade, mtDNA also acts as a DAMP and coactivates the cascade [37, 38]. In these allergic models, increased mtROS and damageassociated mtDNA have been shown to activate the NLRP3 inflammasome. This was associated with activation and nuclear translocation of NF-KB as well. Treatment of these mice with a mitochondria ROS inhibitor - NecroX5 - led to restoration of these changes and inhibition of the pathophysiological features of allergic inflammation. Blockade of IL-1ß also alleviated the airway hyper-responsiveness and inflammation [35]. These observations suggest a central role of inflammasome in the mtROS-driven allergic asthma pathogenesis. On similar lines, another study using OVA- and Aspergillus-exposed murine model of allergic inflammation has demonstrated activation of oxidant Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) in the mitochondria and increase in mtROS generation. High mtROS was further shown to activate NLRP3 inflammasome and nuclear translocation of NF-kB. There was a concomitant induction of Th2 cytokines and consequent airway inflammation and hyperactivity [39].

Mitochondrial dysfunction can also directly cause mast cell degranulation and enhance Th2 responses. Exposure of the mucosal mast cells to ragweed pollen extract was found to induce generation of mtROS from the mitochondrial respiratory complex III. This oxidative stress further induced secretion of the biogenic amines – histamine and serotonin from mast cells – independent of any IgEmediated trigger. Concomitantly, the mtROS also led to increased release of IL-4 from the sensitized mast cells [40].

6.4.1.3 Other Studies in Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Allergic Asthma

Exposure of bronchial epithelial cells to allergens like house dust mite has been shown to hamper the mitochondrial dynamics by increasing ER-mitochondrial contacts. Such changes were demonstrated to induce recruitment of mitochondrial fission protein DRP1 and initiate fragmentation of mitochondria. This was associated with release of pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-8 and IL-1 β [41]. In asthmatic lungs, along with epithelial barrier disruption, hypertrophy and hyperplasia of smooth muscle cells are also key pathophysiological features. In airway smooth muscle cells (ASMs) of severe persistent asthma patients, increased number of mitochondria has been observed due to increased expression of proteins involved in mitochondrial biogenesis. This increased mitochondrial biogenesis has been associated with hypertrophy of the ASMs causing airway remodelling. However, in fatal, young asthmatics, such an increase was not observed in the ASMs [42]. Another study in cultured ASMs demonstrates the alteration in mitochondrial calcium flux leading to increase in cytoplasmic calcium levels and eventually promoting ASM contractility [43]. Thus, mitochondrial function, inflammation and ASM contraction are interlinked; however, they have different patterns in different asthma phenotypes.

6.4.2 Obese-Asthma Phenotype: An Overlap Between Metabolic Syndrome and Asthma

The increasing trend of high-calorie diet consumption and lack of physical activities is a mark of the modern lifestyle. Such lifestyle modifications over a prolonged period of time negatively impact the overall health of an individual leading to development of diseases. Metabolic syndrome represents the abnormal metabolic factors that increase the frequency of cardiovascular diseases, such as heart failure, thrombosis and cardiac arrhythmias, along with increase in incidence of type II diabetes. Of the factors that lead to metabolic syndrome (MetS), obesity is a strong risk factor for development of asthma and represents one of the members of the triad, with dyslipidaemia and hyperglycaemia being the other two [44, 45]. A higher intake versus lower consumption of energy leads to an imbalance, causing excessive adipose tissue accumulation and, therefore, obesity. Mitochondrial dysfunction, inflammation and perturbed antioxidant defence functions are the hallmarks of obesity.

Epidemiological studies have found a strong link between asthma and metabolic syndrome. It has been observed that body mass index shows a positive correlation with asthma severity, with abdominal obesity showing stronger association to asthma as compared to general body mass, leading to development of a subset of asthma phenotype termed as obese-asthma [46, 47]. Subjects of this phenotype are of particular concern to physicians since most of them are unresponsive to cortico-steroids and conventional anti-inflammatory therapies. Thus, obese people are not

only more prone to asthma, they often experience symptoms of severe asthma with poor disease management. In addition to this, neutrophilic airway inflammation, low-grade systemic inflammation and increased morbidity are commonly observed in these individuals. Asthma and obesity are in fact termed as twin epidemics of the developing world [44, 48, 49]. In two studies in Korean population, one with 10,000 participants and a recent one with 4000 aged subjects, metabolic syndrome was found to be significantly associated with asthma [50, 51].

Obese mice show increased airway hyper-responsiveness even without allergen immunization and develop severe asthma phenotype in response to asthma predisposing factors [52]. Furthermore, obese patients show improvement in asthma on weight loss [53]. This suggests a possible relation between the two diseases. However, the mechanism by which they work is hitherto unknown. While obese-asthma subjects show altered lung and chest wall mechanics, these do not fully explain the development of the phenotype. This is because (1) not all obese subjects develop asthma, (2) subjects with metabolic dysregulation with normal body mass also frequently develop asthma and (3) maternal obesity is observed to increase risk of asthma incidence in offspring, independent of child's own obesity. This suggests the possible involvement of other mechanisms that may lead to either of the two diseases.

6.4.2.1 Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Obese-Asthma (Nonatopic): Studies and Mechanisms

Optimal cellular bioenergetics, the key to good health, is largely dependent on mitochondria and its function. Chronic high nutrient intake overloads mitochondria, increasing ROS levels and therefore oxidative damage that affects mitochondrial integrity and its function. This also leads to activation of stress response pathways and ultimately loss of healthy mitochondria. In fact, mitochondria from obese subjects were found to be smaller, with diminished biogenetic capacity as compared to lean subjects [54]. In genetically obese, as well as diet-induced obese mice, increase in mitochondrial ROS and dysfunctional oxidative respiration have been observed [55, 56]. Also, mitochondrial biogenesis is compromised in obese individuals due to decrease in levels of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator (PGC-1 α), the master regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis and also of important transcription factors such as mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM) and nuclear respiratory factor-1 (NRF-1). All these provide supporting evidence that mitochondrial dysfunction is a key pathological mechanism in obesity.

Multiple studies have shown how mitochondria and its bioenergetics play a central role in asthma. In 1985, Konradova et al. showed swollen mitochondria in bronchial epithelial cells of three subjects with asthma. Murine models of allergic asthma confirmed the observation and found abnormalities in mitochondrial structure as an integral part of the asthma phenotype [30]. The key inflammatory mediators of asthma, Th2 cytokines like IL-4 and IL-13, were also found to induce mitochondrial dysfunction. Emerging evidence therefore suggests mitochondrial dysfunction to be the common player in development of these seemingly disparate diseases: obesity and asthma. Many studies have shown alterations in mitochondrial genome to be associated to metabolic syndrome. Although the ratio of mitochondrial DNA to nuclear DNA (mtDNA/nDNA) is shown to be markedly reduced, any major genomic deletions are not observed. Few polymorphisms in mtDNA that are also risk factors for metabolic syndrome have been reported, for example T16189C in both Caucasian and Turkish patients and A10398G in Chinese population [57, 58]. These variants may be responsible for increased damage to mitochondria, their accelerated clearance and reduced bioenergetics.

6.4.2.2 Molecular Mechanisms of Mitochondrial Dysfunctions in Obese-Asthma

Molecular mechanisms through which asthma, obesity and metabolic syndrome are connected involve proteins and metabolites involved in dysregulation of mitochondrial functions. These are discussed below:

(A) Increase in expression of a non-heme iron dioxygenase, 12/15-LOX, that catalyses hydroperoxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids in adipocytes is observed in mice fed on high-fat or western diet. Protection from obesity-related complications was observed on fat-specific deletion of 12/15-LOX, and its deficiency reduced macrophage infiltration in adipocytes, decreasing tissue inflammation [59–62]. Also, asthmatic features were seen to be alleviated on genetic ablation of the enzyme, 12/15-LOX. Also, the enzyme 12/15-LOX and its metabolites such 13-S-hydroxyoctadecadienoic acid (13-S-HODE) as and 12-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (12-S-HETE) may cause mitochondrial degradation and dysfunction in airway epithelium of asthmatics by activating TRPV1 channels, thereby modulating calcium homeostasis [63]. These suggest mitochondrial dysfunction via change in expression of 12/15-LOX to play a role in development of the obese-asthma phenotype.

The increase in 12/15-LOX in obese mice also causes ER stress and unfolded protein response (UPR) which further leads to macrophage infiltration causing activation of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-1 β in adipocytes. These mediators reduce the expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), thereby causing decrease in nitric oxide (NO) production. This in turn compromises mitochondrial biogenesis by inhibition of PGC-1 α . The reduction in mitochondrial biogenesis hampers β -oxidation of fatty acids, causing their accumulation in adipocytes. The resultant adiposity and release of free fatty acids cause mitochondrial dysfunction, impaired oxidative phosphorylation and elevated level of ROS. Further, the lipid overload increases ER stress, decreasing eNOS, thereby leading to a vicious cycle ([64] Fig. 6.1).

(B) Perturbation of the nitric oxide metabolism is also an important pathophysiological mechanism connecting asthma and obesity. Using L-arginine as a substrate, NO is synthesized by enzymes called nitric oxide synthase (NOS) which are of three types: neuronal (nNOS), inducible (iNOS) and endothelial (eNOS).



Fig. 6.1 Obese-asthma at the interface of obesity and asthma: schematic showing possible link with mitochondrial dysfunction

Nitric oxide plays an important role in maintaining the function of the airway epithelium such as bronchodilation, ciliary movements and mitochondrial biogenesis [65]. eNOS shows a protective role in both asthma and metabolic syndrome. As explained before, mitochondrial biogenesis is inhibited and fatty acid oxidation decreases on reduction in bioavailability of NO. This leads to lipid accumulation in adipocytes causing increase in formation of oxidative free radicals and mitochondrial dysfunction. Furthermore, decrease in bioavailability of L-arginine is a common pathophysiological feature observed in both diseases.

(C) In addition to that, asthmatic airways show an increase in ADMA level, which is an endogenous NO inhibitor that uncouples eNOS to generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) and peroxinitrites causing oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction. Interestingly, increase in protein turnover causes ADMA levels to increase in obesity. In experimental model of obese-asthma, ADMA levels are seen to be high in plasma. Interestingly, features of metabolic syndrome are observed in eNOS-deficient mice, while its overexpression in bronchial epithelial alleviates asthma features [66]. Independent studies show that high dosage of L-arginine supplementation also alleviates features of asthma and metabolic syndrome [67, 68]. An important pro-inflammatory Th2 cytokine involved in allergic asthma, IL-4, also promotes intracellular accumulation of ADMA leading to oxo-nitrative stress, hypoxic response and ultimately loss of mitochondria. Thus, elevated levels of ADMA in obesity along with high IL-4 levels can potentiate each other and show a bidirectional relationship between the two diseases causing mitochondrial dysfunction.

In obesity (MetS), excess nutrient leads to ER stress via increased expression of 12/15-LOX in adipocytes causing decrease in eNOS and β -oxidation leading to mitochondrial dysfunction. Decreased β -oxidation leads to accumulation of free fatty acid, which in turn ends up as a signal for nutrient overload resulting in formation of a vicious cycle. The subsequent insulin resistance and central obesity are the key features of metabolic syndrome. In asthma, on the other hand, Th2 cytokines such as IL-4 increase levels of ADMA and 12/15-LOX, which leads to mitochondrial dysfunction via increase in oxo-nitrative stress and altered calcium homeostasis via activation of TRPV1 channels, respectively, leading to airway hyper-responsiveness and epithelial cell injury in asthma. Thus, mitochondrial dysfunction is the common player in MetS and asthma that leads to development of obese-asthma phenotype.

6.5 Mitochondria-Based Therapeutics

Since mitochondrial dysfunction has emerged central to asthma pathogenesis, improving mitochondrial function through targeted therapeutics offers a novel handle to tackle the disease. Towards this aim, three basic strategies have been worked upon, namely, **r**eprogramming, **r**epair and **r**eplacement of defective mitochondria.

6.5.1 Reprogramme

The reprogramming strategy entails modulating the regulatory pathways of mitochondria to improve their function. Since the obese-asthma subjects do not respond well to the traditional line of anti-inflammatory therapy, such a therapy targeting mitochondria dysfunction could have greater benefits in disease management. Calorie restriction and physical exercise enhance the production of natural antioxidants, decrease mitochondrial ROS and promote mitochondrial biogenesis [69]. While lifestyle modification and weight loss are the first lines of recommendation in treatment of obese-asthma owing to obvious health benefits, targeted therapies are also required. Using chemicals to mimic calorie restriction such as metformin is one of the potential approaches. Metformin acts via AMP-sensitive protein kinases promoting mitochondrial metabolism. Attenuation of allergen-induced inflammation on treatment with metformin is observed in mice with high-fat-diet-induced obesity [70]. Further, resolution of inflammation is faster in animals treated with metformin. While intrinsic airway hyperresponsiveness in genetically obese mice does not show much improvement, other allergen-induced models of asthma show antiasthmatic effect on treatment with metformin. This suggests shared metabolic processes between allergic asthma and dietary obesity play an important role [71].

Supplementation of L-arginine on experimental models with mitochondrial dysfunction caused by either asthma or metabolic syndrome shows benefits. Mice with arginase 2 (Arg2) knockouts show metabolic dysfunction and increased predisposition to asthma. Also, as per genome-wide association studies, Arg2 genetic variants are associated with increased risk to development of severe asthma [72]. Inhibition of L-arginine degradation using arginase or restoration of eNOS levels using statins and degradation of ADMA has similar effect on metabolism of nitric oxide and asthma [67, 73]. A shared interface between obesity and asthma is also suggested since metformin also shows important effects on nitric oxide metabolism.

Biomolecules that attenuate asthmatic features in experimental models include the following:

- (a) 12/15-LOX inhibitors such as baicalein and aesculetin along with exogenous antioxidants that scavenge ROS can reduce mitotoxicity [74, 75].
- (b) Sirtuin activators like resveratrol can stimulate mitochondrial biogenesis [76].

While these pathways are common in both obesity and asthma, their potential benefits in allergic as well as obese-asthma patients are yet to be ascertained.

Another novel method of restoring the mitochondrial biogenesis is through a microbial derivative – pyrroloquinoline quinone (PQQ). Bacterial origin of human mitochondria enables a cross-talk between human mitochondria and the microbiome [77]. PQQ is a microbial metabolite that has been reported to stimulate the human mitochondrial biogenesis through PGC-1 α [78]. The physiological potential of PQQ as a strong antioxidant (1000 times better at tolerating oxidation than vitamin C) makes it a promising candidate for reprograming mitochondrial dysfunction [79].

6.5.2 Repair

The repair therapy works towards restoring mitohormesis and ensuring that the level of mtROS is finely balanced. General antioxidant therapy, involving α -tocopherol and vitamin C, has not been as effective as projected [80]. However, antioxidants targeted to the mitochondria have shown potential benefits. A combination of mitochondria-targeted antioxidants such as coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10) along with α -tocopherol and vitamin C was shown to reduce steroid usage [81]. This may be particularly important in obese-asthma subjects who are ineffective to glucocorticoid treatments. Potent mitochondrial antioxidants such as MitoQ, a modified form of CoQ10, MitoTEMPO and tiron are effective in preventing and reversing mitochondrial oxidative damage and therefore seem to be promising [8]. As mentioned in previous sections, MitoTEMPO has been shown to restore the paracellular leak in airway epithelial cells in both in vitro and in vivo models [34]. In experimental models of allergic inflammation, another mitochondria-targeted antioxidant -NecroX5 – has been shown to reduce mtROS and alleviate the allergic phenotype [35]. Although these repair strategies hold much promise, it must be ensured that the oxidant-antioxidant balance is optimized so that mitochondrial hormesis prevails.

6.5.3 Replacement

An emerging strategy in mitochondrial medicine is the replacement of defective mitochondria with functional ones. This can be achieved by multiple methods, namely, microinjection of isolated mitochondria, incubation with purified mitochondria, gap junction-driven transfer or direct transfer from donor cells [82]. Amongst the candidate donor cells, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have come up as effective donors of mitochondria whereby they transfer the organelles through tunnelling nanotubes or extracellular vesicles. MSCs also have an added advantage of having homing properties that direct them to the site of injury for tissue repair [83]. In a recent study using murine models of allergic inflammation, mitochondrial donation from MSCs to injured epithelial cells was shown to alleviate the allergic phenotype. The donation of mitochondria was shown through TNTs, and the mitochondrial movement was mediated by Rho GTPase, Miro1 [84]. While such a stem cell-based therapy seems to be an attractive option, work needs to be carried out for optimization of essential parameters like the source of MSCs, the dose of MSCs and their donation potential.

6.6 Conclusion

Asthma is a complex disease originating from a wide spectrum of triggers and with multiple phenotypes, but there appears to be a common point of integration at level of mitochondria. In allergic asthma, multiple studies demonstrate the involvement of mitochondria, which appears to be bi-directional in nature. Also, in obesity, the role of mitochondrial dysfunction in the adipose tissue, liver and skeletal muscle has been well established by multiple studies. In addition to this, dietary obesity that leads to the obese-asthma phenotype seems to involve dysfunctional mitochondria. Therefore, irrespective of atopic or nonatopic trigger, mitochondrial dysfunction seems to be the unifying thread playing a key role in asthma pathophysiological mechanisms. While available clinical data is insufficient, mitochondria-targeted therapies are shown to be promising in experimental models. In subjects with severe form of asthma who are resistant to conventional clinical interventions, such strategies may improve asthma management.

References

- 1. Holgate ST, Wenzel S, Postma DS, Weiss ST, Renz H, Sly PD (2015) Asthma. Nat Rev Dis Prim 1:15025. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2015.25
- Wenzel SE (2012) Asthma phenotypes: the evolution from clinical to molecular approaches. Nat Med 18:716–725. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2678
- Mabalirajan U, Ghosh B (2013) Mitochondrial dysfunction in metabolic syndrome and asthma. J Allergy 2013:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/340476
- 4. Bhatraju NK, Agrawal A (2017) Mitochondrial dysfunction linking obesity and asthma. Ann Am Thorac Soc 14:S368–S373. https://doi.org/10.1513/AnnalsATS.201701-042AW

- Iyer D, Mishra N, Agrawal A (2017) Mitochondrial function in allergic disease. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 17:29. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11882-017-0695-0
- Nunnari J, Suomalainen A (2012) Mitochondria: in sickness and in health. Cell 148:1145– 1159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.02.035
- López-Armada MJ, Riveiro-Naveira RR, Vaamonde-García C, Valcárcel-Ares MN (2013) Mitochondrial dysfunction and the inflammatory response. Mitochondrion 13:106–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mito.2013.01.003
- Sorrentino V, Menzies KJ, Auwerx J (2018) Repairing mitochondrial dysfunction in disease. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 58:353–389. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-pharmtox-010716-104908
- Agrawal A, Mabalirajan U, Ahmad T, Ghosh B (2011) Emerging interface between metabolic syndrome and asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 44:270–275. https://doi.org/10.1165/ rcmb.2010-0141TR
- Mukherjee AB, Zhang Z (2011) Allergic asthma: influence of genetic and environmental factors. J Biol Chem 286:32883–32889. R110.197046 [pii]10.1074/jbc.R110.197046
- Minnicozzi M, Sawyer RT, Fenton MJ (2011) Innate immunity in allergic disease. Immunol Rev 242:106–127. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01025.x
- 12. Kay AB, Kaplan AP, Bousquet J, Holt PG (2008) Allergy and allergic diseases. Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford
- Kraneveld AD, van der Kleij HPM, Kool M, van Houwelingen AH, Weitenberg ACD, Redegeld FAM, Nijkamp FP (2002) Key role for mast cells in nonatopic asthma. J Immunol 169:2044–2053
- Archibald JM (2015) Endosymbiosis and eukaryotic cell evolution. Curr Biol 25:R911–R921. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.07.055
- Lill R, Hoffmann B, Molik S, Pierik AJ, Rietzschel N, Stehling O, Uzarska MA, Webert H, Wilbrecht C, Mühlenhoff U (2012) The role of mitochondria in cellular iron–sulfur protein biogenesis and iron metabolism. Biochim Biophys Acta, Mol Cell Res 1823:1491–1508. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBAMCR.2012.05.009
- Chandel NS (2014) Mitochondria as signaling organelles. BMC Biol 12:34. https://doi. org/10.1186/1741-7007-12-34
- Hamanaka RB, Chandel NS (2010) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species regulate cellular signaling and dictate biological outcomes. Trends Biochem Sci 35:505–513. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tibs.2010.04.002
- Yun J, Finkel T (2014) Mitohormesis. Cell Metab 19:757–766. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cmet.2014.01.011
- Green DR, Reed JC (1998) Mitochondria and apoptosis. Science 281:1309–1312. https://doi. org/10.1126/SCIENCE.281.5381.1309
- Youle RJ, Narendra DP (2011) Mechanisms of mitophagy. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 12:9–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3028
- Archer SL (2013) Mitochondrial dynamics mitochondrial fission and fusion in human diseases. N Engl J Med 369:2236–2251. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1215233
- Jovaisaite V, Auwerx J (2015) The mitochondrial unfolded protein response synchronizing genomes. Curr Opin Cell Biol 33:74–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2014.12.003
- Zhang Q, Raoof M, Chen Y, Sumi Y, Sursal T, Junger W, Brohi K, Itagaki K, Hauser CJ (2010) Circulating mitochondrial DAMPs cause inflammatory responses to injury. Nature 464:104– 107. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08780
- Kouzaki H, Iijima K, Kobayashi T, O'Grady SM, Kita H (2011) The danger signal, extracellular ATP, is a sensor for an airborne allergen and triggers IL-33 release and innate Th2-type responses. J Immunol 186:4375–4387. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1003020
- 25. Chakraborty K, Raundhal M, Chen BB, Morse C, Tyurina YY, Khare A, Oriss TB, Huff R, Lee JS, St Croix CM, Watkins S, Mallampalli RK, Kagan VE, Ray A, Ray P (2017) The mito-DAMP cardiolipin blocks IL-10 production causing persistent inflammation during bacterial pneumonia. Nat Commun 8:13944. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13944

- 26. Raby BA, Klanderman B, Murphy A, Mazza S, Camargo CA, Silverman EK, Weiss ST (2007) A common mitochondrial haplogroup is associated with elevated total serum IgE levels. J Allergy Clin Immunol 120:351–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2007.05.029
- Zifa E, Daniil Z, Skoumi E, Stavrou M, Papadimitriou K, Terzenidou M, Kostikas K, Bagiatis V, Gourgoulianis KI, Mamuris Z (2012) Mitochondrial genetic background plays a role in increasing risk to asthma. Mol Biol Rep 39:4697–4708. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11033-011-1262-8
- Schauberger EM, Ewart SL, Arshad SH, Huebner M, Karmaus W, Holloway JW, Friderici KH, Ziegler JT, Zhang H, Rose-Zerilli MJ, Barton SJ, Holgate ST, Kilpatrick JR, Harley JB, Lajoie-Kadoch S, Harley ITW, Hamid Q, Kurukulaaratchy RJ, Seibold MA, Avila PC, Rodriguez-Cintrón W, Rodriguez-Santana JR, Hu D, Gignoux C, Romieu I, London SJ, Burchard EG, Langefeld CD, Wills-Karp M (2011) Identification of ATPAF1 as a novel candidate gene for asthma in children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 128:753–760.e11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaci.2011.04.058
- Konrádová V, Copová C, Suková B, Houstěk J (1985) Ultrastructure of the bronchial epithelium in three children with asthma. Pediatr Pulmonol 1:182–187
- Mabalirajan U, Dinda AK, Kumar S, Roshan R, Gupta P, Sharma SK, Ghosh B (2008) Mitochondrial structural changes and dysfunction are associated with experimental allergic asthma. J Immunol 181:3540–3548
- Aguilera-Aguirre L, Bacsi A, Saavedra-Molina A, Kurosky A, Sur S, Boldogh I (2009) Mitochondrial dysfunction increases allergic airway inflammation. J Immunol 183:5379– 5387. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0900228
- Lambrecht BN, Hammad H (2012) The airway epithelium in asthma. Nat Med 18:684–692. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2737
- Sebag SC, Koval OM, Paschke JD, Winters CJ, Comellas AP, Grumbach IM (2018) Inhibition of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter prevents IL-13 and allergen-mediated airway epithelial apoptosis and loss of barrier function. Exp Cell Res 362:400–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yexcr.2017.12.003
- 34. Yang L, Na C-L, Luo S, Wu D, Hogan S, Huang T, Weaver TE (2017) The phosphatidylcholine transfer protein Stard7 is required for mitochondrial and epithelial cell homeostasis. Sci Rep 7:46416. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep46416
- 35. Kim SR, Kim DI, Kim SH, Lee H, Lee KS, Cho SH, Lee YC (2014) NLRP3 inflammasome activation by mitochondrial ROS in bronchial epithelial cells is required for allergic inflammation. Cell Death Dis 5:e1498. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2014.460
- 36. Gross O, Thomas CJ, Guarda G, Tschopp J (2011) The inflammasome: an integrated view. Immunol Rev 243:136–151. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01046.x
- Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Kroemer G (2011) Mitochondrial control of the NLRP3 inflammasome. Nat Immunol 12:199–200. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni0311-199
- Zhou R, Yazdi AS, Menu P, Tschopp J (2011) A role for mitochondria in NLRP3 inflammasome activation. Nature 469:221–225. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09663
- Sebag SC, Koval OM, Paschke JD, Winters CJ, Jaffer OA, Dworski R, Sutterwala FS, Anderson ME, Grumbach IM (2017) Mitochondrial CaMKII inhibition in airway epithelium protects against allergic asthma. JCI Insight 2:e88297. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.88297
- Chodaczek G, Bacsi A, Dharajiya N, Sur S, Hazra TK, Boldogh I (2009) Ragweed pollen-mediated IgE-independent release of biogenic amines from mast cells via induction of mitochondrial dysfunction. Mol Immunol 46:2505–2514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molimm.2009.05.023
- Cahoon J, Anathy V (2015) Endoplasmic reticulum mitochondrial interactions in house dust mite induced inflammation. UVM College of Arts and Sciences College Honors Theses
- 42. Syyong HT, Pascoe CD, Zhang J, Arsenault BA, Solomon D, Elliott WM, Hackett TL, Walker DC, Paré PD, Seow CY (2015) Ultrastructure of human tracheal smooth muscle from subjects with asthma and nonasthmatic subjects. Standardized methods for comparison. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 52:304–314. https://doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2014-0176OC

- Delmotte P, Yang B, Thompson MA, Pabelick CM, Prakash YS, Sieck GC (2012) Inflammation alters regional mitochondrial Ca²⁺ in human airway smooth muscle cells. Am J Phys Cell Physiol 303:C244–C256. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00414.2011
- Beuther DA (2010) Recent insight into obesity and asthma. Curr Opin Pulm Med 16:64–70. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCP.0b013e3283338fa7
- Farzan S (2013) The asthma phenotype in the obese: distinct or otherwise? J Allergy 2013:602908. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/602908
- 46. Appleton SL, Adams RJ, Wilson DH, Taylor AW, Ruffin RE, North West Adelaide Health Study T (2006) Central obesity is associated with nonatopic but not atopic asthma in a representative population sample. J Allergy Clin Immunol 118:1284–1291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaci.2006.08.011
- Wasir JS, Misra A, Vikram NK, Pandey RM, Gupta R (2008) Comparison of definitions of the metabolic syndrome in adult Asian Indians. J Assoc Physicians India 56:158–164
- Brisbon N, Plumb J, Brawer R, Paxman D (2005) The asthma and obesity epidemics: the role played by the built environment – a public health perspective. J Allergy Clin Immunol 115:1024–1028. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2005.02.020
- 49. Kent BD, Lane SJ (2012) Twin epidemics: asthma and obesity. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 157:213–214. https://doi.org/10.1159/000329874
- Lee EJ, In KH, Ha ES, Lee KJ, Hur GY, Kang EH, Jung KH, Lee SY, Kim JH, Lee SY, Shin C, Shim JJ, Kang KH, Yoo SH (2009) Asthma-like symptoms are increased in the metabolic syndrome. J Asthma 46:339–342. https://doi.org/10.1080/02770900802660931
- 51. Park S, Choi NK, Kim S, Lee CH (2018) The relationship between metabolic syndrome and asthma in the elderly. Sci Rep 8:9378. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-26621-z
- Shore SA (2007) Obesity and asthma: lessons from animal models. J Appl Physiol 102:516– 528. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00847.2006
- Shore SA (2010) Obesity, airway hyperresponsiveness, and inflammation. J Appl Physiol 108:735–743. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00749.2009
- 54. Campbell CD, Mohajeri K, Malig M, Hormozdiari F, Nelson B, Du G, Patterson KM, Eng C, Torgerson DG, Hu D, Herman C, Chong JX, Ko A, O'Roak BJ, Krumm N, Vives L, Lee C, Roth LA, Rodriguez-Cintron W, Rodriguez-Santana J, Brigino-Buenaventura E, Davis A, Meade K, LeNoir MA, Thyne S, Jackson DJ, Gern JE, Lemanske RF Jr, Shendure J, Abney M, Burchard EG, Ober C, Eichler EE (2014) Whole-genome sequencing of individuals from a founder population identifies candidate genes for asthma. PLoS One 9:e104396. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0104396
- Anderson GG, Cookson WO (1999) Recent advances in the genetics of allergy and asthma. Mol Med Today 5:264–273
- Koppelman GH, Stine OC, Xu J, Howard TD, Zheng SL, Kauffman HF, Bleecker ER, Meyers DA, Postma DS (2002) Genome-wide search for atopy susceptibility genes in Dutch families with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 109:498–506
- 57. Aral C, Akkiprik M, Caglayan S, Atabey Z, Ozişik G, Bekiroglu N, Ozer A (2011) Investigation of relationship of the mitochondrial DNA 16189 T>C polymorphism with metabolic syndrome and its associated clinical parameters in Turkish patients. Hormones (Athens) 10:298–303
- S-HH J, Lu M-Y, Bai R-K, Liao Y-C, Trieu RB, Yu M-L, Wong L-JC (2010) A common mitochondrial polymorphism 10398A>G is associated metabolic syndrome in a Chinese population. Mitochondrion 10:294–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mito.2010.01.001
- Nunemaker CS, Chen M, Pei H, Kimble SD, Keller SR, Carter JD, Yang Z, Smith KM, Wu R, Bevard MH, Garmey JC, Nadler JL (2008) 12-Lipoxygenase-knockout mice are resistant to inflammatory effects of obesity induced by Western diet. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 295:E1065–E1075. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.90371.2008
- 60. Sears DD, Miles PD, Chapman J, Ofrecio JM, Almazan F, Thapar D, Miller YI (2009) 12/15-lipoxygenase is required for the early onset of high fat diet-induced adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance in mice. PLoS One 4:e7250. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0007250

- Cole BK, Kuhn NS, Green-Mitchell SM, Leone KA, Raab RM, Nadler JL, Chakrabarti SK (2012) 12/15-Lipoxygenase signaling in the endoplasmic reticulum stress response. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 302:E654–E665. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00373.2011
- Cole BK, Morris MA, Grzesik WJ, Leone KA, Nadler JL (2012) Adipose tissue-specific deletion of 12/15-lipoxygenase protects mice from the consequences of a high-fat diet. Mediat Inflamm 2012:851798. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/851798
- 63. Mabalirajan U, Rehman R, Ahmad T, Kumar S, Singh S, Leishangthem GD, Aich J, Kumar M, Khanna K, Singh VP, Dinda AK, Biswal S, Agrawal A, Ghosh B (2013) Linoleic acid metabolite drives severe asthma by causing airway epithelial injury. Sci Rep 3:1349. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep01349
- Nisoli E, Clementi E, Carruba MO, Moncada S (2007) Defective mitochondrial biogenesis. Circ Res 100:795–806. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000259591.97107.6c
- Holguin F, Fitzpatrick A (2010) Obesity, asthma, and oxidative stress. J Appl Physiol 108:754– 759. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00702.2009.—Obesity
- 66. Carlstrom M, Larsen FJ, Nystrom T, Hezel M, Borniquel S, Weitzberg E, Lundberg JO (2010) Dietary inorganic nitrate reverses features of metabolic syndrome in endothelial nitric oxide synthase-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:17716–17720. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1008872107
- 67. Mabalirajan U, Ahmad T, Leishangthem GD, Joseph DA, Dinda AK, Agrawal A, Ghosh B (2010) Beneficial effects of high dose of L-arginine on airway hyperresponsiveness and airway inflammation in a murine model of asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 125:626–635. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2009.10.065
- Monti LD, Casiraghi MC, Setola E, Galluccio E, Pagani MA, Quaglia L, Bosi E, Piatti P (2013) L-arginine enriched biscuits improve endothelial function and glucose metabolism: a pilot study in healthy subjects and a cross-over study in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance and metabolic syndrome. Metabolism 62:255–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. metabol.2012.08.004
- 69. Singh S, Bodas M, Bhatraju NK, Pattnaik B, Gheware A, Parameswaran PK, Thompson M, Freeman M, Mabalirajan U, Gosens R, Ghosh B, Pabelick C, Linneberg A, Prakash YS, Agrawal A (2016) Hyperinsulinemia adversely affects lung structure and function. Am J Phys Lung Cell Mol Phys 310:L837–L845. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00091.2015
- Martin-Montalvo A, Mercken EM, Mitchell SJ, Palacios HH, Mote PL, Scheibye-Knudsen M, Gomes AP, Ward TM, Minor RK, Blouin M-J, Schwab M, Pollak M, Zhang Y, Yu Y, Becker KG, Bohr VA, Ingram DK, Sinclair DA, Wolf NS, Spindler SR, Bernier M, de Cabo R (2013) Metformin improves healthspan and lifespan in mice. Nat Commun 4:2192. https://doi. org/10.1038/ncomms3192
- Calixto MC, Lintomen L, André DM, Leiria LO, Ferreira D, Lellis-Santos C, Anhê GF, Bordin S, Landgraf RG, Antunes E (2013) Metformin attenuates the exacerbation of the allergic eosinophilic inflammation in high fat-diet-induced obesity in mice. PLoS One 8:e76786. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0076786
- 72. Xu W, Ghosh S, Comhair SAA, Asosingh K, Janocha AJ, Mavrakis DA, Bennett CD, Gruca LL, Graham BB, Queisser KA, Kao CC, Wedes SH, Petrich JM, Tuder RM, Kalhan SC, Erzurum SC (2016) Increased mitochondrial arginine metabolism supports bioenergetics in asthma. J Clin Invest 126:2465–2481. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI82925
- Mabalirajan U, Ahmad T, Leishangthem GD, Dinda AK, Agrawal A, Ghosh B (2010) L-arginine reduces mitochondrial dysfunction and airway injury in murine allergic airway inflammation. Int Immunopharmacol 10:1514–1519. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2010.08.025
- 74. Mabalirajan U, Ahmad T, Rehman R, Leishangthem GD, Dinda AK, Agrawal A, Ghosh B, Sharma SK (2013) Baicalein reduces airway injury in allergen and IL-13 induced airway inflammation. PLoS One 8:e62916. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0062916
- Mabalirajan U, Dinda AK, Sharma SK, Ghosh B (2009) Esculetin restores mitochondrial dysfunction and reduces allergic asthma features in experimental murine model. J Immunol 183:2059–2067. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0900342

- 76. Aich J, Mabalirajan U, Ahmad T, Khanna K, Rehman R, Agrawal A, Ghosh B (2012) Resveratrol attenuates experimental allergic asthma in mice by restoring inositol polyphosphate 4 phosphatase (INPP4A). Int Immunopharmacol 14:438–443. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. intimp.2012.08.017
- Bajpai P, Darra A, Agrawal A (2018) Microbe-mitochondrion crosstalk and health: an emerging paradigm. Mitochondrion 39:20–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mito.2017.08.008
- Chowanadisai W, Bauerly KA, Tchaparian E, Wong A, Cortopassi GA, Rucker RB (2010) Pyrroloquinoline quinone stimulates mitochondrial biogenesis through cAMP response element-binding protein phosphorylation and increased PGC-1alpha expression. J Biol Chem 285:142–152. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.030130
- Rucker R, Chowanadisai W, Nakano M (2009) Potential physiological importance of pyrroloquinoline quinone. Altern Med Rev 14:268–277
- Reddy PH (2011) Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in asthma: implications for mitochondria-targeted antioxidant therapeutics. Pharmaceuticals (Basel) 4:429–456. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ph4030429
- 81. Gvozdjáková A, Kucharská J, Bartkovjaková M, Gazdíková K, Gazdík FE (2005) Coenzyme Q10 supplementation reduces corticosteroids dosage in patients with bronchial asthma. Biofactors 25:235–240
- Agrawal A, Mabalirajan U (2016) Rejuvenating cellular respiration for optimizing respiratory function: targeting mitochondria. Am J Physiol Cell Mol Physiol 310:L103–L113. https://doi. org/10.1152/ajplung.00320.2015
- Zhu Y-G, Hao Q, Monsel A, Feng X-M, Lee J-W (2013) Adult stem cells for acute lung injury: remaining questions and concerns. Respirology 18:744–756. https://doi.org/10.1111/ resp.12093
- 84. Ahmad T, Mukherjee S, Pattnaik B, Kumar M, Singh S, Kumar M, Rehman R, Tiwari BK, Jha KA, Barhanpurkar AP, Wani MR, Roy SS, Mabalirajan U, Ghosh B, Agrawal A (2014) Miro1 regulates intercellular mitochondrial transport & enhances mesenchymal stem cell rescue efficacy. EMBO J 33:994–1010. https://doi.org/10.1002/embj.201386030



7

Regulation of Antioxidant Nrf2 Signaling: An Important Pathway in COPD

Nirmalya Chatterjee and Debamita Chatterjee

Abstract

Oxidative stress plays a role in multiple disorders that include lung diseases like chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and asthma. The Nrf2 signaling pathway is the principal regulator of the oxidative stress response and protects against various oxidative stress-related diseases. Nrf2, a bZIP transcription factor, regulates the expression of a battery of antioxidant and detoxification genes in response to oxidative stress. Moreover, Nrf2 signaling responds to multiple environmental and physiological inputs such as endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress and insulin signaling. The effects of these inputs are often mediated through the molecular regulators of Nrf2 such as kinases, acetylases, and other Nrf2-interacting proteins. Additionally, they can also serve as drug targets for therapeutic modulation of Nrf2 signaling. Therefore, a comprehensive understanding of the molecular mechanism of Nrf2 regulation is important to analyze its role in different physiological and pathological conditions and to develop new drugs that modulate Nrf2 activity. Development of new Nrf2-inducing drugs that can complement current therapeutics is of particular importance for improving the treatment of diseases like COPD where Nrf2 activity is suppressed.

Keywords

Oxidative stress · Nrf2 signaling · COPD · Inflammation · BET proteins

N. Chatterjee (🖂)

D. Chatterjee BioGenex, Hyderabad, India

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_7

Department of Genetics, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: nirmalya_chatterjee@hms.harvard.edu

7.1 Introduction

7.1.1 Oxidative Stress Is Implicated in Multiple Diseases

"Oxidative stress" is characterized by an excessive amount of intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS), which are extremely reactive ions including but not limited to the hydroxyl radical, the superoxide anion, and hydrogen peroxide. These are generated by oxygen metabolism in mitochondria and peroxisomes and also by cytochrome C oxidase, membrane-associated NAD(P)H oxidase, and xanthine oxidase [1]. Intracellular production of ROS is counteracted by antioxidant processes in the cell that include enzymes like catalase (CAT), glutathione peroxidase (GPx), and superoxide dismutase (SOD) and non-enzymatic ROS scavengers such as glutathione, ascorbate, and carotenoids [1]. Generation of ROS is an essential biological mechanism in many cellular functions such as the "oxidative burst" in phagocytic immune response and signal transduction during growth factor-mediated proliferation [2]. However, excess ROS can damage nuclear and mitochondrial DNA and can modify proteins and lipids. Such damages disrupt cellular functions and can result in cellular senescence or apoptosis [3]. In addition to the internal biological sources, various environmental sources of ROS including ultraviolet rays, ionizing radiations, hyperthermia, toxins, and chemicals can generate oxidative stress [2]. Oxidative stress causes extensive damage to multiple tissues and is implicated in a plethora of diseases such as lung diseases, cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative diseases, and cardiovascular diseases [4].

7.1.2 Nrf2 Signaling Protects Against Oxidative Stress

A host of signaling pathways like NF- κ B, JNK, ERK, p38 MAPK, PI(3)K/Akt, p53, HSF-1, FOXO, and Nrf2 are activated after exposure to oxidative stress, and they mediate the oxidative stress response [5–10]. A typical cellular response depends on the nature of the affected tissue and can range from pro-survival mechanisms such as increased production of antioxidants, repair and replacement of the damaged macromolecules to cellular senescence, and apoptosis to remove malfunctioning cells and thereby preserve tissue integrity and organismal homeostasis. Additionally, the abovementioned pathways often cross-talk among themselves to bring about an integrated response to oxidative stress [2].

Nrf2, a major regulator of the oxidative stress response, plays a central role in the antioxidant defense system of the body [11]. Under basal conditions, Nrf2, a bZIP transcription factor, binds to its cytoplasmic inhibitor Keap1 [12, 13]. Keap1 sequesters Nrf2 in the cytoplasm targeting it for proteasomal degradation and thereby preventing its nuclear localization and binding to the antioxidant response elements (AREs) in the regulatory sections of its target genes [14]. In the absence of nuclear Nrf2 under basal conditions, the AREs are occupied by homodimers of a small Maf protein [15, 16]. Oxidative stress causes sulfhydryl modification of Keap1, and that prevents Nrf2 degradation (Fig. 7.1). Inside the nucleus, Nrf2 binds to AREs as



Fig. 7.1 Nrf2 signaling pathway. In the absence of oxidative stress, Keap1 binds to Nrf2, and that leads to ubiquitination and degradation of Nrf2 by proteasomes. Under oxidative stress, the suppression of Keap1-directed degradation of Nrf2 results in increased nuclear localization of Nrf2. In the nucleus, small Maf (MafS) dimerizes with proteins Nrf2; the heterodimer binds to antioxidant response elements (AREs) and promotes the expression of a variety of antioxidant and detoxification genes

heterodimers with small Maf protein to induce a group of antioxidant enzymes and detoxifying proteins such as thioredoxins and glutathione-synthesizing enzymes, glutathione S-transferases, molecular chaperones, and proteasomal subunits [17–19].

The Nrf2-Keap1 signaling pathway is conserved in invertebrates including *Drosophila* and *C. elegans*. In *Drosophila*, CncC is the functional and structural homolog of Nrf2. Like mammalian Nrf2, *Drosophila* CncC is activated by oxidative stress leading to the induction of an array of antioxidant and detoxification genes, thereby protecting against oxidative stress [20]. Similarly, Skn-1 is the ortholog Nrf2 in *Caenorhabditis elegans* and also plays a significant role in the antioxidant defenses of the nematode [21].

Nrf2 induces a group of antioxidant and detoxification genes to protect the organism against oxidative stress. An absence of Nrf2 in mice $(nrf2^{-/-})$ makes them highly susceptible to damages induced by oxidative stress [22]. Various studies have established the protective role of Nrf2 against multiple diseases such as cancer, neurodegenerative diseases, pulmonary diseases, and inflammation where oxidative stress plays a major role [11, 13, 22]. Interestingly, many of these are age-associated dysfunctions, and therefore, it can be surmised that Nrf2 protects different organs from age-related diseases. In addition to oxidative stress response, recent studies have implicated Nrf2 signaling in the regulation of lipid and glucose metabolism and in stem cell maintenance [23–26]. Moreover, Nrf2 signaling also shows

anti-inflammatory effects in different inflammatory disease models related to lung inflammation, inflammatory bowel syndrome, and inflammation associated with multiple neurodegenerative diseases [27–30].

7.1.3 Nrf2 Signaling Is Suppressed in COPD

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is marked by gradual constriction of peripheral airways and depletion of the lung parenchyma and is caused by inflammation in the parenchyma of lung and in the respiratory airways [31]. A recent study found COPD to be the third leading cause of death globally [32]. Different pollutants including cigarette smoke that cause oxidative stress play a significant role in the progression of COPD [33, 34]. It has been demonstrated in COPD patients that Nrf2 expression is attenuated in the pulmonary macrophages [35]. As a result of which, the expression of different Nrf2 target genes such as glutathione peroxidase 2 (GPx2), heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), and NAD(P)H quinone dehydrogenase 1 (NQ01) was decreased [36]. In the absence of robust antioxidant defense mechanisms, the damage caused by oxidative agents like cigarette smoke, pollutants, and hyperoxia [31] is increased. On the other hand, activation of Nrf2 by pharmacological compounds is beneficial in COPD [37, 38]. However, the molecular mechanism involved in the suppression of Nrf2 signaling in COPD patients is not well known.

7.2 Regulation of Nrf2 Signaling

7.2.1 Regulation of Nrf2 by Oxidative Stress and Keap1

The Nrf2 protein contains seven functional "Nrf2-erythroid cell-derived protein with CNC homology (ECH)" (Neh) domains, namely, Neh1-Neh7 [39]. The Neh1 domain carries a bZIP DNA-binding and dimerization motif that is required for the binding of Nrf2 to antioxidant response elements (AREs) in DNA and dimerize with other transcription factors including Maf [40]. The Neh2 domain, located near the N-terminus of Nrf2, contains DLG and ETGE motifs that interact with Keap1. In addition, the Neh2 domain carries seven lysine residues that are the sites of ubiquitination by a Cullin-3-dependent E3 ligase that directs proteasomal degradation of Nrf2 [41-44], and Keap1 is an adaptor for this ligase. The Neh3 domain of Nrf2 binds to the chromodomain-helicase-DNA-binding protein 6 (CHD6), which functions as an Nrf2 transcriptional coactivator [45]. Transcriptional coactivator CBP that acetylates Nrf2 interacts with the Neh4 and Neh5 domains and induces transactivation of Nrf2 target genes [46, 47]. The Neh6 domain interacts with the β -TrCP that promotes Cullin-1-dependent Nrf2 degradation [48, 49]. Finally, the Neh7 domain interacts with the retinoic X receptor, which represses Nrf2 target gene expression (Fig. 7.2) [50].

Oxidative stress modifies the cytoplasmic inhibitory protein Keap1 and thereby activates Nrf2 signaling. The Keap1 protein contains five different domains, namely,



Fig. 7.2 Peptide domains involved in Keap1-mediated Nrf2 regulation. Keap1 binds to the DLG and ETGE motifs in the Neh2 domain of Nrf2 through the DGR domain containing the Kelch repeats. The interaction between the BTB domain and the Cullin-3 E3 ubiquitin ligase complex leads to ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of Nrf2 protein. Oxidative stress causes sulf-hydryl modification of the cysteine residues in Keap1, and that leads to the nuclear localization of Nrf2. In the nucleus, Nrf2 forms heterodimers with MafS proteins and binds to the ARE sequences through the Neh1 domain and, finally, promotes transcriptional activation of the target genes through the Neh4 and Neh5 domains

NTR, BTB, IVR, DGR, and CTR. The DGR domain includes Kelch motifs that interact with Nrf2 [51]. The interaction between the BTB domain and the Cullin-3 E3 ubiquitin ligase complex leads to ubiquitination and proteolytic degradation of Nrf2 protein [42, 44]. Furthermore, Keap1 contains several cysteine residues, and sulfhydryl modification of these residues by oxidative stress causes a conformational change in Keap1, which ultimately leads to Nrf2 activation [13, 52]. There are four highly reactive cysteine residues in the IVR domain, and two cysteine residues out of these four are crucial for Keap1-dependent Nrf2 repression [53, 54].

Independent of the effects of oxidative stress on Nrf2, it is also regulated by environmental and physiological signals including calorie restriction, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and insulin signaling. Moreover, different molecular modifications of Nrf2, like phosphorylation, acetylation, and other proteins that interact with Nrf2 or Keap1, modify Nrf2 activity. Therefore, multiple environmental and physiological inputs are integrated through Nrf2.

7.2.2 Regulation Nrf2 Signaling by Kinases

Nrf2 has been shown to be regulated by different kinases [55, 56]. PKC- δ -mediated phosphorylation of Ser40 in mammalian Nrf2 prevents its degradation and facilitates nuclear entry [57–59]. In contrast, GSK-3 β increases the degradation of Nrf2 in a Keap1-independent manner via F-box protein β -TrCP and Cullin-1 [49]. Akt phosphorylates and inhibits GSK-3 β and thereby activates Nrf2 signaling [60]. The Tyr568 residue of Nrf2 can be phosphorylated by the Src-family tyrosine kinase Fyn leading to the export of Nrf2 out of the nucleus and its degradation [61]. Moreover, phosphorylation of Fyn by GSK-3 β can also increase its nuclear accumulation and thus inhibit Nrf2 signaling [62]. p38 has been shown to phosphorylate Nrf2 to promote its interaction with Keap1, thereby preventing nuclear translocation of Nrf2 and suppressing target gene expression [63]. PERK, which is activated

by ER stress, has also been shown to phosphorylate and activate Nrf2 [64]. However, it should be noted that the substrate sites of phosphorylation for some of the aforesaid kinases are not known. Furthermore, coactivators of Nrf2 such as CBP instead of Nrf2 itself might be the actual targets of some of the protein kinases [65].

7.2.3 Regulation Nrf2 Signaling by Acetylation

p300/CBP are transcriptional coactivators that acetylate histones to promote chromatin decondensation and recruitment of the RNA polymerase machinery [66, 67]. These coactivators have been shown to be associated with Nrf2 protein [46, 68]. Under oxidative stress conditions, p300/CBP binds to Nrf2 at its Neh4 and Neh5 domains acetylating a number of lysine residues within the Neh1 DNA-binding region of Nrf2. It has been demonstrated through mutational analysis that acetylation of multiple residues is required for full Nrf2 inducibility. CBP-mediated acetylation of Nrf2 promotes its binding to the ARE sites and its transactivation potential but does not affect its stability [68]. Recent studies have shown that acetylation of lysine residues in other domains of Nrf2 such as Neh2 and Neh3 also modulates Nrf2 activity [69].

7.2.4 Regulation Nrf2 Signaling by Nuclear Receptors

Nrf2 signaling is regulated by various nuclear receptors – the retinoid receptor is one of them. There are two distinct classes of retinoid receptors, namely, retinoic acid receptor (RAR) and retinoid X receptor (RXR) [70]. All-trans retinoic acid (ATRA) can suppress Nrf2-driven transcription by promoting the formation of a protein complex of RAR α receptor with Nrf2 [71]. A vitamin A-deficient diet induced the expression of genes regulated by Nrf2 in the small intestine of mice. Wang et al. reported that RXR α interacts with Nrf2 at its Neh7 domain and inhibits expression of Nrf2 target genes as well [50].

Estradiol suppresses the expression of Nrf2 independently of Keap1-mediated degradation [72, 73]. Yao et al. reported that ER α localizes to the promoter region of Nrf2 target gene NQO1 and inhibits its expression in breast cancer cells [74]. On the other hand, antiestrogen drug shikonin suppressed this ER α -mediated inhibition. Dexamethasone, a synthetic glucocorticoid, suppresses the induction of Nrf2 target gene GSTA2 [75]. In addition, Nrf2-mediated antioxidant response and resistance to H₂O₂ are suppressed by 11β-HSD1 that activates glucocorticoid receptor (GR) through glucocorticoids [76].

7.2.5 Regulation Nrf2 Signaling by BET Proteins

BET proteins have recently been shown to inhibit Nrf2 signaling both in mammals and in invertebrate *Drosophila* [77–79]. BET proteins that contain two

bromodomains and an extra-terminal domain interact with acetylated lysine residues in both histone and nonhistone proteins through their bromodomains. Four mammalian BET protein-coding genes (*Brd2*, *Brd3*, *Brd4*, and *BrdT*) are involved in chromosome organization and in the regulation of gene expression [80–83]. It has recently been reported that fs(1)h, the only BET protein-coding gene in *Drosophila*, can suppress Nrf2 signaling and consequently regulates oxidative stress responses [14, 56, 79]. Likewise, BET proteins were shown to suppress Nrf2 signaling in multiple mammalian cell lines, and their inhibition imparts resistance to oxidative stress [77, 78]. Interestingly, BET proteins have been reported to inhibit Nrf2 signaling in a Keap1-independent fashion, and as a consequence, a combination of a Keap1 inhibitor with a BET inhibitor synergistically activates Nrf2 signaling [79].

7.2.6 The Effect of Calorie Restriction on Nrf2 Signaling

Calorie restriction (CR) is a well-established process for extending lifespan in different species. CR also improves several physiological parameters. It increases insulin sensitivity, lowers cancer risk, lowers blood pressure, and improves neuronal function [84]. There is no report demonstrating the importance of Nrf2 signaling in CR-mediated lifespan extension in mammals. However, CR has been documented to activate antioxidant genes that are regulated by Nrf2 in mice, and this induction was impaired in $nrf2^{-/-}$ mice. In addition, it was shown that CR mediated protection against cancer by activating Nrf2 [85, 86]. In contrast, in *C. elegans*, the role of Nrf2-like signaling as the mediator of the longevity effects of CR is well established. The activity of Skn-1, the Nrf2 ortholog in worms, in ASI neurons is required for CR-mediated lifespan extension [87]. This indicates that the cell nonautonomous effect of Nrf2 signaling is involved in CR-mediated lifespan extension in worms.

7.2.7 Regulation of Nrf2 by IIS/Akt Signaling

Insulin and its downstream signaling mediated through PI3K/Akt are principal anabolic signals for metabolism and growth. Studies across species have shown that loss-of-function mutations in the insulin signaling pathway (IIS) can extend lifespan [88–90]. Daf-16/Foxo, which is phosphorylated and suppressed by IIS/Akt signaling, has been characterized as the primary mediator of longevity in response to a loss of IIS [91–93]. However, Tullet et al. showed that Skn-1 is also phosphorylated and inhibited by Akt [94]. Moreover, IIS signaling affects Daf-16 and Skn-1 function independently of each other. In contrast, PI3K/Akt signaling activates mammalian Nrf2 signaling pathway [95, 96]. Rizvi et al. reported that the suppression of PI3K/Akt signaling causes decreased nuclear retention of Nrf2 and increased Nrf2 ubiquitination. PI3K/Akt suppression, thereby, suppressed Nrf2 target genes leading to an increase in oxidative stress-mediated cytotoxicity [60]. Interestingly, Akt is phosphorylated in response to oxidative stress. Phosphorylated Akt, in turn, phosphorylates and inhibits GSK-3 β . As discussed earlier, GSK-3 β represses Nrf2 signaling by promoting the degradation of Nrf2 protein. In addition, it also activates Fyn kinase, which phosphorylates Nrf2 to increase its nuclear export and thereby suppresses Nrf2 signaling. However, the physiological and evolutionary significance of these differential effects of IIS/Akt signaling on Nrf2 and Skn-1 in mammals and worms, respectively, is not clear.

7.2.8 ER Stress and Nrf2 Signaling

An excess of unfolded or misfolded proteins is detrimental to the cellular milieu – this gives rise to ER stress. The unfolded protein response (UPR) operates to either refold or remove these defective proteins. PERK, which is activated during UPR, activates Nrf2 by destabilizing Nrf2-Keap1 interaction [64]. Furthermore, the stress signaling pathway JNK, activated by IRE1, activates Nrf2 signaling by promoting Nrf2-Keap1 dissociation [97–99]. The activation of Nrf2 signaling by UPR ultimately leads to the induction of detoxification, chaperone, and proteolytic genes that help the cell combat ER stress [99]. Interestingly, Glover-Cutter et al. recently reported that ER stress in *C. elegans* can activate Skn-1, which in turn binds to common downstream targets like XBP-1 and ATF6 to orchestrate the transcriptional ER stress response [100]. Therefore, it can be concluded that ER stress-mediated activation of Nrf2-like signaling is conserved across different species.

7.2.9 Regulation Nrf2 Signaling by Nuclear Lamin

Oxidative stress is implicated in the process of aging, and loss of Nrf2 activity is a characteristic of multiple age-related diseases. A recent study by Kubben et al. [101] linked loss of Nrf2 signaling to Hutchinson-Gilford progeria syndrome (HGPS) that is characterized by accelerated aging. HGPS is caused by mutations in lamin A gene that leads to the expression of a truncated lamin A protein (also known as progerin). The accumulation of dominant-negative progerin at the nuclear membrane affects nuclear architecture and genome stability. Cardiovascular diseases emanating from severe atherosclerosis is the principal cause of death in these patients [102]. It was found that sequestering of Nrf2 by progerin causes subnuclear mislocalization of Nrf2 protein and, thereby, suppression of Nrf2 signaling that leads to heightened chronic oxidative stress. Consistent with this observation, genetic or therapeutic activation Nrf2 rescued the phenotypes of cells expressing progerin [101].

7.2.10 Regulation Nrf2 Signaling by Pgk1

Phosphoglycerate kinase (Pgk1) is a glycolytic enzyme that has very recently been shown to regulate Nrf2 signaling [103]. Bollong et al. reported that inhibition Pgk1 by a small-molecule inhibitor CBR-470-1 results in Nrf2 protein accumulation and subsequent induction of Nrf2 target genes. Inhibition of Pgk1 leads to the

accumulation of methylglyoxal, a reactive metabolite. Interestingly, post-translational modification of Keap1 by methylglyoxal leads to the formation of a methylimidazole cross-link between cysteine and arginine residues (MICA) in Keap1. This results in the accumulation of Nrf2 and the transcriptional induction of Nrf2 target genes. This study establishes a direct connection between glucose metabolism and Nrf2 signaling.

7.3 Conclusion and Future Outlook

Nrf2 signaling is affected in multiple disease conditions, including COPD, diabetes, neurodegenerative disorders, and cancer, and consequently is an attractive drug target [11]. Nrf2 signaling is induced by various types of oxidative stressors such as paraquat which affects the mitochondrial electron transport chain or hydrogen peroxide (a reactive oxygen species) [104]. Additionally, different categories of small molecules such as Michael acceptors (bardoxolone methyl, dimethyl fumarate), quinones (tBHQ), isothiocyanates (sulforaphane), dithiolethiones (oltipraz), selenium-based compounds (Ebselen), and heavy metals (sodium arsenite, cadmium chloride) have been identified as inducers of Nrf2 signaling [105, 106]. Some of these compounds including sulforaphane, bardoxolone methyl, oltipraz, dimethyl fumarate (DMF), and Ebselen are being studied in clinical trials for the treatment of different diseases like COPD, asthma, multiple sclerosis, breast and prostate cancer, cystic fibrosis, chronic kidney disease in type 2 diabetes, and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease [105, 107]. Interestingly, a number of the known Nrf2 inducers form covalent adducts with the sulfhydryl groups of cysteines in Keap1 and thereby affect Keap1-Nrf2 interaction. Therefore, they can also react with other cysteinecontaining proteins and that might result in "off-target" toxic effects [108, 109].

In addition to these compounds, BET protein inhibitors can be used to activate Nrf2 signaling and thereby may present a separate therapeutic approach for the treatment of these diseases. A recent study by Liang et al. reported that the suppression of Nrf2 activity in the hippocampus caused by hyperglycemia can be reversed by treatment with JQ1 [110]. Moreover, a strong and specific induction of Nrf2 signaling without the toxic "off-target" effects can be achieved by exploiting the synergistic activation of Nrf2 signaling by simultaneous application of BET protein inhibitors and Keap1 inhibitors (Fig. 7.3) [111].

Inflammation plays a major role in the etiology of COPD. However, COPD patients are resistant to widely used corticosteroid treatment because they cannot recruit histone deacetylase 2 (HDAC2) to suppress active inflammatory genes [112, 113]. PI3K/Akt-mediated phosphorylation and degradation play a role in the decrease in the levels of HDAC2. Incidentally, inhibition of HDAC2 enhances Nrf2 acetylation and thereby can suppress Nrf2-mediated antioxidant gene expression in COPD [114, 115]. Furthermore, the suppression of CncC, the ortholog of mammalian Nrf2 in *Drosophila*, by BET protein Fs(1)h relies on the acetylation of CncC [79]. Therefore, it will be interesting to investigate whether a decrease in HDAC2 activity in COPD patients leads to an increase in Nrf2 acetylation and thereby makes



Fig. 7.3 Proposed model for cooperative activation of Nrf2 signaling by Keap1 inhibitors and BET protein inhibitors. Nrf2 is regulated independently by Keap1 and BET proteins. Treatments with the Keap1 inhibitor such as oltipraz (OLT) or sulforaphane (SFN) and BET protein inhibitors like JQ1 relieve different mechanisms of Nrf2 inhibition. Therefore, synergistic activation of Nrf2 target genes can be achieved by combining those treatments

it more susceptible to inhibition by BET proteins. Moreover, it can also be tested whether a combinatorial treatment with a BET inhibitor like JQ1 and a Keap1 inhibitor like sulforaphane yields better results in COPD resulting from a robust induction of antioxidant genes and a better suppression of inflammation through a stronger activation of Nrf2 signaling [111]. Thus, a comprehensive understanding of the molecular regulation of Nrf2 signaling will lead to new therapeutic approaches to induce Nrf2 signaling in the treatment of oxidative stress-associated diseases.

Acknowledgments We thank Dr. Rajendhran Rajakumar for his helpful comments on the manuscript.

References

- 1. Trachootham D et al (2008) Redox regulation of cell survival. Antioxid Redox Signal 10(8):1343–1374
- Finkel T, Holbrook NJ (2000) Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of ageing. Nature 408(6809):239–247
- 3. Beckman KB, Ames BN (1998) The free radical theory of aging matures. Physiol Rev 78(2):547–581
- Pham-Huy LA, He H, Pham-Huy C (2008) Free radicals, antioxidants in disease and health. Int J Biomed Sci 4(2):89–96
- Bowie A, O'Neill LA (2000) Oxidative stress and nuclear factor-kappaB activation: a reassessment of the evidence in the light of recent discoveries. Biochem Pharmacol 59(1):13–23
- Kim EK, Choi EJ (2010) Pathological roles of MAPK signaling pathways in human diseases. Biochim Biophys Acta 1802(4):396–405

- Niture SK, Khatri R, Jaiswal AK (2014) Regulation of Nrf2-an update. Free Radic Biol Med 66:36–44
- Budanov AV (2014) The role of tumor suppressor p53 in the antioxidant defense and metabolism. Subcell Biochem 85:337–358
- Akerfelt M, Morimoto RI, Sistonen L (2010) Heat shock factors: integrators of cell stress, development and lifespan. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 11(8):545–555
- Wang Y, Zhou Y, Graves DT (2014) FOXO transcription factors: their clinical significance and regulation. Biomed Res Int 2014:925350
- 11. Sykiotis GP, Bohmann D (2010) Stress-activated cap'n'collar transcription factors in aging and human disease. Sci Signal 3(112):re3
- Katoh Y et al (2005) Evolutionary conserved N-terminal domain of Nrf2 is essential for the Keap1-mediated degradation of the protein by proteasome. Arch Biochem Biophys 433(2):342–350
- Motohashi H, Yamamoto M (2004) Nrf2-Keap1 defines a physiologically important stress response mechanism. Trends Mol Med 10(11):549–557
- 14. Chatterjee N, Bohmann D (2012) A versatile PhiC31 based reporter system for measuring AP-1 and Nrf2 signaling in Drosophila and in tissue culture. PLoS One 7(4):e34063
- Blank V (2008) Small Maf proteins in mammalian gene control: mere dimerization partners or dynamic transcriptional regulators? J Mol Biol 376(4):913–925
- 16. Motohashi H et al (2002) Integration and diversity of the regulatory network composed of Maf and CNC families of transcription factors. Gene 294(1–2):1–12
- Motohashi H et al (2004) Small Maf proteins serve as transcriptional cofactors for keratinocyte differentiation in the Keap1-Nrf2 regulatory pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(17):6379–6384
- Itoh K et al (1997) An Nrf2/small Maf heterodimer mediates the induction of phase II detoxifying enzyme genes through antioxidant response elements. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 236(2):313–322
- Marini MG et al (1997) hMAF, a small human transcription factor that heterodimerizes specifically with Nrf1 and Nrf2. J Biol Chem 272(26):16490–16497
- Sykiotis GP, Bohmann D (2008) Keap1/Nrf2 signaling regulates oxidative stress tolerance and lifespan in Drosophila. Dev Cell 14(1):76–85
- Blackwell TK et al (2015) SKN-1/Nrf, stress responses, and aging in Caenorhabditis elegans. Free Radic Biol Med 88(Pt B):290–301
- 22. Kensler TW, Wakabayashi N, Biswal S (2007) Cell survival responses to environmental stresses via the Keap1-Nrf2-ARE pathway. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 47:89–116
- 23. Shin S et al (2009) Role of Nrf2 in prevention of high-fat diet-induced obesity by synthetic triterpenoid CDDO-imidazolide. Eur J Pharmacol 620(1–3):138–144
- 24. Kitteringham NR et al (2010) Proteomic analysis of Nrf2 deficient transgenic mice reveals cellular defence and lipid metabolism as primary Nrf2-dependent pathways in the liver. J Proteome 73(8):1612–1631
- 25. Mitsuishi Y et al (2012) Nrf2 redirects glucose and glutamine into anabolic pathways in metabolic reprogramming. Cancer Cell 22(1):66–79
- Hochmuth CE et al (2011) Redox regulation by Keap1 and Nrf2 controls intestinal stem cell proliferation in Drosophila. Cell Stem Cell 8(2):188–199
- Johnson DA, Johnson JA (2015) Nrf2–a therapeutic target for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases. Free Radic Biol Med 88(Pt B):253–267
- Innamorato NG et al (2008) The transcription factor Nrf2 is a therapeutic target against brain inflammation. J Immunol 181(1):680–689
- Chen PC et al (2009) Nrf2-mediated neuroprotection in the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease: critical role for the astrocyte. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(8):2933–2938
- Khor TO et al (2006) Nrf2-deficient mice have an increased susceptibility to dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. Cancer Res 66(24):11580–11584
- Boutten A et al (2011) NRF2 targeting: a promising therapeutic strategy in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Trends Mol Med 17(7):363–371

- 32. Lozano R et al (2012) Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 380(9859):2095–2128
- Rahman I, MacNee W (1996) Role of oxidants/antioxidants in smoking-induced lung diseases. Free Radic Biol Med 21(5):669–681
- 34. Anderson D, Macnee W (2009) Targeted treatment in COPD: a multi-system approach for a multi-system disease. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 4:321–335
- 35. Suzuki M et al (2008) Down-regulated NF-E2-related factor 2 in pulmonary macrophages of aged smokers and patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 39(6):673–682
- 36. Goven D et al (2008) Altered Nrf2/Keap1-Bach1 equilibrium in pulmonary emphysema. Thorax 63(10):916–924
- 37. Harvey CJ et al (2011) Targeting Nrf2 signaling improves bacterial clearance by alveolar macrophages in patients with COPD and in a mouse model. Sci Transl Med 3(78):78ra32
- Biswas S et al (2013) Pharmacological and dietary antioxidant therapies for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Curr Med Chem 20(12):1496–1530
- Jaramillo MC, Zhang DD (2013) The emerging role of the Nrf2-Keap1 signaling pathway in cancer. Genes Dev 27(20):2179–2191
- 40. Moi P et al (1994) Isolation of NF-E2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), a NF-E2-like basic leucine zipper transcriptional activator that binds to the tandem NF-E2/AP1 repeat of the beta-globin locus control region. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91(21):9926–9930
- 41. Cullinan SB et al (2004) The Keap1-BTB protein is an adaptor that bridges Nrf2 to a Cul3-based E3 ligase: oxidative stress sensing by a Cul3-Keap1 ligase. Mol Cell Biol 24(19):8477–8486
- 42. Kobayashi A et al (2004) Oxidative stress sensor Keap1 functions as an adaptor for Cul3-based E3 ligase to regulate proteasomal degradation of Nrf2. Mol Cell Biol 24(16): 7130–7139
- 43. Zhang DD et al (2004) Keap1 is a redox-regulated substrate adaptor protein for a Cul3dependent ubiquitin ligase complex. Mol Cell Biol 24(24):10941–10953
- 44. Furukawa M, Xiong Y (2005) BTB protein Keap1 targets antioxidant transcription factor Nrf2 for ubiquitination by the Cullin 3-Roc1 ligase. Mol Cell Biol 25(1):162–171
- 45. Nioi P et al (2005) The carboxy-terminal Neh3 domain of Nrf2 is required for transcriptional activation. Mol Cell Biol 25(24):10895–10906
- 46. Katoh Y et al (2001) Two domains of Nrf2 cooperatively bind CBP, a CREB binding protein, and synergistically activate transcription. Genes Cells 6(10):857–868
- 47. Zhu M, Fahl WE (2001) Functional characterization of transcription regulators that interact with the electrophile response element. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 289(1):212–219
- Rada P et al (2011) SCF/{beta}-TrCP promotes glycogen synthase kinase 3-dependent degradation of the Nrf2 transcription factor in a Keap1-independent manner. Mol Cell Biol 31(6):1121–1133
- 49. Chowdhry S et al (2013) Nrf2 is controlled by two distinct beta-TrCP recognition motifs in its Neh6 domain, one of which can be modulated by GSK-3 activity. Oncogene 32(32):3765–3781
- 50. Wang H et al (2013) RXRalpha inhibits the NRF2-ARE signaling pathway through a direct interaction with the Neh7 domain of NRF2. Cancer Res 73(10):3097–3108
- Keum YS, Choi BY (2014) Molecular and chemical regulation of the Keap1-Nrf2 signaling pathway. Molecules 19(7):10074–10089
- 52. Dinkova-Kostova AT et al (2002) Direct evidence that sulfhydryl groups of Keap1 are the sensors regulating induction of phase 2 enzymes that protect against carcinogens and oxidants. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(18):11908–11913
- 53. Zhang DD, Hannink M (2003) Distinct cysteine residues in Keap1 are required for Keap1dependent ubiquitination of Nrf2 and for stabilization of Nrf2 by chemopreventive agents and oxidative stress. Mol Cell Biol 23(22):8137–8151
- 54. Wakabayashi N et al (2004) Protection against electrophile and oxidant stress by induction of the phase 2 response: fate of cysteines of the Keap1 sensor modified by inducers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(7):2040–2045
- 55. Bryan HK et al (2013) The Nrf2 cell defence pathway: Keap1-dependent and -independent mechanisms of regulation. Biochem Pharmacol 85(6):705–717
- 56. Li X et al (2016) Cdk12 is a gene-selective RNA polymerase II kinase that regulates a subset of the transcriptome, including Nrf2 target genes. Sci Rep 6:21455
- Huang HC, Nguyen T, Pickett CB (2002) Phosphorylation of Nrf2 at Ser-40 by protein kinase C regulates antioxidant response element-mediated transcription. J Biol Chem 277(45):42769–42774
- 58. Bloom DA, Jaiswal AK (2003) Phosphorylation of Nrf2 at Ser40 by protein kinase C in response to antioxidants leads to the release of Nrf2 from INrf2, but is not required for Nrf2 stabilization/accumulation in the nucleus and transcriptional activation of antioxidant response element-mediated NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase-1 gene expression. J Biol Chem 278(45):44675–44682
- Niture SK, Jain AK, Jaiswal AK (2009) Antioxidant-induced modification of INrf2 cysteine 151 and PKC-delta-mediated phosphorylation of Nrf2 serine 40 are both required for stabilization and nuclear translocation of Nrf2 and increased drug resistance. J Cell Sci 122(Pt 24):4452–4464
- 60. Rizvi F, Shukla S, Kakkar P (2014) Essential role of PH domain and leucine-rich repeat protein phosphatase 2 in Nrf2 suppression via modulation of Akt/GSK3beta/Fyn kinase axis during oxidative hepatocellular toxicity. Cell Death Dis 5:e1153
- Jain AK, Jaiswal AK (2006) Phosphorylation of tyrosine 568 controls nuclear export of Nrf2. J Biol Chem 281(17):12132–12142
- Jain AK, Jaiswal AK (2007) GSK-3beta acts upstream of Fyn kinase in regulation of nuclear export and degradation of NF-E2 related factor 2. J Biol Chem 282(22):16502–16510
- 63. Keum YS et al (2006) Mechanism of action of sulforaphane: inhibition of p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase isoforms contributing to the induction of antioxidant response element-mediated heme oxygenase-1 in human hepatoma HepG2 cells. Cancer Res 66(17):8804–8813
- Cullinan SB et al (2003) Nrf2 is a direct PERK substrate and effector of PERK-dependent cell survival. Mol Cell Biol 23(20):7198–7209
- 65. Shen G et al (2004) Regulation of Nrf2 transactivation domain activity. The differential effects of mitogen-activated protein kinase cascades and synergistic stimulatory effect of Raf and CREB-binding protein. J Biol Chem 279(22):23052–23060
- Ogryzko VV et al (1996) The transcriptional coactivators p300 and CBP are histone acetyltransferases. Cell 87(5):953–959
- 67. Roth SY, Denu JM, Allis CD (2001) Histone acetyltransferases. Annu Rev Biochem 70:81–120
- Sun Z, Chin YE, Zhang DD (2009) Acetylation of Nrf2 by p300/CBP augments promoter-specific DNA binding of Nrf2 during the antioxidant response. Mol Cell Biol 29(10):2658–2672
- Kawai Y et al (2011) Acetylation-deacetylation of the transcription factor Nrf2 (nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2) regulates its transcriptional activity and nucleocytoplasmic localization. J Biol Chem 286(9):7629–7640
- Namani A et al (2014) Modulation of NRF2 signaling pathway by nuclear receptors: implications for cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta 1843(9):1875–1885
- Wang XJ et al (2007) Identification of retinoic acid as an inhibitor of transcription factor Nrf2 through activation of retinoic acid receptor alpha. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(49):19589–19594
- 72. Ansell PJ et al (2004) In vitro and in vivo regulation of antioxidant response elementdependent gene expression by estrogens. Endocrinology 145(1):311–317

- Ansell PJ et al (2005) Repression of cancer protective genes by 17beta-estradiol: liganddependent interaction between human Nrf2 and estrogen receptor alpha. Mol Cell Endocrinol 243(1–2):27–34
- 74. Yao Y et al (2010) Inhibition of estrogen signaling activates the NRF2 pathway in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 124(2):585–591
- 75. Ki SH et al (2005) Glucocorticoid receptor (GR)-associated SMRT binding to C/EBPbeta TAD and Nrf2 Neh4/5: role of SMRT recruited to GR in GSTA2 gene repression. Mol Cell Biol 25(10):4150–4165
- 76. Kratschmar DV et al (2012) Suppression of the Nrf2-dependent antioxidant response by glucocorticoids and 11beta-HSD1-mediated glucocorticoid activation in hepatic cells. PLoS One 7(5):e36774
- 77. Michaeloudes C et al (2014) Bromodomain and extraterminal proteins suppress NF-E2related factor 2-mediated antioxidant gene expression. J Immunol 192(10):4913–4920
- Hussong M et al (2014) The bromodomain protein BRD4 regulates the KEAP1/NRF2dependent oxidative stress response. Cell Death Dis 5:e1195
- Chatterjee N et al (2016) Keap1-independent regulation of Nrf2 activity by protein acetylation and a BET Bromodomain protein. PLoS Genet 12(5):e1006072
- Florence B, Faller DV (2001) You bet-cha: a novel family of transcriptional regulators. Front Biosci 6:D1008–D1018
- Jang MK et al (2005) The bromodomain protein Brd4 is a positive regulatory component of P-TEFb and stimulates RNA polymerase II-dependent transcription. Mol Cell 19(4):523–534
- Yang Z et al (2005) Recruitment of P-TEFb for stimulation of transcriptional elongation by the bromodomain protein Brd4. Mol Cell 19(4):535–545
- 83. Kellner WA et al (2013) Distinct isoforms of the Drosophila Brd4 homologue are present at enhancers, promoters and insulator sites. Nucleic Acids Res 41(20):9274–9283
- Fontana L, Klein S, Holloszy JO (2010) Effects of long-term calorie restriction and endurance exercise on glucose tolerance, insulin action, and adipokine production. Age (Dordr) 32(1):97–108
- Pearson KJ et al (2008) Nrf2 mediates cancer protection but not prolongevity induced by caloric restriction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(7):2325–2330
- 86. Sykiotis GP et al (2011) The role of the antioxidant and longevity-promoting Nrf2 pathway in metabolic regulation. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 14(1):41–48
- Bishop NA, Guarente L (2007) Two neurons mediate diet-restriction-induced longevity in C. elegans. Nature 447(7144):545–549
- Bluher M, Kahn BB, Kahn CR (2003) Extended longevity in mice lacking the insulin receptor in adipose tissue. Science 299(5606):572–574
- Clancy DJ et al (2001) Extension of life-span by loss of CHICO, a Drosophila insulin receptor substrate protein. Science 292(5514):104–106
- 90. Kenyon C (2005) The plasticity of aging: insights from long-lived mutants. Cell 120(4):449-460
- 91. Junger MA et al (2003) The Drosophila forkhead transcription factor FOXO mediates the reduction in cell number associated with reduced insulin signaling. J Biol 2(3):20
- Puig O, Tjian R (2005) Transcriptional feedback control of insulin receptor by dFOXO/ FOXO1. Genes Dev 19(20):2435–2446
- Salih DA, Brunet A (2008) FoxO transcription factors in the maintenance of cellular homeostasis during aging. Curr Opin Cell Biol 20(2):126–136
- Tullet JM et al (2008) Direct inhibition of the longevity-promoting factor SKN-1 by insulinlike signaling in C. elegans. Cell 132(6):1025–1038
- 95. Wang L et al (2008) Essential roles of the PI3 kinase/Akt pathway in regulating Nrf2dependent antioxidant functions in the RPE. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 49(4):1671–1678
- 96. Li MH, Cha YN, Surh YJ (2006) Peroxynitrite induces HO-1 expression via PI3K/Aktdependent activation of NF-E2-related factor 2 in PC12 cells. Free Radic Biol Med 41(7):1079–1091

- 97. Urano F et al (2000) Coupling of stress in the ER to activation of JNK protein kinases by transmembrane protein kinase IRE1. Science 287(5453):664–666
- Keum YS et al (2003) Involvement of Nrf2 and JNK1 in the activation of antioxidant responsive element (ARE) by chemopreventive agent phenethyl isothiocyanate (PEITC). Pharm Res 20(9):1351–1356
- 99. Digaleh H, Kiaei M, Khodagholi F (2013) Nrf2 and Nrf1 signaling and ER stress crosstalk: implication for proteasomal degradation and autophagy. Cell Mol Life Sci 70(24):4681–4694
- Glover-Cutter KM, Lin S, Blackwell TK (2013) Integration of the unfolded protein and oxidative stress responses through SKN-1/Nrf. PLoS Genet 9(9):e1003701
- 101. Kubben N et al (2016) Repression of the antioxidant NRF2 pathway in premature aging. Cell 165(6):1361–1374
- 102. Gordon LB, Brown WT, Collins FS (1993) Hutchinson-Gilford progeria syndrome. In: Adam MP et al (eds) GeneReviews((R)). University of Washington, Seattle
- 103. Bollong MJ et al (2018) A metabolite-derived protein modification integrates glycolysis with KEAP1-NRF2 signalling. Nature 562(7728):600–604
- 104. Castello PR, Drechsel DA, Patel M (2007) Mitochondria are a major source of paraquatinduced reactive oxygen species production in the brain. J Biol Chem 282(19):14186–14193
- 105. Magesh S, Chen Y, Hu L (2012) Small molecule modulators of Keap1-Nrf2-ARE pathway as potential preventive and therapeutic agents. Med Res Rev 32(4):687–726
- 106. Schmidt TJ, Ak M, Mrowietz U (2007) Reactivity of dimethyl fumarate and methylhydrogen fumarate towards glutathione and N-acetyl-L-cysteine–preparation of S-substituted thiosuccinic acid esters. Bioorg Med Chem 15(1):333–342
- English C, Aloi JJ (2015) New FDA-approved disease-modifying therapies for multiple sclerosis. Clin Ther 37(4):691–715
- 108. Garber K (2012) Biochemistry: a radical treatment. Nature 489(7417):S4-S6
- 109. Zhang Y, Munday R (2008) Dithiolethiones for cancer chemoprevention: where do we stand? Mol Cancer Ther 7(11):3470–3479
- 110. Liang E et al (2017) The BET/BRD inhibitor JQ1 attenuates diabetes-induced cognitive impairment in rats by targeting Nox4-Nrf2 redox imbalance. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 495(1):204–211
- 111. Chatterjee N, Bohmann D (2018) BET-ting on Nrf2: how Nrf2 signaling can influence the therapeutic activities of BET protein inhibitors. BioEssays 40(5):e1800007
- 112. Barnes PJ (2009) Targeting the epigenome in the treatment of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc 6(8):693–696
- Barnes PJ (2013) New anti-inflammatory targets for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Nat Rev Drug Discov 12(7):543–559
- 114. Footitt J et al (2016) Oxidative and nitrosative stress and histone deacetylase-2 activity in exacerbations of COPD. Chest 149(1):62–73
- 115. Mercado N et al (2011) Decreased histone deacetylase 2 impairs Nrf2 activation by oxidative stress. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 406(2):292–298



8

Role of Oxidative Stress Induced by Cigarette Smoke in the Pathogenicity of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

Anuradha Ratna, Shyamali Mukherjee, and Salil K. Das

Abstract

Cigarette smoke (CS) exposes lungs to oxidative stress and inflammation and is a major risk factor for the development of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). COPD is a complex lung disease characterized by chronic inflammation with limited airflow and chronic bronchitis associated with mucus hypersecretion, thickened small airway walls, and emphysema. CS-induced oxidative stress is responsible for altered cellular metabolism, including increased infiltrating immune cells, pro-inflammatory cytokine production, protease-antiprotease imbalance, lipid peroxidation, apoptosis, upregulation of unfolded protein response (UPR), and protein misfolding. This chapter reviews the current knowledge on different mechanisms through which both direct and secondhand CS-induced oxidative stress in lungs plays a significant role in the pathogenesis of COPD. Despite the presence of considerable reports recognizing the harmful effects of CS-generated oxidative stress, effective treatment for COPD is lacking. Extensive research on the immune and pathogenetic mechanisms of COPD will help in developing new treatment strategies. Clinical trials leveraging multiple antioxidants, anti-inflammatory processes, and UPR inhibitors are urgently needed to advance COPD therapies.

A. Ratna

Department of Medicine, University of Massachusetts Medical School, Worcester, MA, USA

S. Mukherjee

Department of Professional Medical Education, Meharry Medical College, Nashville, TN, USA

S. K. Das (🖂)

Department of Biochemistry, Cancer Biology, Neuroscience and Pharmacology, Meharry Medical College, Nashville, TN, USA

Department of Biochemistry, Cancer Biology, Neuroscience and Pharmacology, Meharry Medical College, Nashville, TN, USA e-mail: sdas@mmc.edu

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_8

Keywords

Cigarette smoke · Oxidative stress · Antioxidant · COPD · Inflammation · Protease–antiprotease · Mitochondria · UPR

8.1 Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a leading cause of chronic morbidity and mortality and is becoming a global public health concern. According to the World Health Organization (WHO) in "The Global Burden of Disease Study," there were 251 million cases of COPD globally in 2016 [1] and is likely to be the third leading cause of death worldwide by 2020 [2]. The two conditions that lead to COPD are chronic bronchitis and emphysema. Around 12 million adults are diagnosed with COPD, 120,000 deaths are reported each year, and about 12 million adults go undiagnosed for COPD [3]. It currently affects about 10-12% of the population over 45 years of age, rising to 50% in heavy smokers [4]. COPD is a complex disease associated with chronic airflow limitation along with an inflammatory pulmonary response to smoke and toxic particles. COPD is characterized by lung emphysema, with degradation of alveolar structural protein, loss of alveolar tissue and loss of lung elastic recoil, and chronic bronchitis with increased deposition of structural proteins, narrowing of airway lumen, and mucus hypersecretion [5, 6]. Secondary to the structural changes in the airways, reduced airflow in COPD presents irreversible conditions such as peribronchiolar fibrosis and increased collapsibility due to destruction of elastase in lung tissues [7]. Exposure to both direct and secondhand cigarette smoke (CS) has been widely accepted as a major risk factor in the pathogenesis of COPD [8, 9]. Although smoking is considered the most important risk factor for COPD, not all smokers develop COPD. This implies other contributors including air pollution, exposure to occupational dust, fumes and chemicals, and genetic predisposition [10-12]. The most common genetic factor associated with COPD is the deficiency of α 1-antitrypsin [13]. Individual with α 1-antitrypsin deficiency has reduced levels of circulating proteinase inhibitor, a protective factor against proteolytic attack that leads to emphysema. Although much research has focused on the protease and antiprotease theory of pathogenesis of COPD, less attention has been paid to the role of the oxidant-antioxidant imbalance in COPD. Besides the detrimental effects of tobacco smoking, secondhand smoke exposure from burning tobacco products such as cigarettes, cigars, pipes, and beedi or biri also has significant adverse effects on health [14]. Homa et al. [15] reported that 2,500,000 nonsmokers have died from different types of health problems caused by exposure to secondhand smoke. In this book chapter, we focus mainly on the both direct and secondhand CS-induced oxidative stress and its role in the pathogenesis of COPD.

8.2 COPD: Pathogenesis and Risk Factors

Although the pathogenesis of COPD remains poorly understood, multiple studies have reported that oxidative stress, inflammation, protease-antiprotease imbalance, and apoptosis of lung cells are involved [16-18]. All these pathogenic mechanisms lead to a series of physiological abnormalities including airflow obstruction, airway hyperresponsiveness, hyperinflation of the lungs, dysfunction of cilia, loss of lung elasticity, and abnormalities in gas exchange due to destruction of alveoli [19]. Figure 8.1 illustrates the pathogenesis of COPD and changes in the lungs due to exposure to both direct and secondhand CS. The pathology of COPD can be represented as a persistent inflammatory immune response and oxidative and chemical injury by noxious gases. Next to chronic inflammation of the lungs, systemic alterations have been seen in COPD patients. Systemic inflammation decrease in body weight and loss of skeletal muscles are observed as other manifestations of the disease. COPD patients frequently develop skeletal muscle dysfunction. Oxidative stress has been reported to cause posttranslational modifications of specific muscle proteins, for example, creatine kinase, rendering them susceptible to increased protein breakdown leading to muscle loss in smokers and COPD patients [20].



Fig. 8.1 Pathogenesis of COPD induced by both direct and secondhand cigarette smoking

The most prominent risk factors for COPD are cigarette smoking, passive CS exposure, and exposure to other noxious particles including tobacco smoke, fuels, and wood smoke [21]. Smoking harms nearly every organ of the body leading to different diseases such as cancer, heart diseases, lung diseases, and COPD. The WHO reports that cigarette smoking causes more than 480,000 deaths per year in the United States, including more than 41,000 deaths resulting from secondhand smoke exposure [22]. Many oxidants contained in CS induce severe adverse effects through oxidative damage of key biological structures. Inhaled CS induces an aggravated inflammatory response and abnormal tissue damage in the lungs of COPD patients. The gaseous and particulate phases of CS contain 4000 to 1×10^{15} different chemicals and carcinogens and also produce highly toxic reactive oxygen species (ROS) through various processes such as the Haber–Weiss reaction [23]. ROS are able to initiate inflammatory responses by altering biological molecules, signaling pathways, and antioxidant molecule function predominantly in epithelial cells and inflammatory cells in the lung [24]. Chronic inflammatory response in the airways of COPD patients is characterized by infiltrating inflammatory cells (neutrophils, eosinophils, macrophages, and CD8+T cells) and enhanced oxidant production in tissues such as lipid peroxidation [25], protein and thiol oxidation [26], and DNA oxidation [27]. The inflammatory cells release a variety of proteases, known to be responsible for the degradation of elastin and thus leading to emphysema development [19]. Inhaled CS damages lung epithelial cells and releases various inflammatory mediators such as tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), C-reactive proteins, and interleukins (IL-6, IL-8) resulting in structural damage to lung parenchyma [28].

8.3 Smoke-Induced Oxidative Stress in COPD

Recent experimental studies and clinical research have established that CS-induced oxidative stress is a major predisposing factor for COPD. The increased oxidative stress in COPD patients is attributed to the increased burden of inhaled oxidants, along with increased amount of ROS produced by several inflammatory, immune, and epithelial cells in the lungs [29], and cessation of cigarette smoking does not stop progression of this disease. Louhelainen et al. [30] reported that inflammatory cells (particularly neutrophils) are continuously recruited to the lungs and released more inflammatory mediators such as leukotriene B₄ (LTB₄) and IL-8 and cause continuous oxidative stress after smoking cessation, indicating that endogenous ROS/reactive nitrogen species (RNS) resulting from the successive inflammatory response might also contribute to the progression of oxidative stress-induced COPD. Oxidative stress interferes with multiple events of lung physiology, thus contributing to COPD pathogenesis. Oxidative stress is responsible for inactivation of surfactants and antiproteases, hypersecretion of mucus, lipid peroxidation and formation of malondialdehyde (MDA), alveolar epithelial damage, and a loss of lung elasticity and remodeling of the extracellular matrix (ECM) (Fig. 8.2). MDA causes disruption of the membrane lipid bilayer that may lead to the inactivation of membrane-bound receptors and increases tissue permeability. As a result, there is



Fig. 8.2 Oxidative stress originated by cigarette smoke causes alterations of multiple pathways and induces cellular damage and inflammation

induction of pulmonary inflammation, as evident from the observation that the level of MDA is increased in peripheral circulation of COPD patients [24, 31]. Birben et al. [32] reported that two of the indirect biomarkers of oxidative stress, isoprostanes and thiobarbituric acid, were increased in the bronchoalveolar lavage and exhaled breath condensate of COPD patients or smokers. Further, CS-induced ROS/RNS upregulate redox-sensitive transcription factors and activate their downstream signaling pathways in lung epithelial and inflammatory cells [24, 33]. In order to sustain a pro-inflammatory state, ROS also initiate small G proteins and pro-inflammatory transcription factors such as NF- κ B [34].

Cigarette smoke has been found to contain several reactive species, such as oxides of nitrogen, organic peroxides, and hydroperoxides [35]. Muller et al. [36] reported that the peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) is formed in aqueous CS fractions as a reaction product of superoxide and nitric oxide (NO) which are released by CS. Peroxynitrite plays a critical role in the oxidative inactivation of α_1 -proteinase inhibitor. Furthermore, peroxynitrite also inhibits both half-life of CS-induced c-fos activity and expression [37]. It has been also reported that CS exposure causes increased blood counts of neutrophils and monocytes, which are the main endogenous sources of myeloperoxidase (MPO), which catalyzes H₂O₂, producing highly oxidizing hypochlorous acid (HOCI). The heme enzyme MPO is a potent endogenous scavenger for peroxynitrite and acts as a protective mechanism from oxidative/

nitrosative stress. Martins et al. [38] reported that serum MPO activity is significantly higher in smoker than nonsmoker and thus responsible for imbalance of the lung protease–antiprotease activity. Moreover, CS exposure also increases production and secretion of metalloprotease by macrophages [39]. It has also been reported that the high levels of matrix metallopeptidase 9 (MMP-9) are present in the airways and serum and persist after smoking cessation [40]. Hence, both increase activity of MPO, and metalloproteases emerge as a critical contributor for the development and progression of COPD in smokers.

8.4 Oxidative Stress and Inflammation in COPD

Airway and parenchymal inflammation in patients with chronic airflow limitation is the hallmark of COPD. Multiple experimental studies and clinical investigations performed by bronchoscopy, sputum analysis, and lung lavage have suggested that inflammation plays a critical role in pathobiology of COPD [41-43]. Besides airflow limitation and bronchiolar constriction, inflammation may also be responsible for fibrosis, mucus gland hypertrophy, increased connective tissue deposition, and deforming the airway lumen [44]. CS triggers a cascade of pro-inflammatory response at the site of inflammation caused mainly due to the infiltration of leukocytes mediated by pro-inflammatory cytokine signaling (IL-1 β and TNF- α) [45]. upregulation of matrix metalloproteases (MMP-1, MMP-9, etc.), and adhesion of monocytes to the endothelium [46]. The activated endothelial cells express higher levels of selectins, VCAM-1 and ICAM-1, and promote monocyte adherence [47]. The most important cellular players for inflammation in COPD are alveolar macrophages, neutrophils, lymphocytes, and epithelial cells [48, 49]. Increased levels of monocytes and neutrophils secreting free radicals, elastase, and collagenase have been reported in smokers [50, 51]. Many mechanisms could be responsible for increased number of neutrophils in the lungs of cigarette smokers with COPD. For example, oxidants decrease neutrophil deformability and enhance their sequestration in small blood vessels [52]. Upregulated expression of E-selectin causes increased neutrophil adherence in lung vessels of chronic bronchitis patients [53]. CS was found to elicit adhesion of neutrophils to hamster endothelium in vitro by inhibiting Cu²⁺Zn²⁺-SOD (superoxide dismutase) [54].

Several in vitro studies done on macrophage (U937), alveolar (A549), and bronchial epithelial cells (BEAS-2B) reported that ROS induces the expression of cytokines, such as IL-1 β and TNF- α that cause inflammation [55–57]. Alveolar macrophages and airway epithelium, under direct or indirect oxidant stress, also produce TNF- α , which in turn activates epithelial cells to induce pro-inflammatory genes, such as IL-8, IL-1, IL-6, inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), ICAM-1, MIP-1 α , heat shock proteins, and antioxidant enzymes [29, 55]. These genes are regulated by redox-sensitive transcription factors NF- κ B and AP-1 (activator protein-1). Oxidative stress activates the enzyme I- κ B kinase, which degrades κ B protein inhibitor, and promotes the release of NF- κ B. Intracellular ROS has been also reported to inactivate histone deacetylase 2 that leads to increased acetylation of proteins. As a result, there occur chromatin decompaction and greater accessibility of transcription factors to the genes [58, 59]. Studies have demonstrated that acetylation of histones is associated with the transcription of inflammatory mediators such asIL-8 [60], eotaxin and GM-CSF [61], MIP-2 [62], and IL-6 [63].

8.5 Oxidative Stress-Induced Mitochondrial Dysfunction in COPD

Mitochondrial dysfunction hampers a multitude of cellular functions, giving rise to the onset of various diseases. The major purpose of mitochondria, the "power house" of the cell, is production of adenosine triphosphate (ATP). Mitochondria perform several other essential functions such as cellular signaling, redox homeostasis, and cell survival and proliferation [64]. They are major endogenous source of ROS. Alteration of mitochondrial function is associated with a variety of disorders in human health [65]. Oxidative stress occurs when exposure of both exogenous and endogenous ROS/RNS is enough to overwhelm antioxidant defenses of our body (Fig. 8.3). Superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) is generated mainly by mitochondrial metabolism,



Fig. 8.3 Proposed mechanism of mitochondrial-centered pathogenesis by ROS/RNS of both direct and secondhand cigarette-smoke-induced mitochondrial dysfunction in development and progression of COPD. Abbreviations: *AM* Alveolar microphages, *PMN* polymorphonucleocytes, *EOS* eosinophils, *CAT* catalase, *GSH* glutathione, *GSSG* glutathione disulfide, *GPx* glutathione peroxidase, *GRed* glutathione reductase, *NADP* nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate, *NADPH* reduced NADP, *MPO* myeloperoxidase, *ONOO*⁻ peroxynitrite molecule, *ONOOCO*₂⁻ nitrosoperoxycarbonate, *cyt c* cytochrome c

molybdenum hydroxylase reactions, arachidonic acid metabolism, heme peroxidase system, and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase-dependent processes in phagocytic cells [66]. Although superoxide anion is unstable, it is considered to contribute little to oxidative stress, because of rapid dismutation of superoxide anion into hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) by enzyme cytosolic superoxide dismutase (SOD1) and mitochondrial SOD2. NO is produced by iNOS which in the presence of O_2^- forms an extremely reactive ROS, peroxynitrite anion (ONOO⁻) [67]. Peroxynitrite causes oxidation of multiple targets such as lipid, proteins, and DNA [25-27]. Nitrosative stress from an upregulated iNOS system and its downstream oxidative pathways is involved in different stages of proteolytic pulmonary emphysema related to cigarette smoking [68]. CS-induced NO acts as inhibitor of electron transport chain (ETC) which increases mitochondrial oxidant (O_2^{-}) production and impairs the flow of electron at cytochrome c (cyt c) oxidase (Complex IV). Peroxynitrite also inactivates mitochondrial protein SOD2 and mediates a variety of biological effects. Furthermore, in the presence of CO₂, it produces nitrosoperoxycarbonate (ONOOCO₂⁻), which diminishes oxidation and increases nitration reaction. ROS and RNS are generated by both direct and secondhand cigarette smoke. The superoxide anion radical (O_2^{-}) is generated from CS and mitochondrial nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase and can be converted to H₂O₂ by superoxide dismutase (SOD), which can diffuse from mitochondria and act as a signaling molecule, or is reduced by GSH to form H_2O . In the presence of (Fe₂⁺), H_2O_2 can produce hydroxyl radicals (OH⁻) via Fenton–Haber–Weiss reaction or can produce highly reactive HOCL by mitochondrial MPO.

CS induces mitochondrial dysfunction by the following mechanisms:

- 1. Overproduction of ROS/RNS and overutilizing GSH in mitochondria cause defective ETC, which leads to mitochondrial membrane potential loss and increased membrane permeability.
- 2. Modification of mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA)-associated immune response, which will increase mtDNA fragmentation.
- 3. Impairment of mitophagy leads to accumulation of damaged mitochondria and increased cellular senescence via suborganellar signaling [69–71].

Hence, CS exposure generates excessive oxidation by inducing tremendous mitochondrial ROS/RNS burden in the cell, which induces an oxidant–antioxidant imbalance in CS-induced COPD [72]. Thus, understanding the underlying mechanisms on oxidant–antioxidant imbalance and involvement of signaling pathway may provide important information for therapeutic treatment of pathogenesis and progression of CS-induced COPD.

While the role of mitochondria in COPD has not been adequately elucidated, several studies have demonstrated that CS disrupts mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta\Psi$ m), reduces ATP content, and lowers complex protein expression [73]. Prolonged exposure to CS was found to significantly increase the expression of fission/fusion markers, oxidative phosphorylation proteins, and oxidative stress markers [74]. Prohibitin complexes, an essential component of mitochondrial fusion

machinery, were found to be downregulated in COPD lung tissue. Moreover, prohibitin levels were associated with the degree of airway destruction [75]. The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) and PPAR- γ coactivator (PGC)-1 α are key regulators of mitochondrial formation and skeletal muscle oxidative ability [76]. Several studies have reported reduced expression of PPARs and PGC-1 α in peripheral skeletal muscle of patients with moderate-to-severe COPD and muscle weakness, suggesting these molecules as potential targets for pharmacological management of COPD [77, 78]. The genes driving iron regulatory proteins (IRPs), known to regulate cellular iron homeostasis, have been identified as major COPD susceptibility candidates [79]. Later studies showed that IRP2 is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction in experimental COPD, where mice treated with a mitochondrial iron chelator showed protection from CS-induced COPD [80].

Mitochondria orchestrate signaling pathways that regulate both innate and adaptive immunity. Two mitochondrial proteins, nucleotide-binding domain and leucinerich repeat-containing protein X1 (NLRX1) and mitochondrial antiviral signaling (MAVS), have been previously reported to control cytoplasmic, nucleic acidmediated innate immune pathway [81]. Later studies demonstrated that these two proteins were implicated in COPD pathogenesis [82]. CS-induced dysregulation of NLRX1/MAVS signaling pathway was responsible for enhanced inflammasome activation, increased cytokine response, disturbed ROS production, intra-alveolar inflammation, and alveolar cell death. The role of NLRX1 in the pathogenesis of COPD is also evident from clinical studies. In human COPD cohorts, the suppressed expression of NLRX1 was strongly correlated with the degree of airflow limitation [82]. Some other mitochondrial regulatory pathways, including mitochondrial Tu translation elongation factor and ubiquinol-cytochrome c reductase core protein 2 (UQCRC2), a subunit of electron transport chain complex III, have been found to be relevant in COPD [83, 84]. Mitochondrial signaling is also known to control adaptive immunity, including differentiation of CD4⁺ T cells and formation of CD8⁺ memory T cells. Despite all this, the role of mitochondria in COPD immunology is still not very clear. Further studies confirming the participation of other mitochondrial molecules and signaling in COPD pathogenesis will help in understanding the immunologic aspects and in developing disease-modifying therapeutics.

8.6 Oxidative Stress and Antioxidant Defenses in COPD

Oxidative stress may result from increased exposure to oxidants and/or decreased antioxidant capacities, which are central features of COPD. Since oxidants play a pronounced role in CS-induced pulmonary damage, the status of pulmonary antioxidant defense mechanisms holds paramount importance. Pulmonary antioxidant defenses include both enzymatic and nonenzymatic systems. The major enzymatic antioxidants are superoxide dismutase (SOD) and glutathione (GSH) redox system [85]. SOD degrades superoxide (O_2^-) and catalase, whereas GSH inactivates hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and hydroperoxidases. CS compromises the antioxidant machinery of the lung. Acute exposure of airway epithelial cells to CS depletes

airway cell GSH [86]. From a cellular perspective, CS irreversibly modifies redoxsensitive transcription factors, such as nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) in epithelial and alveolar macrophages which activates antioxidant response elements and cytoprotective genes [87, 88]. One study reported that erythrocytes from smokers had decreased glutathione peroxidase (GPX) and glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) activity and were more susceptible to lipid peroxidation than erythrocytes from nonsmokers [89]. In contrast, there are various studies showing increased antioxidants in cigarette smokers. Certain cigarette smokers had increased GSH and GPX activities in their epithelial lining fluids compared with nonsmokers [90]. On a related note, CS increased lung SOD and catalase activities, but these responses were unable to protect rats against CS [91]. This imbalance between the smoke-induced oxidative stress and antioxidant defense machinery in the lung is believed to be a major step in the progression of COPD.

Mukherjee et al. [92] have evaluated the effect of direct and passive CS exposure on the activity of antioxidant enzymes and lipid peroxidation in guinea pig erythrocytes. Smoke-exposed groups showed increased activity of SOD and decreased activities of GPX and NADPH enzymes [92]. A significant increase in the lipid peroxidation potential of erythrocytes was also observed in vitro, thus indicating the free radical-mediated lung injury. An association between increased peroxidation of erythrocyte lipids and incapability of erythrocytes to quench free radicals in smokeexposed animals may be due to a deficiency of antioxidants. Lower levels of vitamin C and carotene in plasma of smokers have been reported in some of the earlier studies [93]. Vitamin A and its metabolites play important role in the respiratory system by influencing differentiation and the integrity of the epithelial cells [94, 95]. Several studies [95] have been carried out to understand the relationship between level of vitamin A, lung function, and lung diseases such as vitamin A deficiency leading to type I brittle asthma, degree of bronchopulmonary dysplasia in the neonate, and cellular defense against lung infection due to widespread reduction in the number of ciliated cells throughout the trachea, bronchi, and bronchiolar epithelium [94]. Earlier study from our laboratory suggests that vitamin A deficiency decreases SOD, GSPx, and GSH level in guinea pig lung and simultaneously causes a marked increase in microsomal oxidation [96]. Vitamin A deficiency in smokers increases the risk of developing COPD [97, 98]. Mukherjee et al. [99] reported in a CS-exposed guinea pig model that there is an accumulation of lung retinol and decrease in alltrans retinoic acid (ATRA) in both mainstream (MS) and sidestream (SS), and these are still significantly higher in both groups than sham and room control after cessation of smoking, suggesting disturbed retinoid metabolism and signaling. Furthermore, electron microscopic study also revealed that mainstream CS exposure led to massive accumulation of dense amorphous granulated materials and enlarged type II cells in the alveolar space. In secondhand CS-exposed guinea pigs, there was no accumulation of dense, amorphous granulated materials in the alveolar space. However, abnormally enlarged type II cells protruded into the lung alveolar space similar to mainstream CS-exposed group indicated a rapid turnover of type II cells in guinea pigs exposed to both mainstream and secondhand CS. Furthermore, cessation of CS did not improve morphology of the lung of both groups. Above studies suggest

that vitamin A plays a crucial role in pulmonary defense system through cellular removal of toxic radicals [95–100]. Pinnock et al. [101] reported that a lower serum retinol concentration in patients with moderate-to-severe COPD and treatment with retinol improves the FEV1 in these individuals.

Several recent evidences suggest that dietary antioxidants vitamin C, vitamin E, and β -carotene are positively associated with respiratory function [102, 103]. Lutein, a fat-soluble carotenoid without vitamin A capacities, is present in eggs and green leafy vegetable, for example, kale, spinach, and collards [104]. It has also been reported that lutein plays an important role in ocular health, where it protects the eye from inflammation and oxidative stress and in the prevention of stroke, cardiovascular disorders, and lung cancer. It has been reported that higher lutein blood levels were associated with mortality [104]. Grievink et al. [105] reported that α -carotene, β -carotene, and lycopene were positively associated with lung function. Recently, we reported vitamin A, tocopherol, β -carotene, and lutein status in the lung of mild-to-moderate-to-severe COPD patients as judged by their forced expiratory volume (FEV1%) [107]. Figure 8.4 showed retinol (A), retinyl stearate (B), and retinyl palmitate (C) levels in different stages of COPD lung.



Fig. 8.4 The level of vitamin A in different stages of COPD lung. Upper panel is demonstration of an inverse linear correlation between the degree of emphysema among group of COPD patients, expressed in FEV1% values, and calculated amount of specific vitamin A expressed in $\mu g/g$ lung wet weight. Lower panel represents the mean \pm SEM values in each group (mild, moderate, and severe). A = Retinol, B = retinyl stearate, C = retinyl palmitate

The resulting graph demonstrates that there is a significant inverse relationship between the degree of emphysema among COPD patients, expressed in FEV1% values, and content of specific vitamins in subgroup of vitamin A content (Fig. 8.4upper panel), whereas Fig. 8.4—lower panel showed the difference between vitamin A metabolites from mild, to moderate, to severe COPD patients. Unpaired t-test indicates that difference in total retinol levels (ROH, Fig. 8.4A) between the mild and the severe group was significant (*p > 0.05), whereas total retinyl palmitate (RP) levels (Fig. 8.4C) between moderate and severe were highly significant (**p > 0.05), but there is no significant change in total retinyl stearate (RS) level between moderate and severe group among COPD patients (Fig. 8.4B, p = 0.0142). Our study indicates that the level of lung vitamin A reduces with the disease progression. Increased local vitamin A deficiency may occur due to high demand for its active form *all-trans* retinoic acid (ATRA), followed by depletion of intracellular retinyl ester stores. Previous studies reported that the COPD risk increases with the decreasing level of serum vitamin A, and ATRA-inhalation therapy showed improved sign and reduction in inflammatory markers in the serum of patient with severe emphysema [108, 109]. In our study, significant reduction in RP level in the severe versus moderate COPD lung tissue indicates the preference of retinyl ester hydrolase toward palmitate ester than stearate ester as observed by others [110]. It has been reported that inhalation of RP aerosol improved the vitamin A in preschool children, and reversal of metaplasia/dysplasia and partial remission in smokers [111].

Figure 8.5 shows an inverse linear correlation (upper panel) and level of different subtypes of tocopherol (lower panel) in difference of emphysema among groups of COPD patients. Our data indicates that only δ -tocopherol levels (Fig. 8.5C) were significantly (**, p > 0.05) changed between moderate and severe group of COPD. Although not significant, a decrease of 25.8% in α -tocopherol levels was observed in the severe group compared to samples in the mild group of COPD (Fig. 8.5A), whereas level of β/γ -tocopherol showed a nonsignificant increase with the increasing severity (Fig. 8.5B). It should be noted that α -tocopherol levels are to be found to be higher than β/γ -tocopherol, which are in turn higher than δ -tocopherol. α -Tocopherol is the most abundant tocopherol in our body. As reported in our study, 25.8% reduction of α -tocopherol levels in the lung of the mild-to-severe groups reduced availability of this antioxidant, and increased oxidative stress burden in CS-induced COPD patients may be a critical risk factor for the development of lung cancer in COPD patients [104, 105]. It has been reported that α -tocopherol inhibits retinyl ester hydrolase (REH) activity [106]. The decrease of α -tocopherol levels may impair its ability to inhibit REH, resulting in reductions in RP in our study COPD patients.

Figure 8.6 shows an inverse linear correlation (upper panel) and total concentration of β -carotene and lutein (lower panel) in difference of emphysema among groups of COPD patients. Our result indicates that level of β -carotenes did not change between mild, moderate, and severe COPD patients (Fig. 8.6A). In contrast, lutein level increases between the mild and moderate (Fig. 8.6B), whereas it decreases significantly (**, p < 0.05) between moderate and severe COPD. A population-based prospective study reported a strong association between lutein/



Fig. 8.5 The level of tocopherol in different stages of COPD lung. Upper panel is demonstration of an inverse linear correlation between the degree of emphysema among group of COPD patients, expressed in FEV1% values, and calculated amount of specific tocopherol expressed in $\mu g/g$ lung wet weight. Lower panel represents the mean \pm SEM values in each group (mild, moderate, and severe). A = α -tocopherol, B = β/γ -tocopherol, C = δ -tocopherol



Fig. 8.6 The level of carotenoid in different stages of COPD lung. Upper panel is demonstration of an inverse linear correlation between the degree of emphysema among group of COPD patients, expressed in FEV1% values, and calculated amount of specific carotenoid expressed in $\mu g/g$ lung wet weight. Lower panel represents the mean \pm SEM values in each group (mild, moderate, and severe). A = β -carotene; B = Lutein

zeaxanthin and FEV1, FVC, and FEV1/FVC% in adults with chronic airflow limitation. However, this study also found that lutein intake was significantly associated with lower FEV1/FVC% in current smokers $(-1.69 \ (95\% \ \text{CI} - 2.93, -0.45) \ \%$ per SD increase of lutein) independent of other carotenoids [107].

Hence, our overall results suggested that the lung levels of retinol, vitamin A, and other critical components of antioxidative defense, such as lutein and α - and δ -tocopherol, were reduced with the increasing severity of emphysema in COPD patients [107]. Recent emerging evidence suggests that tocopherols modulate the activity of several signal transduction enzymes such as protein kinase C; protein kinase B; protein tyrosine kinases; 5-, 12-, and 15-lipoxygenases; cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2); phospholipase A2 (PLA2); protein phosphatase 2A; protein tyrosine phosphatase; and diacylglycerol kinase, with consequent alterations of gene expression [108]. It has been suggested that excessive activity of COX-2 is associated with the development of COPD and bronchial tumors of the patients with chronic COPD and a limited activation in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis [109]. It has also demonstrated that y-tocopherol has better antioxidative efficacy and protection against emphysema and lung function in COPD than other forms, α , β , and δ [110]. Recently, it has been reported that the expression of P27, Bcl2, α -TTP, CYP3A, tropomyosin, II-2, PPAR- γ , and CTGF appears to be upregulated by α -tocopherol, whereas cyclin D1, collagen-α1, MMP-1, MMP-19, E-selectin, ICAM-1, integrins, glycoprotein IIb, as well as II-2, IL-4, and IL- β genes are downregulated [111]. This heterogeneity of mediators of tocopherol action suggests that tocopherols may play critical role in the development of CS-induced COPD. Our study and a recent population-based cross-sectional study indicate that there is a stronger association between antioxidant vitamin levels and the CS-induced COPD [107, 112]. We have reported previously the presence of high-density translocator protein (TSPO) formerly known as peripheral benzodiazepine receptors (PBRs), in lung [113] and alveolar type II cells [114], which are involved in surfactant synthesis and secretion [115]. We and other laboratories also reported that TSPO is predominantly located in the mitochondria, playing an important role in steroidogenesis, inflammation, oxidative stress, cell survival and proliferation, and mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) formation [113, 116]. Mark and Barnes [117] reported that TSPO is also located in submucosal glands in intrapulmonary bronchi of human and airway epithelium and alveolar walls of both human and guinea pig [118]. Our laboratory also reported that vitamin A deficiency caused a decrease in binding capacity of TSPO in both nuclear and mitochondrial fraction of the guinea pig lungs [118]. These reports suggest a close functional relationship between vitamin A and TSPO in the lung.

Das et al. [119] reported a group of proteins, called annexins or Ca⁺⁺-dependent phospholipid-binding proteins (PLBP), was identified in alveolar type II cells, which play a role in surfactant biogenesis and lung development. The secretion of surfactant is mediated by the action of catecholamines on β -adrenergic receptors in the lungs [120]. Das and Mukherjee [121] also reported that the treatment with isoproterenol (IP) Ro5–4864 (TSPO agonist) increases the secretion of surfactant 24%, 52%, and 171%, respectively. Our laboratory also reported that MS and SS CS exposure causes a significant increase in levels of PLBP in alveolar type II in comparison with that in sham control guinea pig lung, which indicates that rapid turnover of PLBP due to CS-induced oxidative stress [122]. This finding explained our previous observation of a massive accumulation of dense, amorphous granulated materials in the alveolar space and irregular expansion of type II cells in both mainstream and sidestream CS-exposed guinea pig [78]. In a guinea pig model of CS exposure, we also observed desensitized β -adrenoreceptors (AR) in guinea pig type II cells [123]. Wang et al. [124] demonstrated that chronic CS exposure triggered lung inflammation by increasing TNF α and IL-1 β in both bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) and lung tissue and downregulated β_2 -AR in the rat lung. Moreover, CS exposure inhibits both β_2 -agonist-mediated epithelial permeability and transforming growth factor- β 1 signaling, which may provide a possible explanation to why CS lowers surfactant level in bronchial lavage. Gavish et al. [125] reported that CS exposure causes significant increases of 72 KDa TSPO degradation and redox metal-ion-induced oxidative stress. CS-induced progression of COPD is associated with small airway obstruction of mucous exudates. It is reported that β_2 -AR-β-arrestin2-ERK1/2 signaling was involved in CS-induced mucus hypersecretion in rat and chronic administration of propranolol significantly attenuated the CS-induced airway goblet cell metaplasia and ameliorated airway mucus hypersecretion [126]. Taken together, all these studies indicate that CS causes a multifactorial damage to the lungs by interfering with antioxidant machinery, surfactant biogenesis, and proper lung regeneration.

8.7 Oxidative Stress and Protease/Antiprotease Imbalance

Proteases are responsible for mucin hypersecretion and mucociliary clearance [127]. The deficiency and/or decreased activity of antiproteases contributes to mucus hypersecretion and emphysema [128, 129]. There is strong evidence that neutrophil infiltration and oxidative stress contribute to the imbalance between proteases and antiproteases by activating various proteases, which further leads to COPD pathogenesis [130, 131]. Studies show an acute increase in airway proteases in COPD, degradation of airway mucin proteins, and mucus obstruction [132]. The three classes of proteases contributing to the etiopathogenesis of COPD are serine protease, cysteine proteases, and MMPs. Among serine proteases, neutrophil elastase, cathepsin G, and proteinase-3 degrade elastin and collagen, subsequently destroying alveolar tissue [133]. In cysteine proteases, caspase-3, caspase-8, and caspase-9 are responsible for ECM degradation and controlling apoptosis. MMPs, which act on collagen, laminin, and gelatin [7], play an influential role in severity of COPD. The protease activity is regulated by different inhibitors such as α 1-antitrypsin, neutrophil elastase inhibitor, and leukocyte protease inhibitor (PI).

One probable mechanism causing protease imbalance is the oxidation of methionine residues at active sites of α 1-antitrypsin under oxidative stress conditions. This decreases α 1-antitrypsin's in vitro inhibitory ability dramatically [130, 134]. Mutation in the α 1-antitrypsin gene (*SERPINA1*) is the best example of genetically induced emphysema. α 1-Antitrypsin possesses a pleiotropic effect known to inhibit neutrophil chemotaxis and has anti-inflammatory effect independent of neutrophil elastase inhibition [135, 136]. Deficiency of this protein leads to the release of neutrophil elastase creating a pro-inflammatory state within the lungs, accelerating tissue damage and emphysema, which is exacerbated by smoking. Neutrophil elastase which is produced by activated neutrophils and macrophages causes airway and epithelial cell apoptosis via caspase-3 [137] and is a potent inducer of mucus gland hyperplasia [138]. The protease-antiprotease balance may be disturbed by insufficient production of al-antitrypsin due to genetic defects or smoking-induced oxidants. Deficiency of α 1-antitrypsin occurs primarily from the Z allele [Glu342Lys; denoted as protease inhibitor (PI) ZZ in homozygote)] which causes polymerization of newly synthesized protein [139]. Longitudinal and meta-analysis studies show that even a single allele of Z α 1-antitrypsin increases the risk for COPD [140, 141]. Besides genetic deficiency, smoking also causes protease-antiprotease imbalance by disturbing the functional activity of α 1-antitrypsin in alveolar lining fluid and lung interstitium [142]. Literature suggests that cysteine proteases play a critical role in COPD and pulmonary emphysema by controlling apoptosis [128, 142]. An increase in apoptotic alveolar epithelium, lung endothelial cells, and mRNA expression of caspase-3, caspase-8, and caspase-9 has been reported in COPD cells [143]. Mutation in MMPs is often associated with COPD pathogenesis. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in MMP-9, MMP-1, and MMP-12 have been associated with COPD in different population [144-146]. One study showed that rs652438 SNP, which creates a hyperactive A allele that altered MMP-12 activity, increased macrophage infiltration and emphysema in the lungs of COPD patients [147]. MMP-9 plays an important role in cell migration and airway inflammatory response, affecting the severity of COPD [148]. Since expression of proteases and their inhibitors plays a significant role in COPD, they make obvious targets for research and treatment of COPD.

8.8 Oxidative Stress and Unfolded Protein Response in COPD

Accumulation of potentially cytotoxic misfolded proteins in the ER is known as ER stress. While the effect of CS-associated oxidative stress in COPD has been extensively investigated, the profound effects of oxidative stress on the function of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) through disturbed oxidative protein folding, eliciting an ER stress, have gained interest in recent years. A triad of ER sensor proteins, namely, RNA-dependent protein kinase (PKR)-like ER kinase (PERK), inositol-requiring protein 1 (IRE1), and activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6), induces a cascade of downstream signaling pathways called the unfolded protein response (UPR) [149] (Fig. 8.7). The UPR includes a series of transcriptional, translational, and posttranslational modifications that decrease protein synthesis, enhances protein folding capacity, and eliminates misfolded proteins. Diverse functions of the UPR potentially play a role in the pathogenesis of COPD. Multiple studies have reported the presence of damaged proteins and impairment of their elimination from COPD lungs [150–153]. Elevated levels of UPR targets such as binding immunoglobulin



Fig. 8.7 Schematic illustration of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress and unfolded protein response (UPR) signaling pathways activated by three sensors, inositol-requiring protein 1 (IRE1), RNA-dependent protein kinase (PKR)-like ER kinase (PERK), and activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6). *BiP* binding immunoglobulin protein, *XBP1* X-box binding protein 1, *ERAD* ER-associated degradation, *eIF2a* eukaryotic initiation factor 2 α , *CHOP* C/enhancer-binding protein homologous protein, *GADD34* growth arrest and DNA damage-inducible protein 34, *S1P/S2P* site 1 and site 2 proteases, *P* phosphorylation

protein (BiP), X-box binding protein 1 (XBP1), and glucose-regulated protein 94 KDa (GRP94) have been obtained in a variety of lung cancer and extrapulmonary cell lines when exposed to CS and aqueous smoke extracts [154, 155]. Cigarette smoking is linked with activation of UPR as evidenced by increased protein level of chaperones (GRP78, calnexin, calreticulin) and protein disulfide isomerase (PDI) [156]. Multiple in vivo studies done in mouse demonstrate increased expression of p-eIF2 α , CHOP, p50 ATF6N, and ATF4 proteins in lung lysates after cigarette smoke exposure at different time points [6, 153]. CS inhibits XBP1 splicing, ameliorating IRE1 α -XBP-1 axis even when A549 cell line was treated with ER stress inducers such as tunicamycin [157].

Oxidant stress due to CS irreversibly damages several lung proteins, thereby requiring ubiquitin–proteasome degradation or autophagic degradation. The ubiquitin–proteasome system is required for both the normal turnover of cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins and oxidatively modified proteins. CS directly impairs the proteasome activity in alveolar and lung epithelial cells [158]. The study also reported that

CS induced the accumulation of carbonylated and polyubiquitinated proteins in epithelial cell lines and alveolar macrophages. CS has been reported to cause oxidation and misfolding of PDI, an ER-resident foldase, both in vitro and in vivo [6]. Different constituents of smoke, namely, acrolein, hydroxyquinones, or peroxynitrites, cause nitrosylation of PDI and impair its enzymatic activity [154].

CS has been also linked with the autophagy dysfunction. Autophagy is a complementary degradative pathway that captures and recycles protein aggregates and removes defective mitochondria and internalized pathogens [159]. Studies have reported increased autophagosomes but with functional immune deficits in the lungs of smokers and in epithelial cells exposed to CS extract in vitro [160, 161]. The decrease in functional autophagy was attributed to the protein aggregate accumulation, mitochondrial damage, and impaired lysosomal delivery. In summary, oxidative stress in the form of CS exposure induces protein misfolding and UPR in the lungs and the isolated cells. Due to the major role played by UPR in protein metabolism, autophagy, and antioxidant defense, it is potentially of great importance in the pathogenesis of COPD.

8.9 Oxidative Stress and Antioxidant and/or Antiinflammatory Therapeutic Strategies for COPD

There is considerable evidence that an increased oxidative burden occurs in the lungs of patients with CS-induced COPD, and this results in an imbalance between pro-inflammatory–anti-inflammatory, oxidants–antioxidants, or oxidative stress, which may play a role in many of the processes involved in CS-induced pathogenesis of COPD. Hence, it becomes important to target systemic and local oxidative stress with therapeutic administration of a variety of antioxidants from diet or drugs in the treatment of pathogenesis of COPD and control different signaling molecules (such as nuclear factor-kappa B, nuclear erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) signal transduction) and hence inflammatory gene expression [162–170].

Dietary antioxidant supplementation of vitamin A, vitamin E, vitamin C, β -carotene, lutein, and lycopene is the modest approach to modulate antioxidant redox system or to improve the endogenous levels of antioxidants to manage CS-induced COPD. Table 8.1 describes the mode of action of dietary supplementation of vitamin and/or carotenoids in pathogenesis of COPD.

In order to counterbalance the lethal effects of ROS/RNS, the normal lung has various endogenous antioxidants, which play very important role in both enzymatic and nonenzymatic mechanisms. The antioxidant glutathione (GSH) is the most abundant cellular thiol, and the glutathione redox cycle is the fundamental component of the cellular antioxidant defense system. GSH present in higher concentrations in the epithelial lining fluid than plasma plays a protective role in the airspaces and epithelial cells against oxidative stress and in detoxifying and maintaining the integrity of the lung airspace epithelial barrier. A reduced level of GSH has been reported in the airways of smokers compared with nonsmokers, signifying that CS predisposes lung cells to ongoing oxidant stress [179]. It has been observed that

A .: .1 .	M. J. C. d.	D.C
Antioxidant	Mode of action	References
Vitamin A ^a	Reduces the annual FEV1 and exacerbation symptoms by	Refs. [171,
	improving oxidant and antioxidant levels	172]
Vitamin E ^a	Acts as a strong free radical scavenger and inhibits	Ref. [173]
	progressive inflammatory response in COPD	
Vitamin C ^a	Improves antioxidant status by increasing plasma GSH	Ref. [174]
	level in Male COPD patients	
All-trans retinoic	Regulates various gene expressions and induces	Ref. [95]
acid (ATRA) ^a	production of various proteins in rats with elastase-	
. ,	induced emphysema	
β-carotene ^a	Increases plasma antioxidant level and inhibits	Refs. [175,
-	inflammation	176]
Lycopene ^a	Modulates various biochemical pathways of COPD	Ref. [177]
Lutein ^a	Inhibits DNA damage and lipid peroxidation in COPD	Ref. [156]
	patients	
Diet (fruits and	Modulates various biochemical pathways and reduced	Ref. [178]
vegetables) ^a	COPD incidences in both current and ex-smoker but not	
	in never smokers	
		A

Table 8.1 Effect of dietary vitamins and carotenoid supplement in pathogenesis of COPD

^aClinical trial has been done in COPD patient

direct administration of GSH leads to undesirable effects, which suggests that direct therapy with GSH will not be an appropriate way in increasing GSH levels in lung airspace fluid and epithelial cells of the CS-induced COPD patients [180]. Table 8.2 describes the mode of action of thiol-based drugs in pathogenesis of COPD.

Nrf2 is an important transcription factor that interacts with Kep1 and ubiquitinated by Cullin 3 in the cytoplasm. It has been reported that COPD patient lungs showed (1) marked decline in NRF2-dependent antioxidants and glutathione levels, (2) increased oxidative stress markers, (3) significant decrease in NRF2 protein, and (4) significantly decreased DJ-1 levels (a protein that stabilizes NRF2 protein by impairing KEAP1-dependent proteasomal degradation of NRF2) than nonsmokers [192]. Table 8.3 describes the effect of agonists or modulators of nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nef2) in pathogenesis of COPD.

Enough scientific evidences exist supporting the fact that oxidative stress resulting from CS exposure is involved directly in the pathogenesis of COPD. It has been reported that the activities of Cu⁺, Zn⁺superoxide dismutase (Cu⁺, Zn⁺SOD), glutathione peroxidase (GPx), and glutathione-S-transferase are decreased in alveolar macrophages of elderly smokers when compared with that of nonsmoker [200, 201] as we observed in erythrocytes of guinea pig when compared that with room control [92]. NADPH oxidase (NOX) has been suggested as a potential mediator of oxidative stress. Cheng et al. [202] reported that ROS generation from CS particle extract (CSPE) is mediated via a c-Src/NADPH oxidase/MAPK pathway which activates Nrf2 and finally induces HO-1 expression in human tracheal smooth muscle. MPO released after neutrophil activation has a beneficial role in terms of the immune response to invading pathogens, but there is considerable evidence that inappropriate stimulation of oxidant formation can cause host tissue damage. It has been reported

Drugs	Mode of action	References
N-acetylcysteine (NAC) ^a	Increases intracellular GSH by reducing cysteine to cystine disulfide and modulates chemotaxis and NF-κB production of c-reactive marker (CRP)	Refs. [181, 182]
Nacystelyn (NAL)	Increases intracellular GSH	Ref. [183]
N-isobutyrylcysteine (NIC) ^a	Increases intracellular GSH	Ref. [184]
Carbocisteine ^a (mucolytic agent)	Attenuates tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α)-induced inflammation via suppressing nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NF- κ B) and ERK1/2MAPK signaling pathways and reduces exacerbation associated with COPD	Refs. [185, 186]
Erdosteine ^a	Decreases number of respiratory exacerbation and reduces bacterial adhesiveness by modulating pro- inflammatory cytokines in current smokers with mild COPD	Refs. [187, 188]
Ebselen	Reduces the exacerbated BALF inflammation and pro-inflammatory cytokine, chemokine, and protease expression by modulating glutathione peroxidation in COPD mice	Ref. [189]
Fudosteine	Reduces airway hyperresponsiveness, inflammation, remodeling, goblet cell hyperplasia, subepithelial collagenization, and basement membrane thickening by decreasing level of MMP-2, MMP 9, eotaxin, IL-4, and TGFβ in a murine model of COPD	Ref. [190]
Procysteine	Improves macrophage function in CS-induced COPD by increasing efferocytosis and availability of GSH	Ref. [191]

Table 8.2 Effect of thiol-based drugs in pathogenesis of COPD

^aClinical trial has been done in COPD patient

that MPO levels in sputum of stable COPD patients were higher than non-COPD patients, and this increase was especially pronounced during exacerbations as compared to the stable state [203]. Table 8.4 describes mode of action of antioxidant enzyme mimetics, spin traps, and other enzyme inhibitors in pathogenesis of COPD.

The hallmark of COPD is an increase or abnormal inflammatory response of the lungs to inhaled CS, which is characterized by increased numbers of neutrophils, macrophages, and T lymphocytes. The suppression of this inflammatory response for treatment of CS-induced COPD improves symptoms such as mucus secretion and cough and reduces exacerbations and disease progression [209]. Table 8.5 describes mode of action of anti-inflammatory modulators in pathogenesis of COPD.

The most important source of antioxidants is diet not drugs or supplements. The disease-preventing ability of variety of dietary plants, fruits, tea, and wine has been attributed to polyphenols and natural antioxidants present in these natural sources. Certain micronutrients (vitamins and minerals) and phytochemicals (carotenoids and phenols) show protective effect on several diseases such as cancer, COPD, and cardiovascular disorders. Natural products contain dietary polyphenols and other active compounds such as curcumin, green tea catechins, quercetin, resveratrol, and lycopene. Tocotrients, acai, ginkgo biloba, tocotrienols, α -lipoic acid, omega-3 fatty acid,

Drugs	Mode of action	References
Crocin	Attenuates CS-induced lung injury by modulating Nrf2 pathway	Ref. [193]
Ursolic acid	Downregulates PERK pathway and upregulates Nrf2 pathway	Ref. [170]
Sulforaphane (SFN) ^a	Protects alveolar epithelial cell injury, attenuates G1-phase cycle arrest, and abrogates apoptosis by upregulating Nrf2 expression	Refs. [194, 195]
Oroxylin A	Attenuated oxidative stress and CS-induced lung inflammation upregulate antioxidant response element (ARE) via activations of Nrf2 signaling	Ref. [196]
Platycodin D	Inhibits CS-induced malonaldehyde (MDA) and NO production by suppressing NF-κB and activating Nrf2 signaling pathway	Ref. [197]
15-Deoxy- prostaglandin J2 (15d-PGJ2)	Plays a protective role by activating Nrf2 in both rat COPD model and human bronchial epithelial cells	Ref. [198]
CDDO-Imidazole	Protects against smoke-induced COPD via Nrf2/HO-1 pathway in mice	Ref. [199]

 Table 8.3
 Effect of nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) agonists or modulators in pathogenesis of COPD

^aClinical trial has been done in COPD patient

Table 8.4 Effect of antioxidant enzyme mimetics, spin traps, and other enzyme inhibitors in pathogenesis of COPD

Drugs	Mode of action	References
SOD mimetics, e.g., M40419 and AEOL-10113	Inhibits CS-induced inflammatory response by mimicking extracellular SOD and significantly reduces lung markers of oxidative stress	Refs. [204, 205]
GPx mimetic ebselen	Reduces the exacerbated BALF inflammation and pro-inflammatory cytokine, chemokine, and protease expression by modulating glutathione peroxidation in COPD mice	Ref. [189]
Thioredoxin	Modification of oxidoreductase and ameliorates smoke-induced inflammation	Ref. [206]
α-phenyl-N-tert-butyl nitrone, STANZ, NXY- 059, L-NL, and L-NAME	Attenuates emphysema by quenching free radicals in animal model	Ref. [177]
Celastrol	Decreases free radical formation by inhibiting NADPH oxidase (NOX) and stimulates Nrf2	Ref. [207]
2-Thioxanthine (AZ1)	Protects morphological change in CS-induced emphysema by inhibiting myeloperoxidase in animals	Ref. [208]

Drugs	Mode of action	References
Ginsenoside Rg1	Attenuates CS-induced pulmonary epithelial– mesenchymal transition via inhibition of transforming growth factor- β 1 (TGF- β 1)/Smad pathway	Ref. [210]
Salidroside	Ameliorates the progression of CS-induced COPD by inhibiting the generation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF α , interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, and MAPK/ NF- κ B)	Ref. [211]
Isoliquiritigenin (ILG)	Attenuates inflammation and oxidative stress via upregulating Nrf2 and downregulating NF-κB in CS-induced COPD	Ref. [212]
Sodium tanshinone IIA sulfonate (STS)	Inhibits CS-induced inflammation and oxidative stress via blocking the activation of MAPK/HIF-1α signaling	Ref. [213]

Table 8.5 Effect of anti-inflammatory modulators in pathogenesis of COPD



Fig. 8.8 Schematic illustration of targets of antioxidant and/or anti-inflammatory agents on pathogenesis of COPD induced by both direct and secondhand cigarette smoking

and apocynin play a protective role against lung function loss by improving average lung function and reducing declined rate [214, 215]. Several studies reported that curcumins and phenols have significant positive dose–response relationship between their intake and FEV1 and FEV1/FVC in adults [216]. A special benefit of curcumins for smokers came into light when the pulmonary function in smokers with curcumin-rich curry intake was almost equal to that in nonsmokers [216]. Recent studies showed the intake of catechins, green tea polyphenols, epigallocatechin gallate, flavonols (e.g., quercetin and kaempferol), and flavones (e.g., apigenin and luteolin) was positively associated with FEV1 [217]. Dietary polyphenols have beneficial effects due to their antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects [218, 219]. Figure 8.8

shows the possible mechanism of action of role of antioxidants and/or anti-inflammatory agents in the treatment of CS-induced pathogenesis of COPD.

Although antioxidant treatments have shown promising effects in targeting ROS/ RNS and oxidant-mediated cellular alterations of CS-induced COPD, few antioxidant agents have undergone formal clinical trials to assess the clinical benefit in COPD. Development of novel wide-spectrum small molecule antioxidants with a good bioavailability and potency is needed in clinical trials of COPD. Furthermore, the effects of combination of various antioxidants along with enzyme inhibitors and/or blockers are needed for management of COPD.

8.10 Conclusion and Future Perspective

Epidemiological studies have demonstrated that CS is the primary causative agent of various respiratory system diseases, including COPD whose pathobiology is mainly due to oxidative stress induced by CS. We have endeavored in this chapter to highlight the various pathways through which CS-induced oxidative stress and chronic inflammation contribute to COPD. It is evident from several studies that lung oxidant-antioxidant balance is disturbed in cigarette smokers. However, it remains unexplained why only some cigarette smokers develop COPD. Due to this variability among smokers and difficulties in measuring oxidative status, the treatment and prevention of COPD remain challenging. Understanding the oxidant-antioxidant balance, genetic factors, and other intrinsic factors that vary among individual smokers is highly necessary. Targeting ER stress proteins and UPR pathways in COPD will gain practical advancement only after detailed evaluation of their mechanisms in various and robust in vivo models. As COPD is a major inflammation-related lung disease, the role of mitochondria cannot be neglected. While no mitochondria-targeted therapies are available for COPD, several mitochondria-based antioxidants and oxidative phosphorylation inhibitors are undergoing clinical trials in lung diseases. Additional investigation of the COPD targets discussed in this chapter is warranted and could pave the way for mitochondria-based biomarkers and targeted therapies. Due to complexity of COPD, a multi-targeted therapeutic approach is highly required.

Acknowledgments The work is supported by grants from Fuji Oil Company, Osaka, Japan, and NIH (MeTRC5U5AMD007593). The Meharry Office for Scientific Editing and Publications provided language editing support.

References

- World Health Organization (2017) http://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ chronic-obstructive-pulmonary-disease-(copd)
- Veigi G, Scognamiglio A, Baldacci S, Pistelli F, Carrozzi L (2001) Epidemiology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Respiration 68(1):4–19

- Roth C (2010) Factsheet chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). National Institutes of Health 10. http://report.nih.gov/NIHfactsheets/Pdfs/ChronicObstructivePulmonaryDiseas e(NHLBI).pdf
- Cosio MG, Saetta M, Agusti A (2009) Immunologic aspects of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 360(23):2445–2454
- Miravitlles M, Soler-Cataluna JJ, Calle M, Soriano JB (2013) Treatment of COPD by clinical phenotypes: putting old evidence into clinical practice. Eur Respir J 41:1252–1256
- Kenche H, Baty CJ, Vedagiri K, Shapiro SD, Blumental-Perry A (2013) Cigarette smoking affects oxidative protein folding in endoplasmic reticulum by modifying protein disulfide isomerase. FASEB J 27:965–977
- Cavalcante AG, de Bruin PF (2009) The role of oxidative stress in COPD: current concepts and perspectives. J Bras Pneumol 35:1227–1237
- 8. World Health Organization (2015) http://www.who.int/tobacco/global_report/2015/en/
- 9. Das SK (2003) Harmful effects of cigarette smoking. Mol Cell Biochem 253(1):159-165
- El-Zein RA, Young RP, Hopkins RJ, Etzel CJ (2012) Genetic predisposition to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and/or lung cancer: important considerations when evaluating risk. Cancer Prev Res (Phila) 5:522–527
- 11. Mehta AJ, Miedinger D, Keidel D, Bettschart R, Bircher A, Bridevaux PO, Curjuric I, Kromhout H, Rochat T, Rothe T, Russi EW, Schikowski T, Schindler C, Schwartz J, Turk A, Vermeulen R, Probst-Hensch N, Kunzli N, Team S (2012) Occupational exposure to dusts, gases, and fumes and incidence of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in the Swiss Cohort Study on Air Pollution and Lung and Heart Diseases in Adults. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 185:1292–1300
- 12. Schikowski T, Adam M, Marcon A, Cai Y, Vierkotter A, Carsin AE, Jacquemin B, Al Kanani Z, Beelen R, Birk M, Bridevaux PO, Brunekeef B, Burney P, Cirach M, Cyrys J, de Hoogh K, de Marco R, de Nazelle A, Declercq C, Forsberg B, Hardy R, Heinrich J, Hoek G, Jarvis D, Keidel D, Kuh D, Kuhlbusch T, Migliore E, Mosler G, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Phuleria H, Rochat T, Schindler C, Villani S, Tsai MY, Zemp E, Hansell A, Kauffmann F, Sunyer J, Probst-Hensch N, Kramer U, Kunzli N (2014) Association of ambient air pollution with the prevalence and incidence of COPD. Eur Respir J 44:614–626
- 13. Stockley RA (2014) Alpha1-antitrypsin review. Clin Chest Med 35:39-50
- 14. National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (US) Office on Smoking and Health. The Health Consequences of Smoking—50 Years of Progress: A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta (GA): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (US); 2014 (2007) Beyond the lungs a new view of COPD. The Lancet 370(9589):713
- Homa DM, Neff LJ, King BA, Caraballo RS, Bunnell RE, Babb SD, Garrett BE, Sosnoff CS, Wang L (2015) Vital signs: disparities in nonsmokers' exposure to secondhand smoke— United States, 1999–2012. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 64(4):103–108
- 16. Wang J, Bao L, Yu B, Liu Z, Han W, Deng C, Guo C (2015) Interleukin-1beta promotes epithelial-derived alveolar elastogenesis via $\alpha\nu\beta6$ integrin-dependent TGF- β activation. Cell Physiol Biochem 36:2198–2216
- Denic V, Quan EM, Weissman JS (2006) A luminal surveillance complex that selects misfolded glycoproteins for ER-associated degradation. Cell 126:349–359
- Yamada Y, Tomaru U, Ishizu A, Ito T, Kiuchi T, Ono A, Miyajima S, Nagai K, Higashi T, Matsuno Y, Dosaka-Akita H, Nishimura M, Miwa S, Kasahara M (2015) Decreased proteasomal function accelerates cigarette smoke-induced pulmonary emphysema in mice. Lab Investig 95:625–634
- Brashier BB, Kodgule R (2012) Risk factors and pathophysiology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). J Assoc Physicians India 60(Suppl):17–21
- 20. Barreiro E, Peinado VI, Galdiz JB, Ferrer E, Marin-Corral J, Sanchez F, Gea J, Barbera JA, Project EiC (2010) Cigarette smoke-induced oxidative stress: a role in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease skeletal muscle dysfunction. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 182:477–488

- Mannino DM, Buist AS (2007) Global burden of COPD: risk factors, prevalence, and future trends. Lancet 370:765–773
- 22. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2014) The health consequences of smoking: 50 years of progress. A report of the surgeon general. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health, Atlanta, GA. https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK179276/
- Pryor WA, Stone K (1993) Oxidants in cigarette smoke. Radicals, hydrogen peroxide, peroxynitrate, and peroxynitrite. Ann NY Acad Sci 686:12–27
- Rahman I, Adcock IM (2006) Oxidative stress and redox regulation of lung inflammation in COPD. Eur Respir J 28:219–242
- 25. Morrow JD, Frei B, Longmire AW, Gaziano JM, Lynch SM, Shyr Y, Strauss WE, Oates JA, Roberts LJ 2nd (1995) Increase in circulating products of lipid peroxidation (F2-isoprostanes) in smokers. Smoking as a cause of oxidative damage. N Engl J Med 332:1198–1203
- Reznick AZ, Cross CE, Hu ML, Suzuki YJ, Khwaja S, Safadi A, Motchnik PA, Packer L, Halliwell B (1992) Modification of plasma proteins by cigarette smoke as measured by protein carbonyl formation. Biochem J 286(Pt 2):607–611
- Park EM, Park YM, Gwak YS (1998) Oxidative damage in tissues of rats exposed to cigarette smoke. Free Radic Biol Med 25:79–86
- Lung function testing: selection of reference values and interpretative strategies. American Thoracic Society (1991) Am Rev Respir Dis 144:1202–1218
- Rahman I (2005) The role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of COPD: implications for therapy. Treat Respir Med 4:175–200
- Louhelainen N, Rytilä P, Haahtela T, Kinnula VL, Djukanović R (2009) Persistence of oxidant and protease burden in the airways after smoking cessation. BMC Pulm Med 9(25):1471–2466
- 31. Montano M, Cisneros J, Ramirez-Venegas A, Pedraza-Chaverri J, Mercado D, Ramos C, Sansores RH (2010) Malondialdehyde and superoxide dismutase correlate with FEV(1) in patients with COPD associated with wood smoke exposure and tobacco smoking. Inhal Toxicol 22:868–874
- Birben E, Sahiner UM, Sackesen C, Erzurum S, Kalayci O (2012) Oxidative stress and antioxidant defense. World Allergy Organ J 5:9–19
- Rahman I, MacNee W (1996) Role of oxidants/antioxidants in smoking-induced lung diseases. Free Radic Biol Med 21:669–681
- Poli G, Leonarduzzi G, Biasi F, Chiarpotto E (2004) Oxidative stress and cell signalling. Curr Med Chem 11:1163–1182
- 35. Wynder EL, Hoffman D (1971) Tobaco and tobacco smoke. Acdemic Press, New York, pp 423–424
- Müller T, Haussmann H-J, Schepers G (1997) evidence for peroxynitrite as an oxidative stressindocing compound of aquous cigarette smoke fractions. Carcinogenesis 18(2):295–301
- Koyani CN, Flemmig J, Malle E, Arnhold J (2015) Myeloperoxidase scavenges peroxynitrite: a novel anti-inflammatory action of the heme enzyme. Arch Biochem Biophys 571:1–9
- Martins AB, Ximenes VF, da Fonseca LM (2013) Serum myeloperoxidase level is increased in heavy smokers. Open J Clin Diagn 3:5–8
- 39. Gorska KR, Domagala-Kulawik J, Korcznski P, Nejman-Gryz P, Kosciuch J, Hildebrand K, Chazan R (2008) Comparison of cellular and bichemical markers of airway inflammation in patients with mild -to-moderate asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: an induced sputum and bronchoalveolar lavage fluid study. J Physiol Pharmacol 59:271–283
- 40. Louhelainen N, Stark H, Mazur W, Rytila P, Djukanovic R, Kinnula VL (2010) Elevation of sputum matrix metalloproteinase-9 persists up to 6 months after smoking cessation: a research study. BMC Pulm Med 10:13–21

- Merchant RK, Schwartz DA, Helmers RA, Dayton CS, Hunninghake GW (1992) Bronchoalveolar lavage cellularity. The distribution in normal volunteers. Am Rev Respir Dis 146:448–453
- 42. Ollerenshaw SL, Woolcock AJ (1992) Characteristics of the inflammation in biopsies from large airways of subjects with asthma and subjects with chronic airflow limitation. Am Rev Respir Dis 145:922–927
- 43. Eidelman D, Saetta MP, Ghezzo H, Wang NS, Hoidal JR, King M, Cosio MG (1990) Cellularity of the alveolar walls in smokers and its relation to alveolar destruction. Functional implications. Am Rev Respir Dis 141:1547–1552
- 44. Wiggs BR, Bosken C, Pare PD, James A, Hogg JC (1992) A model of airway narrowing in asthma and in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 145:1251–1258
- 45. Kaplanski G, Marin V, Fabrigoule M, Boulay V, Benoliel AM, Bongrand P, Kaplanski S, Farnarier C (1998) Thrombin-activated human endothelial cells support monocyte adhesion in vitro following expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1; CD54) and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1; CD106). Blood 92:1259–1267
- 46. Nordskog BK, Blixt AD, Morgan WT, Fields WR, Hellmann GM (2003) Matrix-degrading and pro-inflammatory changes in human vascular endothelial cells exposed to cigarette smoke condensate. Cardiovasc Toxicol 3:101–117
- McMullen CB, Fleming E, Clarke G, Armstrong MA (2000) The role of reactive oxygen intermediates in the regulation of cytokine-induced ICAM-1 surface expression on endothelial cells. Mol Cell Biol Res Commun 3:231–237
- Agusti AG (2005) Systemic effects of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2:367–370; discussion 371–362
- Barnes PJ, Shapiro SD, Pauwels RA (2003) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: molecular and cellular mechanisms. Eur Respir J 22:672–688
- Masubuchi T, Koyama S, Sato E, Takamizawa A, Kubo K, Sekiguchi M, Nagai S, Izumi T (1998) Smoke extract stimulates lung epithelial cells to release neutrophil and monocyte chemotactic activity. Am J Pathol 153:1903–1912
- 51. Palmblad J (1984) The role of granulocytes in inflammation. Scand J Rheumatol 13:163–172
- Drost EM, Selby C, Lannan S, Lowe GD, MacNee W (1992) Changes in neutrophil deformability following in vitro smoke exposure: mechanism and protection. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 6:287–295
- 53. Di Stefano A, Maestrelli P, Roggeri A, Turato G, Calabro S, Potena A, Mapp CE, Ciaccia A, Covacev L, Fabbri LM, Saetta M (1994) Upregulation of adhesion molecules in the bronchial mucosa of subjects with chronic obstructive bronchitis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 149:803–810
- 54. Lehr HA, Kress E, Menger MD, Friedl HP, Hubner C, Arfors KE, Messmer K (1993) Cigarette smoke elicits leukocyte adhesion to endothelium in hamsters: inhibition by CuZn-SOD. Free Radic Biol Med 14:573–581
- Barnes PJ, Adcock IM, Ito K (2005) Histone acetylation and deacetylation: importance in inflammatory lung diseases. Eur Respir J 25:552–563
- 56. Rahman I, Mulier B, Gilmour PS, Watchorn T, Donaldson K, Jeffery PK, MacNee W (2001) Oxidant-mediated lung epithelial cell tolerance: the role of intracellular glutathione and nuclear factor-kappaB. Biochem Pharmacol 62:787–794
- Rahman I, MacNee W (2000) Regulation of redox glutathione levels and gene transcription in lung inflammation: therapeutic approaches. Free Radic Biol Med 28:1405–1420
- 58. Barnes PJ (2009) Role of HDAC2 in the pathophysiology of COPD. Annu Rev Physiol 71:451–464
- Rahman I, Marwick J, Kirkham P (2004) Redox modulation of chromatin remodeling: impact on histone acetylation and deacetylation, NF-kappaB and pro-inflammatory gene expression. Biochem Pharmacol 68:1255–1267
- 60. Hoshimoto A, Suzuki Y, Katsuno T, Nakajima H, Saito Y (2002) Caprylic acid and mediumchain triglycerides inhibit IL-8 gene transcription in Caco-2 cells: comparison with the potent histone deacetylase inhibitor trichostatin A. Br J Pharmacol 136:280–286

- Adcock IM, Caramori G (2001) Cross-talk between pro-inflammatory transcription factors and glucocorticoids. Immunol Cell Biol 79:376–384
- Ohno Y, Lee J, Fusunyan RD, MacDermott RP, Sanderson IR (1997) Macrophage inflammatory protein-2: chromosomal regulation in rat small intestinal epithelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94:10279–10284
- 63. Vanden Berghe W, De Bosscher K, Boone E, Plaisance S, Haegeman G (1999) The nuclear factor-kappaB engages CBP/p300 and histone acetyltransferase activity for transcriptional activation of the interleukin-6 gene promoter. J Biol Chem 274:32091–32098
- 64. Nam HS, Izumchenko E, Dasgupta S, Hoque MO (2017) Mitochondria in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and lung cancer: where are we now? Biomark Med 11:475–489
- 65. Nunnari J, Suomalainen A (2012) Mitochondria: in sickness and in health. Cell 148:1145-1159
- 66. Repine JE, Bast A, Lankhorst I (1997) Oxidative stress in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Oxidative Stress Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 156:341–357
- 67. Janssen-Heininger YM, Persinger RL, Korn SH, Pantano C, McElhinney B, Reynaert NL, Langen RC, Ckless K, Shrivastava P, Poynter ME (2002) Reactive nitrogen species and cell signaling: implications for death or survival of lung epithelium. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166:S9–S16
- 68. Lanzetti M, da Costa CA, Nesi RT, Barroso MV, Martins V, Victoni T, Lagente V, Pires KM, e Silva PM, Resende AC, Porto LC, Benjamim CF, Valenca SS (2012) Oxidative stress and nitrosative stress are involved in different stages of proteolytic pulmonary emphysema. Free Radic Biol Med 53:1993–2001
- 69. Białas AJ, Sitarek P, Miłkowska-Dymanowska J, Piotrowski WJ, Górski P (2016) The role of mitochondria and oxidative/antioxidative imbalance in pathobiology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2016:7808576. Review
- McGuinness AJ, Sapey E (2017) Oxidative stress in COPD: sources, markers, and potential mechanisms. J Clin Med 6(2):21–39
- 71. Youle RJ, Narendra DP (2011) Mechanisms of mitophagy. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 12(1):9-14
- 72. Ahmad T, Sundar IK, Lerner CA, Gerloff J, Tormos AM, Yao H, Rahman I (2015) Impaired mitophagy leads to cigarette smoke stress-induced cellular senescence: implications for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. FASEB J 29(7):2912–2929
- 73. Wiegman CH, Michaeloudes C, Haji G, Narang P, Clarke CJ, Russell KE, Bao W, Pavlidis S, Barnes PJ, Kanerva J, Bittner A, Rao N, Murphy MP, Kirkham PA, Chung KF, Adcock IM, Copdmap (2015) Oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction drives inflammation and airway smooth muscle remodeling in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 136:769–780
- 74. Hoffmann RF, Zarrintan S, Brandenburg SM, Kol A, de Bruin HG, Jafari S, Dijk F, Kalicharan D, Kelders M, Gosker HR, Ten Hacken NH, van der Want JJ, van Oosterhout AJ, Heijink IH (2013) Prolonged cigarette smoke exposure alters mitochondrial structure and function in airway epithelial cells. Respir Res 14:97
- Soulitzis N, Neofytou E, Psarrou M, Anagnostis A, Tavernarakis N, Siafakas N, Tzortzaki EG (2012) Downregulation of lung mitochondrial prohibitin in COPD. Respir Med 106:954–961
- Houghton AM (2013) Mechanistic links between COPD and lung cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 13:233–245
- Taivassalo T, Hussain SN (2016) Contribution of the mitochondria to locomotor muscle dysfunction in patients with COPD. Chest 149:1302–1312
- Remels AH, Gosker HR, Schrauwen P, Langen RC, Schols AM (2008) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: a therapeutic target in COPD? Eur Respir J 31:502–508
- 79. DeMeo DL, Mariani T, Bhattacharya S, Srisuma S, Lange C, Litonjua A, Bueno R, Pillai SG, Lomas DA, Sparrow D, Shapiro SD, Criner GJ, Kim HP, Chen Z, Choi AM, Reilly J, Silverman EK (2009) Integration of genomic and genetic approaches implicates IREB2 as a COPD susceptibility gene. Am J Hum Genet 85:493–502
- Cloonan SM, Glass K, Laucho-Contreras ME, Bhashyam AR, Cervo M, Pabon MA, Konrad C, Polverino F, Siempos II, Perez E, Mizumura K, Ghosh MC, Parameswaran H, Williams NC, Rooney KT, Chen ZH, Goldklang MP, Yuan GC, Moore SC, Demeo DL, Rouault TA,

D'Armiento JM, Schon EA, Manfredi G, Quackenbush J, Mahmood A, Silverman EK, Owen CA, Choi AM (2016) Mitochondrial iron chelation ameliorates cigarette smoke-induced bronchitis and emphysema in mice. Nat Med 22:163–174

- Kang MJ, Lee CG, Lee JY, Dela Cruz CS, Chen ZJ, Enelow R, Elias JA (2008) Cigarette smoke selectively enhances viral PAMP- and virus-induced pulmonary innate immune and remodeling responses in mice. J Clin Invest 118:2771–2784
- 82. Kang MJ, Yoon CM, Kim BH, Lee CM, Zhou Y, Sauler M, Homer R, Dhamija A, Boffa D, West AP, Shadel GS, Ting JP, Tedrow JR, Kaminski N, Kim WJ, Lee CG, Oh YM, Elias JA (2015) Suppression of NLRX1 in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Clin Invest 125:2458–2462
- 83. Lei Y, Wen H, Yu Y, Taxman DJ, Zhang L, Widman DG, Swanson KV, Wen KW, Damania B, Moore CB, Giguere PM, Siderovski DP, Hiscott J, Razani B, Semenkovich CF, Chen X, Ting JP (2012) The mitochondrial proteins NLRX1 and TUFM form a complex that regulates type I interferon and autophagy. Immunity 36:933–946
- 84. Arnoult D, Soares F, Tattoli I, Castanier C, Philpott DJ, Girardin SE (2009) An N-terminal addressing sequence targets NLRX1 to the mitochondrial matrix. J Cell Sci 122:3161–3168
- 85. Halliwell B (1996) Antioxidants in human health and disease. Annu Rev Nutr 16:33–50
- Rahman I, MacNee W (1999) Lung glutathione and oxidative stress: implications in cigarette smoke-induced airway disease. Am J Phys 277:L1067–L1088
- Kensler TW, Wakabayashi N, Biswal S (2007) Cell survival responses to environmental stresses via the Keap1-Nrf2-ARE pathway. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 47:89–116
- Boutten A, Goven D, Boczkowski J, Bonay M (2010) Oxidative stress targets in pulmonary emphysema: focus on the Nrf2 pathway. Expert Opin Ther Targets 14:329–346
- Duthie GG, Arthur JR, James WP (1991) Effects of smoking and vitamin E on blood antioxidant status. Am J Clin Nutr 53:1061S–1063S
- Cantin AM, North SL, Hubbard RC and Crystal RG (1987) Normal alveolar epithelial lining fluid contains high levels of glutathione. J Appl Physiol (1985) 63:152–157
- Baskaran S, Lakshmi S, Prasad PR (1999) Effect of cigarette smoke on lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzymes in albino rat. Indian J Exp Biol 37(12):1196–1200
- Mukherjee S, Woods L, Weston Z, Williams AB, Das SK (1993) The effect of mainstream and sidestream cigarette smoke exposure on oxygen defense mechanisms of guinea pig erythrocytes. J Biochem Toxicol 8:119–125
- 93. Chow CK, Thacker RR, Changchit C, Bridges RB, Rehm SR, Humble J, Turbek J (1986) Lower levels of vitamin C and carotenes in plasma of cigarette smokers. J Am Coll Nutr 5:305–312
- 94. Chytil F (1992) The lung and vitamin A. Am J Phys 262:J517-L527
- Das SK, Sinha Roy S, Mukherjee S, Ong DE (2014) Lung retinoid metabolism and signaling in chronic pulmonary disease. Indian J Biochem Biophys 51:499–505
- Nair CR, Davis MM, Das SK (1988) Effect of vitamin A deficiency on pulmonary defense systems of guinea pig lung. Int J Vitam Nutr Res 58:375–380
- Morabia A, Menkes MJ, Comstock GW, Tockman MS (1990) Serum retinol and airway obstruction. Am J Epidemiol 132:77–82
- Paiva SA, Godoy I, Vannucchi H, Favaro RM, Geraldo RR, Campana AO (1996) Assessment of vitamin A status in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients and healthy smokers. Am J Clin Nutr 64:928–934
- Mukherjee S, Nayyar T, Chytil F, Das SK (1995) Mainstream and sidestream cigarette smoke exposure increases retinol in guinea pig lungs. Free Radic Biol Med 18:507–514
- Rennard SI, Togo S, Holz O (2006) Cigarette smoke inhibits alveolar repair: a mechanism for the development of emphysema. Proc Am Thorac Soc 3(8):703–708
- 101. Pinnock CB, Douglas RM, Martin AJ, Badcock NR (1988) Vitamin A status of children with respiratory syncytial virus infection in infancy. Aust Pediatr J 24:286–289
- 102. Edge R, McGarvey DJ, Truscott TG (1997) The carotenoids as anti-oxidants: a review. J Photochem Photobiol B 41:189–200

- 103. Agler AH, Kurth T, Gaziano JM, Buring JE, Cassano PA (2011) Randomised vitamin E supplementation and risk of chronic lung disease in the Women's Health Study. Thorax 66(4):320–325
- 104. Granado F, Olmedilla B, Blanco I (2003) Nutritional and clinical relevance of lutein in human health. Br J Nutr 90(3):487–502
- 105. Schünemann HJ, McCann S, Grant BJB, Trevisan M, Muti P, Freudenheim JL (2002) Lung function in relation to intake of carotenoids and other antioxidant vitamins in a populationbased study. Am J Epidemiol 155(5):463–471
- 106. Grievink L, de Waart FG, Schouten EG, Kok FJ (2000) Serum carotenoids,α-tocopherol, and lung function among Dutch elderly. Am Respir Crit Care Med 161(3):790–795
- 107. Schäffer MW, Roy SS, Mukherjee S, Das SK (2013) Vitamin A, vitamin E, lutein and β-carotene in lung tissues from subjects with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and emphysema. Open J Respir Dis 03(02):8
- 108. Frankenberger M, Heimbeck I, Möller W, Mamidi S, Kassner G, Pukelsheim K, Wjst M, Neiswirth M, Kroneberg P, Lomas D, Halsall D, Iadarola P, Fertl A, Häussinger K, Ziegler-Heitbrock L (2009) Inhaled all-trans retinoic acid in an individual with severe emphysema. Eur Respir J 34:1487–1489
- Morabia A, Sorenson A, Kumanyika SK, Abbey H (1989) Vitamin A, cigarette smoking and airway obstruction. Am Rev Resp Dis 140:1312–1316
- Mata JR, Mata NL, Tsin ATC (1998) Substrate specificity of retinyl ester hydrolase activity in retinal pigment epithelium. J Lipid Res 39:604–612
- 111. Biesalski HK, Reifen R, Fürst P, Edris M (1999) Retinyl palmitate supplementation by inhalation of an aerosol improves vitamin A status of preschool children in Gondar (Ethiopia). Br J Nutr 82:179–182
- 112. Kohlhäufl M, Häussinger K, Stanzel F, Markus A, Tritschler J, Mühlhöfer A, Morresi-Hauf A, Golly I, Scheuch G, Jany BH, Biesalski HK (2002) Inhalation of aerosolized vitamin A: reversibility of metaplasia and dysplasia of human respiratory epithelia a prospective pilot study. Eur J Med Res 7:72–78
- 113. Mahabir S, Schendel K, Dong YQ, Barrera SL, Spitz MR, Forman MR (2008) Dietary α -, β -, γ and δ -tocopherols in lung cancer risk. Int J Cancer 123:1173–1180
- 114. Napoli JL, McCormick AM, O'Meara B, Dratz EA (1988) VitaminA metabolism: alphatocopherol modulates tissue retinol levelsin vivo, and retinyl palmitate hydrolysis in vitro. Arch Biochem Biophys 230:194–202
- 115. Melo van Lent D, Leermakers ETM, Hofman A, Stricker BH, Brusselle GG, Franco OH, Lahousse L, Kiefte-de Jong JC (2017) Association between lutein intake and lung function in adults: the Rotterdam Study. Br J Nutr 117(5):720–730
- 116. Zingg J-M (2015) Vitamin E: a role in signal transduction. Annu Rev Nutr 35:135–173
- 117. Roca-Ferrer J, Pujols L, Agusti C, Xaubet A, Mullol J, Gimferrer JM, Picado C (2011) Cyclooxigenase-2 levels are increased in the lung tissue and bronchial tumors of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Arch Bronconeumol 47(12):584–589
- 118. Peh HY, Tan WSD, Chan TK, Pow CW, Foster PS, Wong WSF (2017) Vitamin E isoform γ-tocotrienol protects against emphysema in cigarette smoke-induced COPD. Free Radic Biol Med 110:332–344
- 119. Das SK, Chakrabarti P, Tsao FH, Nayyar T, Mukherjee S (1992) Identification of calciumdependent phospholipid-binding proteins (annexins) from guinea pig alveolar type II cells. Mol Cell Biochem 115:79–84.129
- Whitsett JA, Manton MA, Darovec-Beckerman C, Adams K (1981) II. Beta-adrenergic receptors and catecholamine sensitive adenylate cyclase in the developing rat lung. Life Sci 28:339–345
- 121. Das SK, Mukherjee S (1999) Role of peripheral benzodiazepine receptors on secretion of surfactant in guinea pig alveolar type II cells. Biosci Rep 19(5):461–471

- 122. Das SK, Tsao FH, Mukherjee S (2002) Mainstream and sidestream cigarette smoke exposure increases Ca2+-dependent phospholipid binding proteins in guinea pig alveolar type II cells. Mol Cell Biochem 231(1-2):37-42
- 123. Mukherjee S, Das SK (1992) Effects of cigarette smoke exp111osure on the binding capacity of β -adrenergic receptors in guinea pig alveolar type II cell. FASEB J 6:259
- 124. Wang W, Li X, Xu J (2015) Exposure to cigarette smoke downregulates β 2-adrenergic receptor expression and upregulates inflammation in alveolar macrophages. Inhal Toxicol 27(10):488–494
- 125. Gavish M, Cohen S, Nagler R (2016) Cigarette smoke effects on TSPO and VDAC expression in a cellular lung cancer model. Eur J Cancer Prev 25(5):361–367
- 126. Zhou Y, Zhang Y, Guo Y, Zhang Y, Xu M amd He B. (2014) β 2-Adrenoceptor involved in smoking-induced airway mucus hypersecretion through β -arrestin-dependent signaling. PLoS One 9(6):e97788
- 127. Henke MO, John G, Rheineck C, Chillappagari S, Naehrlich L, Rubin BK (2011) Serine proteases degrade airway mucins in cystic fibrosis. Infect Immun 79:3438–3444
- Abboud RT, Vimalanathan S (2008) Pathogenesis of COPD. Part I. The role of proteaseantiprotease imbalance in emphysema. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 12:361–367
- Crooks SW, Bayley DL, Hill SL, Stockley RA (2000) Bronchial inflammation in acute bacterial exacerbations of chronic bronchitis: the role of leukotriene B4. Eur Respir J 15:274–280
- Owen CA (2005) Proteinases and oxidants as targets in the treatment of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2:373–385; discussion 394–375
- 131. Tuder RM, Yoshida T, Arap W, Pasqualini R, Petrache I (2006) State of the art. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of alveolar destruction in emphysema: an evolutionary perspective. Proc Am Thorac Soc 3:503–510
- 132. Chillappagari S, Preuss J, Licht S, Muller C, Mahavadi P, Sarode G, Vogelmeier C, Guenther A, Nahrlich L, Rubin BK, Henke MO (2015) Altered protease and antiprotease balance during a COPD exacerbation contributes to mucus obstruction. Respir Res 16:85
- 133. Pandey KC, De S, Mishra PK (2017) Role of proteases in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Front Pharmacol 8:512
- 134. MacNee W (2005) Pulmonary and systemic oxidant/antioxidant imbalance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2:50–60
- 135. Sidhar SK, Lomas DA, Carrell RW, Foreman RC (1995) Mutations which impede loop/sheet polymerization enhance the secretion of human alpha 1-antitrypsin deficiency variants. J Biol Chem 270:8393–8396
- 136. Jonigk D, Al-Omari M, Maegel L, Muller M, Izykowski N, Hong J, Hong K, Kim SH, Dorsch M, Mahadeva R, Laenger F, Kreipe H, Braun A, Shahaf G, Lewis EC, Welte T, Dinarello CA, Janciauskiene S (2013) Anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties of alphal-antitrypsin without inhibition of elastase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110:15007–15012
- 137. Lee KH, Lee CH, Jeong J, Jang AH, Yoo CG (2015) Neutrophil elastase differentially regulates interleukin 8 (IL-8) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) production by cigarette smoke extract. J Biol Chem 290:28438–28445
- 138. Damrich-Grampp B, Seidl A, Weigt A, Lang M, Hummer B, Hahn HL (1990) [Elastaseinduced hyperfunction of submucous glands develops independent of elastase-induced emphysema]. Pneumologie 44(Suppl 1):420–421
- 139. An JK, Blomenkamp K, Lindblad D, Teckman JH (2005) Quantitative isolation of alphalAT mutant Z protein polymers from human and mouse livers and the effect of heat. Hepatology 41:160–167
- 140. Dahl M, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Lange P, Vestbo J, Nordestgaard BG (2002) Change in lung function and morbidity from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in alpha1-antitrypsin MZ heterozygotes: a longitudinal study of the general population. Ann Intern Med 136:270–279
- 141. Hersh CP, Dahl M, Ly NP, Berkey CS, Nordestgaard BG, Silverman EK (2004) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in alpha1-antitrypsin PI MZ heterozygotes: a meta-analysis. Thorax 59:843–849

- 142. Demedts IK, Demoor T, Bracke KR, Joos GF, Brusselle GG (2006) Role of apoptosis in the pathogenesis of COPD and pulmonary emphysema. Respir Res 7:53
- 143. Hirata H, Takahashi A, Kobayashi S, Yonehara S, Sawai H, Okazaki T, Yamamoto K, Sasada M (1998) Caspases are activated in a branched protease cascade and control distinct downstream processes in Fas-induced apoptosis. J Exp Med 187:587–600
- 144. Tesfaigzi Y, Myers OB, Stidley CA, Schwalm K, Picchi M, Crowell RE, Gilliland FD, Belinsky SA (2006) Genotypes in matrix metalloproteinase 9 are a risk factor for COPD. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 1:267–278
- 145. Zhou M, Huang SG, Wan HY, Li B, Deng WW, Li M (2004) Genetic polymorphism in matrix metalloproteinase-9 and the susceptibility to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in Han population of south China. Chin Med J (Engl) 117:1481–1484
- 146. Joos L, He JQ, Shepherdson MB, Connett JE, Anthonisen NR, Pare PD, Sandford AJ (2002) The role of matrix metalloproteinase polymorphisms in the rate of decline in lung function. Hum Mol Genet 11:569–576
- 147. Haq I, Lowrey GE, Kalsheker N, Johnson SR (2011) Matrix metalloproteinase-12 (MMP-12) SNP affects MMP activity, lung macrophage infiltration and protects against emphysema in COPD. Thorax 66:970–976
- 148. Linder R, Ronmark E, Pourazar J, Behndig A, Blomberg A, Lindberg A (2015) Serum metalloproteinase-9 is related to COPD severity and symptoms - cross-sectional data from a population based cohort-study. Respir Res 16:28
- 149. Kelsen SG (2016) The unfolded protein response in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Ann Am Thorac Soc 13(Suppl 2):S138–S145
- Min T, Bodas M, Mazur S, Vij N (2011) Critical role of proteostasis-imbalance in pathogenesis of COPD and severe emphysema. J Mol Med (Berl) 89:577–593
- 151. Tran I, Ji C, Ni I, Min T, Tang D, Vij N (2015) Role of cigarette smoke-induced aggresome formation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease-emphysema pathogenesis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 53:159–173
- 152. Hassan T, Carroll TP, Buckley PG, Cummins R, O'Neill SJ, McElvaney NG, Greene CM (2014) miR-199a-5p silencing regulates the unfolded protein response in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 189:263–273
- 153. Geraghty P, Wallace A, D'Armiento JM (2011) Induction of the unfolded protein response by cigarette smoke is primarily an activating transcription factor 4-C/EBP homologous protein mediated process. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 6:309–319
- 154. Kenche H, Ye ZW, Vedagiri K, Richards DM, Gao XH, Tew KD, Townsend DM, Blumental-Perry A (2016) Adverse outcomes associated with cigarette smoke radicals related to damage to protein-disulfide isomerase. J Biol Chem 291:4763–4778
- 155. Tagawa Y, Hiramatsu N, Kato H, Sakoh T, Nakajima S, Hayakawa K, Saito Y, Johno H, Takahashi S, Gu L, Yao J, Kitamura M (2011) Induction of CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein-homologous protein by cigarette smoke through the superoxide anion-triggered PERK-eIF2alpha pathway. Toxicology 287:105–112
- 156. Kelsen SG, Duan X, Ji R, Perez O, Liu C, Merali S (2008) Cigarette smoke induces an unfolded protein response in the human lung: a proteomic approach. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 38:541–550
- 157. Jorgensen E, Stinson A, Shan L, Yang J, Gietl D, Albino AP (2008) Cigarette smoke induces endoplasmic reticulum stress and the unfolded protein response in normal and malignant human lung cells. BMC Cancer 8:229
- 158. van Rijt SH, Keller IE, John G, Kohse K, Yildirim AO, Eickelberg O, Meiners S (2012) Acute cigarette smoke exposure impairs proteasome function in the lung. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 303:L814–L823
- 159. Monick MM, Powers LS, Walters K, Lovan N, Zhang M, Gerke A, Hansdottir S, Hunninghake GW (2010) Identification of an autophagy defect in smokers' alveolar macrophages. J Immunol 185:5425–5435

- 160. Chen ZH, Kim HP, Sciurba FC, Lee SJ, Feghali-Bostwick C, Stolz DB, Dhir R, Landreneau RJ, Schuchert MJ, Yousem SA, Nakahira K, Pilewski JM, Lee JS, Zhang Y, Ryter SW, Choi AM (2008) Egr-1 regulates autophagy in cigarette smoke-induced chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. PLoS One 3:e3316
- 161. Kim HP, Wang X, Chen ZH, Lee SJ, Huang MH, Wang Y, Ryter SW, Choi AM (2008) Autophagic proteins regulate cigarette smoke-induced apoptosis: protective role of heme oxygenase-1. Autophagy 4:887–895
- 162. Toraldo DM, De Nuccio F, Scoditti E (2013) Systemic inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: may diet play a therapeutic role? J Allergy Ther 2013:S2
- 163. Fujita M (2015) New therapies for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, lung regeneration. World J Respirol 5(1):34–39
- 164. Guan S, Xu W, Han F, Gu W, Song L, Ye W, Liu Q, Guo X (2017) Ginsenoside Rg1 attenuates cigarette smoke-induced pulmonary epithelial-mesenchymal transition via inhibition of the TGF-β1/Smad pathway. Biomed Res Int 2017:7171404
- 165. Vézina FA, Cantin AM (2018) Antioxidants and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Chronic Obstruct Pulmon Dis 5(4):277–288
- 166. Gao W, Guo Y, Yang H (2017) Platycodin D protects against cigarette smoke-induced lung inflammation in mice. Int Immunopharmacol 47:53–58
- 167. Rahman I (2006) Antioxidant therapies in COPD. Int J COPD 1(1):15-29
- 168. Selim AO, Gouda ZA, Selim SA (2017) An experimental study of a rat model of emphysema induced by cigarette smoke exposure and the effect of Survanta therapy. Ann Anat 211:69–77
- 169. Zeng Z, Yang D, Huang X, Xiao Z (2017) Effect of carbocisteine on patients with COPD: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 12:2277–2283
- 170. Lin L, Yin Y, Hou G, Han D, Kang J, Wang Q (2017) Ursolic acid attenuates cigarette smokeinduced emphysema in rats by regulating PERK and Nrf2 pathways. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 44:111–121
- 171. Uray IP, Dmitrovsky E, Brown PW (2016) Retinoids and rexinoids in cancer prevention: from laboratory to clinic. Semin Oncol 43(1):49–64
- 172. Nan H, Qu-Bei LI, Shan-Ye Z (2018) Effect of vitamin A as an adjuvant therapy for pneumonia in children: a Meta analysis. Chin J Contemp Ped 20(2):146–153
- 173. Abdoulhossein D, Taheri I, Saba MA, Akbari H, Shafagh S, Asemi Zataollah A (2018) Effect of vitamin C and vitamin E on lung contusion: a randomized clinical trial study. Ann Med Surg (Lond) 36:152–157
- 174. Pirabbasi E, Shahar S, Manaf ZA, Rajab NF, Manap RA (2016) Efficacy of ascorbic acid (Vitamin C) and/N-acetylcysteine (NAC) supplementation on nutritional and antioxidant status of male chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 62(1):54–61
- 175. Rautalahti M, Virtamo J, Haukka J, Heinonen OP, Sundvall J, Albanes D, Huttunen JK (1997) The effect of alpha-tocopherol and beta-carotene supplementation on COPD symptoms. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 156(5):1447–1452
- 176. Kentson M, Leanderson P, Jacobson P, Persson HL (2018) Oxidant status, iron homeostasis, and carotenoid levels of COPD patients with advanced disease and LTOT. Eur Clin Respir J 5(1):1447221
- 177. Biswas S, Hwang JW, Kirkham PA, Rahman I (2013) Pharmacological and dietary antioxidant therapies for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Curr Med Chem 20(12):1496–1530
- 178. Kaluza J, Larsson SC, Orsini N, Linden A, Wolk A (2017) Fruit and vegetable consumption and risk of COPD: a prospective cohort study of men. Thorax 22(6):500–509
- 179. Neurohr C, Lenz AG, Ding I, Leuchte H, Kolbe T, Behr J (2003) Glutamate-cysteine ligase modulatory subunit in BAL alveolar macrophages of healthy smokers. Eur Respir J 22(1):82–87
- Lamson DW (2000) The use of nebulized glutathione in the treatment of emphysema: a case report. Altern Med Rev 5(5):429–431

- 181. Zuin R, Palamidese A, Negrin R, Catozzo L, Scarda A, Balbinot M (2005) High dose N–acetylcysteine in patients with exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Clin Drug Investig 5(6):401–408
- 182. Cazzola M, Calzetta L, Page C, Jardim J, Chuchalin AG, Rogliani P, Matera MG (2015) Influence of N-acetylcysteine on chronic bronchitis or COPD exacerbations: a meta-analysis. Eur Respir Rev 24(137):451–461
- 183. Gillissen A, Jaworska M, Orth M, Coffiner M, Maes P, App EM, Cantin AM, Schultze-Werninghaus G (1997) Nacystelyn, a novel lysine salt of N-acetylcysteine, to augment cellular antioxidant defence in vitro. Respir Med 91(3):159–168
- 184. Ekberg-Jansson A, Larson M, MacNee W, Tunek A, Wahlgren L, Wouters EF, Larsson S (1999) N-isobutyrylcysteine, a donor of systemic thiols, does not reduce the exacerbation rate in chronic bronchitis. Eur Respir J 13(4):829–834
- Cazzola M, Rogliani P, Calzetta L, Hanania NA, Matera MG (2017) Impact of mucolytic agents on COPD exacerbations: a pair-wise and network meta-analysis. COPD 14(5):552–563
- 186. Wang W, Guan WJ, Huang RQ, Xie YQ, Zheng JP, Zhu SX, Chen M, Zhong NS (2016) Carbocisteine attenuates TNF-α-induced inflammation in human alveolar epithelial cells in vitro through suppressing NF-κB and ERK1/2 MAPK signaling pathways. Acta Pharmacol Sin 37(5):629–636
- 187. Dal Negro RW, Wedzicha JA, Iversen M, Fontana G, Page C, Cicero AF, Pozzi E, Calverley PMA on behalf of the RESTORE group (2017) Effect of erdosteine on the rate and duration of COPD exacerbations: the RESTORE study. Eur Respir J 50(4):1700711
- Calverley PMA, Page C, Dal Negro RW, Fontana G, Iversen M, Cicero AF, Pozz E, Wedzicha JA (2018) Effect of erdosteine in moderately severe COPD patients. Eur Respir J 52:PA776
- 189. Oostwoud LC, Gunasinghe P, Seow HJ, Ye JM, Selemidis S, Bozinovski S, Vlahos R (2016) Apocynin and ebselen reduce influenza A virus-induced lung inflammation in cigarette smoke-exposed mice. Sci Rep 6:20983
- 190. Ueno-Iio T, Shibakura M, Iio K, Tanimoto Y, Kanehiro A, Tanimoto M, Kataoka M (2013) Effect of fudosteine, a cysteine derivative, on airway hyperresponsiveness, inflammation, and remodeling in a murine model of asthma. Life Sci 92(20–21):1015–1023
- 191. Hodge S, Matthews G, Mukaro V, Ahern J, Shivam A, Hodge G, Holmes M, Jersmann H, Reynolds PN (2011) Cigarette smoke-induced changes to alveolar macrophage phenotype and function are improved by treatment with procysteine. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 44(5):673–681
- 192. Malhotra D, Thimmulappa R, Navas-Acien A, Sandford A, Elliott M, Singh A, Chen L, Zhuang X, Hogg J, Pare P, Tuder RM, Biswal S (2008) Decline in NRF2-regulated antioxidants in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease lungs due to loss of its positive regulator, DJ-1. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 178(6):592–604
- 193. Dianat M, Radan M, Badavi M, Mard SA, Bayati V, Ahmadizadeh M (2018) Crocin attenuates cigarette smoke-induced lung injury and cardiac dysfunction by anti-oxidative effects: the role of Nrf2 antioxidant system in preventing oxidative stress. Respir Res 19(1):58–70
- 194. Jiao Z, Chang J, Li J, Nie D, Cui H, Guo D (2017) Sulforaphane increases Nrf2 expression and protects alveolar epithelial cells against injury caused by cigarette smoke extract. Mol Med Rep 16(2):1241–1247
- 195. Wise RA, Holbrook JT, Criner G, Sethi S, Rayapudi S, Sudini KR, Sugar EA, Burke A, Thimmulappa R, Singh A, Talalay P, Fahey JW, Berenson CS, Jacobs MR, Biswal S, Broccoli Sprout Extract Trial Research Group (2017) Correction: lack of effect of oral sulforaphane administration on Nrf2 expression in COPD: a randomized, double-blind, placebo controlled trial. PLoS One 2(3):e0175077. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0175077
- 196. Li J, Tong D, Liuc J, Chen F, Shen Y (2016) Oroxylin A attenuates cigarette smoke-induced lung inflammation by activating Nrf2. Int Immunopharmacol 40:524–529
- 197. Gao W, Guo Y, Yang H (2017) Platycodin D protects against cigarette smoke-induced lung inflammation in mic. Int Immunopharmacol 47:53–58
- 198. Li XY, Luo BL, Wang LJ, Zhang WD, Liu ZG (2015) 15-Deoxy-prostaglandin J2 antiinflammation in a rat model of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and human bronchial epithelial cells via Nrf2 activation. Genet Mol Res 14(4):14037–14042
- 199. Sussan TE, Rangasamy T, Blake DJ, Malhotra D, El-Haddad H, Bedja D, Yates MS, Kombairaju P, Yamamoto M, Liby KT, Sporn MB, Gabrielson KL, Champion HC, Tuder RM, Kensler TW, Biswal S (2009) Targeting Nrf2 with the triterpenoid CDDO-imidazolide attenuates cigarette smoke-induced emphysema and cardiac dysfunction in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106(1):250–255
- 200. Arja C, Surapaneni KM, Raya P, Adimoolam C, Balisetty B, Kanala KR (2013) Oxidative stress and antioxidant enzyme activity in South Indian male smokers with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respirology 18(7):1069–1075
- 201. Gilks CB, Price K, Wright JL, Churg A (1998) Antioxidant gene expression in rat lung after exposure to cigarette smoke. Am J Pathol 152(1):269–278
- 202. Cheng SE, Lee IT, Lin CC, Kou YR, Yang CM (2010) Cigarette smoke particle-phase extract induces HO-1 expression in human tracheal smooth muscle cells: role of the c-Src/NADPH oxidase/MAPK/Nrf2 signaling pathway. Free Radic Biol Med 48(10):1410–1422
- 203. Zhu A, Ge D, Zhang J, Yue Teng Y, Yuan C, Huang M, Adcock IM, Barnes PJ, Xin Y (2014) Sputum myeloperoxidase in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Eur J Med Res 19(1):12–23
- Chang LY, Crapo JD (2002) Inhibition of airway inflammation and hyperreactivity by an antioxidant mimetic. Free Radic Biol Med 33(3):379–386
- 205. Smith KR, Uyeminami DL, Kodavanti UP, Crapo JD, Chang LY, Pinkerton KE (2002) Inhibition of tobacco smoke-induced lung inflammation by a catalytic antioxidant. Free Radic Biol Med 33(8):1106–1114
- 206. Sato A, Hoshino Y, Hara T, Muro S, Nakamura H, Mishima M, Yodoi J (2008) Thioredoxin-1 ameliorates cigarette smoke-induced lung inflammation and emphysema in mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 325(2):380–388
- 207. Hoidal JR, Fox RB, LeMarbe PA, Perri R, Repine JE (1981) Altered oxidative metabolic responses in vitro of alveolar macrophages from asymptomatic cigarette smokers. Am Rev Respir Dis 123:85–89
- 208. Churg A, Marshall CV, Sin DD, Bolton S, Zhou S, Thain K, Cadogan EB, Maltby J, Soars MG, Mallinder PR, Wright JL (2012) Late intervention with a myeloperoxidase inhibitor stops progression of experimental chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 185(1):34–43
- Cazzola M, Page CP, Calzetta L, Matera MG (2012) Emerging anti-inflammatory strategies for COPD. Eur Respir J 40:724–741
- 210. Guan S, Xu W, Han F, Gu W, Song L, Ye W, Liu Q, and Guo X (2017) Ginsenoside Rg1 attenuates cigarette smoke-induced pulmonary epithelial-mesenchymal transition via inhibition of the TGF-*β*1/Smad pathway. BioMed Res Int 2017, Article ID 7171404, 12 pages
- 211. Luo F, Jingyan L, Yan T, Mingxing M (2017) Salidroside alleviates cigarette smoke-induced COPD in mice. Biomed Pharmacother 86:155–161
- 212. Yu D, Liu X, Zhang G, Ming Z, Wang T (2018) Isoliquiritigenin inhibits cigarette smokeinduced COPD by attenuating inflammation and oxidative stress via the regulation of the Nrf2 and NF-κB signaling pathways. Front Pharmacol 9:1001–1009
- 213. Guan R, Wang J, Li Z, Ding M, Li D, Xu G, Wang T, Chen Y, Yang Q, Long Z, Cai Z, Zhang C, Liang X, Dong L, Zhao L, Zhang H, Sun D, Lu W (2018) Sodium tanshinone IIA sulfonate decreases cigarette smoke-induced inflammation and oxidative stress via blocking the activation of MAPK/HIF-1α signaling pathway. Front Pharmacol 9:263–276
- Siedlinski M, Boer JM, Smit HA, Postma DS, Boezen HM (2012) Dietary factors and lung function in the general population: wine and resveratrol intake. Eur Respir J 39(2):385–391
- 215. Suzuki M, Betsuyaku T, Ito Y, Nagai K, Odajima N, Moriyama C, Nasuhara Y, Nishimura M (2009) Curcumin attenuates elastase- and cigarette smoke-induced pulmonary emphysema in mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 296(4):L614–L623

- Ng TP, Niti M, Yap KB, Tan WC (2012) Curcumins-rich curry diet and pulmonary function in Asian older adults. PLoS One 7(12):e51753
- 217. Zhai T, Li S, Hu W, Li D, Leng S (2018) Potential micronutrients and phytochemicals against the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and lung cancer. Nutrients 10(7):813–831
- 218. Bao MJ, Shen J, Jia YL, Li FF, Ma WJ, Shen HJ, Shen LL, Lin XX, Zhang LH, Dong XW, Xie YC, Zhao YQ, Xie QM (2013) Apple polyphenol protects against cigarette smoke-induced acute lung injury. Nutrition 29(1):235–243
- 219. Sharafkhaneh A, Velamuri S, Badmaev V, Lan C, Hanania N (2007) The potential role of natural agents in treatment of airway inflammation. Ther Adv Respir Dis 1(2):105–120



9

Oxidative Stress in Obstructive and Restrictive Lung Diseases

Elena Bargagli and Alfonso Carleo

Abstract

The lung has ample and vascularized surface area constantly exposed to endogenous and environmental oxidants (in particular cigarette smoke). Thus, the imbalance between oxidants and antioxidant defenses has a pathologically important role in several lung disorders. This chapter describes the sources of free radical generation, ROS-induced signaling pathways, and mechanisms of oxidative stress damages in the pathogenesis of obstructive pulmonary diseases, idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, and asthma. ROS are regulatory factors in different molecular pathways involved in miscellaneous lung diseases and might represent potential suggestions for therapeutic approaches. Given the limited effectiveness of current strategies, novel experimental approaches to develop improved antioxidant therapies are discussed.

Keywords

 $Oxidative \ stress \ \cdot \ Damage \ mechanisms \ \cdot \ Lung \ diseases \ \cdot \ COPD \ \cdot \ IPF \ \cdot \ Asthma \ \cdot \ Antioxidant \ therapies$

9.1 Introduction

Oxidative stress is an insalubrious condition occurring when a variety of free oxygen radicals, collectively termed reactive oxygen species (ROS), prevail on antioxidant systems and lead to cellular damages [1, 2]. The lung is particularly susceptible to

A. Carleo Hannover Medical School, Hannover University, Hannover, Germany

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

E. Bargagli (🖂)

Department of Medicine, Surgery and Neurosciences, University of Siena, Siena, Italy e-mail: bargagli2@unisi.it

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_9

this imbalance being the organ designed for gas exchange, continuously exposed with a large surface area and blood supply to high oxygen tensions and exogenous oxidants such as ozone (O_3) and sulfur dioxide (SO_2) [3, 4]. Although some environmental pollutants (e.g., particulate matter, silica, or asbestos) are not oxidants, they may promote oxidative stress in the lung through recruitment and activation of ROSproducing cells and by triggering oxidative chemistry, as Haber-Weiss or Fenton's reactions [5-8]. The endogenous defense against oxidative stress induced by free radicals stress involves several preventive, repair, enzymatic, and non-enzymatic mechanisms [9]. Molecular antioxidant systems in the lung comprise scavengers (glutathione, ascorbic acid, tocopherol, uric acid, β-carotene, or thiol-containing proteins), detoxifying enzymes (superoxide dismutases, catalase, GSH-peroxidase, GSH S-transferase, peroxiredoxin-thioredoxin, glutaredoxions, or hemeoxygenase), and metal-binding proteins (transferrin or metallothioneins), and mucins [9, 10]. Except in some unusual exposures such as those to UV light and ionizing radiations, reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (RONS) are naturally generated by the cellular metabolism through enzymatic or non-enzymatic electron transfer reactions. These reactions are involved in a plethora of cellular processes, including cell signaling, microbial activity, cell fate, differentiation, proliferation, vasodilation, inflammation, neurotransmission, cell migration/adhesion, and hormone synthesis [11-13]. Mitochondrial electron transport chain, NADP oxidases, peroxidases, nitric oxide synthase, and xanthine oxidase are only some of the main RONS-generating pathways occurring in alveolar macrophage (AMs), fibroblasts, neutrophils, eosinophils, bronchiolar epithelial cells, alveolar epithelial cells (AECs), and endothelial cells [4, 14]. The expression of antioxidant enzymes is finely regulated and often induced in response to RONS exposure through transcription factors such as Nrf2 and FoxO3 in the bronchial and alveolar epithelium [15, 16].

As the oxidant/antioxidant imbalance is embroiled in the pathogenesis of miscellaneous diseases affecting the lung and pulmonary vasculature [3, 15, 17], this review will highlight its involvement especially in the chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) and will provide an overview of new therapeutic strategies.

9.2 Mechanisms of Oxidative Stress Damage

Reactive radical species can cause protein, DNA, and lipid oxidation and, through the generation of secondary metabolic RONS, can induce a variety of cellular responses [7, 10, 18]. The higher reactivity of RONS with different macromolecules (due to presence of unpaired electrons) leads to tissue damage, cellular dysfunction, and activation of different signaling pathways [11]. Proteins are the main target, and the oxidative/nitrosative stress through their oxidation, glycation, carbonylation, sulfonation, sulfenylation, or nitration affects their catalytic activity, conformation, and interactions and induces crosslinking [19]. Protein modifications, together with lipid peroxidation, impact on the cellular homeostasis; promote catabolite accumulation, cytotoxicity, and

apoptosis; and activate immune and inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (through TLR, NF-kB, p38-MAPK, or inflammasome pathway), such as IL-1, IL-6, IL-18, and TNF- α [e.g., 1, 14, 18]. Moreover the oxidative stress enhances the production of advanced glycation end products (AGE, heterogeneous compounds formed by glycated proteins or lipids), which contribute to pro-inflammatory and apoptotic response [1]. Positive feedback among the abovementioned inflammatory mediators and RONS is well-known, and it might sustain chronic inflammation and lung injury [1]. The RONS-induced protein modifications cause Endoplasmic Reticulum (ER) stress and the subsequent activation of Unfolded Protein Response (UPR), a protein folding restoration pathway [20]. Unresolved accumulation of misfolded proteins overcoming the UPR induces apoptosis (or senescence) and inflammation and strengthens the oxidative stress [21, 22]. There is substantial evidence that many respiratory diseases such as cystic fibrosis, COPD, IPF, and asthma are associated with excessive ER stress [21, 22]. RONS (or hypoxia) and ER stress can also regulate autophagy, an homeostatic catabolic process involving lysosomal degradation of damaged intracellular structures, that seems to influence cell differentiation [23, 24].

Interestingly, oxidative modifications of proteins and lipids are a potential source of autoantigens, and a role of oxidative stress in autoimmunity was postulated [2]. RONS damage DNA, and through chromatin remodeling and methylation inhibition they affect epigenetics, leading to instability, mutagenesis, and telomere shortening. Being close to endogenous ROS sources and unprotected by histones, the mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) is more sensitive to oxidative stress damages than nuclear DNA. Thus, together with the well-know induction of intrinsic apoptosis or aging acceleration, oxidative damage altered the normal mitochondrial function, influencing the electron transport chain and promoting aerobic glycolysis (the Warburg effect) [25]. The structure and integrity of mitochondria are also compromised with swollen and elongated shape, fusion, and reduced cristae definition [26]. The leaks of cardiolipin or mtDNA are additional inflammatory and apoptotic signals [27]. The physiological response to mitochondrial dysfunction involves sensor proteins such as AMPK and sirtuin that further activate antioxidant gene regulators, such as Nrf2 and FoxO3 [28]. As a rule, alterations of mitochondrial function are observed in several pulmonary diseases and cancers [29].

Oxidative stress triggers the premature aging, through the abovementioned DNA instability and by inhibiting sirtuin-1, a regulatory protein of DNA repair system [15, 18]. Changes in cell morphology and physiology and their permanent proliferative arrest (senescence) further increase DNA damage, ER stress, insufficient autophagy, mitochondrial dysfunction, and ROS production [19, 28, 30, 31]. Furthermore, senescent cells express a peculiar secretory pattern, defined as Senescence-Associated Secretory Phenotype (SASP), consisting of cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors such as TNF- α , IL- β , IL-1, -6, CCL2, CXCL1, CXCL8, and TGF- β [32–34]. The SASP molecular microenvironment is linked with a persistent low level of inflammation and with immunosenescence (i.e., the immune cells, although chronically activate, show reduced functioning) [9, 15]. Premature aging markers and telomere shortening are often associated with IPF and COPD [31, 35].

9.3 Oxidative Stress in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD)

Exogenous oxidative stress and cigarette smoking are recognized as the principal pivotal factors in COPD etiology, prompting tissue injury, chronic inflammation, and mitochondrial dysfunction, accelerating aging, and altering the protease-antiprotease balance [36]. Increased levels of different markers of oxidative stress (such as 8-oxo-2'-deoxyguanosine, nitrotyrosine, isoprostanes, and AGEs) and pro-inflammatory molecules (TNF-α, IL-6, -8, CCL2, CCL3, ICAM-1, and leukotriene B4), as well as low levels of antioxidants, characterize biofluids and lung tissue of COPD patients [36–38]. The cellular mechanisms promoting the oxidative stress induced by smoking are complex and poorly understood; however, the gas and tar phases of cigarette smoke contain short-lived oxidants and long-lived radicals, respectively, and these compounds can react to form highly reactive molecules such as peroxynitrite or hydrogen peroxide [39]. Inhaled particles in ambient air have also the ability to generate free radicals and to activate cellular oxidative stress-response signaling pathways [40]. Thus, the inhalation of cigarette smoke and airborne particles depletes antioxidants (as glutathione), recruits macrophages, encourages AECs and inflammatory cells (especially AMs and neutrophils) to produce ROS and to release pro-inflammatory cytokines (through inflammasome, NF-kB, IRAK1, JNK, ERK, or TLR signaling), and, in parallel, induces apoptosis/cytotoxicity through ER stress [38, 41]. In fact, higher amounts of ROS and inflammatory proteins (as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, and CXCL1) as well as an increased number and altered functions of AMs and neutrophils are reported in COPD [15, 36, 38]. In particular, AMs from COPD patients show reduced phagocytic and antigen-presenting activity contributing to inflammation, apoptosis induction, reduced T-cell activation, and susceptibility to infections [36, 38]. The up-regulation of TNF- α signaling may have a pathogenic role in COPD by supporting further recruitment of inflammatory cells and tissue remodeling through induction of extracellular matrix (ECM)-degrading enzymes by neutrophils and AMs [42]. Indeed, BAL and sputum samples from COPD patients with exacerbations have higher TNFRII levels than those from healthy controls, and TNFRII concentrations are suggested as a prognostic biomarker of COPD [42]. Furthermore, ROS foster the breakdown of several ECM components (collagen, elastin, hyaluronic acid, fibronectin, and proteoglycans) and the inactivation of anti-proteases (α 1-antitrypsin and other serine protease inhibitors) and, in parallel, induce the transcription and the proteolytic activation of proteases (as MMPs, cathepsins, or neutrophil elastase), triggering lung tissue destruction [26, 38, 43]. Independently of the smoking history of COPD patients, the increase of senescence markers and SASP proteins in their fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and AECs compared to controls shows that ROS influence the premature aging of the lung [15, 19].

ROS-induced mitochondrial abnormalities are reported in airway smooth muscle, bronchial epithelial cells, and AECs of COPD patients, and through accelerated cell senescence, apoptosis, and inflammation, they contribute to COPD pathogenesis and progression [7, 28]. Several protective mechanisms against DNA damage and mitochondrial stress are dysregulated by ROS in COPD lung, including reduced levels of parkin (a regulator of mitochondrial autophagy), sirtuin1, and FoxO3 [28, 38].

Nitrogen metabolism, in particular nitric oxide (NO), is hypothesized to impact on COPD pathogenesis [41]. It is well-known that oxidative stress can reduce the activity of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) positively regulating the metabolism of asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA), a potent inhibitor of this enzyme, and negatively influencing the production of arginine, a substrate of NOS [44]. Serum from COPD patients shows low NO concentration, high ADMA levels, and high ADMA/ arginine ratio as compared to that in controls and correlates with disease severity. Interestingly, ADMA is hypothesized to be a comorbidity risk factor, as well as a prognosis and mortality biomarker, being increased in serum from non-survivors COPD and in patients with pulmonary hypertension or with acute exacerbation as compared to COPD stable patients [44]. Another possible mechanism of NOS down-regulation in COPD might involve PAR-1 (a ROS-induced protein involved in DNA repair and modulating NOS transcription) which is observed to be upregulated in PBMCs from COPD patients [37].

9.4 Oxidative Stress and Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis (IPF)

Several pieces of evidence show that oxidative and nitrosative stresses give a substantial contribution to IPF pathogenesis and progression, although they are not the main causative factor [26, 45]. Hence, insufficient concentration of antioxidants and high levels of oxidative/nitrosative markers (such as isoprostane, hydroperoxides, nitrogen oxides, nitrosotyrosine, uric acid, and etane), oxidized lipids, oxidized, nitrated, and carbonyl proteins have been found in biofluids or lung of IPF patients as compared to healthy subjects [45, 46]. Correlating with progressive worsening of dyspnea, acute exacerbation incidence, and BAL neutrophil content, some of these molecules may constitute potential prognostic biomarkers in serum or BAL samples from IPF patients [3, 4]. Positive and intricate interactions between the transforming growth factor β (TGF-_β; the most well-known fibrogenic cytokine) and RONS signaling represent another important aspect in IPF pathogenesis [26]. TGF- β induces mitochondrial oxidant radical formation in lung fibroblasts by enhancing NADP oxidase, inhibiting sirtuin 3 expression and inactivating Nrf2; on the other hand, ROS support the profibrotic TGF-β downstream signaling at different levels [28, 47]. In general, ROS amplify the TGF-\beta-mediated pathway through oxidation of redox-sensitive proteins such as thioredoxin, which has inhibitory effects in physiological conditions [13]. In particular, the induction of NADPH oxidase-4 (NOX4) expression by TGF-β is postulated to have a central role in driving fibrotic response in IPF through ROS generation [13, 48]. NOX4 is highly expressed in fibroblast foci of IPF by myofibroblasts and AECs with opposite effects: it promotes differentiation (increasing expression of α -smooth muscle actin, fibronectin and procollagen I) and apoptotic resistance in fibroblasts/myofibroblast as well as apoptosis, mitochondrial stress, and epithelial-tomesenchymal transition (EMT) in alveolar epithelial cells [25, 29]. The presence of myofibroblasts additionally boosts the ROS-TGF-ß positive loop because these cells generate high levels of ROS which support myofibroblasts survival, differentiation, and contractility through ROCK pathway [49, 50].

Among the products released by damaged AECs in active sites of fibrosis, tenascin-C and sonic hedgehog (SHH) represent an interesting integration between ROS and TGF- β signaling in IPF patients [51, 52]. In AECs, TGF- β promotes tenascin-C secretion and inhibits SHH release; vice versa, oxidative stress stimulates the release of SHH and the transcription of tenascin-C. Tenascin-C is a profibrotic factor associated with EMT and tissue remodeling, while SHH is an AEC proliferative factor possibly related to re-epithelialization [51].

Furthermore, increased activity of NOS is observed in IPF lung and NO seems also to promote TGF- β and ECM-degrading enzymes in fibroblasts, at least in murine models [26, 43].

As abovementioned, the ECM degradation may occur through not only enzymatic but also oxidative mechanisms leading to remodeling and fibrosis. In IPF lung, there are increased levels of several ECM-degrading enzymes (in particular MMPs), whereas antioxidant enzymes (as extracellular superoxide dismutase) and pathways (as Nrf2) are barely present in fibroblast foci region [3, 4]. Thus, ROS critically contribute to the shedding and activation of latent form of TGF- β that is physiologically stored in intact ECM. In addition, low-molecular fragments of ECM components (as syndecan and hyaluronic acid) are observed in IPF and have been suggested to promote fibrosis and inflammation by facilitating the neutrophil recruitment [43, 48].

9.5 Oxidative Stress in Asthma

Oxidative stress may also affect asthma pathology, influencing several aspects associated with the disease, including alterations in airway smooth muscle contraction, mucus secretion/clearance, vascular permeability, and airway hyper-responsiveness [26].

In asthma, the observed high levels of oxidative stress markers in biofluids, as well as the low levels of NO and decreased activity of pulmonary antioxidant enzymes, are associated with disease severity [9, 15, 44]. The boost of oxidative stress seems to be related to the altered response to inhaled allergens or inflammation and is suggested to play a driving role in exacerbations [29]. Alterations in ROS production are observed in asthma in different cells. In particular, histamine and Th2 cytokines induce secretion of ROS by alveolar and bronchial epithelial cells [9, 29]. The latter exhibit elevated levels of NADPH oxidases (such as DUOX1 and DUOX2), and the activities of inflammasome, NOX4, and TNF- α signaling are increased in neutrophils and macrophages as compared to healthy controls [29, 42].

The enhanced inflammation and hyper-responsiveness in asthma airways through ROS-mediated mechanisms involve β -adrenergic receptor, DNA damage-response (especially PARP signaling), incorrect T cells maturation, and alteration of cyto-kines secretion by dendritic cells and epithelial cells [53, 54]. Hence, IL-8 (induced by NOX), IL-5 (induced by PARP1), and IL-33 and IL-25 (induced by DUOX1) foster inflammation, Th2 response, and leukocytes recruitment [29]. Cumulative evidence suggested the additional importance of oxidative stress in pathogenesis of neutrophilic, severe, and elderly asthma [9].

9.6 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

The oxidant/antioxidant imbalance and the accumulation of highly reactive molecules cause damage to DNA, lipids, proteins, and carbohydrates and are implicated in the pathogenesis of diseases affecting the lung and pulmonary vasculature. Redox-regulated signaling pathways are important mechanisms to regulate cellular functions, and ROS and RNS have specific targets conferring them signaling properties and determining their biologic effects [55]. For instance, GSH and NADP homeostasis is regulated by GSH peroxidases, S-transferases, and reductases, and when the mechanism is altered, the induced signaling pathway promotes airway inflammation in COPD and asthma [55]. There are several methods to measure the oxidative stress in lung pathologies such as increased lipid peroxidation products, DNA oxidation, or protein carbonyl formation in lung tissue, and several antioxidant scavengers have been tested in clinical trials to restore oxidant/antioxidant imbalance in pulmonary and cardiovascular diseases [4, 19, 36, 55]. Unfortunately, the results of these studies were conflicting or unsuccessful in IPF, COPD, and asthma treatments. Although dietary supplementation with antioxidants (vitamin A, C, E, β -carotene, glutamine, polyphenols, melatonin, and coenzyme Q10) may produce some beneficial effects, such as lower risk for COPD, asthma incidence, attenuation of inflammation, and lung deterioration, it cannot be considered a valid therapeutic strategy [55, 56].

Recently, a double-blinded, placebo-controlled crossover study on asthma patients reported that γ -tocopherol may have potential therapeutic effects reducing inflammation and eosinophils in the induced sputum [57]. N-acetyl-cysteine (NAC) is an antioxidant (acting as scavenger and restoring glutathione), mucolytic, and anti-inflammatory drug widely tested in lung diseases yielding contrasting results [52, 55]. In the context of COPD (and cystic fibrosis), NAC seems to ameliorate the pulmonary function and to reduce the risk of exacerbation, whereas it has not been shown to prevent mortality in asthma [52, 55]. Although there is evidence of an improvement of 6-min walking test distance, NAC therapy is not recommended (even when combined with antifibrotic drugs) for IPF therapy due to the lack of beneficial effects in pulmonary functional tests parameters such as DLCO and VC and in the mortality rate [52, 55].

Interestingly, pharmacogenomics seems to affect the NAC therapy in IPF, as reported by the differential response of patient with different *TOLLIP* genotypes [58]. For this reason, recent insights in personalized medicine are oriented toward implementing the efficiency of antioxidant therapy in selected stratified patients. In fact, genetic polymorphisms in antioxidant enzymes such as glutathione-S-transferase or superoxide dismutase are associated with susceptibility and symptom development in asthma and COPD patients [59–61]. Thus, for appropriate therapies it seems necessary to consider individual genetic and epigenetic factors that may influence the oxidant/antioxidant system. Moreover, the monitoring of oxidative stress markers as indicators of treatment response could be helpful in the optimization of individual dosage. The asthma management with inhaled corticosteroids based on the monitoring of fractional exhaled nitric oxide appears to reduce

exacerbations in adult patients [59]. However, the establishment of targeted and patient-specific therapies will be a difficult task without appropriate systems to directly provide a proper antioxidant, in the right concentration and in a specific tissue or cell of the lung environment, especially in the initial disease phase, before oxidative stress compromises the tissue integrity.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Ahmad S, Khan MY, Rafi Z et al (2018) Oxidation, glycation and glycoxidation the vicious cycle and lung cancer. Semin Cancer Biol 49:29–36
- Gawda A, Majka G, Nowak B et al (2017) Air pollution, oxidative stress, and exacerbation of autoimmune diseases. Cent Eur J Immunol 42(3):305–312
- Bargagli E, Lavorini F, Pistolesi M et al (2017) Trace metals in fluids lining the respiratory system of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and diffuse lung diseases. J Trace Elem Med Biol 42:39–44
- Fois AG, Paliogiannis P, Sotgia S et al (2018) Evaluation of oxidative stress biomarkers in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and therapeutic applications: a systematic review. Respir Res 19(1):51
- 5. Johannson KA, Balmes JR, Collard HR (2015) Air pollution exposure: a novel environmental risk factor for interstitial lung disease? Chest 147(4):1161–1167
- Bargagli E, Olivieri C, Bennett D et al (2009) Oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of diffuse lung diseases: a review. Respir Med 103(9):1245–1256
- Boukhenouna S, Wilson MA, Bahmed K et al (2018) Reactive oxygen species in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2018:5730395
- Nardi J, Nascimento S, Göethel G et al (2018) Inflammatory and oxidative stress parameters as potential early biomarkers for silicosis. Clin Chim Acta 484:305–313
- 9. Bullone M, Lavoie JP (2017) The contribution of oxidative stress and inflamm-aging in human and equine asthma. Int J Mol Sci 18(12):2612
- Bast A, Weseler AR, Haenen GR et al (2010) Oxidative stress and antioxidants in interstitial lung disease. Curr Opin Pulm Med 16(5):516–520
- Chatterjee S, Nieman GF, Christie JD et al (2014) Shear stress-related mechanosignaling with lung ischemia: lessons from basic research can inform lung transplantation. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 307(9):L668–L680
- Evans CE, Zhao YY (2017) Molecular basis of nitrative stress in the pathogenesis of pulmonary hypertension. Adv Exp Med Biol 967:33–45
- Gonzalez-Gonzalez FJ, Chandel NS, Jain M et al (2017) Reactive oxygen species as signaling molecules in the development of lung fibrosis. Transl Res 190:61–68
- Ferrari RS, Andrade CF (2015) Oxidative stress and lung ischemia-reperfusion injury. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2015:590987
- 15. Barnes PJ (2017) Cellular and molecular mechanisms of asthma and COPD. Clin Sci 31(13):1541–1558
- 16. Dai X, Bowatte G, Lowe AJ et al (2018) Do glutathione s-transferase genes modify the link between indoor air pollution and asthma, allergies, and lung function? A systematic review. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 18(3):20
- 17. Strzelak A, Ratajczak A, Adamiec A et al (2018) Tobacco smoke induces and alters immune responses in the lung triggering inflammation, allergy, asthma and other lung diseases: a mechanistic review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 15(5):E1033

- Evan GI, d'Adda di Fagagna F (2009) Cellular senescence: hot or what? Curr Opin Genet Dev 19(1):25–31
- Faner R, Rojas M, Macnee W, Agustí A (2012) Abnormal lung aging in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 186(4):306–313
- 20. Lawson WE, Cheng DS, Degryse AL et al (2011) Endoplasmic reticulum stress enhances fibrotic remodeling in the lungs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(26):10562–10567
- Korfei M, Schmitt S, Ruppert C et al (2011) Comparative proteomic analysis of lung tissue from patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) and lung transplant donor lungs. J Proteome Res 10:2185–2205
- Chen AC, Burr L, McGuckin MA (2018) Oxidative and endoplasmic reticulum stress in respiratory disease. Clin Transl Immunol 7(6):e1019
- Araya J, Kojima J, Takasaka N et al (2013) Insufficient autophagy in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 304(1):L56–L69
- Scherz-Shouval R, Shvets E, Fass E et al (2007) Reactive oxygen species are essential for autophagy and specifically regulate the activity of Atg4. EMBO J 26(7):1749–1760
- 25. Kim SJ, Cheresh P, Jablonski RP, Williams DB et al (2015) The role of mitochondrial DNA in mediating alveolar epithelial cell apoptosis and pulmonary fibrosis. Int J Mol Sci 16(9):21486–21519
- Liu X, Chen Z (2017) The pathophysiological role of mitochondrial oxidative stress in lung diseases. J Transl Med 15(1):207
- Ng KKF, Nicholson AG, Harrison CL et al (2017) Is mitochondrial dysfunction a driving mechanism linking COPD to nonsmall cell lung carcinoma? Eur Respir Rev 26(146):170040
- Michaeloudes C, Bhavsar PK, Mumby S et al (2017) Dealing with stress: defective metabolic adaptation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease pathogenesis. Ann Am Thorac Soc 14:S374–S382
- van der Vliet A, Janssen-Heininger YMW, Anathy V (2018) Oxidative stress in chronic lung disease: from mitochondrial dysfunction to dysregulated redox signaling. Mol Asp Med 63:59–69
- 30. Rubinsztein DC, Mariño G, Kroemer G (2011) Autophagy and aging. Cell 146:682-695
- Ascher K, Elliot SJ, Rubio GA et al (2017) Lung diseases of the elderly: cellular mechanisms. Clin Geriatr Med 33(4):473–490
- Freund A, Orjalo AV, Desprez PY et al (2010) Inflammatory networks during cellular senescence: causes and consequences. Trends Mol Med 16:238–246
- 33. Minagawa S, Araya J, Numata T et al (2011) Accelerated epithelial cell senescence in IPF and the inhibitory role of SIRT6 in TGF-ß-induced senescence of human bronchial epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 300:L391–L401
- 34. Chilosi M, Carloni A, Rossi A et al (2013) Premature lung aging and cellular senescence in the pathogenesis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and COPD/emphysema. Transl Res 162(3):156–173
- 35. Navarro S, Driscoll B (2017) Regeneration of the aging lung: a mini-review. Gerontology 63(3):270–280
- Liguori I, Russo G, Curcio F et al (2018) Oxidative stress, aging, and diseases. Clin Interv Aging 13:757–772
- Sethi GS, Dharwal V, Naura AS (2017) Poly(ADP-Ribose)Polymerase-1 in lung inflammatory disorders: a review. Front Immunol 8:1172
- Kapellos TS, Bassler K, Aschenbrenner AC (2018) Dysregulated functions of lung macrophage populations in COPD. J Immunol Res 2018:2349045
- Alexandrov LB, Ju YS, Haase K et al (2016) Mutational signatures associated with tobacco smoking in human cancer. Science 354(6312):618–622
- Mariani TJ (2016) Respiratory disorders: ironing out smoking-related airway disease. Nature 531(7596):586–587
- 41. Shi J, Li H, Yuan C et al (2018) Cigarette smoke-induced acquired dysfunction of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator in the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2018:6567578

- 42. Malaviya R, Laskin JD, Laskin DL (2017) Anti-TNFa therapy in inflammatory lung diseases. Pharmacol Ther 180:90–98
- Kliment CR, Oury TD (2010) Oxidative stress, extracellular matrix targets, and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Free Radic Biol Med 49(5):707–717
- 44. Zinellu A, Fois AG, Mangoni AA et al (2018) Systemic concentrations of asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD): state of the art. Amino Acids 50(9):1169–1176
- 45. Landi C, Bargagli E, Carleo A et al (2014) A system biology study of BALF from patients affected by idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) and healthy controls. Proteomics Clin Appl 8(11–12):932–950
- 46. Kurotsu S, Tanaka K, Niino T et al (2014) Ameliorative effect of mepenzolate bromide against pulmonary fibrosis. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 350(1):79–88
- 47. Schamberger AC, Schiller HB, Fernandez IE et al (2016) Glutathione peroxidase 3 localizes to the epithelial lining fluid and the extracellular matrix in interstitial lung disease. Sci Rep 6:29952
- Watson WH, Ritzenthaler JD, Roman J (2016) Lung extracellular matrix and redox regulation. Redox Biol 8:305–315
- 49. Gorowiec MR, Borthwick LA, Parker SM et al (2012) Free radical generation induces epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in lung epithelium via a TGF-ß1-dependent mechanism. Free Radic Biol Med 52(6):1024–1032
- 50. Zhou Y, Huang X, Hecker L et al (2013) Inhibition of mechanosensitive signaling in myofibroblasts ameliorates experimental pulmonary fibrosis. J Clin Invest 123(3):1096–1108
- 51. Fitch PM, Howie SE, Wallace WA (2011) Oxidative damage and TGF-B differentially induce lung epithelial cell sonic hedgehog and tenascin-C expression: implications for the regulation of lung remodelling in idiopathic interstitial lung disease. Int J Exp Pathol 92(1):8–17
- 52. Chen X, Shi C, Cao H et al (2018) The hedgehog and Wnt/β-catenin system machinery mediate myofibroblast differentiation of LR-MSCs in pulmonary fibrogenesis. Cell Death Dis 9(6):639
- Riedl MA, Nel AE (2008) Importance of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis and treatment of asthma. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 8(1):49–56
- 54. Nadeem A, Siddiqui N, Alharbi NO et al (2014) Airway and systemic oxidant-antioxidant dysregulation in asthma: a possible scenario of oxidants spill over from lung into blood. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 29(1):31–40
- 55. Villegas L, Stidham T, Nozik-Grayck E (2014) Oxidative stress and therapeutic development in lung diseases. J Pulm Respir Med 4(4):194
- 56. Liu Z, Ren Z, Zhang J et al (2018) Role of ROS and nutritional antioxidants in human diseases. Front Physiol 9:477
- 57. Burbank AJ, Duran CG, Pan Y et al (2018) Gamma tocopherol-enriched supplement reduces sputum eosinophilia and endotoxin-induced sputum neutrophilia in volunteers with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 141(4):1231–1238
- Oldham JM, Ma SF, Martinez FJ et al (2015) TOLLIP, MUC5B, and the response to N-Acetylcysteine among individuals with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 192(12):1475–1482
- Essat M, Harnan S, Gomersall T et al (2016) Fractional exhaled nitric oxide for the management of asthma in adults: a systematic review. Eur Respir J 47(3):751–768
- Polimanti R, Piacentini S, Moscatelli B et al (2010) GSTA1, GSTO1 and GSTO2 gene polymorphisms in Italian asthma patients. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 37(8):870–872
- 61. Gaurav R, Varasteh JT, Weaver MR et al (2017) The R213G polymorphism in SOD3 protects against allergic airway inflammation. JCI Insight 2(17):95072



TRP Channels, Oxidative Stress and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

10

Amritlal Mandal, Anup Srivastava, Tapati Chakraborti, and Sajal Chakraborti

Abstract

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a lung disease that is often associated with chronic bronchitis, bronchiolitis and emphysema. The disease pathology is heterogeneous in nature and usually results from several environmental factors including cigarette smoke, biomass smoke particle, diesel and automobile exhausts that can potentially expose lung tissues into severe oxidative stress condition. Some individuals, with genetic predisposition, are worse affected. The disease pathology becomes complicated and deadly when environmental and genetic factors both work in a concerted manner. In recent years, transient receptor potential (TRP) channels have been identified as key factors in COPD initiation and progression. TRP channels have been widely implicated as potential targets for genetic manipulation and pharmacological intervention to control the disease. The present chapter briefly discusses expression pattern of different TRP channel members in the lungs and airway epithelium, their physiological role in developing COPD disease pathology with special attention to oxidative stress and the pharmacological intervention and possible genetic manipulation to tackle the disease in near future.

A. Mandal (🖂)

A. Srivastava

T. Chakraborti · S. Chakraborti

Department of Physiology, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA e-mail: mandal@email.arizona.edu

Department of Medicine, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA e-mail: anupsrivastava@email.arizona.edu

Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics, University of Kalyani, Kalyani, West Bengal, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_10

Keywords

Lung \cdot TRP channels \cdot COPD \cdot Oxidants \cdot Airway epithelium \cdot Inflammation \cdot Calcium influx

Abbreviations

Intracellular calcium
4α-phorbol 12, 13-didecanoate
Biomass smoke
Calcitonin gene-related peptide
Central nervous system
Chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases
Ca ²⁺ release-activated Ca ²⁺ (CRAC) channels
Cigarette smoke
5', 6'-epoxyeicosatrienoic acid (EET)
Ethylene gycol-bis (β -aminoethyl ether)-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic
acid
Endoplasmic reticulum
Glutathione-S-transferase
Neurokonin A
Plasma membrane
Small nuclear polymorphisms
Superoxide dismutase
Tachykinins substance P
Stromal Interaction Molecule
Transient receptor potential channels

10.1 Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is usually caused by multiple factors, and it is the fourth leading cause of death worldwide [1]. COPD disease pathology is heterogeneous in nature, and it includes chronic bronchitis, bronchiolitis and emphysema. The condition is presented by chronic airway inflammation [2], and the disease pathology is associated with obstruction of airflow into the lung [3–5]. The condition is not fully reversible at the onset of the disease and is usually progressive in nature, causing debilitating disability and finally death.

Asthmatic condition is often treated with glucocorticoids, but it is unsuccessful in treating COPD-related inflammation. Until now, no effective therapeutic and pharmacological intervention is available to reduce COPD-associated mortality [6, 7]. Extensive research performed in this specific subject area has identified

oxidative damage to lung epithelial cells is directly linked to the COPD disease pathology [8–10]. Several factors, including smoking, domestic smoke exposure, outdoor pollution, socio-economic status, and ethnicity, have been identified as major contributors towards developing COPD [11].

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are known causative agents for cellular oxidative stress and tissue damages. Oxidative stress in pathological condition causes oxidant burden. Free dioxygen radical (O_2^{-}) in oxidative stress condition may function as signal transduction molecule in initiation and progression of the COPD disease state. Transient receptor potential (TRP) channels have been widely implicated in relation to COPD initiation and progression [12–15]. TRP channels are polymodal cation selective ion channels that sense and respond to environmental changes and stimuli such as pH, temperature, osmolarity and exposure to chemical agents. TRP channels also play a significant role in several cellular processes, including apoptosis and neural functions. The mechanism of calcium influx through ROS-sensitive channel and subsequent cellular signaling mechanisms are still largely unknown.

In recent past, scientists put significant effort in order to inhibit ROS-activated TRP channels by antioxidant treatment. TRPM2, one subgroup of the TRP channels, have been reported to be ROS-sensor [16]. Recent development in this specific area has identified TRPM2 channel as a potential candidate in order to modulate the antioxidant enzyme glutathione peroxidase activity [17].

TRPA1, expressed in the chemosensory C-fibers, has been reported to be activated by most of the oxidizing and electrophilic chemicals including but not limited to chlorine, acrolein, isocyanates and tear gas. The chemical stimuli exert their toxic effects by activating TRPA1 through covalent protein modification [18].

COPD disease pathology is not only restricted to lungs, but it has been established as a systemic disease that significantly affects multiple organ systems. Smoking cigarette is directly linked to developing COPD-associated morbidities, and the beneficial effect of quitting smoking has been emphasized as a first line of correcting measure to treat the disease [19].

Human body is constantly exposed not only to oxidants from exogenous sources but also to the reactive oxidant species (ROS) produced endogenously. Glutathione-S-transferase (GST) and superoxide dismutase (SOD) are two main antioxidant enzymes responsible for scavenging ROS activity and play pivotal roles in maintaining redox homeostasis. Cigarette smoke and other environmental pollutants irritate various immune cells located in the lung and cause oxidative stress. Epithelial cells being first line of defense is usually worse affected. This phenomenon ultimately leads to a disruption in redox homeostasis and cause severe damage, which in turn contributes toward developing COPD [20].

Different experimental approaches have identified TRP channels respond to several exogenous stimuli to the airway sensory neurons. The stimuli include harmful chemicals, stimuli causing pain, glandular secretion, depression, cough and other protective responses.

Till date, about 30 TRP channels have been identified. These are further subdivided into seven main subfamilies on the basis of sequence homology. These are TRPC (canonical), TRPV (vanniloid), TRPM (melastatin), TRPP (polycystein),

TRPML (mucolipin), TRPA (ankyrin) and TRPN (NOMPC-like). TRPN channels are found only in invertebrates and fish, and the expression of other six subfamilies has been confirmed in human. The subsequent effect of TRP channel activation leads to either neurogenic inflammatory and/or brain-mediated responses of the airways. If undiagnosed and left untreated, these responses mature into severe breathing problem, and eventually COPD disease pathology sets in. The exact and specific roles of individual TRP channels in specific disease conditions are still largely unknown.

10.2 TRP Channel-Mediated Chemosensation and Associated Responses

Trigeminal chemosensory nerve endings located in the nasal mucosa is the first line of defense in combating exposure of toxic chemical-induced pathological events in the airway [21]. Release of calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP), neurokinin A (NKA) and tachykinins substance P (SP) occurs from the nerve ending because of chemical stimulation. The associated downstream signaling events include neurogenic inflammatory vasodilation and leakage, leading to constriction and obstruction of the nasal passage [22, 23].

Oxidative stress and other noxious chemical compounds activate unmyelinated bronchopulmonary C-fibers and initiate action potentials that conduct centrally to evoke unpleasant sensations (e.g. coughing, dyspnea and chest tightness) and to stimulate/modulate reflexes (e.g. cough, bronchoconstriction, respiratory rate and inspiratory drive) [24].

Key components of this pathological event are highly sensitive to regulation of intracellular calcium concentration ($[Ca^{2+}]_i$) and play a significant role in nociception and other exogenous stimuli-induced responses. This finding actually emphasizes the importance of cellular calcium mobilization and calcium-mediated signal transduction. As COPD pathology is usually associated with cellular signaling mechanisms initiated by an increase of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ as a result of cellular calcium influx, TRP channels draw wide attention due to its cation selective gating properties with a focused interest of calcium influx, specifically through these channels [25].

Localization of different subtypes of TRP channels was confirmed in the epithelium and smooth muscle of the lung tissue. Cigarette smoke, industrial pollutants, aldehyde, chlorine and fragrances are the known activators of TRP channels in the human lung epithelium and in the airways. During signal transduction event, calcium is released into the cytoplasm from endoplasmic reticulum (ER), and the immediate effect is store-operated calcium entry through store-operated calcium influx channels, including TRP channels [18]. TRP channels are mostly plasma membrane (PM)-bound (except nuclear membrane and mitochondrial membrane) and selectively allow influx of cations including of Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and trace metal ions [26].

One of the important mechanisms of cellular calcium influx happens through Store-Operated Calcium Entry (SOCE) [27]. ER calcium store is usually replenished by such a mechanism in a faster way after store depletion. Stromal Interaction Molecule 1 (STIM1) with PM localization has been discovered as critical communicating protein that controls SOCE [28] when the store becomes empty. Immediately after STIM1 discovery, ER Ca²⁺ sensor Orai1 has been identified as the pore-forming subunit of the Ca²⁺ release-activated Ca²⁺ (CRAC) channels [29–31]. STIM1 mediated activation of SOC channels require Orai and TRPC1 interaction [32–40]. The role of STIM1 and Orai1 variants in SOCE has been reviewed extensively in Ref. [41].

10.3 Oxidative Damage and COPD

COPD pathogenesis mainly happens due to oxidative stress in the lung tissue. Exposure of lung to inhaled exogenous oxidants along with endogenously produced oxidative stress in the lung due to ageing and various metabolic processes creates significant oxidative damage. Oxidant and COPD-associated pathology includes but not limited to cell membrane damage due to destruction of membrane lipid bilayer, proteins and nucleic acids [42].

Cigarette smoke (CS) has long been identified as a major cause of COPD due to oxidative stress produced in the lower airways [43]. CS-induced damage to the lung tissue and the development of COPD depends on the extent of inhaled cigarette smoke exposure. Hydroxyl radical (OH⁻) in the inhaled CS causes lipid peroxidation of the cell membrane proteins. OH⁻, upon reacting with unsaturated fatty acids of the membrane phospholipid, generates organic acid free radicals and causes membrane damage [44]. The secondary metabolite formed due to rapid degradation of the unstable intermediate oxidant molecules causes further lipid peroxidation. The intermediate oxidants molecules include alkanes (e.g. ethane/ pentane) and aldehydes (e.g. malondialdehyde). The concentration of thiobarbituric acid reactive substance (TBARS) has been found in higher quantities in smoker lungs with COPD [45].

Non smoking-associated COPD development and progression of the disease has been linked to several factors. Deficiency of $\alpha 1$ antitrypsin, presence of chronic asthma, ROS-exposure due to polluted air, biomass smoke (BS) exposure, etc. has been found to be the major cause of nonsmoking-associated COPD [45].

Smoker lungs have been shown to have elevated high granular density alveolar macrophages, which has been identified as a major contributor for increased ROS production [46, 47]. The deadly association among H_2O_2 , O_2^{-1} and OH^{-1} radicals results in bronchial hyper responsiveness in COPD patients [48].

Endogenous cell-derived ROS produced in metabolically active cells is a result of enzymatic reactions involving a group of oxidant enzymes. Three main members of such an oxidant enzymes are NADPH oxidase, eosinophil peroxidase (EPO) and myeloperoxidase (MPO) [49]. Mitochondria are the source of reactive nitrogen species (RNS), O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 production [50, 51]. Sources of exogenously produced ROS are CS [52] and the lipid peroxidation in inflammation of airway epithelium due to environmental ozone exposure [53].

10.4 TRP Channels and COPD

Increased TRPC6 mRNA expression in human alveolar and lung tissue macrophages has been reported in COPD patients [54]. The pathophysiological roles of non-neuronal TRPV1/TRPA1 channels have been widely studied in infection, inflammation and immunity. The sensory input of non-neuronal TRP channel mediated signal transduction mechanisms ultimately results indirect neurogenic pain or inflammation.

TRPV1/TRPA1 activation has been positively correlated with airway neurogenic inflammation. Non-neurogenic inflammatory responses produced by non-neuronal TRPA1 results inflammatory airway diseases. Thus TRPA1 has been identified as a prominent target to treat inflammatory respiratory diseases [55]. TRP channels are also involved as active removal mechanisms of foreign toxic substances in the cell. TRPV1/TRPA1 isoforms are widely expressed in lung sensory neurons, and those specific TRP channel activation causes alteration in vagal output associated with change in respiratory pattern, blood flow and coughing behavior.

TRPV2/TRPV4 expressed in the alveolar macrophages play critical roles in immune response initiation [56]. Contribution of different TRP channel family members in relation to COPD development is summarized in Fig. 10.1.

10.4.1 TRPC6

TRPC6 and TRPC7 both gene expression has been detected in lung tissue [57]. TRPC6 being predominantly expressed in macrophages, lymphocytes and neutrophils [12] and also in the airway epithelium became a target gene for inflammation-induced lung diseases.

Increased TRPC6 gene expression has been reported in macrophages isolated from COPD patients [54]. In COPD patients phospholipase C (PLC), one of the important modulators of TRPC channels including TRPC6, has been found to be activated [58] as a result of CXC chemokine receptor activation. Thus TRPC6 activation and CXC chemokine receptor activation-mediated inflammation in COPD has been emerging as an interesting area of research.

10.4.2 TRPC4

Expression of TRPC proteins has been reported in endothelial cells, vascular smooth muscle cells and mast cells [59]. Discovery of TRPC4 knock out (KO) mouse model [60] opened up the possibility of detailed study for the role of TRPC4 in lung diseases and in COPD. Vascular endothelial cells of lungs in TRPC4 KO mice have a defective Ca²⁺ influx mechanism which has been found to be induced by thrombin [61]. Investing future research effort on TRPC4 in context to COPD and respiratory diseases certainly has potential to shed lights on COPD disease pathology.





10.4.3 TRPM2

Recently TRPM2 channel has been described as an oxidant sensor [62]. TNF- α and lipopolysaccharides (LPS) are two known potent activators of TRPM2 channels [63]. TRPM2 channel is largely expressed in inflammatory cells, including endogenous ROS-producing cells. Primary human monocytes have been shown to cause TRPM2 mRNA upregulation upon LPS or TNF α challenge [63]. Targeted gene knockdown studies of TRPM2 employing specific siRNA have been shown to reduce TNF- α , IL-6, IL-10 and [Ca²⁺]_i rise upon LPS exposure [63].

Direct activation of TRPM2 and IL-8 production by H_2O_2 and subsequent cellular calcium influx have been shown in human monocyte cell line [64]. TRPM2 has been identified as an important target in oxidative damage-induced cellular inflammatory processes. The involvement of TRPM2 channel-mediated oxidative stress-induced cellular inflammatory processes has been tested in TRPM2^{-/-} mice compared to WT counterparts [65, 66]. Further research on monocytes isolated from TRPM2^{-/-} mice has shown reduced Ca²⁺ influx and reduced macrophage inflammatory protein-2 α (MIP-2 α or CXCL-2 α) production in response to oxidative stress compared to WT mice [67].

Research from Heiner group [68] has shown involvement of TRPM2 in the neutrophil chemotaxis in human. Yamammoto group [64] also has provided the evidence for the existence of similar TRPM2-mediated mechanisms in experimental mice model. All those immune cell-induced cellular inflammatory pathways have been so far characterized in the COPD disease state.

10.4.4 TRPM8

Expression of TRP channels has been confirmed in vagal afferent neurons. Cold and menthol, a TRPM8 ligand, both have been reported as TRPM8 activators [69]. So-called thermoreceptor sensory function of TRPM8 channels operating at non-physiological low temperature zone has not proved to be of beyond doubt. Cold air is known to cause airway constriction, mucus secretion, cough and plasma protein infiltration which is characteristic to processes associated with inflammatory airway diseases [70, 71]. COPD being one of the well-characterized inflammatory airway diseases certainly draws attention with a possible linkage between TRPM8 pathology and the disease presentation. Presence of a functional variant of TRPM8 protein in human epithelial cell has recently been reported that promotes ER calcium release and subsequent increase in inflammatory cytokine transcription [72, 73].

Consistent with this notion of the presence of oxidant and TRM8-mediated mechanisms in COPD has been further supported by the fact that menthol cigarette smokers in COPD patients had shown severe airway inflammation compared to non-menthol smokers with COPD individuals [74]. In the same study employing in vitro model, the degree of ROS production has been compared between non-menthol cigarette smoke extract (Non-M-CSE) and menthol cigarette smoke extract (M-CSE) groups. Initially similar degree of increased extracellular ROS production

has been reported in both groups. However, M-CSE group eventually produced a robust cytoplasmic calcium elevation, MAP Kinase (MAPK) activation, NF- κ B signaling and release of IL-8. N-acetyl-cysteine (NAC), a ROS scavenger, was able to block the ROS-induced responses in both CSE treatment groups.

Additionally EGTA (an extracellular Ca²⁺ chelator) and AMTB (a TRPM8 antagonist), or both were able to completely inhibit both CSE-induced responses. Those findings strongly indicate a functional role of TRPM8 channel in oxidant-induced airway inflammation and possibility of TRPM8 being a therapeutic target to treat COPD. When menthol has been introduced into the Non-M-CSE groups, the rise in cytoplasmic calcium and release of IL-8 had been significantly increased compared to the Non-M-CSE only group. The involvement of TRPM8 in oxidative stress-induced inflammatory responses in smokers has been supported by employing either TRPM8 knocked down cells or TRPM8 knock out animal models [75].

10.4.5 TRPA1

Involvement of TRPA1 channel has been proved beyond doubt as major signaling mechanisms in COPD disease pathology [76]. Cigarette smoke extract (CSE), acrolein and crotonaldehyde have been shown to produce contraction of bronchial rings in guinea pigs which has been shown to be prevented by pretreatment with HC-030031, a specific TRPA1 antagonist and not by capsazepine, a TRPV1 antagonist or reactive oxygen scavengers [77].

Covalent modification of the N-terminus cysteine residues of TRPA1 by prostaglandins is one of the well-studied mechanisms of the channel activation [78, 79]. Another important activation mechanism is the lipid peroxidation, a mediator of cigarette smoke-induced inflammation [80, 81]. TRPA1 agonist-induced tussive responses in preclinical guinea pig model were found to be inhibited by HC-030031 [82]. Considering COPD disease etiology, the involvement of TRPA1s role in neurogenic inflammation is not well established. Recent evidence also suggests the involvement of TRPA1 in the non-neurogenic inflammatory pathways in experimental mice model [55].

TRPA1-induced neurogenic inflammation is usually associated with COPD [77]. Studies on preclinical animal models have provided evidence that TRPA1 channels play a significant role in cigarette smoke-induced bronchial inflammation [77]. Cigarette smoke is a complex mixture of several irritants known for potentially activating TRPA1 channel. Acrolein and crotonaldehyde [77, 83–86], along with nicotine [87] present in cigarette smoke, have been identified as direct TRPA1 activators. Biomass smoke (BM), mainly produced by burning wood, has been recently identified as activator of TRPA1-induced chemosensation in cultured jugular ganglia isolated from guinea pig [88]. Primary cultures of human airway fibroblasts, smooth muscle cells and epithelial cells have been reported to release IL-8 upon cigarette smoke-induced TRPA1 stimulation [55].

10.4.6 TRPV1

Neuronal TRPV1 channels are mostly expressed in C- and A δ - fibers of primary sensory neurons. This channel has been widely described as nociceptors. TRPV1 channels are major intra and intercellular communication channels of the respiratory tract covering nose, alveoli, smooth muscle and blood vessel [13, 89].

Present TRPV1 research in relation to COPD is revolving in the areas of TRPV1's role in sensory nerves and, especially, in tussive response associated with COPD [90, 91]. Involvement of neuronal TRPV1 responses in COPD pathology in human is still questionable while the role of non-neuronal TRPV1-response is becoming more evident in recent years [92].

Heat, protons, voltage, endogenous chemicals (including lipoxygenase products) and exogenous chemicals (including capsaicin and resiniferatoxin) are the known activators of TRPV1 [57]. Protein kinase A (PKA), protein kinase C (PKC) and other kinase-induced direct phosphorylation also activate TRPV1 channel [93, 94]. Phospholipase C (PLC) also has been shown as a TRPV1 mediator [95]. TRPV1-induced release of TNF- α and downstream proinflammatory response in sensory neurons has been reported [96]. Elevated levels of endogenous TRPV1 activators such as arachidonic acid metabolites involved in PKA, PKC and PLC pathways have been found in the lungs of COPD patients.

Low pH, a known TRPV1 activator, has been found in the exhaled breath condensate of COPD sufferers [97]. Hypersensitive tussive response upon capsaicin inhalation has been noted in COPD patients, an indicator of TRPV1 signaling mechanisms [98]. In experimental rat model, hypersensitivity of capsaicin-induced airway inflammation responses in pulmonary myelinated primary afferents was reported [99]. A systematic meta-analysis also suggests a strong correlation of TRPV1 in COPD disease pathology [100].

Apoptosis caused by inhaled airborne particulate material has been found to be completely inhibited by capsazepine in human airway epithelial cells and in TRPV1^{-/-} mice [101]. Parallel studies also reported TRPV1 agonist-induced ER stress and loss of cell viability in BEAS-2B and A549 airway epithelial cell lines [102]. TRPV1 stimulation also caused release of IL-6, a proinflammatory cytokine from airway bronchial epithelial cells [103]. These evidences strongly support the role of non-neurogenic TRPV1 responses in COPD. Back in 1984, it has been reported that capsaicin treatment-induced ablation of TRPV1 in neonatal rats were resistant to cigarette smoke (CS)-induced increase in vascular permeability in the airways. In recent years, TRPV1 homozygous KO (TRPV1^{-/-}) mice were found to be resistant to LPS-induced inflammation and bronchial hyperactivity, and that pre-treatment with TRPV1 agonist SA13353 failed to produce both neutrophil influx and increase in cytokines TNF α and CXCL1 [104].

Tiotropium, a widely prescribed drug for COPD treatment as bronchodilator opened up the initial idea about possible linkage of TRPV1 in COPD disease pathology [105]. Tiotropium was found to inhibit capsaicin, a potent TRPV1 agonist-induced cough (Tussive stimulation) and single C-fiber firing in the guinea pig model [105] and in other preclinical studies [106].

Both TRPV1 and TRPV4 mRNA have been found to be upregulated in patients with COPD and were shown to be involved in CS-induced elevated ATP release in the COPD airways [107].

10.4.7 TRPV4

Known functions of TRPV4 channels include epithelial cell volume control, epithelial and endothelial permeability, bronchial smooth muscle contraction and participation in autoregulation of mucociliary transport. Those functions of TRPV4 appear important for the regulation of COPD pathogenesis, and thus TRPV4 emerges as a candidate gene for COPD. TRPV4 is widely expressed in heart, lung, kidney, CNS and skin [108]. In the lungs the highest levels of TRPV4 expression have been found in the epithelial linings of the trachea, bronchi and lower airways and the alveolar septal walls [109, 110].

TRPV1 and TRPV4 both channels are thermo- and osmo-sensitive [111]. TRPV1 has been emerging as a hyperosmotic sensor and TRPV4 as hypoosmotic [112] and mechanical sensor [113]. TRPV4 also senses and responds to chemical stimuli including, 4α -phorbol 12, 13-didecanoate (4α PDD) [111], GSK1016790A [110] and 5', 6'-epoxyeicosatrienoic acid (EET) [114]. TRPV4 is important in controlling epithelial and endothelial barrier function, especially in response to increased vascular pressure and stretch. TRPV4 channel activation has been implicated in cellular ATP release mechanisms and subsequent downstream purinergic signaling pathways. It is important to note that increased levels of ATP have been found in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) from COPD patients [115]. Recently association of small nuclear polymorphisms (SNPs) in TRPV4 in relation to COPD disease pathology has been confirmed [25].

10.5 ROS and RNS: Potential Activators for the TRP Channels

Infiltrating neutrophils, eosinophils and macrophages into the lung alveolar space significantly increases the pulmonary oxidant burden by generating ROS including O_2^{-} , H_2O_2 and hypochlorite. The NO produced by the inflamed tissue occasionally reacts with ROS and results in more damaging reactive nitrogen species (RNS) including peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) and nitrogen dioxide (NO₂). RNS cause additional nitrative stress in airway diseases [116].

TRPV1 and TRPA1 both have been identified as a potential target for ROS/RNSmediated cellular calcium signaling processes in both chronic and acute responses to oxidative stress into the lung. ROS-mediated activation of different TRP channels expressed in airway epithelial cells and in sensory nerves towards neurogenic inflammation is schematically shown in Fig. 10.2.

RNS damages the membrane integrity by directly attacking the unsaturated fatty acids (e.g. oleic acid) of the cell membrane and generates highly reactive nitro-oleic acid [117]. Oxidative stress can directly activate TRPA1 channels by



Fig. 10.2 Schematic diagram showing the ROS-induced activation and signal transduction events of TRP channels expressed in sensory nerves and in airway epithelial cells. ROS-induced TRP channel activation following release of proinflammatory mediators leads to the neurogenic inflammation. *PGE2* Prostaglandin E2, *NGF* nerve growth factor, and *TNF-* α tumor necrosis factor- α . (Taken from Ref. [152])

oxidizing cysteine residue of the cytoplasmic N Terminal [118]. TRPA1 channels are found to respond to both the electrophiles and the oxidizing agents entering in the airways. 3-Niro-tyrosine (3-NT), with high biological activity, is one of the several RNS generated by the reaction between RNS and NO and has potential to be used as a marker for NOO⁻-mediated cellular damages in vivo. Reactive lipid aldehydes are usually formed by an autocatalytic pathway in lipid peroxidation of the cell membrane.

10.6 Biomass Smoke and TRP Channel Activation

The correlation between COPD and biomass smoke (BS) exposure is now well established. At present there is around 3 billion COPD sufferer worldwide. Burning biomass fuel such as wood and coke is common in developing countries as a cheap alternative to the conventional source of energies including electricity and gas. Burning of these materials releases several air pollutants in large quantities that includes nitrogen oxides, sulphur oxides, hydrogen chloride, polyaromatic hydrocarbons, volatile organic compounds, methane, furans, dioxins and aerosol particulates of both organic and inorganic origin [119]. In COPD patients, inhaled BS has been identified as a major contributing factor towards developing inflammatory responses. The late responses of such inflammatory processes result in tissue proliferation in small airways and severe tissue damage in lung parenchyma. Additionally, the disease state contains recruitment of immune cells to the airway compartments [120].

10.7 Diesel Exhausts Particle and TRP Channel Activation

Diesel exhausts particle (DEP) is a very common component in the city environment generated by the automobiles. DEP inhalation has been widely implicated in developing COPD and chronic asthma worldwide. The role of DEP as a direct activator of lung-specific afferent sensory nerves in relation to initiation of respiratory symptoms has been studied. The study on the effect of organic extract of diesel exhaust (DEP-OE) on human and in vitro studies and in vivo electrophysiological studies has identified a list of compounds causing TRPA1 activation. DEPs contain high amount of polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) on their surface and exert toxic and carcinogenic effects. Phenanthrene, a common PAH found in DEP has been found to cause depolarization of vagus nerve [121]. DEP exposure in human primary airway epithelia has been reported to reduce ciliary beat frequency and results in increased oxidative damage, NF-kB pathway activation and increased secretion of proinflammatory cytokines. Some of the secreted immune-responsive biomolecules also act as mediators and sensitize airway sensory neurons [122-130]. Signal transduction pathways specifically responsible for such a DEP-evoked events are not fully understood.

Electrophiles activate TRPA1 channels and involve covalent modification of the cysteine residues on the N-terminus (Cytoplasmic domain) [131, 132]. This finding possibly provides clues why endogenously produced oxidative stress causes TRPA1 activation as an integral event in intracellular oxidative stress [118, 133]. Robinson et al. [121] have shown that H_2O_2 or DEP-OE depolarizes the vagus nerve in a TRPA1-dependent manner [134, 135], and this response was inhibited by the anti-oxidant N-acetyl cysteine (NAC).

10.8 Genetic Contributors of COPD

Finding key genetic contributor for the chronic diseases has been a challenge for the investigators and COPD is no exception. Earlier studies [136, 137] have shown evidence that genetic factors are linked to pulmonary function and COPD. Existence of familial aggregation of COPD strongly suggests this notion [136]. Till date, it is not very clear how genetic factors are associated for COPD development and progression. Environmental pollutants have been shown to produce adverse reactions to the bronchial epithelium and recruit inflammatory cells causing pulmonary disease pathology [138]. Association of COPD with polymorphisms of genes like α 1-antitrypsin, TNF α and surfactant protein B genes has been suggested in case control studies [139–141]. A study on Indian population exposed to industrial pollutants has shown evidence that microsatellite (MSI) instability is weakly associated with smoker's age and the extent of exposure to exogenous toxins, which are the known cause for developing COPD [142].

 α 1-antitrypsin deficiency has been previously positively correlated with COPD development in young adults [143]. Phosphorylated serine 19 residue in TRPV4 protein, a human genetic polymorphism, has been previously documented as COPD

susceptibility locus. This specific polymorphism has been directly linked to matrix metalloproteinase (MMP1) activation associated with increased calcium influx and downstream signaling pathways [25, 144, 145].

10.9 Modulators of TRP Channel Expression and Function

Significant development took place in recent years in order to find both competitive and non-competitive inhibitors for the TRP channels in order to control disease states including asthma, COPD and several other airway diseases. The development of TRP antagonists happened slowly, but in recent years, there has been a wide interest in developing TRPV1 and TRPA1 antagonists because of their potential therapeutic role in targeting neuropathic pain. Ruthenium red (RR), a non-selective calcium channel blocker, blocks several TRP channels including TRPV1. Unfavorable cytotoxicity prevented this potent molecule to be considered as potential candidate for further drug development perspective. In recent years (±) camphor has been identified as week TRPA1 antagonist [146, 147]. SB-705498, a potent TRPV1 antagonist developed by GSK cleared its Phase 1 clinical trial in 2007. SB-705498 has shown promise for further clinical trials as it has been shown to be well tolerated in Phase 1 clinical trial with no serious adverse effects. Topical applications of SB-705498 have also been tested in two Phase 2 clinical trials in relation to chronic cough and non-allergic rhinitis [148].

Competitive TRP channel antagonists are therapeutically attractive because of their direct mode of action without upregulating or activating the receptors for the respective channels and usually do not associate with unwanted drug use-related side effects [149]. So far TRPA1 and TRPV1 both appear to be potential target of therapeutic intervention in order to treat respiratory airway diseases including COPD [150].

10.10 Conclusions and Future Directions

TRP channels have now gained wide interest because they have been documented as sensors for environmental stimuli that can sense and respond to exogenous stimuli. The multifunctional roles played by different TRP channels are important in terms of understanding how the cellular sensors work to respond to exogenous stimuli in normal and pathophysiological conditions and how these channels are linked to the mechanisms of disease progression.

A wide variety of exogenous and endogenous stimuli-induced activations of different TRP channels play a significant role in COPD development and progression. Targeting TRP channels has enormous potential in treating pulmonary diseases including COPD. TRP channels appear to be a family of endogenous defense system to combat noxious stimuli-induced cellular damages and play critical immunological roles in many lung diseases including COPD. Rise in cytoplasmic calcium through TRP channel and subsequent cellular signaling pathways that lead to hyperactivated proinflammatory and immunological responses including activation of different transcription factors, chromatin remodeling and altered gene expression have potential to shed lights on the mechanisms of the COPD for future drug development to combat the disease. Identification of specific TRP genes responsible for COPD will provide further knowledge about how a specific population of chronic COPD is predisposed to the disease and what genetic manipulation and pharmacological intervention could be done in order to prevent or slow down the disease progression.

Funding This work was supported by Council of Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR), India.

References

- 1. Decramer M, Janssens W, Miravitlles M (2012) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Lancet 379:1341–1351
- 2. Bateman ED, Hurd SS, Barnes PJ et al (2008) Global strategy for asthma management and prevention: GINA executive summary. Eur Respir J 31:143
- Cosio Piqueras MG, Cosio MG (2001) Disease of the airways in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Eur Respir J 18:41s–49s
- 4. Culver B (2015) Defining airflow limitation and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the role of outcome studies. Eur Respir J 46:8–10
- 5. William LE (2016) Defining airflow obstruction. Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 3:515-518
- Barnes PJ (2013) Corticosteroid resistance in patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 131:636–645
- 7. Calverley PMA, Anderson JA, Celli B et al (2007) Salmeterol and fluticasone propionate and survival in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 356:775–789
- Barnes PJ (2017) Cellular and molecular mechanisms of asthma and COPD. Clin Sci 131:1541–1558
- 9. Eapen MS, Myers S, Walters EH et al (2017) Airway inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD): a true paradox. Expert Rev Respir Med 11:827–839
- 10. Bose P, Bathri R, Kumar L et al (2015) Role of oxidative stress & transient receptor potential in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Indian J Med Res 142:245–260
- 11. Vijayan V (2013) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Indian J Med Res 137:251-269
- 12. Banner KH, Igney F, Poll C (2011) TRP channels: emerging targets for respiratory disease. Pharmacol Ther 130:371–384
- 13. Grace MS, Baxter M, Dubuis E et al (2014) Transient receptor potential (TRP) channels in the airway: role in airway disease. Br J Pharmacol 171:2593–2607
- Preti D, Szallasi A, Patacchini R (2012) TRP channels as therapeutic targets in airway disorders: a patent review. Expert Opin Ther Pat 22:663–695
- Katharine A-B, Christopher P, Verkuyl JM (2013) Targeting TRP channels in airway disorders. Curr Top Med Chem 13:310–321
- Ru X, Yao X (2014) TRPM2: a multifunctional ion channel for oxidative stress sensing. Acta Phys Sin 66:7–15
- Nazıroğlu M, Zgülbilal CÖ, Doğan Ç et al (2011) Glutathione modulates Ca²⁺ influx and oxidative toxicity through TRPM2 channel in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. J Membr Biol 242:109
- Bessac BF, Jordt S-E (2010) Sensory detection and responses to toxic gases: mechanisms, health effects, and countermeasures. Proc Am Thorac Soc 7:269–277
- Jindal S, Aggarwal A, Chaudhry K et al (2006) Tobacco smoking in India: prevalence, quitrates and respiratory morbidity. Indian J Chest Dis Allied Sci 48:37–42

- 20. Mach WJ, Thimmesch AR, Pierce JT et al (2011) Consequences of hyperoxia and the toxicity of oxygen in the lung. Nurs Res Pract 2011:260482
- 21. Baraniuk JN, Kim D (2007) Nasonasal reflexes, the nasal cycle, and sneeze. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 7:105–111
- Baraniuk JN, Lundgren JD, Goff J et al (1990) Calcitonin gene-related peptide in human nasal mucosa. Am J Phys Lung Cell Mol Phys 258:L81–L88
- Petersson G, Malm L, Ekman R et al (1989) Capsaicin evokes secretion of nasal fluid and depletes substance P and calcitonin gene-related peptide from the nasal mucosa in the rat. Br J Pharmacol 98:930–936
- Taylor-Clark TE, Undem BJ (2011) Sensing pulmonary oxidative stress by lung vagal afferents. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 178:406–413
- Zhu G, Investigators I, Gulsvik A et al (2009) Association of TRPV4 gene polymorphisms with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Hum Mol Genet 18:2053–2062
- 26. Alarie Y, Ferguson JS, Stock MF et al (1987) Sensory and pulmonary irritation of methyl isocyanate in mice and pulmonary irritation and possible cyanide like effects of methyl isocyanate in guinea pigs. Environ Health Perspect 72:159–167
- 27. Putney JW (1986) A model for receptor-regulated calcium entry. Cell Calcium 7:1-12
- Oritani K, Kincade PW (1996) Identification of stromal cell products that interact with pre-B cells. J Cell Biol 134:771
- 29. Feske S, Prakriya M, Rao A et al (2005) A severe defect in CRAC Ca²⁺ channel activation and altered K⁺ channel gating in T cells from immunodeficient patients. J Exp Med 202:651
- Mercer JC, DeHaven WI, Smyth JT et al (2006) Large store-operated calcium selective currents due to co-expression of Orai1 or Orai2 with the intracellular calcium sensor, Stim1. J Biol Chem 281:24979–24990
- 31. Prakriya M, Lewis RS (2015) Store-operated calcium channels. Physiol Rev 95:1383-1436
- Cheng KT, Ong HL, Liu X et al (2011) Contribution of TRPC1 and Orai1 to Ca²⁺ entry activated by store depletion. In: Islam MS (ed) Transient receptor potential channels. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 435–449
- Cheng KT, Ong HL, Liu X et al (2013) Chapter seven contribution and regulation of TRPC channels in store-operated Ca²⁺ entry. In: Prakriya M (ed) Current topics in membranes. Academic, San Diego, pp 149–179
- 34. Desai PN, Zhang X, Wu S et al (2015) Multiple types of calcium channels arising from alternative translation initiation of the Orai1 message. Sci Signal 8:ra74
- Huang GN, Zeng W, Kim JY et al (2006) STIM1 carboxyl-terminus activates native SOC, Icrac and TRPC1 channels. Nat Cell Biol 8:1003
- 36. Jardin I, Lopez JJ, Salido GM et al (2008) Orai1 mediates the interaction between STIM1 and hTRPC1 and regulates the mode of activation of hTRPC1-forming Ca2+ channels. J Biol Chem 283:25296–25304
- Rosado JA, Sage SO (2000) Coupling between inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors and human transient receptor potential channel 1 when intracellular Ca²⁺ stores are depleted. Biochem J 350:631–635
- Singh BB, Liu X, Ambudkar IS (2000) Expression of truncated transient receptor potential protein 1α (Trp1α): evidence that the Trp1 C terminus modulates store-operated Ca²⁺ entry. J Biol Chem 275:36483–36486
- 39. Yuan JP, Zeng W, Huang GN et al (2007) STIM1 heteromultimerizes TRPC channels to determine their function as store-operated channels. Nat Cell Biol 9:636
- 40. Choi S, Maleth J, Jha A et al (2014) The TRPCs–STIM1–Orai interaction. In: Nilius B, Flockerzi V (eds) Mammalian transient receptor potential (TRP) cation channels: volume II. Springer, Cham, pp 1035–1054
- Rosado JA, Diez R, Smani T et al (2015) STIM and Orail variants in store-operated calcium entry. Front Pharmacol 6:325
- Valko M, Leibfritz D, Moncol J et al (2007) Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39:44–84

- Kumar R, Vijayan VK (2012) Smoking cessation programs and other preventive strategies for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Assoc Physicians Indian Suppl 60:54–56
- Rahman I, Morrison D, Donaldson K et al (1996) Systemic oxidative stress in asthma, COPD, and smokers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154:1055–1060
- 45. Premanand R, Kumar S, Mohan A (2007) Study of thiobarbituric reactive substances and total reduced glutathione as indices of oxidative stress in chronic smokers with and without chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Indian J Chest Dis Allied Sci 49:9–12
- 46. Schaberg T, Klein U, Rau M et al (1995) Subpopulations of alveolar macrophages in smokers and nonsmokers: relation to the expression of CD11/CD18 molecules and superoxide anion production. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 151:1551–1558
- 47. Drath DB, Karnovsky ML, Huber GL (1979) The effects of experimental exposure to tobacco smoke on the oxidative metabolism of alveolar macrophages. J Reticuloendothel Soc 25:597–604
- Rahman I, Adcock IM (2006) Oxidative stress and redox regulation of lung inflammation in COPD. Eur Respir J 28:219
- 49. Hayashi Y, Sawa Y, Nishimura M et al (2004) Peroxynitrite, a product between nitric oxide and superoxide anion, plays a cytotoxic role in the development of post-bypass systemic inflammatory response. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 26:276–280
- Church DF, Pryor WA (1985) Free-radical chemistry of cigarette smoke and its toxicological implications. Environ Health Perspect 64:111–126
- 51. Hiltermann JTN, Lapperre TS, van Bree L et al (1999) Ozone-induced inflammation assessed in sputum and bronchial lavage fluid from asthmatics: a new noninvasive tool in epidemiologic studies on air pollution and asthma. Free Radic Biol Med 27:1448–1454
- Nightingale JA, Rogers DF, Barnes PJ (1999) Effect of inhaled ozone on exhaled nitric oxide, pulmonary function, and induced sputum in normal and asthmatic subjects. Thorax 54:1061
- 53. Comhair SAA, Thomassen MJ, Erzurum SC (2000) Differential induction of extracellular glutathione peroxidase and nitric oxide synthase 2 in airways of healthy individuals exposed to 100% O₂ or cigarette smoke. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 23:350–354
- Finney-Hayward TK, Popa MO et al (2010) Expression of transient receptor potential C6 channels in human lung macrophages. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 43:296–304
- 55. Nassini R, Pedretti P, Moretto N et al (2012) Transient receptor potential Ankyrin 1 channel localized to non-neuronal airway cells promotes non-neurogenic inflammation. PLoS One 7:e42454
- 56. Earley S, Gonzales AL, Crnich R (2009) Endothelium-dependent cerebral artery dilation mediated by TRPA1 and Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channels. Circ Res 104:987–994
- 57. Venkatachalam K, Montell C (2007) TRP channels. Annu Rev Biochem 76:387–417
- 58. Baggiolini M (2001) Chemokines in pathology and medicine. J Intern Med 250:91-104
- Freichel M, Tsvilovskyy, Camacho-Londoño JE (2014) TRPC4- and TRPC4-containing channels. In: Nilius B, Flockerzi V (eds) Mammalian transient receptor potential (TRP) cation channels: volume I. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp 85–128
- 60. Freichel M, Suh SH, Pfeifer et al (2001) Lack of an endothelial store-operated Ca²⁺ current impairs agonist-dependent vasorelaxation in TRP4^{-/-} mice. Nat Cell Biol 3:121
- Tiruppathi C, Freichel M, Vogel SM et al (2002) Impairment of store-operated Ca²⁺ entry in TRPC4 (-/-) mice interferes with increase in lung microvascular permeability. Circ Res 91:70–76
- 62. Hara Y, Wakamori M, Ishii M, Maeno E, Nishida M, Yoshida T, Yamada H, Shimizu S, Mori E, Kudoh J, Shimizu N, Kurose H et al (2002) LTRPC2 Ca²⁺-permeable channel activated by changes in redox status confers susceptibility to cell death. Mol Cell 9:163–173
- Wehrhahn J, Kraft R, Harteneck C et al (2010) Transient receptor potential melastatin 2 is required for lipopolysaccharide-induced cytokine production in human monocytes. J Immunol 184:2386
- 64. Yamamoto S, Shimizu S, Kiyonaka S et al (2008) TRPM2-mediated Ca2+ influx induces chemokine production in monocytes that aggravates inflammatory neutrophil infiltration. Nat Med 14:738

- 65. Araki Y, Sugihara H, Hattori T (2006) The free radical scavengers eduration and tempol suppress experimental dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis in mice. Int J Mol Med 17:331–334
- 66. Blackburn AC, Doe WF, Buffinton GD (1998) Salicylate hydroxylation as an indicator of hydroxyl radical generation in dextran sulfate-induced colitis. Free Radic Biol Med 25:305–313
- 67. Tsutsui M, Hirase R, Miyamura S et al (2018) TRPM2 exacerbates central nervous system inflammation in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by increasing production of CXCL2 chemokines. J Neurosci 38:2203–2217
- Heiner I, Radukina N, Eisfeld J et al (2005) Regulation of TRPM2 channels in neutrophil granulocytes by ADP-ribose: a promising pharmacological target. Naunyn Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol 371:325–333
- 69. Xing H, Ling JX, Chen M et al (2008) TRPM8 mechanism of autonomic nerve response to cold in respiratory airway. Mol Pain 4:1744-8069-4-22
- Yoshihara S, Geppetti P, Hara M et al (1996) Cold air-induced bronchoconstriction is mediated by tachykinin and kinin release in guinea pigs. Eur J Pharmacol 296:291–296
- 71. Carlsen K-H, Carlsen KCL (2002) Exercise-induced asthma. Paediatr Respir Rev 3:154-160
- Sabnis AS, Reilly CA, Veranth JM et al (2008) Increased transcription of cytokine genes in human lung epithelial cells through activation of a TRPM8 variant by cold temperatures. Am J Phys Lung Cell Mol Phys 295:L194–L200
- Sabnis AS, Shadid M, Yost GS et al (2008) Human lung epithelial cells express a functional cold-sensing TRPM8 variant. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 39:466–474
- 74. Lin A-H, Liu M-H, Ko H-KB et al (2017) Inflammatory effects of menthol vs. non-menthol cigarette smoke extract on human lung epithelial cells: a double-hit on TRPM8 by reactive oxygen species and menthol. Front Physiol 8:263
- Lamb JG, Romero EG, Lu Z et al (2017) Activation of human transient receptor potential melastatin-8 (TRPM8) by calcium-rich particulate materials and effects on human lung cells. Mol Pharmacol 92:653–664
- Mukhopadhyay I, Kulkarni A, Khairatkar-Joshi N (2016) Blocking TRPA1 in respiratory disorders: does it hold a promise? Pharmaceuticals 9:70
- 77. Andrè E, Campi B, Materazzi S et al (2008) Cigarette smoke–induced neurogenic inflammation is mediated by α , β -unsaturated aldehydes and the TRPA1 receptor in rodents. J Clin Invest 118:2574–2582
- 78. Grace M, Birrell MA, Dubuis E et al (2012) Transient receptor potential channels mediate the tussive response to prostaglandin E2 and bradykinin. Thorax 67:891
- Takahashi N, Mizuno Y, Kozai D et al (2008) Molecular characterization of TRPA1 channel activation by cysteine-reactive inflammatory mediators. Channels 2:287–298
- Macpherson LJ, Dubin AE, Evans MJ et al (2007) Noxious compounds activate TRPA1 ion channels through covalent modification of cysteines. Nature 445:541–545
- Trevisani M, Siemens J, Materazzi S (2007) 4-Hydroxynonenal, an endogenous aldehyde, causes pain and neurogenic inflammation through activation of the irritant receptor TRPA1. Proc Natl Acad Sci 104:13519
- Birrell MA, Belvisi MG, Grace M et al (2009) TRPA1 agonists evoke coughing in guinea pig and human volunteers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 180:1042–1047
- Bautista DM, Jordt S-E, Nikai T et al (2006) TRPA1 mediates the inflammatory actions of environmental irritants and proalgesic agents. Cell 124:1269–1282
- 84. Facchinetti F, Amadei F, Geppetti P et al (2007) α , β -unsaturated aldehydes in cigarette smoke release inflammatory mediators from human macrophages. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 37:617–623
- 85. Andrè E, Gatti R, Trevisani M et al (2009) Transient receptor potential ankyrin receptor 1 is a novel target for pro-tussive agents. Br J Pharmacol 158:1621–1628
- Lin YS, Hsu C-C, Bien M-Y et al (2010) Activations of TRPA1 and P2X receptors are important in ROS-mediated stimulation of capsaicin-sensitive lung vagal afferents by cigarette smoke in rats. J Appl Physiol 108:1293–1303

- Talavera K, Gees M, Karashima Y et al (2009) Nicotine activates the chemosensory cation channel TRPA1. Nat Neurosci 12:1293–1299
- Shapiro D, Deering-Rice CE, Romero EG et al (2013) Activation of transient receptor potential ankyrin-1 (TRPA1) in lung cells by wood smoke particulate material. Chem Res Toxicol 26:750–758
- Watanabe N, Horie S, Michael GJ et al (2006) Immunohistochemical co-localization of transient receptor potential vanilloid (TRPV)1 and sensory neuropeptides in the guinea-pig respiratory system. Neuroscience 141:1533–1543
- 90. Grace MS, Belvisi MG (2011) TRPA1 receptors in cough. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 24:286-288
- Maher SA, Dubuis ED, Belvisi MG (2011) G-protein coupled receptors regulating cough. Curr Opin Pharmacol 11:248–253
- 92. Agopyan N, Bhatti T, Yu S et al (2003) Vanilloid receptor activation by 2- and 10-μm particles induces responses leading to apoptosis in human airway epithelial cells. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 192:21–35
- Premkumar LS, Ahern GP (2000) Induction of vanilloid receptor channel activity by protein kinase C. Nature 408:985
- 94. De Petrocellis L, Harrison S, Bisogno T et al (2001) The vanilloid receptor (VR1)-mediated effects of anandamide are potently enhanced by the cAMP-dependent protein kinase. J Neurochem 77:1660–1663
- Rohacs T, Thyagarajan B, Lukacs V (2008) Phospholipase C mediated modulation of TRPV1 channels. Mol Neurobiol 37:153
- 96. Hu Y, Gu Q, Lin R-L et al (2010) Calcium transient evoked by TRPV1 activators is enhanced by tumor necrosis factor-α in rat pulmonary sensory neurons. Am J Phys Lung Cell Mol Phys 299:L483–L492
- 97. MacNee W, Rennard SI, Hunt JF et al (2011) Evaluation of exhaled breath condensate pH as a biomarker for COPD. Respir Med 105:1037–1045
- Doherty MJ, Mister R, Pearson MG et al (2000) Capsaicin responsiveness and cough in asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax 55:643
- 99. Zhang G, Lin R-L, Wiggers M et al (2008) Altered expression of TRPV1 and sensitivity to capsaicin in pulmonary myelinated afferents following chronic airway inflammation in the rat. J Physiol 586:5771–5786
- 100. Zhang L, Chang WW, Ding H et al (2011) Transforming growth factor-β1 polymorphisms and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a meta-analysis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 15:1301–1307
- Agopyan N, Head J, Yu S, Simon SA (2004) TRPV1 receptors mediate particulate matterinduced apoptosis. Am J Phys Lung Cell Mol Phys 286:L563–L572
- 102. Reilly CA, Taylor JL, Lanza DL et al (2003) Capsaicinoids cause inflammation and epithelial cell death through activation of vanilloid receptors. Toxicol Sci 73:170–181
- 103. Seki N, Shirasaki H, Kikuchi M et al (2007) Capsaicin induces the production of IL-6 in human upper respiratory epithelial cells. Life Sci 80:1592–1597
- 104. Tsuji F, Murai M, Oki K et al (2010) Effects of SA13353, a transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 agonist, on leukocyte infiltration in lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury and ovalbumin-induced allergic airway inflammation. J Pharmacol Sci 112:487–490
- 105. Birrell MA, Bonvini SJ, Dubuis E et al (2014) Tiotropium modulates transient receptor potential V1 (TRPV1) in airway sensory nerves: a beneficial off-target effect. J Allergy Clin Immunol 133:679–687
- 106. Bateman ED, Rennard S, Barnes PJ et al (2009) Alternative mechanisms for tiotropium. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 22:533–542
- 107. Baxter M, Eltom S, Dekkak B et al (2014) Role of transient receptor potential and pannexin channels in cigarette smoke-triggered ATP release in the lung. Thorax 69:1080–1089
- 108. Yin J, Kuebler WM (2009) Mechanotransduction by TRP channels: general concepts and specific role in the vasculature. Cell Biochem Biophys 56:1–18
- Alvarez DF, King JA, Weber D et al (2006) Transient receptor potential vanilloid 4-mediated disruption of the alveolar septal barrier. Circ Res 99:988–995

- Willette RN, Bao W, Nerurkar S et al (2008) Systemic activation of the transient receptor potential vanilloid subtype 4 channel causes endothelial failure and circulatory collapse: part 2. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 326:443–452
- 111. Watanabe H, Vriens J, Suh SH et al (2002) Heat-evoked activation of TRPV4 channels in a HEK293 cell expression system and in native mouse aorta endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 277:47044–47051
- 112. Strotmann R, Harteneck C, Nunnenmacher K et al (2000) OTRPC4, a nonselective cation channel that confers sensitivity to extracellular osmolarity. Nat Cell Biol 2:695–702
- 113. Liedtke W, Choe Y, Martí-Renom MA et al (2000) Vanilloid receptor-related osmotically activated channel (VR-OAC), a candidate vertebrate osmoreceptor. Cell 103:525–535
- 114. Watanabe H, Vriens J, Prenen J et al (2003) Anandamide and arachidonic acid use epoxyeicosatrienoic acids to activate TRPV4 channels. Nature 424:434
- 115. Mortaz E, Braber S, Nazary M et al (2009) ATP in the pathogenesis of lung emphysema. Eur J Pharmacol 619:92–96
- 116. Jain K, Siddam A, Marathi A et al (2008) The mechanism of oleic acid nitration by NO₂. Free Radic Biol Med 45:269–283
- 117. Andersson DA, Gentry C, Moss S et al (2008) Transient receptor potential A1 is a sensory receptor for multiple products of oxidative stress. J Neurosci 28:2485–2494
- Bessac BF, Jordt S-E (2008) Breathtaking TRP channels: TRPA1 and TRPV1 in airway chemosensation and reflex control. Physiology 23:360–370
- Williams A, Jones JM, Ma L, Pourkashanian M (2012) Pollutants from the combustion of solid biomass fuels. Prog Energy Combust Sci 38:113–137
- Olloquequi J, Valero JG, Rodríguez E et al (2012) Lung CD57+ cell density is increased in very severe COPD. Histol Histopathol 27:39–47
- 121. Robinson RK, Birrell MA, Adcock JJ et al (2018) Mechanistic link between diesel exhaust particles and respiratory reflexes. J Allergy Clin Immunol 141:1074–1084
- 122. Bayram H, Devalia JL, Sapsford RJ et al (1998) The effect of diesel exhaust particles on cell function and release of inflammatory mediators from human bronchial epithelial cells in vitro. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 18:441–448
- 123. Bayram H, Ito K, Issa R et al (2006) Regulation of human lung epithelial cell numbers by diesel exhaust particles. Eur Respir J 27:705–713
- 124. Bonvallot V, Baeza-Squiban A, Baulig A et al (2001) Organic compounds from diesel exhaust particles elicit a proinflammatory response in human airway epithelial cells and induce cytochrome p450 1A1 expression. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 25:515–521
- 125. Daniel EE, O'byrne P (1991) Effect of inflammatory mediators on airway nerves and muscle. Am Rev Respir Dis 143:S3–S5
- 126. Li J, Ghio AJ, Cho S-H et al (2009) Diesel exhaust particles activate the matrix-metalloproteinase-1 gene in human bronchial epithelia in a β-arrestin–dependent manner via activation of RAS. Environ Health Perspect 117:400–409
- 127. Takizawa H, Abe S, Okazaki H et al (2003) Diesel exhaust particles upregulate eotaxin gene expression in human bronchial epithelial cells via nuclear factor-κB-dependent pathway. Am J Phys Lung Cell Mol Phys 284:L1055–L1062
- 128. Takizawa H, Ohtoshi T, Kawasaki S et al (1999) Diesel exhaust particles induce NF- κ B activation in human bronchial epithelial cells in vitro: importance in cytokine transcription. J Immunol 162:4705–4711
- 129. Totlandsdal AI, Cassee FR, Schwarze P et al (2010) Diesel exhaust particles induce CYP1A1 and pro-inflammatory responses via differential pathways in human bronchial epithelial cells. Part Fibre Toxicol 7:41
- 130. Teles AM, Kumagai Y, Brain SD et al (2010) Involvement of sensory nerves and TRPV1 receptors in the rat airway inflammatory response to two environment pollutants: diesel exhaust particles (DEP) and 1,2-naphthoquinone (1,2-NQ). Arch Toxicol 84:109–117
- 131. Bessac BF, Sivula M, von Hehn CA et al (2008) TRPA1 is a major oxidant sensor in murine airway sensory neurons. J Clin Invest 118:1899–1910

- Cvetkov TL, Huynh KW, Cohen MR et al (2011) Molecular architecture and subunit organization of TRPA1 ion channel revealed by electron microscopy. J Biol Chem 286:38168–38176
- 133. Liu T, Ji R-R (2012) Oxidative stress induces itch via activation of transient receptor potential subtype ankyrin 1 in mice. Neurosci Bull 28:145–154
- 134. Hadley SH, Bahia PK, Taylor-Clark TE (2014) Sensory nerve terminal mitochondrial dysfunction induces hyperexcitability in airway nociceptors via protein kinase C. Mol Pharmacol 85:839–848
- 135. Taylor-Clark TE (2015) Oxidative stress as activators of sensory nerves for cough. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 35:94–99
- 136. Li J, Kanju P, Patterson M et al (2011) TRPV4-mediated calcium influx into human bronchial epithelia upon exposure to diesel exhaust particles. Environ Health Perspect 119:784–793
- 137. Givelber RJ, Couropmitree NN, Gottlieb DJ et al (1998) Segregation analysis of pulmonary function among families in the Framingham study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 157:1445–1451
- 138. Sanford AJ, Chagani T, Weir TD et al (2001) Susceptibility genes for rapid decline of lung function in the lung health study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 163:469–473
- Bose P, Bathri R (2012) Association of microsatellite instability and chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder in isocyanate-exposed population of Bhopal. Indian J Hum Genet 18:172–176
- 140. Guo X, Lin H-M, Lin Z et al (2000) Polymorphisms of surfactant protein gene A, B, D, and of SP-B-linked microsatellite markers in COPD of a Mexican population. Chest 117:2498–2508
- 141. Keatings VM, Cave SJ, Henry MJ et al (2000) A polymorphism in the tumor necrosis factor-α gene promoter region may predispose to a poor prognosis in COPD. Chest 118:971–975
- 142. Berndt A, Leme AS, Shapiro SD (2012) Emerging genetics of COPD. EMBO Mol Med 4:1144
- 143. Brode SK, Ling SC, Chapman KR (2012) Alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency: a commonly overlooked cause of lung disease. Can Med Assoc J 184:1365–1371
- 144. Tian W, Fu Y, Garcia-Elias A et al (2009) A loss-of-function nonsynonymous polymorphism in the osmoregulatory TRPV4 gene is associated with human hyponatremia. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106:14034–14039
- 145. Tsushima H, Mori M (2006) Antidipsogenic effects of a TRPV4 agonist, 4α -phorbol 12,13-didecanoate, injected into the cerebroventricle. Am J Phys Regul Integr Comp Phys 290:R1736–R1741
- 146. Belvisi MG, Dubuis E, Birrell MA (2011) Transient receptor potential A1 channels: insights into cough and airway inflammatory disease. Chest 140:1040–1047
- 147. Rami HK, Gunthorpe MJ (2004) The therapeutic potential of TRPV1 (VR1) antagonists: clinical answers await. Drug Discov Today: Ther Strateg 1:97–104
- 148. Bareille P, Murdoch RD, Denyer J et al (2012) The effects of a TRPV1 antagonist, SB-705498, in the treatment of seasonal allergic rhinitis. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther 51:576–584
- Messeguer A, Planells-Cases R, Ferrer-Montiel A (2006) Physiology and pharmacology of the vanilloid receptor. Curr Neuropharmacol 4:1–15
- Vriens J, Appendino G, Nilius B (2009) Pharmacology of vanilloid transient receptor potential cation channels. Mol Pharmacol 75:1262
- 151. Dietrich A, Steinritz D, Gudermann T (2017) Transient receptor potential (TRP) channels as molecular targets in lung toxicology and associated diseases. Cell Calcium 67:123–137
- 152. Zholos AV (2015) TRP channels in respiratory pathophysiology: the role of oxidative, chemical irritant and temperature stimuli. Curr Neuropharmacol 13:279–291



11

Paraquat-Induced Oxidative Stress and Lung Inflammation

Namitosh Tyagi and Rashmi Singh

Abstract

Lung pathogenesis is associated with the oxidative stress which is one of the major causes of the lung damage. Oxidative stress is an important factor (cause) for development of chronic and degenerative diseases including cancer, aging, rheumatoid arthritis, diabetes, cataract, chronic inflammatory diseases, autoimmune disorders, cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases. Emerging evidences suggest that the glutathione redox couple may entail dynamic regulation of protein function by reversible disulfide bond formation on kinases, phosphatases, and transcription factors. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) enhances inflammation through the activation of transcription factors, such as nuclear factor (NF)-κB and activator protein-1 through various kinases (c-Jun-activated kinase, extracellular signal-regulated kinase, and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase). This results in enhanced expression of proinflammatory mediators. Many environmental pollutants play an important role in causing oxidative stress leading to lung damage. In present chapter impact of paraquat, a known herbicide has been discussed in detail for its effects on oxidative stress and lung inflammation causing injury.

Keywords

Oxidative stress · Reactive oxygen species · Inflammation · Lung damage

N. Tyagi · R. Singh (⊠) Department of Zoology, MMV, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi, India

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_11

11.1 Introduction

11.1.1 Oxidative Stress, Free Radicals, and Inflammation

Oxidative stress and inflammation is related to a variety of chronic diseases mainly cardiovascular diseases, neurodegenerative diseases, liver diseases, cancer, and aging. It is an imbalance between the production of free radicals and the body's defense mechanism through antioxidant system. The term free radicals is used to define molecular species which contains one or more unpaired electrons, and therefore, radicals are unstable and highly reactive because they have a tendency to donate or accept an electron from other molecules [1, 2]. Oxygen-derived radicals are collectively known as reactive oxygen species (ROS), and nitrogen-derived radicals are reactive nitrogen species (RNS) that include hydroxyl radical, oxygen singlet, superoxide anion radical, hydrogen peroxide, hypochlorite, nitric oxide, nitrogen dioxide, and peroxynitrite radical [3–5].

Development of chronic and degenerative diseases including cancer, aging, rheumatoid arthritis, diabetes, cataract, chronic inflammatory diseases, autoimmune disorders, and cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases are due to oxidative stress condition [6].

When any harmful stimuli, virus, bacterium, or fungus infects or affects a part of our body, there is a body's response to remove it, and this phenomenon of body's attempt of self-protection is known as inflammation. It is the protective mechanism of body which involves immune cells and blood vessels, redness, hotness, swelling and pain as signs of inflammation [7, 8]. Due to excessive secretion of cytokines and more expression of inflammatory genes, inflammation, a defensive mechanism of the body, turns into lethal process, like generation of acute lung injury (ALI) condition [9, 10]. These reactive oxygen species are produced either internally in the human body by metabolic processes or from externally exposed sources such as environmental pollutants, radiation, certain drugs, industrial chemicals and pesticides [11, 12].

11.1.2 Commonly Used Herbicides Available in India (http:// www.agriinfo.in)

- 2, 4-D (2,4-dichloropnenoxy acetic acid)
- DICAMBA: (3,6-dichloro-2-methoxybenzoic acid)
- SIMAZINE: (2,chloro-4,6-bi(ethylamino)-s-triazine)
- Paraquat (1,1-diethyl-4-bipyridinium ion)
- Diquat (6,7-dihydrodipyrido (1,2:2, I-C) Pyrazinediiumaion)
- Benthiocarb or thiobencarb: (S-(4-chlorobenzyl) N,N-diethyl-thicarbamate)

Environmental toxins include exposure to paraquat (a commonly used herbicide), and chronic ethanol consumption is an established example of lung injury. Here in the present chapter, we are discussing paraquat-induced inflammation and its mechanism in detail.

11.1.3 Paraquat (PQ)

Paraquat (N,N'-dimethyl-4,4'-bipyridinium dichloride) is a quaternary nitrogencontaining compound. Paraquat dichloride, Gramoxone, and methyl viologen are other common trade names of paraquat [13, 14]. Paraquat is the third best-selling pesticide in the world and is used on over 100 crops in more than 120 countries across the world [15]. It is the most widely used herbicide because it is quick-acting, non-selective contact herbicide which acts on the photosystem I of the chloroplast [16]. Paraquat is a broad-spectrum herbicide, and due to its many uses in crops, it has increased the productivity in agriculture. However, this herbicide is highly toxic and has acute toxicity; its use has been restricted in some countries due to health issues. But, it is a cheap and labor-saving herbicide, therefore popular in developing countries [15].

11.1.4 Structure of Paraquat

Chemical formula of PQ is $C_{12}H_{14}N_2$ Cl_2 . The structural formula of PQ is given below (Fig. 11.1):

IUPAC name is 1,1'-Dimethyl-4,4'-bipyridinium dichloride.

11.1.5 Properties of Paraquat (Table 11.1)

11.1.6 PQ Toxicity

PQ is toxic to human beings and animals; in humans, PQ poisoning causes Parkinson's disease (PD) and severe lung damage. Self-poisoning is a major health issue in the developing countries is associated with PQ [17, 18]. Since its introduction in agriculture, thousands of deaths occur yearly due to accidental or intentional ingestion. PQ has been reported to be a major health hazard because it can cause severe lung injury in human and experimental animals. It is a well-characterized pneumotoxicant [19].

PQ affects the lungs, heart, liver, kidneys, cornea, adrenal glands, skin, digestive system, and central nervous system, but lungs, liver, and kidneys are mainly organs from affected PQ toxicity and irreversible lung injury is the most common cause of death from PQ poisoning [20, 21].

Fig. 11.1 Structure of paraquat (wssroc.agron. ntu.edu.tw)


C12 H14 N2 (cation only) C12 H14 N2 Cl2(dichloride salt) (Worthing 1983) 1,1'-Dimethyl-4,4'-bipyridinium dichloride 257.16 g·Mol ⁻¹ Yellow solid (NIOSH pocket guide to chemical hazards) White crystalline solid (pure salt); dark red solution (technical product). Technical product >95% pure (Worthing 1983)
C12 H14 N2 Cl2(dichloride salt) (Worthing 1983) 1,1'-Dimethyl-4,4'-bipyridinium dichloride 257.16 g·Mol ⁻¹ Yellow solid (NIOSH pocket guide to chemical hazards) White crystalline solid (pure salt); dark red solution (technical product). Technical product >95% pure (Worthing 1983)
1,1'-Dimethyl-4,4'-bipyridinium dichloride 257.16 g·Mol ⁻¹ Yellow solid (NIOSH pocket guide to chemical hazards) White crystalline solid (pure salt); dark red solution (technical product). Technical product >95% pure (Worthing 1983)
257.16 g·Mol ⁻¹ Yellow solid (NIOSH pocket guide to chemical hazards) White crystalline solid (pure salt); dark red solution (technical product). Technical product >95% pure (Worthing 1983)
Yellow solid (NIOSH pocket guide to chemical hazards) White crystalline solid (pure salt); dark red solution (technical product). Technical product >95% pure (Worthing 1983)
White crystalline solid (pure salt); dark red solution (technical product). Technical product >95% pure (Worthing 1983)
Faint, ammonia-like (NIOSH pocket guide to chemical hazards)
1.25 g/cm ³
Approximately 300c (pure compound) (Weed Science Society of America
5th ed.)
Salts decompose at high temperatures, charring rather than melting or boiling (Weed Science Society of America 5th ed.)
High
Nonvolatile. Vapor pressure of salts is very low, below 1×10^{-7} mmHg (pure compound) (Weed Science Society of America 5th ed.)
Paraquat dichloride; Methyl viologen dichloride; Crisquat; Dexuron; Esgram; Gramuron; Ortho Paraquat CL; Para-col; Pillarxone; Tota-col; Toxer Total; PP148; Cyclone; Gramixel; Gramoxone; Pathclear; AH 501

Table 11.1 Properties of Paraquat

The PQ toxicity basically depends on its amount, route of exposure and amount. The most frequent routes of PQ exposure to the body are its ingestion, or direct contact with damaged skin, and it can be rapidly absorbed by inhalation [22, 23]. PQ causes damage when it comes in direct contact with the skin; normal (intact) skin is barrier to paraquat absorption, but if the skin is broken or wound is present, its absorption may lead to death in humans [24]. Paraquat ingestion (either intentional or accidental) is the most common cause of death due to paraquat toxicity. PQ is one of the common suicidal ingestions and is the major health problem in developing countries, and after ingestion, PQ can damage the inner layer of the stomach and intestine by inducing burning sensation and irritation, resulting in nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain, and diarrhea [25].

Poisoning by inhalation is the most common route of exposure for people working with paraquat in agriculture [14]. In the case of PQ poisoning, inhalation is not considered too toxic due to its low volatility and the formation of large droplets during spray in field. PQ has not been shown to cause serious systemic toxicity from inhalation because spray droplets are too large to be inhaled into small airways, but these large droplets of paraquat can deposit and may cause local irritation in the upper respiratory tract [15, 26].

11.2 Lungs: Target Organ for Paraquat Toxicity

PQ is extremely toxic, causing multiple organ failure, and its toxicity leads to lung injury. Lungs are main target organs for paraquat-induced toxicity in rats and humans [27]. The most widely accepted reason for lung specific toxicity of paraquat

is its tendency to concentrate in lung tissue than any other organ [28–30]. Many studies have suggested that the higher concentration of paraquat is retained in lungs in comparison to other organs, and its concentration has been found six to ten times more in the lungs than in the plasma [31–33]. Therefore, it is clear that lung specific toxicity by paraquat is associated with its accumulation process [31]. The explanation of more accumulation of PQ in lung cells is that alveolar epithelial cells have higher polyamine uptake system as compared to other organs and PQ uptake into lung cells occur through a polyamine uptake system because it is structurally similar to the diamines and polyamines [34–36]. After paraquat intoxication, lungs are the most affected and severely damaged organ due to its ability to accumulate and retain PQ which is completely independent of its level in plasma, where PQ level decreases with time [30, 37].

11.2.1 PQ: A Potent Inducer of Oxidative Stress and Inflammation

The toxicity of PQ is based on oxido-reduction cycle of PQ which leads to production of superoxide radicals, and these free radicals trigger inflammatory response and oxidative stress in lungs. Several studies have been conducted to determine whether the PQ-induced oxidative stress in humans or animals is related to their toxic effects. Many studies have suggested that paraquat is potent oxidative stress inducer, and its toxicity is linked with the free radical generation [38, 39]. Reactive oxygen species which are produced from redox cycling of paraquat are highly reactive compounds to degrade cellular macromolecules which induce lipid peroxidation and protein and nucleic acid degradation that leads to oxidative stress and finally cell death [40]. PQ-induced ROS generation and cellular and subcellular effects on the splenocytes were studied in albino mice. Oxidative stress and splenomegaly induced by PQ lead to the activation of the pathways responsible for inflammation, immunomodulation, and apoptosis in murine splenocytes [42]. Many experimental studies have confirmed that airway inflammation is characteristic feature of PQ-induced lung injury in which airway obstruction occurs due to infiltration of inflammatory cells [43, 44] (Figs. 11.2 and 11.3).

11.2.2 PQ-Induced Lung Inflammation

Histopathological analysis of lung tissues after PQ intoxication has shown recruitment of many inflammatory cells like neutrophils, macrophages and lymphocytes [44].

Neutrophils being one of the inflammatory cells have significant impact in the lung pathogenesis [45, 46]. Neutrophils and monocytes synthesize and secrete myeloperoxidase (MPO), which is a peroxidase enzyme that contributes to oxidative stress and inflammation by generation of reactive oxygen species [47]. After measuring the MPO activity in lung tissue and BALF, some experimental studies found that PQ intoxication caused influx of neutrophils into the lungs [48, 49]. These recruited neutrophils, after activation, release superoxide (O^{-}) and hydrogen



Fig. 11.2 Redox cycle of paraquat (PQ) [41]

peroxide (H_2O_2) and other toxic oxidant which further cause the parenchymal cell injury [50, 51]. Nowadays, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) is being used as an inflammatory indicator in many diseases [52, 53]. A recent study evaluated the hematological parameters in PQ-poisoned patients and found significantly higher leukocyte, neutrophil counts and increased neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, whereas lower lymphocyte counts were observed in non-survivors as compared to survivors with PO poisoning [54]. Cytokines are a large family of secreted proteins released by numerous cells and act as signaling molecules that mediate and regulate the cells of the immune system, and it is accepted that cytokines are main mediators to induce inflammatory responses [55]. Previous studies confirm that proinflammatory cytokines and inflammatory mediators also play an important role in the PQ-induced lung damage. Free radicals act as inducers of cytokine secretion at the sites of inflammation and stimulate the immune responses [56]. In PQ-induced toxicity, the great amount of ROS is generated, which evokes inflammatory cell recruitment, and after activation these inflammatory cells such as macrophages, neutrophils, and lymphocytes release IL-1 β , TNF- α , and other cytokines. It was reported that the level of proinflammatory cytokines like TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 was induced due to PQ intoxication [44].



Fig. 11.3 The important intermediate species or products (*SOD* superoxide dismutase, *CAT* catalase, *GPx* glutathione peroxidase, *Gred* glutathione reductase, PQ^{2+} paraquat, PQ^+ paraquat monocation free radical) which is involved in in vivo toxicity of PQ. The increased number of these intermediates causes imbalance between oxidant and antioxidant system of body [13]

11.3 Free Radicals-Induced Lipid Peroxidation

It has been reported in a number of in vitro and in vivo studies that paraquat has potential to damage the cell membrane by initiating the process of lipid peroxidation [57–59]. Lipid peroxides act as mediators for paraquat cytotoxicity because cell rupture and impaired cellular functioning occurs due to the peroxidation of membrane lipids [60]. The study conducted by Hara et al. (1991) to determine the mechanism of PQ-stimulated lipid peroxidation in mouse brain and pulmonary microsomes suggested that superoxide and singlet oxygen may be responsible for stimulation of PQ-induced NADPH-dependent microsomal lipid peroxidation in both the brain and lung [61]. Some other studies have also reported that singlet oxygen lead to lipid peroxidation [62, 63]. Low physiological levels of NADPH, due to depletion in redox cycling of PQ and lipid peroxidation, can lead to cell death.

11.4 PQ-Induced Structural Changes in Lungs

Environmental toxins, medications and infection may cause pulmonary fibrosis [64–66]. Pulmonary fibrosis is a chronic respiratory disease associated with irreversible fibroproliferative and wound healing cascades. Various reports have suggested that PQ intoxication leads to pulmonary fibrosis or pulmonary structural remodeling (interstitial lung disease) and is characterized by increased fibroblast mass, their migration, and excessive accumulation of matrix-associated proteins [67–69]. In this process, transition of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts in both the interstitium and the intra-alveolar space of the lungs leads to production and deposition of collagen fibers. Many in vivo and in vitro studies report that the pulmonary toxicity caused by PQ is associated with enhanced matrix metalloproteinase expression [70]. In earlier studies it has been reported that ECM modulation plays a vital role in the pathogenesis of PQ-induced pulmonary fibrosis [71–74].

On the basis of substrate specificity, domain organization and sequence homology, MMPs are classified as collagenases, gelatinases, stromelysins, matrilysins, membrane-bound and others [75]. Ouchi et al. (2008) studied the role of collagenases in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis model, and they found collagenase is strongly associated with fibrosis phase than inflammatory phase [76]. It has been reported that increased activity of MMP-2 and MMP-9 is associated with pulmonary fibrosis. MMP-2 and MMP-9 can cause disruption of the alveolar epithelial basement membrane because it is well known to damage type IV collagen [74, 77].

11.5 PQ-Induced Lung Damage: Acute Lung Injury (ALI)

Acute lung injury (ALI) is an inflammatory response of the lungs due to respiratory failure, a life-threatening condition. It may be caused by many ways.

- **Direct lung injuries** are caused by lung infections, exposure to various pesticides (chemicals) aspiration, transfusion, pulmonary contusion and pneumonia that directly affect the lungs [78, 79]
- An indirect lung injury is caused by different condition elsewhere in the body. These include: sepsis, trauma, severe bleeding, fractures, pancreatitis, burns and a car accident etc. [80, 81]. An initial inflammatory phase is followed by disruption of both lung endothelial and alveolar epithelial cells which is followed by the destruction of epithelial basement membranes leading to severe fibrotic phase [82]

PQ induces lung injury in two phases:

- (A) Early destructive phase: Early phase of ALI characterized by pulmonary edema, alveolitis and infiltration of inflammatory cells. There are many studies which proved through histopathological analysis that PQ intoxication caused alveolar damage with infiltration of inflammatory cells [49]. Mainly neutrophils play a critical role in the pathogenesis of PQ-induced ALI. After activation, neutrophils release certain proinflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF), interleukin-1 (IL1), IL6, and IL8 and some harmful mediators like reactive oxygen species (ROS) and matrix metalloproteinases, which caused further damage [83]. Through the generation of reactive oxygen species, PQ intoxication causes oxidative damage to the cells.
- (B) Proliferative phase/fibrotic phase: The vascular injury in acute phase is followed by fibroproliferative phase and leads to severe fibrosis phase, which evolves from early destructive phase approximately after 1–2 weeks approximately. Pulmonary fibrosis is an interstitial lung disease; during fibroproliferation, the degraded epithelial cells are replaced by myofibroblasts and fibrotic phase characterized by proliferation of fibroblasts, migration, and excessive accumulation of extracellular matrix proteins and collagen deposition resulting in airway remodeling due to PQ intoxication [67–69, 71, 72]. PQ exposure induces an alveolitis comprised of neutrophils and macrophages that play a role in the development of fibrosis. Activated alveolar macrophages release a chemotactic factor for neutrophil recruitment and also play a role in the recruitment and replication of fibroblasts by releasing fibronectin and a growth factor for fibroblasts [84].

It has been proved by many experimental studies that interstitial and intraalveolar fibrosis is characteristic findings in PQ-induced structural remodeling of the lungs. PQ intoxication shows similar symptoms like pulmonary fibrosis (interstitial lung disease), i.e., fibroblast proliferation, migration, and excessive accumulation of extracellular matrix proteins [85, 86]. Interstitial fibrosis is characterized by thickening in the alveolar septa, whereas in intra-alveolar fibrosis, activated fibroblast migrates through the gaps of epithelial basement membrane to alveolar lumen and collapsed alveoli which undergo fusion [72, 87, 88]. The extracellular matrix also plays an important role in regulating cellular growth and migration of



Fig. 11.4 Structure of alveolus with alveolar type I and II cells; (**a**) (http://ib.bioninja.com.au) (**b**) (https://embryology.med.unsw.edu.au)

cells during lung development, and it provides mechanical support to the epithelial cells [71, 89]. As reports suggest, higher molecular weight proteins mainly ECM like fibrous collagen and elastin are secreted by fibroblasts [89, 90]. Collagens with type I and type III are the most abundant components of matrix, and some experimental studies have demonstrated excessive deposition of type I and III collagens in lung fibrosis [91]. In PQ-induced toxicity, recruitment of inflammatory cells and excessive secretion of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-1 β initiate the inflammatory cascade [92, 93] which further caused the structural changes in lungs. Transforming growth factor (TGF-\u00b31) is a profibrotic cytokine responsible for the fibroblast proliferation, migration and gene expression of collagen in fibrosis phase [94, 95]. Many experimental studies have suggested that TGF- β is a strong stimulus for the induction of pulmonary fibrosis by PQ [49, 67– 96]. Many evidences suggest that matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs, a family of zinc-dependent endopeptidases) have a critical role in ECM disruption and remodeling in lung injury [75]. MMPs play a major role by acting on chemokines, cytokines, growth factors, and cell surface proteins in airway inflammation [73, 97]. Reports also suggest that MMP-2 and MMP-9 are being related to pulmonary fibrosis because of their well-known ability to promote the degradation of type IV collagen [98, 99]. Studies have also shown that in ALI, proliferation phase begins much earlier than reported which contradicts the finding where fibrotic phase begins after 2 weeks of PQ intake [100]. Therefore, on the basis of above findings, we tested the hypothesis that a single toxic dose of PQ could activate the fibroproliferation after 48 h of PQ exposure (Fig. 11.4).

11.6 PQ-Induced Toxicity and Signaling Pathway

Many evidences have suggested that PQ act as a stimuli to activate a number of intracellular signaling cascades that are associated and responsible for its toxicity in cells, for example, PQ activates protein kinase B and the members of the

mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) family, NF-κB, and increased ROS [82, 101, 102]. Several studies have shown that PQ is a potent inducer of reactive oxygen species, which plays a primary role in PQ-induced lung damage. More ROS production causes disruptions in cell and tissue function by inducing oxidative stress condition, protein, and DNA damage. Other than ROS-induced pathology, inflammation is the second factor which is responsible for PQ poisoning and disease pathogenesis. ROS act as intrinsic signal transduction molecules in the pathogenesis of PQ-induced toxicity. It is a well-known fact that ROS act as a second messenger and are involved in many signaling pathways such as NF-kB and MAPK pathway [103–107]. The role of MAPK signaling has been already studied in the pathogenesis of various human diseases including respiratory diseases [108, 109].

It is well known that paraquat toxicity is mediated via oxidative stress and the members of MAPK family activate the stress condition. After PQ exposure, the activation of ERK1/2 and JNK1/2 generates more oxidative stress condition. Some experimental studies have shown that by using selective inhibitor (SP 600125) of JNK1/2 pathway, PQ-induced cell death was significantly reduced [110]. Several evidences suggest that PQ stimulates the expression of p-38 MAPK, which act as mediator to regulate inflammation and apoptosis. Many studies have demonstrated that the activation of p-38 MAPK pathway is associated with over expression of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-1 β [111, 112].

Prostaglandins are naturally occurring compounds derived from arachidonic acid by the action of cyclooxygenase (COX) isoenzymes, and these prostaglandins are involved in various homeostatic and inflammatory processes [113]. Cyclooxygenase exists in two isoforms known as COX-1 and COX-2 where COX-1 is constitutively expressed in most tissues and COX-2 is an inducible isoform which is mainly responsible for prostaglandin formation in inflammation, and its expression was upregulated by different types of inflammation stimulus such as cytokines, mitogen, and growth factors [113]. It has been already reported that PQ intoxication increased COX-2 expression in lungs, liver and kidneys in rats [114]. Some recent studies have linked the biosynthetic pathway of prostaglandins with the activation of MAPK signaling pathway [115]. The study conducted by Pei et al. (2014) suggested that p38 MAPK signaling cascades play a vital role in regulating the IL-1 β and TNF- α proinflammatory cytokine production in PQ-induced lung injury [116].

Nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) is considered as a major transcription factor for regulating inflammation, lung injury and repair process. It is activated during oxidative stress condition by ROS and proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin 1 (IL-1) and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α). I κ B (nuclear factor of kappa light polypeptide gene enhancer in B cells) is a cellular protein that keeps NF- κ B in an inactive state in the cytoplasm and blocks its nuclear localization signals, but after degradation of I κ B, activated NF- κ B is translocated to the nucleus where they bind to the promoters of target genes to enhance gene expression and amplification of proinflammatory genes including cytokines, chemokines, and adhesion molecules [117, 118].

It is well known that NF- κ B have major induction of the expression of proinflammatory gene, but some studies have suggested its anti-inflammatory role to regulate inflammatory resolution [119]. The activation of transcription factor (NF- κ B) is important in the regulation of various cellular processes including proliferation, inflammation, also control angiogenesis and many other biological processes. The role of NF- κ B in lung development and diseases was described earlier [120]. Transcription factor, NF- κ B, is associated with the pulmonary diseases such as acute lung injury, cystic fibrosis, asthma, and severe sepsis, and extensively studied evidences suggest that activation of NF- κ B signaling plays an important role in the pathogenesis of PQ-induced toxicity [109–111].

11.6.1 Treatment Strategy for PQ Toxicity

The major cause of high mortality rate in case of PQ poisoning is lack of antidote (antagonists) against PQ toxicity. Although there is no effective therapy for PQ intoxication, antioxidants and anti-inflammatory drugs are the drug of choice in clinical treatment regimen for PQ-intoxicated patients.

Bipyridylium herbicides, like PQ, tightly bind to the clay minerals and are easily absorbed by soil [85]. On the basis of above ability, it also has shown strong binding with montmorillonite [121]. Fuller's Earth is a calcium montmorillonite, and till now, it is one of the most common treatments for PQ toxicity. In various studies, it has been investigated the potential of fuller's Earth for treatment of PQ poisoning [121–124].

Clinicians have tried a number of treatments such as antioxidants (vitamin C or E), nitrous oxide, N-acetylcysteine, desferroxamine, some corticosteroids and cytotoxic agents [125–128]. Unfortunately, none of them helped to reduce the mortality rate due to paraquat poisoning. Generally, corticosteroids and immunosuppressive drugs are used to treat PQ-induced lung injury [129]. According to a preliminary report of Lin jl et al. (1996), cyclophosphamide and methylprednisolone by inhibiting the inflammation and fibrosis may prove useful to severe paraquat poisoning. In many cases, hemodialysis (HD) and hemoperfusion (HP) are part of the treatment for PQ poisoning, but the conclusion of some clinical studies is that HD/HP was effective to remove PQ from plasma but was ineffective in reducing paraquat lung exposure [130]. Hence, the overall outcome of these treatment methods and immunosuppressive therapies are not well effective for PQ-poisoned patients. There is urgent need of suitable antidote to treat PQ-poisoned patients with no side effects. It is clear that PQ toxicity is due to generation of reactive oxygen species which further initiates inflammatory cascades. So, the treatment strategy against PQ-induced toxicity should be to select a molecule with anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties. The human body has a defense system to prevent oxidative stress by producing antioxidants. Antioxidant is the basic defense mechanism to inhibit oxidative damage in the human body. These antioxidants have free radical scavenging property because antioxidants are molecules which neutralize the free radicals by donating an electron to it. A number of studies suggested the role of antioxidant in case of paraquat toxicity [125, 131]. The body makes some of the antioxidant enzymes such as catalase, superoxide dismutase (SOD), and glutathione and the other principle antioxidants including vitamin A, E, C, and B carotene found in the diet. It has been reported that deficiency of vitamin C and E is directly associated with the development of acute paraquat toxicity [132–135].

11.7 Herbal Drugs

The relationship between plants and man is associated from the very beginning of human existence, and it can be said that plants play a central role in the development of human civilization around the whole world. Plant-based products have been used for centuries for various purposes. The ancient medicine system of India known as "Ayurveda" uses mainly natural plant products and its formulations to treat various human diseases. Many of these natural plant products are secondary metabolites produced by higher plants, used as a drug against infections and diseases because these products have many pharmacological or biological activities [137–140].

11.7.1 Curcumin: As an Antioxidant and Anti-Inflammatory Molecule

About two centuries ago, Curcumin was discovered by Vogel and Pelletier from the rhizomes of *Curcuma longa (turmeric)*. Curcumin (diferuloylmethane) is a low molecular weight phenolic compound and a major component of the golden spice *turmeric* (*Curcuma longa*). Curcumin, a yellow pigment, is mainly attributed to the medicinal properties of the turmeric which contains 2–5% curcumin [138]. Curcumin being an immunomodulatory agent with antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties may prove to be an effective treatment strategy for PQ-induced airway inflammation, oxidative stress, and structural changes in lungs.

11.7.2 Properties of Curcumin

Curcumin (diferuloylmethane) is (1E,6E)-1,7-bis (4-hydroxy- 3-methoxyphenyl) -1,6- heptadiene-3,5-dione. It is a polyphenolic and lipophilic molecule which is soluble in ethanol, DMSO, methanol, and acetone and insoluble in water and ether. Its molecular formula is $C_{21}H_{20}O_6$, and its molecular weight is 368.38 g/mol (Fig. 11.5). It has low aqueous solubility at both acidic and neutral pH but soluble at alkaline pH. Curcumin exhibits keto-enol tautomerism that has a predominant keto form in acidic and neutral solutions and a stable enol form in alkaline solution [141, 142].



Fig. 11.5 Molecular structure of curcumin. This scheme shows the keto and enol forms of curcumin which exist in two tautomeric forms in solution (Moussawi and Patra 2016)

Majority of the studies suggested that curcumin is a potent scavenger of reactive oxygen species including hydroxyl radicals, superoxide anion radicals, and nitrogen dioxide radicals [143]. Due to the ability of curcumin to scavenge hydrogen peroxide and other free radicals, it may be used in free radical-related disease therapies. There are many evidences that curcumin has the ability to modulate the immune system and disrupt the proinflammatory cascade through a variety of mechanisms, including antioxidant effects and alterations in cell signaling pathways [144]. There are overwhelming reports from both in vitro and in vivo studies which have identified the therapeutic potential of curcumin and characterized it as a potent "drug" for treatment of diseases of diverse nature. As an alternative route of drug delivery, Intranasal administration (i.n) has a long tradition. As described earlier, intranasal drug administration has been highly investigated by the scientific community.

The drug administration by nasal route has more potential for medical purposes because mucosal surface of nasal cavity is well supplied by blood vessels which ensures rapid drug absorption [145, 146]. Curcumin administration by intranasal route avoids the first pass metabolism which is major problem of its administration via oral route. Two separate studies done in our laboratory revealed that curcumin administration via nasal route is effective against airway inflammation and in chronic asthma as it directly targets the lungs [147, 148].

Curcumin inhibits lipid peroxidation, which is one of the major reasons of PQ-induced lung injury [149]. So being an antioxidant, curcumin administration prior to PQ intoxication may attenuate the PQ toxicity. Our results demonstrated that PQ-induced intracellular ROS production and cellular inflammation were significantly suppressed by intranasal curcumin (5 mg/kg) pretreatment. We found that total inflammatory cell count (mainly neutrophils and lymphocytes) was significantly increased after 48 h of PQ exposure, whereas pretreatment with both curcumin and dexamethasone has significantly reduced infiltration of inflammatory cells [150]. These results are also consistent with histological analysis of mice lungs which revealed suppressed lung injury after curcumin pretreatment by inhibiting inflammatory cell infiltration to the lungs (Figs. 11.6 and 11.7).

Cytokines being signaling molecules are thought to play a critical role in pathogenesis of ALI. In our study where animal model of ALI is induced by PQ, we suggested that TNF- α plays a critical role in PQ-induced lung toxicity (Fig. 11.8). We found that after 48 h of PQ intoxication, TNF- α level was significantly increased as compared to control whereas curcumin pretreatment has significantly ameliorated its level [150].

Therefore, the balance of oxidant-antioxidant defense mechanism is vital for the treatment of ALI. It has been reported that polyunsaturated fatty acids undergo lipid peroxidation in presence of superoxide after PQ intoxication, and curcumin is known to inhibit lipid peroxidation [149]. Our results have also demonstrated significant increase in MDA content and decrease in SOD and catalase activities which is consistent with the previous findings (Fig. 11.9) [150–152].



Fig. 11.6 Effect of curcumin on intracellular ROS level; intracellular ROS level was increased by PQ intoxication correlated with increased no. of inflammatory cell recruitment which was significantly decreased by curcumin pretreatment; total inflammatory cell count by trypan blue assay. PQ intoxication resulted in an increased total cell count than normal and significant reduction in curcumin pretreatment group; differential cell count in BALF. Results are shown as means \pm SEM (*p < 0.05) compared to normal group

11.7.3 Immunomodulatory Potential

Inflammation is an uncontrolled condition of activated immune responses, and many reports have suggested that curcumin plays a vital role in the modulation of immune responses. The study conducted by **Srivastava et al. (2011)** [144] described the effectiveness and regulation of immune responses by curcumin in various diseases. In pathological conditions, curcumin have potential to affect both innate and adaptive immunity, and its anti-inflammatory action plays a vital role in the treatment of immunological disorders.



Fig. 11.7 (a) Effects of curcumin on PQ-induced structural changes in lungs. Histopathology of hematoxylin- and eosin-stained lung sections (magnification ×400); (b) myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity in lungs, which was significantly increased in PQ in comparison to control and curcumintreated groups. The results are shown as means \pm SEM (*p < 0.05) compared with normal group; (#p < 0.05) compared with PQ group



Strong evidences support potential of curcumin to modulate the function of neutrophils, macrophages, monocytes, B cells, T cells, and dendritic cells (DCs) [153– 155]. Several studies have evaluated that curcumin inhibits the neutrophil-mediated inflammatory response by affecting its activation or infiltration [156]. An independent study [157] suggests that curcumin (40–60 mg/kg) through oral route suppressed the LPS-mediated neutrophil infiltration in the liver, and they also have shown that the reduction of neutrophil infiltration was correlated with altered levels of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, a type of adhesion molecules. In another report [158], the impacts of curcumin on activated neutrophils both in vitro and in experimental arthritis were investigated, and they found that curcumin decreased activity of neutrophils by inhibiting the protein kinase C.

Curcumin (10 or 20 mg/kg, BW) administration through intraperitoneal route has suppressed recruitment of eosinophils and other inflammatory cells and decreased the level of IL-4 and IL-5 in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid along with expression of iNOS in lungs in a murine model of ovalbumin-induced asthma [159]. An independent study has also shown that curcumin can inhibit IgE-mediated allergic response and the degranulation of mast cells along with inhibiting secretion of IL-4 and TNF- α [160]. An in vitro study has reported that curcumin (10 μ M) inhibits immunoglobulin production from rat spleen lymphocytes [161]. An independent study has suggested that curcumin inhibits mitogen-induced lymphocyte proliferation at two different concentrations (0.01 and 0.05 μ g/ml) [162], and another study reported reduced proliferation of rat thymocytes by curcumin after Con-A induction [163]. Some in vivo studies conducted in a mice model to check the immunomodulatory effects of curcumin revealed that curcumin can increase CD8+ T cells and NK cell populations [164, 165]. Cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) with CD8 marker play a protective role against viral-infected tumor cells; it has been found that curcumin exhibits antitumor activity by increasing the number of CD8⁺ T cells and CD4⁺ T cells in tumor-bearing animal models [166]. Therapeutic effects of curcumin were studied in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) patients, where a number of CD4⁺, CD8⁺, and NK cells were enhanced and absolute lymphocyte counts (ALC) were reduced [172].



Fig. 11.9 Effects of curcumin in PQ-induced oxidative stress in mice; (**a**) malonaldehyde (MDA) level was significantly increased in PQ group in comparison to control and curcumin-treated groups; (**b**) catalase activity was significantly reduced in PQ group as compared to control and curcumin groups; (**c**) SOD activity was significantly reduced in PQ group in comparison to curcumin-treated group. The results are shown in means \pm SEM (*p < 0.05) compared with normal group; (#p < 0.05) compared with PQ group

11.8 Conclusion

Airway inflammation, pulmonary hyperpermeability and oxidative stress due to production of ROS are major characteristics of acute lung injury and damage. So an ideal mouse model of PO-induced lung injury was developed to replicate these hallmarks of acute lung injury. After 48 h of intraperitoneal administration of PO, mice were used to study inflammatory responses and oxidative stress leading to lung damage. Number of studies have suggested molecular mechanism of PO toxicity based on production of superoxide anion and other oxygen free radicals. Numerous evidences suggest the roles of ROS as regulators of cell function and as a second messenger in intracellular signaling cascades. PQ intoxication increased the concentration of MDA, which suggests that this toxic dose of PQ induces lipid peroxidation. We also observed elevated level of nitric oxide (NO) after PO intoxication which was consistent with earlier reports, where NO was shown to play a crucial role in PO-induced lung damage. More infiltration of inflammatory cells leads to increase in alveolar and vascular capillary permeability, and we also have observed enhanced BALF protein concentration as an indicator of increased pulmonary permeability.

Intranasal curcumin has shown better efficacy over glucocorticoid (dexamethasone) as it may directly target lungs and proved much better than intraperitoneal route. Based on these evidences, we may conclude that intranasal curcumin by inhibiting the oxidative stress, infiltration of inflammatory cells, and secretion of inflammatory cytokines could inhibit PQ-induced acute lung injury.

Acknowledgments Authors are thankful to University Grants Commission and Science and Engineering Research Board (SERB)-Department of Science and Technology (DST), New Delhi, India, in part for financial assistance.

References

- 1. Lobo V, Patil A, Phatak A, Chandra N (2010) Free radicals, antioxidants and functional foods: impact on human health. Pharmacogn Rev 4(8):118
- Cheeseman KH, Slater TF (1993) An introduction to free radicals chemistry. Br Med Bull 49(3):481–493
- Irshad M, Chaudhuri PS (2002) Oxidant-antioxidant system: role and significance in human body. Indian J Exp Biol 40:1233–1239
- 4. Evans P, Halliwell B (1999) Free radicals and hearing: cause, consequence, and criteria. Ann N Y Acad Sci 884(1):19–40
- 5. Mc Cord JM (2000) The evolution of free radicals and oxidative stress. Am J Med 108(8):652–659
- Rao AL, Bharani M, Pallavi V (2006) Role of antioxidants and free radicals in health and disease. Adv Pharmacol Toxicol 7(1):29–38

- 7. Medzhitov R (2008) Origin and physiological roles of inflammation. Nature 454(7203):428–435
- 8. Barton GM (2008) A calculated response: control of inflammation by the innate immune system. J Clin Invest 118(2):413
- Bhatia M, Zemans RL, Jeyaseelan S (2012) Role of chemokines in the pathogenesis of acute lung injury. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 46(5):566–572
- Manicone AM (2009) Role of the pulmonary epithelium and inflammatory signals in acute lung injury. Expert Rev Clin Immunol 5(1):63–75
- Bagchi K, Puri S (1998) Free radicals and antioxidants in health and disease. East Mediterr Health J 4:350–360
- 12. Ebadi M (2001) Antioxidants and free radicals in health and disease: an introduction to reactive oxygen species, oxidative injury, neuronal cell death and therapy in neurodegenerative diseases. Prominent Press, Arizona
- Dinis-Oliveira RJ, Duarte JA, Sanchez-Navarro A, Remiao F, Bastos ML, Carvalho F (2008) Paraquat poisonings: mechanisms of lung toxicity, clinical features, and treatment. Crit Rev Toxicol 38(1):13–71
- Tsai WT (2013) A review on environmental exposure and health risks of herbicide paraquat. Toxicol Environ Chem 95(2):197–206
- Wesseling C, De Joode BVW, Ruepert C, León C, Monge P, Hermosillo H, Partanen LJ (2001) Paraquat in developing countries. Int J Occup Environ Health 7(4):275–286
- 16. Summers LA (1980) The bipyridinium herbicides. Academic, London
- 17. Wagner SL (1981) Clinical toxicology of agricultural chemicals. Environ Health Sci 309
- Eddleston M (2000) Patterns and problems of deliberate self-poisoning in the developing world. Q J Med 93(11):715–731
- Brooks RE (1971) Ultrastructure of lung lesions produced by ingested chemicals. I. Effect of the herbicide paraquat on mouse lung. Lab Invest 25(6):536–545
- Sandhu JS, Dhiman A, Mahajan R, Sandhu P (2003) Outcome of paraquat poisoning. A fiveyear study. Indian J Nephrol 13:64–68
- Mohammadi-Karakani A, Ghazi-Khansari M, Sotoudeh M (2006) Lisinopril ameliorates paraquat-induced lung fibrosis. Clin Chim Acta 367(1):170–174
- 22. Muthukumaran K, Laframboise AJ, Pandey S (2011) In: Hasaneen MNAE-G (ed) Herbicides and the risk of neurodegenerative disease. INTECH, Maastricht, p 153
- Delirrad M, Majidi M, Boushehri B (2015) Clinical features and prognosis of paraquat poisoning: a review of 41 cases. Int J Clin Exp Med 8(5):8122
- 24. Kemi (2006) Paraquat. Annex: notification of final regulatory action on paraquat, Sweden. Rotterdam Convention on the Prior Informed Consent Procedure for Certain Hazardous Chemicals and Pesticides in International Trade, Chemical Review Committee, Fifth meeting, Rome, 23–27 March, 2009. UNEP/FAO/RC/CRC.5/8
- 25. Sittipunt C (2005) Paraquat poisoning. Respir Care 50:383–385
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (1997) Registration Eligibility Decision (RED), office of prevention, pesticides and toxic substances, EPA 738-F-96-018: paraquat dichloride. US EPA, Washington, DC
- Zerin T, Kim YS, Hong SY, Song HY (2012) Protective effect of methylprednisolone on paraquat-induced A549 cell cytotoxicity via induction of efflux transporter, P-glycoprotein expression. Toxicol Lett 208(2):101–107
- Rose HS, Smith LL (1977a) The relevance of paraquat accumulation by tissues. In: Biochemical mechanisms of paraquat toxicity. Academic, New York, pp 71–79
- 29. Rose MS, Smith LL (1977b) Tissue uptake of paraquat and diquat. Gen Pharmacol 8(3):173–176
- Sharp CW, Ottolenghi A, Poaner HS (1972) Correlation of paraquat toxicity with tissue concentrations and weight loss of the rat. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 22(2):241–251
- Rose MS, Lock EA, Smith LL, Wyatt I (1976) Paraquat accumulation. Tissue and species specificity. Biochem Pharmacol 25(4):419–423

- Smith P, Heath D, Kay JM (1974) The pathogenesis and structure of paraquat-induced pulmonary fibrosis in rats. J Pathol 114(2):57–67
- 33. Litchfield MH, Daniel JW, Longshaw S (1973) The tissue distribution of the bipyridilium herbicides diquat and paraquat in rats and mice. Toxicology 1(2):155–165
- Smith LL, Lewis CP, Wyatt I, Cohen GM (1990) The importance of epithelial uptake systems in lung toxicity. Environ Health Perspect 85:25–30
- Hoet PH, Nemery B (2000) Polyamines in the lung: polyamine uptake and polyamine-linked pathological or toxicological conditions. Am J Phys Lung Cell Mol Phys 278(3):417–433
- 36. Gordonsmith RH, Brooke-Taylor S, Smith LL, Cohen GM (1983) Structural requirements of compounds to inhibit pulmonary diamine accumulation. Biochem Pharmacol 32(24):3701–3709
- 37. Dunbar JR (1987) Lung paraquat content and effects on the lung glutathione antioxidant system, NADPH, and polyamines resulting from intravenous coinfusion of paraquat and putrescine to rats
- Ranjbar A, Pasalar P, Sedighi A, Abdollahi M (2002) Induction of oxidative stress in paraquat formulating workers. Toxicol Lett 131(3):191–194
- Yumino K (2002) Paraquat- and diquat-induced oxygen radical generation and lipid peroxidation in rat brain microsomes. J Biochem 131(4):565–570
- Bus JS, Aust SD, Gibson JE (1974) Superoxide-and singlet oxygen-catalyzed lipid peroxidation as a possible mechanism for paraquat (methyl viologen) toxicity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 58(3):749–755
- Blanco-Ayala T, Andérica-Romero AC, Pedraza-Chaverri J (2014) New insights into antioxidant strategies against paraquat toxicity. Free Radic Res 48(6):623–640
- 42. Sengupta A, Manna K, Datta S, Das U, Biswas S, Chakrabarti N, Dey S (2017) Herbicide exposure induces apoptosis, inflammation, immune modulation and suppression of cell survival mechanism in murine model. RSC Adv 7(23):13957–13970
- 43. Toygar M, Aydin I, Agilli M, Aydin FN, Oztosun M, Gul H, Macit E, Karslioglu Y, Topal T, Uysal B, Honca M (2015) The relation between oxidative stress, inflammation, and neopterin in the paraquat-induced lung toxicity. Hum Exp Toxicol 34(2):198–204
- Amirshahrokhi K (2013) Anti-inflammatory effect of thalidomide in paraquat-induced pulmonary injury in mice. Int Immunopharmacol 17(2):210–215
- Windsor ACJ, Mullen PG, Fowler AA, Sugerman HJ (1993) Role of the neutrophil in adult respiratory distress syndrome. Br J Surg 80(1):10–17
- 46. Martin WJ (1984) Neutrophils kill pulmonary endothelial cells by a hydrogen-peroxidedependent pathway: an in vitro model of neutrophil-mediated lung injury. Am Rev Respir Dis 130(2):209–213
- 47. Amirshahrokhi K, Bohlooli S, Chinifroush MM (2011) The effect of methylsulfonylmethane on the experimental colitis in the rat. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 253(3):197–202
- Martin WJ, Howard DM (1986) Paraquat-induced neutrophil alveolitis: reduction of the inflammatory response by pretreatment with endotoxin and hyperoxia. Lung 164(1):107–120
- Tian ZG, Ji Y, Yan WJ, Xu CY, Kong QY, Han F, Zhao Y, Pang QF (2013) Methylene blue protects against paraquat-induced acute lung injury in rats. Int Immunopharmacol 17(2):309–313
- Sacks T, Moldow CF, Craddock PR, Bowers TK, Jacob HS (1978) Oxygen radicals mediate endothelial cell damage by complement-stimulated granulocytes. An in vitro model of immune vascular damage. J Clin Invest 61(5):1161
- Weiss SJ, Young J, LoBuglio AF, Slivka AD, Nimeh NF (1981) Role of hydrogen peroxide in neutrophil-mediated destruction of cultured endothelial cells. J Clin Investig 68(3):714
- 52. Zahorec R (2001) Ratio of neutrophil to lymphocyte counts-rapid and simple parameter of systemic inflammation and stress in critically ill. Bratisl Lek Listy 102(1):5–14
- 53. Templeton AJ, McNamara MG, Šeruga B, Vera-Badillo FE, Aneja P, Ocaña A, Leibowitz-Amit R et al (2014) Prognostic role of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in solid tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst 106(6):124
- 54. Zhou DC, Zhang H, Luo ZM, Zhu QX, Zhou CF (2016) Prognostic value of hematological parameters in patients with paraquat poisoning. Sci Rep 6:36235

- 55. Zhang JM, An J (2007) Cytokines, inflammation and pain. Int Anesthesiol Clin 45(2):27
- Closa D, Folch-Puy E (2004) Oxygen free radicals and the systemic inflammatory response. IUBMB Life 56(4):185–191
- 57. Situnayake RD, Crump BJ, Thurnham DI, Davies JA, Davis M (1987) Evidence for lipid peroxidation in man following paraquat ingestion. Hum Toxicol 6(1):94–98
- Watanabe N, Shiki Y, Morisaki N, Saito Y, Yoshida S (1986) Cytotoxic effects of paraquat and inhibition of them by vitamin E. Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj 883(3):420–425
- STY Y, Guo HR, Su YS, Lin HJ, Hou CC, Chen HM, Wang YJ (2006) Protective effects of N-acetylcysteine treatment post acute paraquat intoxication in rats and in human lung epithelial cells. Toxicology 223(3):181–190
- Fukushima T, Tanaka K, Heejin LI, Moriyama M (2002) Mechanism of cytotoxicity of paraquat. Environ Health Prev Med 7(3):89–94
- Hara S, Endo T, Kuriiwa F, Kano S (1991) Mechanism of paraquat-stimulated lipid peroxidation in mouse brain and pulmonary microsomes. J Pharm Pharmacol 43(10):731–733
- 62. Terao J, Matsushita S (1977) Products formed by photosensitized oxidation of unsaturated fatty acid esters. J Am Oil Chem Soc 54(6):234–239
- Kellogg EW 3rd, Fridovich I (1975) Superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, and singlet oxygen in lipid peroxidation by a xanthine oxidase system. J Biol Chem 250(22):8812–8817
- Raghu G, Weycker D, Edelsberg J, Bradford WZ, Oster G (2006) Incidence and prevalence of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 174(7):810–816
- Martinez FJ, Safrin W, Weycker D, Starko KM, Bradford WZ, King TE (2005) The clinical course of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Ann Intern Med 142(12):963–967
- Charles H, Brown MS (2015) Pharm, RPh, CACPA review of pulmonary fibrosis. US Pharm 40(7):12–16
- Chen CM, Chou HC, Hsu HH, Wang LF (2005) Transforming growth factor-β1 upregulation is independent of angiotensin in paraquat-induced lung fibrosis. Toxicology 216(2):181–187
- 68. Vijeyaratnam GS, Corrin B (1971) Experimental paraquat poisoning: a histo-logical and electron-optical study of the changes in the lung. J Pathol 103:123–129
- 69. Fukuda Y, Ferrans VJ, Schoenberger CI, Rennard S, Crystal RG (1985) Patterns of pulmonary structural remodeling after experimental paraquat toxicity. The morphogenesis of intraalveolar fibrosis. Am J Pathol 118:452
- Lang YD, Chang SF, Wang LF, Chen CM (2010) Chymase mediates paraquat-induced collagen production in human lung fibroblasts. Toxicol Lett 193(1):19–25
- Xu XL, Wang W, Song ZJ, Ding H, Duan XH, Meng HC, Chong J (2011) Imaging in detecting sites of pulmonary fibrosis induced by paraquat. World J Emerg Med 2(1):45
- Rocco PR, Negri EM, Kurtz PM, Vasconcellos FP, SILVA GH, Capelozzi VL, Zin WA (2001) Lung tissue mechanics and extracellular matrix remodeling in acute lung injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164(6):1067–1071
- Pardo A, Selman M (2012) Role of matrix metaloproteases in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair 5(1):S9
- 74. Corbel M, Belleguic C, Boichot E, Lagente V (2002) Involvement of gelatinases (MMP-2 and MMP-9) in the development of airway inflammation and pulmonary fibrosis. Cell Biol Toxicol 18(1):51–61
- Davey A, McAuley DF, O'Kane CM (2011) Matrix metalloproteinases in acute lung injury: mediators of injury and drivers of repair. Eur Respir J 38:959–970
- 76. Ouchi H, Fujita M, Ikegame S, Ye Q, Inoshima I, Harada E, Kuwano K, Nakanishi Y (2008) The role of collagenases in experimental pulmonary fibrosis. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 21(2):401–408
- Kim JY, Choeng HC, Ahn C, Cho SH (2009) Early and late changes of MMP-2 and MMP-9 in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Yonsei Med J 50(1):68–77
- Bernard GR, Artigas A, Brigham KL, Carlet J, Falke K, Hudson L, Lamy M, Legall JR, Morris A, Spragg R (1994) The American-European consensus conference on ARDS. Definitions, mechanisms, relevant outcomes, and clinical trial coordination. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 149(3):818–824

- 79. Singh G, Gladdy G, Chandy TT, Sen N (2014) Incidence and outcome of acute lung injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome in the surgical intensive care unit. Indian J Crit Care Med 18(10):659
- Bhadade RR, De Souza RA, Harde MJ, Khot A (2011) Clinical characteristics and outcomes of patients with acute lung injury and ARDS. J Postgrad Med 57(4):286
- Fauci AS (2008) Harrison's principles of internal medicine, vol 2. McGraw-Hill, Medical Publishing Division, New York, pp 1612–1615
- 82. Wang BL, Tu YY, Fu JF, Zhong YX, Fu GQ, Tian XX, Wang LH, Gong L, Ren QY (2011) Unbalanced MMP/TIMP-1 expression during the development of experimental pulmonary fibrosis with acute paraquat poisoning. Mol Med Rep 4(2):243–248
- Zemans RL, Colgan SP, Downey GP (2009) Transepithelial migration of neutrophils: mechanisms and implications for acute lung injury. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 40(5):519–535
- Schoenberger CI, Rennard SI, Bitterman PB, Fukuda Y, Ferrans VJ, Crystal RG (1984) Paraquat-induced pulmonary fibrosis: role of the alveolitis in modulating the development of fibrosis. Am Rev Respir Dis 129(1):168–173
- Smith EA, Mayfield CI (1978) Paraquat: determination, degradation, and mobility in soil. Water Air Soil Pollut 9(4):439–452
- Copland GM, Kolín A, Shulman HS (1974) Fatal pulmonary intra-alveolar fibrosis after paraquat ingestion. N Engl J Med 291(6):290–292
- McGowan SE (1992) Extracellular matrix and the regulation of lung development and repair. FASEB J 6(11):2895–2904
- Cox TR, Erler JT (2011) Remodeling and homeostasis of the extracellular matrix: implications for fibrotic diseases and cancer. Dis Model Mech 4(2):165–178
- Rodemann HP, Rennekampff HO (2011) Functional diversity of fibroblasts. In: Tumorassociated fibroblasts and their matrix. Springer, Dordrecht/New York, pp 23–36
- 90. White ES (2015) Lung extracellular matrix and fibroblast function. Ann Am Thorac Soc 12(1):30–33
- 91. Shahzeidi S, Mulier BD, De Crombrugghe B, Jeffery PK, McAnulty RJ, Laurent GJ (1993) Enhanced type III collagen gene expression during bleomycin induced lung fibrosis. Thorax 48(6):622–628
- Erroi A, Bianchi M, Ghezzi P (1992) The pneumotoxicant paraquat potentiates IL-1 and TNF production by human mononuclear cells. Inflamm Res 36(1):66–69
- Harchegani AL, Hemmati AA, Nili-Ahmadabadi A, Darabi B, Shabib S (2017) Cromolyn sodium attenuates paraquat-induced lung injury by modulation of proinflammatory cytokines. Drug Res 67(05):283–288
- Bartram U, Speer CP (2004) The role of transforming growth factor beta in lung development and disease. Chest 125:754–765
- Brody AR, Warshamana GS, Jing Y, Pociask DA (2001) Expression of transforming growth factor-beta induces fibroproliferative pulmonary disease in fibrosis-resistant mice. Chest 120(1):48–49
- Yao R, Cao Y, He YR, Lau WB, Zeng Z, Liang ZA (2015) Adiponectin attenuates lung fibroblasts activation and pulmonary fibrosis induced by paraquat. PLoS One 10(5):0125169
- Giannandrea M, Parks WC (2014) Diverse functions of matrix metalloproteinases during fibrosis. Dis Model Mech 7:193–203
- Toth M, Sohail A, Fridman R (2012) Assessment of gelatinases (MMP-2 and MMP-9) by gelatin zymography. Metastasis Res Protoc:121–135
- 99. Marshall RP, Bellingan G, Webb S, Puddicombe A, Goldsack N, McANULTY RJ, Laurent GJ (2000) Fibroproliferation occurs early in the acute respiratory distress syndrome and impacts on outcome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162:1783–1788
- Gevao B, Semple KT, Jones KC (2000) Bound pesticide residues in soils: a review. Environ Pollut 108(1):3–14
- 101. Liu S, Liu K, Sun Q, Liu W, Xu W, Denoble P, Tao H, Sun X (2011) Consumption of hydrogen water reduces paraquat-induced acute lung injury in rats. BioMed Res Int 2011:1

- 102. Hu X, Shen H, Wang Y, Zhao M (2017) Liver X receptor agonist TO901317 attenuates paraquat-induced acute lung injury through inhibition of NF-κB and JNK/p38 MAPK signal pathways. BioMed Res Int 2017:1–13
- 103. Valko M, Leibfritz D, Moncol J, Cronin MT, Mazur M, Telser J (2007) Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39(1):44–84
- 104. Zhang B, Hirahashi J, Cullere X, Mayadas TN (2003) Elucidation of molecular events leading to neutrophil apoptosis following phagocytosis cross-talk between caspase 8, reactive oxygen species, and MAPK/ERK activation. J Biol Chem 278(31):28443–28454
- 105. Flohé L, Brigelius-Flohé R, Saliou C, Traber MG, Packer L (1997) Redox regulation of NF-kappa B activation. Free Radic Biol Med 22(6):1115–1126
- 106. Mitra S, Abraham E (2006) Participation of superoxide in neutrophil activation and cytokine production. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis 1762(8):732–741
- 107. Pearson G, Robinson F, Beers Gibson T, Xu BE, Karandikar M, Berman K, Cobb MH (2001) Mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase pathways: regulation and physiological functions. Endocr Rev 22(2):153–183
- Coulombe P, Meloche S (2007) Atypical mitogen-activated protein kinases: structure, regulation and functions. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res 1773(8):1376–1387
- 109. Kim EK, Choi EJ (2010) Pathological roles of MAPK signaling pathways in human diseases. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis 1802(4):396–405
- 110. Peng J, Mao XO, Stevenson FF, Hsu M, Andersen JK (2004) The herbicide paraquat induces dopaminergic nigral apoptosis through sustained activation of the JNK pathway. J Biol Chem 279(31):32626–32632
- 111. Wang X, Luo F, Zhao H (2014) Paraquat-induced reactive oxygen species inhibit neutrophil apoptosis via a p38 MAPK/NF-κB–IL-6/TNF-α positive-feedback circuit. PLoS One 9(4):93837
- 112. Liu MW, Su MX, Zhang W, Wang YQ, Chen M, Wang L, Qian CY (2014) Protective effect of Xuebijing injection on paraquat-induced pulmonary injury via down-regulating the expression of p38 MAPK in rats. BMC Complement Altern Med 14(1):498
- Ricciotti E, FitzGerald GA (2011) Prostaglandins and inflammation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 31(5):986–1000
- 114. Malekinejad H, Rezabakhsh A, Rahmani F, Razi M (2013) Paraquat exposure up-regulates cyclooxygenase-2 in the lungs, liver and kidneys in rats. Iran J Pharm Res 12(4):887
- 115. Guan Z, Buckman SY, Pentland AP, Templeton DJ, Morrison AR (1998) Induction of cyclooxygenase-2 by the activated MEKK1→ SEK1/MKK4→ p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. J Biol Chem 273(21):12901–12908
- 116. Pei YH, Cai XM, Chen J, Sun BD, Sun ZR, Wang X, Qian XM (2014) The role of p38 MAPK in acute paraquat-induced lung injury in rats. Inhal Toxicol 26(14):880–884
- 117. Vancurova I, Vancura A (2012) Regulation and function of nuclear I κ B α in inflammation and cancer. Am J Clin Exp Immunol 1(1):56
- 118. Lawrence T (2009) The nuclear factor NF-κB pathway in inflammation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 1(6):a001651
- 119. Lawrence T, Gilroy DW, Colville-Nash PR, Willoughby DA (2001) Possible new role for NF-κB in the resolution of inflammation. Nat Med 7(12):1291–1297
- 120. Alvira CM (2014) Nuclear factor-kappa-B signaling in lung development and disease: one pathway, numerous functions. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol 100(3):202–216
- 121. Meredith TJ, Vale JA (1987) Treatment of paraquat poisoning in man: methods to prevent absorption. Hum Toxicol 6(1):49–55
- 122. Idid SZ, Lee CY (1996) Effects of Fuller's Earth and activated charcoal on oral absorption of paraquat in rabbits. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 23(8):679–681
- 123. Guadreault P, Friedman PA, Lovejoy FH (1985) Efficacy of activated charcoal and magnesium citrate in the treatment of oral paraquat intoxication. Ann Emerg Med 14(2):123–125
- 124. Okonek S, Setyadharma H, Borchert A, Krienke EG (1982) Activated charcoal is as effective as fuller's earth or bentonite in paraquat poisoning. Klin Wochenschr 60(4):207–210

- Gawarammana IB, Buckley NA (2011) Medical management of paraquat ingestion. Br J Clin Pharmacol 72(5):745–757
- 126. Suntres ZE (2002) Role of antioxidants in paraquat toxicity. Toxicology 180(1):65-77
- 127. Reigart JR, Roberts JR (1999) Paraquat and diquat. In: Recognition and management of pesticide poisonings. Office of Pesticide Programs, Environmental Protection Agency, Washington DC, pp 108–117
- 128. Newstead CG (1996) Cyclophosphamide treatment of paraquat poisoning. Thorax 51(7):661–663
- Malone JDG, Carmody M, Keogh B, O'Dwyer WF (1971) Paraquat poisoning a review of nineteen cases. J Irish Med Assoc 64(405):59–68
- Lin JL, Wei MC, Liu YC (1996) Pulse therapy with cyclophosphamide and methylprednisolone in patients with moderate to severe paraquat poisoning: a preliminary report. Thorax 51(7):661–663
- 131. Pond SM, Rivory LP, Hampson EC, Roberts MS (1993) Kinetics of toxic doses of paraquat and the effects of hemoperfusion in the dog. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol 31(2):229–246
- 132. Halliwell B (1995) How to characterize an antioxidant- An update. Biochem Soc Symp 61:73–101
- 133. Eizadi-Mood N, Sabzghabaee AM, Yaraghi A, Montazeri K, Golabi M, Sharifian A, Badri S (2011) Effect of antioxidants on the outcome of therapy in paraquat-intoxicated patients. Trop J Pharm Res 10(1):27–31
- 134. Hong SY, Hwang KY, Lee EY, Eun SW, Cho SR, Han CS, Park YH, Chang SK (2002) Effect of vitamin C on plasma total antioxidant status in patients with paraquat intoxication. Toxicol Lett 126:51–59
- 135. Block ER (1979) Potentiation of acute paraquat toxicity by vitamin E deficiency. Lung 156:195–203
- 136. Aggarwal BB, Sundaram C, Malani N, Ichikawa H (2007) Curcumin: the Indian solid gold. In the molecular targets and therapeutic uses of curcumin in health and disease. Adv Exp Med Biol 595:1–75
- 137. Reddy ACP, Lokesh BR (1994) Studies on the inhibitory effects of curcumin and eugenol on the formation of reactive oxygen species and the oxidation of ferrous iron. Mol Cell Biochem 137(1):1–8
- Unnikrishnan MK, Rao MNA (1995) Curcumin inhibits nitrogen dioxide induced oxidation of hemoglobin. Mol Cell Biochem 146(1):35–37
- Ak T, Gülçin İ (2008) Antioxidant and radical scavenging properties of curcumin. Chem Biol Interact 174(1):27–37
- Chattopadhyay I, Biswas K, Bandyopadhyay U, Banerjee RK (2004) Turmeric and curcumin: biological actions and medicinal applications. Curr Sci 87(1):44–53
- Balasubramanian K (2006) Molecular orbital basis for yellow curry spice curcumin's prevention of Alzheimer's disease. J Agric Food Chem 54(10):3512–3520
- Dulbecco P, Savarino V (2013) Therapeutic potential of curcumin in digestive diseases. World J Gastroenterol 19(48):9256
- 143. Gupta SC, Patchva S, Aggarwal BB (2013) Therapeutic roles of curcumin: lessons learned from clinical trials. AAPS J 15(1):195–218
- 144. Srivastava RM, Singh S, Dubey SK, Misra K, Khar A (2011) Immunomodulatory and therapeutic activity of curcumin. Int Immunopharmacol 11(3):331–341
- 145. Marx D, Williams G, Birkhoff M (2015) Intranasal drug administration—An attractive delivery route for some drugs. In: Drug discovery and development-from molecules to medicine. InTech, Rijeka
- 146. Chien YW, Chang SF (1987) Intranasal drug delivery for systemic medications. Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst 4(2):67–194
- 147. Subhashini, Chauhan PS, Kumari S, Kumar JP, Chawla R, Dash D, Singh M, Singh R (2013) Intranasal curcumin and its evaluation in murine model of asthma. Int Immunopharmacol 17(733–743):2013

- 148. Chauhan PS, Dash D, Singh R (2014) Intranasal curcumin attenuates airway remodeling in murine model of chronic asthma. Int Immunopharmacol 21:63–75
- Venkatesan N (1999) Pulmonary protective effects of curcumin against paraquat toxicity. Life Sci 66(2):21–28
- 150. Tyagi N, Kumari A, Dash D, Singh R (2014) Protective effects of intranasal curcumin on paraquat induced acute lung injury (ALI) in mice. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 38:913–921
- 151. Ray S, Sengupta A, Ray A (2007) Effects of paraquat on anti-oxidant system in rats. Indian J Exp Biol 45:432–438
- 152. Senator A, Rachidi W, Lehmann S, Favier A, Benboubetra M (2004) Prion protein protects against DNA damage induced by paraquat in cultured cells. Free Radical Biol Med 37:1224–1230
- 153. Decoté-Ricardo D, Chagas K, Rocha J, Redner P, Lopes UG, Cambier JC, de Arruda LB, Peçanha LMT (2009) Modulation of in vitro murine B-lymphocyte response by curcumin. Phytomedicine 16(10):982–988
- 154. Camacho-Barquero L, Villegas I, Sánchez-Calvo JM, Talero E, Sánchez-Fidalgo S, Motilva V, de la Lastra CA (2007) Curcumin, a Curcuma longa constituent, acts on MAPK p38 pathway modulating COX-2 and iNOS expression in chronic experimental colitis. Int Immunopharmacol 7(3):333–342
- 155. Bhattacharyya S, Hossain DMS, Mohanty S, Sen GS, Chattopadhyay S, Banerjee S, Chakraborty J, Das K, Sarkar D, Das T, Sa G (2010) Curcumin reverses T cell-mediated adaptive immune dysfunctions in tumor-bearing hosts. Cell Mol Immunol 7(4):306–315
- 156. Jeong H, Yun C (2012) Effect of curcumin on LPS-induced neutrophil activation and acute lung injury. Eur Respir J 40(56):635
- 157. Madan B, Ghosh B (2003) Diferuloylmethane inhibits neutrophil infiltration and improves survival of mice in high-dose endotoxin shock. Shock 19(1):91–96
- 158. Jančinová V, Perečko T, Nosál' R, Košťálová D, Bauerová K, Drábiková K (2009) Decreased activity of neutrophils in the presence of diferuloylmethane (curcumin) involves protein kinase C inhibition. Eur J Pharmacol 612(1):161–166
- 159. Moon DO, Kim MO, Lee HJ, Choi YH, Park YM, Heo MS, Kim GY (2008) Curcumin attenuates ovalbumin-induced airway inflammation by regulating nitric oxide. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 375(2):275–279
- 160. Lee JH, Kim JW, Ko NY, Mun SH, Her E, Kim BK et al (2008) Curcumin, a constituent of curry, suppresses IgE-mediated allergic response and mast cell activation at the level of Syk. J Allergy Clin Immunol 121(5):1225–1231
- 161. Kuramoto Y, Yamada K, Tsuruta O, Sugano M (1996) Effect of natural food colorings on immunoglobulin production in vitro by rat spleen lymphocytes. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 60(10):1712–1713
- Yadav VS, Mishra KP, Singh DP, Mehrotra S, Singh VK (2005) Immunomodulatory effects of curcumin. Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol 27(3):485–497
- 163. Sikora E, Bielak-Zmijewska A, Piwocka K, Janusz S, Radziszewska E (1997) Inhibition of proliferation and apoptosis of human and rat T lymphocytes by curcumin, a curry pigment. Biochem Pharmacol 54(8):899–907
- 164. Fiala M (2015) Curcumin and omega-3 fatty acids enhance NK cell-induced apoptosis of pancreatic cancer cells but curcumin inhibits interferon-γ production: benefits of omega-3 with curcumin against cancer. Molecules 20(2):3020–3026
- 165. Varalakshmi C, Ali AM, Pardhasaradhi BVV, Srivastava RM, Singh S, Khar A (2008) Immunomodulatory effects of curcumin: in-vivo. Int Immunopharmacol 8(5):688–700
- 166. Golombick T, Diamond TH, Manoharan A, Ramakrishna R (2015) The effect of curcumin (as Meriva) on absolute lymphocyte count (ALC), NK cells and T cell populations in patients with stage 0/1 chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Cancer Ther 6(07):566



12

Environmental and Occupational agents and Cancer Drug-Induced Oxidative Stress in Pulmonary Fibrosis

Tapati Chakraborti, Jaganmay Sarkar, Pijush Kanti Pramanik, and Sajal Chakraborti

Abstract

Pulmonary fibrosis (PF) is a fatal lung disorder with high mortality rate. Foreign bodies can easily enter into the lung, and, therefore, the lung is armed with several defence mechanisms including antioxidants and immune systems (innate and adaptive immunity systems). Importantly, inflammasomes in the lungs have been observed to play an important role in the progression of PF. Apoptosis of alveolar epithelial cells (AEC) is crucial for inducing environmental and occupational contaminants such as silica and asbestos and some cancer drugs especially bleomycin-induced PF. In the past, PF has been believed to occur due to inflammation of AECs with subsequent proliferation of fibroblasts followed by collagen deposition that leads to fibrosis. However, recent research revealed that PF proceeds due to epithelial-fibroblast pathway in association with interstitial inflammation that results in collagen deposition. Notably, cell membrane- and mitochondria-mediated ROS generation with the involvement of inflammasomes play a crucial role in the pathogenesis of PF caused by environmental and occupational agents like asbestos, silica and also certain drugs like bleomycin.

It has been hypothesized that initial injury by oxidants during asbestos, silica or bleomycin treatment targets to AECs. Upon injury to type I AECs, the types II AECs proliferate in the exposed basement membranes. The hyperplastic type I AECs die during the repair process, and the remaining cells are differentiated into normal type I AECs. In PF pathology by TGF- β , fibroblasts differentiated into myofibroblasts that secrete collagen and other fibrotic proteins. Compounds that target fibroblast activation and the synthesis of ECM are currently under evaluation for therapies of PF.

Authors Tapati Chakraborti and Jaganmay Sarkar have equally contributed to this chapter.

Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics, University of Kalyani, Kalyani, West Bengal, India

T. Chakraborti · J. Sarkar · P. K. Pramanik · S. Chakraborti (🖂)

e-mail: sajchak9@klyuniv.ac.in

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_12

Keywords

 $Pulmonary\ fibrosis \cdot Oxidants \cdot Inflammasome \cdot Fibroblast \cdot Immunity \cdot Alveolar epithelial\ cells$

12.1 Introduction

Fibrosis occurs due to proliferation and accumulation of connective tissue by replacing normal parenchyma. Fibrosis leads to a marked deposition of exuberant ECM components and interstitial tissue in the epithelium and mesenchymal cells, i.e. myofibroblasts, the cells in between fibroblast and smooth muscle cells [1–5].

Pulmonary fibrosis is a pathologic condition that occurs due to a marked increase in the generation of ECM molecules in the lungs [6, 7]. To understand the mechanism of PF, agents such as bleomycin, asbestos and silica are generally used in studies of different animal model systems [6, 7]. The pathology of PF caused by environmental, occupational and cancer drugs (silica, asbestos and bleomycin, respectively) proceed initially due to damage of the alveolar walls. Fibrotic lung occurs due to thickening of alveolar upon narrowing of alveolar spaces upon infiltration of immune cells and fibroblasts into the lung interstitium resulting in the production of a marked increase in collagen and fibronectin [2-4]. Myofibroblasts are known to be responsible for the generation of ECM, which are accumulated in the lung interstitium [1]. Type I myofibroblast cells take up the alveolar space for about 90% and elicit critical effects on gas exchange by type II cells. Type II cells are observed in the surroundings of alveoli, produce surfactant and serve as progenitor for type I cells upon damage of the lung. The type II cells differentiate to type I cell in the recovery process. In the progression of PF, however, a sequence of pathological changes occur starting with the deposition of fibrin into the intra-alveolar space followed by haemorrhage and subsequently hyperplasis of type II pneumocytes [8]. The resultant deposition of excessive collagen in intra-alveolar and alveolar wall spaces causes microcyst associated with epithelial cuboidalization. This is a common feature of the fibrotic lung, which exemplifies sustained epithelial proliferation. Type II epithelial cell hyperplasia has been observed to be prominent in the pathogenesis of PF [8–10].

Alveolar macrophages have been suggested to start these inflammatory responses via NOD-like receptor (NLR family member) PYD domain-containing protein 3 (Nalp3), a component of the inflammasomes that along with the adaptor ASC (apoptosis-associated speck-like protein with a CARD) protein (PYCARD) forms a complex with caspase-1 for activation of IL-1 β , a proinflammatory cytokine [1]. Nalp3 inflammasomes act as a pathogen recognition receptor (PRR), which accepts pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and detects products of damaged cells and subsequently triggers innate immune response [1, 11–13]. The Nalp3 inflammasomes are also activated by changes in intracellular K⁺ due to its efflux via relevant ion channels present in the cell surface [14]. ROS-mediated regulation of Nalp3 is well known, albeit the underlying mechanism of such regulation is

currently unclear [15]. Stimulation of macrophages, for example, with silica causes activation of caspase-1 in a Nalp3-dependent manner [16]. Macrophages deficient in Nalp3 inflammasome components are unable to secrete the proinflammatory cytokine, interleukin-1 β in response to silica, asbestos and bleomycin. Nalp3 inflammasomes activation requires both an efflux of intracellular K⁺ and generation of ROS [14–16].

At low levels, ROS may activate antioxidant defence, but a discernible increase in ROS level may trigger cellular dysregulation, DNA damage, p53 activation, cell cycle blockade and associated apoptosis and/or necrosis. All of these have been suggested to be important in the manifestation of fibrotic response [17–19].

12.2 Role of Reactive Oxygen Species

Oxidative stress causes change in cellular, molecular, tissue and organ functions due to increase in the generation of reactive species, especially, ROS along with a marked decrease in antioxidant defence [20, 21]. Lung is the most prominent target of oxidant generating environmental contaminants. At low levels, ROS ameliorates cell proliferation due to triggering of antioxidant defence; however, at higher levels, ROS embraces DNA damage, stimulates transcription factors and blocks cell cycle and cell death through pathways that regulate apoptosis and/or necrosis. Collectively, all of these have been suggested to be important for producing PF [1].

Several evidence suggested that ROS is a critical determinant for the progression of PF [1, 22, 23]. These are as follows: (i) oxidized lipid and protein like 8-isoprostane and carbonylated proteins, respectively, have been observed in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid, lung tissue and exhaled air from patients with fibrotic lung diseases; (ii) PF induced by cancer drugs, for example, bleomycin has been observed to be associated with ROS-mediated production of oxidized lipid and proteins; and (iii) a marked increase in oxidative DNA damage has been identified in PF of experimental animals exposed with silica, asbestos and bleomycin [22, 24].

12.3 ROS Production by NADPH Oxidase

NADPH oxidase (NOX) is one of the most important and dedicated mechanisms for generation of ROS of different organs of human and animals. NOX, especially NOX-4, is known to play a critical role in the initiation and progression of PF [25, 26]. NOX-4 is induced by profibrotic stimulants, for example, transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) has been shown to promote myofibroblast differentiation and subsequently impair re-epithelialization leading to PF [27].

A marked increase in NOX-4 level was found in animals, for example, rodents with bleomycin-induced PF [25, 26]. A discernible increase in the expression of NOX-4 has been shown to contribute to the disease pathology. Using NOX-4 inhibitors, attenuation of PF has been demonstrated in an animal model system [25, 26]. This inhibition was observed with a marked decrease in the components of ECM

such as fibronectin and collagen gene transcripts. Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF), TGF- β , plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) and NOX with the involvement of NOX-4 have been shown to contribute to AEC remodelling, which subsequently play an important role in PF. It has been observed that inhibition of NOX-4 activity attenuates TGF- β -mediated increase in profibrotic gene expression and subsequently inhibits fibroblast to myofibroblast differentiation and thereby decreases the progression of PF [27–29]. Thus, targeting NOX-4 could prove useful as a therapeutic measure to ameliorate PF.

NOX-4-dependent production of O_2^{-} and subsequent generation of other ROS were shown to play an important role in TGF- β -induced myofibroblast differentiation and subsequently ECM production. Using siRNA or chemical inhibitors of NOX-4 was shown to attenuate bleomycin-induced PF in mice [26, 30]. NOX-4 expression has also been shown to increase the production of hyperplastic epithelium especially alveolar type II (AT2) cells [27]. Notably, mice lacking NOX-4 showed protection against pulmonary inflammation-mediated by bleomycin [28–30]. NOX-4 inhibitors have been obsered to attenuate TGF- β -induced ROS generation and AEC apoptosis [26]. Thus, NOX-4-dependent ROS production seems to be important for AEC apoptosis during the progression of PF (Fig. 12.1).



Fig. 12.1 Induction of ROS by environmental (silica), occupational (asbestos) and cancer drug (bleomycin) in TGF- β production and subsequent progression of pulmonary fibrosis

12.4 ROS Production by Mitochondria

 H_2O_2 generation by alveolar macrophages (AM) mitochondria was found to be important in producing asbestos-induced PF [31–33]. Asbestos-induced H_2O_2 production in AMs has been observed to be attenuated upon knockdown of complex III, a major site of O_2^{-1} generation in the electron transport chain of mitochondria [31– 33]. In mice AMs, an increase H_2O_2 generation by asbestos has been observed to stimulate inflammation, which causes cellular injury leading to asbestosis [31–33]. The role of H_2O_2 in mediating PF has been exemplified by the fact that catalase gives protection against asbestosis in an animal model system [34]. Environmental contaminants such as silica and asbestos fibres were shown to augment ROS production in AECs mitochondria, which in turn results in PF [34, 35].

TGF-β is known to augment production of ROS production in lung epithelial cells, which increases fibrotic gene expression, epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and myofibroblast differentiation leading to PF [36-40]. Exogenously expressed mitochondrial thioredoxin was shown to inhibit TGF-B caused mRNA expression of fibronectin and a non-histone chromosomal high mobility group AT-hook 2 (HMGA2), a central mediator of epithelial-mesenchymal transition-EMT). This has been suggested to be a crucial mechanism for TGF-β-induced gene expression in mitochondria [41]. Different mechanisms have been proposed for TGF-β-induced production of ROS by mitochondria. TGF-β was shown to induce a sustained production of mitochondrial ROS via a discernible decrease in the activity of complex IV of mitochondrial respiratory chain activity in lung epithelial cells [42]. In the recent past, Sundarson et al. [43] indicated that GSK-3 α and - β subunits phosphorylation could contribute to the inhibition of the complex, which augments ROS production in mitochondria during stimulation with TGF-β. Notably, Jain et al. [44] have demonstrated that an increase in TGF-β stimulates ROS generation both in normal and fibrotic human lung fibroblasts by blocking complex III (electron transport chain of mitochondria) activity. They also observed that treatment with mitochondrially targeted antioxidants upon genetically disrupting the activity of the mitochondrial complex III attenuates the expression of profibrotic genes induced by TGF- β [44]; however, TGF- β could not produce any discernible change in Smad phosphorylation. This suggests that generation of ROS could mediate fibrogenic activity of TGF- β , which appears to be independent of Smad pathway [44]. It has also been observed that activation of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) associated with TGF- β -induced mitochondria-derived ROS generation [45].

12.5 Cross-Talk between NADPH Oxidase and Mitochondria

Cross-talk between mitochondria-generated ROS and cell membrane NADPH oxidase-mediated ROS generation play a major role in lung epithelial cells. Mitochondria-derived ROS contributes to significant increase in the expression and activation of NOX-4 under agonists, for example, TGF- β triggered condition [46]. A marked increase in the expression of NOX-4 has been observed in mice

mitochondria. Abrogation of NOX-4 expression by its siRNA attenuates ROS level in mitochondria, which has been shown to be reversed by NOX-4 siRNA [46]. This indicates that a relationship exists between mitochondria-generated ROS and NOX-4-generated ROS, and that together plays an important role for augmentation of oxidative stress during ageing [47]. TGF- β caused increase in the expression of profibrogenic proteins such as α -SMA and CTGF, which have been shown to occur via stimulation of mitochondria, derived ROS. Antioxidants can be targeted to inhibit the expression of profibrotic genes and also expression of NOX-4 induced by TGF- β [48–51]. Thus, an interaction between mitochondria and NOX-4 during exposure of lungs with environmental and occupational agents, such as silica and asbestos, and some cancer drugs e.g. bleomycin plays a critical role in TGF- β induced production of PF (Fig. 12.1).

12.6 Silocosis and Asbestosis

Airborne silica particles and asbestos fibres are implicated for PF especially for workers of different occupations such as mining, construction, manufacturing and farming. Inhalation of these particles triggers the pathogenesis associated with the chronic interstitial lung diseases, silicosis and asbestosis [52, 53]. IL-1 β produced by alveolar macrophages (AMs) is known to be involved in the initiation of silica-or asbestos-induced inflammatory responses [33, 54].

Prolonged exposure to silica and asbestos induces inflammation and subsequently progression of PF, which has been exemplified by prolonged leukocyte infiltration with eventual proliferation of fibroblasts, and subsequently collagen deposition. AMs are known to respond to stimuli during initial inflammatory responses. Exposure of silica and asbestos to lung causes macrophages to undergo apoptosis due to the production of ROS, which include SOD, OH⁻ and ONOO⁻ [55, 56]. Generation of ROS eventually causes lung damage via increase in the expression of inflammatory cytokines like IL-1 β , TGF- β and TNF- α . These cytokines activate signalling pathways mediated by isoform-specific PKC, MAPK and transcription factors (e.g. NF- κ B), which trigger inflammation and thereby cause proliferation of pulmonary fibroblasts with a marked increase in the production of collagen [1, 57, 58]. This eventually leads to the formation of lung granulomas. Silicosis and asbestosis reduce normal functions of the lung and are of current major global health concern [57, 58].

12.7 ROS and DNA Damage in PF

ROS dose-dependently activates the transcription factor, p53, which modulates expression of downstream target genes involved in DNA damage by increasing DNA repair thereby inhibiting the progression of PF [1].

Oxidative injury to mtDNA is important in driving ROS induced PF. Oxidative stress mediated by asbestos, silica and bleomycin predominantly activates mtOgg1

rather than nuclear Ogg1 [59] in order to attenuate mitochondrial DNA damage in lung mesothelial cells [60]. Ogg1 is a DNA glycosylase enzyme that is important for base excision repair. Ogg1 is known to be involved in the excision of the muragenic base byproduct, 8-oxoguanine (8-Oxo-G), that results from ROS exposure [61]. The bifunctional glycosylase, Ogg1, can cleave the glycosidic bond of the mutagenic lesion and also causes strand break in the DNA backbone. The activity of Ogg1 in mitochondria is threefold higher compared to the nucleus. MtOgg1 overexpression regulates AEC upon exposure of agents like silica and asbestos [62, 63].

Aconitase (ACO2), involved in the formation of isocitrate from citrate in mitochondrial TCA cycle, can be inactivated by O_2^{-} and that has been obsered to be prevented by Mn-SOD [64, 65]. Overexpression of mtOgg1 and ACO2 has been shown to inhibit mtDNA damage that occurs under oxidative stress. Several evidence suggest association between p53, ACO2 and Ogg1 in ROS-mediated DNA damage and associated signalling. Importantly, P53 regulates the transcription of the Ogg1 gene. Ogg1 decreases oxidative stress-mediated fibroblast apoptosis through p53-dependent signalling in lungs of mitochondria during exposure to asbestos and silica [66]. The significance of ACO2 transcription in maintaining the integrity of mtDNA and subsequent attenuation of PF is currently unknown and requires further investigation. Ogg1 and ACO2 along with p53 have been suggested to play a crucial role in mtDNA maintenance.

12.8 Antioxidant Defence Mechanisms

Lungs express a myriad of antioxidants to attenuate oxidative stress. Inhibition of antioxidant defence may occur due to excessive generation of ROS, which augments PF. The primary lung antioxidant defence that plays a role in ameliorating PF includes the enzymes: glutathione peroxidase, SOD and catalase in addition to the transcription factor, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) that regulates generation of antioxidant enzymes [1]. Intratracheal administration of catalase in asbestos-treated mice can prevent PF by attenuating H₂O₂ generation via Rac-1 in inflammatory cells [67]. In a rodent model, the antifibrotic role of the GSH precursor, N-acetylcysteine (NAC), has been observed in rodent models where NAC augments the level of GSH and inhibit bleomycin-mediated PF [68, 69]. NAC has been shown to dramatically decrease PF upon decreasing ROS formation [70]. In a mouse model, it has been observed that an increase in the activity of catalase (CAT) is associated with a marked decrease in PF [71]. Thus, increase in the expression of endogenous antioxidants, which appears to be a novel therapeutic approach to ameliorate PF [72].

Available evidence suggest that endogenous antioxidant defence is based mainly on dietary vitamins and nutraceuticals. Antioxidants, therefore, may improve ROSinduced dysfunction of alveolar type II cells [1]. Therefore, development of pharmacological agents aimed at increasing antioxidants level in the lung could prove useful in the treatment of PF.

12.9 Inflammasomes

Inflammasomes, which consist multiprotein oligomers, have been shown to act as a molecular platform and induce production of proinflammatory cytokines, for example, IL-1 β in response to cellular stress to provide innate immune response. Activation of Nalp3 inflammasomes plays a critical role in many degenerative diseases [58, 73].

Recent research suggest that silica and asbestos particles activate innate immunity, which releases proinflammatory mediators and growth factors to target fibroblasts leading to initiation and progression of PF [74, 75]. Asbestos and silica exposures have been shown to cause production of proinflammatory cytokines like IL-1 β , which occur in caspase-1/Nalp3 inflammasome-dependent manner [74, 75]. Nalp3 forms the inflammasome oligomer upon recruiting the adaptor protein, apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a caspase recruitment domain (ASC) and procaspase-1, which activates procaspases and cleaves pro-IL-1 β into IL-1 β and subsequently triggers inflammatory response leading to the pathogenesis of PF [76, 77] (Fig. 12.2).

Nalp3 inflammasome activation occurs via two-step mechanisms; the initial signal comes upon stimulation of Toll-like receptors (TLRs), which enhances Nalp3 expression and subsequently activates pro-IL-1 β via NF- κ B-dependent manner [14]. TLR belongs to a family of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that elicit a



Fig. 12.2 Environmental (silica), occupational (asbestos) and cancer drug (bleomycin)-induced oxidative stress-mediated IL-1 β production and subsequent progression of pulmonary fibrosis

critical role in inflammasome-mediated innate immune response to determine pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). Members of the TLR family use myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MYD88), a key adaptor molecule that recruits IL-1 β receptor-associated kinases (IRKs) for downstream signalling events leading to the activation of NF- κ B [78–80] (Fig. 12.2).

AMs, the predominant immune cells in the lung, enter into the lung parenchyma and mediate inflammation upon releasing IL-1 β to elicit inflammatory responses [81]. Nalp3 inflammasome is known to mediate IL-1 β production [82]. IL-1 β binds to its receptor and recruits MyD88. MyD88 then phosphorylate the IL-1 β associated kinases 1–4 (IRAK 1–4) leading to activation of IKK with consequent inactivation of I κ B. This leads to stimulation of the transcription factor, NF-kB [3, 83, 84, 85], followed by upregulation of IL-1 β RNA expression. The role of IL-1 β has been exemplified by the fact that exogenous IL-1 β augments lung inflammation followed by remodelling of lung tissues for the progression of PF [85, 86] (Fig. 12.2).

MyD88 signalling mechanism occurs in response to mobilization of silica particles in the lung for (i) granuloma formation, (ii) inflammatory response associated with Th17-mediated inflammatory processes, and (iii) neutrophil accumulation. Th lymphocytes play an important role in the progression of neutrophilic granulomatousmediated silicosis [87]. Notably, Thlymphocytes has also been implicated in elastase –mediated cigarette smoke, bleomycin, inorganic dusts induced inflammatory lung diseases [88, 89] (Fig. 12.2).

MyD88 is associated with activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) [90]. MyD88 plays a critical role in the progression of silica- and asbestosinduced inflammation and granulomas. TNF- α upon activation of innate immune cells plays a crucial role in the progression of silicosis and asbestosis. Silica- and asbestos-mediated lung inflammation and subsequent granuloma formation were reduced by administration of inhibitors of TNF- α receptors [23, 91]. Repeated triggering of innate immune response upon exposure with LPS can amplify silicainduced granulomatous response in a mice model system [92] (Fig. 12.2).

A large number of stimuli have been observed to activate the Nalp3 inflammasomes [93]. Importantly, efflux of cellular K⁺ seems to be a common point where these stimuli induce Nalp3-mediated activation of caspases [94]. K⁺ efflux upon P2X7 purinergic receptor activation is currently considered to be an important signalling pathway for activation of Nalp3 inflammasomes [95]. An increase in extracellular K⁺ has been observed to significantly inhibit silica-induced IL-1 β production from macrophage. Additionally, an increase in extracellular K⁺ has also been shown to inhibit IL-1 β production, which is dependent on Nalp3 inflammasome [94–96]. Notably, silica and asbestos require cellular K efflux to activate caspase-1 [93, 97]. Overall, depletion of cytosolic K leads to Nalp3 inflammasomes activation, which stimulates caspase-1 with subsequent production of IL-1 β leading to PF (Fig. 12.2).

Another mechanism of Nalp3 inflammasomes activation is associated with the actions of lysosomal enzymes stimulated, for example, by silica, which is relatively big in size and difficult to get entry in to lysosomes. This causes incomplete (abortive) phagocytosis of crystals of silica and asbestos fibres leading to lysosome

swelling and rupture and subsequently releases cathepsins for activation of Nalp3 inflammasomes [98].

The implication of intracellular Ca^{2+} ($[Ca^{2+}]_i$) signalling in Nalp3 inflammasome activation has been exemplified by Brough et al. [99, 100], who observed a marked decrease in IL-1 β using BAPTA-AM (Ca^{2+} chelator) in ATP triggered murine macrophages [100]. A marked increase in [Ca^{2+}]_i has been shown to augment production of mitochondrial ROS (mtROS) generation, which subsequently cause damage to the mitochondria [101, 102]. Thus, mitochondrial dysfunction due to high [Ca^{2+}]_i levels may trigger Nalp3 inflammasome activation [103, 104]. Importantly, blocking mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uniporter has been shown to prevent not only accumulation of mitochondrial Ca^{2+} but also IL-1 β production [105, 106]. In neutrophils and macrophages, Nalp3 can be rapidly deubiquitinated under different stimulations, while pretreatment of deubiquitinase inhibitors has been observed to decrease caspase-1 activity and IL-1 β production via disruption in the assembly of NAlp3 inflammasomes [107, 108] (Fig. 12.2).

Receptors for P2X subfamily of purinergic receptors play a critical role in the production of cytokines in AMs, which is induced by extracellular ATP upon stimulation of the assembly of Nalp3 inflammasomes and caspase-1-dependent generation of IL-1 β and IL-18 [109] (Fig. 12.2).

12.10 Innate Immunity, Inflammation and PF

Th1- and Th2-mediated activation of cytokines was suggested to be important for inflammation and fibrosis. T cells are known to be the key player in the pathogenesis of silicosis and asbestosis [110, 111]. T cell influx into the lungs has been observed to play an important role in the immune response to silica and asbestos [110, 111]. However, T cell genetically abrogated mice elicit inflammation associated lung injury upon concomitant increase in neutrophil response to silica, asbestos and bleomycin with a marked increase in collagen deposition leading to PF [111-113]. This observation was supported by Helene et al. [114], who demonstrated that in bleomycin-induced PF, involvement of T cells is not essential, indicating that innate immunity is not the only requirement for the pathogenesis of PF. Thus, inflammation leading to PF by silica and asbestos exhibits separate pathways, which require activation of immunological responsiveness. Silica- and asbestos-mediated lung inflammatory response is associated with MyD88-dependent innate immunity. Therapeutic strategies are currently aimed at dissociating inflammation from this pathway and to link it with T cell-mediated immunosuppression, a new concept to manage PF of asbestosis and silicotic patients [87, 114].

NK cells in the lungs play an important role during silica exposure. Initial interaction between silica and phagocytic cells trigger functional alterations of NK cells [115]. However, the exact role of NK cells in PF induced by silica, asbestos and bleomycin remains to be determined.

NF- κB is known to play a pivotal role in altering the inflammatory cytokine production owing to ROS production especially in macrophages, for example, silica,

and subsequently inhibits the pathogenesis of PF [85]. A large number of researches implicated involvement of PI3K/Akt signalling components as upstream activator of NF- κ B signalling cascade [116, 117]. PI3K-dependent activation of Akt may promote the transcriptional activity of NF- κ B by increasing the degradation of IKK and phosphorylation of NF- κ B/p65. P-AktSer473 and also the NF- κ B/p65 levels were enhanced during the progression of silica- and asbestos-induced PF [118–120].

12.11 Proteases and Pulmonary Fibrosis

Uncontrolled activation of proteases has been suggested to be associated with the progression of PF. In an animal model of elastase-mediated pulmonary inflammation, it has been observed that inflammation is IL-1 β and Toll/IL-1 signal transduction adaptor MyD88 dependent [121]. Elastase augments IL-1 β , TNF- α , keratinocyte-mediated secretion of chemokines and subsequent recruitment of neutrophils in the lung [122]. These are markedly reduced upon inhibition of Il-1 β or MyD88. The effect produced by elastase on PF depends on activation of inflammasomes, which subsequently increases production of IL-1 β . IL-1 β , therefore, is currently considered as an important mediator of silica-, asbestos- and bleomycininduced PF and appears to be its potential therapeutic target.

An imbalance between MMPs and TIMPs has been implicated in a variety of lung diseases, for example, PF [123, 124]. MMPs are expressed at low levels in normal lung tissues, but their levels are increased upon inflammation leading to tissue damage [125]. MMP-2 damages alveolar basement membrane upon solubilizing several ECM proteins such as elastin, fibronectin and type IV collagen [126], and assists immune cells and fibroblasts to migrate to intra-alveolar space [127]. In order to counter the effects of MMPs, and thereby to attenuate matrix degradation and enhancement of fibroblast or myofibroblasts growth for increasing deposition of collagen in ECM [128, 129]. Dysregulation of MMP/TIMP expression may cause epithelial disruption [130]. Bleomycin-induced increase in the production of apoptotic or damaged cells cannot be cleared from the lungs. Some of these molecules play a role in activating the damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) [131], which increases sustained inflammatory response. BLM groups augment mRNA and protein expression of Fas and other apoptotic proteins such as Bax and caspase 3. Inhibitors of caspase-1 or interleukin-1ß activation or use of IL-1ß receptor antagonist have been shown to abrogate bleomycin-induced lung inflammation [78, 132] (Fig. 12.2).

Many peptides, e.g. elastin-derived peptides, are cleaved by proteases [133–135]. Some of the peptide fragments have chemoattractive activity and were shown to trigger the chemokine, CXCR2-mediated inflammation of the lung [136]. Additionally, CXCR3 signalling seems important for PF that is triggered by inflammation-induced elastase [136, 137].

Instillation of elastase in lungs activates Nalp3/ASC inflammasomes. This activation process has been shown to be triggered mainly by two signals: The first proceeds upon activation of TLR or Nalp3 expression in inflammasomes, which leads to generation of pro-IL-1 β . The second one is provided by dying cells uric acid, which stimulates the Nalp3-ASC inflammasomes leading to activation of caspase-1 followed by production of IL-1 β [138] (Fig. 12.2).

12.12 Ageing and Pulmonary Fibrosis

Ageing is an established factor of PF [139, 140], albeit the pathogenic mechanisms associated with advanced ageing remain mostly unexplored. Telomeric repeatcontaining RNA (TERRA) exhibits a type of long noncoding RNA, which plays a critical role in PF [141].

TERRA expression has been observed to be markedly enhanced in the peripheral blood mononuclear cells in patients with PF and that have been implicated as important physiological indicators of fibrogenesis [142]. RNA interference on TERRA expression has been shown to ameliorate the functions of mitochondria and genes that are associated with telomerase reverse transcriptase, cyclin E, cyclin D, MMPs and members of the Bcl-2 family. Notably, inhibition of TERRA expression by its siRNA was shown to improve functions of the antioxidant enzymes such as catalase and SOD [141–143].

Chronic and progressive pneumonia may produce PF, which occurs primarily in adults [144]. The incidence of PF has often been observed in aged patients. Young individuals are normally unaffected by PF. It, therefore, appears conceivable that a correlation probably exists between age and the disease. ROS abrogates oxidant-antioxidant balance in tissues and that has been suggested to play a critical role during ageing. López-Otín et al. [145] have observed a positive correlation between telomeres shortening and associated epigenetic changes that cause mitochondrial dysfunction and subsequently contribute to age-related PF. Understanding the regulatory function of TERRA may be of significance to identify therapeutic target(s) that could prove useful in the treatment of age-associated PF.

12.13 Bleomycin-Induced PF

Bleomycin is commonly used for the treatment of different types of cancers. However, bleomycin treatment causes unwanted deleterious side effects and the most prominent of which is PF. Using proteomic approach, annexin A2 (ANXA2) has been identified as a target of bleomycin-induced PF. In a mice model, genetic depletion of ANXA2 has been shown to mitigate bleomycin-induced PF [146].

Glu139 (E139) of ANXA2 has been observed to be important for the binding of bleomycin in lung epithelial cells. In lung epithelial cells, ANXA2E139A mutation

produced by a CRISPR-Cas9 technique attenuates bleomycin caused activation of transcription factor EB (TFEB), a prime regulator of autophagy, leading to a marked acceleration of autophagic flux in pulmonary epithelial cells [147, 148]. This subsequently attenuates apoptosis of the proliferative epithelial cells and eventually ameliorates PF. Importantly, a decrease in TFEB level was observed in human PF tissues compared to normal condition indicating an important role for TFEB-mediated autophagy in PF [147, 148]. ANXA2, therefore, is considered to be the target of bleomycin binding with ANXA2, which impedes TFEB-induced autophagic flux and subsequently PF [147, 148].

ROS increases expression of profibrotic genes such as α -SMA and type1 collagen [1]. In vitro silencing of Nalp3 attenuates IkB α degradation and, thereby, decreases the synthesis of type I collagen [149]. Nalp3 inflammasomes were activated by bleomycin, and this activation was relieved by an inhibitor of nuclear factor NF-kB [150]. Thus, Nalp3 inflammasome is involved in bleomycin-induced ROS-mediated type 1 collagen synthesis, which is mediated by the NF-kB signalling pathway and contributes to the development of PF.

12.14 Therapeutics

12.14.1 Sirtuin 3 as Regulator of Mitochondrial Antioxidant Response

ROS has been shown to cause alveolar epithelial cell injury mainly due to increase in fibroblast-myofibroblast differentiation (FMD), which is one of the critical steps for the pathogenesis of PF [151]. Expression of sirtuin 3 (SIRT3), a regulator of antioxidant response, has been observed to be reduced in human lung fibroblasts in response to TGF-β [152]. A marked decrease in SIRT5 (a mitochondrial deacylase) was shown to promote acetylation (inactivation) of mitochondrial stress response enzymes, for example, SOD. Decrease in SIRT3 level in fibroblast of human lung has been shown to promote FMD. However, overexpression of SIRT3 has been observed to attenuate TGF-β-induced FMD and SMAD3 expression [152, 153]. Administration of resveratrol has been shown to stimulate SIRT3 expression and also inhibits SIRT3 acetylation induced by TGF-β. Mice deficient in SIRT3 have been observed to be susceptible to mice with PF and elicit a marked increase in SMAD3 expression. Recent research demonstrated that interaction between SIRT3 with TGF-β during ageing elicits a prominent role in PF pathogenesis [153].

12.14.2 Role of Fasudil

PF is mediated by several routes under oxidative stress, which include inflammation, epithelial-mesenchymal transition and coagulation processes. The effector of RhoA, the Rho-kinase (ROCK), could imply different biochemical routes, which contribute to the initiation of PF. Fasudil, a selective ROCK inhibitor, has recently
been successfully tested in mice to ameliorate PF caused by bleomycin [154]. In the lung of bleomycin-treated mouse, hydroxyproline content decreases in response to fasudil treatment. This may be one of the mechanisms by which fasudil attenuates bleomycin induced infiltration of inflammatory cells in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) [154]. Fasudil has also been shown to reduce bleomycin-mediated increase in mRNA and protein expression of TGF- β , α -SMA and PAI-1. [155]. Thus, fasudil could prove useful for treatment of PF.

12.14.3 Role of Salidroside

Bleomycin (BLM) application is experimental animals, e.g. rat elicited a prominent stimulation in the production of malonaldehyde (MDA) in lung tissues, which was inhibited by salidroside. In addition to MDA production, BLM-induced oxidative injury was shown to attenuate levels of antioxidants such as SOD, GSH and GSH-Px in the lung [156]. However, upon administration of salidroside, the levels of these antioxidants were restored to basal level, indicating the efficacy of salidroside for clinical use in PF [157].

12.14.4 Role of Corilagin

In bleomycin-treated mice lung, MDA, NF- κ B, IKK α , TNF- α and IL-1 β expression have been observed to be increased, albeit a marked decrease in the I- κ B expression was noticed. These effects of bleomycin were reduced by corilagin [158]. Corilagin has also been shown to inhibit TGF- β and α -SMA expression in lung tissue, thereby attenuates BLM-induced oxidative stress-mediated lung epithelial cell injury and fibrosis of lung due to inhibition in the release of proinflammatory cytokines and concomitant signalling of NF- κ B and TGF- β [159]. Corilagin has recently been considered as a potential therapeutic agent to attenuate PF [158].

12.14.5 Role of Fluofenidone

Fluofenidone (FD) has been demonstrated to abrogate asbestos- and silica-induced accumulation of ROS. It inhibits the interaction of Nalp3 inflammasome-associated molecules and decreases caspase-1 and IL-1 β levels in THP-1 in lungs of mice [160]. FD was shown to inhibit NF- κ B-mediated nuclear transcription instead of IKK α or IkB- α phosphorylation, the upstream signals for translocation of NF- κ B to the nucleus. Importantly, FD attenuates bleomycin caused inflammation and fibrosis of lung by inhibiting the IL-1 β /IL-1 β R/MyD88/NF-kB signalling pathway [147, 148]. However, the exact target of FD on component(s) in the pathway is currently unknown and needs further exploration.

12.14.6 Role of Oleanolic Acid

Oleanolic acid (3β -hydroxyolean-12-en-28-oic acid; OA), a pentacyclic terpenoid, is present in vegetable oil, food and certain medicinal herbs as free acid, or an aglycone of triterpenoid saponins. OA has the ability to reverse the oxidant/antioxidant balance, and also can decrease production of cytokines and collagen in lung by modulating AKT/NF- κ B signalling pathway in silica-induced PF [161].

PI3K/Akt pathway is a proximal inducer of NF-κB signalling cascade [117]. Upon activation, AKT promotes transcription of NF-κB by enhancing the degradation of IKB upon NF-κB/p65 phosphorylation. OA attenuates the stimulation and translocation of NF-κB to the nucleus, thereby inhibiting agonists such as silicaand asbestos-induced inflammatory response [162, 163]. The levels of phosphorylated Akt and NF-κB/p65 were found to be increased in silica-induced PF in rats OA treatment has been observed to attenuate the phosphorylation of AKT and decreases the level of NF-κB/p65 [163, 164]. OA inhibits pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis, conceivably by altering AKT/NF-κB signalling mechanism. This indicates that inhibition of NF-kB activation with OA decreases the severity of PF caused by agents such as silica and asbestos [164].

12.15 Conclusion and Future Direction

8-Oxoguanine DNA glycosylase (Ogg1), mitochondrial aconitase (ACO2) and the transcription factors like NF-κB were shown to play a critical role in silica-, asbestos- and BLM-induced ROS-mediated mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) repair mechanism. The association of oxidative stress with environmental (silica and asbestos) and cancer drugs (bleomycin) induced ROS generation of TGF- β and IL-1 β and subsequent initiation and progression of PF have also been delineated in this review (Figs. 12.1 and 12.2).

The role of ROS in mitochondrial dysfunction due mainly to mtDNA damage and cross-talk between AECs and AMs in the progression of PF induced by the environmental and occupational agents, and cancer drugs have also been briefly portrayed in this review.

A mere imbalance between ROS levels and antioxidant defences does not explicitly depict the multiple independent pathways involved in the pathogenesis of PF. Mitochondria- and p53-associated mechanisms and also the ER stress-mediated AEC apoptosis have been observed to play a crucial role during the early stages of the initiation of PF by asbestos, silica and bleomycin. Cross-talk among mtOgg1, ACO2 and p53 to repair mitochondrial DNA damage induced by the environmental occupational agents, and cancer drugs to modulate PF of a variety of signaling pathways require further investigation.

Although extensive researches have been performed to gain insights into the mechanisms of PF, our current understanding of its pathogenesis is limited. Several key questions remain to be addressed. Future studies need to focus on prognostic significance of common complications of PF and the risk factors (biochemical,

clinical and genetic) for the development of PF. Mechanisms of the therapies involving steroids and anticoagulants in ameliorating PF require thorough investigations. Understanding of the epidemiology of this condition seems important to design future drug trials for treatment of PF. Till date no definitive therapy for PF has, however, been available. Considering our current knowledge on ROS induced PF, this article enumerates novel insights that may be considered for the development of therapeutic strategies to ameliorate PF.

Studies on the correlation of the mechanisms associated with the pathobiology of ARDS and PF seem important because it is possible that similar biochemical mechanism underlie their pathogenic processes. Conceivably, development of therapies targeting patients with ARDS could prove useful for treatment of PF.

Acknowledgement Financial assistance from the Council of Scientific Research (CSIR), India, and SERB, Department of Science and Technolgy, Govt. of India are greatly acknowledged.

References

- 1. Cheresh P, Kim SJ, Tulasiram S (2013) Oxidative stress in pulmonary fibrosis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1832:1028–1040
- Kliment CR, Oury TD (2010) Oxidative stress, extracellular matrix targets, and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Free Rad Biol Med 49:707–717
- 3. Dostert C, Pétrilli V, Van Bruggen R et al (2008) Innate immune activation through Nalp3 inflammasome sensing of asbestos and silica. Science 320:674–677
- Lamp DW, Graceffa P, Pryor WA et al (1992) The role of free radicals in asbestos-induced diseases. Free Rad Biol Med 12:293–315
- Karakale S, Khurana A, Saifi MA et al (2018) Oropharyngeal administration of silica in Swiss mice: a robust and reproducible model of occupational pulmonary fibrosis. Pul Pharmacol Ther 51:32–40
- Gharace-Kermani M, Ullenbruch M, Phan SH (2005) Animal models of pulmonary fibrosis. Methods Mol Med 117:251–259
- Warshamana GS, Pociask DA, Sime P et al (2002) Susceptibility to asbestos-induced and transforming growth factor-beta1-induced fibroproliferative lung disease in two strains of mice. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 27:705–713
- 8. Zissel G, Watz H, Droman D et al (2018) Human alveolar epithelial cell type II are capable of TGF- β dependent epithelial-mesenchymal transition and collagen synthesis. Respir Res 19:138–151
- Xu X, Dai H, Wang C (2016) Epithelium-dependent profibrotic milieu in the pathogenesis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: current status and future directions. Clin Respir J 10:133–141
- Sisson TH, Mendez M, Choi K et al (2010) Targeted injury of type II alveolar epithelial cells induces pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 181:254–263
- Kumar H, Kawai T, Akira S (2011) Pathogen recognition by innate immune response. Int Rev Immunol 30:16–34
- Hosseinian N, Cho Y, Lockey RF et al (2015) The role of the NLRP3 inflammasome in pulmonary diseases. Ther Adv Respir Dis 9:188–197
- 13. Natea MG, Petry CWN, Nold NF et al (2009) Differential requirement for the activation of the inflammasome for processing and replace of IL-1 β in monocyte and macrophages. Blood 113:2324–2335
- He Y, Hara H, Nunez G (2016) Mechanism and regulation of Nalp3 inflammasome activation. Trends Biochem Sci 41:1012–1021

- Liu X, Zhang X, Ding Y et al (2017) Nuclear factor E2-related factor-2 negatively regulates NLRP3 inflammasome activity by inhibiting reactive oxygen species-induced NLRP3 priming. Antioxid Redox Signal 26:28–43
- 16. Hornung V, Bauernfeind F, Halle A et al (2008) Silica crystals and aluminum salts activate the NALP3 inflammasome through phagosomal destabilization. Nat Immunol 9:847–856
- 17. Kim SJ, Cheresh P, Williams D et al (2014) Mitochondria-targeted Ogg1 and aconitase-2 prevent oxidant-induced mitochondrial DNA damage in alveolar epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 289:6165–6176
- Kamp DW, Israbian VA, Preusen SE et al (1995) Asbestos causes DNA strand breaks in cultured pulmonary epithelial cells: role of iron-catalyzed free radicals. Am J Phys 268:L471–L480
- Lei XG, Zhu JH, Cheng WH et al (2016) Paradoxical roles of antioxidant enzymes: basic mechanisms and health implications. Physiol Rev 96:307–364
- Faner R, Rojas M, Macnee W et al (2012) Abnormal lung aging in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 186:306–313
- Kinnula VL, Crapo JD (2003) Superoxide dismutases in the lung and human lung diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167:1600–1619
- Kliment CR, Oury TD (2010) Oxidative stress, extracellular matrix targets, and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Free Radic Biol Med 49:707–717
- Liu G, Cheresh P, Kamp DW (2013) Molecular basis of asbestos-induced lung disease. Annu Rev Pathol 8:161–187
- 24. Kim SJ, Cheresh P, Jablonski RP et al (2016) Mitochondrial catalase overexpressed transgenic mice are protected against lung fibrosis in part via preventing alveolar epithelial cell mitochondrial DNA damage. Free Radic Biol Med 101:482–490
- Crestani B, Besnard V, Boczkowski J (2011) Signalling pathways from NADPH oxidase-4 to idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 43:1086–1089
- Hecker L, Cheng J, Thannickal VJ (2012) Targeting NOX enzymes in pulmonary fibrosis. Cell Mol Life Sci 69:2365–2371
- 27. Carnesecchi S, Deffert C, Donati Y et al (2011) A key role for NOX4 in epithelial cell death during development of lung fibrosis. Antioxid Redox Signal 15:607–619
- Hinz B (2012) Mechanical aspects of lung fibrosis: a spotlight on the myofibroblast. Proc Am Thorac Soc 9:137–147
- 29. Scotton CJ, Chambers RC (2007) Molecular targets in pulmonary fibrosis: the myofibroblast in focus. Chest 132:1311–1321
- Hecker L, Vittal R, Jones T et al (2009) NADPH oxidase-4 mediates myofibroblast activation and fibrogenic responses to lung injury. Nat Med 15:1077–1081
- Osborn-Heaford HL, Ryan AJ, Murthy S et al (2012) Mitochondrial Rac1 GTPase import and electron transfer from cytochrome C are required for pulmonary fibrosis. J Biol Chem 287:3301–3312
- Murthy S, Ryan A, He C et al (2010) Rac1-mediated mitochondrial H2O2 generation regulates MMP-9 gene expression in macrophages via inhibition of SP-1 and AP-1. J Biol Chem 285:25062–25073
- Murthy S, Adamcakova-Dodd A, Perry SS et al (2009) Modulation of reactive oxygen species by Rac1 or catalase prevents asbestos-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 297:L846–L855
- 34. Mossman BT, Marsh JP, Sesko A et al (1990) Inhibition of lung injury, inflammation, and interstitial pulmonary fibrosis by polyethylene glycol-conjugated catalase in a rapid inhalation model of asbestosis. Am Rev Respir Dis 141:1266–1271
- 35. Fubini B, Hubbard A (2003) Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species generation by silica in inflammation and fibrosis. Free Rad Biol Med 34:1507–1516
- Liu G, Beri R, Mueller A (2010) Molecular mechanisms of asbestos-induced lung epithelial cell apoptosis. Chem Biol Interact 188:309–318

- 37. Chan KJ, Li Q, Wang CM et al (2018) Bleomycin enhanced alternative splicing of fibroblast growth factor receptor2 induces epithelial to mesenchymal transition in lung fibrosis. Biosci Rep 38:BSR20180445
- Liu X, Chan Z (2017) The pathophysiological role of mitochondrial oxidative stress in lung diseases. J Transl Med 15:207–220
- Chen KJ, Li Q, Weng CM, Duan ZX et al (2018) Bleomycin-enhanced alternative splicing of fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 induces epithelial to mesenchymal transition in lung fibrosis. Biosci Rep:BSR20180445. https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20180445
- Nelson A, Mendoza T, Hoyle GW et al (2001) Enhancement of fibrogenesis by the p53 tumor suppressor protein in asbestos-exposed rodents. Chest 120:33S–34S
- Bakhanashvili M, Grinberg S, Bonda E (2008) p53 in mitochondria enhances the accuracy of DNA synthesis. Cell Death Differ 15:1865–1884
- 42. Yoon YS, Lee JH, Huang SC et al (2005) TGF-β1 induces prolonged mitochondrial ROS generation through decreased complex IV activity with senescent arrest in MVILU cells. Oncogene 25:1895–1903
- 43. Sunderson NR, Bendu S, Pillai VB et al (2016) SIRT3 blocks aging associated tissue fibrosis in mice by deacetylating and activating glycogen synthase kinase 3β. Mol Cell Biol 36:678–692
- 44. Jain M, Rkivera S, Monclus EA et al (2013) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species regulate transforming growth factor β signalling. J Biol Chem 288:770–777
- Lawrence J, Nho R (2018) The role of mammalian target of Rapamycin (mTOR) in pulmonary fibrosis. Int J Mol Sci 19:778
- 46. Daiber A, Lisa FD, Oelze M et al (2017) Cross-talk of mitochondria with NADPH oxidase via reactive oxygen and mitogen species signalling and its role for vascular function. J Pharmacol 174:1640–1689
- 47. Wolin MS (2013) Evidence for novel aspects of Nox4 oxidase regulation of mitochondrial function and peroxide generation in an endothelial cell model of senescence. Biochem J 452:e1–e2
- 48. Ghatak S, Hascall VC, Markwald RR et al (2017) Transforming growth factor $\beta 1$ (TGF $\beta 1$)induced CD44V6-NOX4 signaling in pathogenesis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. J Biol Chem 292:10490–10519
- 49. Jain M, Rivera S, Monclus EA et al (2013) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species regulate transforming growth factor- β signaling. J Biol Chem 288:770–777
- 50. Wermuth PJ, Li Z, Mendoza FA et al (2016) Stimulation of transforming growth factor-β1induced endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition and tissue fibrosis by Endothelin-1 (ET-1): a novel Profibrotic effect of ET-1. PLoS One 11:e0161988
- 51. Spanjer AI, Baarsma HA, Oostenbrink LM et al (2016) TGF-β-induced profibrotic signaling is regulated in part by the WNT receptor Frizzled-8. FASEB J 30:1823–1835
- Mossman BT, Churg A (1998) Mechanisms in the pathogenesis of asbestosis and silicosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 157:1666–1680
- Jindal SR, Aggaral AN, Gupta D (2001) Dust induced interstitial lung disease in the tropics. Curr Opin Pul Med 7:273–277
- Srivastava KD, Rom WN, Jagirdar J (2002) Crucial role of interleukin-1beta and nitric oxide synthase in silica-induced inflammation and apoptosis in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 165:527–533
- Liu G, Cheresh P, Kamp DW (2013) Molecular basis of asbestos induced lung disease. Ann Rev Pathol 8:161–187
- Mossman BT, Churg A (1998) Mechanism in the pathogenesis of asbestosis and silicosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 157:1666–1680
- Park HS, Kim SR, Lee YC (2009) Impact of oxidative stress on lung diseases. Respirology 14:27–38
- Harijith A, Ebenezer DL, Natarajan V (2014) Reactive oxygen species at the crossroads of inflammasome and inflammation. Front Physiol 5:352

- 59. Mirbahai L, Kershaw RM, Green RM et al (2010) Use of a molecular beacon to track the activity of base excision repair protein OGG1 in live cells. DNA Repair 9:144–152
- Shukla A, Jung M, Stern M et al (2003) Asbestos induces mitochondrial DNA damage and dysfunction linked to the development of apoptosis. Am J Phys 285:L1018–L1025
- Sengupta S, Harris CC (2005) p53: traffic cop at the crossroads of DNA repair and recombination. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6:44–55
- Gredilla R, Bohr VA, Stevnsner VA (2010) Mitochondrial DNA repair and association with aging- an update. Exp Gerontol 45:478–488
- 63. Panduri V, Weitzman SA, Chandel N et al (2003) The mitochondria-regulated death mediates asbestos induced alveolar epithelial cell apoptosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 28:241–248
- Williams MD, Remmen HV, Courad CC et al (1998) Increased oxidative damage is correlated to altered mitochondrial function in heterogeneous manganese superoxide dismutase knockout mice. J Biol Chem 273:28510–28515
- Yan LS, Evine RLL, Sohal RS (1997) Oxidative damage during aging targets mitochondrial aconitase. Proc Natl Acad Sci (USA) 94:11168–11172
- 66. Youn CK, Song PI, Kim MH (2007) Human 8-oxoguanine DNA glycosylase suppresses the oxidative stress induced apoptosis through a p53 mediated signalling pathway in human fibroblasts. Mol Cancer Res 5:1083–1098
- Murthy S, Adamcakova DA, Perry SS et al (2009) Modulation of reactive oxygen species by Rac1 or catalase prevents asbestos induced pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Phys 297:L846–L855
- Giri SN, Hyde DM, Schiedt MJ (1988) Effects of repeated administration of N-acetylcysteine on sulfdydryl levels of different tissues and bleomycin induced lung fibrosis in hamster. J Lab Clin Med 111:715–724
- Hagiwara SI, Ishii Y, Kitamura S (2000) Aerosolized administration of N-acetylcysteine attenuates lung fibrosis induced by bleomycin in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162:225–231
- Sun T, Liu J, Zhao de W (2016) Efficacy of N-acetylcysteine in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 95:e3629
- Kandhare AD, Mukherjee A, Ghosh P et al (2016) Efficacy of antioxidant in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. EXCLI J 15:636–651
- Kovac S, Angelova PR, Holmstrom KM et al (2015) Nrf2 regulates ROS production by mitochondria and NADPH oxidase. Biochim Biophys Acta 1850:794–801
- Lv Z, Wang Y, Liu YJ et al (2018) NLRP3 inflammasome activation contributes to mechanical stretch-induced endothelial-mesenchymal transition and pulmonary fibrosis. Crit Care Med 46:e49–e58
- Kamp DW, Graceffa P, Pryor WA et al (1992) The role of free radicals in asbestos-induced diseases. Free Radic Biol Med 12:293–315
- Rastrick J, Birrell M (2014) The role of the inflammasome in fibrotic respiratory diseases. Minerva Med 105:9–23
- Luna-Gomes T, Santana PT, Coutinho-Silva R (2014) Silica-induced inflammasome activation in macrophages: role of ATP and P2X7 receptor. Immunobiology 220:1101–1106
- 77. Luo M, Hu L, Li D et al (2017) MD-2 regulates LPS-induced NLRP3 inflammasome activation and IL-1beta secretion by a MyD88/NF-κB-dependent pathway in alveolar macrophages cell line. Mol Immunol 90:1–10
- Couillin I, Vasseur V, Charron S et al (2009) IL-1R1/MyD88 signaling is critical for elastaseinduced lung inflammation and emphysema. J Immunol 183:8195–8202
- 79. Lu A, Wu H (2015) Structural mechanisms of inflammasome assembly. FEBS J 282:435-444
- Song C, He L, Zhang J et al (2016) Fluorofenidone attenuates pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis via inhibiting the activation of NALP3 inflammasome and IL-1β/IL-1R1/MyD88/ NF-κB pathway. J Cell Mol Med 20:2064–2077
- Kaur M, Bell T, Salek-Ardakani S et al (2015) Macrophage adaptation in airway inflammatory resolution. Eur Respir Rev 24:510–515
- Lopez-Castejon G, Brough D (2011) Understanding the mechanism of IL-1β secretion. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 22:189–195

- Cheng Y, Wang D, Wang B et al (2015) HMGB1 translocation and release mediate cigarette smoke-induced pulmonary inflammation in mice through a TLR4/MyD88-dependent signaling pathway. Mol Biol Cell 28:201–209
- 84. Takaesu G, Tsugi JN, Kishide S et al (2001) Interleukin-1 (IL-1) receptor-associated kinase leads to activation of TAK1 by inducing TAB2 translocation in the IL-1 signalling pathway. Mol Cell Biol 21:2475–2484
- 85. Kandhare AD, Bodhankar SL, Mohan V, Thakurdesai PA (2015) Effect of glycosides based standardized fenugreek seed extract in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in rats: decisive role of Bax, Nrf2, NF-κB, Muc5ac, TNF-α and IL-1β. Chem Biol Interact 237:151–165
- 86. Loiarro M, Capolunghi F, Fantò N et al (2007) Pivotal advance: inhibition of MyD88 dimerization and recruitment of IRAK1 and IRAK4 by a novel peptidomimetic compound. J Leukoc Biol 82:801–810
- Re SL, Giordano G, Yakoub Y et al (2014) Uncoupling between inflammatory and fibrotic responses to silica: evidence from MyD88 knockout mice. PLoS One 9:e99383
- Wong J, Magus BE, Wood LJ (2016) Lung inflammation caused by inhaled toxicants: a review. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 11:1391–1401
- Bauer C, Kielian T, Wyatt TA et al (2013) Myeloid differentiation factor 88-dependent signaling is critical for acute organic dust-induced airway inflammation in mice. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 48:781–789
- 90. Kawasaki T, Kawai T (2014) Toll-like receptor signaling pathways. Front Immunol 461:p1-p8
- 91. Sellamuthu R, Umbright C, Roberts JR et al (2017) Molecular mechanisms of pulmonary response progression in crystalline silica exposed rats. Inhal Toxicol 29:53–64
- Brass DM, Spencer JC, Li Z et al (2012) Innate immune activation by inhaled lipopolysaccharide, independent of oxidative stress, exacerbates silica-induced pulmonary fibrosis in mice. PLoS One 7:e40789
- 93. Cassel SL, Eisenbarth SC, Iyer SS et al (2008) The Nalp3 inflammasome is essential for the development of silicosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:9035–9040
- 94. Pétrilli V, Papin S, Dostert C et al (2007) Activation of the NALP3 inflammasome is triggered by low intracellular potassium concentration. Cell Death Differ 14:1583–1589
- Lordén G, Sanjuán-García I, de Pablo N et al (2017) Lipin-2 regulates NLRP3 inflammasome by affecting P2X7 receptor activation. J Exp Med 214:511–528
- 96. Colomar A, Marty V, Médina C et al (2003) Maturation and release of interleukin-1beta by lipopolysaccharide-primed mouse Schwann cells require the stimulation of P2X7 receptors. J Biol Chem 278:30732–30740
- Nardo DD, Nardo CMD, Latz E (2014) New insights into mechanisms controlling the NLRP3 inflammasome and its role in lung disease. Am J Pathol 184:42–54
- Hughes CS, Colhoun LM, Bains BK et al (2016) Extracellular cathepsin S and intracellular caspase 1 activation are surrogate biomarkers of particulate-induced lysosomal disruption in macrophages. Part Fibre Toxicol 13:19
- Brough D, Le Feuvre RA, Wheeler RD et al (2003) Ca2+ stores and Ca2+ entry differentially contribute to the release of IL-1 beta and IL-1 alpha from murine macrophages. J Immunol 170:3029–3036
- 100. Lee GS, Subramanian N, Kim AI et al (2012) The calcium-sensing receptor regulates the NLRP3 inflammasome through Ca2+ and cAMP. Nature 492:123–127
- 101. Kar P, Samanta K, Shaikh S et al (2010) Mitochondrial calpain system: an overview. Arch Biochem Biophys 495:1–7
- 102. Celsi F, Pizzo P, Brini M et al (2009) Mitochondria, calcium and cell death: a deadly triad in neurodegeneration. Biochim Biophys Acta 1787:335–344
- 103. Brookes PS, Yoon Y, Robotham JL et al (2004) Calcium, ATP, and ROS: a mitochondrial love-hate triangle. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 287:C817–C833
- 104. Murakami T, Ockinger J, Yu J et al (2012) Critical role for calcium mobilization in activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:11282–11287
- 105. Pendik D, Grestti E, Pozzan T (2014) The elusive importance of being a mitochondrial ca uniporter. Cell Calcium 55:139–145

- 106. Triantafilou K, Huges TR, Triantaplion M et al (2013) The complement membrane attack complex triggers intracellular ca fluxes leading to NLRP3 inflammasome activation. J Cell Sci 126:2903–2913
- 107. Lopez-Castejon G, Luheshi NM, Compan V et al (2013) Deubiquitinases regulate the activity of caspase-1 and interleukin-1β secretion via assembly of the inflammasome. J Biol Chem 288:272133
- 108. Castegon GL, Luheshi NM, Compan V et al (2013) Deubiquitinases regulate the activity of caspase-1 and interleukin-1 β secretion via assembly of the inflammasome. J Biol Chem 288:2721–2733
- 109. Gicquel T, Robert S, Loyer P et al (2015) IL-1β production is dependent on the activation of purinergic receptors and NLRP3 pathway in human macrophages. FASEB J 29:4162–4173
- 110. Wu C, Luo Z, Pang B et al (2018) Associations of pulmonary fibrosis with peripheral blood Th1/Th2 cell imbalance and EBF3 gene methylation in Uygur Pigeon Breeder's lung patients. Cell Physiol Biochem 47:1141–1151
- 111. Otsuki T, Lee S, Takai NK et al (2012) Review of reduced tumor immunity caused by asbestos exposure to immunocompetent cells such as T and NK cells. Open Access Sci Rep 1(8)
- 112. Manoury B, Nénan S, Guénon I et al (2007) Influence of early neutrophil depletion on MMPs/ TIMP-1 balance in bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis. Int Immunopharmacol 7:900–911
- 113. Chen K, Kolls JK (2013) T-cell mediated host immune defences in the lungs. Ann Rev Immunol 31:605–633
- 114. Helene M, Lake-Bullock V, Zhu J et al (1999) T cell independence of bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. J Leukoc Biol 65:187–195
- 115. Nishimura Y, Kumagai-Takei N, Matsuzaki H et al (2015) Functional alteration of natural killer cells and cytotoxic T lymphocytes upon asbestos exposure and in malignant mesothermia patients. Biomed Res Int 2015:238431
- 116. Cheng SE, Lee IT, Lin CC et al (2014) Thrombin induces ICAM-1 expression in human lung epithelial cells via c-Src/PDGFR/PI3K/Akt-dependent NF-κB/p300 activation. Clin Sci (Lond) 127:171–183
- 117. Bai D, Ueno L, Vogt PK (2009) Akt-mediated regulation of NFkappaB and the essentialness of NFkappaB for the oncogenicity of PI3K and Akt. Int J Cancer 125:2863–2870
- 118. Ouyang W, Li J, Ma Q et al (2006) Essential roles of PI-3K/Akt/IKKbeta/NFkappaB pathway in cyclin D1 induction by arsenite in JB6 Cl41 cells. Carcinogenesis 27:864–873
- 119. Dogra C, Changotra H, Wergedal JE et al (2006) Regulation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt and nuclear factor-kappa B signaling pathways in dystrophin-deficient skeletal muscle in response to mechanical stretch. J Cell Physiol 208:575–585
- 120. Rahman A, Fazal F (2011) Blocking NF-κB: an inflammatory issue. Proc Am Thorac Soc 8:497–503
- 121. Gasse P, Mary C, Guenon I et al (2007) IL-1R1/MyD88 signaling and the inflammasome are essential in pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis in mice. J Clin Invest 117:3786–3799
- Couillin I, Vasseur V, Charron S et al (2009) IL-1R1/MyD88 signaling is critical for elastaseinduced lung inflammation and emphysema. J Immunol 183:8195–8202
- 123. Hayashi T, Stetler-Stevenson WG, Fleming MV et al (1996) Immunohistochemical study of metalloproteinases and their tissue inhibitors in the lungs of patients with diffuse alveolar damage and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Pathol 149:1241–1256
- 124. Matsumoto H, Niimi A, Takemura M et al (2005) Relationship of airway wall thickening to an imbalance between matrix metalloproteinase-9 and its inhibitor in asthma. Thorax 60:277–281
- Birkedal-Hansen H (1995) Proteolytic remodeling of extracellular matrix. Curr Opin Cell Biol 7:728–735
- Elkington PT, Friedland JS (2006) Matrix metalloproteinases in destructive pulmonary pathology. Thorax 61:259–266
- 127. Ma C, Chegini N (1999) Regulation of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and their tissue inhibitors in human myometrial smooth muscle cells by TGF-beta1. Mol Hum Reprod 5:950–954

- 128. Chakraborti S, Mandal M, Das S et al (2003) Regulation of matrix metalloproteinases: an overview. Mol Cell Biochem 253:269–285
- 129. Mandal M, Mandal A, Das S et al (2003) Clinical implications of matrix metalloproteinases. Mol Cell Biochem 252:305–329
- 130. Kuipers MT, van der Poll T, Schultz MJ et al (2011) Bench-to-bedside review: damageassociated molecular patterns in the onset of ventilator-induced lung injury. Crit Care 15:235
- 131. Müller M, Strand S, Hug H et al (1997) Drug-induced apoptosis in hepatoma cells is mediated by the CD95 (APO-1/Fas) receptor/ligand system and involves activation of wild-type p53. J Clin Invest 99:403–413
- 132. Mungunsukh O, Griffin AJ, Lee YH et al (2010) Bleomycin induces the extrinsic apoptotic pathway in pulmonary endothelial cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 298:L696–L703
- 133. Senior RM, Griffin GL, Mecham RP (1980) Chemotactic activity of elastin-derived peptides. J Clin Invest 66:859–862
- 134. Senior RM, Griffin GL, Mecham RP et al (1984) Val-Gly-Val-Ala-Pro-Gly, a repeating peptide in elastin, is chemotactic for fibroblasts and monocytes. J Cell Biol 99:870–874
- Reutershan J, Morris MA, Burcin TL et al (2006) Critical role of endothelial CXCR2 in LPSinduced neutrophil migration into the lung. J Clin Invest 116:695–702
- 136. Russo RC, Guabiraba R, Garcia CC et al (2009) Role of the chemokine receptor CXCR2 in bleomycin-induced pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 40:410–421
- 137. Nie L, Liu ZJ, Zhou WX et al (2010) Chemokine receptor CXCR3 is important for lung tissue damage and airway remodeling induced by short-term exposure to cigarette smoking in mice. Acta Pharmacol Sin 31:436–442
- 138. van de Veerdonk FL, Netea MG, Dinarello CA et al (2011) Inflammasome activation and IL-1β and IL-18 processing during infection. Trends Immunol 32:110–116
- Selman M, Buendía-Roldán I, Pardo A (2016) Aging and pulmonary fibrosis. Rev Investig Clin 68:75–83
- 140. Sosulski ML, Gongora R, Danchuk S et al (2015) Deregulation of selective autophagy during aging and pulmonary fibrosis: the role of TGFβ1. Aging Cell 14:774–783
- 141. Gao Y, Zhang J, Liu Y et al (2017) Regulation of TERRA on telomeric and mitochondrial functions in IPF pathogenesis. BMC Pulm Med 17:163
- 142. Wang Z, Deng Z, Dahmane N et al (2015) Telomeric repeat-containing RNA (TERRA) constitutes a nucleoprotein component of extracellular inflammatory exosomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:E6293–E6300
- 143. Yoon PO (2018) Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) drug development using SAMiRNA, a second-generation RNAi platform technology. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 197:A1636
- 144. Kawano-Dourado L, Kairalla RA (2013) Usual interstitial pneumonia: a pattern or a disease? A reflection upon the topic. J Bras Pneumol 39:111–112
- 145. López-Otín C, Blasco MA, Partridge L et al (2013) The hallmarks of aging. Cell 153:1194–1217
- 146. Wang K, Zhang T, Lei Y et al (2018) Identification of ANXA2 (annexin A2) as a specific bleomycin target to induce pulmonary fibrosis by impeding TFEB-mediated autophagic flux. Autophagy 14:269–282
- 147. Wang K, Zhang T, Lei Y et al (2018) Identification of ANXA2 (annexin A2) as a specific bleomycin target to induce pulmonary fibrosis by impeding TFEB-mediated autophagic flux. J Autophagy 14:269–282
- Settembre C, Di Malta C, Polito VA et al (2011) TFEB links autophagy to lysosomal biogenesis. Science 332:1429–1433
- Mogensen TH (2009) Pathogen recognition and inflammatory signaling in innate immune defenses. Clin Microbiol Rev 22:240–273
- 150. Kuang J, Xie M, Wei X (2018) The Nalp3 inflammasome is required for collagen synthesis via the NF-kB pathway. Int J Mol Med 41:2179–2287
- 151. Sosulski ML, Gongora R, Feghali-Bostwick C et al (2017) Sirtuin 3 deregulation promotes pulmonary fibrosis. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 72:595–602

- 152. Gertz M, Nguyen GT, Fischer F et al (2012) A molecular mechanism for direct sirtuin activation by resveratrol. PLoS One 7:e49761
- Sathiyamoorthy G, Sehgal S, Ashton RW (2017) Pirfenidone and Nintedanib for treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. South Med J 110:393–398
- 154. Taki F, Kume H, Kobayashi T et al (2007) Effects of Rho-kinase inactivation on eosinophilia and hyper-reactivity in murine airways by allergen challenges. Clin Exp Allergy 37:599–607
- 155. Bei Y, Hua-Huy T, Duong-Quy S et al (2013) Long-term treatment with fasudil improves bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis and pulmonary hypertension via inhibition of Smad2/3 phosphorylation. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 26:635–643
- 156. Huang Q, Cai YC, Wei XL et al (2017) Protective effect of synthetic salidroside on acute lung injury in rats. Sheng Li Xue Bao 69:291–297
- 157. Ma L, Cai DL, Li HX et al (2009) Protective effects of salidroside on oxidative damage in fatigue mice. Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Xue Bao 7:237–241
- 158. Wang Z, Guo QY, Zhang XJ et al (2014) Corilagin attenuates aerosol bleomycin-induced experimental lung injury. Int J Mol Sci 15:9762–9779
- 159. Ma Y, Wang M, Li N et al (2009) Bleomycin-induced nuclear factor-kappaB activation in human bronchial epithelial cells involves the phosphorylation of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta. Toxicol Lett 187:194–200
- 160. Wu YH, Li XW, Li WQ et al (2016) Fluorofenidone attenuates bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis by inhibiting eukaryotic translation initiation factor 3a (eIF3a) in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 773:42–50
- 161. Bai X, Lai T, Zhou T et al (2018) In vitro antioxidant activities of phenols and oleanolic acid from mango peel and their cytotoxic effect on A549 cell line. Molecules 23:E1395
- 162. Gao X, Deeb D, Jiang H et al (2007) Synthetic triterpenoids inhibit growth and induce apoptosis in human glioblastoma and neuroblastoma cells through inhibition of prosurvival Akt, NF-kappaB and Notch1 signaling. J Neuro-Oncol 8:147–157
- 163. Monika SA, Suthar SK et al (2014) Synthesis of lantadene analogs with marked in vitro inhibition of lung adenocarcinoma and TNF- α induced nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B) activation. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 24:3814–3818
- 164. Lu GX, Bian DF, Ji Y et al (2014) Madecassoside ameliorates bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in mice by downregulating collagen deposition. Phytother Res 28:1224–1231

Part III

Other Lung Diseases



Respiratory Syncytial Virus-Induced Oxidative Stress in Lung Pathogenesis

13

Yashoda Madaiah Hosakote and Kempaiah Rayavara

Abstract

Respiratory viral infections remain the major cause of severe lower respiratory tract disease in both children and adults worldwide. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is a negative-sense single-stranded RNA virus of the family *Pneumoviridae*, which is responsible for acute lower respiratory tract infections (LRTI) in children and is a major cause of severe respiratory morbidity and mortality in the elderly and immunocompromised. These LRTI in young children are often characterized by wheezing and are defined as "bronchiolitis." RSV bronchiolitis in infancy is strongly associated with the subsequent development of asthma and other forms of bronchial disease. Currently, there is no effective vaccine or specific therapy available for RSV infection, and natural immunity is inadequate, resulting in reinfections through adulthood. The high risk of recurrence and mortality rates of respiratory viral infections in young children and the elderly explains the importance for continuing efforts to understand the pathogenesis of respiratory virus-induced lung inflammation in order to design better therapeutic strategies. Lung epithelial cells are the major targets of RSV infection and play a central role in orchestrating the response to oxidative stress. Although the pathogenic mechanisms of RSV-induced acute airway disease and associated longterm consequences are still unclear, experimental evidence suggests that early inflammatory and immune events in the lung play a fundamental role in the outcome of the disease. Moreover, oxidative stress plays an important role in the pathogenesis of many inflammatory lung diseases including asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Studies have shown that the oxidative stress response in the airways, which results from an imbalance between reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and lung antioxidant defenses, plays a major role

Y. M. Hosakote (🖂) · K. Rayavara

Department of Microbiology and Immunology, The University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX, USA e-mail: yahosako@utmb.edu

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_13

in the pathogenesis of RSV-associated lung inflammatory disease as RSV induces excess oxidant production and inhibits antioxidant enzymes expression. Studies have also demonstrated the role of ROS as important intracellular messengers of RSV-induced cellular signaling leading to the expression of key proinflammatory mediators, such as cytokines and chemokines. This chapter reviews the various mechanisms of RSV-induced oxidative stress and associated pathogenicity. Specifically, we will focus on recent studies demonstrating the role of ROS as important regulators of respiratory virus-induced cellular signaling and inflammatory responses induced as a result of RSV-induced oxidative stress.

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} RSV \cdot Human \ airway \ epithelial \ cells \cdot Oxidative \ stress \cdot Reactive \ oxygen \ species \\ \cdot Oxidants \cdot Antioxidants \cdot Antioxidant \ enzymes \cdot Cellular \ signaling \cdot Inflammation \\ \cdot \ TLR \ \cdot \ RAGE \ \cdot \ NF-\kappa B \ \cdot \ MAPK \ \cdot \ STAT \ \cdot \ IRF \ \cdot \ Monocytes \ \cdot \ Macrophages \ \cdot \ Eosinophils \ \cdot \ Dendritic \ cells \end{array}$

Abbreviations

4-HNE	4-hydrynonenal
AECs	airway epithelial cells
AMs	alveolar macrophages
AOE	antioxidant enzymes
AP-1	activator protein-1
ARE	antioxidant response element
BHA	butylated hydroxyanisole
bZIP	basic-leucine-zipper
CF	cystic fibrosis
CNC	cap-n-collar
COPD	chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
DCFDA	2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate
DCs	dendritic cells
DHE	dihydroethidium
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DUOX	dual oxidase
eNOS	endothelial type nitric oxide synthase
ERK 1/2	extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2
GPx	glutathione peroxidase
GSH	reduced glutathione
GSSG	oxidized glutathione
GST	glutathione S-transferase
H_2O_2	hydrogen peroxide
HIF	hypoxia-inducible factor

HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
IFN	interferon
IL	interleukins
iNOS	inducible type nitric oxide synthase
IRF	interferon-regulatory factor
Keap 1	kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1
LRTI	lower respiratory tract infections
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MDA	malondialdehyde
MDA-5	melanoma differentiation antigen-5
Mn	manganese
MSK1	mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinase 1
MΦs	macrophages
N_2O_3	dinitrogen trioxide
N_2O_4	dinitrogen tetroxide
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NF-ĸB	nuclear factor-kappa B
nNOS	neuronal type nitric oxide synthase
NO.	nitric oxide radical
NO_2^-	nitrite
NO_2	nitrogen dioxide
NO_3	nitrate
NOS	nitric oxide synthase
NOX	NADPH-oxidase
NQO1	NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase
Nrfs	nuclear factor (NF)-E2-related transcription factors
$O_{.2}^{-}$	superoxide ion radical
OH.	hydroxyl radical
ONO0 ⁻	peroxynitrite
P13K	phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases
pDCs	plasmacytoid DCs
PRR	pattern recognition receptors
RIG-I	RNA helicases, retinoic acid-inducible gene-I
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RNS	reactive nitrogen species
RO.	alkoxyl radicals
ROO.	peroxyl
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RSV	respiratory syncytial virus
SOD	superoxide dismutases
STAT	signal transducer and activator of transcription
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNFα	tumor necrosis factor α
XO	xanthine oxidase

13.1 Introduction

Respiratory viral infections are the most common causes of wheezing illness in both children and adults and are also associated with asthma exacerbations in patients with preexisting lung inflammatory diseases ([1, 2]). Bronchiolitis is a major clinical syndrome in hospitalized infants, accounting for up to 60% of all lower respiratory tract infections (LRTI) during the first year of life and is primarily associated with infections that are caused by respiratory syncytial virus (RSV). In a screen for viral and atypical bacterial respiratory pathogens, RSV was the most prevalent (43.3%) as it was found to infect young children below 5 years of age with acute respiratory infection, as well as being an extremely common agent (44.1%) in cases of co-infection with two or more pathogens in the same cohort [3]. RSV presents a unique challenge to epidemiologists as it exhibits distinct infection and disease patterns compared to other respiratory viral pathogens. High-risk groups for severe RSV infection include: infants with a history of premature birth, children with congenital heart disease, cystic fibrosis (CF), or other chronic lung diseases; immunocompromised patients or those with congenital immunodeficiencies; and the elderly. Currently, no efficacious vaccine or specific therapy available for RSV infection and natural immunity is inadequate, resulting in repeated infections throughout life [4].

Airway epithelial cells (AECs) are the major targets of RSV infection. Initially, virus replicates in nasal epithelial cells but will spread to epithelial cells of the lower airways, where it activates and modulates several signaling cascades to control the host immune and inflammatory response, including cellular oxidant and antioxidant pathways. These pathways regulate expression of a variety of transcription factors, proinflammatory mediators, activate the adaptive immune response for virus clear-ance, and facilitate the clinical features of the disease. Although the molecular mechanisms of RSV-induced acute lung disease are not fully understood, experimental evidence suggests that early lung inflammatory and immune responses play a central role in the outcome of the disease.

This chapter will comprehensively discuss the impact of RSV disease, clinical aspects of the RSV, cellular responses to RSV infection, the role of ROS in RSV pathogenesis and associated cellular signaling pathways, and the oxidant/antioxidant response to RSV infection.

13.2 Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV): A Major Human Pathogen

13.2.1 Clinical Features of RSV Infection, Common Risk Factors, and Its Impact

RSV, also called human *Orthopneumovirus*, is an enveloped, anti-sense, singlestranded RNA virus of the *Pneumoviridae* family (*Orthopneumovirus* genus and *Mononegavirales* order). The RSV genome is about 15.2 kb and possesses 10 genes that encode for 11 proteins [5–7]. In 1956, RSV was first isolated from a chimpanzee with common-cold-like illness and was then recovered from young children with severe lower respiratory tract disease [8]. Since its isolation, RSV has been identified as a leading cause of epidemic LRTI and is responsible for most hospital visits during infancy and childhood throughout the world [4, 9, 10]. There are two subtypes of RSV, type A and B, which differ in the envelope proteins present on the viral shell. Both subtypes are infectious, with some evidence that type A is the more common cause of severe RSV infections [11–13].

RSV accounts for ~64 million clinical infections and ~160 thousand deaths annually worldwide as estimated by the World Health Organization [14] and is responsible for the hospitalization of >200,000 individuals and the deaths of 4500 children every year in the USA alone [15]. RSV infection is most common in infants and young children, with nearly all children being infected by age three. It is the most common etiologic agent that cause severe bronchiolitis, a clinical syndrome characterized by wheezing, dyspnea, respiratory distress, and radiological evidence of hyperaeration of the lung [16]. About 30–40% of adults exposed to RSV infections will develop a spectrum of respiratory tract diseases ranging from a common cold to otitis media and to pneumonia with wheezing. RSV infections are also linked to the development and severity of asthma. Recurrent respiratory symptoms are observed in ~30% of children hospitalized for acute bronchiolitis in consistent with airway hyperreactivity in the years following infection, and RSV bronchiolitis has been proved to be the dominant risk factor for the development of asthma [17, 18]. Moreover, recurrent incidents of wheezing in asthmatic subjects are often precipitated by RSV infections. In addition to the clinical and epidemiological relationship between bronchiolitis in infancy and asthma later in life, the two diseases are also linked by the histopathologic findings of profound inflammation of the airway mucosa. Surprisingly, viral antigen has been found in only a small amount and patchy in distribution in autopsy samples from patients with RSV bronchiolitis [19]. These findings suggested that other secondary pathogenic mechanisms are responsible for the damage of the airway mucosa observed in RSV bronchiolitis. Although the pathogenic mechanisms underlying the severity of RSV bronchiolitis are unknown, studies have shown that excessive oxidative responses in the lung play a central role.

13.2.2 High-Risk Population of RSV Infections

RSV infections often manifest as a mild cold in healthy adults but can cause serious illness in the infant population. The severity of the disease is influenced by environmental and genetic modifiers, including passive smoke exposure, day care attendance, the presence of school-aged siblings, and birth within 6 months of RSV season. Young children and the elderly population are highly susceptible to RSV infection. Children with immunosuppression due to transplant are particularly at high risk for RSV related complications. Children with immature lungs, as in premature infants, are at higher risk for LRTI. Children with CF are more susceptible to RSV infection and greater incidence of hospitalization because the CF mutation

results in impaired immune function that inhibits inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) expression [20]. Rates of RSV hospitalizations and significant morbidity and mortality are much higher in infants and children with congenital heart disease, bronchopulmonary dysplasia, and asthma [21–24], as well as in adults with underlying cardiopulmonary diseases [14, 25, 26], and immunocompromised adults receiving organ transplantation, including heart transplants.

13.2.3 Treatment of RSV Infections

The treatment of RSV infection is mainly symptomatic, except in high-risk infants, the elderly, and immunocompromised individuals [27]. The supplemental oxygen administration to maintain oxygen saturations of $\geq 93\%$ and the replacement of fluid deficits are sufficiently effective for infants hospitalized with severe RSV infection. Treatment of RSV infection with bronchodilators such as albuterol and epinephrine, and corticosteroids including dexamethasone, prednisolone, methylprednisolone, and hydrocortisone are ineffective in reducing the rate of hospitalization when administered to outpatients and in shortening the length of hospitalization among inpatients. Apart from Synagis (palivizumab), a monoclonal antibody specific for the F protein of both subtypes of RSV, and Ribavirin, the only antiviral drug approved for the treatment of serious lung infections caused by RSV, there are no potential vaccines available to prevent RSV infections [28-30]. In children born with heart problems, Synagis was associated with low blood oxygen levels and abnormal heart rhythms. Use of Ribavirin is restricted to high-risk or severely ill infants, and its use has been limited by its cost, toxicity, variable efficacy, and tendency to generate resistant viruses [28, 31]. As shown by the studies with RSV, administration of immune globulin, humanized monoclonal antibody, or antiviral agents alone are unlikely to be of benefit in post-infectious treatment, despite their efficacy when used in prophylaxis regimens [32]. Thus, despite the fact that a specific antiviral therapy for RSV is currently not available, the current belief is that such an approach alone would not be sufficient to treat RSV bronchiolitis. The current need for additional effective combination therapies, which include anti-RSV agents and anti-inflammatory or immunomodulatory agents, is well-acknowledged [33].

Several treatment approaches are being investigated targeting different proteins associated with the replication and/or infection processes of the virus with the promise to treat RSV infections. However, they are either in preclinical development or early clinical trials, suggesting that even if successful, they will not be available for years to come. Development of vaccines for RSV infection are hindered due to the limited knowledge of the pathogenic mechanisms that determine the severity of acute LRTI caused by the virus. Studies from the formalin-inactivated vaccine that led to more severe disease in those exposed to natural RSV infections have contributed significantly to the understanding of the immune-mediated mechanisms responsible for the enhanced disease that occurred in a subset of the vaccinated infants [34, 35]. Extensive studies on RSV-mediated airway illness revealed the role of the host response and immunopathogenesis, either as an induced immune/

inflammatory response in the airways or as a failing to control or stop viral replication as a result of impaired immune response. Thus, understanding the molecular mechanisms that control the viral-induced immune/inflammatory response is critically important to identify new therapeutic strategies to treat acute LRTI caused by RSV and other respiratory viruses.

13.3 Cellular Responses to RSV Infection

13.3.1 Airway Epithelial Cell Responses to RSV Infection

The respiratory epithelium is the first protective physical barrier against injurious inhaled stimuli and pathogens, and it represents the major target site of respiratory virus infections. Specifically, airway epithelial cells (AECs) are armed with pathogen-sensing membrane and cell-surface pattern recognition receptors (PRR), such as the Toll-like receptor (TLR) family and cytosolic PRRs, which include the RNA helicases, retinoic acid-inducible gene-I (RIG-I), and melanoma differentiation antigen-5 (MDA-5), to initiate innate immune responses upon sensing the presence of viral patterns [36, 37]. After exposure to infectious agents or environmental toxicants, AECs has been shown to secrete a variety of molecules involved in the antiviral and innate immune response and play a major role in the inflammatory and infectious processes in the lung [38-42]. The mechanism(s) of RSV-induced acute airway inflammatory disease and its associated long-term consequences are largely unknown, but the delicate balance between immunopathology and immunoprotection in the airway mucosa appears to be altered by an exuberant local inflammatory response [43]. In this regard, RSV is considered among the most potent known biological stimuli for inducing the expression and/or secretion of proinflammatory mediators in association with evidence of oxidative "stress" (i.e., lipid peroxidation) [39, 40, 42]. RSV induces intracellular signals during the process of viral replication leading to activation of a subset of transcription factors, including nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB), interferon-regulatory factor (IRF), signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT), and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling cascades that regulate the expression of a number of important immune/inflammatory mediators [44]. Activation of these transcription factors following RSV infection occurs through redox-sensitive pathways [44, 45]. These events have been extensively demonstrated in AECs, the primary site of RSV replication, and play a central role in orchestrating the response to oxidative stress. RSV infection elicits severe oxidative damage to AECs by significantly inducing the production of lipid peroxidation products/ROS [46, 47]. Also, RSV infection of human AECs results in a remarkable downregulation of the level of expression of several anti-oxidant gene products [47, 48]. Studies in experimental animal models and in human infants with natural infections have confirmed that many inflammatory gene products, as well as some that have not yet been described, are induced or upregulated in the airway mucosa during RSV infection and can play a significant role in the pathogenesis of lung inflammation [41, 49, 50]. Conserved structural motifs expressed by microbial pathogens are recognized by AECs via TLRs expressed on their surface. Although TLRs are expressed at low levels under normal physiological conditions in AECs, their expression is increased under inflammatory conditions and during infection with pathogens [51–53]. Reports also show that A549 cells, a carcinoma-derived airway epithelial cell line, behave very similarly to primary AECs, such as human small alveolar epithelial (SAE) cells, in response to RSV infection and are suitable airway epithelial cell models for RSV infection [40, 54].

13.3.2 RSV Infection in Immune Cells

After the initial encounter with AECs, RSV next comes in contact with innate immune cells such as monocytes, alveolar macrophages (AMs), and dendritic cells (DCs) in the airways [55]. As blood leukocytes and respiratory tract epithelial cells actively contribute to inflammation during infection, the levels of proinflammatory mediators may be indicative of disease severity. These cells produce significant amounts of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines in response to viral infection that are involved in controlling adaptive immunity by their interaction with T helper cells.

Monocytes, macrophages (M Φ s), and DCs, which share common morphologic and functional features, are the major part of the first line of immune defense against a wide range of pathogens, including RSV, and contribute significantly to acute inflammation during infection [56, 57]. AMs are the predominant cell population at the alveolar space, and they work as major innate sentinels for pathogen recognition. AMs are required for the early immune response against RSV and promote viral clearance as well as control immunopathology through multiple mechanisms, including pathogen phagocytosis, cytokine production, direct interaction with helper and cytotoxic T cells, and antigen presentation [58]. Studies have shown that AMs and AECs respond to RSV infection distinctly in kinetics, magnitude, and TLR utilization. RSV induces IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12, and TNF- α in AMs [59], whereas RSV-infected AECs secrete several distinct groups of CC, CXC, and CX₃C cytokines [40].

DCs are the major antigen-presenting cells with a low phagocytic capacity and their function is to process antigens and present them to T cells to promote immunity to foreign antigens and secrete cytokines to regulate immune responses [56, 60]. A lower number of blood plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) and increased lung pDCs as well as induced expression of inflammatory and immunomodulatory cytokines, including TNF- α , IL-6, IL-1 β , IL010, and IL-12p70, have been associated with RSV bronchiolitis [61–63]. Eosinophils are leukocytes produced in the bone marrow that migrate to tissues throughout the body in order to fight against infections, and have been shown to be activated during the acute phase of RSV LRTI and contribute to antiviral immunity [64–67].

RSV infection elicits a strong systemic neutrophil response, which becomes activated during the initial pathogenesis of RSV LRTI that coincides with disease severity and viral burden [68–74]. Reduced circulating T cell counts are observed in

children with severe RSV illness compared to those with less severe infection [70, 75–78], whereas during the course of RSV disease the circulating T cell counts increase [75, 79]. Increased circulating B cells were observed in infants with RSV LRTI [76, 80, 81]. RSV infection also results in reduced total systemic natural killer cell counts, which correlates with greater severity of infection [75, 82, 83]. Studies have also shown that RSV can infect basal cells and alter human airway epithelial differentiation [84].

13.4 Oxidative Stress and Lung Inflammation

13.4.1 Reactive Oxygen Species

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are ubiquitous, unstable, highly reactive molecules derived from molecular oxygen produced during the normal cellular aerobic metabolism. ROS are classified into two groups: radical and non-radical. Members of the radical group, also called free radicals, include superoxide ion radical $(O_{.2})$, hydroxyl radical (OH.), nitric oxide radical (NO.), peroxyl radical (ROO.), and alkoxyl radical (RO.) and have at least one unpaired electron in the outer orbital and readily donate or accept an electron to attain stability [85–89]. The non-radical group includes hypochlorous acid (HClO), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), organic peroxides, and aldehydes. ROS can be generated from both endogenous and exogenous substances. ROS toxicity depends on the presence of a "fenton catalyst," such as iron ions and peroxidases, which, in the presence of O_2^- and H_2O_2 give rise to the extremely reactive (OH.) radicals. ROS and particularly (OH.) can interact with a variety of molecules, like membrane lipids, leading to lipid peroxidation, that impairs membrane functions, inactivates receptors, and increases tissue permeability [90]. Aldehydes including malondialdehyde (MDA) and 4-hydrynonenal (4-HNE) are generated during the process of lipid peroxidation and attack targets far from the site of the original free radical generation after they leaked from cells.

ROS formation occurs continuously in every cell during metabolic processes. Cellular sites for ROS generation include the mitochondria, cytochrome P-450 metabolism, peroxisomes, microsomes, inflammatory cell activation, and various enzymes like cyclooxygenase, lipoxygenase, xanthine oxidase, and membranebound nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH)-oxidase (NOX) (Fig. 13.1) [91]. Enhanced levels of ROS can be generated by increased activation of NOX (mitochondrial and plasma membrane-associated) as well as by several other mechanisms that induce excessive ROS production due to mitochondrial dysfunction or increased activity of the above-mentioned enzymes.

Mitochondria are the most important physiological sources of free radicals in living organisms and are known to generate significant amounts of ROS. ROS are generated as byproducts by the partial reduction of oxygen during the mitochondrial electron transport of aerobic respiration or by oxidation of nutrients in order to generate energy. They are also generated during the cellular response to xenobiotics, cytokines, bacterial invasion, and infection with certain viruses [90, 92–96]. In



Fig. 13.1 Reactive oxygen species generation: Intracellular superoxide (O_2^{-}) is primarily produced from the oxidation of NADPH by oxidase enzymes (NOX) or from mitochondrial electron transport by aerobic respiration. Superoxide is rapidly converted into hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) by compartment-specific superoxide dismutases (SODs), which may be converted to H_2O by cellular antioxidants, such as glutathione peroxidase, glutathione reductase, and catalase. Hydoxyl radicals (OH.) accumulates when H_2O_2 levels increase uncontrollably through the reactions with metal cations and irreversibly damage cellular components

addition to endogenous ROS, exogenous compounds like air pollutants, cigarette smoke, radiation, heavy metals, etc., can generate ROS that have been shown to modulate the expression of several genes, which highlights their role as redox regulators of intracellular signaling (Fig. 13.1) [97–99]. Mitochondria are also involved in the generation of nitric oxide (NO.) free radicals via the nitric oxide synthase (NOS) reaction, which reacts with $O_{.2}^{-}$ radicals to form another harmful oxidant, peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻), a potential source for OH. radical. The endoplasmic reticulum is another source of ROS where resident cytochrome P-450 oxidizes unsaturated fatty acids and xenobiotics such as pollutants, drugs, infectious agents, and toxins to generate O_{2}^{-} and $H_{2}O_{2}$. The xanthine oxidase (XO) is a form of xanthine oxidoreductase enzyme that catalyzes the reaction of NO with O.2 leading to the generation of highly reactive ONOO⁻. ROS are also generated as byproducts during metabolism of arachidonic acid, which occurs in every cell. During the respiratory burst in response to xenobiotics, NOX generate ROS from activated phagosomes in neutrophils and macrophages, by reacting with the intracellular NADPH, to reduce molecular oxygen superoxide [100].

13.4.2 Reactive Oxygen Species-Mediated Cellular Signaling

Low levels of ROS in the cells act as redox regulators of several cellular signaling pathways including those involved in the regulation of the antiviral and

proinflammatory response induced by paramyxoviruses [98, 99, 101]. In contrast, oxidative stress refers to the damaging side of excessive ROS levels that can modify cellular components, induce mitochondrial permeability transition, and signal the induction of several biological processes such as autophagy, apoptosis, and necrosis [90]. ROS regulate signal transduction pathways through the cyclic oxidation/ reduction of cysteine residues in kinases, phosphatases, and other regulatory factors. Signaling pathways play specific roles in different phases of the cell cycle and regulate cellular processes that are influenced by the oxidative state of the cell. NO is an intra- and extracellular messenger that transmits signals to cells in the cardiovascular, nervous, and immune system and mediates activation of several signaling cascades and has been shown to play a major role in various physiological processes [102]. Superoxide and H_2O_2 in association with antioxidant enzymes (AOE) play a role in turning enzymes on and off by redox signaling [102]. ROS-mediated mitogenic signaling activates receptor tyrosine kinases, which in turn activates MAPK cascades required for cell proliferation. Activation of these signaling cascades leads to the generation of H_2O_2 from several enzyme catalysts, including NOX, which interacts with SOS-RAS-RAF-ERK and P13K/Akt pathways to promote cell proliferation, nutrient uptake, and cell survival [103, 104]. Low-level increases in H₂O₂ result in increased reentry into the cell cycle, while sustained high levels of H₂O₂ lead to cell arrest and eventual apoptosis after prolonged arrest.

In addition to aerobic metabolism, ROS are generated physiologically through PRR signal transduction pathways. The innate and adaptive immune systems are critical for pathogen-specific defense and immunological memory and play a crucial role in tissue repair. It is evident that ROS are second messengers in innate and adaptive immune cells [105, 106], but increased ROS levels within the immune cells can result in hyperactivation of the inflammatory response that results in tissue damage and pathology [107]. Adaptive immunity involves the expansion of T cells and B cells specific for pathogens via rapid proliferative responses and has been shown to be mediated by redox signaling [108–110]. Ligation of TLRs induces ROS generation, which is critical for the activation of key transcriptional mediators of the innate immune response [111, 112]. Likewise, ligation of the TNF receptor induces ROS and oxidative DNA damage [113]. Studies have shown that PRR-generated ROS plays an important role in signal transduction by controlling phosphorylation [113–115]. Low levels of ROS in the immune system might enhance normal immune function but high levels lead to elevated levels of proinflammatory mediators and promote inflammation [116]. ROS have been shown to induce an inflammatory response through activation of NF-KB and activator protein-1 (AP-1). Interleukin (IL)-8 expression has been shown to be redox-sensitive following influenza, rhinovirus, and RSV infection, since antioxidant treatment significantly reduces its secretion from viral-infected AECs [94, 95, 117]. The likely mechanism of antioxidant-mediated modulation of viral-induced IL-8 expression is through inhibition of viral-induced NF- κ B and AP-1 binding to its cognate site on the IL-8 promoter [94, 118]. NF-kB-regulated genes have been shown to play a major role in regulating the amount of ROS in the cell, and ROS have several inhibitory or stimulatory effects on NF- κ B activation. ROS have been reported to stimulate NF- κ B

pathways in the cytoplasm, but inhibit NF- κ B activity in the nucleus, suggesting ROS involvement in both activation and repression of NF- κ B signaling [119].

13.4.3 Intracellular Antioxidant Response to Oxidative Stress

Oxidative stress refers to the imbalance due to excess ROS or oxidants over the antioxidant capacity of the cell resulting in direct or indirect damage to nucleic acids, proteins, carbohydrates, and lipids that play a critical role in the preservation of essential biological functions (Fig. 13.2). Oxidative stress has been implicated in many disease states such as cancer, diabetes, aging, COPD, CF, and asthma [120– 127]. Cells are protected against oxidative damage due to exogenous and endogenous ROS by well-developed enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidant systems. Endogenous antioxidants comprise a number of enzymes, such as SODs [three isoforms of SOD: the cytoplasmic Cu/Zn SOD or SOD1, the mitochondrial Mn SOD or SOD2, and the extracellular EC SOD or SOD3], catalase, glutathione reductase, glutathione peroxidase (GPx), and glutathione S-transferase (GST) [90]. The nonenzymatic antioxidants include transferrin, ferritin, and vitamins A and C. Each enzyme system plays a significant role in limiting intracellular and extracellular oxidative stress, and it depends on the source and type of ROS generation. Glutathione (GSH) is the major nonenzymatic oxidant defense system, which is present in large amounts in most mammalian tissue and helps to detoxify peroxides and generate a number of antioxidants [128]. Reduced GSH is generated from its oxidized form (GSSG) by the action of an NADPH dependent glutathione reductase.



Fig. 13.2 Sources of reactive oxygen species. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are generated by endogenous as well as exogenous sources, and leads to accumulation of oxidized proteins, lipids and DNA, which cause cellular damage. These ROS activates/modulate the cellular signaling pathways that alters gene expression by up/down regulation of antioxidant enzymes, transcription factors, cytokines, chemokines, followed by altered cellular responses such as inflammation, mitochondrial and other organelle damage, cell death, cell proliferation, and cell survival

Antioxidant enzymes (AOE) can either directly metabolize ROS (SOD and catalase) or indirectly eliminate ROS using reducing agent GSH. SOD enzymes convert O_2^{-} anion to H_2O_2 and molecular oxygen, while catalase converts H_2O_2 to water and oxygen [129]. GPx functions in the detoxification of H_2O_2 and lipid peroxides in a glutathione and other cofactors dependent reaction. GST catalyzes the addition of GSH to endogenous and xenobiotic substrates and plays an important role in xenobiotic and endobiotic compounds detoxification and metabolism [130]. Peroxiredoxins (Prdx) are cysteine-dependent peroxidases that catalyze the reduction of H_2O_2 and alkyl hydroperoxides in the presence of thioredoxin and NADPH [131–134].

The antioxidant response element (ARE) is a *cis*-acting regulatory sequence present in the 5' region of the genes encoding antioxidants and phase-2 detoxification enzymes/cytoprotective proteins and mediates the transcriptional activation of many oxidative stress-inducible genes [135]. Nuclear factor (NF)-E2-related transcription factors (Nrfs) are basic-leucine-zipper (bZIP) proteins belonging to the cap-n-collar (CNC) family of transcription factors that regulate the expression of antioxidant and phase 2 metabolizing enzymes in response to oxidative stress by binding to the ARE sequence. Nrf1, Nrf2, Nrf3, and p45NFE2 are closely related, and Bach1 and Bach2 are distantly related factors of the CNC family. CNC-bZIP factors interact with the small Maf family of bZIP proteins to form heterodimers and homodimers among themselves. The homodimers repress gene expression, while the small Maf-Nrf heterodimer activates it. Nrf1 and Nrf2 have been shown to be positive regulators of ARE-dependent gene transcription [135]. On the other hand, Nrf3 and Bach 1 seem to function as negative regulators of ARE-mediated gene expression [136, 137]. The key transcription factor that regulates the expression of antioxidant defense enzymes is Nrf2. During normal levels of ROS generation, Nrf2 is retained in the cytoplasm by kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap 1), which targets Nrf2 to ubiquitin-dependent degradation. Under oxidative stress, Nrf2 dissociates from Keap 1 and translocates into the nucleus, where it binds to ARE in the promoter regions of antioxidant genes and regulates their expression.

13.4.4 Measurement of Reactive Oxygen Species

ROS are continuously produced in the cells during metabolic processes, which are counterbalanced by AOE. ROS measurement in samples is dependent on the analytic target along with the ROS in question. At the cellular level, ROS can be individually assessed from tissue culture. At the animal level, however, typically the effects of oxidative stress are measured from various biological samples including serum, plasma, and urine samples. ROS levels are measured indirectly either by using redox-sensitive cell membrane permeable compounds (2',7'-dichlorodihydro-fluorescein diacetate, DCFDA; dihydroethidium, DHE, etc.), which are trapped intracellularly after cleavage by cellular esterases and become quantifiable fluorescent products once oxidized by ROS, or via quantification of cellular oxidation

products. Measurement of GSH subcellular levels and its localization is critical in understanding the modulation of cellular redox status as well as the mechanisms of detoxification. GSH to GSSG ratio is a good indicator of oxidative stress within cells, which can be determined by HPLC [138], capillary electrophoresis [139], or biochemically [140], including a luminescent and fluorescent-based, and colorimetric assays for the detection and quantification of GSH in cells and biological samples [141, 142].

Lipid peroxidation is a key indicator of oxidative stress and is widely used as an indicator of free radical formation. Lipid peroxides are unstable and decompose to form a highly reactive carbonyl compounds such as MDA [143]. F2-isoprostanes (F2-like prostanoid derivatives of arachidonic acid) are stable and are not produced by any enzymatic pathway but are formed by lipid peroxidation and can be measured using fluorescent derivatives [144-148]. Superoxide detection is based on its interaction with other compounds to generate a measurable result [149-153]. The generation of ROS in mitochondria can be observed using fluorescence microscopy with MitoSOX Red reagent [154]. Hydrogen peroxide concentrations can be measured using either fluorogenic or colorimetric substrates [155–158]. Intracellular oxidative activity is also detected by calcein-acetoxymethylester, a fluoregenic cell permeable compound that is converted by intracellular esterases into the cell impermeant anion calcein, which is fluorescent [159]. NO. radical has a very short halflife and reacts with several different molecules to form either nitrate (NO₃) or nitrite (NO_2) , which can be determined by either colorimetric or fluorescent assays [160– 162]. Genetically encoded fluorescent protein-based biosensors have been developed for the detection of the ROS in situ in real time and can be targeted to specific cellular compartments [163–166].

13.4.5 Reactive Oxygen Species and Lung Inflammation

Oxidative stress plays an important role in the pathogenesis and development of many acute and chronic inflammatory airway diseases [123, 127, 167–169]. The lung is a highly specialized organ that is exposed to high levels of oxygen due to its unique structure that provides an enormous surface area to outside ambient air. This makes the lung vulnerable to a wide range of environmental pollutants, toxicants, oxidants, and numerous infectious agents with the potential to induce oxidative damage [170]. ROS are produced from pulmonary epithelial and endothelial cells or released from activated macrophages and leukocytes as a result of inhaled toxic air pollutants and microorganisms that cause damage to the lungs, which in turn initiate the cascades of pro-inflammatory reactions propagating pulmonary and systemic distress [171]. Several studies have either directly or indirectly demonstrated the role of ROS generated by pulmonary epithelial and inflammatory cells in the pathogenesis of acute and chronic lung diseases such as acute respiratory distress, asthma, acute lung injury, pulmonary fibrosis, lung cancer, and COPD [123, 127, 172–175].

ROS plays a major role in enhancing lung inflammation through the activation of stress kinases, redox-sensitive transcription factors, and histone modifications such as acetylation, phosphorylation, and methylation that results in increased expression of a battery of distinct proinflammatory mediators and promotes inflammation [175]. Increased nitrated proteins, lipid peroxides, and O_2^- and XO activity was observed in COPD and asthma patients, compared to normal subjects [174, 176-180]. Elevated levels of DNA (8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine), lipid (MDA, F2-isoprostane, 7-ketocholesterol, and 7-hydroxycholesterol), protein (carbonyl content), and sterol oxidation have been reported with influenza infection [181-184]. Increased ROS, inducible type NOS (iNOS), and decreased antioxidants have been observed with influenza, Sendai virus, human metapneumovirus, and rhinovirus infection [48, 95, 185–192]. In order to restore normal physiological functions, elimination of pathogenic insult and injured tissue components occurs in the tissue as a part of the inflammation process. Currently, several studies have focused on the molecular mechanisms by which oxidants exert their pathological effects on the lungs and are still the subject of debate.

13.5 RSV-Induced ROS in Lung Inflammation

13.5.1 Reactive Oxygen Species Generation During RSV Infection

ROS generation has been shown to be induced by various viruses, including influenza, hepatitis B and C virus, rhinovirus, and HIV-1 in a variety of cell types [193, 194]. Enhanced production of ROS is observed in response to respiratory viral infections like influenza and rhinovirus [187, 189]. ROS plays a major role in the pathogenesis of acute bronchiolitis caused by RSV [47, 48, 98, 195]. Severe RSV infections can promote oxidative stress in respiratory epithelial cells and induce production of lipid peroxidation products that are responsible for the magnitude of the response to stress in relation to the disease severity [47]. Elevated total ROS levels and lipid (MDA and F2-isoprostane) peroxidation products have been reported in AECs and in RSV-infected patient samples [44, 47, 48, 196]. Accumulation of lipid peroxidation products and oxidized glutathione (GSSG) as well as decreased GSH/GSSG ratio in the plasma of infants with RSV-induced acute bronchiolitis were indicative of increased oxidative stress [195]. Mitochondrial ROS, specifically O.2 formation, occurs due to the leakage of electrons from electron transport chains located on the inner mitochondrial membrane during the process of oxidative phosphorylation. RSV infection induced a dramatic increase in the formation of O.2 anion radicals as detected with MitoSOX by immunofluorescence microscopy and flow cytometry [196], indicating that the ROS generated by RSV is of mitochondrial origin. DNA damage observed in RSV infection is attributable to mitochondrial ROS, which are able to induce double-strand breaks, and antioxidant treatment alleviates symptoms of RSV infection. RSV infection of phagocytes, including monocytes, neutrophils, and eosinophils, leads to O.2 production, which becomes the substrate for myeloperoxidase that leads to the release of potent

pro-oxidative mediators in the extracellular environment [197, 198]. RSV-induced O_{2} generation, chemokine secretion, and activation of IRF and STAT proteins is mediated via an NADPH oxidase-dependent pathway [45, 199, 200]. RSV-induced oxidative stress likely contributes to the preservation and augmentation of the inflammatory response [201].

13.5.2 Reactive Nitrogen Species and RSV Infection

ROS such as O.² can rapidly react with NO to form reactive nitrogen species (RNS) via nitric oxide synthase (NOS), which in turn induces nitrosative stress by covalent modification of protein tyrosine residues and adds to the proinflammatory burden of ROS. RNS including NO, ONOO⁻, and nitrogen dioxide (NO₂) have been shown to be involved in the pathophysiology of many inflammatory lung diseases. NO is a gaseous nitrogen-centered inorganic free radical synthesized endogenously by the oxidative deamination of L-arginine to L-citrulline by a family of three NOS, which includes a neuronal type (nNOS), an inducible type (iNOS), and an endothelial type (eNOS) [202]. Among these, iNOS gene expression is significantly induced under inflammatory conditions due to its transcriptional regulation by proinflammatory cytokines, redox-sensitive transcription factors, and viral infections [203]. NO as a mediator of tissue injury, the immunoregulatory as well as toxic effects of NO are due to its ability to react with molecular oxygen and oxygen-derived free radicals. Under aerobic conditions, NO is rapidly oxidized to RNS as NO₂, dinitrogen trioxide (N_2O_3) , and dinitrogen tetroxide (N_2O_4) , with N_2O_3 being the major oxidative product in biological systems.

The free radical NO has been implicated in the pathogenesis of many inflammatory lung diseases as they are produced in different cell types, including human AECs that express eNOS and iNOS, with the latter one being highly induced after exposure to proinflammatory mediators and oxidants [204, 205]. NO production has been demonstrated with several viral infections including RSV, and iNOS induction has been considered as a likely universal event in all viral infections [203, 206-211]. Although *iNOS* gene expression can be regulated through cytokine secretion [203, 212], its initial induction appears to be independent of cytokine stimulation as observed with other viruses [206, 213, 214]. Increases in iNOS protein levels with increased nitrite levels have been reported in AECs after RSV infection, which is viral replication-dependent [209]. RSV-induced NO production was significantly reduced with IL-4 pretreatment, and no change in iNOS expression was observed, indicating that Th1/Th2 affects the ability of AECs to produce NO in response to RSV infection [209]. Studies have also reported that RSV infection has no effect on NO production in human immune cells [209]. Significant induction of NO and iNOS has been reported in RSV-infected mice [215]. In contrast to the in vitro and animal studies, no change in NO generation was observed in adult volunteers who were experimentally infected with RSV compared to control subjects [216]. In addition, a reduction of exhaled NO was observed in infants with acute RSV bronchiolitis, compared to healthy controls, which returned to normal levels during the convalescence phase [217]. High levels of NO metabolites, including nitrites and nitrates, were observed in the spinal fluid from RSV-infected infants with central nervous system symptoms [218].

NO generation in respiratory viral infections has been shown to inhibit viral replication, cause viral mutation, and play a major role in disease pathogenesis [67, 210, 215, 219]. Studies show that iNOS constitutive expression and NO production in AECs results in reversible, dose-dependent inhibition of RSV replication, whereas treatment with increasing concentrations of the chemical donor S-nitroso-N-acetylpenicillamine did not affect the viral replication. This suggests that NO derived from endogenous iNOS expression was more effective in RSV replication inhibition than exogenous NO addition via chemical donor [210]. Several signaling molecules are regulated by NO including NF- κ B, AP-1, and kinases, as they contain critical cysteine residues that undergo nitrosylation [220]. Treatment of AECs with iNOS inhibitors such as L-arginine methyl ester, L-NG-monomethyl arginine, and amino guanidine did not have a significant effect on RSV-induced chemokine secretion suggesting that NO does not affect the intracellular signaling pathways leading to RSVinduced NF- κ B, AP-1, and interferon regulatory factor (IRF) activation [44, 118]. However, treatment with free 3-nitrotyrosine inhibited viral replication and chemokine secretion via formation of α -tubulin [221]. NO production in response to RSV infection has been shown to modulate ion channel activity as well as the stabilization of the transcription factor hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α), a master regulator of mammalian oxygen homeostasis [211, 222, 223]. Studies have also shown the association of excessive NO production with RSV severity, and prevention of its formation significantly decreased inflammatory cell recruitment and airway hyper responsiveness, suggesting that NO modulation during early events in the course of RSV infection could ameliorate the resulting lung disease in children [215].

13.5.3 ROS-Mediated Cellular Signaling in RSV Infection

Airway epithelial cells are the major targets of RSV infection and have been shown to secrete a variety of proinflammatory molecules that play a key role in inflammatory and infectious processes in the lung [38]. Several studies have characterized the transcriptional mechanisms that control gene expression in lung epithelial cells, which is mediated through redox-sensitive signaling pathways (Fig. 13.3). RSV infection results in the activation of the several cellular signaling cascades involved in the expression of early response genes, including cytokines, chemokines, and type I interferons (IFN), which is coordinated by a subset of transcription factors. Several redox-sensitive transcription factors, including nuclear factor-IL6 (NF-IL6), NF- κ B, AP-1, IRF, HIF-1 α , and STAT proteins, which regulate the expression of a variety of proinflammatory/immunological mediators, such as cytokines and chemokines (Fig. 13.3). RSV infection of AECs induces NF-IL6, in a timedependent manner and is replication-dependent [224].

RSV infection induces NF- κ B activation in AECs [44, 225, 226]. NF- κ B is required for the transcription of several RSV-inducible inflammatory and immunoregulatory genes and/or are dependent on an intact NF- κ B-signaling pathway.



Fig. 13.3 Redox-sensitive signaling pathways in RSV infection: RSV infection in airway epithelial cells activates a multitude of redox-sensitive signaling pathways. RSV infection via Toll-like receptors (TLRs) activates NF- κ B/ERK/MAPK pathways, which subsequently activates JAK/ STAT signaling pathways via MyD88, and is mediated through reactive oxygen species (ROS). On the other hand RSV-induced ROS via NADPH oxidase (NOX) activates STAT pathways and promotes translocation of NF- κ B, ERK1/2, STAT1/2, and interferon regulatory factors (IRFs) to the nucleus and binds to interferon sensitive response element (ISRE) and induces interferon stimulated genes (ISGs) to produce cytokines and chemokines that induces inflammation and cell damage. RSV-induced ROS promotes Nrf2 translocation to the nucleus and induces histone deacetylases (HDACs) that leads to nuclear deacetylation of Nrf2 and dissociation from antioxidant response element (ARE) that causes inhibition of antioxidant gene expression

NF-κB activation is crucial for RSV-induced expression of cytokines, chemokines, secreted proteins, and signaling molecules [227–230]. Several NF-κB family members, in particular RelA, have been shown to be phosphorylated on specific serine (ser) residues, which is required for optimal NF-κB activity. RSV induces RelA phosphorylation on ser-276 and ser-536, and this depends on activation of mitogenand stress-activated protein kinase 1 (MSK1), a serine/threonine kinase downstream of extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2 (ERK1/2), and p38 MAPKs that play key roles in several cellular processes [115, 231]. RSV-induced NF-κB phosphorylation has been shown to be regulated by TLR3 [229, 232], and oxidative stress has been shown to play a major role in TLR3 activation [233]. Several members of the AP-1 family, including c-Jun and activating transcription factor-2, are activated by RSV-induced oxidative stress and regulate RSV-induced gene expression [234, 235]. ROS generated in response to RSV infection can activate IRF and STAT family transcription factors and regulate signal transduction cascades leading to chemokine expression [44, 45]. The Janus-activated tyrosine kinases (JAK) have been shown to phosphorylate STAT proteins, leading to an induction of gene expression. RSV infection leads to the activation of HIF-1 α via NO-stabilization, which regulates the expression of several genes, including vascular endothelial growth factor, CD 73, and cyclo-oxygenase-2 [236].

13.5.4 Antioxidants in RSV Infection and Their Use as Therapeutics

Oxidative stress is the result of an excess of oxidants and/or depletion of antioxidants. Respiratory viruses have been shown to induce ROS generation and reduce cellular antioxidant defenses. Decreased antioxidant levels, another marker of oxidative stress, were observed in RSV-infected infants, mice, and cells (Table 13.1) [47, 48, 115, 237]. Several studies suggest antioxidant activity is impaired in lung inflammation [238-240]. Upregulation of protective antioxidants has also been observed as a result of increased oxidative stress in cells along with its proinflammatory mechanisms. Studies have also shown increased levels of antioxidants in children with post-infectious bronchiolitis obliterans, which suggests that enhanced antioxidant enzyme activity preserves redox status homeostasis as well as their actuation as a defense mechanism for oxidative damage [48]. RSV infection induced increased expression of antioxidant enzymes as a protective mechanism only at early stages of infection, including SOD1, SOD3, catalase, GST, and GPx, but their expression progressively decreased as the infection progressed. Meanwhile, SOD2 levels continued to increase during the course of RSV infection, suggesting that RSV infection results in enhanced intracellular H_2O_2 production that is not detoxified by AOEs, which leads to the generation of (OH.) free radicals that can react with lipids, proteins, and DNA and cause cellular damage [47, 48]. RSV infections result in oxidation of Prdx antioxidant family members, including Prdx-1, Prdx-3, and Prdx-4, and their inhibition has been shown to enhance ROS production and protein carbonylation [48]. RSV infection leads to a decrease in nuclear levels of Nrf2, and several studies show that the Nrf2-ARE pathway plays a protective role in RSV-induced lung injury [47, 241]. Studies have shown that RSV induces RNS and NOS in the lungs of infected mice, and that inhibition of NOS expression significantly reduces RSV-induced lung inflammation [215]. These studies suggest that airway oxidant-antioxidant imbalance as a result of RSV infection could play a major role in the pathogenesis of RSV-induced inflammatory lung disease.

Several studies have explored antioxidants as novel therapeutic strategies to treat RSV infections. RSV infection induces ROS generation in AECs and pretreatment with the antioxidant such as butylated hydroxyanisole (BHA), and synthetic SOD, and catalase mimetic compounds blocks RSV-induced signal transduction cascades that lead to chemokine expression through inhibition of IRF and STAT family transcription factors [44, 45]. Treatment with the pan-NOX inhibitor, dibenziodolium chloride, significantly inhibited ROS generation induced by influenza virus, RSV, and rhinovirus [187, 189]. Several RNA viruses, including RSV, modulate cellular oxidative stress through the involvement of NOX/DUOX pathway, downregulation

Antioxidants	Model system	Change in levels	References
GSH/GSSG	Cells Mice Human	Decreased	[47, 115, 195, 237]
SOD1	Cells Mice Human	Decreased	[47, 48, 244]
SOD2	Cells Mice Human	Increased Decreased Unchanged	[47, 48]
SOD3	Cells Mice Human	Decreased	[47, 48]
Catalase	Cells Mice Human	Decreased	[47, 48]
Glutathione peroxidase	Cells Mice Human	Decreased Decreased Increased	[47, 48, 195]
Glutathione S-transferase	Cells Mice Human	Decreased	[47, 48]
Peroxiredoxin	Cells Mice Human	Decreased	[48]
Thioredoxin	Cells Mice Human	Decreased	[48]

Table 13.1 Antioxidants levels in respiratory syncytial virus infection

of AOE, increased production of ROS as well as induced antioxidant response [44, 47, 101, 115]. N-acetylcysteine treatment drastically reduced the damaged nuclei with decreased viral titer. Similarly, reduced GSH ethyl ester, a cell-permeable derivative of GSH, reduced DNA damage foci and virus titer suggesting that these antioxidants might also influence virus entry into cells [196]. Studies in transgenic mice have demonstrated that a deficiency in SOD, especially SOD 2 and 3, reduces survival and increases lung injury in response to hyperoxia, while overexpressing SODs results in improved survival [242]. This suggests that suppression of oxidative stress can be achieved by the overexpression of AOEs. Recombinant SOD, and several SOD mimetics that have been developed based around organo-manganese complexes, and their therapeutic potential have been explored in a variety of disease models. Most commonly studied SOD mimetic compounds include metalloporphyrin-based compounds (such as AEOL10113 and 10150), cyclic polyamine-based molecules (such as M40403 and 40419), and the salen-manganese compounds (such as EUK-8, EUK-134, and EUK-189 with significant catalase and peroxidase activity) [243]. Significant inhibition RSV-induced IL-8 and RANTES secretion in AECs was observed with EUK-134 treatment [47]. Although the specific mechanisms by which antioxidants protect the cells in the context of RSV infection are

unclear, attenuation of inflammation is likely playing a major role. Currently, there is no effective antioxidant therapy that has good bioavailability and potency is available. These studies suggest that RSV infection induces ROS generation that leads to the disruption of the antioxidant system. The modulation of ROS generation may enhance cellular antioxidant capacities that might attenuate RSV-induced inflammation.

13.6 Summary and Future Directions

RSV is an important human pathogen, which induces enhanced ROS/RNS generation in lung epithelial cells and leads to severe oxidative stress that is likely to play a major role in initiating and amplifying lung injury and inflammation. ROS generated in response to RSV infection can activate and modulate intracellular signal transduction cascades including NF-kB, IRF, and JAK-STAT pathways in host sentinel cells in the airways leading to induced expression of proinflammatory mediators and promoting inflammation. Modulation of ROS/RNS production and oxidative stress via antioxidant approach could represent a novel therapeutic strategy to ameliorate severe lung disease associated with RSV infection. Studies have shown that RSV infection alters antioxidants/antioxidant pathway/ARE/Nrf2 in the airways and that modulation of these pathways has the potential to develop novel therapeutics against RSV and other respiratory viral infections. Therefore, further studies are required to develop therapeutics that could significantly impact the morbidity of RSV infection. Future antioxidant-based therapeutic interventions need to address the concerns regarding the route of administration, bioavailability, and tissue distribution as antioxidant supplementation would only be effective if the drug was available at the site of infection/inflammation.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by a Young Clinical Scientist Award from the Flight Attendant Medical Research Institute (FAMRI) (grant I.D. number 123385), NIH/NIAID R21 AI35619, and Data Acquisition from the Institute for Human Infections and Immunity to YMH. We thank Drs. Linsey Yeager and Sherry Haller for manuscript editing.

Conflict of Interest Disclosure statement The authors declare no competing financial interests.

References

- 1. Chauhan AJ, Johnston SL (2003) Air pollution and infection in respiratory illness. Br Med Bull 68:95–112
- Grissell TV, Powell H, Shafren DR, Boyle MJ, Hensley MJ, Jones PD, Whitehead BF, Gibson PG (2005) Interleukin-10 gene expression in acute virus-induced asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172(4):433–439
- Bezerra PG, Britto MC, Correia JB, Duarte MC, Fonceca AM, Rose K, Hopkins MJ, Cuevas LE, McNamara PS (2011) Viral and atypical bacterial detection in acute respiratory infection in children under five years. PLoS One 6(4):e18928. PMCID:PMC3078930

- 4. Hall CB (2001) Respiratory syncytial virus and parainfluenza virus. N Engl J Med 344(25):1917–1928
- Afonso CL, Amarasinghe GK, Banyai K, Bao Y, Basler CF, Bavari S, Bejerman N, Blasdell KR, Briand FX, Briese T et al (2016) Taxonomy of the order Mononegavirales: update 2016. Arch Virol 161(8):2351–2360. PMCID:PMC4947412
- Graham BS, Rutigliano JA, Johnson TR (2002) Respiratory syncytial virus immunobiology and pathogenesis. Virology 297(1):1–7
- 7. Hacking D, Hull J (2002) Respiratory syncytial virus–viral biology and the host response. J Infect 45(1):18–24
- Blount RE Jr, Morris JA, Savage RE (1956) Recovery of cytopathogenic agent from chimpanzees with coryza. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 92(3):544–549
- Shay DK, Holman RC, Newman RD, Liu LL, Stout JW, Anderson LJ (1999) Bronchiolitisassociated hospitalizations among US children, 1980–1996. JAMA 282(15):1440–1446
- Ogra PL (2004) Respiratory syncytial virus: the virus, the disease and the immune response. Paediatr Respir Rev 5(Suppl A):S119–S126
- Mufson MA, Belshe RB, Orvell C, Norrby E (1988) Respiratory syncytial virus epidemics: variable dominance of subgroups A and B strains among children, 1981–1986. J Infect Dis 157(1):143–148
- 12. Waris M (1991) Pattern of respiratory syncytial virus epidemics in Finland: two-year cycles with alternating prevalence of groups A and B. J Infect Dis 163(3):464–469
- Gilca R, De SG, Tremblay M, Vachon ML, Leblanc E, Bergeron MG, Dery P, Boivin G (2006) Distribution and clinical impact of human respiratory syncytial virus genotypes in hospitalized children over 2 winter seasons. J Infect Dis 193(1):54–58
- Falsey AR, Hennessey PA, Formica MA, Cox C, Walsh EE (2005) Respiratory syncytial virus infection in elderly and high-risk adults. N Engl J Med 352(17):1749–1759
- Henrickson KJ, Hoover S, Kehl KS, Hua W (2004) National disease burden of respiratory viruses detected in children by polymerase chain reaction. Pediatr Infect Dis J 23(1 Suppl):S11–S18
- Wohl ME, Chernick V (1978) State of the art: bronchiolitis. Am Rev Respir Dis 118(4):759–781
- Sigurs N, Bjarnason R, Sigurbergsson F, Kjellman B (2000) Respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis in infancy is an important risk factor for asthma and allergy at age 7. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161(5):1501–1507
- Sigurs N, Bjarnason R, Sigurbergsson F, Kjellman B, Bjorksten B (1995) Asthma and immunoglobulin E antibodies after respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis: a prospective cohort study with matched controls. Pediatrics 95(4):500–505
- Gardner PS, McQuillin J, Court SD (1970) Speculation on pathogenesis in death from respiratory syncytial virus infection. Br Med J 1(5692):327–330. PMCID:PMC1699011
- Zheng S, De BP, Choudhary S, Comhair SA, Goggans T, Slee R, Williams BR, Pilewski J, Haque SJ, Erzurum SC (2003) Impaired innate host defense causes susceptibility to respiratory virus infections in cystic fibrosis. Immunity 18(5):619–630
- 21. Navas L, Wang E, de Carvalho V, Robinson J (1992) Improved outcome of respiratory syncytial virus infection in a high-risk hospitalized population of Canadian children. Pediatric investigators collaborative network on infections in Canada. J Pediatr 121(3):348–354
- MacDonald NE, Hall CB, Suffin SC, Alexson C, Harris PJ, Manning JA (1982) Respiratory syncytial viral infection in infants with congenital heart disease. N Engl J Med 307(7):397–400
- Buckingham SC, Quasney MW, Bush AJ, DeVincenzo JP (2001) Respiratory syncytial virus infections in the pediatric intensive care unit: clinical characteristics and risk factors for adverse outcomes. Pediatr Crit Care Med 2(4):318–323
- 24. Feltes TF, Cabalka AK, Meissner HC, Piazza FM, Carlin DA, Top FH Jr, Connor EM, Sondheimer HM (2003) Palivizumab prophylaxis reduces hospitalization due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children with hemodynamically significant congenital heart disease. J Pediatr 143(4):532–540

- Bogomolov BP (1990) Respiratory infections as a risk factor for patients with ischemic heart disease. Klin Med (Mosk) 68(7):35–39
- Falsey AR, Walsh EE (2000) Respiratory syncytial virus infection in adults. Clin Microbiol Rev 13(3):371–384. PMCID:PMC88938
- Welliver RC (2010) Pharmacotherapy of respiratory syncytial virus infection. Curr Opin Pharmacol 10(3):289–293
- Crotty S, Andino R (2002) Implications of high RNA virus mutation rates: lethal mutagenesis and the antiviral drug ribavirin. Microbes Infect 4(13):1301–1307
- 29. Zhu Q, Patel NK, McAuliffe JM, Zhu W, Wachter L, McCarthy MP, Suzich JA (2012) Natural polymorphisms and resistance-associated mutations in the fusion protein of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV): effects on RSV susceptibility to palivizumab. J Infect Dis 205(4):635–638
- 30. Feltes TF, Sondheimer HM, Tulloh RM, Harris BS, Jensen KM, Losonsky GA, Griffin MP (2011) A randomized controlled trial of motavizumab versus palivizumab for the prophylaxis of serious respiratory syncytial virus disease in children with hemodynamically significant congenital heart disease. Pediatr Res 70(2):186–191
- Prince GA (2001) An update on respiratory syncytial virus antiviral agents. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 10(2):297–308
- Peebles RS Jr, Moore ML (2007) A mechanistic advance in understanding RSV pathogenesis, but still a long way from therapy. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 37(4):375–377
- Blanco JC, Boukhvalova MS, Hemming P, Ottolini MG, Prince GA (2005) Prospects of antiviral and anti-inflammatory therapy for respiratory syncytial virus infection. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther 3(6):945–955
- 34. Kim HW, Canchola JG, Brandt CD, Pyles G, Chanock RM, Jensen K, Parrott RH (1969) Respiratory syncytial virus disease in infants despite prior administration of antigenic inactivated vaccine. Am J Epidemiol 89(4):422–434
- Garofalo RP, Haeberle H (2000) Epithelial regulation of innate immunity to respiratory syncytial virus. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 23(5):581–585
- 36. Kato H, Takeuchi O, Sato S, Yoneyama M, Yamamoto M, Matsui K, Uematsu S, Jung A, Kawai T, Ishii KJ et al (2006) Differential roles of MDA5 and RIG-I helicases in the recognition of RNA viruses. Nature 441(7089):101–105
- Pichlmair A, Schulz O, Tan CP, Naslund TI, Liljestrom P, Weber F (2006) Reis e Sousa. RIG-I-mediated antiviral responses to single-stranded RNA bearing 5'-phosphates. Science 314(5801):997–1001
- Bacon KB, Schall TJ (1996) Chemokines as mediators of allergic inflammation. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 109(2):97–109
- 39. Graham BS, Johnson TR, Peebles RS (2000) Immune-mediated disease pathogenesis in respiratory syncytial virus infection. Immunopharmacology 48(3):237–247
- 40. Zhang Y, Luxon BA, Casola A, Garofalo RP, Jamaluddin M, Brasier AR (2001) Expression of respiratory syncytial virus-induced chemokine gene networks in lower airway epithelial cells revealed by cDNA microarrays. J Virol 75(19):9044–9058. PMCID:PMC114473
- Haeberle HA, Kuziel WA, Dieterich HJ, Casola A, Gatalica Z, Garofalo RP (2001) Inducible expression of inflammatory chemokines in respiratory syncytial virus-infected mice: role of MIP-1alpha in lung pathology. J Virol 75(2):878–890. PMCID:PMC113984
- Garofalo RP, Goldman AS (1999) Expression of functional immunomodulatory and antiinflammatory factors in human milk. Clin Perinatol 26(2):361–377
- Garofalo R, Kimpen JL, Welliver RC, Ogra PL (1992) Eosinophil degranulation in the respiratory tract during naturally acquired respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Pediatr 120(1):28–32
- 44. Casola A, Burger N, Liu T, Jamaluddin M, Brasier AR, Garofalo RP (2001) Oxidant tone regulates RANTES gene expression in airway epithelial cells infected with respiratory syncytial virus. Role in viral-induced interferon regulatory factor activation. J Biol Chem 276(23):19715–19722

- 45. Liu T, Castro S, Brasier AR, Jamaluddin M, Garofalo RP, Casola A (2004) Reactive oxygen species mediate virus-induced STAT activation: role of tyrosine phosphatases. J Biol Chem 279(4):2461–2469
- 46. Hosakote YM, Komaravelli N, Mautemps N, Liu T, Garofalo RP, Casola A (2012) Antioxidant mimetics modulate oxidative stress and cellular signaling in airway epithelial cells infected with respiratory syncytial virus. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 303(11):L991–L1000. PMCID:PMC3532525
- 47. Hosakote YM, Liu T, Castro SM, Garofalo RP, Casola A (2009) Respiratory syncytial virus induces oxidative stress by modulating antioxidant enzymes. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 41(3):348–357. PMCID:PMC2742754
- Hosakote YM, Jantzi PD, Esham DL, Spratt H, Kurosky A, Casola A, Garofalo RP (2011) Viral-mediated inhibition of antioxidant enzymes contributes to the pathogenesis of severe respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 183(11):1550–1560. PMCID:PMC3137144
- 49. Harrison AM, Bonville CA, Rosenberg HF, Domachowske JB (1999) Respiratory syncytical virus-induced chemokine expression in the lower airways: eosinophil recruitment and degranulation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 159(6):1918–1924
- Garofalo RP, Patti J, Hintz KA, Hill V, Ogra PL, Welliver RC (2001) Macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha (not T helper type 2 cytokines) is associated with severe forms of respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. J Infect Dis 184(4):393–399
- 51. Sakai A, Han J, Cato AC, Akira S, Li JD (2004) Glucocorticoids synergize with IL-1beta to induce TLR2 expression via MAP Kinase Phosphatase-1-dependent dual Inhibition of MAPK JNK and p38 in epithelial cells. BMC Mol Biol 5:2. PMCID:PMC419700
- 52. Homma T, Kato A, Hashimoto N, Batchelor J, Yoshikawa M, Imai S, Wakiguchi H, Saito H, Matsumoto K (2004) Corticosteroid and cytokines synergistically enhance toll-like receptor 2 expression in respiratory epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 31(4):463–469
- 53. Shuto T, Imasato A, Jono H, Sakai A, Xu H, Watanabe T, Rixter DD, Kai H, Andalibi A, Linthicum F et al (2002) Glucocorticoids synergistically enhance nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae-induced Toll-like receptor 2 expression via a negative cross-talk with p38 MAP kinase. J Biol Chem 277(19):17263–17270
- 54. Olszewska-Pazdrak B, Casola A, Saito T, Alam R, Crowe SE, Mei F, Ogra PL, Garofalo RP (1998) Cell-specific expression of RANTES, MCP-1, and MIP-1alpha by lower airway epithelial cells and eosinophils infected with respiratory syncytial virus. J Virol 72(6):4756–4764. PMCID:PMC110009
- 55. Kimpen JL (2001) Respiratory syncytial virus and asthma. The role of monocytes. Am. J Respir Crit Care Med 163(3 Pt 2):S7–S9
- 56. Zaslona Z, Wilhelm J, Cakarova L, Marsh LM, Seeger W, Lohmeyer J, von Wulffen W (2009) Transcriptome profiling of primary murine monocytes, lung macrophages and lung dendritic cells reveals a distinct expression of genes involved in cell trafficking. Respir Res 10:2. PMCID:PMC2639356
- Rodero MP, Poupel L, Loyher PL, Hamon P, Licata F, Pessel C, Hume DA, Combadiere C, Boissonnas A (2015) Immune surveillance of the lung by migrating tissue monocytes. Elife 4:e07847. PMCID:PMC4521583
- Gordon SB, Read RC (2002) Macrophage defences against respiratory tract infections. Br Med Bull 61:45–61
- Becker S, Quay J, Soukup J (1991) Cytokine (tumor necrosis factor, IL-6, and IL-8) production by respiratory syncytial virus-infected human alveolar macrophages. J Immunol 147(12):4307
- 60. Stockwin LH, McGonagle D, Martin IG, Blair GE (2000) Dendritic cells: immunological sentinels with a central role in health and disease. Immunol Cell Biol 78(2):91–102
- 61. Weng K, Zhang J, Mei X, Wu A, Zhang B, Cai M, Zheng Y, Ke Z (2014) Lower number of plasmacytoid dendritic cells in peripheral blood of children with bronchiolitis following respiratory syncytial virus infection. Influenza Other Respir Virus 8(4):469–473. PMCID:PMC4181807

- 62. Qureshi MH, Durre K, Yang W (2007) Skewed polarization of pulmonary dendritic cells in RSV-infection and susceptibility to asthma (39.2). J Immunol 178 (1 Supplement):S25
- 63. Guerrero-Plata A, Baron S, Poast JS, Adegboyega PA, Casola A, Garofalo RP (2005) Activity and regulation of alpha interferon in respiratory syncytial virus and human metapneumovirus experimental infections. J Virol 79(16):10190–10199. PMCID:PMC1182647
- Chung HL, Kim SG (2002) RANTES may be predictive of later recurrent wheezing after respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis in infants. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 88(5):463–467
- Smyth RL, Fletcher JN, Thomas HM, Hart CA (1997) Immunological responses to respiratory syncytial virus infection in infancy. Arch Dis Child 76(3):210–214. PMCID:PMC1717100
- 66. Bermejo-Martin JF, Garcia-Arevalo MC, Alonso A, De Lejarazu RO, Pino M, Resino S, Tenorio A, Bernardo D, Leon AJ, Garrote JA et al (2007) Persistence of proinflammatory response after severe respiratory syncytial virus disease in children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 119(6):1547–1550
- Phipps S, Lam CE, Mahalingam S, Newhouse M, Ramirez R, Rosenberg HF, Foster PS, Matthaei KI (2007) Eosinophils contribute to innate antiviral immunity and promote clearance of respiratory syncytial virus. Blood 110(5):1578–1586
- Smith PK, Wang SZ, Dowling KD, Forsyth KD (2001) Leucocyte populations in respiratory syncytial virus-induced bronchiolitis. J Paediatr Child Health 37(2):146–151
- O'Donnell DR, Carrington D (2002) Peripheral blood lymphopenia and neutrophilia in children with severe respiratory syncytial virus disease. Pediatr Pulmonol 34(2):128–130
- 70. Welliver TP, Garofalo RP, Hosakote Y, Hintz KH, Avendano L, Sanchez K, Velozo L, Jafri H, Chavez-Bueno S, Ogra PL et al (2007) Severe human lower respiratory tract illness caused by respiratory syncytial virus and influenza virus is characterized by the absence of pulmonary cytotoxic lymphocyte responses. J Infect Dis 195(8):1126–1136
- 71. Heidema J, Lukens MV, van Maren WW, van Dijk ME, Otten HG, van Vught AJ, van der Werff DB, van Gestel SJ, Semple MG, Smyth RL et al (2007) CD8+ T cell responses in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and peripheral blood mononuclear cells of infants with severe primary respiratory syncytial virus infections. J Immunol 179(12):8410–8417
- 72. Emboriadou M, Hatzistilianou M, Magnisali C, Sakelaropoulou A, Exintari M, Conti P, Aivazis V (2007) Human neutrophil elastase in RSV bronchiolitis. Ann Clin Lab Sci 37(1):79–84
- Abu-Harb M, Bell F, Finn A, Rao WH, Nixon L, Shale D, Everard ML (1999) IL-8 and neutrophil elastase levels in the respiratory tract of infants with RSV bronchiolitis. Eur Respir J 14(1):139–143
- 74. Lukens MV, van de Pol AC, Coenjaerts FE, Jansen NJ, Kamp VM, Kimpen JL, Rossen JW, Ulfman LH, Tacke CE, Viveen MC, et al (2010) A systemic neutrophil response precedes robust CD8(+) T-cell activation during natural respiratory syncytial virus infection in infants. J Virol 84(5):2374–2383. PMCID:PMC2820924
- De WW, Twilhaar WN, Kimpen JL (1998) T cell subset analysis in peripheral blood of children with RSV bronchiolitis. Scand J Infect Dis 30(1):77–80
- 76. Roman M, Calhoun WJ, Hinton KL, Avendano LF, Simon V, Escobar AM, Gaggero A, Diaz PV (1997) Respiratory syncytial virus infection in infants is associated with predominant Th-2-like response. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 156(1):190–195
- 77. Aberle JH, Aberle SW, Dworzak MN, Mandl CW, Rebhandl W, Vollnhofer G, Kundi M, Popow-Kraupp T (1999) Reduced interferon-gamma expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of infants with severe respiratory syncytial virus disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 160(4):1263–1268
- 78. Pinto RA, Arredondo SM, Bono MR, Gaggero AA, Diaz PV (2006) T helper 1/T helper 2 cytokine imbalance in respiratory syncytial virus infection is associated with increased endogenous plasma cortisol. Pediatrics 117(5):e878–e886
- 79. de Waal L, Koopman LP, van Benten IJ, Brandenburg AH, Mulder PG, de Swart RL, Fokkens WJ, Neijens HJ, Osterhaus AD (2003) Moderate local and systemic respiratory syncytial virus-specific T-cell responses upon mild or subclinical RSV infection. J Med Virol 70(2):309–318
- Reed JL, Welliver TP, Sims GP, McKinney L, Velozo L, Avendano L, Hintz K, Luma J, Coyle AJ, Welliver RC Sr (2009) Innate immune signals modulate antiviral and polyreactive antibody responses during severe respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Infect Dis 199(8):1128–1138
- Raes M, Peeters V, Alliet P, Gillis P, Kortleven J, Magerman K, Rummens JL (1997) Peripheral blood T and B lymphocyte subpopulations in infants with acute respiratory syncytial virus brochiolitis. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 8(2):97–102
- 82. Larranaga CL, Ampuero SL, Luchsinger VF, Carrion FA, Aguilar NV, Morales PR, Palomino MA, Tapia LF, Avendano LF (2009) Impaired immune response in severe human lower tract respiratory infection by respiratory syncytial virus. Pediatr Infect Dis J 28(10):867–873
- Noyola DE, Juarez-Vega G, Monjaras-Avila C, Escalante-Padron F, Rangel-Ramirez V, Cadena-Mota S, Monsivais-Urenda A, Garcia-Sepulveda CA, Gonzalez-Amaro R (2015) NK cell immunophenotypic and genotypic analysis of infants with severe respiratory syncytial virus infection. Microbiol Immunol 59(7):389–397
- Persson BD, Jaffe AB, Fearns R, Danahay H (2014) Respiratory syncytial virus can infect basal cells and alter human airway epithelial differentiation. PLoS One 9(7):e102368. PMCID:PMC4102526
- 85. Aruoma OI, Halliwell B, Hoey BM, Butler J (1989) The antioxidant action of N-acetylcysteine: its reaction with hydrogen peroxide, hydroxyl radical, superoxide, and hypochlorous acid. Free Radic Biol Med 6(6):593–597
- Gutteridge JM, Halliwell B (1992) Comments on review of free radicals in biology and medicine, second edition, by Barry Halliwell and John M. C Gutteridge. Free Radic Biol Med 12(1):93–95
- Haddad JJ (2002) Antioxidant and prooxidant mechanisms in the regulation of redox(y)sensitive transcription factors. Cell Signal 14(11):879–897
- Rahman I (2002) Oxidative stress, transcription factors and chromatin remodelling in lung inflammation. Biochem Pharmacol 64(5-6):935–942
- Kohen R, Nyska A (2002) Oxidation of biological systems: oxidative stress phenomena, antioxidants, redox reactions, and methods for their quantification. Toxicol Pathol 30(6):620–650
- 90. Droge W (2002) Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function. Physiol Rev 82(1):47–95
- Inoue M, Sato EF, Nishikawa M, Park AM, Kira Y, Imada I, Utsumi K (2003) Mitochondrial generation of reactive oxygen species and its role in aerobic life. Curr Med Chem 10(23):2495–2505
- Akaike T, Ando M, Oda T, Doi T, Ijiri S, Araki S, Maeda H (1990) Dependence on O2- generation by xanthine oxidase of pathogenesis of influenza virus infection in mice. J Clin Invest 85(3):739–745. PMCID:PMC296490
- 93. Akaike T, Noguchi Y, Ijiri S, Setoguchi K, Suga M, Zheng YM, Dietzschold B, Maeda H (1996) Pathogenesis of influenza virus-induced pneumonia: involvement of both nitric oxide and oxygen radicals. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93(6):2448–2453. PMCID:PMC39817
- Knobil K, Choi AM, Weigand GW, Jacoby DB (1998) Role of oxidants in influenza virusinduced gene expression. Am J Physiol 274(1 Pt 1):L134–L142
- 95. Biagioli MC, Kaul P, Singh I, Turner RB (1999) The role of oxidative stress in rhinovirus induced elaboration of IL-8 by respiratory epithelial cells. Free Radic Biol Med 26(3-4):454–462
- 96. Schwarz KB (1996) Oxidative stress during viral infection: a review. Free Radic Biol Med 21(5):641–649
- 97. Hayes JD, McMahon M (2001) Molecular basis for the contribution of the antioxidant responsive element to cancer chemoprevention. Cancer Lett 174(2):103–113
- Allen RG, Tresini M (2000) Oxidative stress and gene regulation. Free Radic Biol Med 28(3):463–499
- Gabbita SP, Robinson KA, Stewart CA, Floyd RA, Hensley K (2000) Redox regulatory mechanisms of cellular signal transduction. Arch Biochem Biophys 376(1):1–13

- 100. Cash TP, Pan Y, Simon MC (2007) Reactive oxygen species and cellular oxygen sensing. Free Radic Biol Med 43(9):1219–1225. PMCID:PMC2696222
- Grandvaux N, Mariani M, Fink K (2015) Lung epithelial NOX/DUOX and respiratory virus infections. Clin Sci (Lond) 128(6):337–347
- 102. Hou YC, Janczuk A, Wang PG (1999) Current trends in the development of nitric oxide donors. Curr Pharm Des 5(6):417–441
- 103. Cantley LC (2002) The phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway. Science 296(5573):1655-1657
- 104. Park HS, Huh SH, Kim MS, Kim DY, Gwag BJ, Cho SG, Choi EJ (2006) Neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) modulates the JNK1 activity through redox mechanism: a cGMP independent pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 346(2):408–414
- 105. West AP, Shadel GS, Ghosh S (2011) Mitochondria in innate immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 11(6):389–402. PMCID:PMC4281487
- 106. Kaminski MM, Roth D, Krammer PH, Gulow K (2013) Mitochondria as oxidative signaling organelles in T-cell activation: physiological role and pathological implications. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz) 61(5):367–384
- Mittal M, Siddiqui MR, Tran K, Reddy SP, Malik AB (2014) Reactive oxygen species in inflammation and tissue injury. Antioxid Redox Signal 20(7):1126–1167. PMCID:PMC3929010
- Laniewski NG, Grayson JM (2004) Antioxidant treatment reduces expansion and contraction of antigen-specific CD8+ T cells during primary but not secondary viral infection. J Virol 78(20):11246–11257. PMCID:PMC521823
- 109. Sena LA, Li S, Jairaman A, Prakriya M, Ezponda T, Hildeman DA, Wang CR, Schumacker PT, Licht JD, Perlman H, et al (2013) Mitochondria are required for antigen-specific T cell activation through reactive oxygen species signaling. Immunity 38(2):225–236. PMCID:PMC3582741
- 110. Kaminski MM, Sauer SW, Klemke CD, Suss D, Okun JG, Krammer PH, Gulow K (2010) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species control T cell activation by regulating IL-2 and IL-4 expression: mechanism of ciprofloxacin-mediated immunosuppression. J Immunol 184(9):4827–4841
- 111. Yang CS, Kim JJ, Lee SJ, Hwang JH, Lee CH, Lee MS, Jo EK (2013) TLR3-triggered reactive oxygen species contribute to inflammatory responses by activating signal transducer and activator of transcription-1. J Immunol 190(12):6368–6377
- 112. Asehnoune K, Strassheim D, Mitra S, Kim JY, Abraham E (2004) Involvement of reactive oxygen species in Toll-like receptor 4-dependent activation of NF-kappa B. J Immunol 172(4):2522–2529
- 113. Jamaluddin M, Wang S, Boldogh I, Tian B, Brasier AR (2007) TNF-alpha-induced NF-kappaB/RelA Ser(276) phosphorylation and enhanceosome formation is mediated by an ROS-dependent PKAc pathway. Cell Signal 19(7):1419–1433
- 114. Brasier AR, Tian B, Jamaluddin M, Kalita MK, Garofalo RP, Lu M (2011) RelA Ser276 phosphorylation-coupled Lys310 acetylation controls transcriptional elongation of inflammatory cytokines in respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Virol 85(22):11752–1169. PMCID:PMC3209292
- 115. Jamaluddin M, Tian B, Boldogh I, Garofalo RP, Brasier AR (2009) Respiratory syncytial virus infection induces a reactive oxygen species-MSK1-phospho-Ser-276 RelA pathway required for cytokine expression. J Virol 83(20):10605–10615. PMCID:PMC2753134
- 116. Kong X, Thimmulappa R, Craciun F, Harvey C, Singh A, Kombairaju P, Reddy SP, Remick D, Biswal S (2011) Enhancing Nrf2 pathway by disruption of Keap1 in myeloid leukocytes protects against sepsis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 184(8):928–938. PMCID:PMC3208662
- 117. Mastronarde JG, Monick MM, Hunninghake GW (1995) Oxidant tone regulates IL-8 production in epithelium infected with respiratory syncytial virus. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 13(2):237–244
- 118. Mastronarde JG, Monick MM, Mukaida N, Matsushima K, Hunninghake GW (1998) Activator protein-1 is the preferred transcription factor for cooperative interaction with nuclear factor-kappaB in respiratory syncytial virus-induced interleukin-8 gene expression in airway epithelium. J Infect Dis 177(5):1275–1281

- 119. Kabe Y, Ando K, Hirao S, Yoshida M, Handa H (2005) Redox regulation of NF-kappaB activation: distinct redox regulation between the cytoplasm and the nucleus. Antioxid Redox Signal 7(3-4):395–403
- 120. Trachootham D, Alexandre J, Huang P (2009) Targeting cancer cells by ROS-mediated mechanisms: a radical therapeutic approach? Nat Rev Drug Discov 8(7):579–591
- 121. Paravicini TM, Touyz RM (2006) Redox signaling in hypertension. Cardiovasc Res 71(2):247–258
- 122. Haigis MC, Yankner BA (2010) The aging stress response. Mol Cell 40(2):333–344. PMCID:PMC2987618
- 123. Macnee W (2001) Oxidative stress and lung inflammation in airways disease. Eur J Pharmacol 429(1–3):195–207
- 124. van Eeden SF, Sin DD (2013) Oxidative stress in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a lung and systemic process. Can Respir J 20(1):27–29. PMCID:PMC3628643
- 125. Droge W (2002) Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function. Physiol Rev 82(1):47–95
- 126. Sahiner UM, Birben E, Erzurum S, Sackesen C, Kalayci O (2011) Oxidative stress in asthma. World Allergy Organ J 4(10):151–158. PMCID:PMC3488912
- Rahman I, Morrison D, Donaldson K, Macnee W (1996) Systemic oxidative stress in asthma, COPD, and smokers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154(4 Pt 1):1055–1060
- 128. Tarpey MM, Wink DA, Grisham MB (2004) Methods for detection of reactive metabolites of oxygen and nitrogen: in vitro and in vivo considerations. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 286(3):R431–R444
- Putnam CD, Arvai AS, Bourne Y, Tainer JA (2000) Active and inhibited human catalase structures: ligand and NADPH binding and catalytic mechanism. J Mol Biol 296(1):295–309
- 130. Avissar N, Finkelstein JN, Horowitz S, Willey JC, Coy E, Frampton MW, Watkins RH, Khullar P, Xu YL, Cohen HJ (1996) Extracellular glutathione peroxidase in human lung epithelial lining fluid and in lung cells. Am J Physiol 270(2 Pt 1):L173–L182
- 131. Finkel T, Holbrook NJ (2000) Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of ageing. Nature 408(6809):239–247
- 132. Babior BM (1999) NADPH oxidase: an update. Blood 93(5):1464-1476
- 133. Laurindo FR, Araujo TL, Abrahao TB (2014) Nox NADPH oxidases and the endoplasmic reticulum. Antioxid Redox Signal 20(17):2755–2775. PMCID:PMC4026305
- 134. Brandes RP, Weissmann N, Schroder K (2014) Nox family NADPH oxidases: molecular mechanisms of activation. Free Radic Biol Med 76:208–226
- Jaiswal AK (2004) Nrf2 signaling in coordinated activation of antioxidant gene expression. Free Radic Biol Med 36(10):1199–1207
- 136. Sankaranarayanan K, Jaiswal AK (2004) Nrf3 negatively regulates antioxidant-response element-mediated expression and antioxidant induction of NAD(P)H: quinone oxidoreductase1 gene. J Biol Chem 279(49):50810–50817
- 137. Dhakshinamoorthy S, Jain AK, Bloom DA, Jaiswal AK (2005) Bach1 competes with Nrf2 leading to negative regulation of the antioxidant response element (ARE)-mediated NAD(P) H: quinone oxidoreductase 1 gene expression and induction in response to antioxidants. J Biol Chem 280(17):16891–16900
- Jones DP (2002) Redox potential of GSH/GSSG couple: assay and biological significance. Methods Enzymol 348:93–112
- Camera E, Picardo M (2002) Analytical methods to investigate glutathione and related compounds in biological and pathological processes. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 781(1–2):181–206
- 140. Baker MA, Cerniglia GJ, Zaman A (1990) Microtiter plate assay for the measurement of glutathione and glutathione disulfide in large numbers of biological samples. Anal Biochem 190(2):360–365
- 141. Briviba K, Fraser G, Sies H, Ketterer B (1993) Distribution of the monochlorobimaneglutathione conjugate between nucleus and cytosol in isolated hepatocytes. Biochem J 294(Pt 3):631–633. PMCID:PMC1134507

- 142. Hedley DW (1993) Flow cytometric assays of anticancer drug resistance. Ann NY Acad Sci 677:341–353
- 143. Pryor WA, Stanley JP, Blair E (1976) Autoxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids: II. A suggested mechanism for the formation of TBA-reactive materials from prostaglandin-like endoperoxides. Lipids 11(5):370–379
- 144. Beretta G, Aldini G, Facino RM, Russell RM, Krinsky NI, Yeum KJ (2006) Total antioxidant performance: a validated fluorescence assay for the measurement of plasma oxidizability. Anal Biochem 354(2):290–298
- Pap EH, Drummen GP, Post JA, Rijken PJ, Wirtz KW (2000) Fluorescent fatty acid to monitor reactive oxygen in single cells. Methods Enzymol 319:603–612
- 146. Pap EH, Drummen GP, Winter VJ, Kooij TW, Rijken P, Wirtz KW (1999) Op den Kamp JA, Hage WJ, Post JA. Ratio-fluorescence microscopy of lipid oxidation in living cells using C11-BODIPY(581/591). FEBS Lett 453(3):278–282
- 147. Morrow JD, Hill KE, Burk RF, Nammour TM, Badr KF, Roberts LJ (1990) A series of prostaglandin F2-like compounds are produced in vivo in humans by a non-cyclooxygenase, free radical-catalyzed mechanism. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87(23):9383–9387. PMCID:PMC55169
- 148. Drummen GP, Gadella BM, Post JA, Brouwers JF (2004) Mass spectrometric characterization of the oxidation of the fluorescent lipid peroxidation reporter molecule C11-BODIPY(581/591). Free Radic Biol Med 36(12):1635–1644
- 149. McCord JM, Fridovich I (1968) The reduction of cytochrome c by milk xanthine oxidase. J Biol Chem 243(21):5753–5760
- 150. Tarpey MM, White CR, Suarez E, Richardson G, Radi R, Freeman BA (1999) Chemiluminescent detection of oxidants in vascular tissue. Lucigenin but not coelenterazine enhances superoxide formation. Circ Res 84(10):1203–1211
- 151. Tarpey MM, Fridovich I (2001) Methods of detection of vascular reactive species: nitric oxide, superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, and peroxynitrite. Circ Res 89(3):224–236
- 152. Kundu K, Knight SF, Willett N, Lee S, Taylor WR, Murthy N (2009) Hydrocyanines: a class of fluorescent sensors that can image reactive oxygen species in cell culture, tissue, and in vivo. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 48(2):299–303. PMCID:PMC5935505
- 153. Zielonka J, Vasquez-Vivar J, Kalyanaraman B (2008) Detection of 2-hydroxyethidium in cellular systems: a unique marker product of superoxide and hydroethidine. Nat Protoc 3(1):8–21
- 154. Pourahmad J, Mortada Y, Eskandari MR, Shahraki J (2011) Involvement of lysosomal labilisation and lysosomal/mitochondrial cross-talk in diclofenac induced hepatotoxicity. Iran J Pharm Res 10(4):877–887. PMCID:PMC3813083
- 155. Ruch W, Cooper PH, Baggiolini M (1983) Assay of H2O2 production by macrophages and neutrophils with homovanillic acid and horse-radish peroxidase. J Immunol Methods 63(3):347–357
- 156. Hinkle PC, Butow RA, Racker E, Chance B (1967) Partial resolution of the enzymes catalyzing oxidative phosphorylation. XV. Reverse electron transfer in the flavin-cytochrome beta region of the respiratory chain of beef heart submitochondrial particles. J Biol Chem 242(22):5169–5173
- 157. Zhou M, Diwu Z, Panchuk-Voloshina N, Haugland RP (1997) A stable nonfluorescent derivative of resorufin for the fluorometric determination of trace hydrogen peroxide: applications in detecting the activity of phagocyte NADPH oxidase and other oxidases. Anal Biochem 253(2):162–168
- 158. Reszka KJ, Wagner BA, Burns CP, Britigan BE (2005) Effects of peroxidase substrates on the Amplex red/peroxidase assay: antioxidant properties of anthracyclines. Anal Biochem 342(2):327–337
- 159. Uggeri J, Gatti R, Belletti S, Scandroglio R, Corradini R, Rotoli BM, Orlandini G (2004) Calcein-AM is a detector of intracellular oxidative activity. Histochem Cell Biol 122(5):499–505

- 160. Nathan C (1992) Nitric oxide as a secretory product of mammalian cells. FASEB J 6(12):3051–3064
- 161. Misko TP, Schilling RJ, Salvemini D, Moore WM, Currie MG (1993) A fluorometric assay for the measurement of nitrite in biological samples. Anal Biochem 214(1):11–16
- 162. Green LC, Wagner DA, Glogowski J, Skipper PL, Wishnok JS, Tannenbaum SR (1982) Analysis of nitrate, nitrite, and [15N]nitrate in biological fluids. Anal Biochem 126(1):131–138
- 163. Schwarzlander M, Fricker MD, Muller C, Marty L, Brach T, Novak J, Sweetlove LJ, Hell R, Meyer AJ (2008) Confocal imaging of glutathione redox potential in living plant cells. J Microsc 231(2):299–316
- 164. Meyer AJ, Brach T, Marty L, Kreye S, Rouhier N, Jacquot JP, Hell R (2007) Redox-sensitive GFP in Arabidopsis thaliana is a quantitative biosensor for the redox potential of the cellular glutathione redox buffer. Plant J 52(5):973–986
- 165. Gutscher M, Pauleau AL, Marty L, Brach T, Wabnitz GH, Samstag Y, Meyer AJ, Dick TP (2008) Real-time imaging of the intracellular glutathione redox potential. Nat Method 5(6):553–559
- 166. Hanson GT, Aggeler R, Oglesbee D, Cannon M, Capaldi RA, Tsien RY, Remington SJ (2004) Investigating mitochondrial redox potential with redox-sensitive green fluorescent protein indicators. J Biol Chem 279(13):13044–13053
- 167. Bauer M, Grabsch C, Schlink U, Klopp N, Illig T, Kramer U, von BA, Schaaf B, Borte M, Heinrich J et al (2012) Genetic association between obstructive bronchitis and enzymes of oxidative stress. Metabolism 61(12):1771–1779
- 168. Griese M, Ramakers J, Krasselt A, Starosta V, Van KS, Fischer R, Ratjen F, Mullinger B, Huber RM, Maier K et al (2004) Improvement of alveolar glutathione and lung function but not oxidative state in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 169(7):822–828
- Chow CW, Herrera Abreu MT, Suzuki T, Downey GP (2003) Oxidative stress and acute lung injury. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 29(4):427–431
- Azad N, Rojanasakul Y, Vallyathan V. Inflammation and lung cancer: roles of reactive oxygen/nitrogen species. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev 2008;11(1):1-15
- 171. Emmendoerffer A, Hecht M, Boeker T, Mueller M, Heinrich U (2000) Role of inflammation in chemical-induced lung cancer. Toxicol Lett 112–113:185–191
- 172. Henricks PA, Nijkamp FP (2001) Reactive oxygen species as mediators in asthma. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 14(6):409–420
- 173. Morcillo EJ, Estrela J, Cortijo J (1999) Oxidative stress and pulmonary inflammation: pharmacological intervention with antioxidants. Pharmacol Res 40(5):393–404
- 174. Dworski R (2000) Oxidant stress in asthma. Thorax 55(Suppl 2):S51–S53. PMCID:PMC1765968
- 175. Rahman I, Adcock IM (2006) Oxidative stress and redox regulation of lung inflammation in COPD. Eur Respir J 28(1):219–242
- 176. Pinamonti S, Muzzoli M, Chicca MC, Papi A, Ravenna F, Fabbri LM, Ciaccia A (1996) Xanthine oxidase activity in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Free Radic Biol Med 21(2):147–155
- 177. Heunks LM, Vina J, van Herwaarden CL, Folgering HT, Gimeno A, Dekhuijzen PN (1999) Xanthine oxidase is involved in exercise-induced oxidative stress in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Physiol 277(6):R1697–R1704
- 178. Pinamonti S, Leis M, Barbieri A, Leoni D, Muzzoli M, Sostero S, Chicca MC, Carrieri A, Ravenna F, Fabbri LM et al (1998) Detection of xanthine oxidase activity products by EPR and HPLC in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Free Radic Biol Med 25(7):771–779
- Petruzzelli S, Puntoni R, Mimotti P, Pulera N, Baliva F, Fornai E, Giuntini C (1997) Plasma
 3-nitrotyrosine in cigarette smokers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 156(6):1902–1907
- 180. Calhoun WJ, Reed HE, Moest DR, Stevens CA (1992) Enhanced superoxide production by alveolar macrophages and air-space cells, airway inflammation, and alveolar macrophage density changes after segmental antigen bronchoprovocation in allergic subjects. Am Rev Respir Dis 145(2 Pt 1):317–325

- 181. Lim JY, Oh E, Kim Y, Jung WW, Kim HS, Lee J, Sul D (2014) Enhanced oxidative damage to DNA, lipids, and proteins and levels of some antioxidant enzymes, cytokines, and heat shock proteins in patients infected with influenza H1N1 virus. Acta Virol 58(3):253–260
- 182. Ng MP, Lee JC, Loke WM, Yeo LL, Quek AM, Lim EC, Halliwell B, Seet RC (2014) Does influenza A infection increase oxidative damage? Antioxid Redox Signal 21(7):1025–1031
- 183. Erkekoglu P, Asci A, Ceyhan M, Kizilgun M, Schweizer U, Atas C, Kara A, Kocer GB (2013) Selenium levels, selenoenzyme activities and oxidant/antioxidant parameters in H1N1infected children. Turk J Pediatr 55(3):271–282
- 184. Nin N, Sanchez-Rodriguez C, Ver LS, Cardinal P, Ferruelo A, Soto L, Deicas A, Campos N, Rocha O, Ceraso DH et al (2012) Lung histopathological findings in fatal pandemic influenza A (H1N1). Med Intensiva 36(1):24–31
- Hennet T, Peterhans E, Stocker R (1992) Alterations in antioxidant defences in lung and liver of mice infected with influenza A virus. J Gen Virol 73(Pt 1):39–46
- 186. Buffinton GD, Christen S, Peterhans E, Stocker R (1992) Oxidative stress in lungs of mice infected with influenza A virus. Free Radic Res Commun 16(2):99–110
- 187. Amatore D, Sgarbanti R, Aquilano K, Baldelli S, Limongi D, Civitelli L, Nencioni L, Garaci E, Ciriolo MR, Palamara AT (2015) Influenza virus replication in lung epithelial cells depends on redox-sensitive pathways activated by NOX4-derived ROS. Cell Microbiol 17(1):131–145. PMCID:PMC4311438
- 188. Akaike T, Okamoto S, Sawa T, Yoshitake J, Tamura F, Ichimori K, Miyazaki K, Sasamoto K, Maeda H (2003) 8-nitroguanosine formation in viral pneumonia and its implication for pathogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100(2):685–690. PMCID:PMC141057
- 189. Kaul P, Biagioli MC, Singh I, Turner RB (2000) Rhinovirus-induced oxidative stress and interleukin-8 elaboration involves p47-phox but is independent of attachment to intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and viral replication. J Infect Dis 181(6):1885–1890
- 190. Papi A, Contoli M, Gasparini P, Bristot L, Edwards MR, Chicca M, Leis M, Ciaccia A, Caramori G, Johnston SL et al (2008) Role of xanthine oxidase activation and reduced gluta-thione depletion in rhinovirus induction of inflammation in respiratory epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 283(42):28595–28606. PMCID:PMC2661410
- 191. Bao X, Kolli D, Liu T, Shan Y, Garofalo RP, Casola A (2008) Human metapneumovirus small hydrophobic protein inhibits NF-kappaB transcriptional activity. J Virol 82(16):8224–8229. PMCID:PMC2519579
- 192. Ye S, Lowther S, Stambas J (1997) Inhibition of reactive oxygen species production ameliorates inflammation induced by influenza A viruses via upregulation of SOCS1 and SOCS3. J Virol 89(5):2672–2683. PMCID:PMC4325759
- 193. Peterhans E (1997) Oxidants and antioxidants in viral diseases: disease mechanisms and metabolic regulation. J Nutr 127(5 Suppl):962S–965S
- 194. Peterhans E (1997) Reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide in viral diseases. Biol Trace Elem Res 56(1):107–116
- 195. Moreno-Solis G, Dela Torre-Aguilar MJ, Torres-Borrego J, Llorente-Cantarero FJ, Fernandez-Gutierrez F, Gil-Campos M, Tunez-Finana I, Perez-Navero JL (2017) Oxidative stress and inflamatory plasma biomarkers in respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. Clin Respir J 11(6):839–846
- 196. Martinez I, Garcia-Carpizo V, Guijarro T, Garcia-Gomez A, Navarro D, Aranda A, Zambrano A (2016) Induction of DNA double-strand breaks and cellular senescence by human respiratory syncytial virus. Virulence 7(4):427–442. PMCID:PMC4871660
- 197. Faden H, Kaul TN, Ogra PL (1983) Activation of oxidative and arachidonic acid metabolism in neutrophils by respiratory syncytial virus antibody complexes: possible role in disease. J Infect Dis 148(1):110–116
- 198. Kimpen JL, Garofalo R, Welliver RC, Ogra PL (1992) Activation of human eosinophils in vitro by respiratory syncytial virus. Pediatr Res 32(2):160–164
- 199. Kaul P, Singh I, Turner RB (2002) Effect of rhinovirus challenge on antioxidant enzymes in respiratory epithelial cells. Free RadicRes 36(10):1085–1089

- 200. Indukuri H, Castro SM, Liao SM, Feeney LA, Dorsch M, Coyle AJ, Garofalo RP, Brasier AR, Casola A (2006) Ikkepsilon regulates viral-induced interferon regulatory factor-3 activation via a redox-sensitive pathway. Virology 353(1):155–165
- 201. Pittaluga M, Parisi P, Sabatini S, Ceci R, Caporossi D, Valeria CM, Savini I, Avigliano L (2006) Cellular and biochemical parameters of exercise-induced oxidative stress: relationship with training levels. Free RadicRes 40(6):607–614
- 202. Stuehr DJ, Griffith OW (1992) Mammalian nitric oxide synthases. Adv Enzymol Relat Areas Mol Biol 65:287–346
- Akaike T, Maeda H (2000) Nitric oxide and virus infection. Immunology 101(3):300–308. PMCID:PMC2327086
- 204. Asano K, Chee CB, Gaston B, Lilly CM, Gerard C, Drazen JM, Stamler JS (1994) Constitutive and inducible nitric oxide synthase gene expression, regulation, and activity in human lung epithelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91(21):10089–10093. PMCID:PMC44963
- 205. Belvisi M, Barnes PJ, Larkin S, Yacoub M, Tadjkarimi S, Williams TJ, Mitchell JA (1995) Nitric oxide synthase activity is elevated in inflammatory lung disease in humans. Eur J Pharmacol 283(1-3):255–258
- 206. Tsutsumi H, Takeuchi R, Ohsaki M, Seki K, Chiba S (1999) Respiratory syncytial virus infection of human respiratory epithelial cells enhances inducible nitric oxide synthase gene expression. J Leukoc Biol 66(1):99–104
- 207. Akaike T (2001) Role of free radicals in viral pathogenesis and mutation. Rev Med Virol 11(2):87–101
- Zaki MH, Akuta T, Akaike T (2005) Nitric oxide-induced nitrative stress involved in microbial pathogenesis. J Pharmacol Sci 98(2):117–129
- 209. Kao YJ, Piedra PA, Larsen GL, Colasurdo GN (2001) Induction and regulation of nitric oxide synthase in airway epithelial cells by respiratory syncytial virus. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 163(2):532–539
- Ali-Ahmad D, Bonville CA, Rosenberg HF, Domachowske JB (2003) Replication of respiratory syncytial virus is inhibited in target cells generating nitric oxide in situ. Front Biosci 8:a48–a53
- 211. Song W, Liu G, Bosworth CA, Walker JR, Megaw GA, Lazrak A, Abraham E, Sullender WM, Matalon S (2009) Respiratory syncytial virus inhibits lung epithelial Na+ channels by up-regulating inducible nitric-oxide synthase. J Biol Chem 284(11):7294–7306. PMCID:PMC2652346
- Hacking D, Rockett K, Hull J, Kwiatkowski D (2002) Synergistic action of cytokines and purified respiratory syncytial virus in nitric oxide induction. J Leukoc Biol 71(4):729–730
- Lopez-Guerrero JA, Carrasco L (1998) Effect of nitric oxide on poliovirus infection of two human cell lines. J Virol 72(3):2538–2540. PMCID:PMC109559
- Majano PL, Garcia-Monzon C, Lopez-Cabrera M, Lara-Pezzi E, Fernandez-Ruiz E, Garcia-Iglesias C, Borque MJ, Moreno-Otero R (2005) Inducible nitric oxide synthase expression in chronic viral hepatitis. Evidence for a virus-induced gene upregulation. J Clin Invest 101(7):1343–1352. PMCID:PMC508711
- 215. Stark JM, Khan AM, Chiappetta CL, Xue H, Alcorn JL, Colasurdo GN (2005) Immune and functional role of nitric oxide in a mouse model of respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Infect Dis 191(3):387–395
- 216. Gentile DA, Doyle WJ, Belenky S, Ranck H, Angelini B, Skoner DP (2002) Nasal and oral nitric oxide levels during experimental respiratory syncytial virus infection of adults. Acta Otolaryngol 122(1):61–66
- 217. Gadish T, Soferman R, Merimovitch T, Fireman E, Sivan Y (2010) Exhaled nitric oxide in acute respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 164(8):727–731
- 218. Morichi S, Kawashima H, Ioi H, Ushio M, Yamanaka G, Kashiwagi Y, Takekuma K, Hoshika A, Watanabe Y (2009) Cerebrospinal fluid NOx (nitrite/nitrate) in RSV-infected children with CNS symptoms. J Infect 59(4):299–301
- Hobson L, Everard ML (2008) Persistent of respiratory syncytial virus in human dendritic cells and influence of nitric oxide. Clin Exp Immunol 151(2):359–366. PMCID:PMC2276949

- Stamler JS, Lamas S, Fang FC (2001) Nitrosylation. The prototypic redox-based signaling mechanism. Cell 106(6):675–683
- 221. Huang SH, Cao XJ, Wei W (2008) Melatonin decreases TLR3-mediated inflammatory factor expression via inhibition of NF-kappa B activation in respiratory syncytial virus-infected RAW264.7 macrophages. J. Pineal Res 45(1):93–100
- 222. Chen L, Song W, Davis IC, Shrestha K, Schwiebert E, Sullender WM, Matalon S (2009) Inhibition of Na+ transport in lung epithelial cells by respiratory syncytial virus infection. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 40(5):588–600. PMCID:PMC2677438
- 223. Kilani MM, Mohammed KA, Nasreen N, Hardwick JA, Kaplan MH, Tepper RS, Antony VB (2004) Respiratory syncytial virus causes increased bronchial epithelial permeability. Chest 126(1):186–191
- Jamaluddin M, Garofalo R, Ogra PL, Brasier AR (1996) Inducible translational regulation of the NF-IL6 transcription factor by respiratory syncytial virus infection in pulmonary epithelial cells. J Virol 70(3):1554–1563. PMCID:PMC189977
- 225. Garofalo R, Sabry M, Jamaluddin M, Yu RK, Casola A, Ogra PL, Brasier AR (1996) Transcriptional activation of the interleukin-8 gene by respiratory syncytial virus infection in alveolar epithelial cells: nuclear translocation of the RelA transcription factor as a mechanism producing airway mucosal inflammation. J Virol 70(12):8773–8781. PMCID:PMC190974
- 226. Jamaluddin M, Casola A, Garofalo RP, Han Y, Elliott T, Ogra PL, Brasier AR (1998) The major component of IkappaBalpha proteolysis occurs independently of the proteasome pathway in respiratory syncytial virus-infected pulmonary epithelial cells. J Virol 72(6):4849– 4857. PMCID:PMC110033
- 227. Bitko V, Velazquez A, Yang L, Yang YC, Barik S (1997) Transcriptional induction of multiple cytokines by human respiratory syncytial virus requires activation of NF-kappa B and is inhibited by sodium salicylate and aspirin. Virology 232(2):369–378
- 228. Tian B, Zhang Y, Luxon BA, Garofalo RP, Casola A, Sinha M, Brasier AR (2002) Identification of NF-kappaB-dependent gene networks in respiratory syncytial virus-infected cells. J Virol 76(13):6800–6814. PMCID:PMC136270
- 229. Liu P, Jamaluddin M, Li K, Garofalo RP, Casola A, Brasier AR (2007) Retinoic acid-inducible gene I mediates early antiviral response and Toll-like receptor 3 expression in respiratory syncytial virus-infected airway epithelial cells. J Virol 81(3):1401–1411. PMCID:PMC1797494
- 230. Rudd BD, Burstein E, Duckett CS, Li X, Lukacs NW (2005) Differential role for TLR3 in respiratory syncytial virus-induced chemokine expression. J Virol 79(6):3350–3357. PMCID:PMC1075725
- 231. Bao X, Indukuri H, Liu T, Liao SL, Tian B, Brasier AR, Garofalo RP, Casola A (2010) IKKepsilon modulates RSV-induced NF-kappaB-dependent gene transcription. Virology 408(2):224–231. PMCID:PMC2975836
- 232. Groskreutz DJ, Monick MM, Powers LS, Yarovinsky TO, Look DC, Hunninghake GW (2006) Respiratory syncytial virus induces TLR3 protein and protein kinase R, leading to increased double-stranded RNA responsiveness in airway epithelial cells. J Immunol 176(3):1733–1740
- 233. Koarai A, Sugiura H, Yanagisawa S, Ichikawa T, Minakata Y, Matsunaga K, Hirano T, Akamatsu K, Ichinose M (2010) Oxidative stress enhances toll-like receptor 3 response to double-stranded RNA in airway epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 42(6):651–660. PMCID:PMC2891495
- 234. Stewart MJ, Kulkarni SB, Meusel TR, Imani F (2006) c-Jun N-terminal kinase negatively regulates dsRNA and RSV induction of tumor necrosis factor- alpha transcription in human epithelial cells. J Interferon Cytokine Res 26(8):521–533
- 235. Dey N, Liu T, Garofalo RP, Casola A (2011) TAK1 regulates NF-KappaB and AP-1 activation in airway epithelial cells following RSV infection. Virology 418(2):93–101. PMCID:PMC3164748
- 236. Haeberle HA, Durrstein C, Rosenberger P, Hosakote YM, Kuhlicke J, Kempf VA, Garofalo RP, Eltzschig HK (2008) Oxygen-independent stabilization of hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-1 during RSV infection. PLoS One 3(10):e3352. PMCID:PMC2556398

- 237. Mochizuki H, Todokoro M, Arakawa H (2009) RS virus-induced inflammation and the intracellular glutathione redox state in cultured human airway epithelial cells. Inflammation 32(4):252–264
- Smith LJ, Shamsuddin M, Sporn PH, Denenberg M, Anderson J (1997) Reduced superoxide dismutase in lung cells of patients with asthma. Free Radic Biol Med 22(7):1301–1307
- 239. Ghosh S, Janocha AJ, Aronica MA, Swaidani S, Comhair SA, Xu W, Zheng L, Kaveti S, Kinter M, Hazen SL et al (2006) Nitrotyrosine proteome survey in asthma identifies oxidative mechanism of catalase inactivation. J Immunol 176(9):5587–5597
- 240. Chung-man HJ, Zheng S, Comhair SA, Farver C, Erzurum SC (2001) Differential expression of manganese superoxide dismutase and catalase in lung cancer. Cancer Res 61(23):8578–8585
- 241. Cho HY, Imani F, Miller-DeGraff L, Walters D, Melendi GA, Yamamoto M, Polack FP, Kleeberger SR (2009) Antiviral activity of Nrf2 in a murine model of respiratory syncytial virus disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 179(2):138–150. PMCID:PMC2633060
- 242. Uchide N, Toyoda H (2011) Antioxidant therapy as a potential approach to severe influenzaassociated complications. Molecules 16(3):2032–2052. PMCID:PMC6259602
- 243. Batinic-Haberle I, Reboucas JS, Spasojevic I (2010) Superoxide dismutase mimics: chemistry, pharmacology, and therapeutic potential. Antioxid Redox Signal 13(6):877–918. PMCID:PMC2935339
- 244. Wang MM, Lu M, Zhang CL, Wu X, Chen JX, Lv WW, Sun T, Qiu H, Huang SH (2018) Oxidative stress modulates the expression of tolllike receptor 3 during respiratory syncytial virus infection in human lung epithelial A549 cells. Mol Med Rep 18(2):1867–1877



Reactive Oxygen Species: Friends or Foes of Lung Cancer?

14

Deblina Guha, Shruti Banerjee, Shravanti Mukherjee, Apratim Dutta, and Tanya Das

Abstract

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are important biological radicals essential for determining different stages and phenotypes of cells from quiescence to proliferation, differentiation, self-renewal and even apoptosis. Low ROS favours quiescence and self-renewal in contrast to high ROS that dictates proliferation, differentiation or apoptosis. Such wide variety of cell fates depends upon specific signalling pathways that regulate the cellular ROS, thus contributing to tissue homeostasis. Imbalance of ROS causes several pathological conditions including cancer which is associated with higher level of ROS that supports tumour development and progression. However, to restrain from the excessive oxidative damage of ROS, cancer cells efficiently control the antioxidative pathways, thus favouring its own survival and maintenance at the same time. Furthermore, importance of ROS has been an active field of research in 'cancer stem cells' (CSCs), a subpopulation of cancer cells with stem cell-like properties and features. CSCs possess low ROS level that make them resistant to the existing chemotherapy or radiotherapy that ultimately leads to cancer recurrence. Though several evidences have proved the role of ROS in self-renewal and stemness of CSCs, there is a lot to explore about ROS-regulated signalling mechanisms in CSCs. An understanding of ROS regulation in CSCs can provide an idea about the application of oxidative stress as a therapeutic strategy in treatment of cancer. In this book chapter, we have raised the debate as to whether ROS acts as 'friend or foe' for cancer cells. Moreover, exploring the significance of ROS and redox regulation in lung cancer stem cells has been our major focus. Finally, it is suggested that in order to get an effective treatment and recurrence-free survival, sensitization of the cancer stem cells to high ROS environment is a must.

D. Guha · S. Banerjee · S. Mukherjee · A. Dutta · T. Das (\boxtimes) Division of Molecular Medicine, Bose Institute, Kolkata, India e-mail: tanya@jcbose.ac.in

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_14

Keywords

Reactive oxygen species \cdot Cancer stem cells \cdot Lung CSCs \cdot Oxidative stress \cdot Redox regulation

14.1 Introduction

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are the by-products of general metabolic pathways of the biological system and are essential for cell signalling and maintenance of tissue homeostasis. These include several free radicals and a number of reactive molecules which are derived mostly from the molecular oxygen as produced in the mitochondrial electron transport chain. Generally, low ROS level favours growth and proliferation, whereas high ROS level is known to promote apoptosis and oxidative damages of the cells [1–3]. The excessive damage caused by ROS is neutralized by the cellular antioxidant pathways, thereby maintaining the redox balance of the cells. Several normal cellular activities are the manifestations of different ROS levels which comprise of proliferation, differentiation, cell cycle, apoptosis, etc. However, abnormal change in ROS level results in many deleterious effects such as oxidative modification of proteins, DNA damage and activation of signalling pathways [4, 5] which are linked to many pathological disorders and diseases.

In fact, oxidants and antioxidants imbalance in human system may lead to a plethora of lung-related ailments including lung cancer. Evidences have shown how ROS can channelize specific signalling pathways to induce apoptosis in non-small cell lung cancer [6, 7]. ROS level remains elevated in cancers due to higher rate of metabolism [8, 9] which allows tumour development and progression. But, aberrant level of ROS is responsible for cancer cell death [10]. To counteract the killing effect, cancer cells exhibit higher antioxidant capacity which remains under their intricate regulations. ROS, thus, acts as 'friend or foe' depending upon the amount of intracellular ROS which dictates whether it supports cell survival or demise. Cancer cells can bear the modest increase in ROS, which is supportive for cancer cell growth, for prolonged period of time [11] indicating the role of ROS as a 'friend' in this context. Also, the role of ROS can be regarded as oncogenic as it efficiently regulates multiple signalling networks contributing to cancer initiation, development, progression, invasion and metastasis. Induction of ROS and its promotion is appreciated as witty mechanism in various cancer therapies including chemotherapy and radiotherapy [12, 13]. In this regard, ROS acts as a foe for cancer cells by showing its tumour-suppressive actions [11]. ROS-mediated cancer cell elimination has been made possible by using effective chemotherapeutics or pharmacological agents that can elevate ROS level beyond its normal threshold. However, in spite of the several breakthroughs in cancer treatment, the 5-year survival rate for all patients with lung cancer is 17% – a statistic that has not changed significantly in decades.

Years of research have introduced the idea of a special subpopulation of cancer cells within a tumour, known as cancer stem cells (CSCs) or tumour-initiating stem

cells [14]. CSCs are endowed with the properties of self-renewal and differentiation [15] and have been found in a large range of cancers [16, 17]. CSCs bear the potential of tumour development and metastatic dissemination and exhibit resistance to chemotherapy as well as radiotherapy, thus maintaining a rich pool of tumorigenic cells that gives rise to recurrence [18–20]. Doherty et al. [21] showed that exposure to chemotherapeutic agents or radiation though reduces the tumour bulk and enriches CSC repertoire, eventually causing cancer recurrence. This leads to the understanding that targeting only the cancer cells would not yield satisfactory therapy response, but treatment has to be specific for elimination of CSCs. Reports suggested that in contrast to the rest of the tumour cells, increased ROS scavenging systems and lower level of ROS in CSCs protect them from the cytotoxic effects of chemotherapy and radiation [22–24]. Furthermore, presence of low intracellular ROS is possibly attributable to the increased drug-resistant nature of the CSCs in comparison to the rest of the tumour cell population [25]. Several mechanisms contributing to lung cancer resistance include increased expression of drug efflux pumps, increasing drug inactivation by enzymes, defective apoptotic machineries, DNA repair systems, etc. [26-30]. Henceforth, it is worthy to understand the redox signalling of the CSCs in order to employ ROS in cancer therapy in a more effective manner. This could help design therapies that would effectively target the CSCs by manipulating the oxidant-elevating or oxidant-depleting pathways.

In this chapter, we shall discuss about the significance of these redox networks functional within lung CSCs and the possibilities of manipulating ROS to induce apoptosis in these highly resistant cells.

14.2 Generation of ROS and Its Role in Regulation of Tissue Homeostasis

14.2.1 ROS in Normal vs Cancer Cells

ROS are generated as a result of normal cellular metabolism and are known to regulate the redox homeostasis under physiological conditions within the cell. This function protects the biological system from oxidative stress via several redoxbased mechanisms. A fine balance between oxidants and antioxidants is, therefore, essential to avoid a plethora of diseases including that of various pulmonary ailments, e.g. chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), lung cancer, etc.

ROS accounts for the reactive molecules which include superoxide radical (O2⁻), hydroxyl radical (OH•), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), hypochlorous acid (HOCl), peroxynitrite (ONOO) and ozone (O₃) [31]. These reactive species are generated from various endogenous sources as well as exogenous sources (Fig. 14.1). Epithelial cells, alveolar macrophages, endothelial cells and inflammatory cells account for endogenous ROS [32]. Several enzymatic reactions in the body play significant roles in ROS generation such as reactions carried out during mitochondrial respiration involving cytochrome P-450, cyclooxygenases, lipoxygenase, peroxidases, etc. Besides, radiation, particulate matters and chemical carcinogens act as exogenous

ROS derived from the cellular activities (endogenous ROS)		ROS generated from cigarette smoke and other oxidants (exogenous ROS)	
Enzymes	ROS produced	Agents	ROS produced
Cytochrome P- 450, Cycloxygenases, Lipoxygenase, Peroxidases	O₂∵, H₂O₂ ·OH, HOCI, HOBr	Radiation, Particulate matters, Chemical carcinogen	0 ₂ , NO, ONOO- , H ₂ O ₂ , OH, O ₃

Fig. 14.1 ROS generated from different sources. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) generated from reactions catalyzed by various enzymes as endogenous sources of ROS (left) and ROS released from several exogenous sources including radiation and chemical carcinogens

sources of oxidative stress [33]. Electron transport chain of the mitochondrial respiratory system forms a basis of biochemical reactions for the oxidative metabolisms in living system. In the process of electron transfer and energy production, oneelectron reduction product like O²⁻ (superoxide) is produced along with highly reactive ROS and RNS (reactive nitrogen species) [34]. Controlled functioning of such potentially destructive reactive species is carried over by different well-regulated antioxidant systems in normal cells. Normal cellular activities such as cell division, differentiation and proliferation are highly dependent on reactive species that act as redox signalling molecules. Normal stem cells remain quiescent at lower ROS level and self-renew, whereas increased ROS level is well-efficient to induce cellular differentiation, proliferation, senescence and even apoptosis in a dose-dependent fashion [34]. The redox signalling molecules are empowered to control a variety of signal transduction proteins and gene expression pathways. But, the redox byproducts of oxidative metabolism are efficient to manipulate the antioxidant pathways resulting in changes in the genetic material of the living system. These alterations are reflected as mutations in the form of base damage, adducts or deletions to the DNA [34]. Though such mutations are repaired by high-fidelity proofreading machineries of the biological systems, some of the genetic damages easily escape and begin to accumulate with time, thus compromising the normal metabolic processes and enhancing the generation of reactive species. As a consequence of which, the accelerating mutated metabolic machineries lead to massive deterioration of biological structures and functions which manifest in the form of degenerative diseases and cancer too.

Carcinogenesis is highly associated with ROS-induced oxidative DNA damage that involves single- or double-stranded DNA breaks, modifications of purine and pyrimidine and DNA cross-linking, ultimately leading to cell cyle arrest, induction of protein synthesis, inflammation, etc. in many cancers [35]. Association of higher ROS production with genetic instability has been explained by Wallace [36] in nuclear and mitochondrial genes mutation within the components of ETC (electron transport chain). Also, Petros et al. [37] proved that increasing ROS is strongly

associated with cancer progression. Furthermore, reactive nitrogen species (RNS), such as peroxynitrites and nitrogen oxides, have also been implicated in DNA damage [37]. Higher amount of nitric oxide (NO) increases apoptosis in some cancer cells, whereas lower amount promotes vascularity and protects against apoptosis [38], as in case of lung cancer. Since ROS exhibits various functions depending on its level, it is believed to be regulated by intricate signalling networks within the cell. Cancer cells show elevated level of ROS due to their higher metabolic rates [8, 9]. In addition, they are able to evade and regulate the destructive level of ROS via their increased antioxidant capacities which would otherwise cause cancer cell apoptosis or necrosis [10]. Such a delicate balance of ROS level by the cancer cells allows their survival, which indicates that depending upon its concentration, ROS plays a dual role in cancer cell working either in its favour or against its survival, i.e. either as a 'friend' or a 'foe'. To gain an insight about the strategies how the cells maintain and regulate these reactive species in their favour, it is worthy to look at the various signalling networks and the associated components that actually modulate the main player 'ROS'.

14.2.2 Molecular Signalling Hubs Regulated by ROS in Normal and Cancer Cells

Low to high level of ROS is known to exert different pathological effects which are actually commenced via specific signalling pathways. In contrast to low ROS level which is particularly responsible for self-renewal proliferation and differentiation [39–44], increased level has detrimental consequences on normal stem cells. Slight enhancement in cellular ROS can impair self-renewal property but promote its proliferation and differentiation that lead to exhaustion of stem cells [45–47]. Further rise in ROS level even results in senescence through the redox-dependent activation of p38-p16 pathway [48]. Ultimately, excessive ROS production can induce stem cell apoptosis by activating p53 pathway following the DNA damage response [49, 50]. Though mounting evidences have suggested the involvement of wide variety of ROS-mediated mechanisms, they need detailed investigation. Activation of mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) family member of proteins and downregulation of the pluripotent transcription factors Oct4, Nanog and Sox2 [51] have been shown to play role in ROS-mediated human embryonic stem cell (ESC) differentiation to mesendodermal lineage. Specific MAPK family members have been implicated in ROS-induced cardiovascular differentiation of ESCs [44, 52]. Among the various sources of ROS, NOX (nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase) is greatly required by cells for ROS production. Besides the classical NOX found in phagocytes, seven isozymes have been discovered in non-phagocytic mammalian cells [53]. Among the various NOX isoforms, lung tissue hosts NOX2, DUOX1 and NOX4 [53, 54]. It is reported that lung cancer tissue predominantly expresses NOX4 isoform [55, 56]. Additionally, presence of DUOX-1 and DUOX-2 has been suggested in airway epithelial cells [57], but their mRNA level remains downregulated in lung cancer tissues [58]. Most of the signalling mechanisms studied so far hire

ROS, e.g. H_2O_2 as a second messenger [59, 60] to support cancer cell activities. Such molecular signalling involves receptor tyrosine kinases, protein tyrosine phosphatases, transcription factors [61, 62], etc. that act as the targets for the reactive species. Some of the ROS-mediated biological pathways in cancer include MAPK/ ERK axis, phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt-regulated signal transduction cascade, as well as the I κ B kinase (IKK)/nuclear factor κ -B (NF- κ B)-activating signalling axis (Fig. 14.2). For example, cancer cell proliferation is linked to H_2O_2 -induced $Erk_{1/2}$ activation [63, 64] where Ras may act as an upstream activator of $Erk_{1/2}$ that undergoes oxidative modification [65]. Another study indicated increased ROS, resulting from the loss of mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase 3 (MKP3), elevates Erk activity [66]. Multiple cancers and studies in lung cells have also suggested connection between ROS and Erk1/2 [67, 68]. However, role of ROS in cancer cell survival is context-dependent [69, 70]. To be specific, in vitro studies proved that scavenging ROS promotes apoptosis [71, 72], whereas human glioma and pancreatic cancer cells are prone to death when treated with exogenous ROS which is due to their high basal level of ROS [73, 74]. PI3K/AKT signalling is another pathway controlled by the oxidants. Akt regulates cell survival via phosphorylation or inactivation of its substrates such as Bad, Bax, FOXO, etc. [75, 76]. Evidences suggest that ROS derived from oestrogen metabolism activates PI3K/Akt signalling pathway [77, 78], and H_2O_2 generated from EGF signalling in human ovarian cancer cells activates Akt and p70 S6K1 [79]. A highly studied redox sensor protein for oxidative stress is NF- κ B [80] that is known to be activated by ROS [81].



Fig. 14.2 ROS-mediated cellular signalling. NADPH oxidase (NOX)-activated ROS, regulated by growth factor signalling, induces important signalling cascades via MAPK (Erk1/2, p38, JNK), PI3K/Akt and NF-KB activation. These involve the activation of several kinases like src, abl and PKD-1 and transcription factor FOXO. ROS-mediated DNA damage induces p53-induced apoptotic pathway, whereas senescence is promoted via p38-p16 cascade. ROS-mediated regulation of Oct-4, Sox-2 and Nanog favours differentiation of human embryonic stem cells

ROS-dependent NF-κB activation has been observed in SOD-silenced carcinoma cells [82]. Some groups suggested IKK-dependent NF-κB-inducing signalling in elevated oxidative stress environment via various ways including that of inhibition of intracellular glutathione system [35, 83]. Here, PLD1 and many other kinases like Src, Abl, etc. regulate NF-κB via PKD1/IKK-β axis [35, 83–86]. Oxidant-regulated NF-κB-mediated IL-8 production has been reported in lung epithelial cells [87]. Moreover, mechanism of non-small cell lung cancer is linked to ROS-regulated HIF-1 \ddot{u} FC; expression [88]. The role of ROS-induced upregulation of HIF-1 \ddot{u} FC; activity in oxygenated condition in metastatic colonization of lung cancer has been suggested by Cho et al. and Zhao et al. [89, 90]. All these studies elucidate how intricately cellular signalling networks are dependent on ROS for their functioning (Fig. 14.3). In the next section, we have discussed different ROS-dependent functions in cancer cells.

14.3 ROS-Specific Functions in Cancer

A wide variety of cellular activities are modulated by oxidative stress-linked mechanisms. Such relevant ROS-regulated activities include cell survival, proliferation, cell cycle progression, apoptosis, cell motility, adhesion, etc. (Fig. 14.3).



Fig. 14.3 Changes in cell behaviour with respect to varying ROS level. Normal cellular ROS at a low level maintains cells at a quiescent stage. Elevating ROS results in cell proliferation and survival. In addition, increased ROS level cause DNA damage and genetic instability; EMT and metastasis thus, acting as oncogenic. Excessive ROS generated in cancer cells can lead to cell cycle arrest, senescence or apoptosis

14.3.1 ROS: A Friend in Need

14.3.1.1 In Cell Proliferation

Mitochondria-generated ROS regulates proliferation as well as senescence via MnSOD (manganese superoxide dismutase) activity [91]. Lower MnSOD activity induces proliferation due to higher level of superoxide and lower level of hydrogen peroxide in contrast to higher enzymatic activity that favours quiescent stage in the presence of increased hydrogen peroxide [92]. ROS-mediated effect has been documented in cancer cell proliferation, where it involves the role of Erk1/2 MAPK activation and transcription factor CREB (cyclic AMP response element (CRE)binding protein) [63, 92]. Such study explains how the change in cellular level of ROS is reflected in different physiological effects. Function of ROS in cell cycle regulation has also been well-observed. ROS controls a wide range of molecules including cyclin B2, cyclin D3, cyclin E1 and cyclin E2 in the event of G1 to S-phase transition [92]. Several cell types have witnessed the important attributes of ROS, where its effects have been either escalated or neutralized [93, 94]. Doubling time of cells is greatly dependent on various ROS-regulating enzymes and their activities which include endogenous MnSOD, Cu/ZnSOD, catalase and glutathione peroxidase [73, 95]. Moreover, ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated)-lacking individuals suffer critical oxidative damages which prove that ROS efficiently modulates ATM, an essential molecule for cell cycle control [96, 97].

14.3.1.2 In Metastasis

Reactive oxygen species exhibits interesting role in regulating motility and contributing to metastatic progression of cancer. Endogenous ROS at its higher level favours reduced motility of cancer cells. However, orthotropic tumours developed from these cells possess metastatic capacity [98]. Few evidences recommend that redox state can modulate the events of metastatic process such as cell adhesion to extracellular matrix (ECM), anchorage-independent survival, migration, invasion and so on. Adhesion of cells to ECM accompanies a spike in mitochondrial ROS, followed by increased cytosolic ROS that governs cytoskeleton remodelling [99, 100]. In this process of adhesion, substrates for mitochondrial ROS are SHP-2 and FAK (focal adhesion kinase), in contrast to cytosolic ROS which targets phosphatases LMW-PTP and SHP-2, receptor tyrosine kinases, Src-family kinases and many more [99]. Here, adhesion and migration are regulated by integrin receptors via cyclooxygenase-2 [101] and 5-lipoxygenases (5-LOX) [102]. An important role of ROS is evident in tumour cells where it protects them in adhesion-free environment. Non-transformed cells require ECM as a physical scaffold to execute its mitotic activities, whereas ROS facilitates such action [61, 99] through Rac-1dependent pathway [103]. But, loss of contacts from the ECM results in cellular death in comparison to transformed cells, where increased ROS evades this phenomenon and allows their survival by controlling autocrine/adhesive signals, which are otherwise mediated by growth factor and integrin signalling in normal cells [103, 104].

14.3.2 ROS: A Foe Indeed

14.3.2.1 In Apoptosis

Involvement of ROS in promotion of apoptosis is due to several factors that include downregulation of antioxidant pathways, chemotherapy treatments, endogenous sources of reactive oxygen species, etc. Very well-known mechanism of apoptosis is through increased mitochondrial oxidative stress accompanied by cytochrome c release and caspase activation [105, 106]. Apoptosis induction can also be initiated via superoxide activated Rac-1/NADPH oxidase pathway [107]. H2O2 and NO are the activators of cJun N-terminal kinases (JNKs)-mediated cell death [105, 108], by downregulating Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL. Moreover, ROS-mediated JNK activation depends on Ask-1 (apoptosis signal-regulating kinase-1) signalling, regulated through a redox-regulated protein thioredoxin [109, 110]. Additionally, forkhead transcription factors, FOXO3a, p66Shc, p53, etc., have gained importance as inducers of apoptosis in the presence of ROS [75, 111]. Other than these, some of the receptor-mediated cell death signalling has also been observed that rely on ROS. TNF receptor I promotes ROS generation through mitochondria in the process of cell death [112]. In addition, TRAF4 (TNF receptor-associated factor4), a part of the TNF-a signalling axis, associates with NADPH oxidase complex to activate JNK [113]. Hence, such pathways indicate how receptor-based ROS induction plays a role in cellular apoptosis.

Precise signalling mechanisms that are context-dependent are essentially responsible for ROS inducing different cellular activities like proliferation, differentiation, cell cycle arrest, apoptosis and so on. Hence, from the above scenario and the evidences mentioned in the context of ROS-sensitive signalling mechanisms till now, it is clear that specific strategies are required to target the cancer cells.

14.4 Cancer Stem Cells and ROS: A Deadly Liaison

Although there have been mounting evidences for therapeutic strategies in favour of cancer reduction, a number of reports regarding the failure of treatment have also been suggested. One of the crucial reasons behind such failure is the presence of a subpopulation of cancer cells within the tumour known as cancer stem cells (CSCs) that are sparsely targeted by chemotherapy or radiotherapy. These CSCs are highly responsible for conferring tumour resistance and causing cancer recurrence too. Many researchers have reported that CSCs exhibit reduced ROS level in comparison to the non-stem cells in cancers [25]. Such an environment favours slow division of cells in CSC-enriched population in contrast to the highly proliferative cancer cells. Consequently, the effect of chemotherapy is suppressed and resistance develops. Additionally, large numbers of genes and proteins are present in CSCs that act in co-ordination with ROS defence, contributing to the therapy resistance. Henceforth, it becomes essential to understand the ROS-manipulation mechanisms of the CSC-enriched population in cortra to achieve an effective remedy for

cancer. In this regard, we have discussed the relevance of oxidative stress in cancer stem cell regulation in the following section.

14.5 Lung Cancer Stem Cells

The lung CSCs manifest robust endogenous resistance enabling them to survive the chemotherapeutic regimen. The enhanced survivability of this population has been attributed to numerous factors such as impeded apoptotic regulation, elevated DNA damage response and repair, increased function of drug efflux pumps, maintenance of redox homeostasis, etc. [114, 115]. Since the dawn of research in the field of CSC, the focus has remained on the identification of CSCs within the tumour population, which largely relies on specific biomarkers. Initial approaches for isolating lung CSCs involved identification by 'side population' (SP) phenotype [116] or by measuring enhanced ALDH activity [117]. Subsequently, identification of numerous membrane bound surface markers such as CD44 [118], CD 133, CD90 [119], etc., present in CSCs gained importance (Fig. 14.4). CD44 is an important redox mediator, and its crucial functions have been discussed in the latter sections. Lung



Fig. 14.4 Phenotypic characteristics of lung CSCs. Lung CSCs are characterised by specific surface biomarkers such as CD44, CD133 and CD90. They also harbour upregulated expression of drug efflux pumps such as ABCG1/2 alongside anti-apoptotic proteins such as Bcl-2, Bcl-X_L and Mcl-1

CSCs overexpress ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters which result in reduced intracellular drug levels, thereby protecting them from drug-induced cytotoxicity [116]. Both ABCG1 and ABCG2 are significantly upregulated in lung CSCs facilitating drug resistance [120, 121]. ABCG2 also manifests a protective role against oxidative stress [122]. Apart from this, lung CSCs mediate drug resistance by overcoming DNA damage inflicted by genotoxic drugs via efficient DNA repair pathways which is destined to reduce oxidative stress. Yu et al. [123] depicted enhanced DNA repair potential in lung CSCs which negated cisplatin-induced cytotoxicity and ROS generation. Also, the altered expressions of anti-apoptotic proteins impair cell death induction. Bcl-2, Bcl-X_L and Mcl-1, which promote cell survival, are upregulated in lung CSCs [124, 125]. Bcl-2 is also a redox modulator which is involved in maintaining reduced intracellular ROS levels [126]. Therefore, redox homeostasis is another crucial mechanism of survival depicted by the CSCs.

14.6 Role of ROS in Preserving Attributes of CSCs: Contribution of a Real Friend

ROS has been suggested to be intricately involved in various cellular networks and serves as a signalling molecule. Its critical role in tumour development has been discussed in the previous sections. Relevance of ROS in reference to CSCs is also noteworthy. Recent developments have recognized that stem cells inhabiting the niches are characterized by low ROS levels, which is particularly crucial for stemness maintenance. Subsequently, elevated ROS levels significantly enhance the differentiation potential (Fig. 14.5) [127]. CSCs also employ a similar mechanism of redox balance that helps in maintenance of self-renewal. They also maintain low level of inherent ROS as compared to the rest of the tumour mass which essentially contributes to resistance [25]. An increase in ROS levels results in cell differentiation with a subsequent decline in CSC population (Fig. 14.5). Also, ROS prevents β-catenin activity by perturbing its interaction with TCF4 which might ultimately block self-renewal of CSCs [128, 129]. Thus, high ROS has a negative impact on CSC survival. In CSCs, fructose-1, 6-biphosphatase (FBP1) is epigenetically silenced as a consequence of which there is increased glycolysis and ROS reduction, ultimately favouring β -catenin activation for CSC maintenance [130]. Hence, low ROS levels are favoured by CSCs which critically aid in survival, and thus, it is also plausible that antioxidants may boost CSCs. In relation to this, the administration of antioxidants during cancer therapy still remains a disputable issue due to failure of clinical trials [131]. Therefore, it is conceivable that the cellular level of ROS acts as critical determinant for survival and functioning of CSCs, suggesting that manipulating the oxidant molecule may potentially help to eradicate this resistant population. Additionally, it becomes important to decipher the mechanisms of ROS regulation in CSCs and culling strategies to overcome the oxidative stress.



Fig. 14.5 ROS level is a critical determinant for CSCs. CSCs maintain a low level of cellular ROS when compared to cancer cells. An increase in ROS levels in CSCs stimulates its differentiation to cancer cells

14.7 How Do Lung CSCs Conspire with ROS to Overcome Oxidative Stress?

Redox equilibrium is essentially involved in the maintenance of self-renewal ability of stem cells along with its differentiation potential [132]. This low level of ROS in CSCs might be due to production of ROS at small level and/or elevated antioxidant system for scavenging ROS. The low ROS generation in CSCs may be attributed to the slow division process. The slowly proliferating CSCs act like 'quiescent' stem cells and maintain low inherent ROS levels [133]. Alternatively, upon investigation by Diehn and colleagues, it was determined that upregulation of glutathione (GSH) enabled detoxification of ROS and, thus, helped reduce oxidative stress inflicted upon CSCs (Table 14.1) [25]. Lan et al. critically observed that exogenous GSH enhanced cisplatin resistance in lung cancer [134]. Also, the variant form of the lung CSC marker CD44 is known to help enhance GSH biosynthesis by assisting cysteine uptake (Table 14.1) [135]. In line with this, peroxiredoxin II, an antioxidant enzyme, contributes significantly in redox regulation of lung CSCs [136–138]. The elevated level of this enzyme shows protective effect in response to oxidative stress. Chandimali et al. [139] have explored the role of peroxiredoxin II in attributing stemness characteristics to lung CSCs (Table 14.1). Also, it mediates redox regulation by facilitating JNK-dependent DNA repair, thereby protecting against DNA damage [140]. Therefore, peroxiredoxin II plays a critical role in maintaining stemness and provides protection against oxidative stress. In a similar manner, the lung CSCs overexpress the antioxidant proteins, thioredoxin and thioredoxin reductase,

Factors	Functions
Glutathione (GSH)	Detoxification of ROS
CD44	Enhancement of GSH biosynthesis by assisting cysteine uptake
Periredoxin II	Protective effect against oxidative stress
Thioredoxin and thioredoxin reductase	Maintaining redox homeostasis
Nuclear factor erythroid	Governs expression of various detoxification genes
2-related factor (Nrf2)	Upregulates glutathione peroxidases and GSH reductase
FOXM1	Downregulates ROS by triggering expression of ROS scavenging factors like catalase, manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) and PRDX3
	Defense against oxidative stress

Table 14.1 Factors facilitating redox regulation in CSCs

for maintaining redox homeostasis [141]. Following this, numerous ROS-responsive transcription factors help in maintaining the redox balance. The nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor (NRF2) is one such critical regulator which governs the expression of various detoxification genes enabling protection against environmental stressors [142]. NRF2 is normally inhibited by Keap1, but alterations in Keap1 functions leads to activation of NRF2 which in turn has been observed to facilitate lung cancer growth [143]. In addition to this, recent evidences have clearly portrayed that NRF2 is involved in ROS modulation which ultimately facilitates CSC growth and resistance (Table 14.1). It functions as a redox modulator enhancing the expression of glutamate-cysteine ligase and cysteine transporter for elevating GSH levels. Also, NRF2 upregulates glutathione peroxidases and GSH reductase, thereby facilitating regeneration of reduced GSH. Other detoxification proteins such as thioredoxin 1, peroxiredoxin 1/6, thioredoxin reductase 1, etc. are also regulated by NRF2 [144]. NF κ B is another crucial factor which is worthy to be discussed in redox regulation. It typically boosts cellular survival. ROS induction causes an $NF\kappa B$ response and the target genes function to attenuate the upregulated ROS enabling survival [145]. Another highly conserved transcription factor FOXM1 which is a member of forkhead box transcription factor family is a cardinal regulator of oxidative stress during carcinogenesis (Table 14.1) [146]. It is significantly overexpressed in lung cancer [147] where it downregulates ROS by triggering the expression of ROS scavenging factors like catalase, manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) and PRDX3. Thus, FOXM1 works in a negative feedback loop, wherein the increased oxidative stress induces its expression which in turn counteracts the escalated ROS levels, thereby exerting protective function in the tumour cells [146]. Also, the critical role of FOXM1 has been discussed by Kwok et al. in human embryonic stem cells [148]. This transcription factor aids in defence against oxidative stress and its knockdown-impeded embryonic stem cell proliferation. Recent reports have indicated the role of FOXM1 in maintenance of lung CSCs, thereby enabling redox regulation within it [149]. Thus, numerous factors contribute to redox equilibrium in lung CSCs which essentially help them survive in response to oxidative stress.

14.8 Strategies to Break the Evil Friendship Between CSCs and ROS: A Friend Turned Foe

The redox homeostasis which is prevalent in lung CSCs contributes notably towards their survival. Thus, as a means of developing potential therapeutic strategies for targeting this resistant population, exploiting the redox status may serve as a novel therapeutic approach. Surpassing the inherent low ROS level of CSCs may improve oncologic therapies. Antineoplastic agents are known to selectively kill cancer cells by increasing ROS levels; however, it will be interesting to observe whether they can eliminate the CSCs. Induction of high ROS level in tumour niches may activate differentiation of CSCs, which may be a possible therapeutic strategy using chemotherapeutic agents [127]. Furthermore, CD44, a lung CSC marker, which, as discussed previously, plays a significant role in redox homeostasis, has been targeted recently by hyaluronan-based nanoparticles in lung cancer (Fig. 14.6) [150]. Also, a microRNA-based treatment strategy was used for targeting peroxiredoxin II. mir-122 successfully downregulated peroxiredoxin II and the associated stemness characteristics in lung CSCs, along with induced apoptosis (Fig. 14.6) [139]. In line with this, the thioredoxin and GSH systems also serve as potential targets for interrupting the redox homeostasis in CSCs [151]. Interestingly, Lagadinou et al. [152] observed that the CSCs having low ROS exhibit upregulated BCL-2 expression. Subsequently, BCL-2 inhibition also eliminates the CSCs via interruption of BCL-2-dependent oxidative phosphorylation (Fig. 14.6). In fact, the decreasing GSH level leads to increase in oxidative stress that ultimately kills the CSCs [152].



Fig. 14.6 Targeting CSCs via redox modulation. The conventional chemotherapy fails to conquer the CSCs. One of the strategies of overcoming therapy resistance in CSCs is by modulating its redox homeostasis. Downregulation of the redox factors such as CD44, Nrf-2, FOXM1, Bcl-2, etc. might help target the CSCs. Also, microRNA-based treatment strategy using mir-122 enabled disruption of redox balance

The role of NRF2 as a master regulator in protecting CSCs form oxidative stress has been discussed in the previous sections. Hence, targeting this regulator might provide means of eliminating the CSCs. Brusatol, which is an NRF2 inhibitor, promoted ROS generation and thereby sensitized lung CSCs to radiation therapy (Fig. 14.6) [153, 154]. Likewise, fenretinide was observed to exhibit cytotoxic effect towards CSCs. Fenretinide-induced cytotoxicity was linked to rapid ROS production along with repression of NF κ B-associated genes [155]. Similarly, targeting FOXM1, another important redox regulator, may represent beneficial therapeutic strategy for lung CSCs [149]. Thus, numerous approaches are being developed for targeting the lung CSCs by redox modulation. However, there is still dearth of information on redox regulation in CSCs. Given the essential role exhibited by redox homeostasis in self-renewal and survival ability of CSCs, further studies in this direction may open greater avenues for treatment.

14.9 Conclusion

Reactive oxygen species essentially behave both as a 'friend' and a 'foe' of lung cancer. ROS regulates cellular signalling networks in lung cancer, thereby mediating numerous cellular functions such as cell proliferation, apoptosis, cell cycle progression, adhesion, metastasis and many more. The equilibrium between pro-oxidants and antioxidants is a critical determinant for cancer cell survival and progression. It is implicated that ROS-regulated networks manipulate the survival of cancer cells. A sudden spike in ROS enables cancer cell proliferation and boosts cell motility favouring metastasis. Furthermore, the dawn of the emerging field of CSCs has significantly revealed their important role in carcinogenesis and relapse. Hence, deciphering the redox networks in CSCs is vital. The CSCs harbour low inherent ROS facilitating their survival. Increase in cellular ROS level accelerates the differentiation of CSCs to cancer cells. Thus, surge in ROS may lead to hostile conditions for CSC survival and may prove beneficial from therapeutic viewpoint. Therefore, it is plausible to eliminate the resistant CSCs by manipulating its ROS content. Consequently, the differentiated CSCs can further be targeted by conventional chemotherapeutic agents which were previously ineffective against CSCs. Therefore, our discussion emphasizes on the omnipresent role of ROS in lung carcinogenesis. Modulating the redox homeostasis may enable us to target this disease by attacking multifaceted signalling networks which promote cancer cell survival. Hence, in the near future, we can plausibly discover newer therapeutic regimens in order to overcome the shortcomings of current treatment methods.

References

- Giannoni E, Buricchi F, Raugei G et al (2005) Intracellular reactive oxygen species activate Src tyrosine kinase during cell adhesion and anchorage-dependent cell growth. Mol Cell Biol 25(15):6391–6403
- Yee C, Yang W, Hekimi S (2014) The intrinsic apoptosis pathway mediates the pro-longevity response to mitochondrial ROS in C. elegans. Cell 157(4):897–909

- 3. Hoeijmakers JHJ (2009) DNA damage, aging, and cancer. N Engl J Med 361(15):1475-1485
- D'Autréaux B, Toledano MB (2007) ROS as signalling molecules: mechanisms that generate specificity in ROS homeostasis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8(10):813–824
- Fruehauf JP, Meyskens FL (2007) Reactive oxygen species: a breath of life or death? Clin Cancer Res 13(3):789–794
- Mohanty S, Saha S, Hossain DMS et al (2014) ROS-PIASγ cross talk channelizes ATM signaling from resistance to apoptosis during chemosensitization of resistant tumors. Cell Death Dis 5(1):e1021
- Chakraborti S, Chakraborty S, Saha S et al (2017) PEG-functionalized zinc oxide nanoparticles induce apoptosis in breast cancer cells through reactive oxygen species-dependent impairment of DNA damage repair enzyme NEIL2. Free Radic Biol Med 103:35–47
- Ambrosone CB (2000) Oxidants and antioxidants in breast cancer. Antioxid Redox Signal 2(4):903–917
- Szatrowski TP, Nathan CF (1991) Production of large amounts of hydrogen peroxide by human tumor cells. Cancer Res 51(3):794–798
- 10. Halliwell B (2007) Oxidative stress and cancer: have we moved forward? Biochem J 401(1):1–11
- 11. Ramsey MR, Sharpless NE (2006) ROS as a tumour suppressor? Nat Cell Biol 8(11):1213–1215
- 12. Ozben T (2007) Oxidative stress and apoptosis: impact on cancer therapy. J Pharm Sci 96(9):2181–2196
- Toler SM, Noe D, Sharma A (2006) Selective enhancement of cellular oxidative stress by chloroquine: implications for the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme. Neurosurg Focus 21(6):E10
- Nguyen LV, Vanner R, Dirks P et al (2012) Cancer stem cells: an evolving concept. Nat Rev Cancer 12(2):133–143
- Kobayashi CI, Suda T (2012) Regulation of reactive oxygen species in stem cells and cancer stem cells. J Cell Physiol 227(2):421–430
- Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A et al (2003) Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(7):3983–3988
- Hermann PC, Huber SL, Herrler T et al (2007) Distinct populations of cancer stem cells determine tumor growth and metastatic activity in human pancreatic cancer. Cell Stem Cell 1(3):313–323
- Dave B, Mittal V, Tan NM, Chang JC (2012) Epithelial-mesenchymal transition, cancer stem cells and treatment resistance. Breast Cancer Res BCR 14(1):202
- Eyler CE, Rich JN (2008) Survival of the fittest: cancer stem cells in therapeutic resistance and angiogenesis. J Clin Oncol 26(17):2839–2845
- Kurtova AV, Xiao J, Mo Q et al (2015) Blocking PGE2-induced tumour repopulation abrogates bladder cancer chemoresistance. Nature 517(7533):209–213
- Doherty MR, Smigiel JM, Junk DJ, Jackson MW (2016) Cancer stem cell plasticity drives therapeutic resistance. Cancers (Basel) 8(1):pii: E8
- Roesch A, Fukunaga-Kalabis M, Schmidt EC et al (2010) A temporarily distinct subpopulation of slow-cycling melanoma cells is required for continuous tumor growth. Cell 141(4):583–594
- 23. Kim HM, Haraguchi N, Ishii H et al (2012) Increased CD13 expression reduces reactive oxygen species, promoting survival of liver cancer stem cells via an epithelial-mesenchymal transition-like phenomenon. Ann Surg Oncol 19(Suppl 3):S539–S548
- Hudson TJ, Anderson W, Artez A et al (2010) International network of cancer genome projects. Nature 464(7291):993–998
- Diehn M, Cho RW, Lobo NA et al (2009) Association of reactive oxygen species levels and radioresistance in cancer stem cells. Nature 458(7239):780–783
- Ambudkar SV, Dey S, Hrycyna CA et al (1999) Biochemical, cellular, and pharmacological aspects of the multidrug transporter. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 39:361–398

- Townsend DM, Tew KD (2003) The role of glutathione-S-transferase in anti-cancer drug resistance. Oncogene 22(47):7369–7375
- Eastman A, Schulte N (1988) Enhanced DNA repair as a mechanism of resistance to cisdiamminedichloroplatinum(II). Biochemistry 27(13):4730–4734
- Kavallaris M, Kuo DY, Burkhart CA et al (1997) Taxol-resistant epithelial ovarian tumors are associated with altered expression of specific beta-tubulin isotypes. J Clin Invest 100(5):1282–1293
- 30. Sethi T, Rintoul RC, Moore SM et al (1999) Extracellular matrix proteins protect small cell lung cancer cells against apoptosis: a mechanism for small cell lung cancer growth and drug resistance in vivo. Nat Med 5(6):662–668
- Park HS, Kim SR, Lee YC (2009) Impact of oxidative stress on lung diseases. Respirol Carlton Vic 14(1):27–38
- Ciencewicki J, Trivedi S, Kleeberger SR (2008) Oxidants and the pathogenesis of lung diseases. J Allergy Clin Immunol 122(3):456–468; quiz 469–70
- Azad N, Rojanasakul Y, Vallyathan V (2008) Inflammation and lung cancer: roles of reactive oxygen/nitrogen species. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev 11(1):1–15
- Zhou D, Shao L, Spitz DR (2014) Reactive oxygen species in normal and tumor stem cells. Adv Cancer Res 122:1–67
- Storz P, Döppler H, Toker A (2004) Protein kinase Cdelta selectively regulates protein kinase D-dependent activation of NF-kappaB in oxidative stress signaling. Mol Cell Biol 24(7):2614–2626
- Wallace DC (2005) A mitochondrial paradigm of metabolic and degenerative diseases, aging, and cancer: a dawn for evolutionary medicine. Annu Rev Genet 39:359–407
- Petros JA, Baumann AK, Ruiz-Pesini E et al (2005) mtDNA mutations increase tumorigenicity in prostate cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(3):719–724
- Masri F (2010) Role of nitric oxide and its metabolites as potential markers in lung cancer. Ann Thorac Med 5(3):123–127
- Ezashi T, Das P, Roberts RM (2005) Low O2 tensions and the prevention of differentiation of hES cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(13):4783–4788
- Juntilla MM, Patil VD, Calamito M et al (2010) AKT1 and AKT2 maintain hematopoietic stem cell function by regulating reactive oxygen species. Blood 115(20):4030–4038
- 41. Kinder M, Wei C, Shelat SG et al (2010) Hematopoietic stem cell function requires 12/15-lipoxygenase-dependent fatty acid metabolism. Blood 115(24):5012–5022
- 42. Lewandowski JP, Sheehan KB, Bennett PE, Boswell RE (2010) Mago Nashi, Tsunagi/Y14 and Ranshi form a complex that influences oocyte differentiation in Drosophila melanogaster. Dev Biol 339(2):307–319
- Owusu-Ansah E, Banerjee U (2009) Reactive oxygen species prime Drosophila haematopoietic progenitors for differentiation. Nature 461(7263):537–541
- 44. Sauer H, Wartenberg M (2005) Reactive oxygen species as signaling molecules in cardiovascular differentiation of embryonic stem cells and tumor-induced angiogenesis. Antioxid Redox Signal 7(11–12):1423–1434
- 45. Chen C, Liu Y, Liu R et al (2008) TSC-mTOR maintains quiescence and function of hematopoietic stem cells by repressing mitochondrial biogenesis and reactive oxygen species. J Exp Med 205(10):2397–2408
- 46. Miyamoto K, Araki KY, Naka K et al (2007) Foxo3a is essential for maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell pool. Cell Stem Cell 1(1):101–112
- Tothova Z, Kollipara R, Huntly BJ et al (2007) FoxOs are critical mediators of hematopoietic stem cell resistance to physiologic oxidative stress. Cell 128(2):325–339
- 48. Shao L, Wu L, Zhou D (2012) Sensitization of tumor cells to cancer therapy by molecularly targeted inhibition of the inhibitor of nuclear factor κB kinase. Transl Cancer Res 1(2):100–108
- 49. Shao L, Sun Y, Zhang Z et al (2010) Deletion of proapoptotic Puma selectively protects hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells against high-dose radiation. Blood 115(23):4707–4714

- 50. Yu H, Shen H, Yuan Y et al (2010) Deletion of Puma protects hematopoietic stem cells and confers long-term survival in response to high-dose gamma-irradiation. Blood 115(17):3472–3480
- 51. Ji A-R, Ku S-Y, Cho MS et al (2010) Reactive oxygen species enhance differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into mesendodermal lineage. Exp Mol Med 42(3):175–186
- 52. Schmelter M, Ateghang B, Helmig S et al (2006) Embryonic stem cells utilize reactive oxygen species as transducers of mechanical strain-induced cardiovascular differentiation. FASEB J 20(8):1182–1184
- Bedard K, Krause K-H (2007) The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev 87(1):245–313
- 54. van der Vliet A (2008) NADPH oxidases in lung biology and pathology: host defense enzymes, and more. Free Radic Biol Med 44(6):938–955
- Zhang C, Lan T, Hou J et al (2014) NOX4 promotes non-small cell lung cancer cell proliferation and metastasis through positive feedback regulation of PI3K/Akt signaling. Oncotarget 5(12):4392–4405
- 56. Boudreau HE, Casterline BW, Burke DJ, Leto TL (2014) Wild-type and mutant p53 differentially regulate NADPH oxidase 4 in TGF-β-mediated migration of human lung and breast epithelial cells. Br J Cancer 110(10):2569–2582
- 57. Fischer H (2009) Mechanisms and function of DUOX in epithelia of the lung. Antioxid Redox Signal 11(10):2453–2465
- Luxen S, Belinsky SA, Knaus UG (2008) Silencing of DUOX NADPH oxidases by promoter hypermethylation in lung cancer. Cancer Res 68(4):1037–1045
- Colavitti R, Pani G, Bedogni B et al (2002) Reactive oxygen species as downstream mediators of angiogenic signaling by vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2/KDR. J Biol Chem 277(5):3101–3108
- 60. Finkel T (2000) Redox-dependent signal transduction. FEBS Lett 476(1-2):52-54
- 61. Chiarugi P, Fiaschi T (2007) Redox signalling in anchorage-dependent cell growth. Cell Signal 19(4):672–682
- 62. Rhee SG, Bae YS, Lee SR, Kwon J (2000) Hydrogen peroxide: a key messenger that modulates protein phosphorylation through cysteine oxidation. Sci STKE Signal Transduct Knowl Environ 2000(53):pe1
- Irani K, Xia Y, Zweier JL et al (1997) Mitogenic signaling mediated by oxidants in Rastransformed fibroblasts. Science 275(5306):1649–1652
- Reddy KB, Glaros S (2007) Inhibition of the MAP kinase activity suppresses estrogeninduced breast tumor growth both in vitro and in vivo. Int J Oncol 30(4):971–975
- 65. Lander HM, Hajjar DP, Hempstead BL et al (1997) A molecular redox switch on p21(ras). Structural basis for the nitric oxide-p21(ras) interaction. J Biol Chem 272(7):4323–4326
- 66. Chan DW, Liu VWS, Tsao GSW et al (2008) Loss of MKP3 mediated by oxidative stress enhances tumorigenicity and chemoresistance of ovarian cancer cells. Carcinogenesis 29(9):1742–1750
- McCubrey JA, Steelman LS, Chappell WH et al (2007) Roles of the Raf/MEK/ERK pathway in cell growth, malignant transformation and drug resistance. Biochim Biophys Acta 1773(8):1263–1284
- Steelman LS, Abrams SL, Whelan J et al (2008) Contributions of the Raf/MEK/ERK, PI3K/ PTEN/Akt/mTOR and Jak/STAT pathways to leukemia. Leukemia 22(4):686–707
- Lee WC, Choi CH, Cha SH, Oh HL, Kim YK (2005) Role of ERK in hydrogen peroxideinduced cell death of human glioma cells. Neurochem Res 30(2):263–270
- Rygiel TP, Mertens AE, Strumane K et al (2008) The Rac activator Tiam1 prevents keratinocyte apoptosis by controlling ROS-mediated ERK phosphorylation. J Cell Sci 121(Pt 8):1183–1192
- 71. Ostrakhovitch EA, Cherian MG (2005) Inhibition of extracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK) leads to apoptosis inducing factor (AIF) mediated apoptosis in epithelial breast cancer cells: the lack of effect of ERK in p53 mediated copper induced apoptosis. J Cell Biochem 95(6):1120–1134

- Zhou J, Chen Y, Lang J-Y (2008) Salvicine inactivates beta 1 integrin and inhibits adhesion of MDA-MB-435 cells to fibronectin via reactive oxygen species signaling. Mol Cancer Res MCR 6(2):194–204
- Lewis A, Du J, Liu J, Ritchie JM, Oberley LW, Cullen JJ (2005) Metastatic progression of pancreatic cancer: changes in antioxidant enzymes and cell growth. Clin Exp Metastasis 22(7):523–532
- Mazzio EA, Soliman KFA (2004) Glioma cell antioxidant capacity relative to reactive oxygen species produced by dopamine. J Appl Toxicol JAT 24(2):99–106
- Brunet A, Bonni A, Zigmond MJ et al (1999) Akt promotes cell survival by phosphorylating and inhibiting a Forkhead transcription factor. Cell 96(6):857–868
- 76. Pastorino JG, Tafani M, Farber JL (1999) Tumor necrosis factor induces phosphorylation and translocation of BAD through a phosphatidylinositide-3-OH kinase-dependent pathway. J Biol Chem 274(27):19411–19416
- 77. Burdick AD, Davis JW, Liu KJ et al (2003) Benzo(a)pyrene quinones increase cell proliferation, generate reactive oxygen species, and transactivate the epidermal growth factor receptor in breast epithelial cells. Cancer Res 63(22):7825–7833
- Park S-A, Na H-K, Kim E-H et al (2009) 4-hydroxyestradiol induces anchorage-independent growth of human mammary epithelial cells via activation of IkappaB kinase: potential role of reactive oxygen species. Cancer Res 69(6):2416–2424
- 79. Liu L-Z, Hu X-W, Xia C et al (2006) Reactive oxygen species regulate epidermal growth factor-induced vascular endothelial growth factor and hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha expression through activation of AKT and P70S6K1 in human ovarian cancer cells. Free Radic Biol Med 41(10):1521–1533
- 80. Li N, Karin M (1999) Is NF-kappaB the sensor of oxidative stress? FASEB J 13(10):1137-1143
- Schreck R, Albermann K, Baeuerle PA (1992) Nuclear factor kappa B: an oxidative stressresponsive transcription factor of eukaryotic cells (a review). Free Radic Res Commun 17(4):221–237
- 82. Wang Y, Huang X, Cang H et al (2007) The endogenous reactive oxygen species promote NF-kappaB activation by targeting on activation of NF-kappaB-inducing kinase in oral squamous carcinoma cells. Free Radic Res 41(9):963–971
- Storz P, Toker A (2003) Protein kinase D mediates a stress-induced NF-kappaB activation and survival pathway. EMBO J 22(1):109–120
- Cowell CF, Döppler H, Yan IK et al (2009) Mitochondrial diacylglycerol initiates proteinkinase D1-mediated ROS signaling. J Cell Sci 122(Pt 7):919–928
- Döppler H, Storz P (2007) A novel tyrosine phosphorylation site in protein kinase D contributes to oxidative stress-mediated activation. J Biol Chem 282(44):31873–31881
- Storz P, Döppler H, Toker A (2004) Activation loop phosphorylation controls protein kinase D-dependent activation of nuclear factor kappaB. Mol Pharmacol 66(4):870–879
- Antonicelli F, Parmentier M, Drost EM et al (2002) Nacystelyn inhibits oxidant-mediated interleukin-8 expression and NF-kappaB nuclear binding in alveolar epithelial cells. Free Radic Biol Med 32(6):492–502
- Goudar RK, Vlahovic G (2008) Hypoxia, angiogenesis, and lung cancer. Curr Oncol Rep 10(4):277–282
- 89. Cho KH, Choi MJ, Jeong KJ et al (2014) A ROS/STAT3/HIF-1 α signaling cascade mediates EGF-induced TWIST1 expression and prostate cancer cell invasion. The Prostate 74(5):528–536
- 90. Zhao T, Zhu Y, Morinibu A et al (2014) HIF-1-mediated metabolic reprogramming reduces ROS levels and facilitates the metastatic colonization of cancers in lungs. Sci Rep 4:3793
- Sarsour EH, Venkataraman S, Kalen AL et al (2008) Manganese superoxide dismutase activity regulates transitions between quiescent and proliferative growth. Aging Cell 7(3):405–417
- Felty Q, Singh KP, Roy D (2005) Estrogen-induced G1/S transition of G0-arrested estrogendependent breast cancer cells is regulated by mitochondrial oxidant signaling. Oncogene 24(31):4883–4893

- Menon SG, Coleman MC, Walsh SA et al (2005) Differential susceptibility of nonmalignant human breast epithelial cells and breast cancer cells to thiol antioxidant-induced G(1)-delay. Antioxid Redox Signal 7(5–6):711–718
- 94. Ruiz-Ramos R, Lopez-Carrillo L, Rios-Perez AD et al (2009) Sodium arsenite induces ROS generation, DNA oxidative damage, HO-1 and c-Myc proteins, NF-kappaB activation and cell proliferation in human breast cancer MCF-7 cells. Mutat Res 674(1–2):109–115
- 95. Cullen JJ, Weydert C, Hinkhouse MM et al (2003) The role of manganese superoxide dismutase in the growth of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res 63(6):1297–1303
- 96. Browne SE, Roberts LJ, Dennery PA et al (2004) Treatment with a catalytic antioxidant corrects the neurobehavioral defect in ataxia-telangiectasia mice. Free Radic Biol Med 36(7):938–942
- 97. Reichenbach J, Schubert R, Schindler D et al (2002) Elevated oxidative stress in patients with ataxia telangiectasia. Antioxid Redox Signal 4(3):465–469
- Pelicano H, Lu W, Zhou Y et al (2009) Mitochondrial dysfunction and reactive oxygen species imbalance promote breast cancer cell motility through a CXCL14-mediated mechanism. Cancer Res 69(6):2375–2383
- Chiarugi P (2008) From anchorage dependent proliferation to survival: lessons from redox signalling. IUBMB Life 60(5):301–307
- 100. Taddei ML, Parri M, Mello T et al (2007) Integrin-mediated cell adhesion and spreading engage different sources of reactive oxygen species. Antioxid Redox Signal 9(4):469–481
- Broom OJ, Massoumi R, Sjölander A (2006) Alpha2beta1 integrin signalling enhances cyclooxygenase-2 expression in intestinal epithelial cells. J Cell Physiol 209(3):950–958
- 102. Svineng G, Ravuri C, Rikardsen O et al (2008) The role of reactive oxygen species in integrin and matrix metalloproteinase expression and function. Connect Tissue Res 49(3):197–202
- 103. Werner E, Werb Z (2002) Integrins engage mitochondrial function for signal transduction by a mechanism dependent on Rho GTPases. J Cell Biol 158(2):357–368
- 104. Giannoni E, Fiaschi T, Ramponi G, Chiarugi P (2009) Redox regulation of anoikis resistance of metastatic prostate cancer cells: key role for Src and EGFR-mediated pro-survival signals. Oncogene 28(20):2074–2086
- 105. Cadenas E (2004) Mitochondrial free radical production and cell signaling. Mol Aspects Med 25(1–2):17–26
- 106. Simon HU, Haj-Yehia A, Levi-Schaffer F (2000) Role of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in apoptosis induction. Apoptosis Int J Program Cell Death 5(5):415–418
- 107. Chung YM, Bae YS, Lee SY (2003) Molecular ordering of ROS production, mitochondrial changes, and caspase activation during sodium salicylate-induced apoptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 34(4):434–442
- 108. Storz P (2007) Mitochondrial ROS--radical detoxification, mediated by protein kinase D. Trends Cell Biol 17(1):13–18
- 109. Saitoh M, Nishitoh H, Fujii M et al (1998) Mammalian thioredoxin is a direct inhibitor of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase (ASK) 1. EMBO J 17(9):2596–2606
- Takeda K, Matsuzawa A, Nishitoh H, Ichijo H (2003) Roles of MAPKKK ASK1 in stressinduced cell death. Cell Struct Funct 28(1):23–29
- 111. You H, Yamamoto K, Mak TW (2006) Regulation of transactivation-independent proapoptotic activity of p53 by FOXO3a. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(24):9051–9056
- 112. Schulze-Osthoff K, Beyaert R, Vandevoorde V et al (1993) Depletion of the mitochondrial electron transport abrogates the cytotoxic and gene-inductive effects of TNF. EMBO J 12(8):3095–3104
- 113. Xu YC, Wu RF, Gu Y et al (2002) Involvement of TRAF4 in oxidative activation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase. J Biol Chem 277(31):28051–28057
- 114. Leon G, MacDonagh L, Finn SP et al (2016) Cancer stem cells in drug resistant lung cancer: targeting cell surface markers and signaling pathways. Pharmacol Ther 158:71–90
- 115. MacDonagh L, Gray SG, Breen E et al (2016) Lung cancer stem cells: the root of resistance. Cancer Lett 372(2):147–156

- 116. Ho MM, Ng AV, Lam S, Hung JY (2007) Side population in human lung cancer cell lines and tumors is enriched with stem-like cancer cells. Cancer Res 67(10):4827–4833
- 117. Jiang F, Qiu Q, Khanna A et al (2009) Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 is a tumor stem cellassociated marker in lung cancer. Mol Cancer Res MCR 7(3):330–338
- 118. Eramo A, Lotti F, Sette G et al (2008) Identification and expansion of the tumorigenic lung cancer stem cell population. Cell Death Differ 15(3):504–514
- 119. Yan X, Luo H, Zhou X et al (2013) Identification of CD90 as a marker for lung cancer stem cells in A549 and H446 cell lines. Oncol Rep 30(6):2733–2740
- 120. Tian C, Huang D, Yu Y et al (2017) ABCG1 as a potential oncogene in lung cancer. Exp Ther Med 13(6):3189–3194
- 121. Dai Y, Liu S, Zhang W-Q et al (2017) YAP1 regulates ABCG2 and cancer cell side population in human lung cancer cells. Oncotarget 8(3):4096–4109
- 122. Nie S, Huang Y, Shi M et al (2018) Protective role of ABCG2 against oxidative stress in colorectal cancer and its potential underlying mechanism. Oncol Rep 40(4):2137–2146
- 123. Yu W-K, Wang Z, Fong C-C et al (2017) Chemoresistant lung cancer stem cells display high DNA repair capability to remove cisplatin-induced DNA damage. Br J Pharmacol 174(4):302–313
- 124. Zeuner A, Francescangeli F, Contavalli P et al (2014) Elimination of quiescent/slowproliferating cancer stem cells by Bcl-XL inhibition in non-small cell lung cancer. Cell Death Differ 21(12):1877–1888
- 125. Singh S, Bora-Singhal N, Kroeger J et al (2013) β Arrestin-1 and Mcl-1 modulate self-renewal growth of cancer stem-like side-population cells in non-small cell lung cancer. PLoS ONE 8(2):e55982
- 126. Chong SJF, Low ICC, Pervaiz S (2014) Mitochondrial ROS and involvement of Bcl-2 as a mitochondrial ROS regulator. Mitochondrion 19(Pt A):39–48
- 127. Wang K, Zhang T, Dong Q et al (2013) Redox homeostasis: the linchpin in stem cell selfrenewal and differentiation. Cell Death Dis 4:e537
- 128. Dong C, Yuan T, Wu Y et al (2013) Loss of FBP1 by Snail-mediated repression provides metabolic advantages in basal-like breast cancer. Cancer Cell 23(3):316–331
- 129. Fang L, Zhu Q, Neuenschwander M et al (2016) A small-molecule antagonist of the β-catenin/ TCF4 interaction blocks the self-renewal of cancer stem cells and suppresses tumorigenesis. Cancer Res 76(4):891–901
- Schieber MS, Chandel NS (2013) ROS links glucose metabolism to breast cancer stem cell and EMT phenotype. Cancer Cell 23(3):265–267
- 131. Mut-Salud N, Álvarez PJ, Garrido JM, Carrasco E, Aránega A, Rodríguez-Serrano F (2016) Antioxidant intake and antitumor therapy: toward nutritional recommendations for optimal results. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2016:6719534
- 132. Ogasawara MA, Zhang H (2009) Redox regulation and its emerging roles in stem cells and stem-like cancer cells. Antioxid Redox Signal 11(5):1107–1122
- 133. Dey-Guha I, Wolfer A, Yeh AC, Albeck J, Darp R, Leon E et al (2011) Asymmetric cancer cell division regulated by AKT. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(31):12845–12850
- 134. Lan D, Wang L (2018) He R, et al Exogenous glutathione contributes to cisplatin resistance in lung cancer A549 cells. Am J Transl Res 10(5):1295–1309
- Nagano O, Okazaki S, Saya H (2013) Redox regulation in stem-like cancer cells by CD44 variant isoforms. Oncogene 32(44):5191–5198
- 136. Kwon T, Bak Y, Park Y-H et al (2016) Peroxiredoxin II is essential for maintaining stemness by redox regulation in liver cancer cells. Stem Cells Dayt Ohio 34(5):1188–1197
- 137. Chandimali N, Jeong DK, Kwon T (2018) Peroxiredoxin II regulates cancer stem cells and stemness-associated properties of cancers. Cancers 10(9):305
- 138. Soini Y, Kinnula VL (2012) High association of peroxiredoxins with lung cancer. Lung Cancer Amst Neth 78(2):167
- 139. Chandimali N, Huynh DL, Zhang JJ, Lee JC, Yu D-Y, Jeong DK et al (2018) MicroRNA-122 negatively associates with peroxiredoxin-II expression in human gefitinib-resistant lung cancer stem cells. Cancer Gene Ther 19

- 140. Lee KW, Lee DJ, Lee JY, Kang DH, Kwon J, Kang SW (2011) Peroxiredoxin II restrains DNA damage-induced death in cancer cells by positively regulating JNK-dependent DNA repair. J Biol Chem 286(10):8394–8404
- 141. Soini Y, Kahlos K (2001) Näpänkangas U, et al Widespread expression of thioredoxin and thioredoxin reductase in non-small cell lung carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 7(6):1750–1757
- 142. Cho H-Y, Reddy SP, Kleeberger SR (2006) Nrf2 defends the lung from oxidative stress. Antioxid Redox Signal 8(1–2):76–87
- 143. Ohta T, Iijima K, Miyamoto M et al (2008) Loss of Keap1 function activates Nrf2 and provides advantages for lung cancer cell growth. Cancer Res 68(5):1303–1309
- 144. Ryoo I, Lee S, Kwak M-K (2016) Redox modulating NRF2: a potential mediator of cancer stem cell resistance. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2016:2428153
- 145. Morgan MJ, Liu Z (2011) Crosstalk of reactive oxygen species and NF-κB signaling. Cell Res 21(1):103–115
- Park HJ, Carr JR, Wang Z et al (2009) FoxM1, a critical regulator of oxidative stress during oncogenesis. EMBO J 28(19):2908–2918
- 147. Yang DK, Son CH, Lee SK et al (2009) Forkhead box M1 expression in pulmonary squamous cell carcinoma: correlation with clinicopathologic features and its prognostic significance. Hum Pathol 40(4):464–470
- 148. Kwok CTD, Leung MH, Qin J et al (2016) The Forkhead box transcription factor FOXM1 is required for the maintenance of cell proliferation and protection against oxidative stress in human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cell Res 16(3):651–661
- 149. Fu Z, Cao X, Yang Y et al (2018) Upregulation of FoxM1 by MnSOD overexpression contributes to cancer stem-like cell characteristics in the lung cancer H460 cell line. Technol Cancer Res Treat 17:1533033818789635
- 150. Jeannot V, Mazzaferro S, Lavaud J et al (2016) Targeting CD44 receptor-positive lung tumors using polysaccharide-based nanocarriers: Influence of nanoparticle size and administration route. Nanomedicine Nanotechnol Biol Med 12(4):921–932
- 151. Benhar M, Shytaj IL, Stamler JS, Savarino A (2016) Dual targeting of the thioredoxin and glutathione systems in cancer and HIV. J Clin Invest 126(5):1630–1639
- 152. Lagadinou ED, Sach A, Callahan K et al (2013) BCL-2 inhibition targets oxidative phosphorylation and selectively eradicates quiescent human leukemia stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 12(3):329–341
- 153. Ren D, Villeneuve NF, Jiang T et al (2011) Brusatol enhances the efficacy of chemotherapy by inhibiting the Nrf2-mediated defense mechanism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(4):1433–1438
- 154. Sun X, Wang Q, Wang Y, Du L, Xu C, Liu Q (2016) Brusatol enhances the radiosensitivity of A549 cells by promoting ROS production and enhancing DNA damage. Int J Mol Sci 17(7):997
- 155. Zhang H, Mi J-Q, Fang H et al (2013) Preferential eradication of acute myelogenous leukemia stem cells by fenretinide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(14):5606–5611



Role of Noncoding RNA in Lung Cancer

15

Angshuman Bagchi

Abstract

Long noncoding RNAs are RNA molecules that typically are more than 200 nucleotides long. Though they are called noncoding RNAs, they do have the capacity to code for small peptides. Long noncoding RNAs play important roles in many of the cellular processes. They are found to be the causes of many of the diseases, and lung cancer is one such disease that is heavily influenced by lncRNAs such as EPEL. In this chapter, the relationship between lncRNAs and their influence on the onset of lung cancer is elucidated.

Keywords

Long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs) \cdot Lung cancer \cdot EPFL \cdot Mutations

15.1 Introduction

Long noncoding RNAs belong to the class of RNAs which are 200 or more nucleotides long molecules. Previously, they were considered to be junk molecules. These RNA molecules are very much abandoned in the genomes of the organisms. Majority of the lncRNAs are tissue specific [1-16].

A. Bagchi (🖂)

Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics, University of Kalyani, Kalyani, Nadia, West Bengal, India e-mail: angshu@klyuniv.ac.in

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_15

15.2 Some Important Characteristics of Long Noncoding RNAs

- (a) They are generally 200 or more nucleotides long.
- (b) They have conserved sequences.
- (c) These RNA molecules are transcribed mostly from the intronic part of the genome. However, some lncRNAs are transcribed from the genomic portions which code for proteins as well.
- (d) The nucleotide sequences of the lncRNAs remain somewhat conserved.
- (e) The nucleotide sequences belonging to the lncRNAs' promoters are highly conserved. The nucleotide sequences of the promoter regions are more conserved than the sequences of the lncRNAs.
- (f) The lncRNAs can be classified depending on their origin as (i) sense, (ii) antisense, (iii) intronic, (iv) intergenic, and (v) bidirectional.
- (g) Though they are called noncoding RNAs, some of them do code for peptides.
- (h) These RNA molecules have conserved secondary structures.
- (i) The actual functions of the lncRNAs are still not very clear. However, these RNA molecules have their involvements in the following biological processes:
 - (i) As signaling molecules for transcriptional regulators.
 - (ii) As guides for protein localizations.
 - (iii) As protein-binding scaffolds.
- (j) These RNA molecules function in modification and remodeling of histone and chromatin, regulating the gene expressions and their silencing, methylation of DNA, heat shock response, and embryogenesis [17–48].

The lncRNAs are associated with lung cancer. Several lncRNAs are found to be either up- or downregulated in lung carcinoma.

15.3 A Few Words on Lung Cancer

The most commonly used term for lung cancer is lung carcinoma. It represents a tumor with uncontrolled growth in the lungs of a living being. The tumor in lung is characterized by uncontrolled growth of cells in lung tissues. The growth is so severe that it is able to spread to other nearby tissues by a process called metastasis. The lung carcinoma is categorized into two main classes: small-cell lung carcinoma (SCLC) and non-small-cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) [49–58].

15.4 Signs and Symptoms

The most important symptoms of lung carcinoma are as follows:

(a) Symptoms pertaining to respiration: The patients have severe coughing and sometimes blood comes through cough. The patients feel shortness of breath.

- (b) Symptoms pertaining to whole-body system: loss of weight, weakness. The patients have mild fever.
- (c) Other symptoms: pain in the chest and bone, obstruction in superior vena cava obstruction. The patients might find it difficult to swallow food. Sometimes pneumonia might occur. The patient loses appetite [19–59].

15.5 Possible Causes

Though it is really very difficult to pinpoint the exact cause of the disease, still the following might be considered as useful guides to take preventive measures against the disease:

- (a) Smoking: Consumption of tobacco is considered to be the root cause of the disease. Nearly 90% of deaths of the lung cancer patients occur due to smoking of tobacco.
- (b) Radon gas: It is one of the important causative agents of lung carcinoma.
- (c) Asbestos: It is another important causative agent of lung carcinoma. Tobacco smoking and asbestos both are equally important in the onset of lung carcinoma.
- (d) Air pollution: Another source of the disease is air pollution. The chemicals released from burning of fossil fuels are the main causative agents. Sulfate aerosols and nitrogen dioxide are the substances that lead to the onset of the disease.
- (e) Genetics: Though it is not fully established, about 8% of the total lung carcinoma is genetically inherited.
- (f) There are certain other factors that also known to cause the lung carcinoma. Among them are compounds of metals like aluminum, cadmium, nickel, and beryllium; compounds of arsenic; incomplete combustion of coal; ionizing radiations; and toxic gases like methyl ether and sulfur mustard [59–73, 78].

15.6 Different Classes of Lung Carcinoma

Lung cancers are classified on the basis of histology. This classification is based on how the malignant cells look like and how big the cells are.

(a) Non-small cell carcinoma: This is the type of lung cancer that infects the epithelial cells. This type of carcinoma accounts for nearly 85% of the lung cancers. They are relatively insensitive to chemotherapy. There are several types of non-small cell carcinoma. Among them the most frequent ones are squamous cell carcinoma, large cell carcinoma, and adenocarcinoma. Lung adenocarcinoma is the commonest form of lung carcinoma in nonsmokers. It is mainly observed around the periphery of the lung tissues. On the other hand, tobacco

smokers generally have squamous cell carcinoma. It is more common in men than in women.

(b) Small-cell carcinoma: This is a type of carcinoma which is highly malignant. This type of carcinoma infects mainly the central airways leading mainly to narrowing of the bronchial passages [47–77]; Kumar et al. [60, 78, 79]; [80– 85]; Usman et al. [86–88].

15.7 Disease Pathogenesis

As in the case of other types of cancers, lung cancer is also caused by oncogenic activations or the deactivations of tumor suppressor genes. Mutagenic carcinogens induce genetic changes in these genes leading to the onset of cancer.

The genes which are mainly involved in inducing lung cancer are K-ras, c-MET, NKX2-1, LKB1, PIK3CA, BRAF, and EML4-ALK. K-ras is a proto-oncogene and it is involved in mainly 10–30% of lung adenocarcinoma. On the other hand, EML4-ALK tyrosine kinase fusion gene is involved in the development of nearly 4% of non-small-cell lung carcinoma.

Apart from the direct genetic mutations, there are certain epigenetic changes which also induce lung carcinoma. Such, epigenetic changes are DNA methylation, modification of histone tail, regulations of noncoding RNA molecules, etc. It is also well known that cancer cells are resistant to oxidative damages. Under such conditions, the cancer cells remain unaffected by the cellular immune systems which would otherwise be able to destroy the cancer and tumor.

Another important protein is the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR). EGFR is known to regulate cell proliferation, apoptosis, angiogenesis, and tumor invasion. In non-small cell lung carcinoma patients, the EGFR is found to be heavily mutated.

Other possible routes associated with lung carcinoma involve abnormal activation of stem cells, neuro-dendritic cells, etc.

The most important aspect of lung carcinoma is the metastasis. It is the process that involves transitions of the epithelial cells to mesenchymal cells. In metastatic lung carcinoma, the following signaling pathways are activated: Akt/GSK3Beta, MEK-ERK, Fas, and Par6 ([74–77]; Kumar et al. [60, 78, 79]; [80–85]; Usman [86–88]).

15.8 Involvements of IncRNAs in Lung Carcinoma

Recently, lncRNAs are found to play important roles in several of diseases. One of such diseases is lung carcinoma. The following are the different types of lncRNAs associated with lung carcinoma:

(a) **E2F-mediated cell proliferation enhancing lncRNA (EPEL):** EPEL is also known as LOC90768 and MGC45800. This lncRNA was found to be associated

with the multiple occurrence and survival of patients suffering from lung cancer. This lncRNA is also associated with lung cancer cell proliferation via the activation of E2F target genes. In other words, this lncRNA is known to promote the cancer cell proliferation via the activation of E2F target genes. The knockdown of lncRNA EPEL is known to specifically downregulate the expression of cell cycle-related E2F target genes, including cyclin B1 (CCNB1), in lung cancer cells. However, it is not linked to apoptosis- or metabolism-related E2F target genes. The lncRNA EPEL is known to interact with E2F1. In this way, it regulates the expression of the E2F target genes. The lncRNA is known to make changes on the binding efficiency of E2F1 to the E2F target promoters. Therefore, it could be safely concluded that the expression levels of EPEL and CCNB1 both alone and together are prognostic biomarkers for lung cancer ([89] and references therein).

- (b) The metastasis-associated lung adenocarcinoma transcript 1 (MALAT1): The lncRNA MALAT1 was identified to be associated with patient survival. The lncRNA is known to affect the genes associated with cancer like cellular growth, movement, proliferation, signaling, and immunoregulation and so on. Furthermore, the amount of MALAT1 was found to be higher in brain metastasis. The lncRNA MALAT1 induces metastasis of lung cancer cells by enhancing epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT). The actual mechanistic detail of the involvement of MALAT1 in lung carcinoma is not yet fully understood. However, it was speculated that MALAT1 regulates DNA methylation. It also helps in the upregulation of Bcl2 and its interacting partners to induce nonsmall cell lung carcinoma ([89, 90] and references therein).
- (c) HOX antisense intergenic RNA (HOTAIR): It is a 2.2 kilobase noncoding RNA. The lncRNA HOTAIR is known to facilitate the tumor development in non-small cell lung carcinoma. However, it is not linked to the carcinogenesis of non-small cell lung carcinoma. It was also revealed that HOTAIR is involved in the modification of the promoter of p53 and thereby enhancing histone H3 lysine 27 trimethylation. This indicates a negative correlation between HOTAIR and p53 in non-small cell lung carcinoma cells. Furthermore, HOTAIR is known to activate Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma ([90] and references therein).
- (d) HOXA distal transcript antisense RNA (HOTTIP): HOTTIP is known to be an antisense noncoding RNA transcript. It is also known to be placed at the distal end of HOXA gene cluster. The expression of HOTTIP is found to be higher in non-small cell lung carcinoma than in the corresponding adjacent normal tissues. It thereby helps in contributing to cell proliferation and migration. The lncRNA HOTTIP also regulates HOXA13 and thereby functioning as oncogene ([90] and references therein).
15.9 Concluding Remarks

It has been reported in different recent studies that lncRNAs do play very important roles in the development of non-small cell lung carcinoma and thereby leading to lung cancer-related deaths. In this review I tried to analyze the link between lncRNA and lung cancer. Recent studies suggest that patients suffering from lung carcinoma have invariably differential expression patterns of different types of lncRNAs. However, the mechanistic details of the involvements of lncRNAs in the onset of lung carcinoma are not well described. Different lncRNAs like MALAT1, HOTAIR, etc. are constantly being targeted by scientists to analyze their effects in different disease conditions especially in lung carcinoma. The main aim of the review is to provide some insight into the effects of lncRNAs in disease onset.

Acknowledgments The author is thankful to DST-SAP-DRS-II program, Govt. of India, and University of Kalyani for support. The infrastructural supports provided by DBT (SAN No. 102/ IFD/SAN/1824/2015-2016) and ICMR (BIC/12(02)/2014) are duly acknowledged.

References

- 1. Perkel JM (2013) Visiting "noncodarnia". Biotechniques (paper) 54(6): 301, 303-304
- Ma L, Bajic VB, Zhang Z (2013) On the classification of long non-coding RNAs. RNA Biol 10(6):925–933
- Ransohoff JD, Wei Y, Khavari PA (2018) The functions and unique features of long intergenic non-coding RNA. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 19(3):143–157. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrm.2017.104. Epub 2017 Nov 15
- 4. Kapranov P, Cheng J, Dike S, Nix DA, Duttagupta R, Willingham AT, Stadler PF, Hertel J, Hackermüller J, Hofacker IL, Bell I, Cheung E, Drenkow J, Dumais E, Patel S, Helt G, Ganesh M, Ghosh S, Piccolboni A, Sementchenko V, Tammana H, Gingeras TR (2007a) RNA maps reveal new RNA classes and a possible function for pervasive transcription. Science 316(5830):1484–1488
- Carninci P, Kasukawa T, Katayama S, Gough J, Frith MC, Maeda N et al (2005) The transcriptional landscape of the mammalian genome. Science 309(5740):1559–1563
- 6. Cheng J, Kapranov P, Drenkow J, Dike S, Brubaker S, Patel S, Long J, Stern D, Tammana H, Helt G, Sementchenko V, Piccolboni A, Bekiranov S, Bailey DK, Ganesh M, Ghosh S, Bell I, Gerhard DS, Gingeras TR (2005) Transcriptional maps of 10 human chromosomes at 5-nucleotide resolution. Science 308(5725):1149–1154
- Necsulea A, Soumillon M, Warnefors M, Liechti A, Daish T, Zeller U, Baker JC, Grützner F, Kaessmann H (2014) The evolution of lncRNA repertoires and expression patterns in tetrapods. Nature 505(7485):635–640
- Derrien T, Johnson R, Bussotti G, Tanzer A, Djebali S, Tilgner H, Guernec G, Martin D, Merkel A, Knowles DG, Lagarde J, Veeravalli L, Ruan X, Ruan Y, Lassmann T, Carninci P, Brown JB, Lipovich L, Gonzalez JM, Thomas M, Davis CA, Shiekhattar R, Gingeras TR, Hubbard TJ, Notredame C, Harrow J, Guigó R (2012) The GENCODE v7 catalog of human long noncoding RNAs: analysis of their gene structure, evolution, and expression. Genome Res 22(9):1775–1789
- 9. Hon CC, Ramilowski JA, Harshbarger J, Bertin N, Rackham OJ, Gough J, Denisenko E, Schmeier S, Poulsen TM, Severin J, Lizio M, Kawaji H, Kasukawa T, Itoh M, Burroughs AM, Noma S, Djebali S, Alam T, Medvedeva YA, Testa AC, Lipovich L, Yip CW, Abugessaisa I, Mendez M, Hasegawa A, Tang D, Lassmann T, Heutink P, Babina M, Wells CA, Kojima

S, Nakamura Y, Suzuki H, Daub CO, de Hoon MJ, Arner E, Hayashizaki Y, Carninci P, Forrest AR (2017) An atlas of human long non-coding RNAs with accurate 5' ends. Nature 543(7644):199–204

- Cabili MN, Trapnell C, Goff L, Koziol M, Tazon-Vega B, Regev A, Rinn JL (2011) Integrative annotation of human large intergenic noncoding RNAs reveals global properties and specific subclasses. Genes Dev 25(18):1915–1927
- 11. Ravasi T, Suzuki H, Pang KC, Katayama S, Furuno M, Okunishi R, Fukuda S, Ru K, Frith MC, Gongora MM, Grimmond SM, Hume DA, Hayashizaki Y, Mattick JS (2006) Experimental validation of the regulated expression of large numbers of non-coding RNAs from the mouse genome. Genome Res 16(1):11–19
- Yunusov D, Anderson L, DaSilva LF, Wysocka J, Ezashi T, Roberts RM, Verjovski-Almeida S (2016) HIPSTR and thousands of lncRNAs are heterogeneously expressed in human embryos, primordial germ cells and stable cell lines. Sci Rep 6:32753
- 13. Yan L, Yang M, Guo H, Yang L, Wu J, Li R, Liu P, Lian Y, Zheng X, Yan J, Huang J, Li M, Wu X, Wen L, Lao K, Li R, Qiao J, Tang F (2013) Single-cell RNA-Seq profiling of human preimplantation embryos and embryonic stem cells. Nat Struct Mol Biol 20(9):1131–1139
- 14. Leucci E, Vendramin R, Spinazzi M, Laurette P, Fiers M, Wouters J, Radaelli E, Eyckerman S, Leonelli C, Vanderheyden K, Rogiers A, Hermans E, Baatsen P, Aerts S, Amant F, Van Aelst S, van den Oord J, de Strooper B, Davidson I, Lafontaine DL, Gevaert K, Vandesompele J, Mestdagh P, Marine JC (2016) Melanoma addiction to the long non-coding RNA SAMMSON. Nature 531(7595):518–522. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature17161
- Kapranov P, Willingham AT, Gingeras TR (2007b) Genome-wide transcription and the implications for genomic organization. Nat Rev Genet 8(6):413–423
- 16. Birney E, Stamatoyannopoulos JA, Dutta A, Guigó R, Gingeras TR, Margulies EH et al (June 2007) Identification and analysis of functional elements in 1% of the human genome by the ENCODE pilot project. Nature 447(7146):799–816
- Anderson DM, Anderson KM, Chang CL, Makarewich CA, Nelson BR, McAnally JR, Kasaragod P, Shelton JM, Liou J, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN (2015) A micropeptide encoded by a putative long noncoding RNA regulates muscle performance. Cell 160(4):595–606
- Matsumoto A, Pasut A, Matsumoto M, Yamashita R, Fung J, Monteleone E, Saghatelian A, Nakayama KI, Clohessy JG, Pandolfi PP (2017) mTORC1 and muscle regeneration are regulated by the LINC00961-encoded SPAR polypeptide. Nature 541(7636):228–232
- Ji Z, Song R, Regev A, Struhl K (2015) Many lncRNAs, 5'UTRs, and pseudogenes are translated and some are likely to express functional proteins. elife 4:e08890
- Bagchi A (2018) Different roles of circular RNAs with protein coding potentials. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 500(4):907–909
- 21. Guttman M, Amit I, Garber M, French C, Lin MF, Feldser D, Huarte M, Zuk O, Carey BW, Cassady JP, Cabili MN, Jaenisch R, Mikkelsen TS, Jacks T, Hacohen N, Bernstein BE, Kellis M, Regev A, Rinn JL (2009) Lander ES Chromatin signature reveals over a thousand highly conserved large non-coding RNAs in mammals. Nature 458(7235):223–227. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07672. Epub 2009 Feb 1
- Ponjavic J, Ponting CP, Lunter G (2007) Functionality or transcriptional noise? Evidence for selection within long noncoding RNAs. Genome Res 17(5):556–565
- 23. Haerty W, Jagadeeshan S, Kulathinal RJ, Wong A, Ravi Ram K, Sirot LK, Levesque L, Artieri CG, Wolfner MF, Civetta A, et al (2007) Evolution in the fast lane: rapidly evolving sex-related genes in Drosophila. Genetics 177:1321–1335
- Washietl S, Kellis M, Garber M (2014) Evolutionary dynamics and tissue specificity of human long noncoding RNAs in six mammals. Genome Res 24(4):616–628
- 25. Kutter C, et al (2012) Rapid turnover of long noncoding RNAs and the evolution of gene expression. PLoS Genet 8:e1002841
- Brosius J (2005) Waste not, want not-transcript excess in multicellular eukaryotes. Trends Genet 21(5):287–288
- Struhl K (2007) Transcriptional noise and the fidelity of initiation by RNA polymerase II. Nat Struct Mol Biol 14(2):103–105

- Palazzo AF, Lee ES (2015) Non-coding RNA: what is functional and what is junk? Front Genet 6:2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2015.00002. eCollection 2015
- Kapusta A, Kronenberg Z, Lynch VJ, Zhuo X, Ramsay L, Bourque G, Yandell M, Feschotte C (2013) Transposable elements are major contributors to the origin, diversification, and regulation of vertebrate long noncoding RNAs. PLoS Genet 9(4):e1003470. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pgen.1003470. Epub 2013 Apr 25
- 30. Chen J, Shishkin AA, Zhu X, Kadri S, Maza I, Guttman M, Hanna JH, Regev A, Garber M (2016) Evolutionary analysis across mammals reveals distinct classes of long non-coding RNAs. Genome Biol 17:19
- Ulitsky I (2016) Evolution to the rescue: using comparative genomics to understand long noncoding RNAs. Nat Rev Genet 17(10):601–614
- Hezroni H, Koppstein D, Schwartz MG, Avrutin A, Bartel DP, Ulitsky I (2015) Principles of long noncoding RNA evolution derived from direct comparison of transcriptomes in 17 species. Cell Rep 11(7):1110–1122
- Johnsson P, Lipovich L, Grandér D, Morris KV (2014) Evolutionary conservation of long noncoding RNAs; sequence, structure, function. Biochim Biophys Acta 1840(3):1063–1071
- Rivas E, Clements J, Eddy SR (2017) A statistical test for conserved RNA structure shows lack of evidence for structure in lncRNAs. Nat Methods 14(1):45–48
- Mercer TR, Dinger ME, Mattick JS (2009) Long non-coding RNAs: insights into functions. Nat Rev Genet 10(3):155–159
- Dinger ME, Amaral PP, Mercer TR, Mattick JS (2009) Pervasive transcription of the eukaryotic genome: functional indices and conceptual implications. Brief Funct Genomic Proteomic 8(6):407–423
- Goodrich JA, Kugel JF (2006) Non-coding-RNA regulators of RNA polymerase II transcription. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 7:612–616
- 38. Feng J, Bi C, Clark BS, Mady R, Shah P, Kohtz JD (2006) The Evf-2 noncoding RNA is transcribed from the Dlx-5/6 ultraconserved region and functions as a Dlx-2 transcriptional coactivator. Genes Dev 20(11):1470–1484
- 39. Pennacchio LA, Ahituv N, Moses AM, Prabhakar S, Nobrega MA, Shoukry M, Minovitsky S, Dubchak I, Holt A, Lewis KD, Plajzer-Frick I, Akiyama J, De Val S, Afzal V, Black BL, Couronne O, Eisen MB, Visel A, Rubin EM (2006) In vivo enhancer analysis of human conserved non-coding sequences. Nature 444(7118):499–502
- 40. Calin GA, Liu CG, Ferracin M, Hyslop T, Spizzo R, Sevignani C, Fabbri M, Cimmino A, Lee EJ, Wojcik SE, Shimizu M, Tili E, Rossi S, Taccioli C, Pichiorri F, Liu X, Zupo S, Herlea V, Gramantieri L, Lanza G, Alder H, Rassenti L, Volinia S, Schmittgen TD, Kipps TJ, Negrini M, Croce CM (2007) Ultraconserved regions encoding ncRNAs are altered in human leukemias and carcinomas. Cancer Cell 12(3):215–229
- 41. Luo S, Lu JY, Liu L, Yin Y, Chen C, Han X, Wu B, Xu R, Liu W, Yan P, Shao W, Lu Z, Li H, Na J, Tang F, Wang J, Zhang YE, Shen X (2016) Divergent lncRNAs regulate gene expression and lineage differentiation in pluripotent cells. Cell Stem Cell 18(5):637–652
- 42. Wang X, Arai S, Song X, Reichart D, Du K, Pascual G, Tempst P, Rosenfeld MG, Glass CK, Kurokawa R (2008) Induced ncRNAs allosterically modify RNA-binding proteins in cis to inhibit transcription. Nature 454(7200):126–130
- Adelman K, Lis JT (2012) Promoter-proximal pausing of RNA polymerase II: emerging roles in metazoans. Nat Rev Genet 13:720–731
- 44. Halley P, Kadakkuzha BM, Faghihi MA, Magistri M, Zeier Z, Khorkova O, Coito C, Hsiao J, Lawrence M, Wahlestedt C (2014) Regulation of the apolipoprotein gene cluster by a long noncoding RNA. Cell Rep 6(1):222–230
- 45. Martianov I, Ramadass A, Serra Barros A, Chow N, Akoulitchev A (2007) Repression of the human dihydrofolate reductase gene by a non-coding interfering transcript. Nature 445(7128):666–670
- 46. Lander ES, Linton LM, Birren B, Nusbaum C, Zody MC, Baldwin J, Devon K, Dewar K, Doyle M, FitzHugh W, et al (2001) Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature 409:860–921

- 47. Waterston RH, Lindblad-Toh K, Birney E, Rogers J, Abril JF, Agarwal P et al (2002) Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. Nature 420(6915):520–562
- Mohammad F, Pandey RR, Nagano T, Chakalova L, Mondal T, Fraser P, Kanduri C (2008) Kcnq1ot1/Lit1 noncoding RNA mediates transcriptional silencing by targeting to the perinucleolar region. Mol Cell Biol 28(11):3713–3728
- Horn L, Lovly CM (2018). Chapter 74: Neoplasms of the lung. In: Jameson JL, Fauci AS, Kasper DL, Hauser SL, Longo DL, Loscalzo J (eds) Harrison's principles of internal medicine, 20th edn. McGraw-Hill. ISBN 978-1259644030
- Alberg AJ, Brock MV, Samet JM (2016) Chapter 52: Epidemiology of lung cancer. In: Murray & Nadel's textbook of respiratory medicine, 6th edn. Saunders Elsevier. ISBN 978-1-4557-3383-5
- O'Reilly KM, Mclaughlin AM, Beckett WS, Sime PJ (2007) Asbestos-related lung disease. Am Fam Physician 75(5):683–688
- 52. Lu C, Onn A, Vaporciyan AA, et al. (2010). Chapter 78: Cancer of the lung. In: Holland-Frei cancer medicine, 8th edn. People's Medical Publishing House. ISBN 978-1-60795-014-1
- Falk S, Williams C (2010) Chapter 1. Lung cancer—the facts, 3rd edn. Oxford University Press, pp 3–4. ISBN 978-0-19-956933-5
- 54. Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Hao Y, Xu J, Thun MJ (2009) Cancer statistics. Cancer J Clin 59(4):225–249
- Chapman S, Robinson G, Stradling J, West S, Wrightson J (2014) Chapter 31. Oxford handbook of respiratory medicine, 3rd edn. Oxford University Press. p 284. ISBN 978-0-19-870386-0
- 56. Majumder S (2009) Stem cells and cancer (Online-Ausg. ed.). Springer, New York, p 193. ISBN 978-0-387-89611-3
- 57. Honnorat J, Antoine JC (2007) Paraneoplastic neurological syndromes. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2(1):22
- 58. Frederick LG (2002) AJCC cancer staging manual. Springer, Berlin. ISBN 978-0-387-95271-0
- 59. Gibb EA, Brown CJ, Lam WL (2011) The functional role of long non-coding RNA in human carcinomas. Mol Cancer 10(1): 38–55
- Kumar V, Abbas AK, Aster JC (2013a) Chapter 5. Robbins basic pathology, 9th edn. Elsevier Saunders. p 199. ISBN 978-1-4377-01781-5
- Peto R, Lopez AD, Boreham J, et al (2006). Mortality from smoking in developed countries 1950–2000: indirect estimates from National Vital Statistics. Oxford University Press. ISBN 978-0-19-262535-9
- Alberg AJ, Ford JG, Samet JM (2007) Epidemiology of lung cancer: ACCP evidence-based clinical practice guidelines, 2 edn. Chest 132(3 Suppl):29S–55S
- 63. Jaakkola P, Mole DR, Tian YM, Wilson MI, Gielbert J, Gaskell SJ, von Kriegsheim A, Hebestreit HF, Mukherji M, Schofield CJ, et al (2001) Targeting of HIF-alpha to the von Hippel-Lindau ubiquitylation complex by O2-regulated prolyl hydroxylation. Science 292: 468–472
- 64. Taylor R, Najafi F, Dobson A (2007) Meta-analysis of studies of passive smoking and lung cancer: effects of study type and continent. Int J Epidemiol 36(5):1048–1059
- 65. Chew G-L, Pauli A, Rinn JL, Regev A, Schier AF, Valen E (2013) Ribosome profiling reveals resemblance between long non-coding RNAs and 5' leaders of coding RNAs. Development 140:2828–2834
- 66. Tashkin DP (2013) Effects of marijuana smoking on the lung. Ann Am Thorac Soc 10(3):239-247
- Choi H, Mazzone P (2014) Radon and lung cancer: assessing and mitigating the risk. Cleve Clin J Med 81(9):567–575
- Schmid K, Kuwert T, Drexler H (2010) Radon in indoor spaces: an underestimated risk factor for lung cancer in environmental medicine. Dtsch Arztebl Int 107(11):181–186
- 69. Chen H, Goldberg MS, Villeneuve PJ (2008) A systematic review of the relation between long-term exposure to ambient air pollution and chronic diseases. Rev Environ Health 23(4):243–297

- Clapp RW, Jacobs MM, Loechler EL (2008) Environmental and occupational causes of cancer: new evidence 2005–2007. Rev Environ Health 23(1):1–37
- Sood A (2012) Indoor fuel exposure and the lung in both developing and developed countries: an update. Clin Chest Med 33(4):649–665
- Yang IA, Holloway JW, Fong KM (2013) Genetic susceptibility to lung cancer and comorbidities. J Thorac Dis 5(Suppl 5):S454–S462
- Larson DR (2011) What do expression dynamics tell us about the mechanism of transcription? Curr Opin Genet Dev 21:591–599
- 74. Vlahopoulos S, Adamaki M, Khoury N, Zoumpourlis V, Boldogh I (2018) Roles of DNA repair enzyme OGG1 in innate immunity and its significance for lung cancer. Pharmacol Ther 194:59–72
- 75. Mulvihill MS, Kratz JR, Pham P, Jablons DM, He B (2013) The role of stem cells in airway repair: implications for the origins of lung cancer. Chin J Cancer 32(2):71–74
- Powell CA, Halmos B, Nana-Sinkam SP (2013) Update in lung cancer and mesothelioma 2012. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 188(2):157–166
- 77. Frank S, Aguirre A, Hescheler J, Kurian L (2016) A lncRNA Perspective into (Re)Building the Heart. Front Cell Dev Biol 4:128. eCollection 2016
- Kumar V, Abbas AK, Aster JC (2013b). 12. Robbins basic pathology, 9th edn. Elsevier Saunders. p 505. ISBN 978-1-4377-1781-5
- 79. Subramanian J, Govindan R (2007) Lung cancer in never smokers: a review. J Clin Oncol 25(5):561–570
- Kapranov P, St Laurent G, Raz T, Ozsolak F, Reynolds CP, Sorensen PH et al (2010) The majority of total nuclear-encoded non-ribosomal RNA in a human cell is "dark matter" unannotated RNA. BMC Biol 8:149. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7007-8-149
- Ross JP, Suetake I et al (2010) Recombinant mammalian DNA methyltransferase activity on model transcriptional gene silencing short RNA-DNA heteroduplex substrates. Biochem J 432(2):323–332
- 82. Tan D, Zander DS (2008) Immunohistochemistry for assessment of pulmonary and pleural neoplasms: a review and update. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 1(1):19–31
- 83. de la Cruz J, Kressler D, Tollervey D, Linder P (1998) Dob1p (Mtr4p) is a putative ATPdependent RNA helicase required for the 3' end formation of 5.8S rRNA in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. EMBO J 17: 128–1140
- 84. Goodman GE (2002) Lung cancer. 1: prevention of lung cancer. Thorax 57(11):994-999
- McNabola A, Gill LW (2009) The control of environmental tobacco smoke: a policy review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 6(2):741–758
- 86. Usman Ali M, Miller J, Peirson L, Fitzpatrick-Lewis D, Kenny M, Sherifali D, Raina P (2016) Screening for lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Prev Med 89:301–314
- 87. Jaklitsch MT, Jacobson FL, Austin JH et al (2012) The American Association for thoracic surgery guidelines for lung cancer screening using low-dose computed tomography scans for lung cancer survivors and other high-risk groups. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 144(1):33–38
- Bach PB, Mirkin JN, Oliver TK et al (2012) Benefits and harms of CT screening for lung cancer: a systematic review. JAMA 307(22):2418–2429
- Park SM, Choi EY, Bae DH, Sohn HA, Kim SY, Kim YJ (2018) The LncRNA EPEL promotes lung cancer cell proliferation through E2F target activation. Cell Physiol Biochem 45(3):1270–1283
- Zhan Y, Zang H, Feng J, Lu J, Chen L, Fan S (2017) Long non-coding RNAs associated with non-small cell lung cancer. Oncotarget 8(40):69174–69184



16

Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS): Modulator of Response to Cancer Therapy in Non-Small-Cell Lung Carcinoma (NSCLC)

Shamee Bhattacharjee

Abstract

Oxidative stress, caused by an imbalance between oxidants and antioxidants, is implicated in the etiology and progression of many types of cancer including lung cancer. The most common type of lung cancer, NSCLC, is the leading cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide. The lung tissue is particularly vulnerable to oxidative stress because of its direct interface with ambient air which exposes it to a variety of oxidants. In order to protect itself from oxidative stress, lung tissue is equipped with a robust endogenous antioxidant defense system mostly controlled by the redox-sensitive transcription factor Nrf2 which is negatively regulated by Keap1 protein. Lung cancer cells are reported to contain increased levels of ROS. However, administration of antioxidants has failed to show any obvious effectiveness in the prevention or cure of lung cancer. On the other hand, a prooxidant approach has been proposed to successfully kill cancer cells by generating ROS. Cancer cells, owing to their high basal ROS, are considered to be more vulnerable to the toxic effect of exogenous ROS-generating agents as opposed to normal cells. A major challenge in this mode of therapy is the acquisition of drug resistance in cancer cells. This is attributed to an elevation in the antioxidant system in cancer cells, leading to "redox adaptation," which facilitates survival under enhanced oxidative stress. Incidentally, lung cancer cells have been reported to exhibit constitutive overexpression of Nrf2. Therefore, impairment of the Nrf2/Keap1 antioxidant pathway might be a promising strategy to control NSCLC. In this chapter, the importance of ROS as a signaling molecule in regulating some of the hallmark feature of cancer, such as proliferation, apoptosis, angiogenesis, metastasis, etc., is discussed. Furthermore, the various ROSmodulating therapeutic approaches to treat NSCLC presently under investigation at experimental and clinical setting are also discussed.

S. Bhattacharjee (⊠)

Department of Zoology, West Bengal State University, Kolkata, West Bengal, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_16

Keywords

Lung cancer \cdot NSCLC \cdot ROS \cdot Oxidative stress \cdot Nrf2/Keap1antioxidant pathway

16.1 Introduction

Lung cancer accounts for majority of cancer deaths and is also the most common cancer diagnosed worldwide. Histologically, two main types of lung cancer are nonsmall-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) representing approximately 85% of all lung cancer cases and small cell lung cancer (SCLC) constituting the remaining cases [1]. To a large extent, lung cancer survival and treatment modality are governed by the stage of the disease [2]. The standard treatment recommended for stages I and II is surgical resection along with adjuvant therapy; radiation with chemotherapy is the mode of treatment for locally advanced inoperable stage IIIA tumors; for stage 3 IIIB and IV chemotherapy along with supportive care is the standard treatment. More recently, chemotherapy is being replaced by tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) as the first line of treatment [3]. Despite the evolution of targeted therapy, lung cancer prognosis is still very poor with a meager 17.8% 5-year survival rate [4] which is much lower than many other leading cancer sites. Approximately 50% of the lung cancer cases are detected at an advanced metastatic stage and the average median survival for such patients is 10-12 months [5] which have been found to marginally increase to 18-25 months with the use of TKIs [3]. Such dismal survival rates and poor prognosis are attributed to high recurrence, metastasis, and the development of drug resistance in majority of patients.

Oxidative stress is implicated in the pathophysiology of lung diseases including lung cancer [6]. An imbalance between production of oxidants and their neutralization by the antioxidant defense systems in our body is termed as oxidative stress. Elevated levels of intracellular ROS, which are by-products of aerobic metabolism, are frequently encountered during oxidative stress. The term ROS includes several free radicals, e.g., superoxide (O2^{•-}), peroxyl (RO2[•]), hydroxyl radical (OH[•]), hydroperoxyl (HO₂ \cdot), and some non-radical oxidants such as hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂). Considerable evidence suggests that redox imbalance and deregulation in redox signaling are associated with cancer progression and drug resistance [7]. Increased production of ROS has been associated with many human metastatic tumors [8] including lung cancer [9, 10] and is linked to tumor aggressiveness resulting in poor prognosis [11]. This persistent high level of ROS in cancer cells, resulting from genetic and metabolic alterations [12], promotes tumor growth and aggressiveness by regulating several key cellular processes such as proliferation, apoptosis, angiogenesis, invasion, and metastasis [13]. Therefore, it is logical to speculate that the molecular and biochemical alterations caused by elevated ROS in cancer cells can lead to the emergence of drug-resistant cells during disease progression [14]. Although drug resistance mechanisms are extremely complex and depend on the mode of treatment and genetic constitution of cancer cells, ROS-mediated mechanisms can be assumed to have an important participation in the evolution of drug-resistant phenotype.

Paradoxically, as ROS are extremely reactive and can damage cellular macromolecules, the elevated intrinsic ROS in cancer cells provide a unique opportunity to selectively kill cancer cells based on their vulnerability to further oxidative stress. These contradictory roles of ROS have important implications in designing anticancer therapies based upon modulation of ROS levels. Therefore, modifying ROS levels by either enhancing or depleting their concentrations have been proposed for cancer treatment.

Herein the various signaling pathways through which ROS may modulate cancer phenotypes are described. The therapeutic implications of this escalated ROS levels in lung cancer is also discussed. Some clinical studies correlating ROS levels with tumor prognosis will also be detailed in this chapter.

16.2 Redox Signaling in Lung Tissue

The primary function of lung is to facilitate exchange of CO₂ for O₂. As compared to other organs, lungs are more vulnerable to oxidative stress because they are exposed to highest amount of oxygen [15]. Moreover, adult human lungs exchange between 10,000 and 20,000 l of air daily [16]. This exposes the lungs to a wide variety of infectious agents and toxicants including mutagens and carcinogens. Therefore, in order to maintain the sterility of airways, lung cells have equipped themselves with NADPH oxidase (Nox) enzymes which are widely expressed in both upper and lower respiratory tracts [17] and participate in innate immunity and host defense of the lungs [16]. The Nox enzymes catalyze the reduction of molecular O_2 to superoxide (O_2°) which is involved in maintaining lung integrity [17]. Expression of Nox and Nox-derived ROS are considered to participate significantly in the development of an oxidative environment which provides pro-oncogenic survival and proliferative signals [18]. Considerable studies now suggest a positive correlation between Nox expression/activity and lung cancer [19]. Apart from Nox, another endogenous source of ROS in lung tissues is polymorphonuclear neutrophilic leukocytes (PMNs) which are significantly higher in numbers in the pulmonary circulation than the systemic circulation [20]. Protection of lung tissue against such oxidative insult is mediated by a variety of endogenous antioxidants, for instance, glutathione S-transferase (GST), glutathione peroxidase, superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase, thioredoxin reductase, and reduced glutathione (GSH) (L-γ-glutamyl-L-cysteinyl-glycine) [21]. The principal regulator of antioxidant enzymes is nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) which plays a vital role in providing cytoprotection in response to oxidative stress.

Higher levels of ROS which play a positive role in carcinogenesis have been reported in lung cancer cells. To counteract the toxicity of such elevated ROS, lung cancer cells increase their antioxidant defense system (as shown in Fig. 16.1) [22, 23]. The augmented antioxidant level in response to oxidative stress is largely governed by the activity of the redox-sensitive transcription factor Nrf2. Under



Fig. 16.1 Main sources and scavengers of ROS in the lung alveolar space. Nox family of oxidoreductases is widely expressed in different cell types of the lung alveoli such as type I and type II pneumocytes, alveolar macrophages, and neutrophils which create an oxidative environment in the lung tissue. Macrophages and neutrophils also generate ROS during oxidative burst. Lung tissue protects itself from this enhanced ROS by activating Nrf2-/Keap1-mediated antioxidative defense mechanism

unstressed condition, a cytosolic inhibitor of Nrf2, termed Kelch-like ECHassociated protein 1 (KEAP1), targets it for proteasomal degradation. Accumulating evidence indicate alterations of the Keap1-Nrf2 pathway in lung cancer, including somatic mutations, loss of heterozygosity, and epigenetic changes in the promoter region of Keap1 [24]. Thus, it has been postulated that cancer cells not only generate high levels of ROS but also can withstand these levels by activating antioxidant pathways, predominantly the Nrf2-Keap1 pathway, that drive their proliferation and survival [25].

16.3 ROS in the Regulation of Cell Behavior

16.3.1 ROS as a Mediator of Cell Proliferation

Binding of many polypeptide growth factors including epidermal growth factor (EGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), etc., to receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) has been reported to induce ROS production

which facilitates growth-factor-induced receptor tyrosine phosphorylation [26]. Oxidation of cysteine (Cys) residues in proteins and other thiol-containing compounds in the cell by ROS is considered to play a vital role in a variety of signaling pathways [27]. Experiments have shown that H_2O_2 can oxidize and inactivate receptor-associated EGF-associated phosphatases such as protein-tyrosine phosphatase 1B (PTP1B) [28, 29]. Thus, inactivation of these phosphatases by H_2O_2 increases phosphorylation of tyrosine residues in the growth factor receptors thereby promoting activation of downstream signaling pathways such as mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT), and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)-Akt which are known to control cell proliferation, migration, and survival [30]. H_2O_2 can also promote the activation of Ras which in turn activates PI3/Akt/mTOR and MAPK/ERK pathways [7].

16.3.2 ROS as a Mediator of Cell Survival

As mentioned in the above sections, in response to oxidative stress, Nrf2, after being released from Keap1, escapes proteasomal degradation and transactivates the expression of genes related to cell survival. Among these are genes for antioxidant/ detoxifying enzymes such as catalase, glutathione peroxidase, superoxide dismutase, thioredoxin, and glutathione S-transferase that can scavenge free radicals, thereby reducing ROS-induced cytotoxicity [31]. Nrf2 has also been shown to bind to the promoter region of the antiapoptotic protein Bcl-2 in response to oxidative stress. Nrf2-mediated upregulation of Bcl2 is reported to downregulate proapoptotic Bax and caspase 3/7 which protected cells from undergoing apoptosis and become drug resistant [32]. There are evidence of an association between increased accumulation of Nrf2 and augmented Bcl2 levels in lung cancer cells [32]. Another important transcription factor which promotes cell survival during oxidative stress is NF-kB [33]. NF-kB influences and is being influenced by ROS. Enhancing the expression of antioxidants, such as MnSOD [34], ferritin heavy chain [35], GST [36], and haemoxygenase 1 (HO-1), is one of the most important ways in which NF-κB moderates ROS levels [37].

16.3.3 ROS as a Mediator of Apoptosis

Apoptosis is mediated by extrinsic or intrinsic pathways. Extrinsic pathway involves the recruitment of death receptors on the cell surface, while the intrinsic pathway primarily pivots upon the mitochondrial outer membrane permeability. ROS is a critical inducer of apoptosis. H_2O_2 -induced apoptosis is reported to be accompanied by an increase in p53, Noxa, Puma, and Bax expressions in several cell lines [38]. The activity of caspases is also known to be redox regulated as the cysteine residues located at the catalytic site of caspases are vulnerable to oxidation. In addition, susceptibility of procaspase-3, procaspase-9, and the active caspase-3 toward S-glutathiolation has also been observed [39, 40]. ROS have been intricately associated with mitochondrial pathway of apoptosis because it is the organelle where most of the intracellular ROS is produced. Mitochondria-derived ROS can damage mt-DNA which impairs transcription of electron transport genes, thereby compromising mitochondrial membrane potential [41]. These events ultimately result in intrinsic pathway of apoptosis. Additionally, ROS can also stimulate cytochrome c release from mitochondria and induce mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) opening by oxidizing protein components of MPTP [39].

Evidence indicate link between ROS and extrinsic pathway of apoptosis as well. Experiments have shown the involvement of ROS such as H_2O_2 in the activation of Fas-L, translocation of FADD to the plasma membrane, and activation of caspase 8 in many cancer cell lines [42, 43].

Newer evidence have recognized ROS-induced receptor clustering and lipid rafts as important redox signaling platforms for apoptotic induction. Death receptorligand binding has been reported to cause lipid raft formation which facilitated recruitment of Nox and ROS generation [44].

16.3.4 ROS as a Mediator of Angiogenesis

Exogenous ROS has been found to induce vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in several types of cells and also promote the proliferation and migration of endothelial cells [45]. Upregulation of VEGF and its receptors are cellular responses under hypoxia which have been reported to trigger the generation of H₂O₂ by mitochondria [46]. ROS is also found to enhance the DNA-binding activity of the transcription factor hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α), which can activate the expression of genes such as VEGF in response to hypoxic stress. Intracellular ROS production mediated by NADPH oxidases, Nox2 and Nox4, has been reported to promote endothelial cell proliferation and survival via p38, ERK, and Akt signaling [47, 48].

Nox1-induced ROS production has also been shown to activate ras-induced upregulation of VEGF and angiogenesis [49]. Endothelial cell migration has also been reported to be facilitated by ROS. Mechanistically, this involves tethering Nox-2 to actin cytoskeleton at the leading edge of migrating endothelial cells by the actin-binding scaffold protein, IQGAP1, leading to ROS production which facilitate cell migration [50].

16.3.5 ROS as a Mediator of Invasion and Metastasis

Evidence suggest that exposure of various cancer cells to ROS enhance their migratory and invasive property [51, 52]. Metastasizing cancer cells have been reported to possess higher levels of cytoplasmic and mitochondrial ROS as compared to primary tumors. It is now widely established that detachment of cancer cells from extracellular matrix (ECM) causes a robust increase in ROS [53]. ROS is known to induce cell-cell dissociation by regulating the activity of Src kinase [54] which mediates internalization of N-cadherin and activation of Rho/Rho kinase pathways via phosphorylation of p-120 catenin [55]. The effect of this elevated ROS on the viability of disseminated cells is an active area of research now. Subsequent studies have shown overexpression of SOD and CAT in ECM-detached cells promoted the survivability of these disseminated cancer cells [56] and facilitated evasion from anoikis [57]. A study conducted by Piskounova et al. have shown inducible increase in endogenous antioxidants glutathione and NADPH in metastatic tumors indicating that metastasizing cancer cells acquire adaptive response to counteract the elevated oxidative stress. In the same study, it was revealed that treatment with N-acetylcysteine (NAC) augmented the existence of circulating tumor cells [58]. This is in agreement with a previous study which showed that activation of Src by ROS, in addition to facilitate cell-cell dissociation (as mentioned above), also activates NF-kB resulting in MnSOD expression to decrease the oxidative stress [55]. Thus possibly oxidative stress is essential for the initial steps of metastasis, but not for the later stages of metastatic cascade. In other words, high ROS content in metastatic cancer cells as well as their ability to effectively mitigate the oxidative stress during migration through the blood vessels and colonization at secondary sites determines efficient dissemination and seeding of metastatic cancer cells [59].

Tipping the balance from ROS-induced tumor, promoting events to ROS-induced apoptotic signaling is a major challenge for designing effective therapeutic strategies.

16.4 Modulation of ROS as Anticancer Strategy against NSCLC

As compared to normal cells, cancer cells are known to possess an altered redox status which can be explored for potential therapeutic benefits. Cancer initiation and progression is frequently associated with oxidative stress. Therefore, antioxidants have been proposed to help fight against cancer. Alternatively, another approach to target cancer cells is to exploit the vulnerability of cancer cells to further ROS insults. However, it has also been observed that cancer cells become adapted to persistent increased intrinsic oxidative stress and develop an enhanced antioxidant defense system leading to drug resistance. Therefore, modulating such redox adaptation is yet another strategy to eliminate cancer cells (Fig. 16.2).

16.4.1 Targeted Therapy

FDA-approved tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) for the treatment of lung cancer patients such as gefitinib, erlotinib, etc., are specifically targeted against epidermal growth factor receptors (EGFR) [60]. As mentioned in the above sections, ROS-induced oxidative stress is involved in tumor progression mediated by EGFR. Oxidative stress has been demonstrated to activate EGFR in a



Fig. 16.2 Therapeutic modulation of altered redox status of cancer cells. There are mainly three ROS-modulating strategies to fight against cancer: (1) using antioxidants to scavenge the enhanced ROS in cancer cells, thereby inhibiting carcinogenesis, (2) treating cancer cells with prooxidants which would make them more vulnerable to ROS-mediated cell death, and (3) targeting and inhibiting the Nrf2-/Keap1-mediated endogenous antioxidant defense system in order to jeopardize redox adaptation of cancer cells

ligand-independent manner which does not involve receptor dimerization [61, 62]. Apart from functioning as mediators of the EGFR signaling pathway, ROS also act as regulators of the oxidation status and activation of the EGFR protein. Low and high ROS play contradictory roles in the EGFR signaling pathway. Oxidation of tyrosine phosphatases and/or specific cysteine residues in EGFR caused by mild level of ROS promotes the EGFR signaling pathway [63]. However, excessive ROS is reported to cause overoxidation of Met residue of EGFR^{T790M}, thereby inhibiting the survival signaling pathway [64]. One study has demonstrated that treatment with TKIs increased ROS in cells with intact Keap1 and loss of Keap1 inhibited this increase. Keap1 knockout leads to Nrf2 overexpression which caused increased cell survivability by reducing ROS levels in the presence of drug [65]. In line with this study, one group of researchers have shown that the histone deacetylase inhibitor, vorinostat, increases the efficacy of erlotinib or gefitinib against NSCLC when administered in combination by downregulating Nrf2 and upregulating Keap1 [66]. A natural naphthoquinone, shikonin, was shown to sensitize wild-type EGFR NSCLC cells toward the anticancer activity of TKIs which was associated with ER stress and ROS [67]. A combination treatment of resveratrol and erlotinib was also found to enhance ROS generation and cause apoptosis in NSCLC cells [68].

Acquired drug resistance during TKI therapy is a common problem which severely limits treatment outcomes and is responsible for poor prognosis of lung cancer patients [69]. TKI-resistant NSCLC cell lines were reported to contain high levels of basal ROS [60, 64]. In addition, corroborating the high basal ROS levels, the same study showed high Nox-2 expression in clinical lung tumors which was associated with poor patient survival [60, 64]. ROS generated by chronic gefitinib treatment has been correlated with EMT which is a classical hallmark of drugresistant tumors as well as alterations in mitochondrial structure and function [70]. In a separate study, NAC was found to inhibit EGFR-TKI resistance induced by ROS generated from cigarette smoke extract in NSCLC cell lines [62]. The findings from this study suggested that antioxidants might provide therapeutic benefit by scavenging TKI-induced ROS and EMT. However, contrary to these reports, other studies have shown induction of apoptosis in TKI-resistant NSCLC cells by upregulating ROS levels. Combined treatment with erlotinib and a flavonoid ampelopsin caused increased accumulation of ROS via upregulating NOX2 enzyme which resulted in apoptotic cell death in erlotinib resistance NSCLC cells [71]. Another natural compound dioscin is also reported to overcome TKI resistance in NSCLC by downregulating transcription of Src homology 2 (SH2) domain-containing PTP2 (SHP2) gene through p53 induction in response to ROS generation [72]. A small molecule, sanguinarine, which can elevate ROS level [73], is also reported to kill gefitinib-resistant NSCLC cells by upregulating NOX3 resulting in EGFR overoxidation, degradation, and apoptosis [64]. Studies have also reported

that exposure to oxidative stress in EGFR-overexpressed NSCLC cell lines resulted in TKI resistance.

16.4.2 Chemotherapy

Apoptosis induced by classical cytotoxic chemotherapeutic agents including DNA alkylating agents (e.g., cyclophosphamide), anthracycline antibiotics (e.g., doxorubicin), platinum compounds (e.g., cisplatin), etc., is known to be partly mediated through generation of ROS [74]. However, due to the nonselective cytotoxicity of these agents which compromises the viability of normal cells as well, research is now focused in identifying agents which can selectively target cancer cells. The sustained oxidative stress in cancer cells owing to constitutively enhanced ROS generation or impaired antioxidant systems can selectively increase the sensitivity of cancer cells toward prooxidant cancer therapy which has been observed by several groups [14, 75]. In other words, cancer cells with high basal ROS levels are more susceptible to the toxic effects of additional exogenous ROS [76]. The approach to selectively kill cancer cells by ROS-mediating mechanisms is being explored to develop effective selective therapeutic agents. A lot of preclinical studies have established that various agents can induce apoptosis in NSCLC by exerting oxidative stress. Teroxirone, a triepoxide currently undergoing clinical trial, exerted oxidative stress on human NSCLC cells by disrupting the mitochondrial membrane permeabilization, generating ROS, and promoting ultimate apoptotic cell death [77]. Riluzole, an amino acid channel blocker, has been found to increase ROS beyond the tolerance limit of cisplatin-resistant NSCLC leading to cell death [78].

Rotenone increased the sensitivity of NSCLC cells toward apoptosis induced by tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) through ROS generation. Many phytochemicals such as sotetsuflavone, withaferin A, physalin A, and withasteroids have been reported to cause apoptosis or cell cycle arrest in the NSCLC cell line A549 by increasing the amount of intracellular ROS [79–82].

Chemotherapeutic agents such as motexafin gadolinium and anthracyclines (doxorubicin and daunorubicin) may react with flavoenzymes, viz., NAD(P) H:quinine oxidoreductase (NQO1) and cytochrome P450 reductase, to produce superoxide in the presence of reduced NADPH. These agents are, hence, known as redox cyclers [83, 84].

Conversely, antioxidants have also been proposed to induce reductive DNA damage leading to cell death. Such a reductive damage to DNA was shown to be mediated by the green tea flavonoid epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) due to the donation of its weakly bound electron to DNA which resulted in A549 cell death [85].

16.4.3 Radiotherapy

Radiotherapy is an important mode of treatment for unresectable advanced human lung cancer. In radiotherapy, high- and low-linear energy transfer (LET) radiations are delivered to cancer cells which induce damage to cellular macromolecules including DNA, ultimately leading to cancer cell killing. X-rays, γ -rays, and β -particles constituting low LET radiations and electrons, protons, α -particles, and other heavy ions comprising high LET radiations can damage DNA directly or indirectly via free radicals such as OH°, O₂⁻, and H₂O₂ generated from ionization of cellular water component [86, 87]. However, treatment outcome is severely limited due to two factors: undesirable toxicity to normal cells and development of radioresistance in cancer cells [88]. Therefore, there has been a two-pronged attempt to improve treatment outcome of radiotherapy: (1) identifying radioprotective agents which would offer protection to normal tissues without hindering the tumoricidal activity of radiotherapy and (2) identifying potent radiosensitizers which would overcome radioresistance.

Whole-grain flaxseed was found to provide protection against radiation-induced lung injury in murine model without inhibiting tumoricidal doses of radiation [89]. Subsequently, the same group has identified lignan complex of flaxseed as the bio-active component which upregulates antioxidant enzymes such as HO-1 and NQO1, thereby exerting radioprotective effect [90]. Contrary to the effect of radioprotectors which are mostly antioxidants, radiosensitizing strategy includes induction of DNA damage through ROS generation or inhibiting antioxidant defense system.

Oridonin, a natural diterpenoid compound in combination with radiation, was found to greatly enhance ROS generation and DNA damage, thereby increasing apoptosis in the H460 NSCLC cell in vitro [88]. Luteolin pretreatment of NCI-H460 and H1299 NSCLC cells before irradiation with γ -ionizing radiation-enhanced apoptotic cell death through p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) phosphorylation and ROS accumulation [91].

X-ray irradiation when administered in combination with coroglaucigenin, isolated from stems of *Calotropis gigantea*, increased radiosensitivity in human lung cancer cells (NCI-H446, NCI-H460, A549) accompanied by a reduction in Nrf2 levels [92]. Blocking Nrf2-dependent antioxidant activity by various agents such as brusatol [93], 4-(2-cyclohexylethoxy)aniline (IM3829) [94] have been found to enhance the effectiveness of radiotherapy in several human NSCLC cells through generation of ROS.

16.4.4 Conquering Drug Resistance by Tempering Redox Adaptation in Cancer Cells

Although preferential killing of cancer cells by using exogenous ROS-promoting agents has shown success in the experimental systems [11], it has not tasted widespread success in the clinical setting. Moreover there are reports of high ROS levels in chemotherapy- and radiotherapy-resistant tumor cells [95, 96]. A study has reported elevated ROS in cisplatin-resistant cells including those derived from patients [78]. Decreased expression of thioredoxin-1 (TRX1), which is a major endogenous antioxidant peptide, was found to be an important mediator of ROS in cisplatin-resistant lung cancer cells. One of the reasons might be that a few cancer cells have become adapted to this high intrinsic ROS by elevating antioxidant defense system. This upregulated antioxidant defense not only ensures survival of cancer cells under enhanced intracellular ROS but also endows cancer cells with a mechanism to resist the action of anticancer drugs. Endogenous antioxidant defense comprising SOD, GST, and GSH have all been implicated in the development of drug resistance. Overexpression or hyperactivity of these antioxidants can neutralize chemotherapy-induced oxidative stress, thereby leading to drug resistance [97]. A growing number of studies reveal that impairment of Nrf2-Keap1 pathway, the master regulator of the transcription of these endogenous antioxidants, exists in lung cancer [24]. Loss-of-function mutation in Keap-1 and gain-of-function mutation in Nrf2 leading to increased Nrf2 activity have been reported in lung cancer by various groups [98–100]. Such aberrant activation of Nrf2 is known to contribute to resistance against oxidative stress induced by chemotherapy or radiotherapy in cancer cells [100, 101]. HO-1, a transcriptional target of Nrf2, is overexpressed in NSCLC [102]. One study has reported decreased chemosensitivity of lung cancer cells toward cisplatin treatment through MAPK-dependent activation of Nrf2 leading to upregulation of HO-1 [103]. In line with this study, inhibition of Nrf2 has been shown to enhance the cytotoxicity of anticancer drugs. Administration of a PDGF inhibitor CP-673451 with cisplatin was found to cause synergistic anticancer effect against NSCLC in vitro through Nrf2 inhibition and consequent ROS production [104]. Inhibition of Nrf2 nuclear translocation was also found to augment the toxicity of adaphostin, a dihydroquinone derivative, in NSCLC cell line NCI-H522. Brusatol, which has been identified to be an inhibitor of Nrf2 pathway, is found to sensitize A549 lung cancer cells to cisplatin [105]. Therefore, targeting Nrf2 may be important for those drugs which kill or sensitize cancer cells to apoptosis through the generation of ROS.

16.5 Redox Modulators in Lung Cancer Therapy: Human Intervention Studies and Clinical Evidence

ROS are mutagenic thereby promoting tumor growth. Under this condition, antioxidants have become popular among general population and in the scientific community as agents that can protect and fight against cancer. However, clinical trials with antioxidants have failed to show beneficial effects against cancer.

Genomic analysis of 178 lung squamous cell carcinomas reveals that genes related to oxidative stress response were frequently altered pathways in lung cancer. Mutations or copy number alterations were observed in 34% of cases [106]. Another study has shown that biallelic inactivation of Keap1 is a frequent genetic alteration in NSCLC leading to constitutive activation of Nrf2-dependent antioxidant enzymes [98]. These findings suggest that modulation of redox state presents an important therapeutic opportunity in lung cancer.

16.5.1 Scavenging ROS

In order to find out the effect of dietary supplementation with α -tocopherol or β -carotene or both on the incidence of lung cancer, a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study, termed the Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta Carotene Cancer Prevention Study, was conducted in Finland. During the trial, 847 new cases of lung cancer were diagnosed. Among these newly diagnosed lung cancer patients, there wasn't any reduction in lung cancer incidence in men receiving alpha-tocopherol as compared to those who did not. Ironically, consumption of β -carotene led to a higher incidence of lung cancer in men as compared to nonconsumers [107]. In yet another randomized trial, supplementation with retinyl palmitate and/or N-acetyl cysteine for 2 years caused no difference in overall survival of head and neck or lung cancer patients [108].

16.5.2 Enhancing ROS

Anticancer drugs such as platinum coordination complexes (carboplatin, cisplatin) generate huge amount of ROS which can induce apoptosis in cancer cells. Combination of these drugs with inhibitors of the enzyme poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP), e.g., veliparib or olaparib, has yielded promising results in different types of cancer including lung cancer. Inhibiting the activity of PARP, which is involved in maintaining DNA integrity during genotoxic stress including oxidative stress, can compromise the capacity of tumor cells to respond to oxidative stress. Phase I/II clinical trial of olaparib in combination with carboplatin or cisplatin and other drugs (e.g., topotecan, vinorelbine, paclitaxel, gemcitabine, bevacizumab, or radiation) is underway for NSCLC patients [109].

Another drug which is approved for clinical trial in lung cancer is NOV-002 which mimics endogenous glutathione disulfide (GSSG) and hence alters the redox status by manipulating intracellular GSSG/GSH ratio [110, 111].

Increased levels of GSH protect cancer cells from apoptosis and are associated with drug resistance [112]. Inhibitors of another thiol-based antioxidant, thioredoxin, have been shown to have promising antitumor activity. Drugs such as motexafin gadolinium are thioredoxin reductase inhibitors that can sensitize cancer cells to oxidative stress. This drug has shown potent radiosensitizing activity in NSCLC patients with brain metastasis undergoing whole-brain radiation therapy in a phase III clinical trial [112].

16.6 Discussion

Conventional therapies in cancer, viz., radiotherapy and chemotherapy, cause substantial increase in cellular ROS levels so as to induce tumor cell apoptosis [113]. However, the main limitation to these therapies is their nonselective cytotoxicity toward normal cells of the patient. Several studies have reported increased oxidative stress and decreased antioxidant enzyme in lung cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy [114]. Therefore, there was a general notion that antioxidant supplementation during cancer therapy might help alleviate ROS-induced damage to normal cells, but clinical evidence supporting the efficacy of antioxidants and vitamins in cancer prevention or cure are inconsistent and therefore inconclusive. For instance, in a Phase I/II clinical trial with high-dose intravenous vitamin C and cytotoxic chemotherapy, a 73-year-old female stage IV lung cancer patient had stable disease after 2 treatment cycles, but after further 2 more cycles, a new nodule was observed in the lung which suggested disease progression. Usually, stage IV lung cancer patients experience progressive disease after the first-line chemotherapy itself. Therefore, the brief enhancement in the period of stable disease of this patient might be attributed to vitamin C. However, no such benefit was noted in case of another lung cancer patient whose condition deteriorated very fast [115]. Thus, no conclusive evidence regarding the therapeutic benefit or harm of using vitamin C in conjunction with cytotoxic chemotherapy in patients with advanced cancer could be obtained.

It might seem quite perplexing that despite the proven implication of oxidative stress in lung diseases including lung cancer, antioxidant therapeutic approach has failed to improve outcome in lung cancer patients. Rather, some studies have reported increased risk of lung cancer following administration of antioxidants [107, 116, 117]. Various reasons, e.g., inadequate dose, inadequate tissue delivery, or selection of a proper timing for an antioxidant, have been attributed to this failure of antioxidant therapies [118]. Another very important point that needs to be considered is that ROS are essential signaling molecules in normal cells. Therefore, antioxidants may indiscriminately scavenge ROS, thereby interfering with the normal physiologic roles of ROS leading to undesirable patient outcome. In addition, antioxidants also have been reported to mitigate the effect of chemotherapy on cancer cells which is dependent on ROS-induced cytotoxicity [119]. Due to the overall negative impact of antioxidant therapies, alternative approaches to target cancer cells by exploiting the fact that cancer cells have increased basal level ROS than

normal cells are being explored extensively. Interestingly, in order to withstand the impact of increased oxidative stress, cancer cells elevate their endogenous antioxidant defense system. According to Prof Jim Watson, incurability of cancer partly results from a heightened antioxidant levels in the cancer cells which can block the effect of prooxidant therapy [120]. The impairment of antioxidant defense system therefore provides a new strategy to selectively target cancer cells.

As discussed in the preceding sections, one of the main mechanisms involved in NSCLC progression and chemotherapy resistance is constitutive overexpression of Nrf2 leading to activation of cellular antioxidant and xenobiotic defense system [98, 121]. A study reported Nrf2 overexpression and decreased Keap1 expression to be common abnormalities in NSCLC which associated with poor clinical outcome [122, 123]. Further, siRNA-mediated inhibition of Nrf2 was found to increase sensitivity of tumor cells toward chemotherapy in a NSCLC mouse xenograft model [123]. Therefore, targeting the Nrf2-/Keap1-mediated antioxidant defense system in NSCLC might be a promising strategy to control tumor growth and overcome therapy resistance.

To develop effective ROS-modulating therapeutic agents, a more patient-specific approach may be needed which would require knowledge of individual genetic variation in the antioxidant defense system. Many antioxidant and xenobiotic detox-ifying enzymes have been reported to be polymorphic which definitely would have an impact on disease progression and drug response [118]. Hence, such background patient information will help clinicians select patients who will be benefitted from treatment with redox-modulating agents.

In conclusion, the crucial role played by ROS in tumor progression and drug resistance is well proven. Therefore, manipulating ROS levels may have significant therapeutic implications. The dual role of ROS as cellular signaling and toxic molecules renders it to promote cancer development, on one hand while, on the other hand, causes damage to cellular macromolecules leading to apoptosis. This leaves scope for the development of both antioxidant and prooxidant-based therapeutic strategies against cancer. However, at present, there are a lot of discrepancies in designing anticancer therapies which involve either of the above therapeutic strategies. A promising new approach in this direction is to target the redox adaptation in cancer cells. This is especially important in the context of NSCLC where there is constitutive activation of Nrf2-/Keap1-mediated antioxidant pathway which correlated with poor patient prognosis. Moreover, in order to effectively and selectively kill cancer cells, it is important to comprehend and appreciate the multifarious redox adaptations in cancer cells, especially in cancer stem cells which are considered to play pivotal role in cancer relapse cancer and drug resistance.

Acknowledgments The author wishes to thank Dr. Deba Prasad Mandal, Assistant Professor, Dept. of Zoology, West Bengal State University, for his valuable comments and inputs in the manuscript.

References

- Li M, Zhang X, Hu K, Shi M, Dong G, Li D, Zhang P (2018) Prognostic role of snail in lung cancer: protocol for a systematic review. Medicine (Baltimore) 97(28):e11539
- Yang P (2009) Epidemiology of lung cancer prognosis: quantity and quality of life. Methods Mol Biol 471:469–486
- Borghetti P, Bonù ML, Roca E, Pedretti S, Salah E, Baiguini A, Greco D, Triggiani L, Maddalo M, Levra NG, Alongi F, Magrini SM, Mm B (2018) Radiotherapy and tyrosine kinase inhibitors in stage IV non-small cell lung cancer: real-life experience. In Vivo 32:159–164
- Zappa C, Mousa SA (2016) Non-small cell lung cancer: current treatment and future advances. Transl Lung Cancer Res 5(3):288–300
- Tsvetkova E, Goss GD (2012) Drug resistance and its significance for treatment decisions in non-small-cell lung cancer. Curr Oncol 19(Suppl 1):S45–S51
- Villegas L, Stidham T, Nozik-Grayck E (2014) Oxidative stress and therapeutic development in lung diseases. J Pulm Respir Med 4(4):194
- 7. Kumari S, Badana AK, Mohan GM, Shailender G, Malla R (2018) Reactive oxygen species: a key constituent in cancer survival. Biomark Insights 13:1177271918755391
- Luanpitpong S, Talbott SJ, Rojanasakul Y, Nimmannit U, Pongrakhananon V, Wang L, Chanvorachote P (2010) Regulation of lung cancer cell migration and invasion by reactive oxygen species and caveolin-1. J Biol Chem 285(50):38832–38840
- Misthos P, Katsaragakis S, Milingos N, Kakaris S, Sepsas E, Athanassiadi K, Theodorou D, Skottis I (2005) Postresectional pulmonary oxidative stress in lung cancer patients. The role of one-lung ventilation. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 527:379–383
- Chung-man Ho J, Zheng S, Comhair SA, Farver C, Erzurum SC (2001) Differential expression of manganese superoxide dismutase and catalase in lung cancer. Cancer Res 61:8578–8585
- 11. Trachootham D, Alexandre J, Huang P (2009) Targeting cancer cells by ROS-mediated mechanisms: a radical therapeutic approach? Nat Rev Drug Discov 8(7):579–591
- 12. Panieri E, Santoro MM (2016) ROS homeostasis and metabolism: a dangerous liaison in cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 7(6):e2253
- Martinez-Useros J, Li W, Cabeza-Morales M, Garcia-Foncillas J (2017) Oxidative stress: a new target for pancreatic cancer prognosis and treatment. J Clin Med 6(3):pii: E29
- Pelicano H, Carney D, Huang P (2004) ROS stress in cancer cells and therapeutic implications. Drug Resist Updat 7(2):97–110
- Cheresh P, Kim SJ, Tulasiram S, Kamp DW (2013) Oxidative stress and pulmonary fibrosis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1832(7):1028–1040
- Bernard K, Hecker L, Luckhardt TR, Cheng G, Thannickal VJ (2014) NADPH oxidases in lung health and disease. Antioxid Redox Signal 20(17):2838–2853
- Carnesecchi S, Pache JC, Barazzone-Argiroffo C (2012) NOX enzymes: potential target for the treatment of acute lung injury. Cell Mol Life Sci 69(14):2373–2385
- Thannickal VJ, Fanburg BL (2000) Reactive oxygen species in cell signaling. Am J Phys Lung Cell Mol Phys 279(6):L1005–L1028
- Han M, Zhang T, Yang L, Wang Z, Ruan J, Chang X (2016) Association between NADPH oxidase (NOX) and lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Thorac Dis 8(7):1704–1711
- Kinnula VL, Crapo JD, Raivio KO (1995) Generation and disposal of reactive oxygen metabolites in the lung. Lab Investig 73:3–19
- 21. Polimeni M, Gazzano E (2014) Is redox signaling a feasible target for overcoming multidrug resistance in cancer chemotherapy? Front Pharmacol 5:286
- Cook IA, Pass HI, Iype SN, Friedman N, Degraff W, Russo A, Mitchell JB (1991) Cellular glutathione and thiol measurements from surgically resected human lung tumor and normal lung tissue. Cancer Res 51:4287–4294

- 23. Oberli-Schrammli AE, Joncourt F, Stadler M, Altermatt HJ, Buser K, Ris HB, Schmid U, Cerny T (1994) Parallel assessment of glutathione-based detoxifying enzymes, O6-alkylguanine-DNA alkyltransferase and P-glycoprotein as indicators of drug resistance in tumor and normal lung of patients with lung cancer. Int J Cancer 59:629–636
- Tong YH, Zhang B, Fan Y, Lin NM (2015) Keap1–Nrf2 pathway: a promising target towards lung cancer prevention and therapeutics. Chron Dis Transl Med 1(3):175–186
- Milkovic L, Zarkovic N, Saso L (2017) Controversy about pharmacological modulation of Nrf2 for cancer therapy. Redox Biol 12:727–732
- Sundaresan M, Yu ZX, Ferrans VJ, Irani K, Finkel T (1995) Requirement for generation of H2O2 for platelet-derived growth factor signal transduction. Science 270(5234):296–299
- Poole LB, Nelson KJ (2008) Discovering mechanisms of signaling-mediated cysteine oxidation. Curr Opin Chem Biol 12(1):18–24
- Adachi M, Fischer EH, Ihle J, Imai K, Jirik F, Neel B, Pawson T, Shen S, Thomas M, Ullrich A, Zhao Z (1996) Mammalian SH2-containing protein tyrosine phosphatases. Cell 85(1):15
- Meng TC, Fukada T, Tonks NK (2002) Reversible oxidation and inactivation of protein tyrosine phosphatases in vivo. Mol Cell 9(2):387–399
- Schlessinger J (2002) Ligand-induced, receptor-mediated dimerization and activation of EGF receptor. Cell 110(6):669–672
- Ishii T, Itoh K, Takahashi S, Sato H, Yanagawa T, Katoh Y, Bannai S, Yamamoto M (2000) Transcription factor Nrf2 coordinately regulates a group of oxidative stress-inducible genes in macrophages. J Biol Chem 275(21):16023–16029
- Niture SK, Jaiswal AK (2012) Nrf2 protein up-regulates antiapoptotic protein Bcl-2 and prevents cellular apoptosis. J Biol Chem 287(13):9873–9886
- Morgan MJ, Liu ZG (2011) Crosstalk of reactive oxygen species and NF-κB signaling. Cell Res 21(1):103–115
- 34. Djavaheri-Mergny M, Javelaud D, Wietzerbin J, Besançon F (2004) NF-kappaB activation prevents apoptotic oxidative stress via an increase of both thioredoxin and MnSOD levels in TNFalpha-treated Ewing sarcoma cells. FEBS Lett 578(1–2):111–115
- 35. Pham CG, Bubici C, Zazzeroni F, Papa S, Jones J, Alvarez K, Jayawardena S, De Smaele E, Cong R, Beaumont C, Torti FM, Torti SV, Franzoso G (2004) Ferritin heavy chain upregulation by NF-kappaB inhibits TNFalpha-induced apoptosis by suppressing reactive oxygen species. Cell 119(4):529–542
- 36. Xia C, Hu J, Ketterer B, Taylor JB (1996) The organization of the human GSTP1-1 gene promoter and its response to retinoic acid and cellular redox status. Biochem J 313(Pt 1):155–161
- 37. Lavrovsky Y, Schwartzman ML, Levere RD, Kappas A, Abraham NG (1994) Identification of binding sites for transcription factors NF-kappa B and AP-2 in the promoter region of the human heme oxygenase 1 gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91(13):5987–5991
- Redza-Dutordoir M, Averill-Bates DA (2016) Activation of apoptosis signalling pathways by reactive oxygen species. Biochim Biophys Acta 1863(12):2977–2992
- Circu ML, Aw TY (2012) Glutathione and modulation of cell apoptosis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1823(10):1767–1777
- Circu ML, Aw TY (2010) Reactive oxygen species, cellular redox systems, and apoptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 48:749–762
- Orrenius S, Gogvadze V, Zhivotovsky B (2015) Calcium and mitochondria in the regulation of cell death. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 460:72–81
- 42. Pallepati P, Averill-Bates DA (2011) Mild thermotolerance induced at 40 degrees C protects HeLa cells against activation of death receptor-mediated apoptosis by hydrogen peroxide. Free Radic Biol Med 50:667–679
- 43. Zhuang S, Demirs JT, Kochevar IE (2000) p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase mediates bid cleavage, mitochondrial dysfunction, and caspase-3 activation during apoptosis induced by singlet oxygen but not by hydrogen peroxide. J Biol Chem 275:25939–25948
- 44. Zhang AY, Yi F, Jin S, Xia M, Chen QZ, Gulbins E, Li PL (2007) Acid sphingomyelinase and its redox amplification in formation of lipid raft redox signaling platforms in endothelial cells. Antioxid Redox Signal 9:817–828

- Ushio-Fukai M, Nakamura Y (2008) Reactive oxygen species and angiogenesis: NADPH oxidase as target for cancer therapy. Cancer Lett 266(1):37–52
- 46. Chandel NS, Maltepe E, Goldwasser E, Mathieu CE, Simon MC, Schumacker TP (1998) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species trigger hypoxia-induced transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:11715–11720
- 47. Petry A, Djordjevic T, Weitnauer M, Kietzmann T, Hess J, Görlach A (2006) NOX2 and NOX4 mediate proliferative response in endothelial cells. Antioxid Redox Signal 8(9–10):1473–1484
- Peshavariya H, Dusting GJ, Jiang F, Halmos LR, Sobey CG, Drummond GR, Selemidis S (2009) NADPH oxidase isoform selective regulation of endothelial cell proliferation and survival. Naunyn Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol 380(2):193–204
- Komatsu D, Kato M, Nakayama J, Miyagawa S, Kamata T (2008) NADPH oxidase 1 plays a critical mediating role in oncogenic Ras-induced vascular endothelial growth factor expression. Oncogene 27(34):4724–4732
- Ikeda S, Yamaoka-Tojo M, Hilenski L, Patrushev NA, Anwar GM, Quinn MT, Ushio-Fukai M (2005) IQGAP1 regulates reactive oxygen species-dependent endothelial cell migration through interacting with Nox2. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 25(11):2295–2300
- Polytarchou C, Hatziapostolou M, Papadimitriou E (2005) Hydrogen peroxide stimulates proliferation and migration of human prostate cancer cells through activation of activator protein-1 and up-regulation of the heparin affin regulatory peptide gene. J Biol Chem 280(49):40428–40435
- 52. Payne SL, Fogelgren B, Hess AR, Seftor EA, Wiley EL, Fong SF, Csiszar K, Hendrix MJ, Kirschmann DA (2005) Lysyl oxidase regulates breast cancer cell migration and adhesion through a hydrogen peroxide-mediated mechanism. Cancer Res 65(24):11429–11436
- Hawk MA, Schafer ZT (2018) Mechanisms of redox metabolism and cancer cell survival during extracellular matrix detachment. J Biol Chem 293(20):7531–7537
- Giannoni E, Buricchi F, Raugei G, Ramponi G, Chiarugi P (2005) Intracellular reactive oxygen species activate Src tyrosine kinase during cell adhesion and anchorage-dependent cell growth. Mol Cell Biol 25(15):6391–6403
- 55. Inumaru J, Nagano O, Takahashi E, Ishimoto T, Nakamura S, Suzuki Y, Niwa S, Umezawa K, Tanihara H, Saya H (2009) Molecular mechanisms regulating dissociation of cell-cell junction of epithelial cells by oxidative stress. Genes Cells 14(6):703–716
- Davison CA, Durbin SM, Thau MR, Zellmer VR, Chapman SE, Diener J, Wathen C, Leevy WM, Schafer ZT (2013) Antioxidant enzymes mediate survival of breast cancer cells deprived of extracellular matrix. Cancer Res 73:3704–3715
- 57. Kamarajugadda S, Cai Q, Chen H, Nayak S, Zhu J, He M, Jin Y, Zhang Y, Ai L, Martin SS, Tan M, Lu J (2013) Manganese superoxide dismutase promotes anoikis resistance and tumor metastasis. Cell Death Dis 4:e504
- Piskounova E, Agathocleous M, Murphy MM, Hu Z, Huddlestun SE, Zhao Z, Leitch AM, Johnson TM, DeBerardinis RJ, Morrison SJ (2015) Oxidative stress inhibits distant metastasis by human melanoma cells. Nature 527:186–191
- Peiris-Pagès M, Martinez-Outschoorn UE, Sotgia F, Lisanti MP (2015) Metastasis and oxidative stress: are antioxidants a metabolic driver of progression? Cell Metab 22(6):956–958
- 60. Weng MS, Chang JH, Hung WY, Yang YC, Chien MH (2018) The interplay of reactive oxygen species and the epidermal growth factor receptor in tumor progression and drug resistance. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 37:61
- 61. Filosto S, Khan EM, Tognon E, Becker C, Ashfaq M, Ravid T, Goldkorn T (2011) EGF receptor exposed to oxidative stress acquires abnormal phosphorylation and aberrant activated conformation that impairs canonical dimerization. PLoS One 6(8):e23240
- 62. Zhang L, Li J, Hu J, Li D, Wang X, Zhang R, Zhang H, Shi M, Chen H (2017) Cigarette smoke extract induces EGFR-TKI resistance via promoting EGFR signaling pathway and ROS generation in NSCLC cell lines. Lung Cancer 109:109–116
- Truong TH, Carroll KS (2012) Redox regulation of epidermal growth factor receptor signaling through cysteine oxidation. Biochemistry 51(50):9954–9965

- 64. Leung EL, Fan XX, Wong MP, Jiang ZH, Liu ZQ, Yao XJ, Lu LL, Zhou YL, Yau LF, Tin VP, Liu L (2016) Targeting tyrosine kinase inhibitor-resistant non-small cell lung cancer by inducing epidermal growth factor receptor degradation via methionine 790 oxidation. Antioxid Redox Signal 24(5):263–279
- 65. Krall EB, Wang B, Munoz DM, Ilic N, Raghavan S, Niederst MJ, Yu K, Ruddy DA, Aguirre AJ, Kim JW, Redig AJ, Gainor JF, Williams JA, Asara JM, Doench JG, Janne PA, Shaw AT, McDonald Iii RE, Engelman JA, Stegmeier F, Schlabach MR, Hahn WC (2017) KEAP1 loss modulates sensitivity to kinase targeted therapy in lung cancer. elife 6:e18970
- 66. Leone A, Roca MS, Ciardiello C, Terranova-Barberio M, Vitagliano C, Ciliberto G, Mancini R, Di Gennaro E, Bruzzese F, Budillon A (2015) Vorinostat synergizes with EGFR inhibitors in NSCLC cells by increasing ROS via up-regulation of the major mitochondrial porin VDAC1 and modulation of the c-Myc-NRF2-KEAP1 pathway. Free Radic Biol Med 89:287–299
- 67. Li YL, Hu X, Li QY, Wang F, Zhang B, Ding K, Tan BQ, Lin NM, Zhang C (2018) Shikonin sensitizes wild-type EGFR NSCLC cells to erlotinib and gefitinib therapy. Mol Med Rep 18(4):3882–3890
- 68. Nie P, Hu W, Zhang T, Yang Y, Hou B, Zou Z (2015) Synergistic induction of erlotinibmediated apoptosis by resveratrol in human non-small-cell lung cancer cells by downregulating survivin and up-regulating PUMA. Cell Physiol Biochem 35:2255–2271
- Kobayashi S, Boggon TJ, Dayaram T, Jänne PA, Kocher O, Meyerson M, Johnson BE, Eck MJ, Tenen DG, Halmos B (2005) EGFR mutation and resistance of non-small-cell lung cancer to gefitinib. N Engl J Med 352(8):786–792
- Okon IS, Coughlan KA, Zhang M, Wang Q, Zou MH (2015) Gefitinib-mediated reactive oxygen species (ROS) instigates mitochondrial dysfunction and drug resistance in lung cancer cells. J Biol Chem 290(14):9101–9110
- 71. Hong SW, Park NS, Noh MH, Shim JA, Ahn BN, Kim YS, Kim D, Lee HK, Hur DY (2017) Combination treatment with erlotinib and ampelopsin overcomes erlotinib resistance in NSCLC cells via the Nox2-ROS-Bim pathway. Lung Cancer 106:115–124
- Wang YC, Wu DW, Wu TC, Wang L, Chen CY, Lee H (2018) Dioscin overcome TKI resistance in EGFR-mutated lung adenocarcinoma cells via down-regulation of tyrosine phosphatase SHP2 expression. Int J Biol Sci 14(1):47–56
- 73. Matkar SS, Wrischnik LA, Hellmann-Blumberg U (2008) Production of hydrogen peroxide and redox cycling can explain how sanguinarine and chelerythrine induce rapid apoptosis. Arch Biochem Biophys 477(1):43–52
- 74. Ozben T (2007) Oxidative stress and apoptosis: impact on cancer therapy. J Pharm Sci 96(9):2181–2196
- Wang J, Yi J (2008) Cancer cell killing via ROS: to increase or decrease, that is the question. Cancer Biol Ther 7(12):1875–1884
- Schumacker PT (2006) Reactive oxygen species in cancer cells: live by the sword, die by the sword. Cancer Cell 10:175–176
- 77. Wang JP, Hsieh CH, Liu CY, Lin KH, Wu PT, Chen KM, Fang K (2017) Reactive oxygen species-driven mitochondrial injury induces apoptosis by teroxirone in human non-small cell lung cancer cells. Oncol Lett 14(3):3503–3509
- Wangpaichitr M, Wu C, Li YY, Nguyen DJM, Kandemir H, Shah S, Chen S, Feun LG, Prince JS, Kuo MT, Savaraj N (2017) Exploiting ROS and metabolic differences to kill cisplatin resistant lung cancer. Oncotarget 8(30):49275–49292
- Wang S, Hu Y, Yan Y, Cheng Z, Liu T (2018) Sotetsuflavone inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis of A549 cells through ROS-mediated mitochondrial-dependent pathway. BMC Complement Altern Med 18(1):235
- Liu X, Chen L, Liang T, Tian XD, Liu Y, Zhang T (2017) Withaferin A induces mitochondrialdependent apoptosis in non-small cell lung cancer cells via generation of reactive oxygen species. J BUON 22(1):244–250

- 81. Kang N, Jian JF, Cao SJ, Zhang Q, Mao YW, Huang YY, Peng YF, Qiu F, Gao XM (2016) Physalin A induces G2/M phase cell cycle arrest in human non-small cell lung cancer cells: involvement of the p38 MAPK/ROS pathway. Mol Cell Biochem 415(1–2):145–155
- Rao PC, Begum S, Jahromi MA, Jahromi ZH, Sriram S, Sahai M (2016) Cytotoxicity of withasteroids: withametelin induces cell cycle arrest at G2/M phase and mitochondria-mediated apoptosis in non-small cell lung cancer A549 cells. Tumour Biol 37(9):12579–12587
- Wondrak GT (2007) NQO1-activated phenothiazinium redox cyclers for the targeted bioreductive induction of cancer cell apoptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 43:178–190
- Magda D, Miller RA (2006) Motexafin gadolinium: a novel redox active drug for cancer therapy. Semin Cancer Biol 16:466–476
- Lu LY, Ou N, Lu QB (2013) Antioxidant induces DNA damage, cell death and mutagenicity in human lung and skin normal cells. Sci Rep 3:3169
- Baskar R, Dai J, Wenlong N, Yeo R, Yeoh KW (2014) Biological response of cancer cells to radiation treatment. Front Mol Biosci 1:24
- Goldberg Z, Lehnert BE (2002) Radiation-induced effects in unirradiated cells: a review and implications in cancer. Int J Oncol 21(2):337–349
- Park H, Jeong YJ, Han NK, Kim JS, Lee HJ (2018) Oridonin enhances radiation-induced cell death by promoting DNA damage in non-small cell lung cancer cells. Int J Mol Sci 19(8):pii: E2378
- 89. Lee JC, Krochak R, Blouin A, Kanterakis S, Chatterjee S, Arguiri E, Vachani A, Solomides CC, Cengel KA, Christofidou-Solomidou M (2009) Dietary flaxseed prevents radiation-induced oxidative lung damage, inflammation and fibrosis in a mouse model of thoracic radiation injury. Cancer Biol Ther 8(1):47–53
- Christofidou-Solomidou M, Tyagi S, Pietrofesa R, Dukes F, Arguiri E, Turowski J, Grieshaber PA, Solomides CC, Cengel KA (2012) Radioprotective role in lung of the flaxseed lignan complex enriched in the phenolic secoisolariciresinol diglucoside (SDG). Radiat Res 178(6):568–580
- 91. Cho HJ, Ahn KC, Choi JY, Hwang SG, Kim WJ, Um HD, Park JK (2015) Luteolin acts as a radiosensitizer in non-small cell lung cancer cells by enhancing apoptotic cell death through activation of a p38/ROS/caspase cascade. Int J Oncol 46(3):1149–1158
- Sun M, Dong P, Chen Y, Li Y, Gao K, Hu B (2017) Coroglaucigenin enhances the radiosensitivity of human lung cancer cells through Nrf2/ROS pathway. Oncotarget 8(20):32807–32820
- 93. Sun X, Wang Q, Wang Y, Du L, Xu C, Liu Q (2016) Brusatol enhances the radiosensitivity of A549 cells by promoting ROS production and enhancing DNA damage. Int J Mol Sci 17(7):997
- 94. Lee S, Lim MJ, Kim MH, Yu CH, Yun YS, Ahn J, Song JY (2012) An effective strategy for increasing the radiosensitivity of human lung cancer cells by blocking Nrf2-dependent antioxidant responses. Free Radic Biol Med 53(4):807–816
- 95. Diehn M, Cho RW, Lobo NA, Kalisky T, Dorie MJ, Kulp AN, Qian D, Lam JS, Ailles LE, Wong M, Joshua B, Kaplan MJ, Wapnir I, Dirbas FM, Somlo G, Garberoglio C, Paz B, Shen J, Lau SK, Quake SR, Brown JM, Weissman IL, Clarke MF (2009) Association of reactive oxygen species levels and radioresistance in cancer stem cells. Nature 458(7239):780–783
- Okon IS, Zou MH (2015) Mitochondrial ROS and cancer drug resistance: implications for therapy. Pharmacol Res 100:170–174
- Shankar M, Willcutts D, Roth JA, Ramesh R (2010) Drug resistance in lung cancer. Lung Cancer (Auckl) 1:23–36
- Singh A, Misra V, Thimmulappa RK, Lee H, Ames S, Hoque MO, Herman JG, Baylin SB, Sidransky D, Gabrielson E, Brock MV, Biswal S (2006) Dysfunctional KEAP1-NRF2 interaction in non-small-cell lung cancer. PLoS Med 3(10):e420
- 99. Ohta T, Iijima K, Miyamoto M, Nakahara I, Tanaka H, Ohtsuji M, Suzuki T, Kobayashi A, Yokota J, Sakiyama T, Shibata T, Yamamoto M, Hirohashi S (2008) Loss of Keap1 function activates Nrf2 and provides advantages for lung cancer cell growth. Cancer Res 68:1303–1309

- 100. Zhou S, Ye W, Shao Q, Zhang M, Liang J (2013) Nrf2 is a potential therapeutic target in radioresistance in human cancer. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 88(3):706–715
- 101. Homma S, Ishii Y, Morishima Y, Yamadori T, Matsuno Y, Haraguchi N, Kikuchi N, Satoh H, Sakamoto T, Hizawa N, Itoh K, Yamamoto M (2009) Nrf2 enhances cell proliferation and resistance to anticancer drugs in human lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res 15(10):3423–3432
- 102. Kim HR, Kim S, Kim EJ, Park JH, Yang SH, Jeong ET, Park C, Youn MJ, So HS, Park R (2008) Suppression of Nrf2-driven heme oxygenase-1 enhances the chemosensitivity of lung cancer A549 cells toward cisplatin. Lung Cancer 60:47–56
- 103. Degese MS, Mendizabal JE, Gandini NA, Gutkind JS, Molinolo A, Hewitt SM, Curino AC, Coso OA, Facchinetti MM (2012) Expression of heme oxygenase-1 in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and its correlation with clinical data. Lung Cancer 77:168–175
- 104. Yang Y, Deng Y, Chen X, Zhang J, Chen Y, Li H, Wu Q, Yang Z, Zhang L, Liu B (2018) Inhibition of PDGFR by CP-673451 induces apoptosis and increases cisplatin cytotoxicity in NSCLC cells via inhibiting the Nrf2-mediated defense mechanism. Toxicol Lett 295:88–98
- 105. Ren D, Villeneuve NF, Jiang T, Wu T, Lau A, Toppin HA, Zhang DD (2011) Brusatol enhances the efficacy of chemotherapy by inhibiting the Nrf2-mediated defense mechanism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(4):1433–1438
- 106. Eli, Edythe L, Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network (2012) Comprehensive genomic characterization of squamous cell lung cancers. Nature 489(7417):519–525
- 107. Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta Carotene Cancer Prevention Study Group (1994) The effect of vitamin E and beta carotene on the incidence of lung cancer and other cancers in male smokers. N Engl J Med 330(15):1029–1035
- 108. van Zandwijk N, Dalesio O, Pastorino U, de Vries N, van Tinteren H (2000) EUROSCAN, a randomized trial of vitamin A and N-acetylcysteine in patients with head and neck cancer or lung cancer. For the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Head and Neck and Lung Cancer Cooperative Groups. J Natl Cancer Inst 92(12):977–986
- Gorrini C, Harris IS, Mak TW (2013) Modulation of oxidative stress as an anticancer strategy. Nat Rev Drug Discov 12(12):931–947
- 110. Montero AJ, Diaz-Montero CM, Deutsch Y, Hurley J, Koniaris LG, Rumboldt T, Yasir S, Jorda M, Garret-Mayer E, Avisar E, Slingerland J, Silva O, Welsh C, Schuhwerk K, Seo P, Pegram MD, Glück S (2012) Phase 2 study of neoadjuvant treatment with NOV-002 in combination with doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide followed by docetaxel in patients with HER-2 negative clinical stage II-IIIc breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 132:215–223
- 111. Townsend DM, He L, Hutchens S, Garrett TE, Pazoles CJ, Tew KD (2008) NOV-002, a glutathione disulfide mimetic, as a modulator of cellular redox balance. Cancer Res 68:2870–2877
- 112. Mehta MP, Shapiro WR, Phan SC, Gervais R, Carrie C, Chabot P, Patchell RA, Glantz MJ, Recht L, Langer C, Sur RK, Roa WH, Mahe MA, Fortin A, Nieder C, Meyers CA, Smith JA, Miller RA, Renschler MF (2009) Motexafin gadolinium combined with prompt whole brain radiotherapy prolongs time to neurologic progression in non-small-cell lung cancer patients with brain metastases: results of a phase III trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 73:1069–1076
- 113. Liou GY, Storz P (2010) Reactive oxygen species in cancer. Free Radic Res 44(5):479-496
- 114. Gupta A, Srivastava S, Prasad R, Natu SM, Mittal B, Negi MP, Srivastava AN (2010) Oxidative stress in non-small cell lung cancer patients after chemotherapy: association with treatment response. Respirology 15(2):349–356
- 115. Hoffer LJ, Robitaille L, Zakarian R, Melnychuk D, Kavan P, Agulnik J, Cohen V, Small D, Miller WH Jr (2015) High-dose intravenous vitamin C combined with cytotoxic chemotherapy in patients with advanced cancer: a phase I-II clinical trial. PLoS One 10(4):e0120228
- 116. Sayin VI, Ibrahim MX, Larsson E, Nilsson JA, Lindahl P, Bergo MO (2014) Antioxidants accelerate lung cancer progression in mice. Sci Transl Med 6:221ra15
- 117. Omenn GS, Goodman GE, Thornquist MD, Balmes J, Cullen MR, Glass A, Keogh JP, Meyskens FL, Valanis B, Williams JH, Barnhart S, Hammar S (1996) Effects of a combination of beta carotene and vitamin A on lung cancer and cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med 334:1150–1155

- 118. Villegas L, Stidham T, Nozik-Grayck E (2014) Oxidative stress and therapeutic development in lung diseases. J Pulm Respir Med 4(4):pii: 194
- 119. Glasauer A, Chandel NS (2014) Targeting antioxidants for cancer therapy. Biochem Pharmacol 92(1):90–101
- 120. Watson J (2013) Oxidants, antioxidants and the current incurability of metastatic cancers. Open Biol 3(1):120144
- 121. Shibata T, Ohta T, Tong KI, Kokubu A, Odogawa R, Tsuta K, Asamura H, Yamamoto M, Hirohashi S (2008) Cancer-related mutations in NRF2 impair its recognition by Keap1-Cul3 E3 ligase and promote malignancy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(36):13568–13573
- 122. Solis LM, Behrens C, Dong W, Suraokar M, Ozburn NC, Moran CA, Corvalan AH, Biswal S, Swisher SG, Bekele BN, Minna JD, Stewart DJ, Wistuba II (2010) Nrf2 and Keap1 abnormalities in non-small cell lung carcinoma and association with clinicopathologic features. Clin Cancer Res 16(14):3743–3753
- 123. Singh A, Boldin-Adamsky S, Thimmulappa RK, Rath SK, Ashush H, Coulter J, Blackford A, Goodman SN, Bunz F, Watson WH, Gabrielson E, Feinstein E, Biswal S (2008) RNAimediated silencing of nuclear factor erythroid-2-related factor 2 gene expression in non-small cell lung cancer inhibits tumor growth and increases efficacy of chemotherapy. Cancer Res 68:7975–7984



Lung Cancer: Old Story, New Modalities!

Urmi Chatterji

Abstract

Lung diseases, leading to lung cancer, are incommodious maladies often leading to dire patient prognosis and death all over the world. Lung cancer 5-year survival rate is only 15%. Death due to lung cancer alone is comparable to deaths due to breast, pancreas, colon, and oral cancers together. Lung cancer preferentially occurs in people who are 65 or older. A minority of patients diagnosed with the disease are younger than 45. Different treatment modalities have been implemented for treatment of lung disorders over the past three decades, and modernization of strategies has brought hope for the affected. Counteracting oxidative stress has been of major concern for treating lung cancer, though with limitations. Cancer stem cells, a subpopulation of cells within a tumor, are believed to confer resistance to standard chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Several studies have investigated the specific mechanisms of tumor recurrence driven by cancer stem cells; however, oxidative stress and cellular metabolism are often neglected attributes. Metabolism of cancer stem cells is still poorly understood and constitutes a promising area in cancer research. Distinct metabolic phenotypes in these cells depend on the type of cancer, the model system used, or the experimental design; however, controversies still need to be resolved. Specific alterations in metabolite levels and metabolic enzymes that regulate cancer stemness need to be verified, as does the long noncoding RNAs which modulate the expression of several factors which modulate oxidative stress. Identifying the role of metabolism in conferring resistance to therapy, mostly by the presence of cancer stem cells, is an opportunity for designing novel therapeutic targets, which will eliminate this resistant population, and additionally eradicating the whole tumor to a relapse-free condition and better patient prognosis.

U. Chatterji (🖂)

Cancer Research Lab, Department of Zoology, University of Calcutta, Kolkata, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_17

Keywords

Cancer stem cells \cdot Treatment modalities \cdot Oxidative stress \cdot Metabolic criteria \cdot Novel therapeutics

17.1 Introduction

Cancer continues to be a major cause of illness along with immense personal, social, and economic burden. The numbers of cases increase yearly due to modern screening and enhanced detection methods. However, deaths arising from cancer are typically due to malignant and metastatic disease. Malignant tumors are capable of invading and spreading to surrounding tissue and to distant body sites, in a process known as metastasis, through the circulatory or lymphatic system, giving rise to secondary tumors [1]. At initial diagnosis, more than 50% of patients will have clinically detectable metastatic disease [2], rendering challenging treatment and unfavorable prognosis. Metastatic tumors are largely responsible for cancer mortality; therefore, early tumor detection can improve patient prognosis and enhance survivability [3].

Disorders of the lung are extensive. It includes pneumonia, lung abscess, pulmonary fibrosis, tuberculosis, cystic fibrosis, pulmonary hemorrhage, and aspergilloma, to name a few. The quality of air we breathe determines the health of the lungs and definitely, with the increased incidence of lung disorders, the quality has been severely compromised. The most fatal outcome is lung cancer, which contributes to the highest number of deaths due to cancer all over the world, and the 5-year lung cancer survival rate is only 15% [4]. Sadly enough, even the nonsmokers are not spared, since air pollution is the most significant threat to health worldwide. Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer-related deaths among men (26% of all deaths) and women (25% of all deaths), mostly occurring in people at an average age of 70 years [5].

A total of 10,000 l of air enters the lungs every day from which 420 l of oxygen is used for human survival and function. The quality of air we breathe therefore determines the health of the lungs, as well as other organs. Indeed clean air is a basic requirement of good human health and well-being. However, air pollution continues to pose a significant threat to health worldwide. The World Health organization (WHO) reported that in 2012 around 7 million people died due to exposure to air pollution, substantiating that air pollution is now the world's largest single environmental health risk [6]. More significant was the fact that household air pollution was the leading risk factor for poor health in South Asia. The quality of air inside homes, public buildings like offices, schools, day care centers, malls, and healthcare facilities where people spend a large part of their life is an essential determinant of healthy life and well-being. Hazardous substances emitted from indoor equipment due to human activities, such as combustion of fuels for cooking or heating, also lead to a broad range of respiratory disorders.

Air Pollution and Impact on Health in India As one of the world's most populous countries, India too has seen a significant rise in incidence of respiratory diseases such as asthma and COPD over the last decade. COPD in India has been estimated to be about 15 million (males and females contributing to 9.02 and 5.75 million, respectively), causing about 500,000 deaths per year. Use of spirometry to define COPD has shown a twofold higher prevalence of COPD [7]. India has 20–28 million asthmatics, with a prevalence of 10-15% among children, aged 5-11 years. Indian study on epidemiology of respiratory symptoms, asthma and chronic bronchitis in adults, a landmark epidemiological study conducted by the Indian Council of Medical Research, GoI, found the overall prevalence of asthma and chronic bronchitis to be 2.05% in adults of 15 years of age and 3.49% in adults aged more than 35 years, respectively. The national burden of asthma and chronic bronchitis in this study was estimated at 17.23 and 14.84 million, respectively. Epidemiological survey in hospitals over three decades (1979-2009) in children below 18 years showed a steady rise in asthma prevalence from 9% to 25.5%, attributed not only to genetic predisposition but also, more significantly, to urbanization, air pollution, and environmental tobacco smoke. Indeed, the rising prevalence of asthma, allergies, and COPD over the past few decades has been attributed to an increase in environmental pollution - a price being paid for rapid industrialization, socioeconomic development, urbanization, and changing lifestyles [8].

17.2 Lung Disorders of Concern

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) COPD is characterized by progressive and irreversible air flow obstruction. Worldwide, COPD affects an estimated 380 million people [9] and is the third leading cause of death. Although often referred to as a "disease," COPD encompasses a spectrum of disorders with two predominant phenotypes: chronic bronchitis and emphysema. Chronic bronchitis predominantly affects the airways and is characterized by mucus hypersecretion, which functionally leads to airway obstruction and a productive cough [10]. In contrast, emphysema is an anatomical condition characterized by the permanent destruction of the alveolar walls, resulting in parenchymal destruction [11]. Despite the fact that chronic bronchitis and emphysema can present independently of one another, it is now widely accepted that most individuals with COPD often exhibit characteristics of both chronic bronchitis and emphysema to varying extents [10].

Although COPD is predominantly caused by smoking cigarettes, other environmental risk factors include inhalational exposure to ambient (e.g., air pollution) and occupational (e.g., coal mines, pulp, and paper manufacturing) toxicants [12–14]. Moreover, only 15–20% of smokers go on to develop COPD, indicating that factors beyond exposure to inhalational toxicants are important. These include genetic factors [15] and the only established genetic risk factor for COPD is a deficiency of alpha-1 antitrypsin [16], which occurs in 3–10% of individuals with COPD [17]. However, COPD is a heterogeneous disease with many interrelated pathogenic mechanisms including inflammation, oxidative stress, and cell death; there is also evidence demonstrating that the aryl hydrocarbon receptors (AhR) attenuate several of these mechanisms that ultimately contribute to the development of this disease.

A hallmark of the emphysema component of COPD is the loss of lung structural cells [18]. This includes loss of alveolar epithelial cells responsible for gas exchange and fibroblasts that synthesize the extracellular matrix necessary for lung structure and elasticity. Cigarette smoking induces apoptotic cell death in all major lung cells, including bronchial and alveolar epithelial cells, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and airway smooth muscle cells [19, 20]. Furthermore, humans with emphysema exhibit heightened pulmonary apoptosis [21]. Experimentally, intratracheal injection of the apoptotic protein cleaved caspase-3 induces epithelial cell apoptosis and airspace enlargement in the murine lung [22], consistent with the notion that lung parenchymal destruction is linked to cell death.

Smoking additionally promotes pulmonary inflammation in that the number and proportion of immune cells in the lung shifts in response to cigarette smoke exposure. Human cigarette smokers have heightened levels of pulmonary neutrophils, macrophages, and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes [23]. In COPD subjects, the quantity of these cell types is further increased compared to smokers without COPD [24]. Although macrophages and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes are the predominant inflammatory cell types in the lungs of humans with COPD, neutrophilia is also common [25]. Elevated neutrophil numbers are also seen in the bronchoalveolar lavage of mice exhibiting a COPD-like phenotype [26].

Oxidative Stress in Lung Disorders Oxidative stress is another mechanism linked to COPD pathogenesis [27]. In the healthy lung, reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as hydroxyl radicals, superoxide anions, and hydrogen peroxide, are counterbalanced by the production of endogenous antioxidants, including superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), and the glutathione (GSH)/glutathione peroxidase system. When ROS production exceeds the capabilities of these antioxidant defenses, oxidative stress ensues. Inhalational exposure to toxicants results in heightened ROS production in the lungs. Additionally, ROS production by recruited immune cells, like neutrophils and macrophages, represents another major oxidant source [28]. There is evidence to support that AhR attenuates cigarette smokeinduced oxidative stress. Additionally, AhR-deficient mouse lung fibroblasts exhibit an impaired induction of the antioxidants following in vitro exposure to cigarette smoke relative to AhR-expressing mouse lung fibroblasts. However, factors other than strictly cigarette smoking likely contribute to the oxidative stress observed in COPD, such as greater lipid peroxidation is observed in individuals with COPD that have never smoked relative to subjects without COPD. Moreover, COPD subjects also have significantly reduced antioxidant expression (e.g., SOD and GSH levels) relative to smokers without COPD [29].

17.3 Lung Cancer

Tobacco smoking is the most important risk factor for lung cancer and by itself is responsible for over 80% of all lung cancer cases. Interestingly, for lung cancer, women who smoke like men die like men. Since the 1960s, convergence of smoking patterns among men and women have led to the convergence of relative risks for men and women [30]. It was estimated that the rate of death in current smokers was about three times that among those who had never smoked; the rise in mortality among smokers was mostly because of neoplastic vascular respiratory diseases [31]. Lung cancer is a progressive disease and advances through various stages from a benign to a malignant state (Fig. 17.1).

Several other factors contribute to the development of lung cancer, such as environmental exposure to radon and asbestos; indoor emission of fuel burning; some metals such as chromium, cadmium, and arsenic; air pollution; and some organic chemicals [32]. Studies in different countries have reported that particulate matter air pollution contributes to the incidence of lung cancer [33]. Since these risk factors may be prevented by restricting smoking and adopting clear air initiatives, appropriate preventive strategies will therefore reduce lung cancer incidence and mortality.

17.3.1 Types of Lung Cancer

Lung cancer is divided into two major types based on histopathological observations. The two general types of lung cancer (Fig. 17.2) include:

- *Small cell lung cancer*: Small cell lung cancer, the less common of the two, accounts for almost 15% of lung cancers and occurs almost exclusively in heavy smokers.
- *Non-small-cell lung cancer* (NSCLC): Non-small-cell lung cancer accounts for 85% of lung cancers. NSCLC can be categorized into, generally, adenocarcinoma (AC 40%), squamous cell carcinoma (SQCC 25–30%), large cell undifferentiated carcinoma (10–15%), mixed subtypes (adenosquamous), and the far less common sarcomatoid carcinoma [14].



Fig. 17.1 Incidence of small cell and different non-small cell lung cancers

LUNG CANCERS



Fig. 17.2 Incidence of small cell and different non-small cell lung cancers

17.3.2 Lung Cancer Heterogeneity

Cancers are composed of mixed cell populations. They have diverse phenotypic, morphological, genotypic, and epigenetic characteristics. Tumor heterogeneity is observed in different patients with the same tumor subtype (interpatient heterogeneity), among tumor cells within one host organ (intratumor heterogeneity), between the primary and the metastatic tumors (intermetastatic heterogeneity), and among tumor cells within the metastatic site (intrametastatic heterogeneity) [34]. Heterogeneity is not only determined by intrinsic cell mechanisms but also by the dynamic tumor microenvironment (e.g., fibroblasts, angiogenesis, immune parameters) [35]. Heterogeneity of lung cancer is also due to altered metabolic activity at the macro-level as well as at the single-cell level [36, 37]. Genome sequencing in NSCLC has identified several mutations in subclonal fractions which increase with tumor grade [38] and, in primary tumors, predict early postsurgical relapse [39]. For example, smokers have tenfold more mutations than nonsmokers, with distinct driver mutations, such as EGFR versus KRAS [40]. In addition, chromosomal instability, which drives intratumor heterogeneity, is associated with anticancer drug resistance and poor outcome in NSCLC. Taken together, such diverse levels of heterogeneity in tumors are of clinical relevance in tumor progression, treatment response, and relapse. One of the main drivers of tumor heterogeneity and disease relapse is cancer stem cells, which create and maintain a tumor cell hierarchy [41].

17.4 Prevention: Novel Technologies, New Promises

Till date, there are limited ways to prevent lung cancer, but risk can be reduced if one:

- (i) Doesn't smoke ever or stops smoking.
- (ii) Avoids secondhand smoke.
- (iii) Tests for radon levels at home.
- (iv) Avoids carcinogens at work.
- (v) Eats a diet full of fruits and vegetables.
- (vi) Exercises regularly.

Remarkable progress has been made in evaluating the molecular abnormalities underlying lung cancers in the last two decades, which have led to the development of targeted therapies, including a new generation of immunotherapy, resulting in an improvement of clinical outcomes. However, major challenges still remain unresolved, including (a) the identification of new drugs and of combination therapies based on rational pharmacological associations; (b) the detection of new biomarkers, which would be capable of predicting the clinical responses to immunotherapy; (c) the recognition of new driver mutations in order to expand the population of patients who can benefit from targeted therapies, particularly for NSCLC; and (d) a better understanding of the cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying resistance to targeted therapies, so as to prevent and eventually to bypass such resistances with the identification of more active single or drug combinations. The development achieved and those that could be made will necessitate an integrated view of various aspects of lung cancer at cellular and molecular level, involving analysis of clonal evolution of tumor cells during spontaneous disease progression and under effect of various treatments, analysis of genetic and epigenetic abnormalities of tumor cells, identification of cells capable of initiating and maintaining the tumors, and development of suitable animal models simulating human tumors.

17.4.1 The Lung Cancer Genome: Identifying Targets in NSCLC

A complex pattern of driver mutations, including 200 non-synonymous mutations, have been identified from the whole genome sequencing of lung cancers, which can distinguish smokers from nonsmokers and predict patient outcome [40, 42, 43]. KRAS mutations are seen to occur in 25% of NSCLC. Despite preclinical efforts, till date there are no clinically approved drugs that effectively target KRAS. In lung adenocarcinoma, 10–15% mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) occur which can be effectively targeted with tyrosine kinase inhibitors, such as erlotinib, gefitinib, and afatinib, and monoclonal antibodies, such as

cetuximab. In squamous cell carcinomas (SQCC NSCLC), most tumors carry mutations in TP53, RB1, and CDKN2A. Interestingly, SQCC differentiation genes such as SOX2 and TP63 (TP53 homolog) are commonly altered, in addition to amplification of EGFR, FGFR1, and PI3K pathways [44]. Antiangiogenic therapies aimed at the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) or its receptor (VEGFR) may be developed as alternative approaches to target the tumor microenvironment.

17.4.2 Drug Resistance in Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: A Paradigm for Treatment Failure

One of the major causes for therapeutic failure in lung cancer, leading to tumor recurrence and disease progression, is drug resistance. Intrinsic mechanisms of resistance include activation of pro-survival and anti-apoptotic pathways, changes in the expression of drug transporters, as well as influences of the tumor microenvironment. It is evident that tumors are composed of a heterogeneous population of cells with different genetic, epigenetic, and phenotypic characteristics resulting in diverse responses to therapy and trigger the appearance of resistant clones. This heterogeneity is implicated to subpopulations of cells within a tumor, called cancer stem cells (CSCs), which are highly self-renewing, have tumor-initiating capabilities, and retain the ability for lineage-specific differentiation. CSCs have been identified in NSCLC and have been implicated to be the major players in conferring chemo- and radiotherapy resistance. Pathways controlling stem cell are frequently deregulated in cancer and are associated with recurrence after treatment. Different signaling pathways, such as NOTCH, HEDGEHOG, WNT, and TGFB, contribute to stem cell maintenance in lung cancer, and targeting these pathways to overcome resistance to chemotherapeutic and targeted agents is of immense importance [45]. Mechanisms of resistance include (i) alteration of the drug target such as alternative splicing, resistance mutations, and gene amplification, as well as (ii) activation of alternative oncogenic pathways. Tumor cells harboring such resistance-creating mutations can be present at the onset of treatment (primary resistance) or emerge during treatment (secondary resistance). Other mechanisms of resistance, such as metabolic inactivation, drug interactions, or inefficient drug delivery, also play an important role in therapeutic outcome.

17.5 Lung CSCs

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) are tumor-initiating cells responsible for cellular hierarchy and tumor heterogeneity. They are maintained by means of self-renewal and are capable of multipotent differentiation [46]. Tumor heterogeneity arises due to the plasticity of CSCs which allows them to differentiate reversibly into different types of cells under specific environmental cues [47]. Furthermore, during disease progression, differentiated cancer cells may be reprogrammed to a more stem cell-like phenotype under specific conditions (e.g., hypoxia induces OCT4 and NANOG) [48] and eventually contribute to tumor recurrence. Furthermore, chromosomal



Fig. 17.3 Lung cancer cells grown as adherent cultures (**a**) and as tumorspheres (**b**) harboring the lung cancer stem cells

instability along with external environmental factors may lead to CSC heterogeneity and metastasis. In contrast to adherent cancer cells, CSCs characteristically grow as spheres when plated in nonadherent serum-free conditions (Fig. 17.3).

Cancer stem cells have the ability to form colonies in soft agar and are highly tumorigenic in vivo [49]. They can be identified and isolated by virtue of Hoechst dye efflux (the side population, SP), immunophenotyping, or ALDEFLUOR assay, using specific markers and flow cytometry. CSCs express multidrug ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters and are resistant to multiple chemotherapeutic agents [50]. One of the best characterized CSC markers for NSCLC is the CD133, a cell surface protein. CD133-expressing lung cancer cells are self-renewing tumor cells that are present in low numbers in human NSCLC but are highly tumorigenic. Moreover, when CD133⁺ CSCs differentiate, their CD133⁻ progeny is no longer tumorigenic [51]. It therefore seems plausible that combination therapy specifically targeting the cancer stem cells along with the non-stem cells would be required to successfully eradicate cancer [52]. It is therefore plausible to target normal stem cell pathways such as WNT, NOTCH, and HH, which are deregulated and mutated in cancer and CSCs [53].

17.6 Pathway-Targeting Inhibitors

Cell cycle arrest has been a major criterion for drugs developed from natural products. Taxanes, like docetaxel and paclitaxel, and vinca alkaloids, such as vinblastine, vincristine, and vinorelbine, are known to interfere with microtubule function either by preventing depolymerization (taxanes) or by disrupting microtubule formation (vinca alkaloids), ultimately blocking cell cycle progression through mitosis. However, many such drugs often prove to be ineffective due to overexpression of ABC drug transporters, multidrug resistance 1 (MDR-1) protein, or P-glycoprotein (P-gp), which confer resistance of the cells toward taxanes and vinca alkaloids [54]. A direct regulator of MDR-1 protein is microRNA miR-451. Overexpression of miR-451 induces chemosensitivity, while loss of miR-451 results in taxane resistance in NSCLC. NOTCH1, through the activation of AP1, an early transcription factor necessary for progression through G₁ phase, downregulates miR-451. Therefore, inhibition of NOTCH using gamma-secretase inhibitors increases miR-451 and reduces MDR-1, thereby sensitizing tumors to taxane-based treatment [55]. MiR-451 is downregulated in docetaxel-resistant lung cancer cell lines, causing inactivation of glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3 β), Snail activation, and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) [56]. Studies have shown that a γ -secretase inhibitor, BMS-906024, could sensitize the NSCLC cell lines to paclitaxel, and both drugs synergized preclinically by targeting the paclitaxel-induced increase in NOTCH1 in a TP53-dependent manner [57].

It is well established that factors from the stroma, the immune system, and cancer cells, which are secreted by drug-resistant lung adenocarcinoma cells, may develop acquired drug resistance by promoting cell proliferation and evading apoptosis. Glucose deprivation, however, reduces the secretion of some of these cell-growth-promoting factors. For instance, FOXO3a promotes cross-resistance to 5-fluorouracil and cisplatin via glycolysis-mediated upregulation of ABCB1. Repression of cellular energy supply by targeting glycolysis may, on the other hand, overcome acquired drug resistance [58]. Genes that encode proteins involved in the uptake of glucose and in glycolysis – conversion of lactate to pyruvate – and those that repress the tricarboxylic acid cycle are found to be direct transcriptional targets of NOTCH signaling. Upregulation of the PI3K/AKT pathway, whereas endogenous NOTCH signaling reduces mitochondrial activity and induces glycolysis in a TP53-dependent manner [59].

The hedgehog signaling components are also implicated in the etiology of lung cancer. Sonic hedgehog (Shh) components are known to be active during the early stages of embryogenesis and organogenesis [48, 60]. It is the major regulatory pathway which designs limb formation and number of fingers and induces the dorsoventral axis on the neural crest [61]. In the lung, Shh pathway is involved in bronchial budding. The lung epithelial cells secrete Shh which then have a paracrine effect on mesenchymal cells, acting as a spatial regulator of bronchial bud formation. Shh pathway inhibition using mice models (Shh-/-, Ptch1-/-, Gli2-/-, and Gli3-/- knockout) induces severe lung malformations, with hypoplasia and tracheal malformations and often nonviable phenotypes [62, 63]. Several lung diseases were thus found to be related to activation of Shh, such as lung fibrosis, which is characterized by epithelial lesions and shows an induction of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) [64]. In idiopathic lung fibrosis, hedgehog pathway components, such as Shh, Smoothened (Smo), Patched (Ptch), and Gli1, are found to be overexpressed in lung tissues [65, 66]. High levels of Gli1 and Shh protein expression are observed in SCLC cell lines and patient samples [67]. Inhibition of Smo has been shown to inhibit tumor growth in vivo [68]. Recent studies confirmed the importance of the Shh-dependent activation of the pathway in SCLC [69]. Szczepny et al. showed that Shh is necessary for the progression of SCLC in mice. In NSCLC, Shh pathway is activated, with a good correlation between each protein, suggesting a canonical
activation of Shh pathway [70]. Therefore, an intricate relationship exists between the Shh pathway and lung disorders and can eventually be a target for therapeutic intervention.

CSCs, which are contributors to tumor initiation, proliferation, and recurrence, maintain a low proportion in tumors [71]. They are responsible for resistance to anticancer therapeutics and are responsible for spreading of tumor cells and metastasis through EMT. Several signaling pathways are closely associated with CSCs; in particular the Hh, wingless-type (Wnt), and Notch pathways are mainly activated in CSCs and responsible for their maintenance. Stem cell characteristics and expression of signaling pathway components were concomitant in human lung fibroblasts isolated from parenchymal tissues of nonsmokers/non-chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), smokers with non-COPD, and smokers with COPD, who were undergoing surgery for lung tumor resection [72]. Additionally, lung fibroblasts expressed differentiation ability, mesenchymal stem cell markers, and immunosuppressive potential; these properties were however altered in lung fibroblasts from smokers and COPD patients. In NSCLC, Shh pathway actively contributes to tobacco-induced oncogenesis and inhibition of the Shh pathway can prevent the tobacco-induced tumor phenotype in cell lines [73]. Similarly, nicotine exposure can activate the Shh pathway [74], and vismodegib treatment of NSCLC cell lines completely inhibited tumor xenografts in nude mice [75].

17.7 Current Imaging Modalities and the Need for Personalized Imaging

Presently, medical imaging modalities rely on ultrasound, computed tomography (CT), or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), for visibility of tumors when compared to adjacent tissues. To assess tumor biology, positron emission tomography (PET) has typically incorporated radiolabeled fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) due to the increased glycolytic rate, the Warburg effect, exhibited by the majority of malignant tumor cells [76]. PET imaging provides information on anatomical location of tumors by exploiting the increased metabolic rate of tumors and the use of radiolabeled FDG readily explains this fundamental principle. Despite advances in PET, there are challenges in molecular imaging. A major factor in molecular PET imaging is that it relies on the uptake of FDG to measure glucose metabolism by pathological cells. While pathological cells have an increased uptake of FDG, physiological uptake by normal tissues or inflammatory cells such as macrophages is highly variable, and in some instances, the accumulation cannot be predicted [77]. As FDG can accumulate in normal tissues or inflammatory cells, thus decreasing availability of tracer uptake by pathological tissue, this can also lead to false-positive detection and misdiagnosis. Furthermore, FDG uptake relies on malignant cells to be metabolically active. However, some tumor cells can enter a dormant state [78]. To improve the sensitivity of diagnostic imaging, agents are being developed to target malignant cells or their products, to enable molecular imaging of a tumor.

17.7.1 Peptides, Peptidomimetics, and Aptamers for Effective Detection

Peptides are short organic polymers. Amino acids are conjugated to each other and form a bond between multiple amino acids called peptides. Peptides may possess their own biological function or be a structural and functional part of protein molecule. Artificial peptides are also available with covalent bond between amino acid molecules [79]. Peptides are produced relatively easier than mAbs, are quicker to penetrate tumor sites, and are rapidly excreted from the body [80, 81]. Peptides can be used for the delivery of cytotoxic drugs and radioisotopes, as well as vaccines and hormones. Common difficulties of using peptides as a drug delivery carrier are limited stability due to proteolysis by peptidases, low oral bioavailability, meager transport properties through cell membranes, rapid excretion, and reduced target specificity due to flexible nature of peptides. In contrast, peptidomimetics (also called peptide mimics) can be constructed by the modification of an existing peptides or artificial introduction of alpha and beta amino acids in peptide structures. Peptidomimetics have better transport properties through biological membranes, fewer cross-target interactions, resistance to immune responses, and improved resistance to degradation by peptidases [82, 83]. [68Ga]Ga-NODAGA-THERANOST[™] is a αvβ3 integrin antagonist first used in humans for lung and breast cancer diagnosis.

Aptamers, also known as "chemical antibodies," are short (20-100 bases) singlestranded RNA (ssRNA) or DNA (ssDNA) oligonucleotides that bind to targets with high affinity and selectivity [84, 85]. Aptamers have the ability to fold into threedimensional structures and bind to their target in a similar manner to their antibody protein counterpart via shape recognition [86]. In comparison, aptamers hold many advantages over antibodies. Unlike antibodies which cannot regain function after being denatured, aptamers are more stable and resistant to changes in pH and temperature, which also enables them to be easily chemically modified [87]. Antibodies require in vitro or in vivo production which can increase variation between batches, whereas this variation is reduced in aptamers as they are synthesized chemically. Due to their nucleic acid composition, aptamers are generally nonimmunogenic and nontoxic. Lastly, an important advantage of aptamers is their size (5-15 kDa) in comparison to large monoclonal antibodies (approximately 150 kDa) [88]. As aptamers are much smaller than antibodies, aptamers have superior tissue penetration (greater capabilities to be internalized by tumors) [89]. Furthermore, the smaller size of aptamers also enables them to bind hidden epitopes which cannot be accessed by the larger antibodies. Thus, given the numerous desirable properties exhibited by aptamers, the development of aptamers as molecular imaging probes is more promising than antibodies in diagnostic imaging.

Although cancer is a leading cause of mortality globally, early diagnosis and detection can improve treatment outcomes due to early surgical, curative intervention. The challenges lie in present medical imaging and diagnostic techniques in oncology. While current medical imaging modalities can identify tumor masses, they are unable to specifically detect micrometastases before their angiogenesis stage, due to the minimum number of cells required for detection. PET molecular

imaging has been able to improve detection of malignant cells; however, the typical use of FDG for pathological cells is nonspecific for a disease, as normal tissues can uptake FDG which increases the background signal relative to the tumor.

The prognosis of most lung cancer patients is quite poor with limited survival. Mostly, symptoms of stage-specific lung cancer are not evident. CT and some serum tumor markers, like carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) and squamous cell carcinoma antigen (SCCA), have been used for early diagnosis of NSCLC. However, cumulative radiation damage and low sensitivity and specificity have limited traditional detection methods. Therefore, novel biomarkers with high sensitivity and specificity are required for precise molecular diagnosis and prognosis; this can be achieved through a more thorough understanding of the molecular mechanisms of NSCLC.

17.7.2 Immunotherapy: A Remarkable Boon

Superior to chemotherapy, remarkable patient survival has been observed using immune checkpoint inhibitors as first-line treatment in both squamous and nonsquamous NSCLC [90]. Checkpoint inhibitors block the antitumor adaptive immune response by targeting the CTLA4 receptors which are expressed on immune and tumor cells and by suppressing the cytotoxic T-cell response, a theme which fetched the Nobel Prize in Medicine in 2018. Although several factors that would enable clinicians to resolve the response to checkpoint inhibitors remain to be discovered, a high mutation load creates immunogenic tumors and is strongly associated with response to checkpoint inhibitors [91]. Based on promising results with immunotherapy, treatment with either platinum-pemetrexed or anti-PD1 (nivolumab) + anti-CTLA4 (ipilimumab) is being offered to naïve MPM patients [92] (Fig. 17.4). Unfortunately, many NSCLC patients remain unresponsive to such immunotherapies, indicating resistance to checkpoint inhibitors [93]. Since lung cancer is highly heterogeneous disease at the genetic, epigenetic, and metabolic levels, it is imperative that personalized medical approaches can provide a more comprehensive treatment strategy for patients with lung cancer.



Fig. 17.4 Immunotherapy for lung cancer cells

17.7.3 LncRNAs Related to NSCLC Diagnosis and Therapy

Although current markers for the diagnosis of NSCLC are primarily proteins, relatively stable noncoding RNAs (ncRNAs) are prevalent in various body fluids [94], and their characterization is an emergent area of research for clinical diagnosis. The stability of long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs) is similar to mRNA, while their tissue specificity is higher than mRNA. LncRNAs are detected in various body fluids such as blood, urine, and saliva and may serve as appropriate clinical indicators [95]. LncRNAs are known to act as tumor diagnosis biomarkers since many abnormal lncRNAs have been identified in NSCLC. For example, MALAT1 has been evaluated as a potential biomarker in body fluids and is associated with lung cancer. The expression of plasma MALAT1 could distinguish 45 NSCLC patients from healthy controls [96] and is considered a promising diagnostic biomarker due to its stability, high specificity, and minimal invasiveness. In addition, exosomal MALAT1 expression was positively associated with lymphatic node metastasis and TNM staging [97].

Similarly, the lncRNAs HIF1A-AS1 and XIST, which show enhanced expression in lung cancer, play significant regulatory roles in tumor pathology in contrast to the diagnostic values of their proteins in NSCLC, since they show significantly lower expression in serum. Furthermore, the combination of HIF1A-AS1 and XIST had higher diagnostic value [98]. Consequently, scientists selected 21 known IncRNAs as potential targets in order to improve diagnostic efficiency [99], such as NEAT1, ANRIL, and SPRY4-IT1, since their circulating levels were significantly higher in plasma samples of NSCLC patients compared to control set. A combination of novel lncRNA biomarkers could therefore have great diagnostic value for NSCLC detection [100]. Using gene microarray, Zhao et al. identified 72 lncRNAs to distinguish between lung squamous cell carcinoma (lung SCC) and lung adenocarcinoma [101], whereas White et al. discovered 27 lung cancer-associated lncRNAs as markers for the differential diagnosis of lung SCC and lung adenocarcinoma [102]. Since lncRNAs promote proliferation and cellular growth, have significant functions in epigenetic regulation, and result in uncontrolled and progressive tumor growth and metastasis, combination of multiple lncRNAs is effective in the diagnosis of NSCLC because of their specificity and sensitivity.

The present treatment regimen for NSCLC includes surgical excision, chest radiotherapy, and chemotherapy. However, these therapies are limited in their approach to cure cancer due to their poor therapeutic efficacy. Novel approaches are therefore required to be explored and applied for improving patient survivability and quality of life [103]. Significantly, deregulated lncRNAs are now being associated with many treatments, including molecular-targeted therapy and chemotherapy. For these reasons, lncRNAs are used as new therapeutic targets for NSCLC by sensitizing cancer cells to chemotherapeutic drugs [104].

17.7.4 RNAi-Mediated Gene Silencing Therapy

RNA interference technologies, such as siRNA, shRNA, and antisense oligonucleotides, are the most credible approach for selectively inhibiting target lncRNAs. LncRNA-targeted RNAi has shown to be effective in cell lines; however, stable conditions are imperative to carry the siRNA to their targets in vivo. Accordingly, several lncRNAs have been recognized as prospective therapeutic targets. For example, silencing HOTAIR through RNAi reduced invasiveness and viability of lung, as well as breast and pancreatic cancer cells [105]. Additionally, it rendered lung adenocarcinoma cells resistant to cisplatin, by downregulating expression of p21 [106]. Similarly, shRNA-mediated knockdown of MALAT1 significantly reduced cell invasiveness and migration in NSCLC. However, the problems associated with delivery of siRNA and its off-target effects often limit its application, and therefore, in vivo inhibition of lncRNAs remains a challenge [107]. Recently, several strategies are being developed to overcome this shortcoming, such as conjugate-based delivery, polymer-based delivery, and lipid-based nanoparticle delivery [108, 109] for potential molecular treatment.

17.7.5 Antisense Oligonucleotide (ASO)-Based Treatment

ASOs are short single-stranded DNA which can be used to induce lncRNA degradation via RNaseH and are used for lncRNA regulation and silencing. In contrast to siRNA, ASOs show higher specificity and less off-target effects. In some instances, ASOs were shown to target MALAT1, inhibition of which undermined malignant phenotypes via cycle arrest in lung and cervical cancer cells [110]. Animals treated with MALAT1 ASO showed significantly reduced tumor volume and nodules in the lung compared to control ASO-treated animals. Thus, MALAT1 ASOs could prevent metastasis of NSCLC, rendering a novel therapeutic approach for treatment of patients with NSCLC [111].

17.7.6 Plasmid-Mediated Targeted Therapy

Plasmid-mediated targeted therapy is another fascinating approach for the treatment of cancer. H19 has high expression in lung and breast cancer, among others. The plasmid BC-819, which harbors the gene for the A subunit of diphtheria toxin, may be utilized for studying the tumor-specific expression of H19 lncRNA [112]. In addition to NSCLC, BC-819 also plays a role in the treatment of pancreatic, ovarian, and colon cancers [113]. LncRNAs are regarded as important regulators of diverse cellular processes, including cell growth, migration, stem cell maintenance, and apoptosis, and are involved in different signaling pathways [114]. Therefore, selectively targeting deregulated lncRNAs could provide a new therapeutic strategy for NSCLC treatment.

17.8 Altered Metabolism as a Hallmark of Cancer

A classical feature of cancer is the reprogramming of cellular energy metabolism, mainly used by cancer cells to sustain their highly proliferative status [115]. Under aerobic conditions, nonproliferating cells use glycolysis in the cytoplasm to form

pyruvate, which is eventually oxidized in mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) to generate energy, in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP). Under anaerobic conditions, glycolysis-derived pyruvate is mainly directed to lactate production. On the contrary, cancer cells rely more on glycolysis for energy production even in the presence of oxygen. This phenomenon, first observed by Otto Warburg, was termed "aerobic glycolysis" or "the Warburg effect" [116, 117]. This metabolic adaptation, which generates ATP more rapidly, is, however, far less efficient than OXPHOS, finally resulting in abnormally high glucose uptake to sustain ATP production. The high requirement of glucose by cancer cells, mediated by the upregulation of glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1), was the main criteria behind development of fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET) techniques for cancer detection and disease monitoring even after treatment [118].

Cancer metabolism can be reprogrammed by oncogenes, tumor suppressors, and the tumor niche by directly regulating specific metabolic enzymes. Mutations in phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases (PI3K) are known to promote metabolic reprogramming by enhancing AKT (PKB) signaling, which drives glycolytic metabolism by increasing cellular glucose uptake and inducing activation of phosphofructokinase 1 [119–121]. Subsequently, AKT stimulates the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway, which eventually promotes glycolysis and the pentose phosphate pathway by regulation of hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs) [122]. In the same way, deregulation of Myc in cancer induces glycolytic gene expression, enhanced glucose consumption, as well as biomolecule production, via nucleotide and lipid synthesis [123–126]. The tumor suppressor p53 has been shown to inhibit glucose transporters and activate the upregulation of TP53-induced glycolysis, eventually reducing fructose 2,6-bisphosphate levels and inhibiting PFK1 [127]. In addition, expression of the gene encoding the synthesis of SCO2, a cytochrome c oxidase protein, is stimulated by p53 [128]. Therefore, loss of p53 endorses a shift in ATP production from OXPHOS to glycolysis but renders cancer cells more sensitive to metabolic stress [128]. One of the mechanisms tumor cells use to trigger the switch from OXPHOS to glycolysis or from glycolysis in cancer cells to OXPHOS in CSCs is the upregulation of HIF-1 α and HIF-2 α under hypoxic conditions (Fig. 17.5). Specifically, HIF-1 α is known to induce the expression of GLUT1 and glycolytic enzymes such as lactate dehydrogenase A with concomitant activation of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1, a negative regulator of pyruvate dehydrogenase [64, 129, 130].

Moreover, stemness can be controlled by cellular metabolism. Interestingly, when reprogramming somatic cells into induced pluripotent stem cells, upregulation of glycolytic genes preceded expression of pluripotency markers, indicating that the metabolic switch from OXPHOS to glycolysis is an early event during stem cell reprogramming [131–132], and contrary to what was hypothesized, CSCs do not recapitulate the metabolic pattern of adult stem cells. In fact, depending on the type of tumor and stimuli from the tumor niche which trigger cell plasticity and metabolic reprogramming, CSCs may depend either on glycolysis or on OXPHOS for their maintenance [133]. CSCs generally show increased glucose uptake and lactate production, together with reduced mitochondrial respiration, compared to non-CSCs.



Fig. 17.5 Incidence of small cell and different non-small-cell lung cancers

Besides, CSCs demonstrate increased activity of key glycolysis enzymes, such as pyruvate kinase M2, LDH, and glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase. Subsequently, treatment with 2-deoxyglucose (2-DG), a glucose analogue that inhibits hexokinase 2, preferentially decreases the proliferation of CSCs compared with mature cancer cells, indicating that glycolysis is absolutely essential for CSCs [134].

17.9 Metabolism as a Therapeutic Target for CSCs

The main drivers behind drug resistance of CSCs are cancer cell plasticity and the acquisition of a quiescent state. It has been reported that residual dormant clones, which resist chemotherapy, can be activated under conducive conditions and cause tumor relapse [135–138]. Concomitant with characterization of the molecular mechanisms that govern stemness, novel therapeutic approaches are being developed and tested for the elimination of the CSC population. However, till date, no anticancer stem cell therapy has been successful in terms of effectiveness and specificity, in order to be approved for clinical use. Therefore, new therapies which would target the metabolic networks mediating cancer cell stemness would prove to be innovative and efficient strategies to target CSCs. Mouse models of cancer have also shown that targeting oxidative metabolism, the main source of energy for CSCs, sensitizes this population to known anticancer drugs, thus obliterating them for a more comprehensive cure.

The metabolism that contributes to the maintenance of CSCs is a promising concept for innovative therapeutic approaches which may provide novel, metabolismrelated targets, albeit significant questions remain to be addressed. Specifically, the role which the tumor microenvironment plays to control metabolic plasticity of CSCs and elucidate whether CSCs themselves are metabolically heterogeneous and modulate tumorigenesis according to specific stimuli needs to be defined. It is therefore essential that future studies ameliorate the experimental conditions used so far and preserve the in vivo structure of tumors. Figure 17.6 summarizes the change in treatment strategies for better patient prognosis over several decades.



Fig. 17.6 Progress in different modalities for lung cancer treatment over the last five decades

17.10 Conclusion and Perspectives

Non-squamous NSCLC is the most common form of lung cancer and a deadly disease. Regardless of thorough information on tumor driver mutations and multimodal treatment regimens including surgery, chemotherapy, targeted agents, immune therapy, and radiotherapy, resistance to treatment by a tumor, eventually leading to disease recurrence, is common. NSCLC is a highly heterogeneous disease and continually attempts to survive by acquiring new favorable pro-survival conditions. There is growing evidence implicating CSCs in the process of relapse, along with the dynamically changing tumor microenvironment, which in turn results in tumor progression, metastasis, and therapeutic resistance. CSCs thus provide an interesting and invaluable therapeutic target to tackle tumor resistance.

Taken together, lung cancer may be classified as a complex heterogenous disease with interpatient, intratumor, and inter-/intrametastatic heterogeneity. Successful treatment options are therefore likely to arise from personalized precision treatment. Biomarkers will be necessary to advance from preclinical to clinical options in order to design reliable therapeutic strategies. Finally, although attention is being directed toward the development of specific drugs to target tumor progression and treatment resistance, efforts should also be made to identify synergistic interactions of inhibitors with clinically approved systemic treatments since such combinations will possibly lead to rapid clinical implementation and better patient prognosis in the future.

References

- 1. Cooper G (2000) The development and causes of Cancer. In: The cell: a molecular approach, 2nd edn. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland
- Martin T, Ye L, Sanderas A, Lane J, Jiang W (2013) Cancer invasion and metastasis: molecular and cellular perspective. In: Madame curie bioscience database. Landes Bioscience, Austin

- Hussain T, Nguyen QT (2014) Molecular imaging for cancer diagnosis and surgery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 66:90–100
- 4. Siegel RL, Miller K, Jemal A (2018) Cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin 68:7-30
- Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results Program, National Cancer Institute. Archived from the original on 4 March 2016. Retrieved 5 March 2016
- 6. World Cancer Report (2014) World health organization (2014) Chapter 5.1. ISBN 92-832-0429-8
- Vijayan VK, Paramesh H, Salvi SS, Dalal AK (2015) Enhancing indoor air quality –the air filter advantage. Lung India 32(5):473–479
- 8. Upadhyay RP (2012) An overview of the burden of non-communicable diseases in India. Iran J Public Health 41:1–8
- Adeloye D, Chua S, Lee C, Basquill C, Papana A, Theodoratou E, Nair H, Gasevic D, Sridhar D, Campbell H et al (2015) Global and regional estimates of COPD prevalence: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Glob Health 5:020415
- Kim V, Criner GJ (2013) Chronic bronchitis and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 187:228–237
- Berg K, Wright JL (2016) The pathology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: progress in the 20th and 21st centuries. Arch Pathol Lab Med 140:1423–1428
- 12. DeVries R, Kriebel D, Sama S (2016) Low level air pollution and exacerbation of existing copd: A case crossover analysis. Environ Health 15:98
- Hu G, Zhou Y, Tian J, Yao W, Li J, Li B, Ran P (2010) Risk of COPD from exposure to biomass smoke: A metaanalysis. Chest 138:20–31
- Santo Tomas LH (2011) Emphysema and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in coal miners. Curr Opin Pulm Med 17:123–125
- Busch R, Hobbs BD, Zhou J, Castaldi PJ, McGeachie MJ, Hardin ME, Hawrylkiewicz I, Sliwinski P, Yim JJ, Kim WJ et al (2017) Genetic association and risk scores in a chronic obstructive pulmonary disease meta-analysis of 16,707 subjects. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 57:35–46
- Seifart C, Plagens A (2007) Genetics of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2:541–550
- Russo R, Zillmer LR, Nascimento OA, Manzano B, Ivanaga IT, Fritscher L, Lundgren F, Miravitlles M, Gondim HD, Santos GJ et al (2016) Prevalence of alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency and allele frequency in patients with COPD in Brazil. J Bras Pneumol 42:311–316
- Morissette MC, Parent J, Milot J (2009) Alveolar epithelial and endothelial cell apoptosis in emphysema: what we know and what we need to know. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 4:19–31
- Kosmider B, Messier EM, Chu HW, Mason RJ (2011) Human alveolar epithelial cell injury induced by cigarette smoke. PLoS One 6:e26059
- Zhang L, Guo X, Xie W, Li Y, Ma M, Yuan T, Luo B (2015) Resveratrol exerts an antiapoptotic effect on human bronchial epithelial cells undergoing cigarette smoke exposure. Mol Med Rep 11:1752–1758
- 21. Demedts IK, Demoor T, Bracke KR, Joos GF, Brusselle GG (2006) Role of apoptosis in the pathogenesis of COPD and pulmonary emphysema. Respir Res 7:53
- Aoshiba K, Yokohori N, Nagai A (2003) Alveolar wall apoptosis causes lung destruction and emphysematous changes. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 28:555–562
- Tamimi A, Serdarevic D, Hanania NA (2012) The effects of cigarette smoke on airway inflammation in asthma and COPD: therapeutic implications. Respir Med 106:319–328
- MacNee W (2005) Pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2:258–266. discussion 290–251
- 25. Keatings VM, Collins PD, Scott DM, Barnes PJ (1996) Differences in interleukin-8 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in induced sputum from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 153:530–534
- Beckett EL, Stevens RL, Jarnicki AG, Kim RY, Hanish I, Hansbro NG, Deane A, Keely S, Horvat JC, Yang M et al (2013) A new short-term mouse model of chronic obstructive pulmo-

nary disease identifies a role for mast cell tryptase in pathogenesis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 131:752–762

- 27. Sharafkhaneh A, Hanania NA, Kim V (2008) Pathogenesis of emphysema: from the bench to the bedside. Proc Am Thorac Soc 5:475–477
- Boukhenouna S, Wilson MA, Bahmed K, Kosmider B (2018) Reactive oxygen species in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2018:5730395
- Elmasry SA-AM, Ghoneim A, Nasr M, AboZaid M (2015) Role of oxidant–antioxidant imbalance in the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Egypt J Chest Dis Tuberc 64:813–820
- Thum MJ, Carter BD, Feskani CH, Friedman ND, Prentice R, Lopez AD, Hartage P, Gapstur SM (2013) 50-year trends in smoking-related mortality in the United States. N Engl J Med 368:351–364
- 31. Jha P, Ramasundarahettige C, Landsman V, Rostron B, Thun M, Anderson RN, McAfee T, Peto R (2013) 21st-century hazards of smoking and benefits of cessation in the United States. N Engl J Med 368:341–350
- 32. Raaschou-Nielsen O, Andersen ZJ, Beelen R, Samoli E, Stafoggia M, Wenmayr G, Hoffmann B, Fischer P, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Brunekreef B et al (2013) Air pollution and lung cancer incidence in 17 European cohorts: prospective analyses from the European study of cohorts for air pollution effects [ESCAPE]. Lancet Oncol 14:813–822
- 33. Guo Y, Zeng H, Li S, Barnett AG, Zhang S, Zou X, Huxley RR, Chen W (2015) Lung cancer incidence and ambient air pollution in China: a spatial age-period cohort study 1990–2009. Lancet 2015:386
- Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, Zhou S, Diaz LA Jr, Kinzler KW (2013) Cancer genome landscapes. Science 339(6127):1546–1558
- Gerlinger M, McGranahan N, Dewhurst SM, Burrell RA, Tomlinson I, Swanton C (2014) Cancer: evolution within a lifetime. Annu Rev Genet 48:215–236
- 36. Carvalho S, Leijenaar RT, Velazquez ER, Oberije C, Parmar C, van Elmpt W et al (2013) Prognostic value of metabolic metrics extracted from baseline positron emission tomography images in non-small cell lung cancer. Acta Oncol 52(7):1398–1404
- Hensley CT, Faubert B, Yuan Q, Lev-Cohain N, Jin E, Kim J et al (2016) Metabolic heterogeneity in human lung tumors. Cell 164(4):681–694
- Weir BA, Woo MS, Getz G, Perner S, Ding L, Beroukhim R et al (2007) Characterizing the cancer genome in lung adenocarcinoma. Nature 450(7171):893–898
- Zhang J, Fujimoto J, Zhang J, Wedge DC, Song X, Zhang J et al (2014) Intratumor heterogeneity in localized lung adenocarcinomas delineated by multiregion sequencing. Science 346(6206):256–259
- 40. Govindan R, Ding L, Griffith M, Subramanian J, Dees ND, Kanchi KL et al (2012) Genomic landscape of non-small cell lung cancer in smokers and never-smokers. Cell 150(6):1121–1134
- Jamal-Hanjani M, Hackshaw A, Ngai Y, Shaw J, Dive C, Quezada S et al (2014) Tracking genomic cancer evolution for precision medicine: the lung TRACERx study. PLoS Biol 12(7):e1001906
- 42. Ding L, Getz G, Wheeler DA, Mardis ER, McLellan MD, Cibulskis K et al (2008) Somatic mutations affect key pathways in lung adenocarcinoma. Nature 455(7216):1069–1075
- 43. Imielinski M, Berger AH, Hammerman PS, Hernandez B, Pugh TJ, Hodis E et al (2012) Mapping the hallmarks of lung adenocarcinoma with massively parallel sequencing. Cell 150(6):1107–1120
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network (2012) Comprehensive genomic characterization of squamous cell lung cancers. Nature 489(7417):519–525
- 45. Iglesias VS, Giuranno L, Dubois LJ, Jan Theys J, Vooijs M (2018) Drug resistance in nonsmall cell lung cancer: a potential for NOTCH targeting? Front Oncol 8:267
- 46. Bonnet D, Dick JE (1997) Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. Nat Med 3(7):730–737

- Prasetyanti PR, Medema JP (2017) Intra-tumor heterogeneity from a cancer stem cell perspective. Mol Cancer 16(1):41
- Wang P, Wan WW, Xiong SL, Feng H, Wu N (2017) Cancer stem-like cells can be induced through dedifferentiation under hypoxic conditions in glioma, hepatoma and lung cancer. Cell Death Dis 3:16105
- 49. Carney DN, Gazdar AF, Bunn PA Jr, Guccion JG (1982) Demonstration of the stem cell nature of clonogenic tumor cells from lung cancer patients. Stem Cells 1(3):149–164
- Ho MM, Ng AV, Lam S, Hung JY (2007) Side population in human lung cancer cell lines and tumors is enriched with stem-like cancer cells. Cancer Res 67(10):4827–4833
- Eramo A, Lotti F, Sette G, Pilozzi E, Biffoni M, Di Virgilio A et al (2008) Identification and expansion of the tumorigenic lung cancer stem cell population. Cell Death Differ 15(3):504–514
- 52. Kaiser J (2015) The cancer stem cell gamble. Science 347(6219):226-229
- Takebe N, Harris PJ, Warren RQ, Ivy SP (2010) Targeting cancer stem cells by inhibiting Wnt, Notch, and Hedgehog pathways. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 8(2):97–106
- 54. Zaman GJ, Versantvoort CH, Smit JJ, Eijdems EW, de Haas M, Smith AJ et al (1993) Analysis of the expression of MRP, the gene for a new putative transmembrane drug transporter, in human multidrug resistant lung cancer cell lines. Cancer Res 53(8):1747–1750
- 55. Huang J, Chen Y, Li J, Zhang K, Chen J, Chen D et al (2016) Notch-1 confers chemoresistance in lung adenocarcinoma to taxanes through AP-1/microRNA-451 mediated regulation of MDR-1. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 5:e375
- 56. Chen D, Huang J, Zhang K, Pan B, Chen J, De W et al (2014) MicroRNA-451 induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition in docetaxel-resistant lung adenocarcinoma cells by targeting proto-oncogene c-Myc. Eur J Cancer 50(17):3050–3067
- Morgan KM, Fischer BS, Lee FY, Shah JJ, Bertino JR, Rosenfeld J et al (2017) Gamma secretase inhibition by BMS-906024 enhances efficacy of paclitaxel in lung adenocarcinoma. Mol Cancer Ther 16(12):2759–2769
- Aldonza MBD, Hong J-Y, Lee SK (2017) Paclitaxel-resistant cancer cell-derived secretomes elicit ABCB1-associated docetaxel cross-resistance and escape from apoptosis through FOXO3a-driven glycolytic regulation. Exp Mol Med 49:e286
- 59. Landor SK, Mutvei AP, Mamaeva V, Jin S, Busk M, Borra R et al (2011) Hypo- and hyperactivated Notch signaling induce a glycolytic switch through distinct mechanisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(46):18814–18819
- Briscoe J, Thérond PP (2013) The mechanisms of hedgehog signalling and its roles in development and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 14:416–429
- McMahon AP, Ingham PW, Tabin CJ (2003) Developmental roles and clinical significance of hedgehog signaling. Curr Top Dev Biol 53:1–114
- Pepicelli CV, Lewis PM, McMahon AP (1998) Sonic hedgehog regulates branching morphogenesis in the mammalian lung. Curr Biol 8:1083–1086
- Goodrich LV, Milenković L, Higgins KM, Scott MP (1997) Altered neural cell fates and medulloblastoma in mouse patched mutants. Science 277:1109–1113
- 64. Kim KK, Kugler MC, Wolters PJ, Robillard L, Galvez MG, Brumwell AN, Sheppard D, Chapman HA (2006) Alveolar epithelial cell mesenchymal transition develops in vivo during pulmonary fibrosis and is regulated by the extracellular matrix. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:13180–13185
- 65. Fitch PM, Howie SEM, Wallace WAH (2011) Oxidative damage and TGF-β differentially induce lung epithelial cell sonic hedgehog and tenascin-C expression: implications for the regulation of lung remodelling in idiopathic interstitial lung disease: SHH and tenascin-C in type-II alveolar cells. Int J Exp Pathol 92:8–17
- 66. Bolaños AL, Milla CM, Lira JC, Ramírez R, Checa M, Barrera L, García-Alvarez J, Carbajal V, Becerril C, Gaxiola M et al (2012) Role of Sonic Hedgehog in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 303:L978–L990

- 67. Watkins DN, Berman DM, Burkholder SG, Wang B, Beachy PA, Baylin SB (2003) Hedgehog signalling within airway epithelial progenitors and in small-cell lung cancer. Nature 422:313–317
- Park K-S, Martelotto LG, Peifer M, Sos ML, Karnezis AN, Mahjoub MR, Bernard K, Conklin JF, Szczepny A, Yuan J et al (2011) A crucial requirement for Hedgehog signaling in small cell lung cancer. Nat Med 17:1504–1508
- 69. Szczepny A, Rogers S, Jayasekara WSN, Park K, McCloy RA, Cochrane CR, Ganju V, Cooper WA, Sage J, Peacock CD et al (2017) The role of canonical and non-canonical Hedgehog signaling in tumor progression in a mouse model of small cell lung cancer. Oncogene 36:5544
- 70. Yue D, Li H, Che J, Zhang Y, Tseng H-HK, Jin JQ, Luh TM, Giroux-Leprieur E, Mo M, Zheng Q et al (2014) Hedgehog/Gli promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition in lung squamous cell carcinomas. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 33:34
- Oren O, Smith BD (2017) Eliminating cancer stem cells by targeting embryonic signaling pathways. Stem Cell Rev 13:17–23
- 72. Figeac F, Dagouassat M, Mahrouf-Yorgov M, Le Gouvello S, Trébeau C, Sayed A, Stern JB, Validire P, Dubois-Rande JL, Boczkowski J et al (2015) Lung fibroblasts share mesenchymal stem cell features which are altered in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease via the overactivation of the hedgehog signaling pathway. PLoS One 10:e0121579
- 73. Lemjabbar-Alaoui H, Dasari V, Sidhu SS, Mengistab A, Finkbeiner W, Gallup M, Basbaum C (2006) Wnt and Hedgehog are critical mediators of cigarette smoke-induced lung cancer. PLoS One 1:e93
- Al-Wadei MH, Banerjee J, Al-Wadei HAN, Schuller HM (2016) Nicotine induces selfrenewal of pancreatic cancer stem cells via neurotransmitter-driven activation of sonic hedgehog signalling. Eur J Cancer 52:188–196
- 75. Giroux Leprieur E, Tolani B, Li H, Leguay F, Hoang NT, Acevedo LA, Jin JQ, Tseng HH, Yue D, Kim IJ et al (2017) Membrane-bound full-length Sonic Hedgehog identifies cancer stem cells in human non-small cell lung cancer. Oncotarget 8:103744–103757
- 76. Dhingra VK, Mahajan A, Basu S (2015) Emerging clinical applications of PET based molecular imaging in oncology: the promising future potential for evolving personalized cancer care. Indian J Radiol Imaging 25:332–341
- Griffeth LK (2005) Use of PET/CT scanning in cancer patients: technical and practical considerations. Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent) 18:321–330
- Chen W, Dong J, Haiech J, Kilhoffer M-C, Zeniou M (2016) Cancer stem cell quiescence and plasticity as major challenges in cancer therapy. Stem Cells Int 2016:1740936
- Fosgerau K, Hoffmann T (2015) Peptide therapeutics: current status and future directions. Drug Discov Today 20:122–128
- 80. Vegt E, De Jong M, Wetzels JF, Masereeuw R, Melis M, Oyen WJ, Gotthardt M, Boerman OC (2010) Renal toxicity of radiolabeled peptides and antibody fragments: mechanisms, impact on radionuclide therapy, and strategies for prevention. J Nucl Med 51:1049–1058
- Thundimadathil J (2012) Cancer treatment using peptides: current therapies and future prospects. J Amino Acids 2012:967347
- Shoeib M, Saeed S, Alireza MA, Soroush S (2009) Peptidomimetics and their applications in antifungal drug design. Anti-Infect Agents Med Chem 8:327–344
- 83. Gibbons JA, Hancock AA, Vitt CR, Knepper S, Buckner SA, Brune ME, Milicic I, Kerwin J, Richter LS, Taylor EW (1996) Pharmacologic characterization of CHIR 2279, an N-substituted glycine peptoid with high-affinity binding for alpha 1-adrenoceptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 277:885–899
- 84. Shigdar S, Lin J, Yu Y, Pastuovic M, Wei M, Duan W (2011) RNA aptamer against a cancer stem cell marker epithelial cell adhesion molecule. Cancer Sci 102:991–998
- Lakhin AV, Tarantul VZ, Gening LV (2013) Aptamers: problems, solutions and prospects. Acta Nat 5:34–43
- Hays EM, Duan W, Shigdar S (2017) Aptamers and glioblastoma: their potential use for imaging and therapeutic applications. Int J Mol Sci 18:2576

- Wang AZ, Farokhzad OC (2014) Current progress of aptamer-based molecular imaging. J Nucl Med 55:353–356
- Lee JW, Kim HJ, Heo K (2015) Therapeutic aptamers: developmental potential as anticancer drugs. BMB Rep 48:234–237
- 89. Xiang D, Zheng C, Zhou SF, Qiao S, Tran PH, Pu C, Li Y, Kong L, Kouzani AZ, Lin J et al (2015) Superior performance of aptamer in tumor penetration over antibody: implication of aptamer-based theranostics in solid tumors. Theranostics 5:1083–1097
- 90. Hellmann MD, Rizvi NA, Goldman JW, Gettinger SN, Borghaei H, Brahmer JR et al (2017) Nivolumab plus ipilimumab as first-line treatment for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (CheckMate 012): results of an open-label, phase 1, multicohort study. Lancet Oncol 18(1):31–41
- Riaz N, Havel JJ, Makarov V, Desrichard A, Urba WJ, Sims JS et al (2017) Tumor and microenvironment evolution during immunotherapy with nivolumab. Cell 171(4):934–949.e15
- 92. Alley EW, Lopez J, Santoro A et al (2017) Clinical safety and activity of pembrolizumab in patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma (KEYNOTE-028): preliminary results from a non-randomised, open-label, phase 1b trial. Lancet Oncol 18:623–630
- Somasundaram A, Burns TF (2017) The next generation of immunotherapy: keeping lung cancer in check. J Hematol Oncol 10:87
- 94. Cortez MA, Bueso-Ramos C, Ferdin J, Lopez-Berestein G, Sood AK, Calin GA (2011) MicroRNAs in body fluids – the mix of hormones and biomarkers. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 8(8):467–477
- Qi P, Du X (2013) The long non-coding RNAs, a new cancer diagnostic and therapeutic gold mine. Mod Pathol 26(2):155–165
- 96. Weber DG, Johnen G, Casjens S et al (2013) Evaluation of long noncoding RNA MALAT1 as a candidate blood-based biomarker for the diagnosis of non-small cell lung cancer. BMC Res Notes 6(1):518
- 97. Zhang R, Xia Y, Wang Z et al (2017) Serum long non-coding RNA MALAT-1 protected by exosomes is up-regulated and promotes cell proliferation and migration in non-small cell lung cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 490(2):406–414
- 98. Tantai J, Hu D, Yang Y, Geng J (2015) Combined identification of long non-coding RNA XIST and HIF1A-AS1 in serum as an effective screening for non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 8(7):7887
- Hu X, Bao J, Wang Z et al (2016) The plasma lncRNA acting as fingerprint in non-small-cell lung cancer. Tumour Biol 37(3):3497–3504
- 100. Xie Y, Zhang Y, Du L et al (2018) Circulating long noncoding RNA act as potential novel biomarkers for diagnosis and prognosis of non-small cell lung cancer. Mol Oncol 12(5):648–658
- 101. Zhao W, Luo J, Jiao S (2014) Comprehensive characterization of cancer subtype associated long non-coding RNAs and their clinical implications. Sci Rep 4(10):6591
- 102. White NM, Cabanski CR, Silva-Fisher JM, Dang HX, Govindan R, Maher CA (2014) Transcriptome sequencing reveals altered long intergenic non-coding RNAs in lung cancer. Genome Biol 15(8):429
- 103. Sang H, Liu H, Xiong P, Zhu M (2015) Long non-coding RNA functions in lung cancer. Tumour Biol 36(6):4027–4037
- 104. Ricciuti B, Mencaroni C, Paglialunga L et al (2016) Long noncoding RNAs: new insights into non-small cell lung cancer biology, diagnosis and therapy. Med Oncol 33(2):18
- 105. Yao Y, Li J, Wang L (2014) Large intervening non-coding RNA HOTAIR is an indicator of poor prognosis and a therapeutic target in human cancers. Int J Mol Sci 15(10):18985–18999
- 106. Liu Z, Sun M, Lu K et al (2013) The long noncoding RNA HOTAIR contributes to cisplatin resistance of human lung adenocarcinoma cells via downregualtion of p21(WAF1/CIP1) expression. PLoS One 8(10):e77293
- 107. Li CH, Chen Y (2013) Targeting long non-coding RNAs in cancers: progress and prospects. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 45(8):1895–1910
- Whitehead KA, Langer R, Anderson DG (2009) Knocking down barriers: advances in siRNA delivery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 8(2):129–138

- 109. Thomas M, Lu JJ, Ge Q, Zhang C, Chen J, Klibanov AM (2005) Full deacylation of polyethylenimine dramatically boosts its gene delivery efficiency and specificity to mouse lung. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(16):5679–5684
- 110. Tripathi V, Shen Z, Chakraborty A et al (2013) Long non-coding RNA MALAT1 controls cell cycle progression by regulating the expression of oncogenic transcription factor B-MYB. PLoS Genet 9(3):e1003368
- 111. Gutschner T, Hämmerle M, Eissmann M et al (2013) The noncoding RNA MALAT1 is a critical regulator of the metastasis phenotype of lung cancer cells. Cancer Res 73(3):1180–1189
- 112. Mizrahi A, Czerniak A, Levy T et al (2009) Development of targeted therapy for ovarian cancer mediated by a plasmid expressing diphtheria toxin under the control of H19 regulatory sequences. J Transl Med 7(1):69
- 113. Fatemi RP, Velmeshev D, Faghihi MA (2014) De-repressing lncRNA-targeted genes to upregulate gene expression: focus on small molecule therapeutics. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 3(11):e196
- 114. Kopp F, Mendell JT (2018) Functional classification and experimental dissection of long noncoding RNAs. Cell 172(3):393–407
- 115. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2011) Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144:646-674
- 116. Warburg O (1956a) On respiratory impairment in cancer cells. Science 124:269-270
- 117. Warburg O (1956b) On the origin of cancer cells. Science 123:309-314
- 118. Vander Heiden MG, Cantley LC, Thompson CB (2009) Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. Science 324:1029–1033
- 119. Deprez J, Vertommen D, Alessi DR, Hue L, Rider MH (1997) Phosphorylation and activation of heart 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase by protein kinase B and other protein kinases of the insulin signaling cascades. J Biol Chem 272:17269–17275
- 120. Elstrom RL, Bauer DE, Buzzai M, Karnauskas R, Harris MH, Plas DR, Zhuang H, Cinalli RM, Alavi A, Rudin CM et al (2004) Akt stimulates aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells. Cancer Res 64:3892–3899
- 121. Manning BD, Cantley LC (2007) AKT/PKB signaling: navigating downstream. Cell 129:1261–1274
- 122. Düvel K, Yecies JL, Menon S, Raman P, Lipovsky AI, Souza AL, Triantafellow E, Ma Q, Gorski R, Cleaver S et al (2010) Activation of a metabolic gene regulatory network downstream of mTORcomplex 1. Mol Cell 39:171–183
- 123. Osthus RC, Shim H, Kim S, Li Q, Reddy R, Mukherjee M, Xu Y, Wonsey D, Lee LA, Dang CV (2000) Deregulation of glucose transporter 1 and glycolytic gene expression by c-Myc. J Biol Chem 275:21797–21800
- 124. Nikiforov MA, Chandriani S, O'connell B, Petrenko O, Kotenko I, Beavis A, Sedivy JM, Cole MD (2002) A functional screen for Myc-responsive genes reveals serine hydroxymethyltransferase, a major source of the one-carbon unit for cell metabolism. Mol Cell Biol 22:5793–5800
- 125. Kim J-W, Gao P, Liu Y-C, Semenza GL, Dang CV (2007) Hypoxia inducible factor 1 and dysregulated c-Myc cooperatively induce vascular endothelial growth factor and metabolic switches hexokinase 2 and pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1. Mol Cell Biol 27:7381–7393
- 126. Morrish F, Noonan J, Perez-Olsen C, Gafken PR, Fitzgibbon M, Kelleher J, Vangilst M, Hockenbery D (2010) Myc-dependent mitochondrial generation of acetyl-CoA contributes to fatty acid biosynthesis and histone acetylation during cell cycle entry. J Biol Chem 285:36267–36274
- 127. Bensaad K, Tsuruta A, Selak MA, Vidal MNC, Nakano K, Bartrons R, Gottlieb E, Vousden KH (2006) TIGAR, a p53-inducible regulator of glycolysis and apoptosis. Cell 126:107–120
- 128. Matoba S, Kang JG, Patino WD, Wragg A, Boehm M, Gavrilova O, Hurley PJ, Bunz F, Hwang PM (2006) p53 regulates mitochondrial respiration. Science 312:1650–1653
- Semenza GL, Roth PH, Fang HM, Wang GL (1994) Transcriptional regulation of genes encoding glycolytic enzymes by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. J Biol Chem 269:23757–23763

- 130. Papandreou I, Cairns RA, Fontana L, Lim AL, Denko NC (2006) HIF-1 mediates adaptation to hypoxia by actively downregulating mitochondrial oxygen consumption. Cell Metab 3:187–197
- 131. Folmes CDL, Nelson TJ, Martinez-Fernandez A, Arrell DK, Lindor JZ, Dzeja PP, Ikeda Y, Perez-Terzic C, Terzic A (2011) Somatic oxidative bioenergetics transitions into pluripotencydependent glycolysis to facilitate nuclear reprogramming. Cell Metab 14:264–271
- 132. Panopoulos AD, Yanes O, Ruiz S, Kida YS, Diep D, Tautenhahn R, Herrerías A, Batchelder EM, Plongthongkum N, Lutz M et al (2012) The metabolome of induced pluripotent stem cells reveals metabolic changes occurring in somatic cell reprogramming. Cell Res 22:168–177
- 133. Sancho P, Barneda D, Heeschen C (2016) Hallmarks of cancer stem cell metabolism. Br J Cancer 114:1305–1312
- 134. Ciavardelli D, Rossi C, Barcaroli D, Volpe S, Consalvo A, Zucchelli M, De Cola A, Scavo E, Carollo R, D'agostino D et al (2014) Breast cancer stem cells rely on fermentative glycolysis and are sensitive to 2-deoxyglucose treatment. Cell Death Dis 5:e1336
- 135. Chen J, Li Y, Yu T-S, Mckay RM, Burns DK, Kernie SG, Parada LF (2012) A restricted cell population propagates glioblastoma growth after chemotherapy. Nature 488:522–526
- 136. Kreso A, O'brien CA, van Galen P, Gan OI, Notta F, Brown AMK, Ng K, Ma J, Wienholds E, Dunant C et al (2013) Variable clonal repopulation dynamics influence chemotherapy response in colorectal cancer. Science 339:543–548
- 137. Kurtova AV, Xiao J, Mo Q, Pazhanisamy S, Krasnow R, Lerner SP, Chen F, Roh TT, Lay E, Ho PL et al (2015) Blocking PGE2-induced tumour repopulation abrogates bladder cancer chemoresistance. Nature 517:209–213
- 138. Liau BB, Sievers C, Donohue LK, Gillespie SM, Flavahan WA, Miller TE, Venteicher AS, Hebert CH, Carey CD, Rodig SJ et al (2017) Adaptive chromatin remodeling drives glioblastoma stem cell plasticity and drug tolerance. Cell Stem Cell 20:233–246.e237

Part IV

Prevention and Therapeutics



The Use of Ozone as Redox Modulator in the Treatment of the Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD)

18

Emma Borrelli

Abstract

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a complex and progressive disease associated with an overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS), circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines, and acute-phase proteins. This generalized oxidative/inflammatory status is accompanied by a downregulation of the cellular antioxidant transcription factor nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2).Therapeutic agents that activate Nrf2 may have a pivotal role in the rebalance of the altered redox system. This chapter explores how the ozone can act as an endogenous redox modulator in the integrated treatment of COPD.

Keywords

Oxidative stress \cdot Ozone therapy \cdot Antioxidants \cdot Reactive oxygen species \cdot Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

18.1 Introduction

There is no doubt that oxygen (O_2) has unique chemical and thermodynamic properties, and the evolution of aerobic respiration enabled cells to produce more ATP than anaerobic respiration [1]. However, in complex multicellular organisms, oxygen interaction and utilization via oxidative phosphorylation resulted in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), hydroxyl radical (^{O}OH), and superoxide anion radical ($O_2^{^{O-}}$). ROS are recently recognized, in submicromolar doses, as essential signaling molecules for the cells but, if abnormally present, are able to produce oxidative stress, defined, according to Halliwell,

E. Borrelli (🖂)

Department of Medical Biotechnologies, University of Siena, Siena, Italy e-mail: emma.borrelli@unisi.it

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_18

as "an imbalance between oxidants and antioxidants in favor of the oxidants, leading to a disruption of redox signaling and control and/or molecular damage" [2–4].

The lung has in the human body the physiologic role to take the oxygen from the environment in proper amounts and to remove the carbon dioxide from the blood. This process needs a breathing volume of about 10,000 - 20,000 liters of air daily. Thus, the tissue in the lung is continuously exposed to oxygen, and, consequently, it is highly susceptible to injury mediated by oxygen-derived ROS [5].

Under normal conditon ROS concentrations in pulmonary system are keeping in a physiologic range through the activity of the antioxidants enzymes such as Superoxide Dismutase (SOD) and Catalase (CAT), in association with direct antioxidants such as Vitamin E, reduced Glutathione (GSH) and Ascorbate located both in the cell and in the epithelial lining of the lung [6–8].

In the lung, the altered redox balance may be caused by external factors such as environmental pollution or abnormal oxygen tension or by endogenous overproduction of oxidants, for example, during the activation of inflammatory cells after a tissue damage.

An increased number of evidences showed the implication of oxidant products in pulmonary pathologies like COPD, asthma, acute lung injury, pulmonary fibrosis, and lung tumor [9-11].

As regards COPD, it seems that both environmental exposures to noxious agents (mainly tobacco smoke and air pollutants) and the activation of the resident or inflammatory cells cause an increased amounts of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS and RNS) in the lung tissue. The abnormal levels of oxidants may have multiple consequences such as increased production of proteases, reduced defense mechanisms, and induction of inflammatory and growth factors and autophagic processes [12, 13].

More interestingly, COPD is now widely recognized as not simply an inflammatory/destructive lung disease but also a chronic oxidative systemic disease with extrapulmonary manifestations like cardiovascular disease, skeletal muscle dysfunction, osteoporosis, and neurological degenerations [14].

At this purpose, experimental works showed that during the inflammatory response in lungs affected by COPD, the pivotal mechanism for the systemic progression is the translocation of pro-inflammatory mediators like IL-6 and oxidants into the circulation [15].

Thus, it appears clear that, in COPD, a knock-on effect of persistent inflammation and prolonged oxidative stress in the lung cells begins locally but rapidly becomes a chronic challenge for the organism, if the process is not properly controlled or neutralized.

Several clinical and experimental studies also demonstrate the presence of an evident connection between the impaired antioxidant defense system controlled by Nrf2 and the development of oxidant-mediated lung diseases [16]. In the pulmonary tissue as well as in many other cells of various organs, the transcription factor called nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) is expressed in large amounts. Nrf2 represents an important orchestrator in the induction of several enzymes implicated in the antioxidant defense. This factor under basal resting condition is tied in cytosol

to its repressor Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap1) and Cullin3-dependent E3 ubiquitin ligase. Keap 1 is a protein containing three main domains, and two of this domains have been shown to contain key reactive cysteine residues. The modification of Cysteine residues causes the disruption of the Nrf2-Keap1 complex and the activation of Nrf2. The free Nrf2 reaches the nucleus and binds, as heterodimer with small Maf proteins, to the antoixidant response element (ARE) in the upstream promoter region of antioxidant and phase II detoxifying enzymes genes and initiates transcription and expressions of these proteins [17, 18].

After chronic cigarette smoke, genetically Nrf2 null mice develop increased alveolar destruction, apoptosis, and inflammation with respect to mice with normal Nrf2 genetic expression. In addition, deprivation of Nrf2-positive regulator DJ-1 and posttranslational modifications of the Keap1-Bach 1 stability can produce the downregulation of Nrf2 and consequently a decrease in glutathione levels in macrophages and in the lung tissue of patients with COPD. DJ-1 is an Nrf2 stabilizer that plays a protective role against oxidative stress. The decrease of DJ-1 protein associated with a decrease in heme oxygenase 1, glutathione peroxidase, and NADPH quinone dehydrogenase 1 (NQO1) was found in lung tissues of patients with COPD and emphysema. Other findings reported a clear decline in Nrf2-associated detoxification enzymes in COPD further emphasizing the close relationship between lung damage and Nrf2 decrease [19–22].

Moreover, several studies reported a clear link between a dysfunction of Nrf2 signaling and the presence of COPD [23].

All together, these findings strongly suggest that molecules interacting with Nrf2 pathway through dissociation of the Nrf2-Keap1 complex, specifically via the oxidation of cysteine residues and the subsequent changes in the Keap1 conformation, could exert an important therapeutical role in COPD.

18.2 The Use of NRF2 Activators in COPD

On the basis of the previously exposed knowledges on the COPD pathogenesis, it has been suggested that all mechanisms able to decrease in the lung the ROS overproduction or to increase the amounts of antioxidants could be used as therapeutic agents in order to counteract the pulmonary damage and the consequent systemic polymorbidity [24, 25].

As support of its important role, it has been reported that Nrf2 activators may restore the altered phagocytosis of bacteria in alveolar macrophages and increase the defense system against viral attack in cells, potentially helping to reduce the viral exacerbations in patients affected by COPD [26].

Several exogenous antioxidants and Nrf2 activator agents have been tried in the prevention and treatment of COPD, including thiol compounds (N-acetylcysteine, carbocysteine), vitamins (vitamins C and E), and food-/diet-derived nutraceutical (curcumin, sulforaphane, lycopene) [27]. Unfortunately, none of the products could be shown convincingly to reduce the COPD progression and symptomatology. Probably the presence of several subphenotypes and chronic comorbidities in COPD

patients may reduce the probability of efficacy of a single therapeutic agent. As a result, further studies were performed on the combination of oral administration of several antioxidants able to increase both endogenous antioxidant enzymatic and nonenzymatic protection and/or widely cut down the formation of ROS in cells [28].

However, it has been reported that antioxidants, if exogenously oversupplied, can cause an "antioxidant stress" and damage the cells because ROS play a pivotal role during the redox homeostasis processes and the full suppression of this molecules in the cell would interrupt rather than prolong the normal function of the organism. It appears evident that ROS can become protective or harmful depending on the fine and complex equilibrium between ROS production and scavenging at the proper time and side [29, 30].

It seems that a more useful approach in the therapy of chronic oxidative diseases (like COPD) should be the endogenous upregulation of Nrf2 and a consequent increase of antioxidant and detoxifying enzymes without completely neutralizing the presence of oxidants as essential intracellular signal molecules.

To better achieve the therapeutical effect, the oral substances able to activate the Nrf2 pathway were used in experimental and clinical trials at high dose for months. Unfortunately Nrf2 activation, if prolonged and excessive, may have also detrimental effects. For example, overexpression of Nrf2 could promote cancer cells and also protect the cancer cells from potential toxic effects of chemotherapy in lung cancer. These negative effects of Nrf2 overexpression could be critical in patients with COPD and associated lung cancer [31–34].

Based on these considerations researchers are looking for a redox modulator substance, i.e. a molecule able to activate the Nrf2 and the intracellular antioxidants generations with an "on and off" mechanism that preserves the cells from the detrimental consequences of a prolonged Nrf2 stimulation.

Ozone has the ability to elicit and calculate a transient "oxidant shock" to restore a normal redox system of the body without side effects.

In the next paragraphs, we will explain how ozone can act as a redox modulator in an integrative approach to COPD therapy.

18.3 The Ozone as Redox Modulator and Its Use in Medicine

18.3.1 The Discovery of Ozone: The Initial Local Application and the Systemic Use with the Major Ozonated Autohemotherapy Procedure

Christian Friedrich Schonbein, a German chemist, in 1839 reported that the electrolysis of water produced a characteristic odor, and he proposed for this new gaseous substance the name ozone (from the Greek ozein = odorant). He described the ozone as a strong oxidant but also as a powerful disinfectant. The ozone was first used in clinical practice in the past century by Dr. Wolff and other German physicians for the treatment of posttraumatic gangrene and infected wounds in German soldiers during the First World War. Indeed, ozone has good disinfectant and antibiotic properties when used directly to kill bacteria in skin or mucosa infections. Dr. Hans Wolff was also the first physician to expose blood directly to a gas association of ozone and oxygen.

The first reliable ozone generator for medical use was produced in 1958 by Dr. Hansler; since then, Prof. Bocci's studies better elucidated especially in the past 20 years the biochemical reactions of ozone after its contact with human fluids, particularly during the therapeutic way of administration called major ozonated autohemotherapy (MOA) that consists of ex vivo exposure of a precise volume of patient's blood to a calculated ozone dose for a few minutes followed by the reinfusion of ozonated blood in the patient [35–37]. This procedure is able, in chronic oxidative diseases like COPD, arteriopathy, and neurodegenerative disorders, to induce the production of antioxidant enzymes in the cells and restore the redox balance, as reported in clinical studies [38–41].

Unfortunately ozone is also present as an air pollutant, and, when inhaled, it can cause harmful effects on the respiratory tract: however, ozone, like other substances, can be therapeutic or toxic depending upon its concentration and location [42].

The next paragraphs will explain how the ozone acts and the correct use of ozone in medicine for the treatment of COPD.

18.3.2 Major Ozonated Autohemotherapy: A Brief Description

The major ozonated autohemotherapy (MOA) consists of exposing "ex vivo" 100–200 ml of blood of patient (it depends on body mass) to a precisely calibrated ozone dose for a few minutes followed by the reinfusion of activated blood in the donor.

More detailed, 100–200 ml of peripheral venous blood of the patient is collected in a sterile vacuum glass bottle containing sodium citrate for anticoagulation (ratio 9:1 blood/sodium citrate). In the bottle added is a corresponding volume (100– 200 ml, 1:1 blood/gas ratio) of oxygen ozone gas mixture with an ozone amounting from 10 to 50 micrograms/ml of gas mixture depending on disease. After 3 min the blood is reinfused in the patient. In this way, ozone can trigger a large number of biochemical pathways in blood without producing acute or chronic toxicity, but it is important to observe that a correct ozone concentration is critical to obtain a therapeutical effect: too low concentration of ozone is useless and too high may be harmful. We need to produce a brief and calculated increase of ROS and LOP which, in turn, is able to elicit a transitory oxidative stress capable of triggering an adaptive response in the redox cell regulation [43].

18.3.3 Major Ozonated Autohemotherapy: How Ozone Acts During the Contact with Human Blood – The Ozone as a Redox Modulator

A large series of studies showed that in the blood, the antioxidant system can counteract the ozone in a range concentration from 10 micrograms ozone/milliliters of gas per milliliters of blood up to 50 micrograms ozone/milliliters of gas [44]. The blood is composed of about 55% of plasma and 45% of cells, mainly erythrocytes. The plasma is mostly water (92 % of volume) and contains many substances: (a) dissolved ions such as HCO_3 and PO_4 , essential for the control of the pH within the range of 7.3–7.4; (b) hydrophilic and lipophilic substances like glucose, ascorbic acid, cysteine, uric acid bilirubin, carotenoids, vitamin E, and lycopene; (c) an amount of about 5 g of lipids (triglycerides, cholesterol, phospholipids, and lipoproteins); (d) proteins, mainly albumin (4.5 g/dl), fibrinogen, and other globulins such as transferrin or ceruloplasmin that bind Fe⁺⁺ and Cu⁺⁺; and (e) coagulation factors and hormones.

The antioxidant activity of plasma is maintained thanks to a large variety of substances such as uric acid, ascorbic acid, GSH, and albumin.

Erythrocytes are the cells with a high level of GSH, thioredoxin, and enzymes like catalase, glutathione reductase, glutathione peroxidase, glutathione/thioredoxin system, and SOD. All these antioxidants can rapidly neutralize a high concentration of oxidant molecules such as OH, H₂O₂, OCl⁻, and ONOO [45, 46].

During major ozonated autohemotherapy, ozone, owing to the high solubility in plasma (0.02 M), immediately reacts with hydrophilic antioxidants (ascorbic acid, uric acid, albumin). At the same time, the small amount of molecules of ozone that remains in blood performs the peroxidation of albumin-bound unsaturated fatty acids, which is a preferential substrate. The peroxidation of PUFA causes the production of H_2O_2 and lipid oxidation products such as 4-hydroxy-2E-nonenal (4HNE):

R
$$CH = CH$$
 R + H₂O + O₃ \leftrightarrow 2RHCO + H₂O₂

These reactions are very fast, and ozone dissolves, from the gaseous phase, in the plasmatic water and immediately reacts. After 2–3 min, in the glass bottle containing ozone and blood, ozone is totally consumed with both a slightly reduction of hydrosoluble antioxidants and the contemporaneous plasmatic rise of ROS and LOPs (mainly 4HE and hydrogen peroxide).

Despite the fact that ROS have a life span of less than a second, they are able to harm essential cell constituents, and therefore it appears very important to regulate the ROS production in order to trigger a biological effect without cell damage. For this purpose the ozone therapists can manage the ozone dose (ozone concentration as microgram/milliliter of gas per milliliter of blood in 1:1 ratio) against the antioxidant capability of blood. To better evaluate this crucial issue, experimental studies showed the changes of total antioxidant status (TAS) after blood ozonation under low, medium, or high ozone dose (10 micrograms/ml, 30 microgram/ml, 50 microgram/ml). TAS levels decreased, respectively, from 10, 20, and 35 % in the first minute after ozonation, but then they raised and restored the original concentration within 20 min, confirming the large efficiency of blood to regenerate oxidized antioxidants like dehydroascorbate and GSH disulfide. Similarly, after blood ozonation, the intraerythrocytic GSH has been found oxidized to GSSG of only about 20% after 1 min, but it was completely reduced to normal after 20 min. All these results clearly demonstrate that the ozonation in therapy modifies for a short time and reversibly the redox homeostasis in the cells.

Hydrogen peroxide, as a principal ROS, enters in the blood cells and activates several reactions:

- 1. *In erythrocytes*, an increase of 2,3-diphosphoglycerate (2,3-DPG) was measured which produces a shift to the right of the oxyhemoglobin dissociation curve. This process facilitates an increased release of oxygen into tissues with ischemia. Also a transitory increase of ATP was observed. H₂O₂ is therefore rapidly neutralized by GSH.
- 2. H₂O₂ mildly activates, *in lymphocytes*, the nuclear factor K-beta (NFk-beta), which in turn allows a transitory increase of synthesis of cytokines, mainly tumor necrosis factor alpha, interferon gamma, and interleukins 2 and 8. This change may improve the immune status in patients.
- 3. *Platelets* showed an increase of platelet-derived growth factors A and B (PDGF A and B), transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF beta1), and interleukin 8 (IL-8), with a possible positive effect in chronic limb ischemia.

As far as LOP productions following peroxidation of PUFA, in several studies an increase of heterogeneous compounds after blood ozonation has been observed: it was found in lipoperoxides, alkoxy radicals, lipohydroperoxides, isoprostanes and alkenals, and, among which, 4HNE and MDA. All these compounds are constitutionally toxic and must be produced in very low amounts. They are in vitro far more stable than ROS but fortunately, upon blood reinfusion, they have a brief half-life owing to these mechanisms: (a) a great dilution of these components in body fluids and a rapid decrease of their concentration, (b) an excretion via urine and bile, and (c) a detoxification due the interaction with detoxifying enzymes such as aldehyde and alcohol dehydrogenases, aldose reductase, and GSH transferases. Only a submicromolar concentration of 4HNE reaches the cells of the body of patients affected by chronic oxidative stress; these cells are unable to trigger their antioxidant system and thus are destinated to death. The cytoplasm of the stressed cells contains the Nrf2-Keap1 inactive complex. Luckily the 4-hydroxynonenal enters into the cell from the blood and binds two cysteines on Keap1 allowing the release of Nrf2 protein. The free Nrf2 is then able to move into the nucleus of the cell and, after a connection with a Maf protein, can stimulate the antioxidant response element (ARE) with the consequent induction of about 230 genes belonging to detoxification response and phase II antioxidant response [47–50].

Table 18.1 summarizes the biochemical steps during the ozone-blood contact, from the O_3 solution in plasma to the antioxidant enzyme production in the cells.

Several studies reported the possible antioxidant action of other Nrf2 activators like triterpenoids, dimethyl fumarate, and curcumin, but ozone alone has the unique property of generating a transitory and calculating stimulation of Nrf2. In fact, as reported by Pecorelli et al. [51], endothelial cells incubated in the presence of ozone and 4HNE showed a rapid and transient Nrf2 activation. This observation supports the hypothesis that ozone therapy is able to activate Nrf2 for the production of defense enzymes, and at the same time, it is unable to prolong this activity after about 40–60 min. Thus, the mechanism of transient activation is very useful for the

Table 18.1 The biochemical steps during ozone-blood interaction

The main steps of the ozone-blood interaction

(1) Oxygen-ozone gas mixture dissolves into plasmatic water

(2) Ozone reacts with several substances in plasma, mainly antioxidants and PUFA

(3) The result of this interaction is the generation of a little concentration of ROS and LOPs

(4) ROS are responsible for the rapid response (ex vivo), whereas LOPs are important for the late response (in the patient's body)

(5) LOPs (and in minimal amount ROS) are the principal molecular signals of the Nrf2 activation and gene induction of antioxidants when the ozonated blood returns into circulation upon reinfusion. *The Nrf2 stimulation is rapid and transient*

(6) Nuclear induction of 230 genes (detoxification response and phase II antioxidant response) in body cells

cells undergoing oxidative stress in COPD for restoring a normal redox system without the risk of cellular proliferation subsequent to a continuous prolonged Nrf2 stimulation [52].

18.4 Clinical Application of Ozone Therapy in COPD

The first application in Siena of ozone therapy on COPD patients was 10 years ago. Two patients affected both by age-related macular degeneration and COPD underwent major ozonated autohemotherapy and improved their quality of life and exercise's resistance. They continued the treatments for years with satisfaction.

It is important to remark that ozone therapy, in the COPD treatment, is used as integrated therapy, and it cannot substitute the standard orthodox therapy. However, the added ozone action as redox modulator plays a pivotal role in restoring a large amount of biochemical functions in all organs during chronic pulmonary diseases.

On the basis of the preliminary observations, 50 patients affected by moderate/ severe COPD were enrolled in a case-control clinical trial (standard therapy + ozone therapy vs standard therapy alone) at the University of Siena. All patients were all ex-smokers, and they were admitted in the study during a stable phase of the disease, without signs of exacerbations in the 4 weeks before starting the protocol and under regular pharmacologic therapy (inhaled long-acting beta2-agonists/corticosteroids LABA/ICS and/or tiotropium in all patients).

The following measures were performed in all patients prior to the start and after the conclusion of the study: (a) pulmonary function test, (b) resting arterial blood gas analysis, (c) 6-min walking test (6MWT), (d) dyspnea index by the Borg scale, and (d) St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ).

The design of the study and the results were reported in [39].

Patients were randomized in two groups: group 1 (25 patients) received a cycle of MOA twice a week for the first 5 weeks and thereafter a single treatment every week for another 10 weeks. Group 2 (25 patients) served as the control and didn't undergo ozone therapy. All patients of both groups 1 and 2 received standard therapy with inhaled beta2 long-acting bronchodilators and/or corticosteroids.

After the cycle of ozone therapy, patients of group 1 significantly increase the walking distance, and the degree of dyspnea during physical effort was reduced according to the Borg dyspnea scale. The SGRQ showed an improvement of the daily activity and on overall quality of life.

The control group patients didn't show any difference in walking distance and SGRQ score at the end of the study (Figs. 18.1 and 18.2).

Six-minute walking test is an important measure of functional capacity during exercise in COPD patients. An association between distance walked and clinical outcomes has been reported such as hospitalization and mortality. The changes in 6MWT are used to evaluate the efficacy of various therapeutic interventions such as pharmacological therapy or rehabilitation [53]. After ozone therapy, the patients showed an increase in walking meters greater than 25 m that is considered the minimal clinically important difference for COPD patients [54].

St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire is a specific instrument to measure the quality of life for COPD. In this study there was a significant improvement in total scores, in activity domain scores, and in impact domain scores in patients that



Fig. 18.1 St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire score before and at the end of the study in ozone-treated patients (group 1) and in control patients (group 2). *p < 0.01



Fig. 18.2 Modifications of 6-min walking test at the end of study in ozone-treated patients (group 1) and control (group 2). *p < 0.01

underwent ozone therapy (Table 18.1). These results suggested an objectified positive effect of ozone therapy on different aspects of health status in COPD patients and in the overall quality of life [55].

The adverse effects observed in ozone treated patients are a temporary face redness during the MOA treatment (3%). On the contrary, upon ozone therapy some of the patients reported an enhancement of the general efficiency, concentration and cognitive functions as demonstrated by the improvement of the Saint George Respiratory Questionnaire score (Table 18.2).

To better evaluate the action of ozone therapy on oxidative stress, in the next investigation, the values of plasmatic reactive oxygen metabolites (dROM test, Diacron International, Grosseto, Italy) in two groups of COPD patients have been analyzed. Again, 20 patients received standard and MOA therapy, and 20 patients received the standard therapy alone.

Results showed a significant decrease of dROM plasma values in COPD patients after a cycle of ozone therapy (dROM baseline value, 375 ± 30 UCARR; after MOA, 281 ± 24 UCARR, p < 0.05). In control patients, dROM values remain

	Group 1	Group 2	p
6MWT initial (m)	417.5 ± 107.3	411.4 ± 109.2	ns
6MWT end (m)	493.8 ± 105.4	407.3 ± 104.4	<i>P</i> < 0.01 a, b
DYSPNEA BORG SCALE initial	4.1 ± 2.4	4.3 ± 2.1	ns
DYSPNEA BORG SCALE end	3.0 ± 1.2	4.3 ± 2.1	<i>P</i> < 0.01 a
SGRQ			
Activity initial (%)	65.4 ± 16.3	66.1 ± 17.4	ns
Activity end (%)	54.2 ± 15	62.4 ± 16.6	<i>P</i> < 0.01 a
Impact initial (%)	38.4 ± 18.2	37.6 ± 17.1	ns
Impact end (%)	30.1 ± 16.4	34.5 ± 17.9	<i>P</i> < 0.01 a
Total score initial (%)	48.9 ± 16	47.3 ± 16.4	ns
Total score end (%)	32.2 ± 12.1	49.9 ± 14.3	<i>P</i> < 0.01 a, b

Table 18.2 Tabular results of 6MWT, SGRQ, and Modified Dyspnea Borg scale in groups 1 and 2

a = intragroup comparison before vs end study, b = intergroup comparison Group 1 vs Group 2, end of study

unchanged at the end of the study (baseline values, 371 ± 28 UCARR; at the end of the study, 374 ± 32 UCARR, ns difference, unpublished data).

All patients in group 1 asked to continue the therapy after the end of the study; no adverse effects were noted after 6 years of therapy.

18.5 Conclusion

The updated report of the Global Initiative for COPD (GOLD) describes COPD as a "preventable and treatable disease" but also underlines the importance, in the overall clinical scenario, of the concepts of "exacerbation" and "comorbidity" [56]. In fact, the repeated episodes of exacerbations associated with comorbidities in COPD patients cause frequent hospitalization, an increase of drug prescriptions, and an impairment of the patient's quality of life. However, COPD progression, exacerbation, and comorbidity seem to be all together caused by a cross talk between oxidative and inflammatory stress mediators, leading to a pulmonary/systemic damage [57, 58].

For these reasons, along with the current pharmacological (inhaled beta2agonists, antimuscarinic, corticosteroid) and nonpharmacological interventions (such as rehabilitation, noninvasive mechanical ventilation, and psychological counseling), growing evidence supports, in the management of COPD, the integrated use of Nrf2 activators to better counteract the above reported pathogenetic mechanisms by inducing cytoprotective genes, decreasing oxidative stress, and reversing corticosteroid resistance [59].

Ozone, when used as molecular redox signal, has many advantages: it activates Nrf2 with a transient and calculates stress; it is relatively inexpensive and atoxic when used properly; after ozone therapy, patients reacquire a well-feeling and an objective improvement of the quality of life [60]. Obviously the above reported data needs to be repeated in a large trial, but an increasing number of studies confirm the efficacy of ozone therapy in chronic oxidative and degenerative diseases, and it is hoped that the world health authorities could promote the clinical research and application of ozone in medicine.

References

- Reinhard CT, Planavsky NJ, Olson SL et al (2016) Earth's oxygen cycle and the evolution of animal life. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113:8933–8938
- Taverne YJ, Merkus D, Bogers AJ et al (2018) Reactive oxygen species: radical factors in the evolution of animal life. Bioessays 40. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201700158
- 3. Halliwell B, Gutteridge JMC (2015) Free radicals in biology and medicine, 5th edn. Clarendon Press, Oxford
- Halliwell B (1996) Free radicals, proteins and DNA: oxidative damage versus redox regulation. Biochem Soc Trans 24:1023–1027
- 5. Holguin F (2013) Oxidative stress in airway diseases. Ann Am Thorac Soc 10:S150–S157
- van der Vliet A, O'Neill CA, Cross CE et al (1999) Determination of low molecular mass antioxidant concentrations in human respiratory tract lining fluids. Am J Physiol 276:L289–L296
- Kinnula VL, Crapo JD (2003) Superoxide dismutases in the lung and human lung diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167:1600–1619
- Kollek I, Sinha P, Rustow B (2002) Vitamin E as an antioxidant of the lung: mechanisms of vitamin E delivery to alveolar type II cells. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166:S62–S66
- Rahman I, Adcock IM (2006) Oxidative stress and redox regulation of lung inflammation in COPD. Eur Rep J 28:219–242
- Kinnula VL, Fattman CL, Tan RJ et al (2005) Oxidative stress in pulmonary fibrosis: a possible role for redox modulatory therapy. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172:417–422
- 11. Esme H, Cemek M, Sezer M et al (2008) High levels of oxidative stress in patients with advanced lung cancer. Respirology 13:112–116
- 12. Kirkham PA, Barnes PJ (2013) Oxidative stress in COPD. Chest 1:266-273
- Fischer BM, Pavlisko E, Voynow JA (2011) Pathogenic triad in COPD: oxidative stress, protease-antiprotease imbalance and inflammation. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 6:413–421
- van Eeden SF, Sin DD (2008) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a chronic systemic inflammatory disease. Respiration 75:224–238
- Kido T, Tamagawa E, Bai N (2011) Particulate matter induces translocation of IL-6 from the lung to systemic circulation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 44:197–204
- Iizuka T, Ishii Y, Itoh K et al (2005) Nrf2-deficient mice are highly susceptible to cigarette smoke-induced emphysema. Genes Cells 10:1113–1125
- Cho HY, Kleeberger SR (2010) Nrf2 protects against airway disorders. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 244:43–56
- Itoh K, Chiba T, Takahashi S et al (1997) An Nrf2/smal Maf heterodimer mediates the induction of phase II detoxifying enzyme genes through antioxidant response elements. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 236:313–322
- Malhotra D, Thimmulappa R, Navas-Ancien A et al (2008) Decline in Nrf2-regualted antioxidants in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease lungs due to loss of its positive regulator, dj-1. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 178:592–604
- Goven D, Boutten A, Lecon-Malas V et al (2008) Altered Nrf2/Keap 1-Bach1 equilibrium in pulmonary emphysema. Thorax 63:916–924

- 21. Kensler TW, Wakabayashi N, Biswal S (2007) Cell survival responses to environmental stresses via the Keap1-Nrf2-ARA pathway. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 47:89–116
- 22. Venugopal R, Jaiswal AK (1996) Nrf1 and Nrf2 positively and c-fos and fra1 negatively regulate the human antioxidant response element -mediated expression of NAD(P): Quinone oxidoreductase 1 gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:14960–14965
- 23. Suzuki M, Betsuyaku T, Ito Y et al (2008) Down-regulated Nf-E2-related factor 2 in pulmonary macrophages of aged smokers and patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 39:673–682
- 24. Rahman I, MacNee W (2012) Antioxidant pharmacological therapies for COPD. Curr Opin Pharmacol 12:256–265
- Biswas A, Hwang JW, Kirkham PA et al (2013) Pharmacological and dietary antioxidant therapies for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Curr Med Chem 20:1496–1530
- Biswal S, Timmulappa RK, Harvey CJ (2012) Experimental therapeutics of Nrf2 as a target for prevention of bacterial exacerbations in COPD. Proc Am Thorac Soc 9:47–51
- Suzuki M, Betsuyaku T, Ito Y et al (2009) Curcumin attenuates elastase-and cigarette smokeinduced pulmonary emphysema in mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 296:L614–L623
- Tabak C, Arts IC, Smit HA et al (2001) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and intake of catechins, flavonols and flavones: the Morgen study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164:61–64
- 29. Schols AM (2013) Nutrition as a metabolic modulator in COPD. Chest 144:1340-1345
- 30. Dianzani MU (2003) 4-Hydroxynonenal from pathology to physiology. Mol Aspects Med 24:263–272
- Forman HJ, Maiorino M, Ursini F (2010) Signaling functions of reactive oxygen species. Biochemistry 49:835–842
- Brigelius-Flohè R, Flohè L (2011) Basic principles and emerging concepts in the redox control of transcription factors. Antioxidants and Redox Signaling 15:2335–2381
- Taguchi K, Yamamoto M (2011) Molecular mechanisms of Keap1-Nrf2 pathway in stress response and cancer evolution. Genes Cells 16:123–140
- Menegon S, Columbano A, Giordano S (2016) The dual roles of Nrf2 in cancer. Trends Mol Med 22:578–593
- 35. Bocci V (1998) Is ozone therapy therapeutic ? Perspect Biol Med 42:131-143
- 36. Bocci V, Aldinucci C, Borrelli E et al (2001) Ozone in medicine. Ozone Sci Eng 23:207-217
- Bocci V (2006) Scientific and medical aspects of ozone therapy. State of art. Arch Med Res 37:425–435
- Borrelli E, Diadori A, Zalaffi A (2012) Effect of major ozonated autohemotherapy in the treatment of dry age related macular degeneration: a randomized controlled clinical study. Int J Ophthalmol 5:708–713
- Borrelli E, Bocci V (2014) Oxygen ozone therapy in the treatment of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: an integrative approach. Am J Clin Exp Med 2:9–13
- Borrelli E, De Monte A, Bocci V (2015) Oxygen ozone therapy in the integrated therapy of chronic ulcer: a case series report. Int J Rec Sci Res 5:4132–4136
- 41. Giunta R, Coppola A, Luongo C et al (2001) Ozonized autohemotransfusion improves hemorheological parameters and oxygen delivery to tissues in patients with peripheral occlusive arterial disease. Ann Hematol 80:745–748
- 42. Bocci V (2005) Is it true that ozone is always toxic? The end of a dogma. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 208:117–126
- 43. Bocci V, Valacchi G, Corradeschi F et al (1998) Studies on biological effects of ozone 7. Generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) after exposure of human blood to ozone. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents 12:67–75
- 44. Bocci V, Borrelli E, Travagli V et al (2009) The ozone paradox. Ozone is a strong oxidant as well as a medical drug. Med Res Rev 29:646–682
- 45. Borrelli E, Bocci V (2010) Basic biological and therapeutic effects of ozone therapy in medicine. In: Ozone science and technology. Encyclopedia of Life Support Systems (EOLSS), developed under the auspices of the UNESCO. EOLSS Publishers, Oxford

- 46. Sirinki N, Suzuki T, Takama K et al (1998) Susceptibilities of plasma antioxidants and erythrocytes constituents to low levels of ozone. Hematologia 29:229–239
- Bocci V, Borrelli E (2015) A practical approach for restoring homeostasis in diseases characterized by a chronic oxidative stress. J Adv Med Pharm Sci 2:135–143
- 48. Bocci V (2011) Ozone: a new medical drug, 2nd edn. Springer, Dordrecht
- Smith NL, Wilson AL, Gandhi J et al (2017) Ozone therapy: an overview of pharmacodynamics, current research and clinical utility. Med Gas Rev 7:212–219
- Akbudak IH, Kucukatay V, Kilic-Erkek O et al (2018) Investigation of the effects of major ozone autohemotherapy application on erythrocyte deformability and aggregation. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc. https://doi.org/10.3233/CH-180417
- Pecorelli A, Bocci V, Acquaviva A et al (2013) Nrf2 activation is involved in ozonated human serum upregulation of HO-1 in endothelial cells. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 267:30–40
- Bocci V, Aldinucci C (2006) Biochemical modifications induced in human blood by oxygenation-ozonation. J Biochem Mol Toxicol 20:133–138
- 53. Pinto-Plata VM, Cote C, Cabral H et al (2004) The 6-min walk distance: change over time and value as a predictor of survival in severe COPD. Eur Respir J 23:28–33
- Holland AE, Hill CJ, Rasekaba A et al (2010) Updating the minimal important difference for six-minute walk distance in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Arc Phys Med Rehabil 91:221–225
- 55. Jones PW (2005) St. George's respiratory questionnaire: MCID. COPD-J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2:111–124
- Global Strategy for the Diagnosis, Management and Prevention of COPD, Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) (2017). Available from: https://goldcopd.org
- Lee IT, Yang CM (2013) Inflammatory signalings involved in airway and pulmonary diseases. Mediators Inflamm. 2013:791231
- 58. Koskela J, Kilpelainen M, Kupiainen H et al (2014) Co -morbidities are the key nominators of the health related quality of life in mild and moderate COPD. BMC Pulm Med 14:102
- 59. Hayes JD, Dinkova-Kostova AT (2014) The Nrf2 regulatory network provide an interface between redox and intermediary metabolism. Trends Biochem Sci 214:199–218
- 60. Bocci V, Borrelli E (2015) It is time that Health Authorities promote the use of oxygen ozone therapy as an integrative therapy of orthodox drugs. Br J Med Med Res 10:1–9



Oxidative Stress and Therapeutic Development in Lung Cancer

Animesh Chowdhury, Sarita Sarkar, Soma Ghosh, Ashish Noronha, Tapati Chakraborti, and Sajal Chakraborti

Abstract

Oxidative stress is associated with the pathogenesis of many lung diseases including lung cancer. The main goal of this chapter is to provide an overview of how reactive oxygen species (ROS) and antioxidants are related to normal physiological function and the pathophysiology of lung cancer and its therapeutic strategies. In this chapter, ROS are first characterized, followed by the role of oxidative stress in progression of different lung cancers, and a brief overview of therapeutic strategies developed gradually over the decades for better therapy of lung cancer is described. Limitations of current strategies and failures of clinical trials have also been discussed, and finally development of new therapy which may be helpful in the treatment of patients with lung cancer has also been addressed as future direction.

Keywords

 $\label{eq:constraint} \begin{aligned} & \text{Oxidative stress} \cdot \text{Reactive oxygen species} \cdot \text{Lung cancer} \cdot \text{Non-small cell lung} \\ & \text{cancer} \cdot \text{Monoclonal antibody therapy} \cdot \text{Immune therapy} \end{aligned}$

A. Chowdhury $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$. Ghosh $\cdot A$. Noronha

Department of Biological Regulation, Weizmann Institute of Science, Rehovot, Israel

- S. Sarkar Department of Zoology, University of Kalyani, Kalyani, India
- T. Chakraborti · S. Chakraborti

Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics, University of Kalyani, Kalyani, West Bengal, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_19

19.1 Introduction

Oxidative stress is characterized by an overproduction of reactive compounds that are not compensated by the exploitation of antioxidants and also as a consequence of perturbation of cell redox balance [1]. Usually, low levels of these reactive compounds are essential to activate many cell-signalling molecules as well as signal transduction pathways before their elimination in normal cells. Conversely, high level of these compounds is associated with different disease states. Based on the main atom involved, these reactive compound/species can be divided into four groups: reactive oxygen species (ROS), reactive nitrogen species (RNS), reactive sulphur species (RSS) and reactive chloride species (RCS). Among these reactive compounds, ROS are the most abundant and they could have short to long half-life depending on their molecular stability. ROS includes singlet oxygen (¹O₂), superoxide anion (O_2^{\bullet}) , ozone (O_3) , hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and hydroxyl radical (OH^-) [2]. On the other side, the most abundant RNS is nitric oxide (NO⁻), which has the ability to react with certain ROS producing peroxynitrite anion (ONOO⁻), which is also a reactive compound and lethal for cells and tissues. The biomedical study with oxidative stress is popular in current research because of its association with a wide variety of human diseases, such as cardiovascular disease, for example, muscular dystrophy; neurodegenerative disease such as Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease; lung diseases such as pulmonary fibrosis and pulmonary hypertension; inflammatory diseases, for example, rheumatoid arthritis; and along with allergies, diabetes, immune system dysfunctions, aging and cancer. In this chapter, we will bring to the reader an apparent view of how oxidative stress is connected with lung cancer in both molecular and clinical level.

19.2 Oxidative Stress and Lung Cancer

Nowadays, one of the most deadly diseases is lung cancer, and it is the primary cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide. Histologically, lung cancer is divided into four subtypes; however, depending on the responses to chemotherapy and radiation therapy, it is mainly divided into two major subgroups - small-cell lung cancer (SCLC) and non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC). SCLC accounts for about 15% of all new cases of lung cancer. On the other hand, NSCLC is predominant and accounts for about 85% of all lung cancer. NSCLC is subdivided into three groups, and they are adenocarcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma and large-cell carcinoma. The main strategy for the betterment and increase of the survival time of SCLC patients mainly depends on how they individually response to chemotherapy or radiation therapy or in combination of both therapies. In contrast, the main strategy for the betterment and increase of the survival time of NSCLC patients mainly depends on the resectability of the tumour at the time of presentation. Up to date, several prognostic factors have been identified based on different tumour grades and stages in both SCLC and NSCLC patients. These factors mainly include the overexpressed oncogenes that show more malignant behaviour and metastatic property or



Fig. 19.1 Schematic presentation of oxygen- and free-radical-mediated chemoresistance and oncogene activation in lung cell

lowly expressed tumour suppressor genes which show anti-proliferative properties. Beside this, various genes are also overexpressed and many signalling molecules are activated as a consequence of resistant behaviour of cells during drug therapy. Both ROS and RNS have a strong connection with the onset of lung cancer because they were found to be associated with the regulation of the activation of the signal-ling molecules and expression of those oncogenes. Figure 19.1 depicts how deregulation of antioxidant-oxidant balance induces oncogene expression or chemotherapy resistance in lung cancer cell model.

19.3 Oxidative Stress and SCLC

Application of surgical removal of tumours is sporadic in SCLC patients, since SCLC has a tendency to metastasize early, and thus combination chemotherapy (CT) is the pragmatic choice for the treatment of SCLC [3, 4]. SCLC is chemosensitive and combinations of different chemotherapeutic drugs, such as Adriamycin with vincristine and cyclophosphamide (CAV) or etoposide with cisplatin, have been considered as standard treatment for SCLC since long back [5, 6]. However, various new therapeutic treatment approaches have been continuously investigated to improve treatment outcome. One of the important molecules or pathways through which these chemotherapeutic regimens act and exert their effects is reactive species or oxidative stress. These drugs are mainly anthracyclines, such as epiadriamycin, Adriamycin and daunorubicin [7]. One of the well-known chemotherapeutic drugs, Adriamycin, mainly shows its anticancer activity with the interaction with topoisomerase II, leading to DNA fragmentation and cell death [8]. It also exerts its effect by enhancing protein oxidation [7]. Erhola et al. previously suggested that anthracycline-based chemotherapy shows their effects by producing oxidative stress [9]. They proved it on the basis of the evidence that after combination chemotherapy in SCLC patient, a decrease in total antioxidant capacity (TRAP) occurred in the plasma [10]. Other than SCLC, there are also many reports documented that shows reduced levels of different antioxidants have been observed during combination therapy using chemotherapeutic drugs in patients with different carcinoma [11, 12].

One of the known lipid peroxidation products that results from oxidative stress is malondialdehyde (MDA) mainly found in body fluid, and it has been found to induce growth arrest in a human large-cell lung carcinoma cell-line model [13]. There are also other lipid peroxidation products which are produced during oxidative stress from eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and have the ability to inhibit growth of different lung cancer cells lines [14]. Additionally, superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase that are known to suppress lipid peroxidation have been shown to be associated with lower survival of lung adenocarcinoma patients [15]. Therefore, it is obvious that chemotherapeutic drugs could show their anticancer activity by inducing the peroxidative damage of different biomolecules including lipids [16-18]. There are many reports showing an increased level of lipid peroxidation end products have been observed after using of various chemotherapeutic drugs in different cancer patients [19]. Nowak et al. in their study investigated the level of the lipid peroxidation products in serum after a combination chemotherapy using vincristine, carboplatin and etoposide in SCLC patients. They found increase of lipid peroxidation products in serum after chemotherapy which was strongly associated with the survival of SCLC patients [20], and as a conclusion it can be suggested that oxidative stress is strongly connected with SCLC involving lipid peroxidation.

19.4 Oxidative Stress and NSCLC

ROS are one of the major causes of NSCLC development and cigarette smoking (CS) is prevalent to this because it is the main source of ROS [21–23]. The tissue oxidant and antioxidant balance is altered and chronic inflammation is found to be persistent due to production of these oxidant compounds by inflammatory cells such as polymorphonuclear neutrophilic leucocytes (PMNs) and non-phagocytic cells [24–26]. Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase (NOX) is essential in this scenario because CS induces the activation of NOX which then initiates ROS production. NOX family enzymes are inflammatory components of host defence and several NOX isoforms are found to be expressed in lung tissue

including NOX2, DUOX1 and NOX4 [27, 28]; however, the classical NOX are found to be present in structural non-phagocytic mammalian cells [29, 30]. In NSCLC patients, NOX activity was found remarkably higher in malignant patients compared to non-malignant patients [31, 32]. Moreover, elevation and depreciation of NOX and myeloperoxidase (MPO) activities are interrelated and tightly regulated in NSCLC [33, 34]. Interestingly, one of the major as well as strongest carcinogen, benzo[a]pyrene (B[a]P), has been found in CS that produces oxidative stress. B[a]P induces ROS-mediated activation of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signalling pathway which has shown to increase the proliferative potential of lung adenocarcinoma cells by upregulating phosphorylated EGFR and inducing EGFR ligand expression such as amphiregulin and epiregulin [35]. Khan et al. also showed that the exposure of CS to human lung epithelial cells activates EGFR which may prolong the signalling to contribute the uncontrolled lung cell proliferation and growth [36].

Both predictive and prognostic significance for aberrant histone post-translational modifications is found in case of NSCLC [37, 38]. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and NSCLC are both tightly connected with oxidative stress through various genes and their downstream cellular response pathways [39] like glutathione peroxidases (GPXs), superoxide dismutases (SODs), glucocorticoid receptors (GRs), hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) and heme oxygenases (HOs). Importantly, epigenetics play a vital role in the regulation of such genes and their downstream signalling pathways in COPD and NSCLC. Since dysregulation of such genes manifests the diseases, therefore, epigenetics are selected as the potential targets for therapeutic strategies for the treatment of both diseases. It is well known that histone deacetylases (HDACs) form a protein complex, remove acetyl groups (O=C-CH3) from a ε -N-acetyl lysine amino acid on histone, and inhibit transcription, thereby regulating several gene expressions [40]. An increase in level of many HDAC isoenzymes has been found in different types of malignancies [41]. Particularly, HDAC1 mRNA levels have been found to be increased in NSCLC at stage III or IV [42]. Altered form of this HDAC multi-protein complex has also been observed in NSCLC such as mSin3A, a corepressor of this complex, and has been downregulated in NSCLC [43]. Therefore, HDAC inhibitors are part of a new therapeutic strategy in NSCLC which acts by blocking the suppression of tumour suppressor genes as well as antioxidant genes induced by HDACs [44].

Chronic inflammation is very actively associated with diverse type of cancer [45]. Pro-inflammatory signalling pathways have robust impact in NSCLC via oxidative stress responses [46] and NF κ B has been found as a critical mediator of pro-inflammatory cascade in this scenario [47]. It has been found that oxidative stress and TNF- α both stimulate histone acetyltransferase (HAT) activity resulting in an increase in histone acetylation in a lung cancer cell line model. The increased histone acetylation further induces DNA binding of NF- κ B leading to elevation of pro-inflammatory IL-8 levels [48]. Therefore, the activation of lysine acetyltransferases triggers NF- κ B DNA binding where lysine acetyltransferases, the coactivators, act as key regulators in NF- κ B-driven gene expression [49–51], and thus, oxidative stress induces an increase in the expression of pro-inflammatory genes such as IL-8 and IL-6 via associations of RelA/p65 and KAT3A, KAT3B subunit or p50 and



Fig. 19.2 Diagrammatic presentation of lung carcinogenesis mediated by reactive species that are induced by cigarette smoking and of chemotherapy mediated by biologically active small molecule

KAT13A leading to inflammation which may induce development of lung cancer [52–55]. As a consequence, two main epigenetic therapeutic strategies are available for the treatment of NSCLC – one is via targeting DNA methylation through DNA methyltransferase inhibitors (DNMTi) and the other by histone acetylation via HDAC inhibitors. In line with this, the expressions of critical genes in NSCLC have been found downregulated after the use of DNMTi [56–60]. Figure 19.2 depicts a schematic representation of how CS initiates production of ROS that induces an increase in the level of pro-inflammatory molecules stimulating lung cancer cell growth and finally leading to progression of lung cancer.

19.5 Current Therapeutic Option for Lung Cancer

Recently, very specific targeted therapies are developed for the betterment of lung cancer. With the breakthrough in molecular biology and immunotherapy, these current developments have got attention because of their more efficient and specific treatment in lung cancer patients. But, the leading challenge to be considered as a goal is to investigate the therapeutic resistance mechanisms which develop within a year after the onset of therapy and need urgent attention and further elucidation.
Surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, immunotherapy and targeted therapy are the major therapeutic strategy for the treatment of lung cancer currently. In this following section, we will provide a brief discussion about the therapies in lung cancer and how oxidative stress is related to these treatment therapies are described.

19.6 Chemotherapies

Chemotherapy is one of the cancer treatments that use drugs to abolish cancer cells and it is well known as 'chemo' also. These chemotherapeutic drugs target cells that grow and divide faster, like cancer cells. Unlike radiation or surgery, which is specific to target areas, chemo can work throughout the body; however the most disadvantageous part of chemotherapy is its nonspecific nature because it can also affect some fast-growing healthy cells, like skin, hair and bone marrow, and mostly shows side effects due to the treatment. The main functions of chemotherapeutic drugs are (1) to destroy cancer cells, (2) to stop spreading of cancer cells and (3) to slow the growth of cancer cells. Chemotherapy can be given alone, or to improve the outcome of the treatment, it is given in a combination with other treatments.

Chemotherapies function in patients during their treatment cycle by producing oxidative stress. Oxidative stress production was found noticeably during chemotherapy application and it was evident by the increase of the level of lipid peroxidation; the significant reduction of tissue glutathione (GSH) levels; decrease of antioxidants level such as β -carotene, vitamin C and vitamin E in plasma; and the decrease of the level of total radical-trapping capacity of blood plasma that occurs during chemotherapy [61–63]. Finally, chemotherapy treatment generates nuclear DNA adducts, which leads to cell death because of the blockage of DNA replication and transcription [64]. Agents that are well known to produce high levels of ROS include platin-based drugs (e.g. carboplatin, cisplatin), anthracycline drugs (e.g. epirubicin, doxorubicin and daunorubicin), alkylating agents, camptothecin drugs (e.g. irinotecan and topotecan) and epipodophyllotoxins (e.g. etoposide and teniposide), which are mentioned in Table 19.1. Till date the anthracyclines and taxanes,

Table 19.1	Chemotherapeutic
drugs used i	n NSCLC patients

Generic name	Brand
Carboplatin	-
Cisplatin	Platinol
Docetaxel	Taxotere
Etoposide; etoposide	Etopophos
phosphate	
Gemcitabine hydrochloride	Gemzar
Paclitaxel	Taxol
Paclitaxel, albumin bound	Abraxane
Pemetrexed	Almita
Vinablastine sulphate	-
Vinorelbine tartrate	Navelbine

for example, docetaxel, or vinca alkaloids, for example, vincristine, are known to generate the highest and lowest levels of oxidative stress, respectively. However, the mode of action of all of these drugs acts in the same manner by producing ROS leading to apoptosis of the cancer cells. The potential mechanism for these chemo-therapeutic drug-induced apoptosis involves the release of cytochrome-c from mito-chondria and simultaneously electrons are moved from the electron transport chain (ETS) to oxygen by NADH dehydrogenase and reduced coenzyme Q10 and subsequently formation of superoxide radicals [65].

Since most of the chemotherapeutic drugs used in cancer therapy cause oxidative stress, it is good to reduce the level of oxidative stress by applying antioxidants which may improve the efficacy of the treatment because the anticancer drugs would kill normal cells along with cancer cells. Thus, many antioxidants are used with the chemotherapeutic drugs to prevent chemotherapy-induced side effects (e.g. glutathione is used for cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity and coenzyme Q10 is used for anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity).

Therefore, even though these chemotherapeutic drugs are effective, however new approaches are obligatory to minimize the side effects and enhance their efficacy. Also, new combination approaches should be explored with targeted therapies to attain maximum clinical benefit.

19.7 Targeted Therapy

Targeted therapy, as the name suggests, works on specific targets that play a major role in tumour cell proliferation. Potential targets of such therapies are mostly oncogenes which have undergone genetic alteration mostly with potential driver mutation leading to tumour growth. In NSCLC the most common oncogenic driver gene alterations include EGFR, ALK, ROS1 and BRAF and RET rearrangement. Targeted therapy is often different from chemotherapy because in chemotherapy, the effect is more global on the cells due to which the normal cells are also affected, whereas in targeted therapy the off-target effect is less and the tumour cell killing is more with fewer side effects on healthy cells. Monoclonal antibodies, tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) and immunotherapies, which are more common, are extensively used as a targeted cancer therapy in the past recent years. However, these targeted therapeutic compounds are shown often less specific and show deadly antagonistic effects. Thus, combination of these therapies is more common in a clinical trial experiment nowadays [66]. During the initial period when the idea of targeted therapies was first developed, these were accepted as promising magic bullets with single targets [67, 68]; later on their off-target effects and development of drug resistance mutation on the gene led us to focus on the different mechanisms of action of these targeted therapies. ROS has been found to play a substantial role in producing such off-target effects during targeted therapies. Currently, there are nearly 15 approved TKIs for the treatment of NSCLC and the list is expanding rapidly (Table 19.2).

Table 19.2 Small molecule	Target name	Generic name	Brand name
inhibitors and mAb used in	EGFR	Erlotinib hydrochloride	Tarceva
NSCLC patients	EGFR	Gefitinib	Iressa
	EGFR	Osimertinib	Tagrisso
	EGFR and HER2	Afatinib	Gilotrif
	ALK	Brigatinib	Alunbrig
	ALK	Ceritinib	Zykadia
	ALK	Alectinib	Alecensa
	BRAF V600E	Dabrafenib	Tafinlar
	BRAF V600E	Vemurafenib	Zelboraf
	MEK1 and MEK2	Trametinib	Mekinist
	RET	Vandetanib	Caprelsa
	EGFR	Cetuximab	Erbitux
	HER2	Ado-trastuzumab	Kadcyla
	VEGF	Bevacizumab	Avastin
	VEGF	Ramucirumab	Cyramza

19.8 Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors (TKIs) as Targeted Therapy

Gefitinib was approved as the first TKI selectively for EGFR to treat NSCLC. EGFR mutations, the major mutation in lung adenocarcinoma, have been in Asia (approx. 40-50%) and in Western countries (approx. 10-15%). The most common mutations are exon 19 deletions (account for approx. 45% mutation) and L858R point mutation in exon 21 (account for approx. 40–50%) in EGFR-mutated lung cancer, while G719X and S768I are found in exon 18 and exon 20, respectively, and only <10% of cases of mutation is shown in exon 20 insertion. All of these mutations in EGFR make EGFR overexpress and this constitutively active EGFR leads to overactivation of the anti-apoptotic Ras signalling cascade, finally leading to uncontrolled cell growth. The mechanism of action of TKIs is to bind to the mutated active ATPbinding site of EGFR leading to the inhibition of RAS signalling cascade and thus activates many pro-apoptotic pathways and consequently causes tumour cell death [69]. However, regardless the vivid response to these EGFR-targeted TKIs, most of the patients have been shown to develop acquired resistance to these drugs. In a recent publication, gefitinib has been found to produce oxidative stress in a dosedependent manner. It has also been found that this increased oxidative stress induces epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and cardiotoxicity [70, 71]. However, another study suggested that Prx II mRNA as well as protein level has been increased via demethylation of the Prx II gene in a gefitinib-resistant A549 cells in comparison to gefitinib-sensitive A549 cell line, and as a result, ROS level went down leading to inhibition of apoptosis and induction of cell progression and subsequently increase colony formation [72]. Thus, Prx II appeared as a potential target for overcoming gefitinib resistance and theoretically this could also be applied to other EGFR-targeted TKIs. Erlotinib was also added to the list of TKIs as EGFR-targeted therapy later after approval of gefitinib. In line with the cytotoxic effects of other EGFR-targeted TKIs, erlotinib also shows cytotoxicity through the generation of oxidative stress while using it to treat many types of cancer, and after a certain time period, the patients become resistant to that drug [73]. Afatinib is another TKI targeted to EGFR and used in less, but chronic oxidative stress has also been found to be associated with the development of afatinib resistance as well [74]. The mechanisms of resistance to TKIs can be broadly divided into two categories: first, intrinsic resistance, and second, secondary EGFR mutations (e.g. T790M mutation). Osimertinib (OSI), also known as AZD9291, is a third-generation TKI targeted to EGFR that has been approved for the treatment for the patients harbouring T790M mutation. Lu et al. [75] have shown that treatment of OSI induces accumulations of cytoplasmic vacuoles and increase the expression of phosphatidylethanolaminemodified microtubule-associated protein light-chain 3 (LC3-II) and the formation of GFP-LC3 puncta in various cancer cells. It has been clearly shown in their study that OSI increased ROS generation accompanied by autophagy which causes decrease in cell viability and induced apoptosis in NSCLC cells. Currently, there are nearly 15 approved TKIs for the treatment of NSCLC and the list is expanding rapidly (Table 19.2).

19.9 Monoclonal Antibodies as Targeted Therapy

Monoclonal antibody-based therapy of cancer has been established as one of the most effective targeted therapeutic strategies in the last two decades. Initially, combination of serological techniques for the discovery of receptor proteins on cancer cell surface and hybridoma technology for the generation of antibodies led to a series of landmark clinical trials and subsequent clinical successes. Optimization of antitumour immune responses through Fc modifications also put a major contribution to clinical efficacy. The modification of the complex interplay between immune system and tumour cell environment through targeting of T-cell receptors has been developed as a powerful new therapeutic approach for cancer therapy.

Bevacizumab is a recombinant, humanized monoclonal antibody (mAb) that targets vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), leading to inhibition of ligand binding to VEGF receptor (VEGFR), and finally blocks neoangiogenesis and vascular leakiness.

This mAb is used mainly for the treatment of colorectal cancer (CRC) and NSCLC. The mode of action of this antibody is to produce hypoxia condition in tumour cell. Many antioxidants such as L-cysteine, l-cystathionine and GSH levels were decreased during the treatment of this mAb indicating an increase of oxidative stress levels. In a report with retinal cells, it was implicated that exposure of H_2O_2 and bevacizumab to the cells decreased bcl-2 mRNA and protein level and subsequently caused apoptosis with dose-dependent increase of bevacizumab, suggesting that oxidative stress enhances the effect of bevacizumab on apoptosis [76].

Cetuximab is a recombinant monoclonal antibody designed to target specifically EGFR. US FDA approved cetuximab for the treatment of HNSCC, CRC and NSCLC. In NSCLC, EGFR mutation is second most abundant with ~25% among the total NSCLC patient pool. In addition to MAPK signalling pathway blocking, EGFR inhibition opened up additional mechanisms that affect cell survival and reveal a new way of NSCLC treatment. Lu et al. recently published a paper describing how cetuximab has an effect on the downregulation of glutamine transport protein-mediated complex in the cell cytoplasmic membrane [77]. It has also been reported that oridonin and cetuximab combination therapy suppressed phosphorylation of EGFR leading to an increase of ROS and apoptosis in laryngeal carcinoma cells [78].

19.10 Other Small Molecules as a Targeted Therapy

Vemurafenib was discovered as the first BRAF inhibitor that is used for the treatment metastatic melanoma. The mode of action of vemurafenib is to target the most common genetic alteration in melanomas, BRAF V600E. By binding to BRAF, vemurafenib inhibits the signalling cascade RAS/MEK/ERK and subsequently reduces cell proliferation leading to inhibition of tumour growth. Additionally, vemurafenib induces NO[•] and O₂^{•–} production and depolarization of mitochondrial membranes in BRAF V600E-mutated melanoma cells leading to apoptosis and growth inhibition [79]. Although most of the studies are published in melanoma, vemurafenib has also shown a good survival in some NSCLC patient pool.

19.11 Immunotherapies

Immunotherapy is also referred to as biologic therapy or biotherapy. It is an area of cancer treatment that stimulates the inherent ability of our immune system to attack tumour cells. Scientists in the field of cancer research believe that immunotherapy can enhance the efficacy of drug treatments and reduce or eliminate the devastating adverse drug side effects that often come with traditional chemotherapy. A variety of strategies are continuing to evolve in the laboratory and in the clinic and include cytokines, cancer vaccines and, most notably, certain monoclonal antibodies identified as checkpoint inhibitors. Immunotherapy is the most successful and challenging cancer therapy used nowadays to combat with cancer, and US researcher James Allison and Japanese researcher Tasuku Honjo have won the 2018 Nobel Prize for Physiology or Medicine for their breakthrough work on modulating the immune system for the battle against cancer. In connection with oxidative stress to immunotherapy, one of the recent studies observed using uncouplers as ROS generators with immunotherapy have synergistic effects with inhibition of PD-1 and subsequently blocking of tumour growth. The mechanism was assumed to be the generation of hypoxia by the synergistic effect of the uncoupler with chemotherapy [80, 81]because using of uncoupler alone did not show any significant effect on the growth or gene expression of tumour cells. The drugs used as immunotherapy in NSCLC are described in Table 19.3.

Table 19.3 Drugs used asimmunotherapy in NSCLC

Туре	Generic name	Brand
PD-L1	Atezolizumab	Tecentriq
inhibitor		
PD-L1	Durvalumab	Imfinzi
inhibitor		
PD-1 inhibitor	Nivolumab	Opdivo
PD-1 inhibitor	Pembrolizumab	Keytruda

19.12 Conclusion and Future Direction

Inflammation is accepted increasingly as an important factor involved in the development of various types of cancer including lung and also a vital mediator in response to therapy. A critical interaction between immune cells and tumour cells as well as other stromal cell types and tissue components is shown in the NSCLC microenvironment. ROS or RNS generation is crucial for the regulation of normal cell metabolism and is essential for many important events for the development of the organism. In contrary, overproduction of ROS and RNS is toxic for cells and presumably stimulates chronic inflammatory conditions and thus contributes to the progression of lung cancer. Therefore, a well and apparent discussion how ROS or RNS play role in the development of lung cancer may reveal new mechanisms associated with lung cancer and open possibilities to design new therapeutic strategies for the prevention of lung cancer.

Leading a healthy and proper lifestyle is considered to be an indispensable factor to overcome the difficulties of treatment for many diseases and may extend the lifespan of patients diagnosed with several life-threatening diseases such as cardiovascular disorder and cancer. Nowadays a regular physical exercise routine is advised as a crucial factor for good and healthy act of living. A well-planned and moderate physical exercise has often been prescribed in addition to medicine for adult as well as elderly people. Regular exercise compensates the adverse effects resulted by free radicals and brings many health benefits, including reduced risk of all-cause mortality and death in elderly people. Although, there is a debate that physical exercise also induces oxidative stress and inflammation. Moreover, significant increase of ROS level has been found during physical exercise that cause damage to the cell membranes and show harmful effects on skeletal muscle performance. A progressive and persistent physical activity enhances detoxification of a large amount of ROS of body cells, and this has been recommended for both in adult and elderly people to keep them safe from oxidative damage and prevent from agerelated disorders. Several studies have been performed to identify natural compounds and micronutrients that are capable of preventing or attenuating the exercise-induced oxidative stress and inflammation. Many types of natural compounds individually or in a mixture, which act as exogenous antioxidants, are usually provided within the diet to boost our endogenous antioxidant systems, and they

are used as important ergogenic factors to increase the strength in physical exercise, both in young and elder population.

There is enormous number of evidences suggesting exercise can help in a different way for improvement of lung cancer patients. Exercise can be effective for patients at any stage of lung cancer as it increases strength and endurance and decreases emotional issues. A recovery fitness program is prescribed for lung cancer patients, which provides guidance on breathing, stretching, aerobic exercise and strength training. Therefore, a regular progressive physical exercise with healthy lifestyle can be a good option to keep ourselves safer from lung cancer.

References

- 1. Burton GJ, Jauniaux E (2011) Oxidative stress. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 25:287–299
- Simic MG, Bergtold DS, Karam LR (1989) Generation of oxy radicals in biosystems. Mutat Res 214:3–12
- Ohe Y (2004) Chemoradiotherapy for lung cancer: current status and perspectives. Int J Clin Oncol 9:435–443
- Stupp R, Monnerat C, Turrisi AT III, Perry MC, Leyvraz S (2004) Small cell lung cancer: state of the art and future perspectives. Lung Cancer 45:105–117
- 5. Murray N, Turrisi AT III (2006) A review of first-line treatment for small-cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 1:270–278
- 6. Kurup A, Hanna NH (2004) Treatment of small cell lung cancer. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 52:117–126
- 7. Look MP, Musch E (1994) Lipid peroxides in the polychemotherapy of cancer patients. Chemotherapy 40:8–15
- Faure H, Coudray C, Mousseau M, Ducros V, Douki T, Bianchini F, Cadet J, Favier A (1996)
 5-Hydroxymethyluracil excretion, plasma TBARS and plasma antioxidant vitamins in Adriamycin-treated patients. Free Radic Biol Med 20:979–983
- DeAtley SM, Aksenov MY, Aksenova MV, Carney JM, Butterfield DA (1998) Adriamycin induces protein oxidation in erythrocyte membranes. Pharmacol Toxicol 83:62–68
- Erhola M, Kellokumpu-Lehtinen P, Metsa-Ketela T, Alanko K, Nieminen MM (1996) Effects of anthracycline-based chemotherapy on total plasma antioxidant capacity in small cell lung cancer patients. Free Radic Biol Med 21:383–390
- 11. Dürken M, Herrnring C, Finckh B, Nagel S, Nielsen P, Fischer R, Berger HM, Moison RM, Pichlmeier U, Kohlschütter B, Zander AR, Kohlschütter A (2000) Impaired plasma antioxidativedefense and increased nontransferrin-bound iron during high-dose chemotherapy and radiochemotherapy preceding bone marrow transplantation. Free Radic Biol Med 28:887–894
- Kaya E, Keskin L, Aydogdu I, Kuku I, Bayraktar N, Erkut MA (2005) Oxidant/antioxidant parameters and their relationship with chemotherapy in Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Int Med Res 33:687–692
- Ji C, Rouzer CA, Marnett LJ, Pietenpol JA (1998) Induction of cell cycle arrest by the endogenous product of lipid peroxidation, malondialdehyde. Carcinogenesis 19:1275–1283
- Schønberg SA, Rudra PK, Nøding R, Skorpen F, Bjerve KS, Krokan HE (1997) Evidence that changes in Se-glutathione peroxidase levels affect the sensitivity of human tumour cell lines to n-3 fatty acids. Carcinogenesis 18:1897–1904
- Iwasaki M, Ogawa J, Inoue H, Kijima H, Watanabe K (1998) Immunohistochemical properties of lipid peroxidation and prognosis in adenocarcinoma of the lung. J Cardiovasc Surg 39:233–236

- 16. Barrera G (2012) Oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation products in cancer progression and therapy. ISRN Oncol 2012:137289
- Sugihara K, Nakano S, Gemba M (1987) Effect of cisplatin on in vitro production of lipid peroxides in rat kidney cortex. J Pharmacol 44:71–76
- Conklin KA (2004) Chemotherapy-associated oxidative stress: impact on chemotherapeutic effectiveness. Integr Cancer Ther 3:294–300
- Sangeetha P, Das UN, Koratkar R, Suryaprabha P (1990) Increase in free radical generation and lipid peroxidation following chemotherapy in patients with cancer. Free Radic Biol Med 8:15–19
- Nowak D, Janczak M (2006) Effect of chemotherapy on serum end-products of lipid peroxidation in patients with small cell lung cancer: association with treatment results. Respir Med 100:157–166
- Pryor WA (1997) Cigarette smoke radicals and the role of free radicals in chemical carcinogenicity. Environ Health Perspect 4:875–882
- Rahman I, MacNee W (1999) Lung glutathione and oxidative stress: implications in cigarette smoke-induced airway disease. Am J Phys 277:1067–1088
- Federico A, Morgillo F, Tuccillo C, Ciardiello F, Loguercio C (2007) Chronic inflammation and oxidative stress in human carcinogenesis. Int J Cancer 121:23816
- 24. Herrera B, Alvarez AM, Sánchez A, Fernández M, Roncero C, Benito M, Fabregat I (2001) Reactive oxygen species (ROS) mediates the mitochondrial-dependent apoptosis induced by transforming growth factor (beta) in fetal hepatocytes. FASEB 15:741–751
- Sihvo EI, Ruohtula T, Auvinen MI, Koivistoinen A, Harjula AL, Salo JA (2003) Simultaneous progression of oxidative stress and angiogenesis in malignant transformation of Barrett esophagus. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 126:1952–1957
- Kinnula VL, Crapo JD, Raivio KO (1995) Generation and disposal of reactive oxygen metabolites in the lung. Lab Investig 73:3–19
- 27. Klebanoff SJ (2005) Myeloperoxidase: friend and foe. J Leukoc Biol 77:598-625
- Andelid K, Bake B, Rak S, Lindén A, Rosengren A, Ekberg-Jansson A (2007) Myeloperoxidase as a marker of increasing systemic inflammation in smokers without severe airway symptoms. Respir Med 101:888–895
- Bedard K, Krause KH (2007) The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev 87:245–313
- van der Vliet A (2008) NADPH oxidases in lung biology and pathology: host defense enzymes, and more. Free Radic Biol Med 44:938–955
- Kinnula VL, Crapo JD (2004) Superoxide dismutases in malignant cells and human tumors. Free Radic Biol Med 36:718–744
- 32. Masri FA, Comhair SA, Koeck T, Xu W, Janocha A, Ghosh S, Dweik RA, Golish J, Kinter M, Stuehr DJ, Erzurum SC, Aulak KS (2005) Abnormalities in nitric oxide and its derivatives in lung cancer. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172:597–605
- 33. Kumar B, Koul S, Khandrika L, Meacham RB, Koul HK (2008) Oxidative stress is inherent in prostate cancer cells and is required for aggressive phenotype. Cancer Res 68:1777–1785
- 34. Laurent E, McCoy JW 3rd, Macina RA, Liu W, Cheng G, Robine S, Papkoff J, Lambeth JD (2008) Nox1 is over-expressed in human colon cancers and correlates with activating mutations in K-Ras. Int J Cancer 123:100–107
- 35. Kometani T, Yoshino I, Miura N, Okazaki H, Ohba T, Takenaka T, Shoji F, Yano T, Maehara Y (2009) Benzo[a]pyrene promotes proliferation of human lung cancer cells by accelerating the epidermal growth factor receptor signaling pathway. Cancer Lett 278:27–33
- 36. Khan EM, Lanir R, Danielson AR et al (2008) Epidermal growth factor receptor exposed to cigarette smoke is aberrantly activated and undergoes perinuclear trafficking. FASEB J 22:910–917
- Barlési F, Giaccone G, Gallegos-Ruiz MI, Loundou A, Span SW, Lefesvre P, Kruyt FA, Rodriguez JA (2007) Global histone modifications predict prognosis of resected non-smallcell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 25:4358–4364

- Van Den Broeck A, Brambilla E, Moro-Sibilot D, Lantuejoul S, Brambilla C, Eymin B, Khochbin S, Gazzeri S (2008) Loss of histone H4K20 trimethylation occurs in preneoplasia and influences prognosis of non-small cell lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res 14:7237–7245
- Ciencewicki J, Trivedi S, Kleeberger SR (2008) Oxidants and the pathogenesis of lung diseases. J Allergy Clin Immunol 122:456–468
- 40. Sasaki H, Moriyama S, Nakashima Y, Kobayashi Y, Kiriyama M, Fukai I, Yamakawa Y, Fujii Y (2004) Histone deacetylase 1 mRNA expression in lung cancer. Lung Cancer 46:171–178
- Yoo CB, Jones PA (2006) Epigenetic therapy of cancer: past, present and future. Nat Rev Drug Discov 5:37–50
- 42. Yang XJ, Seto E (2008) The Rpd3/Hda1 family of lysine deacetylases: from bacteria and yeast to mice and men. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 9:206–218
- 43. Suzuki H, Ouchida M, Yamamoto H, Yano M, Toyooka S, Aoe M, Shimizu N, Date H, Shimizu K (2008) Decreased expression of the SIN3A gene, a candidate tumor suppressor located at the prevalent allelic loss region 15q23 in non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 59:24–31
- 44. Damaskos C, Tomos I, Garmpis N, Karakatsani A, Dimitroulis D, Garmpi A, Spartalis E, Kampolis CF, Tsagkari E, Loukeri AA, Margonis GA, Spartalis M, Andreatos N, Schizas D, Kokkineli S, Antoniou EA, Nonni A, Tsourouflis G, Markatos K, Kontzoglou K, Kostakis A, Tomos P (2018) Histone deacetylase inhibitors as a novel targeted therapy against non-small cell lung cancer: where are we now and what should we expect? Anticancer Res 38:37–43
- Hussain SP, Harris CC (2007) Inflammation and cancer: an ancient link with novel potentials. Int J Cancer 121:2373–2380
- 46. Azad N, Rojanasakul Y, Vallyathan V (2008) Inflammation and lung cancer: roles of reactive oxygen/nitrogen species. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev 11:1–15
- Naugler WE, Karin M (2008) NF-kappaB and cancer-identifying targets and mechanisms. Curr Opin Genet Dev 18:19–26
- Rahman I, Gilmour PS, Jimenez LA, MacNee W (2002) Oxidative stress and TNF-alpha induce histone acetylation and NF-kappaB/AP-1 activation in alveolar epithelial cells: potential mechanism in gene transcription in lung inflammation. Mol Cell Biochem 234–235:239–248
- Gerritsen ME, Williams AJ, Neish AS, Moore S, Shi Y, Collins T (1997) CREB-binding protein/p300 are transcriptional coactivators of p65. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:2927–2932
- Perkins ND, Felzien LK, Betts JC, Leung K, Beach DH, Nabel GJ (1997) Regulation of NF-kappaB by cyclin-dependent kinases associated with the p300 coactivator. Science 275:523–527
- Wadgaonkar R, Phelps KM, Haque Z, Williams AJ, Silverman ES, Collins T (1999) CREBbinding protein is a nuclear integrator of nuclear factor-kappaB and p53 signaling. J Biol Chem 274:1879–1882
- 52. Vanden Berghe W, De Bosscher K, Boone E, Plaisance S, Haegeman G (1999) The nuclear factor-kappaB engages CBP/p300 and histone acetyltransferase activity for transcriptional activation of the interleukin-6 gene promoter. J Biol Chem 274:32091–32098
- Bartling TR, Drumm ML (2009) Oxidative stress causes IL8 promoter hyperacetylation in cystic fibrosis airway cell models. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 40:58–65
- 54. Rajendrasozhan S, Yang SR, Edirisinghe I, Yao H, Adenuga D, Rahman I (2008) Deacetylases and NF-kappaB in redox regulation of cigarette smoke-induced lung inflammation: epigenetics in pathogenesis of COPD. Antioxid Redox Signal 10:799–811
- 55. Na SY, Lee SK, Han SJ, Choi HS, Im SY, Lee JW (1998) Steroid receptor coactivator-1 interacts with the p50 subunit and coactivates nuclear factor kappaB-mediated transactivations. J Biol Chem 273:10831–10834
- 56. Chen Y, Pacyna-Gengelbach M, Ye F, Knösel T, Lund P, Deutschmann N, Schlüns K, Kotb WF, Sers C, Yasumoto H, Usui T, Petersen I (2007) Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-related protein 1 (IGFBP-rP1) has potential tumour-suppressive activity in human lung cancer. J Pathol 211:431–438

- 57. Shames DS, Girard L, Gao B, Sato M, Lewis CM, Shivapurkar N, Jiang A, Perou CM, Kim YH, Pollack JR, Fong KM, Lam CL, Wong M, Shyr Y, Nanda R, Olopade OI, Gerald W, Euhus DM, Shay JW, Gazdar AF, Minna JD (2006) A genome-wide screen for promoter methylation in lung cancer identifies novel methylation markers for multiple malignancies. PLoS Med 3:e486
- Chang HC, Cho CY, Hung WC (2007) Downregulation of RECK by promoter methylation correlates with lymph node metastasis in non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Sci 98:169–173
- Chen H, Suzuki M, Nakamura Y, Ohira M, Ando S, Iida T, Nakajima T, Nakagawara A, Kimura H (2006) Aberrant methylation of RASGRF2 and RASSF1A in human non-small cell lung cancer. Oncol Rep 15:1281–1285
- 60. Smith LT, Lin M, Brena RM, Lang JC, Schuller DE, Otterson GA, Morrison CD, Smiraglia DJ, Plass C (2006) Epigenetic regulation of the tumor suppressor gene TCF21 on 6q23-q24 in lung and head and neck cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:982–987
- 61. Faber M, Coudray C, Hida H, Mousseau M, Favier A (1995) Lipid peroxidation products, and vitamin and trace element status in patients with cancer before and after chemotherapy including Adriamycin: a preliminary study. Biol Trace Elem Res 47:117–123
- 62. Clemens MR, Ladner C, Ehninger G, Einsele H, Renn W, Bühler E, Waller HD, Gey KF (1990) Plasma vitamin E and beta-carotene concentrations during radiochemotherapy preceding bone marrow transplantation. Am J Clin Nutr 51:216–219
- Ladner C, Ehninger G, Gey KF, Clemens MR (1989) Effect of etoposide (VP16-213) on lipid peroxidation and antioxidant status in a high-dose radiochemotherapy regimen. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 25:210–212
- 64. Marullo R, Werner E, Degtyareva N, Moore B, Altavilla G, Ramalingam SS, Doetsch PW (2013) Cisplatin induces a mitochondrial-ROS response that contributes to cytotoxicity depending on mitochondrial redox status and bioenergetic functions. PLoS One 8:e81162
- 65. Kaufmann SH, Earnshaw WC (2000) Induction of apoptosis by cancer chemotherapy. Exp Cell Res 256:42–49
- 66. Gharwan H, Groninger H (2016) Kinase inhibitors and monoclonal antibodies in oncology: clinical implications. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 13:209–227
- 67. Raso V (1990) Antibodies in diagnosis and therapy. The magic bullet—nearing the century mark. Semin Cancer Biol 1:227–242
- Dimitrov DS, Marks JD (2009) Therapeutic antibodies: current state and future trends—is a paradigm change coming soon? Methods Mol Biol 525:1–27
- 69. Ni J, Zhang L (2016) Evaluation of three small molecular drugs for targeted therapy to treat nonsmall cell lung cancer. Chin Med J 129:332–340
- 70. Korashy HM, Attafi IM, Ansari MA, Assiri MA, Belali OM, Ahmad SF, Al-Alallah IA, Anazi FE, Alhaider AA (2016) Molecular mechanisms of cardiotoxicity of gefitinib in vivo and in vitro rat cardiomyocyte: role of apoptosis and oxidative stress. Toxicol Lett 252:50–61
- Okon IS, Coughlan KA, Zhang M, Wang Q, Zou MH (2015) Gefitinib-mediated reactive oxygen specie (ROS) instigates mitochondrial dysfunction and drug resistance in lung cancer cells. J Biol Chem 290:9101–9110
- 72. Kwon T, Rho JK, Lee JC, Park YH, Shin HJ, Cho S, Kang YK, Kim BY, Yoon DY, Yu DY (2015) An important role for peroxiredoxin II in survival of A549 lung cancer cells resistant to gefitinib. Exp Mol Med 47:e165
- 73. Orcutt KP, Parsons AD, Sibenaller ZA, Scarbrough PM, Zhu Y, Sobhakumari A, Wilke WW, Kalen AL, Goswami P, Miller FJ Jr, Spitz DR, Simons AL (2011) Erlotinib-mediated inhibition of EGFR signaling induces metabolic oxidative stress through NOX4. Cancer Res 71:3932–3940
- 74. Teppo HR, Soini Y, Karihtala P (2017) Reactive oxygen species-mediated mechanisms of action of targeted cancer therapy. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2017:1485283
- Tang ZH, Cao WX, Su MX, Chen X, Lu JJ (2017) Osimertinib induces autophagy and apoptosis via reactive oxygen species generation in non-small cell lung cancer cells. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 321:18–26

- 76. Kim S, Kim YJ, Kim NR, Chin HS (2015) Effects of bevacizumab on Bcl-2 expression and apoptosis in retinal pigment epithelial cells under oxidative stress. Korean J Ophthalmol 29:424–432
- 77. Lu H, Li X, Lu Y, Qiu S, Fan Z (2016) ASCT2 (SLC1A5) is an EGFR-associated protein that can be co-targeted by cetuximab to sensitize cancer cells to ROS-induced apoptosis. Cancer Lett 381:23–30
- Cao S, Xia M, Mao Y, Zhang Q, Donkor PO, Qiu F, Kang N (2016) Combined oridonin with cetuximab treatment shows synergistic anticancer effects on laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma: involvement of inhibition of EGFR and activation of reactive oxygen species-mediated JNK pathway. Int J Oncol 49:2075–2087
- 79. Yu L, Gao LX, Ma XQ, Hu FX, Li CM, Lu Z (2014) Involvement of superoxide and nitric oxide in BRAF(V600E) inhibitor PLX4032-induced growth inhibition of melanoma cells. Integr Biol (Camb) 6:1211–1217
- Friederich-Persson M, Thörn E, Hansell P, Nangaku M, Levin M, Palm F (2013) Kidney hypoxia, attributable to increased oxygen consumption, induces nephropathy independently of hyperglycemia and oxidative stress. Hypertension 62:914–919
- Rohas LM, St-Pierre J, Uldry M, Jäger S, Handschin C, Spiegelman BM (2007) A fundamental system of cellular energy homeostasis regulated by PGC-1alpha. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:7933–7938



Regulation of Oxidative Stress by Nitric Oxide Defines Lung Development and Diseases

20

Suvendu Giri, Sumukh Thakar, Syamantak Majumder, and Suvro Chatterjee

Abstract

Development and maturation of the lung airways primarily take place in two different phases: first during embryonic days and second during postnatal days. During postnatal development, rapid angiogenesis and alveolarization are necessary to attain the capacity of the lung to support the need of the baby. During lung development, alteration in ROS level may significantly compromise maturation of the alveolar structure. We have employed a unique approach to achieve alteration in ROS level in the chick embryos to ascertain ROS function in early lung development. We have used a known ROS quenching nitric oxide (NO) donor and a ROS inducer called thalidomide, a known teratogen. Using next-generation high-throughput sequencing (NGS) analysis, we have performed the transcriptomic analysis of the NO- and thalidomide-treated chick embryos. Using STRING database, we have identified a set of lung-associated developmental genes that were significantly altered upon NO and/or thalidomide treatment and thus providing evidence that interplaying with cellular ROS level could possible alter the set of genes involved in early lung development. In conclusion, the current study shed light that alteration of ROS level could modulate the expression of early genes which are required for normal lung development and maturation.

Keywords

 $\label{eq:alpha} Alveolarization \cdot Angiogenesis \cdot Lung \cdot Nitric \ oxide \cdot Reactive \ oxygen \ species \cdot Thalidomide$

S. Giri \cdot S. Chatterjee (\boxtimes)

Vascular Biology Lab, AU-KBC Research Centre and Department of Biotechnology, Anna University, Chennai, India e-mail: suvro@au-kbc.org

S. Thakar · S. Majumder (⊠) Department of Biological Sciences, Birla Institute of Technology and Science (BITS), Pilani, Rajasthan, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_20

20.1 Introduction

Lung structure and functions are incredibly interesting given the marathon task it performs through the years of one's life. Alveolar airways of the lung known as alveoli sacs are designed to have enlarged surface area to promote gas exchange between blood and inhaled air [1]. Each lung contains around 300 million alveoli, the main gas-filled air sacs, where the major gas exchange takes place. Developments of these alveoli take place in two major steps: foetal stage and postnatal stage after birth. Foetal lung development consists of three main stages: pseudoglandular, canalicular, and saccular. Bronchial tree formation along with epithelial differentiation follows the next. In contrast, postnatal lung development follows classical and continued alveolarization. The hallmark of this phase is the microvascular maturation and vascular integration with airway machinery for forming an efficient gas exchange module. Interfering with this process of lung development could severely compromise lung function that have a long-term consequence on one's life.

Several lung-associated complications like pulmonary hypertension, bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), and asthma are driven by reactive oxygen species (ROS) level. For instance, in response to vasodilators, ROS impairs the normal relaxation of pulmonary artery [2]. ROS level is also shown to play role in the remodelling of pulmonary arteries that increases the severity of pulmonary hypertension [3]. High oxidative stress resulting from environmental exposure, primarily cigarette smoking, facilitates the onset and progression of COPD [4]. The exogenous ROS generated from cigarette smoking causes oxidant/antioxidant imbalance, whereas the ROS released in the course of mitochondrial stress and inflammation may contribute to the disease progression. ROS may affect discreet biomolecules, viz., DNA and proteins of alveolar epithelial cells (AEC), thereby causing epithelial cell apoptosis [5]. In pathologies associated with early lung development as in case of BPD, generation of free radical is largely recognized as one of the major factors of damage to the airways. The link between inflammation and ROS involves the direct activation of inflammatory cells, especially granulocytes, which potentiates the inflammatory reaction during progression of BPD. Supplementation with antioxidants in preterm newborns particularly exposed to ROS who are at risk for BPD showed improved airway function and better lung health in long term [6].

In the present study, we have specially investigated into the early lung development that primarily takes place during embryonic stages. We have used thalidomide, the notorious teratogen, which causes a wide range of morphological and developmental errors in foetus including lung development. Thalidomide interferes with different signalling pathways related to embryonic development. However, it globally exerts oxidative stress in the embryo [7]. We have used thalidomide to exert oxidative stress in the chicken embryo and used nitric oxide (NO), which is known for its superoxide quenching property, to reduce the propensity of oxidative stress in the developing lung. We investigated the modulation of genes, which are closely linked to lung development in the early phase of life. We demonstrated that thalidomide-mediated ROS modulation leads to drastic changes in the expression of lung-associated developmental genes that could likely abrogate normal lung maturation.

20.2 Background

20.2.1 Stages in Lung Development

In broader context, the lung development can be divided into two major stages: organogenesis that takes place during the stages of foetal lung development followed by differentiation that takes place during rest of the stages of the foetus as well as during postnatal lung development. During organogenesis formation of major airways and bronchial tree along with the birth of acinus occurs, while in next stage differentiation and formation of mature lung epithelial cells (both type I and type II) along with formation of air-blood barrier and expansion of the airspaces take place. Cellular differentiation to organize more alveolar and microvascular structures continue through the postnatal stages of lung development. The developments complete by three months after birth however possible continue up to two years to adulthood. The phases of lung development are primarily based on the morphological criteria as depicted (Fig. 20.1 [1, 8]).



Fig. 20.1 Stages of lung airways and arteries development

20.2.2 Late Development of Lung

Increased luminal pressure and attraction of septa towards chemoattractant signals are critical to regulate late lung development. At birth, it can be attributed to the large increase in pulmonary recoil pressure resulting from the creation of an airliquid interface and associated intrapulmonary surface forces [9]. The ability of the lung to increase its intra-alveolar area after partial pneumonectomy showed that this requires the presence of a mechanical force as it was increased after higher inspiratory efforts seen by an increase in the intraplueral pressure of the healthy lung [10]. Earlier studies in foetal sheep and postnatal lambs show that relative to the lungs of postnatal lambs, those of the late-gestation foetus are highly distended [11]. At birth, when an air-liquid interface is created within the lung, the lung partially recoils because of increased intrapulmonary surface forces, lowering lung capacity and creating a more subambient intrapleural pressure [12]. During the latter one half of gestation in foetal sheep, the lung luminal volume increased progressively which can be attributed to a large increase in pulmonary recoil pressure due to an increase in the expiratory pressure after birth so as to increase the surface area and help in the formation of an air-liquid interface. Rhythmic stretch of 10%, 0.8 Hz given to foetal sheep lungs for a period of 24-48 h increased the proliferation of type II AEC and also stimulated the incorporation of choline into intracellular phospholipids and increased adenosine 3',5'-cyclic monophosphate levels [13].

20.2.3 Contribution of Reactive Oxygen Species in Lung Development

ROS is generated in the developing lung from sources which act as the first line of defence to counter infection, viz. alveolar macrophages and phagocyting cells. Alike neutrophils, superoxide generated by the membrane NADPH oxidase forms the prime source of ROS [14]. Alveolar macrophages are the major source of ROS physiologic conditions. Inflammatory cytokines enticed peripheral under monocytes-macrophages that cause a substantial damage to alveolar sacs leading to pulmonary diseases. Recently, it has been shown that after invigorating and differentiating these cells into macrophages, they become capable of producing superoxide by xanthine oxide reductase (XOR) that plays a significant role in acute lung injury (as opposed to invading neutrophils, where XOR is silent) [15]. The presence of mast cells in the lungs is rather conjectural. However, there are irrefutable findings which prove their ability to generate ROS. Type II pneumocytes with their dynamic metabolism yield surfactants and form a part of alveolar epithelium. These cuboidal cells are shown to function as precursor cells for type I pneumocytes in the case of increased destruction of alveolar epithelial cells [16]. Recent studies show that even type II epithelial cells possess enzymatic properties for production of ROS and modulation of these properties may lead to pathologies such as associated with asthma or COPD. Superoxide reacts rapidly with NO and forms peroxynitrite (ONOO), thus attenuating NO-mediated vasodilation and inactivating other

enzymatic pathways by the generation of nitrotyrosine [4]. Exposure to hyperoxia was also found to result in decreased angiogenesis, affecting VEGF transduction through ROS, suggesting that ROS generation affected preterm individuals. ROS was further found to induce vasoconstriction in pulmonary hypertensive foetal lamb lungs via signalling of NF-kB and activation of Nox 4 suggesting a role in early lung pathogenesis [17]. eNOS protein levels were also found to be decreased at such circumstances. Long-term oxygen therapy is given to premature infants with BPD, but exposure of the immature lung to elevated levels of oxygen may have adverse effects on lung development due to abnormal VEGF signalling and low eNOS levels and PH [18, 19]. Regarding ROS generation itself in the foetal lung during alveorization will help one to understand the signalling mechanisms behind it.

20.2.4 Sources Aiding in ROS Generation

NADPH oxidases, a class of membrane proteins, transfer electrons from NADPH to molecular oxygen, thereby producing superoxide intracellularly or extracellularly. Seven of them have been identified, with Nox1, Nox2, and Nox4 being important for mediating gene expression in vascular cells. Nox1 is expressed in vascular smooth muscle, endothelium, and adventitia and is circumscribed to plasma membrane, caveolae, and endosomes. Overexpression of Nox1 in vascular smooth muscle was found to increase ROS levels, causing eNOS uncoupling due to formation of BH2 and decreasing NO bioavailability and injuring the lung [20]. Mouse lung cell lines showed an increase in Nox1 expression on a 72-h exposure to hyperoxia. Similar effects being seen in mice affected with pulmonary hypertension suggest that Nox1 may pathologically engage in degeneration of alveolar foetal lung [21, 22]. In contrast, Nox2 is expressed in cells constituting the vasculature and also in the phagocytic cells. However, the isoform is activated by pathways very similar to Nox1. This requires the congregation of various protein subunits, including p22phox, p47phox, p67phox, and Rac. Nox2 when present on plasma membrane inhibits NO signalling by secreting superoxide into the extracellular space. In lamb lungs, increased ROS produced by Nox2 expression was found to alter vascular responses leading to vasoconstriction during neonatal pulmonary hypertension. Nox4 is expressed more copiously in vascular cells than Nox1 and Nox2 and localizes to the mitochondria, endoplasmic reticulum, and nucleus. Nox4-derived H_2O_2 may contribute to impaired vasodilation in persistent pulmonary hypertension in the neonate (PPHN) lambs via decreased eNOS and sGC expression and increased PDE5 activity [3]. Cyclin D1 expression was found to be higher in PPHN lungs and in pulmonary arteriole smooth muscle cells (PASMC) isolated from rats treated with monocrotaline. However, Nox4 small interfering RNA decreased the expression of cyclin D1 in PPHN and PASMC, and intra-tracheal catalase also decreased the expression of cyclin D1 in the lungs of ventilated PPHN lambs indicating a link between increase in ROS generation and activation of cell-cycle promoters leading to remodelling of pulmonary vasculature during pulmonary hypertension [18]. NF-kB activation causes increase in Nox4 expression leading to ROS generation upon pulmonary hyperoxia. It was found downstream of ROS activated via the phosphorylation of IkB and enabled NF-kB translocation into the nucleus, thus regulating the transcription of target genes. This may propose a feed-forward mechanism in PPHN by which Nox isoforms assist ROS generation, and thereby, raises the activities of key transcription factors such as NF-K β resulting in sustained expression of Nox itself [23].

20.2.5 Nitric Oxide Implications in Alveorization and Angiogenesis

NO as first discovered as endothelial-derived relaxing factor was later extensively studied in many cellular processes including cell migration, proliferation, survival, and cell death. Majority of the research studies support that eNOS-derived NO plays many roles than just as a vasodilator. NO was found to enhance proliferation of endothelial cells (EC) by inducing expression of VEGF and fibroblast growth factor. In rat aortic EC, L-NAME or DAHP inhibited NO production from NOS, and VEGF fabrication was concomitantly reduced. Finally, when NO production was even marginally increased by L-arginine or BH4 supplementation, VEGF synthesis was also restored [24]. NO was also found to stimulate angiogenesis by downregulating angiostatin which helped to promote proliferation by decreasing activity of MMP-9 and MMP-4. In addition, NO through its canonical cGMP-PKG pathway promotes cell migration which is pivotal for endothelial cell migration to support sprouting angiogenesis [25]. Alveolarization, formation of new airway sacks that is essential for gas exchange between air-blood barrier, starts at week 36 of the human foetus and continues till adulthood. It consists of two major stages: (1) classical alveorization as evident by more branching by the AEC to form alveoli, the principal gas exchange units of the lung and (2) microvascular maturation that is associated with formation of more network of vascular structures having close connection with the alveoli structures to cause efficient gas exchange. Endothelium-derived NO plays a crucial role in postnatal microvascular maturation in the lung, mediating downstream signalling in response to classic angiogenic factors. Recent findings in eNOS-deficient mice point to a novel and previously unrecognized role of eNOS-NO pathway in foetal lung vascular development and lung morphogenesis [26].

20.2.6 Angiogenic Growth-Factor-Driven Angiogenesis during Alveolar Development, Injury and Repair

 Vascular endothelial growth factor: VEGF binding to VEGFR-1 (Flt-1) and VEGFR-2 (Flk-1/KDR) on vascular endothelium activates receptor tyrosine kinases, leading to endothelial survival signalling. Localization of VEGF to distal airways was observed when rat lungs were injected with VEGF beads during late lung development and also showed an increase in vasculature development. During the development of a regular mouse lung, the mRNA expression of VEGFR-2 also increases. It is closely confined to the pulmonary EC as opposed to the flourishing epithelium. The expression of VEGF 120, VEGF 164 and VEGF 188 rises during the canalicular stage (when most parts of the lung are vascularized) in alveolar type II cells. These levels then decrease gradually until postnatal day 10 (P10), and the expressions further increase to the levels that are maintained through adulthood [27]. Treatment with VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 blocker SU5416 to adult rats spontaneously causes enlargement of the airspaces, indicative of emphysema [28], suggesting that VEGF is essential to the maintenance of the pulmonary vessels and alveolar structures throughout adulthood. Conversely, lung overexpression of VEGF during normal lung development disrupts the lung architecture [19].

2. Nitric oxide: VEGF-induced lung angiogenesis is partially moderated by NO. Delivering SU5416, a VEGF inhibitor, downregulates neonatal eNOS protein and NO production, while subsequent treatment with NO (inhaled) revamps vascular and alveolar growth at neonatal stage in the BPD model [29]. (iii) PECAM-1: Administration of an anti-CD31 antibody that inhibits EC migration without affecting proliferation or survival in vitro also impairs septation in neonatal rats. Loss of CD31 function compromises postnatal lung development and provides evidence that inhibition of EC function, in contrast to loss of viable EC, inhibits alveolarization [30]. (iv) Angiopoietin: Ang-1 and VEGF expression in the lung was found to increase during gestation. In baboons conditioned for appropriate oxygenation and ventilation so as to maintain the standard arterial blood gases, VEGF was reported to be concentrated over the distal airspace epithelium through 140 days of gestation, thereby supporting the hypothesis that these angiogenic factors contribute to pulmonary microvascular development. Comparably, 125-day baboons showed a higher capillary density and decreased pulmonary microvasculature, showing premature lung development injury leads to disruption of angiogenesis [31, 32].

20.2.7 Disruption of Alveorization and Angiogenesis

A study performed on eight patients suffering from BPD showed a disruption of arterial vasculature and a decrease in percent medial thickness of pulmonary arteries indicating that pathological remodelling would follow abnormal vascular development, giving rise to lung disorders. The marked expansion of the pulmonary microvasculature in ventilated lungs was, at least partially, responsible for brisk EC proliferation. There was improved angiogenesis in ventilated long-term infants compared with age-matched post-term infants and also found to be nearly proportionate to the growth of the air-exchanging lung parenchyma, indicating that microvascular development when disrupted could lead to BPD [33]. PECAM1 protein levels decreased in BPD than control individuals indicating an inability to form arterial system, thereby decreasing the ability to form a gas-filled distal lung parenchyma that could lead to BPD in affected preterm infants [34]. In general, infants in brief ventilator phase were more affected than the infants in long-term ventilator phase. This could be associated with pronounced EC proliferation to support

angiogenesis. Many animal models were also found to exhibit effects similar to BPD and chronic pulmonary dysplasia when alveorization was disrupted by exposure to different oxygen levels. This observation indicates that angiogenesis and alveorization are dependent on each other.

By now, the link between NO to postnatal lung development in context to their role in lung microvasculature formation and alveolarization is strongly established. It is evident from many findings that NO is a modulator of cellular ROS, and such function of NO could possibly contribute to many physiological functions including those functions essential for organ or tissue development. In addition to its ROS modulation property, NO can also act through canonical sGC-cGMP-PKG signal-ling pathway which is well established as a driver of postnatal lung angiogenesis prerequisite for alveolarization during early lung development. Although such report of describing its role as a ROS modulator is well established, the molecular mechanism of NO-ROS axis during lung development is underexplored.

20.3 Methodology

20.3.1 Mice Tissue and IHC

The mice tissue sections were a part of the study from the University Rochester Medical Centre, Rochester, NY, USA. The mice lung tissues were processed for immunohistochemistry (IHC) using von Willebrand factor (vWF) antibody (1:1000; Dako) to stain the microvasculature in the tissue. IHC was executed on formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded 4-µm-thick sections of the lung. After processing for IHC, tissues were counterstained with H&E and mounted with IHC mounting media (Vector Labs).

20.3.2 Chick Embryo Model, Treatment Conditions, and Next-Generation Sequencing and Analysis

Transcriptome data were acquired from the online gene expression database under the accession number GSE69159. Methods were adopted from Kumar et al. (2016) [35]. In brief, fertilized brown leghorn (*Gallus gallus*) eggs were commercially obtained from nearby poultry research centre, Potheri, Chennai. Cleaned eggs were incubated at 37 °C in 60% humidity chamber. At HH8 stage, a small window was made in the eggshell, and eggs were treated with 10 μ M NO donor (SpermineNONOate) or 60 μ g of thalidomide dissolved in 5% DMSO (1 mg/ml) or vehicle. At HH29 stage, total RNA was isolated using TRIzol® method. Illumina HiSeq 2500 platform was used for entire transcriptome sequencing and aligned against genome of chicken (Galgal4). Cuffdiff (v2.2.0) and TopHat (v2.0.8) programs were used to spot the genes that expressed differentially. STRING v10.5 was used to generate protein–protein interaction (PPI) network and to identify lung– associated gene sets.

20.4 Results and Discussion

20.4.1 Deformed Vascular and Alveolar Structures in Mice Lung

Crosssection of the lung tissues obtained from mice having premature lung development during early embryo days. Tissues were stained for vWF to visualize lung microvasculature and further counterstained with H&E to visualize the alveolar structure. These mice are known have defective lung vasculature and an increased ROS level. The representative images showed to have an increased alveolar space and less number of alveolar sacs per unit area in the diseased mice lung which is co-related with the reduced microvasculature structure (Fig. 20.2) which appears as brown (shown by red arrows).

20.4.2 Modulation in ROS Level through either NO or Thalidomide Treatment Leads to Alteration in the Expression of Lung-Associated Genes

Upon analysing the NGS data obtained from early chick embryos treated with either a quencher of ROS such as NO or a ROS inducer thalidomide lead to alteration in the transcript level expression of many lung-associated genes. We have selected these genes based on STRING network of genes that are suggested to be lungassociated gene sets. Using the analysis, we have identified the following genes (Fig. 20.3; Table 20.1) which are further elaborated on their role in lung development:



Fig. 20.2 Deformed alveolar structure in postnatal mice lung which is associated with less vascularization



Fig. 20.3 The heatmap constructed from important genes selected from 1146 lung specific genes (Xiong et al. 2016)

No	Gene name	Control Vs. NO (Fold change)	Control Vs. Thalidomide (Fold change)
1	LDLRAD1	0.787110391	2.056001295
2	TBX4	0.554617488	0.604089836
3	LRRN4	0.438591389	1.43430168
4	AKAP5	1.246258119	1.036239869
5	SLC34A2	0.872380683	2.690502357
6	CLDN18	3.031438668	1.957745998
7	WIF1	0.801372647	0.499163531
8	NKX2-5	0.829406266	0.781458907
9	MS4A15	1.128130407	0.482386605
10	SNTN	0.900075308	2.357064031
11	LAMP3	0.894054738	1.934642163
12	WNT3A	0.786988923	1.015645477
13	MUC5B	1.899059991	1.441340548
14	CDHR3	1.000645205	1.306729107
15	SLC6A14	1.264585444	2.632674818
16	RTKN2	0.60777849	1.361021748

Table 20.1 Selected from 83 lung specific genes, which are significantly altered upon either NO or thalidomide treatments

- LDLRAD1: NO treatment downregulated the expression of this gene by 21%, while thalidomide alone treatment induced the expression of these genes by 100%. LDLRAD1 is crucial in lung development as it takes part in lung organogenesis [36]. It has been also reported that the gene is associated with disease like childhood asthma [37] and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [38].
- 2. *TBX4*: Thalidomide treatment inhibited the expression of TBX4 gene by 40%, while NO treatment as well reduced the expression of this gene by 45%. T-box transcription factor Tbx4 is shown to be associated with pulmonary arterial hypertension [39].
- 3. *LRRN4*: NO downregulated LRRN4 by 56%, while 43% elevation was observed under thalidomide treatment. The leucine-rich repeat neuronal 4 (LRRN4) is expressed in the lung and kidney [40]. It is reported to be associated with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [41].
- AKAP5: NO induced the expression of AKAP5 by 24%; contrarily thalidomide did not alter its expression in whole chick embryo. AKAP5 expression is significantly reduced in COPD [42].
- 5. SLC34A2: Transcriptomic data obtained through NGS revealed that thalidomide treatment induced the expression of this gene by 169%, while NO did not alter the expression. The sodium-dependent phosphate transport protein 2B responsible for the phosphate transport via Na + cotransport in pH-dependent manner expressed in the small intestine and lung [43]. Mutations in the gene can cause pulmonary alveolar microlithiasis (PAM) [44].
- CLDN18: Both NO and thalidomide treatment elevated the expression of CLDN18 transcript level in chick embryos. Claudin 18 (CLDN18) protein contributes to tight junction. It gets mostly expressed in the stomach and lung alve-

olar epithelium [40]. Reduction in the level of CLDN18 can cause impaired alveolarization [45].

- 7. *WIF1*: Thalidomide treatment abrogated the expression of WIF1 by 50%. In contrary, NO treatment did not alter the expression of these genes. The gene regulates the Wnt signaling by WNT inhibitory factor 1, associated with reduced lung function in asthma [46]. It is also related to lung development in embryo [47].
- 8. *NKX2-5*: Thalidomide treatment downregulates the expression of NKX2–5 by 22%, without having any effect by NO treatment. This gene is responsible for the production of a homeobox-containing transcription factor that mostly related to heart development in foetus [48]. It has been also reported that it plays a major role in pulmonary myocardium formation [49]. Haploinsufficiency in the gene leads to several abnormalities like Choreoathetosis and pulmonary alterations [50].
- 9. *MS4A15*: According to our result, the expression of this gene increased by 12.8% in NO-treated embryos, while it decreases by 52% under thalidomide treatment compared to control. The product of the gene is Membrane-spanning 4-domains subfamily A member 15 (MS4A15) which is associated with lung adenocarcinoma [51].
- 10. SNTN: NO treatment did not alter the expression of this gene, while thalidomide treatment cause at least 2.3-fold increase in the expression of this gene. The protein sentan, cilia apical structure protein encoded by SNTN gene, is a major component of vertebrate motile cilia [52]. Directional induction of multiciliated airway cells from pluripotent stem cells is associated with increase in this protein level in human [53].
- LAMP3: NO has no significant effect in this gene expression, but thalidomide induced its expression by almost 93%. It has been reported previously that Lysosome-associated membrane glycoprotein 3 (LAMP3) is associated with adaptive immunity [54]. The gene has been predicted to play crucial role in asthma [55].
- 12. WNT3A: The expression of WNT3A significantly reduced upon NO treatment, while thalidomide did not alter the expression of this gene in developing chick embryo. This is one of the major components of WNT signalling associated with differentiation and proliferation of mesenchymal cells in embryonic lung [56]. It has an important role in metastasis of lung adenocarcinoma [57].
- MUC5B: NO treatment caused almost 90% upregulation in its expression, but 44% increase in the same has been observed under thalidomide treatment. The gene encodes one of mucin family of protein that functions for mucus secretion and airway defence [58]. The upregulation of the gene is linked with COPD [59] and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis [60].
- 14. *CDHR3*: No change was observed in NO-treated tissue samples, while thalidomide treatment significantly increased the expression by 30%. Cadherin-related family member 3, expressed mostly in airway epithelium, is related to the calcium ion binding activity and associated to asthma [61].

- 15. SLC6A14: NO treatment caused almost 23% increase, but thalidomide treatment results in massive increase (about 163%) in the gene expression, observed in our study. The gene encodes the protein solute carrier family 6 member 14 (SLC6A14) which is responsible for the transport of neurotransmitter depending on sodium and chloride ion [62]. Previous study supports the fact that the gene is related to embryonic lung development [56]. It also been found that the gene gets highly expressed in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients compared to healthy subjects [63].
- 16. *RTKN2*: Under NO treatment, the gene expression decreased by about 40%, whereas thalidomide treatment elevated its expression by 36%. The protein rhotekin-2, described as lymphocytic Rho-GTPase effector, has been related to the lung function of patients suffering with idiopathic interstitial pneumonias [64].

20.4.3 Transcriptomic Analysis of the Lung-Development-Associated Genes in Chick Embryos Treated with ROS Modulators NO and/or Thalidomide

We further analysed our NGS data to identify the differential expression of the genes that are extracted from STRING database which is shown to be associated with lung development. STRING database identify 1146 genes under this category which either directly or through secondary messenger can control lung development. Through this analysis we have identified a set of genes that are significantly altered upon NO and/or thalidomide treatment suggesting that alteration in ROS pathways as achieved in our case either through NO or thalidomide treatment leads to changes in transcriptomic level of these lung-development-associated genes (Fig. 20.4; Table 20.2):

- CCDC40: NO treatment did not alter the expression of CCDC40, while thalidomide elevated the expression by 32%. The CCDC40 gene is required for encoding coiled-coil domain-containing protein 40 that is very important for the migratory movement of cilia and left-right axis formation [65]. Mutations in this genes lead to the disease ciliary dyskinesia type 15 [66].
- 2. HOPX: Thalidomide alone inhibited the expression by 67%, while NO did not alter the expression. Homeobox only protein x (HOPX) is necessary for pulmonary maturation as well as regeneration of alveolar cells [67]. Its expression level is elevated during alveolar injury and during the repair process. It is believed that decrease in expression of HOPX may lead to end-stage idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis due to failed regenerative processes [68].
- 3. ADA: Again thalidomide treatment significantly abrogated the expression of ADA by 55% without having any effect by NO alone treatment. Adenosine deaminase (ADA) that catalyses the deamination reaction of 2-deoxyadenosine and adenosine is essential for cellular signalling in postnatal development [69]. Recent studies claim that regulation of the gene could be the important key for prevention of lung injury and progression of COPD [70].



Fig. 20.4 The heatmap constructed from important genes selected from 83 lung specific genes (Xiong et al. 2016)

4. FOXF1: FOXF1 expression is not altered with NO treatment, while thalidomide elevated the expression by 70%. FOXF1 gene is responsible for the formation of transcription factor, forkhead box F1 (FOXF1) protein, that regulates many other genes activity related to lung lobe morphogenesis, alveolus development, vasculogenesis and trachea development in early development stage of embryo [71]. Commonly, it takes part in regeneration of lung after injury [72].

No	Gene name	Control Vs. NO (Fold change)	Control Vs. Thalidomide (Fold change)
1	CCDC40	1.0673	1.323051
2	HOPX	0.7478	0.330521
3	ADA	1.116421164	0.458733
4	FOXF1	0.8231	1.698857
5	EPAS1	0.9212	1.290014
6	TBX4	0.554617488	0.604089836
7	GPC3	1.1481	1.023282
8	PTK7	1.2961	1.728926
9	AGR2	0.7943	0.68004

Table 20.2 Genes selected from 1146 lung specific genes, which are significantly altered upon either NO or thalidomide treatments

- EPAS1: NO did not alter the expression of EPAS1, whereas thalidomide elevated the expression by 29%. This gene encodes the endothelial PAS domaincontaining protein 1 or hypoxia-inducible factor-2alpha (HIF-2alpha) which is essential in adaptation to high altitude at low oxygen pressure by regulation of erythropoietin level and angiogenesis [73].
- 6. GPC3: Under thalidomide treatment, there was no significant changes in the expression of this gene, while NO treatment augmented the expression by 14.8%. Glypican-3 is a heparan sulfate proteoglycan which is associated with various physiological signalling like Wnt, fibroblast growth factors and hedgehogs [74]. It is also associated with lung squamous cell carcinoma, and prediction has been made that it could be well used as a marker for the disease [75].
- PTK7: Both NO and thalidomide treatments significantly increased the expression of PTK7 in early chick embryo. PTK7 is a coding gene for protein tyrosine kinase which is associated with mesenchyme development in the lung [76]. It involves many signalling pathways like ERK, Akt and Wnt signalling pathways [77].
- AGR2: Thalidomide inhibited the expression of AGR2 by 32%, whereas NO treatment downregulated its expression by almost 21%. This gene encodes the anterior gradient protein 2 (AGR2) which is associated with mucus secretion and goblet cell differentiation in the lung along with other cellular transition and migration [78].

20.5 Conclusion

The current study demonstrated that alteration of ROS level in developing lung predisposes alveolar epithelial cells and new developing microvasculature to injuries leading to deformities in lung development. By combining the study with next-generation sequencing study, we are able to identify a set of lung-associated developmental genes which are significantly altered upon modulation of ROS either through reducing its level using a quencher (NO donor) or by elevating its level by treating the embryos with ROS inducer thalidomide.

20.6 Future Direction

Further research in evaluating the role of these genes identified through the sequencing study will help in better understanding of these ROS-associated lung diseases besides identifying new treatment strategies for ROS-driven lung diseases especially those that are associated with compromised lung development such as BPD.

Acknowledgement This work was partially supported by an Additional Competitive Research Grant from BITS-Pilani to SM (PLN/AD/2017-18/02), a grant from the University Grant Commission-Faculty Recharge Programme (UGC-FRP), Government of India, to SC, and by DST-INSPIRE fellowship programme to SG.

References

- 1. Hislop A (2005) Developmental biology of the pulmonary circulation. Paediatr Respir Rev 6:35–43
- Tang JR, Markham NE, Lin YJ, McMurtry IF, Maxey A, Kinsella JP, Abman SH (2004) Inhaled nitric oxide attenuates pulmonary hypertension and improves lung growth in infant rats after neonatal treatment with a VEGF receptor inhibitor. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 287:L344–L351
- Wedgwood S, Steinhorn RH (2014) Role of reactive oxygen species in neonatal pulmonary vascular disease. Antioxid Redox Signal 21:1926–1942
- Domej W, Oettl K, Renner W (2014) Oxidative stress and free radicals in COPD--implications and relevance for treatment. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 9:1207–1224
- Boukhenouna S, Wilson MA, Bahmed K, Kosmider B (2018) Reactive oxygen species in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2018:5730395
- Perrone S, Tataranno ML, Buonocore G (2012) Oxidative stress and bronchopulmonary dysplasia. J Clin Neonatol 1:109–114
- Vargesson N (2015) Thalidomide-induced teratogenesis: history and mechanisms. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today 105:140–156
- Tschanz SA, Salm LA, Roth-Kleiner M, Barre SF, Burri PH, Schittny JC (2014) Rat lungs show a biphasic formation of new alveoli during postnatal development. J Appl Physiol (Bethesda, Md: 1985) 117:89–95
- 9. Hofmann W (1982) Mathematical model for the postnatal growth of the human lung. Respir Physiol 49:115–129
- Fox WW, Schwartz JG, Shaffer TH (1978) Pulmonary physiotherapy in neonates: physiologic changes and respiratory management. J Pediatr 92:977–981
- Alcorn D, Adamson TM, Lambert TF, Maloney JE, Ritchie BC, Robinson PM (1977) Morphological effects of chronic tracheal ligation and drainage in the fetal lamb lung. J Anat 123:649–660
- Burri PH, Gehr P, Muller K, Weibel ER (1976) Adaptation of the growing lung to increased VO2. I. IDPN as inducer of hyperactivity. Respir Physiol 28:129–140
- Barker PM, Walters DV, Markiewicz M, Strang LB (1991) Development of the lung liquid reabsorptive mechanism in fetal sheep: synergism of triiodothyronine and hydrocortisone. J Physiol 433:435–449
- 14. Mittal M, Siddiqui MR, Tran K, Reddy SP, Malik AB (2014) Reactive oxygen species in inflammation and tissue injury. Antioxid Redox Signal 20:1126–1167
- 15. Arango Duque G, Descoteaux A (2014) Macrophage cytokines: involvement in immunity and infectious diseases. Front Immunol 5:491

- Tkaczyk J, Vizek M (2007) Oxidative stress in the lung tissue--sources of reactive oxygen species and antioxidant defence. Prague Med Rep 108:105–114
- Wedgwood S, Lakshminrusimha S, Czech L, Schumacker PT, Steinhorn RH (2013) Increased p22(phox)/Nox4 expression is involved in remodeling through hydrogen peroxide signaling in experimental persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn. Antioxid Redox Signal 18:1765–1776
- Gerber HP, Hillan KJ, Ryan AM, Kowalski J, Keller GA, Rangell L, Wright BD, Radtke F, Aguet M, Ferrara N (1999) VEGF is required for growth and survival in neonatal mice. Development 126:1149–1159
- Lassus P, Turanlahti M, Heikkila P, Andersson LC, Nupponen I, Sarnesto A, Andersson S (2001) Pulmonary vascular endothelial growth factor and Flt-1 in fetuses, in acute and chronic lung disease, and in persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164:1981–1987
- 20. Dikalova AE, Gongora MC, Harrison DG, Lambeth JD, Dikalov S, Griendling KK (2010) Upregulation of Nox1 in vascular smooth muscle leads to impaired endothelium-dependent relaxation via eNOS uncoupling. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 299:H673–H679
- Carnesecchi S, Deffert C, Pagano A, Garrido-Urbani S, Metrailler-Ruchonnet I, Schappi M, Donati Y, Matthay MA, Krause KH, Barazzone Argiroffo C (2009) NADPH oxidase-1 plays a crucial role in hyperoxia-induced acute lung injury in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 180:972–981
- 22. Berkelhamer SK, Kim GA, Radder JE, Wedgwood S, Czech L, Steinhorn RH, Schumacker PT (2013) Developmental differences in hyperoxia-induced oxidative stress and cellular responses in the murine lung. Free Radic Biol Med 61:51–60
- 23. Pendyala S, Moitra J, Kalari S, Kleeberger SR, Zhao Y, Reddy SP, Garcia JG, Natarajan V (2011) Nrf2 regulates hyperoxia-induced Nox4 expression in human lung endothelium: identification of functional antioxidant response elements on the Nox4 promoter. Free Radic Biol Med 50:1749–1759
- Gebb SA, Shannon JM (2000) Tissue interactions mediate early events in pulmonary vasculogenesis. Develop Dynam 217:159–169
- 25. Norton KA, Popel AS (2016) Effects of endothelial cell proliferation and migration rates in a computational model of sprouting angiogenesis. Sci Rep 6:36992
- Han RN, Stewart DJ (2006) Defective lung vascular development in endothelial nitric oxide synthase-deficient mice. Trends Cardiovasc Med 16:29–34
- Ng YS, Rohan R, Sunday ME, Demello DE, D'Amore PA (2001) Differential expression of VEGF isoforms in mouse during development and in the adult. Develop Dynam 220:112–121
- Kasahara Y, Tuder RM, Taraseviciene-Stewart L, Le Cras TD, Abman S, Hirth PK, Waltenberger J, Voelkel NF (2000) Inhibition of VEGF receptors causes lung cell apoptosis and emphysema. J Clin Invest 106:1311–1319
- 29. Seedorf G, Metoxen AJ, Rock R, Markham N, Ryan S, Vu T, Abman SH (2016) Hepatocyte growth factor as a downstream mediator of vascular endothelial growth factor-dependent preservation of growth in the developing lung. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 310:L1098–L1110
- DeLisser HM, Helmke BP, Cao G, Egan PM, Taichman D, Fehrenbach M, Zaman A, Cui Z, Mohan GS, Baldwin HS, Davies PF, Savani RC (2006) Loss of PECAM-1 function impairs alveolarization. J Biol Chem 281:8724–8731
- D'Angio CT, Maniscalco WM (2002) The role of vascular growth factors in hyperoxia-induced injury to the developing lung. Front Biosci 7:d1609–d1623
- 32. Bhandari V, Choo-Wing R, Chapoval SP, Lee CG, Tang C, Kim YK, Ma B, Baluk P, Lin MI, McDonald DM, Homer RJ, Sessa WC, Elias JA (2006) Essential role of nitric oxide in VEGFinduced, asthma-like angiogenic, inflammatory, mucus, and physiologic responses in the lung. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:11021–11026
- 33. Jakkula M, Le Cras TD, Gebb S, Hirth KP, Tuder RM, Voelkel NF, Abman SH (2000) Inhibition of angiogenesis decreases alveolarization in the developing rat lung. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 279:L600–L607

- D'Angio CT, Maniscalco WM (2002) The role of vascular growth factors in hyperoxia-induced injury to the developing lung. Front Biosci 7:d1609–d1623
- 35. Kumar P, Kasiviswanathan D, Sundaresan L, Kathirvel P, Veeriah V, Dutta P, Sankaranarayanan K, Gupta R, Chatterjee S (2016) Harvesting clues from genome wide transcriptome analysis for exploring thalidomide mediated anomalies in eye development of chick embryo: nitric oxide rectifies the thalidomide mediated anomalies by swinging back the system to normal transcriptome pattern. Biochimie 121:253–267
- 36. Modepalli V, Kumar A, Sharp JA, Saunders NR, Nicholas KR, Lefevre C (2018) Gene expression profiling of postnatal lung development in the marsupial gray short-tailed opossum (Monodelphis domestica) highlights conserved developmental pathways and specific characteristics during lung organogenesis. BMC Genomics 19:732
- 37. Bochkov YA, Watters K, Ashraf S, Griggs TF, Devries MK, Jackson DJ, Palmenberg AC, Gern JE (2015) Cadherin-related family member 3, a childhood asthma susceptibility gene product, mediates rhinovirus C binding and replication. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:5485–5490
- Lee MK, Hong Y, Kim SY, Kim WJ, London SJ (2017) Epigenome-wide association study of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and lung function in Koreans. Epigenomics 9:971–984
- 39. Kerstjens-Frederikse WS, Bongers EM, Roofthooft MT, Leter EM, Douwes JM, Van Dijk A, Vonk-Noordegraaf A, Dijk-Bos KK, Hoefsloot LH, Hoendermis ES, Gille JJ, Sikkema-Raddatz B, Hofstra RM, Berger RM (2013) TBX4 mutations (small patella syndrome) are associated with childhood-onset pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Med Genet 50:500–506
- 40. Fagerberg L, Hallstrom BM, Oksvold P, Kampf C, Djureinovic D, Odeberg J, Habuka M, Tahmasebpoor S, Danielsson A, Edlund K, Asplund A, Sjostedt E, Lundberg E, Szigyarto CA, Skogs M, Takanen JO, Berling H, Tegel H, Mulder J, Nilsson P, Schwenk JM, Lindskog C, Danielsson F, Mardinoglu A, Sivertsson A, von Feilitzen K, Forsberg M, Zwahlen M, Olsson I, Navani S, Huss M, Nielsen J, Ponten F, Uhlen M (2014) Analysis of the human tissue-specific expression by genome-wide integration of transcriptomics and antibody-based proteomics. Mol Cell Proteom MCP 13:397–406
- 41. Wang IM, Stepaniants S, Boie Y, Mortimer JR, Kennedy B, Elliott M, Hayashi S, Loy L, Coulter S, Cervino S, Harris J, Thornton M, Raubertas R, Roberts C, Hogg JC, Crackower M, O'Neill G, Pare PD (2008) Gene expression profiling in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and lung cancer. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 177:402–411
- 42. Poppinga WJ, Heijink IH, Holtzer LJ, Skroblin P, Klussmann E, Halayko AJ, Timens W, Maarsingh H, Schmidt M (2015) A-kinase-anchoring proteins coordinate inflammatory responses to cigarette smoke in airway smooth muscle. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 308:L766–L775
- 43. Feild JA, Zhang L, Brun KA, Brooks DP, Edwards RM (1999) Cloning and functional characterization of a sodium-dependent phosphate transporter expressed in human lung and small intestine. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 258:578–582
- 44. Huqun, Izumi, S., Miyazawa, H., Ishii, K., Uchiyama, B., Ishida, T., Tanaka, S., Tazawa, R., Fukuyama, S., Tanaka, T., Nagai, Y., Yokote, A., Takahashi, H., Fukushima, T., Kobayashi, K., Chiba, H., Nagata, M., Sakamoto, S., Nakata, K., Takebayashi, Y., Shimizu, Y., Kaneko, K., Shimizu, M., Kanazawa, M., Abe, S., Inoue, Y., Takenoshita, S., Yoshimura, K., Kudo, K., Tachibana, T., Nukiwa, T., and Hagiwara, K. (2007) Mutations in the SLC34A2 gene are associated with pulmonary alveolar microlithiasis, Am J Respir Crit Care Med 175, 263–268
- 45. LaFemina MJ, Sutherland KM, Bentley T, Gonzales LW, Allen L, Chapin CJ, Rokkam D, Sweerus KA, Dobbs LG, Ballard PL, Frank JA (2014) Claudin-18 deficiency results in alveolar barrier dysfunction and impaired alveologenesis in mice. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 51:550–558
- 46. Yang Z, Wang Y, Fang J, Chen F, Liu J, Wu J, Wang Y (2010) Expression and aberrant promoter methylation of Wnt inhibitory factor-1 in human astrocytomas. J Exper Clin Cancer Res CR29 26
- 47. Xu B, Chen C, Chen H, Zheng SG, Bringas P Jr, Xu M, Zhou X, Chen D, Umans L, Zwijsen A, Shi W (2011) Smad1 and its target gene Wif1 coordinate BMP and Wnt signaling activities to regulate fetal lung development. Development 138:925–935

- Schott JJ, Benson DW, Basson CT, Pease W, Silberbach GM, Moak JP, Maron BJ, Seidman CE, Seidman JG (1998) Congenital heart disease caused by mutations in the transcription factor NKX2-5. Science (New York, NY) 281:108–111
- 49. Mommersteeg MT, Brown NA, Prall OW, de Gier-de Vries C, Harvey RP, Moorman AF, Christoffels VM (2007) Pitx2c and Nkx2-5 are required for the formation and identity of the pulmonary myocardium. Circ Res 101:902–909
- 50. Krude H, Schutz B, Biebermann H, von Moers A, Schnabel D, Neitzel H, Tonnies H, Weise D, Lafferty A, Schwarz S, DeFelice M, von Deimling A, van Landeghem F, DiLauro R, Gruters A (2002) Choreoathetosis, hypothyroidism, and pulmonary alterations due to human NKX2-1 haploinsufficiency. J Clin Invest 109:475–480
- Li Y, Xiao X, Ji X, Liu B, Amos CI (2015) RNA-seq analysis of lung adenocarcinomas reveals different gene expression profiles between smoking and nonsmoking patients. Tumour Biol 36:8993–9003
- Kubo A, Yuba-Kubo A, Tsukita S, Tsukita S, Amagai M (2008) Sentan: a novel specific component of the apical structure of vertebrate motile cilia. Mol Biol Cell 19:5338–5346
- 53. Konishi S, Gotoh S, Tateishi K, Yamamoto Y, Korogi Y, Nagasaki T, Matsumoto H, Muro S, Hirai T, Ito I, Tsukita S, Mishima M (2016) Directed induction of functional multi-ciliated cells in proximal airway epithelial spheroids from human pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Reports 6:18–25
- 54. de Saint-Vis B, Vincent J, Vandenabeele S, Vanbervliet B, Pin JJ, Ait-Yahia S, Patel S, Mattei MG, Banchereau J, Zurawski S, Davoust J, Caux C, Lebecque S (1998) A novel lysosome-associated membrane glycoprotein, DC-LAMP, induced upon DC maturation, is transiently expressed in MHC class II compartment. Immunity 9:325–336
- 55. Kho AT, Sharma S, Qiu W, Gaedigk R, Klanderman B, Niu S, Anderson C, Leeder JS, Weiss ST, Tantisira KG (2013) Vitamin D related genes in lung development and asthma pathogenesis. BMC Med Genet 6:47
- Okubo T, Hogan BL (2004) Hyperactive Wnt signaling changes the developmental potential of embryonic lung endoderm. J Biol 3:11
- Nguyen DX, Chiang AC, Zhang XH, Kim JY, Kris MG, Ladanyi M, Gerald WL, Massague J (2009) WNT/TCF signaling through LEF1 and HOXB9 mediates lung adenocarcinoma metastasis. Cell 138:51–62
- 58. Roy MG, Livraghi-Butrico A, Fletcher AA, McElwee MM, Evans SE, Boerner RM, Alexander SN, Bellinghausen LK, Song AS, Petrova YM, Tuvim MJ, Adachi R, Romo I, Bordt AS, Bowden MG, Sisson JH, Woodruff PG, Thornton DJ, Rousseau K, De la Garza MM, Moghaddam SJ, Karmouty-Quintana H, Blackburn MR, Drouin SM, Davis CW, Terrell KA, Grubb BR, O'Neal WK, Flores SC, Cota-Gomez A, Lozupone CA, Donnelly JM, Watson AM, Hennessy CE, Keith RC, Yang IV, Barthel L, Henson PM, Janssen WJ, Schwartz DA, Boucher RC, Dickey BF, Evans CM (2014) Muc5b is required for airway defence. Nature 505:412–416
- Chung KF, Caramori G, Groneberg DA (2004) Airway obstruction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 351:1459–1461; author reply 1459–1461
- Zhang Y, Noth I, Garcia JG, Kaminski N (2011) A variant in the promoter of MUC5B and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med 364:1576–1577
- 61. Bonnelykke K, Sleiman P, Nielsen K, Kreiner-Moller E, Mercader JM, Belgrave D, den Dekker HT, Husby A, Sevelsted A, Faura-Tellez G, Mortensen LJ, Paternoster L, Flaaten R, Molgaard A, Smart DE, Thomsen PF, Rasmussen MA, Bonas-Guarch S, Holst C, Nohr EA, Yadav R, March ME, Blicher T, Lackie PM, Jaddoe VW, Simpson A, Holloway JW, Duijts L, Custovic A, Davies DE, Torrents D, Gupta R, Hollegaard MV, Hougaard DM, Hakonarson H, Bisgaard H (2014) A genome-wide association study identifies CDHR3 as a susceptibility locus for early childhood asthma with severe exacerbations. Nat Genet 46:51–55
- 62. Hatanaka T, Nakanishi T, Huang W, Leibach FH, Prasad PD, Ganapathy V, Ganapathy ME (2001) Na+ and Cl- -coupled active transport of nitric oxide synthase inhibitors via amino acid transport system B(0,+). J Clin Invest 107:1035–1043
- Berg T, Hegelund Myrback T, Olsson M, Seidegard J, Werkstrom V, Zhou XH, Grunewald J, Gustavsson L, Nord M (2014) Gene expression analysis of membrane transporters and drug-

metabolizing enzymes in the lung of healthy and COPD subjects. Pharmacol Res Perspect 2:e00054

- 64. Steele MP, Luna LG, Coldren CD, Murphy E, Hennessy CE, Heinz D, Evans CM, Groshong S, Cool C, Cosgrove GP, Brown KK, Fingerlin TE, Schwarz MI, Schwartz DA, Yang IV (2015) Relationship between gene expression and lung function in idiopathic interstitial pneumonias. BMC Genomics 16:869
- 65. Becker-Heck A, Zohn IE, Okabe N, Pollock A, Lenhart KB, Sullivan-Brown J, McSheene J, Loges NT, Olbrich H, Haeffner K, Fliegauf M, Horvath J, Reinhardt R, Nielsen KG, Marthin JK, Baktai G, Anderson KV, Geisler R, Niswander L, Omran H, Burdine RD (2011) The coiled-coil domain containing protein CCDC40 is essential for motile cilia function and leftright axis formation. Nat Genet 43:79–84
- 66. Wang K, Chen X, Guo CY, Liu FQ, Wang JR, Sun LF (2018) Cilia ultrastructural and gene variation of primary ciliary dyskinesia: report of three cases and literatures review. Zhonghua er ke za zhi Chinese J Pediat 56:134–137
- 67. Yin Z, Gonzales L, Kolla V, Rath N, Zhang Y, Lu MM, Kimura S, Ballard PL, Beers MF, Epstein JA, Morrisey EE (2006) Hop functions downstream of Nkx2.1 and GATA6 to mediate HDAC-dependent negative regulation of pulmonary gene expression. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 291:L191–L199
- Ota, C., Ng-Blichfeldt, J.-P., Korfei, M., Alsafadi, H. N., Lehmann, M., Skronska-Wasek, W., M. De Santis, M., Guenther, A., Wagner, D. E., and Königshoff, M. (2018) Dynamic expression of HOPX in alveolar epithelial cells reflects injury and repair during the progression of pulmonary fibrosis, Sci Rep 8, 12983
- 69. Metsola J, Maksimow M, Ojaniemi M, Metsola H, Marttila-Ichihara F, Vuolteenaho R, Yegutkin GG, Salmi M, Hallman M, Jalkanen S (2014) Postnatal development and LPS responsiveness of pulmonary adenosine receptor expression and of adenosine-metabolizing enzymes in mice. Pediatr Res 76:515–521
- Gonzales JN, Gorshkov B, Varn MN, Zemskova MA, Zemskov EA, Sridhar S, Lucas R, Verin AD (2014) Protective effect of adenosine receptors against lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 306:L497–L507
- 71. Ren X, Ustiyan V, Pradhan A, Cai Y, Havrilak JA, Bolte CS, Shannon JM, Kalin TV, Kalinichenko VV (2014) FOXF1 transcription factor is required for formation of embryonic vasculature by regulating VEGF signaling in endothelial cells. Circ Res 115:709–720
- 72. Cai Y, Bolte C, Le T, Goda C, Xu Y, Kalin TV, Kalinichenko VV (2016) FOXF1 maintains endothelial barrier function and prevents edema after lung injury. Sci Signal 9:ra40
- 73. Hu H, Petousi N, Glusman G, Yu Y, Bohlender R, Tashi T, Downie JM, Roach JC, Cole AM, Lorenzo FR, Rogers AR, Brunkow ME, Cavalleri G, Hood L, Alpatty SM, Prchal JT, Jorde LB, Robbins PA, Simonson TS, Huff CD (2017) Evolutionary history of Tibetans inferred from whole-genome sequencing. PLoS Genet 13:e1006675
- 74. Filmus J, Capurro M, Rast J (2008) Glypicans. Genome Biol 9:224
- 75. Lin Q, Xiong LW, Pan XF, Gen JF, Bao GL, Sha HF, Feng JX, Ji CY, Chen M (2012) Expression of GPC3 protein and its significance in lung squamous cell carcinoma. Medical Oncol (Northwood, London, England) 29:663–669
- 76. Jung JW, Ji AR, Lee J, Kim UJ, Lee ST (2002) Organization of the human PTK7 gene encoding a receptor protein tyrosine kinase-like molecule and alternative splicing of its mRNA. Biochim Biophys Acta 1579:153–163
- 77. Kim JH, Kwon J, Lee HW, Kang MC, Yoon HJ, Lee ST, Park JH (2014) Protein tyrosine kinase 7 plays a tumor suppressor role by inhibiting ERK and AKT phosphorylation in lung cancer. Oncol Rep 31:2708–2712
- Wang Z, Hao Y, Lowe AW (2008) The adenocarcinoma-associated antigen, AGR2, promotes tumor growth, cell migration, and cellular transformation. Cancer Res 68:492–497



Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor: Promising Targets for Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer

21

Della Grace Thomas Parambi, K. M. Noorulla, Md. Sahab Uddin, and Bijo Mathew

Abstract

Cancer-related mortality is a worldwide health issue; among those, lung cancer is devastatingly caused by regular smoking. It is quite surprising that a considerable category of patients with non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) has never had a habit of smoking. In these patients, an elevated level of small drifts or mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is observed. The genetic makeup and development of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) are considered as promising drug candidates for the treatment of wild-type NSCLC. The aim of this chapter is to summarize EGFR and its physiological and pathological roles, including the acquired resistance of various generations of TKIs with future perspectives of EGFR-targeted therapeutic approaches.

Keywords

Epidermal growth factor receptor \cdot Tyrosine kinase inhibitors \cdot Non-small cell lung cancer \cdot Cancer chemotherapy

D. G. T. Parambi

Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, Jouf University, Sakaka, Saudi Arabia

K. M. Noorulla Medicinal Chemistry Division, Department of Pharmacy, College of Health Sciences, Arsi University, Asella, Ethiopia

M. Sahab Uddin Department of Pharmacy, Southeast University, Dhaka, Bangladesh

Pharmakon Neuroscience Research Network, Dhaka, Bangladesh

B. Mathew (⊠)
 Division of Drug Design and Medicinal Chemistry Research Lab,
 Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, Ahalia School of Pharmacy, Palakkad, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_21

21.1 Introduction

Oxidative stress is the major mechanism and secondary messenger behind the pathogenesis of various diseases including the neurodegenerative disorders, ageing and cancers and by regulating apoptosis, survival and their proliferation [1]. Among lung diseases, lung cancer (LC) is identified as the major cause of cancer mortality worldwide due to its poor prognosis result in high death rates [2]. Aberrance on cell apoptosis – a programmed cell death mechanism – leads to pathogenesis including cancer. Cancer research mainly focuses on a new discovery which improves uncontrolled cell apoptosis of cancer [3, 4]. According to the World Health Organization survey, lung cancer will be attributed as the seventh cause of death and will contribute to 3% of the total death by 2030 [5].

Clinical evidence document that among the small cell lung cancer (SCLC) and non-small-cell lung cancer [NSCLC], the latter is referred to be the primeval, i.e. lung malignancy (85%) which can form both central and peripheral tumours and which has a poor survival rate, with only less than 15% of patients surviving more than 5 years [6]. Different types of NSCLC develop in different locations of the lungs: squamous cell carcinoma (25-30%), adenocarcinoma (45-50%) and cell carcinoma (5-10%). Adenocarcinoma develops in the peripheral part of the lungs, e.g. alveolar type II cells, squamous cell carcinoma in the central lung areas and large cell carcinoma in the central and peripheral regions [7].

Recently, researchers extensively have identified a large number of structuralbased changes such as mutations and amplifications that could affect tumour survival [8]. Cancer treatment protocol mainly focuses on molecular changes and on how to effectively increase the survival rate of patients in non-surgical stages [9, 10]. During cancer therapy, it is important to identify the genomic profile of the patient and appropriate drug dosage [11]. Among the various types of signalling pathways, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) target-based mechanism plays a significant role in the treatment of NSCLC [12]. The EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors gained wide recognition as an adjuvant therapy because of its high efficiency that could potentially cure LC patients [13, 14]. This chapter represents the EGFR and its physiological and pathological roles, as well as future perspectives of EGFRtargeted therapeutic strategies.

21.2 Role of EGFR in the Treatment of Lung Cancer

EGFR is a member of the erbB family, intimately related to receptor tyrosine kinases, which embrace erbB1 (synonym of EGFR) and other three known homologous proteins like erbB2 (HER2), erbB3 and erbB4 (Fig. 21.1; reproduced by Elena et al. 2013, with permission) [15]. All the EGFR analogous have almost similar structures but have a difference in their tyrosine kinase activity. Its extracellular region comprises a ligand-binding domain, whereas intracellular region and transmembrane portion consist of tyrosine kinase and regulatory domains. The naturally functioning EGFR undergoes conformational changes upon binding with specific



Fig. 21.1 EGFR signalling pathways

ligand (epidermal growth factor), followed by a series of events occurring in signal transduction pathways such as phosphatidyl inositol 3-kinase (PI3K/Akt) and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) with the help of factors like activator of transcription proteins (STATs) and Raf1-extracellular signal-regulated kinase. The outcome of cell proliferation and cell maintenance mainly depends on the above-mentioned signalling pathways [16]. In NSCLC, DNA mutations (often referred to as 'oncogene addiction') in EGFR expressed by polymerase chain reaction can take place both in extracellular and intracellular domains of the protein [17–20].

21.3 Architecture of EGFR

The architecture and physiology of EGFR show that among the 1186 amino acids, 621 residues belong to ectodomain and 4 to subdomains [21]. An earlier binding study revealed that inhibitor binding cavity (IBC) of EGFR is mainly positioned between amino acids of 294 and 543 which are stationed at domain III region. It further revealed that domain I also played a minor role in the efficiency of EGFR [22]. Three-dimensional X-ray crystallographic studies also assert that the three ligand sites are configured in domain I and III and small molecules situated in II and IV are linked together by one or two disulphide linkages.

NMR studies published that residues 626–647 are α -helical in structure and they continue into the juxtamembrane domain which has a number of regulatory functions including ligand-dependent internalization and receptor dimerization. It also clarifies that amino acid, tyrosine present in carboxy-terminal domain whose,

phosphorylation process and post-translational modifications is important to mediate the signal transduction.

21.4 EGFR Receptor Tyrosine Kinase (TK)-Targeted FDA-Approved Drugs for Treating NSCLC

The establishment of structure, biology, physiological functions, regulation and it's family members generated the development of new inhibitors of EGFR based cancer treatment. Rapid research in treatments targeting EGFR intensively progressed and resulted in the discovery of gefitinib, a first-generation TKI, in 2009, and erlotinib in the year 2013, which resulted in massive and rapid tumour volume shrinkage. On the other hand, patients developed secondary T790M gatekeeper resistance which introduced highly resembled second-generation irreversible inhibitors (TKIs) like afatinib, neratinib and dacomitinib. But their clinical efficacy is restrained due to narrow therapeutic window, which focused the research into third-generation EGFR TKIs. Their design explored the way for the introduction of a covalent bond with amino acid residue, Cys 797, for the effective management of T790Massociated resistance. Rociletinib, the first reported among third-generation compounds (WZ40028, also known as CO-1686), showed 30-100 times more potency against EGFR T790M than wild-type EGFR. But its further development halted due to FDA recall request for more randomized data in trials and accelerated approval. Clinical trial data also showed that rociletinib causes hyperglycaemia by inhibiting insulin growth factor receptor (IGFR) and insulin receptor kinases. In 2015, osimertinib, also known as AZD9291, became the first accorded TKI for T790 M EGFRpositive NSCLC patients. The Korea Ministry of Food and Drug Safety (MFDS) in 2016 approved olmutinib (HM61713) for the treatment of NSCLC with a mutation in T790 M. Currently, drugs in early-phase trials are nazartinib (EGF816, NCT02108964), avitinib (AC0010, NCT022743337) and naquotinib (ASP8273, NCT02500927) (Fig. 21.2) [22, 23].

21.5 Future Direction and Perspectives

Though targeted therapy has markedly improved the after effects of patients with non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) who are prone to driver mutations, neoteric tactics are needed in the future to address invariable resistance. The current standard of care for patients with NSCLC which conceals genetic driver mutations is treatment with corresponding tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs). The emergence of TKIs considerably improved outcomes for patients with NSCLC. EGFR inhibitors, for example, improved the median survival from about 1 year to 3–4 years. Conversely, acquired resistance occurs in more or less every patient and emphasizes the necessity for new approaches in the future to improve patient outcomes.

Current clinically actionable deviance includes EGFR, ALK, ROS1 and BRAF. But then again, newer targets need to be recognized to comprehend tumours



Fig. 21.2 Structures of the EGFR-targeted FDA-approved drugs

driven by other mechanisms. Inhibitors targeting the proteins of genetic deviance in RET, MET, HER2, NTRK1 and KEAP1/Nrf1 are in development and may become added options in the near future. KRAS is also frequently mutated in NSCLC; however, attempts to target this pathway have not yet been successful to date. In addition, more mutation-specific and wild-type-sparring TKIs are needed, as more specific TKIs have proven to be more successful than their less-specific equivalents. Osimertinib, an EGFR inhibitor that targets T790 M-resistant mutants, is more effective than former-generation EGFR inhibitors and is usually better tolerated. The ALK inhibitor alectinib is also more effective and well tolerated than others in this category. The heterogeneity of NSCLC signifies that combination regimens that comprise targeted therapy are a promising strategy to overcome resistance. Combination approach can target multiple pathways that may be involved in the disease.

21.6 Conclusion

The development of molecular-targeted anticancer drug moieties is considered remarkable due to their high exactitude in treating cancer malady. The pathways that target cellular signalling play a crucial role in cancer proliferation, survival and their development, which are genetically altered in cancer cells. Targeted-based therapy is a possible therapeutic strategy for patients with different malignancies. Chemotherapeutic drug resistance is a complex issue encountered in various kinds of cancer treatment, which is difficult to overcome. For example, even though
various research have been extended to study the feasibility of resistance mechanisms to EGFR blockade, it appears that numerous biomarkers and pathways were responsible for developing resistance to anti-EGFR therapy. New moieties that focused on single target were also found to have pronounced limitations like drug resistance in the treatment of cancer. As the prediction of resistance mechanisms is difficult, more complex prognostic methods are essential to improve the response rates to targeted therapy. It is concluded that robust knowledge and perceptions of cellular mechanisms underlying death and survival will lead to sensible approaches to overcome drug resistance. It is no doubt that, in the near future, there may be discovery of various aspects in governing the expression of the targeted drug resistance genes.

References

- 1. Uddin MS, Upaganlawar AB (Eds) (2019) Oxidative stress and antioxidant defense: biomedical value in health and diseases. Nova Science Publishers, USA
- 2. Jemal A, Tiwari RC, Murray T et al (2004) Cancer statistics, 2004. CA Cancer J Clin 54:8-29
- 3. Gupta S (2001) Molecular steps of death receptor and mitochondrial pathways of apoptosis. Life Sci 69(25–26):2957–2964
- 4. Gordalize M (2007) Natural products as leads to anticancer drugs. Clin Transl Oncol 9(12):767–776
- 5. Ferlay J, Shin HR, Bray F et al (2010) Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008. Int J Cancer 127:2893–2917
- 6. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A (2015) Cancer statistics, 2015. CA Cancer J Clin 65:5-29
- 7. Molina JR, Yang P, Cassivi SD et al (2008) Non-small cell lung cancer: epidemiology, risk factors, treatment, and survivorship. Mayo Clin Proc 83:584–594
- 8. Thomas A, Liu SV, Subramaniam DS, Giaccone G (2015) Refining the treatment of NSCLC according to histological and molecular subtypes. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 12(9):511–526
- 9. Tovar I, Exposito J, Jaen J et al (2014) Pattern of use of radiotherapy for lung cancer: a descriptive study. BMC Cancer 14:697
- Parente Lamelas I, Abal Arca J, Firvida Perez JL (2012) Directed therapies in lung cancer: new hope. Arch Bronconeumol 48:367–371
- 11. Chung TW, Tan KT, Chan HL et al (2014) Induction of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) enzymatic activity contributes to interferon-gamma induced apoptosis and death receptor 5 expression in human non-small cell lung cancer cells. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 15:7995–8001
- Slodkowska J, Rojo MG (2011) Digital pathology in personalized cancer therapy. Folia Histochem Cytobiol 49:570–578
- Roskoski R Jr (2014) The ErbB/HER family of protein-tyrosine kinases and cancer. Pharmacol Res 79:34–74
- Tebbutt N, Pedersen MW, Johns TG (2013) Targeting the ERBB family in cancer: couples therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 13:663
- 15. Elena G, Roberta A et al (2013) Epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors: current status and future perspectives in the development of novel irreversible inhibitors for the treatment of mutant non-small cell lung cancer. Curr Pharm Des 19(5):818–832
- 16. Inamura K, Ninomiya H, Ishikawa Y et al (2010) Is the epidermal growth factor receptor status in lung cancers reflected in clinicopathologic features? Arch Pathol Lab Med 134:66–72
- Gupta R, Dastane AM, Forozan F et al (2009) Evaluation of EGFR abnormalities in patients with pulmonary adenocarcinoma: the need to test neoplasms with more than one method. Mod Pathol 22:128–133

- Shigematsu H, Gazdar AF (2006) Somatic mutations of epidermal growth factor receptor signaling pathway in lung cancers. Int J Cancer 118:257–262
- Ladanyi M, Pao W (2008) Lung adenocarcinoma: guiding EGFR-targeted therapy and beyond. Mod Pathol 21:S16–S22
- 20. Massarelli E, Varella-Garcia M, Tang X et al (2007) KRAS mutation is an important predictor of resistance to therapy with epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors in non-small-cell lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res 13:2890–2896
- Lax I, Burgess WH et al (1988) Localization of a major receptor-binding domain for epidermal growth factor by affinity labeling. Mol Cell Biol 8(4):1831–1834
- Dokala A, Thakur SS (2017) Extracellular region of epidermal growth factor receptor: a potential target for anti-EGFR drug discovery. Oncogene 36:2337–2344
- Chen L, Fu W et al (2018) Recent progress of small-molecule epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) inhibitors against C797S resistance in non-small-cell lung cancer. J Med Chem 61(10):4290–4300



22

Oxygenated Lipid Products in COPD and Asthma: A Clinical Picture

Debamita Chatterjee

Abstract

Lipids and lipid metabolism are essential for carrying out a wide range of physiological processes ranging from cellular integrity to storage and energy to signal transduction. It is increasingly being appreciated that lipid metabolism comprises of an interrelated set of pathways that orchestrate multiple cellular signaling processes, both in normal physiology and in aberrant pathological conditions such as inflammation. Oxygenated lipid products (oxylipins) are particularly suited to maintain the fine balance between a pro-inflammatory and an antiinflammatory status inside the cell. Because lung diseases including COPD and asthma exhibit chronic grade inflammation, studying oxylipins in the context of such diseases is critical for the etiology and management of these diseases. Additionally, oxylipin profiles can be utilized as biomarkers to distinguish and diagnose different types of inflammatory respiratory diseases such as COPD and asthma.

Keywords

Lung \cdot COPD and asthma \cdot Inflammation \cdot Lipid inflammatory mediators \cdot Lipid oxidation \cdot Oxylipin

22.1 Introduction

Asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) are two of the most prevalent respiratory disorders. Both are responsible for increased morbidity and mortality and results in major economic burden globally [1–4]. Asthma is typically characterized by chronic airway inflammation [5–8]. COPD, on the other hand, is a

D. Chatterjee (🖂)

BioGenex, Hyderabad, India

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9366-3_22

progressively worsening condition characterized by fixed airway obstruction, and it terminally results in chronic bronchitis and emphysema [8–10]. Chronic bronchitis is mainly airway response to irritants characterized by mucus hypersecretion and bronchial wall thickening. Emphysema is characterized by damage to alveolar walls, resulting in loss of support and collapse of airways. The pathogenesis of both diseases has been documented extensively; the intensity of pathological changes increases as the disease progresses [11, 12].

In terms of statistics, COPD is the fourth-ranked cause of mortality globally and predicted to become the fifth-ranked cause of disability [13]. It affects about 10% of persons who are mid-aged or older [14]. Asthma is a chronic disease considered to affect approx. 339 million people worldwide and is 16th among the leading causes of years lived with disability [15]. A common mechanism of many respiratory disorders is chronic inflammation [16–19]. Inflammation is aided by a suite of inflammatory cells, cytokines, and other inflammatory mediators. These constituents are extensively studied as biomarkers both to predict and monitor disease outcome and to guide therapy [20].

22.2 Oxygenated Lipid Products

The inflammatory mediators in asthma and COPD include free radicals, cytokines and chemokines, and lipid mediators [19, 20]. Lipids have always been thought of as structural blocks conferring cellular integrity and as metabolic stores imparting energy in times of starvation. Apart from the usual role, lipids are now considered participants in cell signaling and cellular homeostasis [21]. Specifically, lipids are extensively required in inflammatory processes and innate immunity to survive in response to external insults and internal aberrations. However, chronic dysregulated inflammation leads to further cellular damage that leads to multiple diseases like asthma, COPD, cancer [22], Alzheimer's disease [23], and obesity [24].

One such class of lipids that are participants in inflammation are termed oxylipin. Oxylipins are oxygenated compounds synthesized from fatty acids: it includes eicosanoids synthesized from arachidonic acid as well as related compounds synthesized from other polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA – both long and short chain length) [25]. Such reactions involve at least one step of mono- or dioxygenasecatalyzed oxygenation. Cyclooxygenase (COX-1 and COX-2), lipoxygenase (5-LOX, 12-LOX, 15-LOX), and cytochrome P450 (CYP enzymes an CYPP450 microsome ω -hydroxylases) are three major enzymatic pathways for oxylipin biosynthesis [26, 27]. In contrast to pro-inflammatory oxylipins, a few oxylipins exert anti-inflammatory effects too [28–34].

22.2.1 Pro-inflammatory Oxylipins

22.2.1.1 Arachidonates

Arachidonic acid (20,4 n-6, 20, ω -6) is 20-carbon chain PUFA with four double bonds with the final double bond located 6 carbons from the terminal end of the aliphatic chain opposite the carboxyl group (ω -6-or n-6) [28, 30].

Prostaglandins (PGs)

PGs are eicosanoids with a 5-carbon ring. PGs are local autocrine and paracrine signaling molecules [31, 32] and are produced in most of the tissues. They attach to G-protein-coupled receptors like FP, DP1-2, IP1-2, TP, EP1-4, and CRTH2 [33, 34], and thus PGs act on a wide range of cells to produce a variety of effects. PGs are formed by sequential oxidation of arachidonic acid by cyclooxygenases and prostaglandin synthases [35, 36].

The most abundant PG is PGE2 which has a complex role in lung homeostasis. It has multiple functions that are regulated by a concerted action of different receptors and signaling pathways [35, 36]. PGE2 interacts with EP1 and EP3 to affect pain in inflammatory hyperalgesia while it interacts with EP4 to confer antiinflammatory effects in allergic airways [37]. PGE2 has been shown to confer a bronchodilatory effect in allergic airways: it prevents allergen-induced bronchoconstriction [37, 38]. PGD2, on the other hand, interacts with DP and CRTH2 receptors and has been shown to be pro-inflammatory producing airway bronchoconstriction [38–40]. Studies in mouse indicated that COX-1 activity is bronchoprotective, while COX-2 promotes infiltration of inflammatory cells in the lung [41–43]. Interestingly, patients with asthma have lower levels of PGE2 [44], while COPD patients have increased PGE2 in respiratory secretions [29, 45]. Additionally, increased signaling in PGE2-EP2/4 axis has also been observed in fibroblasts isolated from the lung parenchyma of COPD patients [29].

Thromboxanes

Thromboxane A2 (TXA2), generated from PGH2, interacts with TP receptor [46] and is a potent bronchoconstrictor [47]. TXA2 is mainly formed from platelets wherein it promotes aggregation and vasoconstriction [48]. Additionally, it acts on bronchial and vascular smooth muscle cells. Because TXA2 affects bronchial hyperresponsiveness [49], inhibitors of TXA2 are considered as a therapy for asthma.

TXA2 is nonenzymatically degraded to TXB2 in the lungs for exhalation. Interestingly, TXB2 level was below detection levels in exhaled breath condensates (EBC) from COPD patients. However, the levels were found to be elevated in EBC from asthma patients [50, 51]. In addition to baseline levels, TXB2 levels were detected in airways of asthma patients when they are subjected to allergen stressors [52]. TXB2 was also found in other samples such as bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL), urine, and plasma from asthma patients [53–55]. A particular metabolite of TXB2, 11-dehydro-TXB2, has been found in urine samples from COPD patients [56].

Leukotrienes

Leukotrienes (LT) were first discovered in leukocytes [57]. LTs contain 20 carbons with 3 conjugated double bonds but lack the 5-carbon ring structure. LTs act through G-protein-coupled receptors [58] and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) [59]. They can be both autocrine and paracrine signaling molecules.

There are two distinct types of LTs. The LTs conjugated to glutathione are termed cysteinyl-LTs (cys-LTs) and include LTC4, LTD4, and LTE4 [60–66]. Cys-LTs are both bronchoconstrictors affecting peripheral airways [67] and vasoconstrictors [68] affecting the contraction of smooth muscle cells [69–72]. LTC4 is converted to LTD4 by cleavage of a glutamic acid residue from the glutathione moiety [73, 74]. LTD4 is short-lived and converted by a dipeptidase to LTE4, which is then excreted in the urine [75]. Thus, urinary LTE4 levels can be utilized as a biomarker of asthma [76] as it reflects total cyst-LT levels in vivo [77, 78]. Interestingly, LTE4 levels are not elevated in COPD patients [50].

The other types of LTs are formed by a different pathway and is regulated by LTA4 hydrolase, which catalyzes the hydrolysis of LTA4 to LTB4 [79]. COPD patients have higher LTB4 levels in EBC compared to control subjects [79, 80]. Patients with mild asthma present elevated levels for both LTB4 and LTE4 in EBC [51].

In summary, oxylipin profiling from EBC and sputum can distinguish between subsets of COPD and asthma patients. COPD patients display higher levels of PG (specifically PGE2 and PGF2a) and LT (LTB4 but not cysteinyl leukotrienes) in EBC [55]. Asthma patients, on the other hand, display higher levels of thromboxane and cysteinyl leukotriene levels in EBC. However, non-cysteinyl leukotrienes such as LTB4 are found in sputum in asthma patients. Incidentally, LTB4 levels are elevated in both sputum and EBC during acute stress [81].

Hydroxyeicosatetraenoic Acids (HETEs) and Oxoeicosatetraenoic Acids (KETEs)

HETEs are monohydroxy fatty acids formed by two pathways: one via enzymatic LOX metabolism and second via nonenzymatic autoxidation. Reports indicate that asthma is accompanied by high activity of pro-inflammatory enzymes 12/15-LOX and corresponding 15- HETE levels [88–90]. 15-HETE also modulates the activity of anti-inflammatory peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor PPAR- γ [91–94]. Macrophages found in BAL showed a decrease in 15-HETE levels in asthma patients [95]. However, eosinophils isolated from BAL display significantly higher levels of 15-(*S*)-HETE in cases of severe asthma [96]. Likewise, chronic bronchitis patients also display 15-(*S*)-HETE levels in induced sputum [97].

HETEs are converted to 5-oxoeicosatetraenoic acid (5-KETE) via enzymatic oxidation [82]. 5-KETE has also been shown to be formed by airway epithelial cells during oxidative stress [83]. 5-KETE is a bronchodilator [84]. It has been shown in vitro that 5-KETE is effective in attracting eosinophils and neutrophils [85, 86]. It has also been reported that this response is greater in atopic asthma patients [87].

Cis-Epoxyeicosatrienoic Acids (EETs) and Dihydroxyeicosatrienoic Acids (DHETs)

The third enzymatic pathway for oxylipin biosynthesis is CYP monooxygenase pathway which results in cis-epoxyeicosatrienoic acids. EETs are formed from CYP metabolism of arachidonic acid. EETs are a series of regiospecific and stereospecific fatty acid epoxides [98–100]. EETs, in turn, can be transformed to their corresponding diols, dihydroxyeicosatrienoic acids (DHETs) [101, 102]. Nothing much is known about the contribution of CYP-derived eicosanoids in lung homeostasis. However, CYP2J2 is found to be expressed in airway epithelial cells, bronchial and vascular smooth muscle cells, and alveolar macrophages [103, 104]. Additionally, transcripts of CYP enzymes have been found in human lung RNA [105]. Thus, EETs might have a significant contribution to lung physiology and pathology. It has been indicated that 11,12-EET and 5,6-EET regulate bronchomotor tone [106–108] and pulmonary vasoconstriction [109]. They are also involved in the composition of airway lining fluid and diminish pulmonary inflammation [98].

Eoxins (EX)

Eoxins were discovered in eosinophils. Eoxins are produced by metabolizing arachidonic acid via 15-lipoxygenase to 15(S)-hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid (15-HPETE). 15-HPETE can be dehydrated to 14,15- epoxy-eicosatetraenoic acid (14,15-LTA4) [110–112]. Similar to the cys-LTs, 14,15-LTA4 can be transformed further to 14,15-LTC4, 14,15-LTD4, and 14,15-LTE4. Thus, eoxins are 14,15-analogs of the 5,6-leukotrienes. It has been reported that eoxin 4 (14,15-LTC4) is found in BAL fluid isolated from the lungs of patients suffering from asthma as well as other respiratory syndromes such as Churg-Strauss syndrome, eosinophilic pneumonia, and sarcoidosis [113]. Interestingly, eoxins are significantly elevated in EBC of pediatric patients who are suffering from asthma and bronchial hyperresponsiveness [114]. Further studies are warranted to elucidate the contribution of eoxins to respiratory pathology.

22.2.1.2 Linoleates

Linoleic acid (18:2 n6, 18:2 ω -6) is an essential fatty acid that has to be ingested through diet as it cannot be biosynthesized [115]. Linoleic acid itself can be metabolized by Λ 6 and Λ 5 desaturases and elongases [115–117] thus acting as precursors to other ω -6 fatty acids. It can also be metabolized by the same enzymatic pathways as those used in case of arachidonic acid [117, 118]. The enzymatic pathways in the linoleic acid metabolism are (1) lipoxygenation by LOX enzymatic pathway specifically 12/15-LOX, forming 13-(*S*) and 9-(*S*)-hydroperoxyoctadecadienoic acid (HPODE), and (2) CYP enzymatic pathway forming leukotoxins, i.e., 9(10)- and 12(13)-epoxyoctadecenoic acids (EpOME). However, both the enzymatic pathways can be bypassed, and the same products can be formed via autooxidation.

Linoleic acid metabolites via LOX pathway such as 9-HODE, 13-HODE, 9-KODE, and 13- KODE have been reported to have binding affinity to PPAR-y [119–121]. Thus, it could be that these molecules and their levels might affect respiratory physiology through inflammatory process-sensitive subgroups (e.g.,

smokers). Elevated levels of such leukotoxins are found in BAL fluid isolated from patients suffering from acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) [122]. NO₂ and other oxidants can also metabolize leukotoxins by autooxidation in the lungs [123]. Thus, this class of oxylipins needs to be investigated in the context of respiratory pathology.

22.2.2 Anti-inflammatory Oxylipins

22.2.2.1 Arachidonate-Derived Oxylipins

Lipoxins

Lipoxins are short-lived eicosanoids that aid the resolution of inflammation [124– 128]. Lipoxins are enzymatically formed from arachidonic acid, an ω -6 fatty acid, and contain three hydroxyl residues and four double bonds. Lipoxin LXA4 interacts with alpha lipoxin receptor [126], a G-protein-coupled receptor. There are three reported mechanisms by which LXA4 potentially aids in resolution of inflammation: (1) LXA4 inhibits synthesis of the cys-LTs [129], (2) LXA4 inhibits neutrophil aggregation, chemotaxis, and activation, and (3) LXA4 inhibits NF- κ b signaling pathway thus dampening production and activity of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1, and IL-6 [130]. Both LXA4 and 15-epi-LXA4 have been found to be beneficial to asthma patients [131, 132]. Airway hyperresponsiveness and inflammation is blocked upon administering a stable analog of LXA4 in the mouse model of asthma [131]. Additionally, LXA4 levels in whole blood are found to be significantly lower in severe cases of asthma [133]. Airflow blockage is negatively regulated by LXA4 levels. Also, LXA4 is found to be deficient in induced sputum isolated from patients suffering from severe asthma [134].

22.2.2.2 ω-3 Fatty Acid–Derived Oxylipins

Resolvins, Protectins, and Maresins

 ω -3 fatty acids are fatty acids that contain a double bond three carbons from the terminal methyl group of the fatty acid chain. Oxylipins derived from ω -3 fatty acids, as opposed to ω -6 fatty acids, are known to be anti-inflammatory and thus aid resolution of inflammatory processes. As such they are increasingly being considered nutritionally beneficial [135–139]. These fatty acids have been documented as beneficial not just for inflammatory disorders [140] but also for cardiovascular disease [141].

Resolvins (Rvs) [136] are metabolic byproducts of eicosapentaenoicacid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), as well as docosapentaenoic acid (DPA) and clupanodonic acid. Rvs are categorized into several classes based on their origin parent PUFA chain and/or their structural distinctiveness. Research is being done to elucidate the role of Rvs in restoring normal cellular function after tissue injury and inflammation.

Protectins [136, 142, 143] and maresins [144] are formed from omega-3 fatty acids, EPA and DHA. Protectins are similar to lipoxins in many ways. Both are protective by inhibiting production of the pro-inflammatory IL-13 and cys-LTs, although protectins are found to display protective properties at lower amounts than LXA4 [145, 146]. Maresins are so named because they are derived from macrophage mediator in resolving inflammation [144]. Maresin-1 is a potent pro-resolving mediator activating macrophage efferocytosis. COPD patients having defective macrophage efferocytosis might affect the resolution of inflammation and, therefore, it is conjectured that a stable therapeutic analog of maresin-1 might be beneficial to COPD patients [144].

22.3 Lipid Peroxidation Product

Oxidative stress is characterized by an excess of reactive oxygen species (ROS) than the antioxidant defenses can handle. This leads to extensive damage to lipids, proteins, and DNA. Oxidative stress is a critical feature in patients with COPD [147] activating inflammatory and immunity cells, including neutrophils, macrophages, and epithelial cells in the airways of patients with COPD. Oxidative stress leads to the production of a new class of prostanoid mediators formed via nonenzymatic oxidation of arachidonic acid. This new class is termed isoprostanes that can affect respiratory pathological functions including bronchoconstriction and plasma exudation [148].

22.3.1 Isoprostanes

Isoprostanes are lipid peroxidation products specifically of arachidonic acid. Due to their ROS-mediated origin, isoprostanes are assayed as oxidative stress markers in respiratory diseases [149–153]. Isoprostanes are both cytotoxic and proinflammatory. The levels of 8-iso-prostaglandin F2 α – otherwise known as 8-isoprostane – are found to be increased in EBC isolated from smokers and from patients with COPD. This indirectly assays the degree of oxidative stress in such subjects [154, 155]. Measurements of 8-isoprostanes in the plasma and BALF are also increased in such subjects. Additionally, it was found that plasma F2-isoprostanes increased to a much higher degree in patients with acute COPD [155]. 8-iso-PGF2 displays potent smooth muscle constriction properties in vitro via several prostanoid receptors. 8-iso-PGF2 α has been appreciated as the "gold standard" to study the oxidative stress in respiratory pathology [156]. Since smoking leads to oxidative stress thereby increasing risk factor for COPD, 8-iso-PGF2 α levels have been assayed in the EBC of smoker and nonsmoker COPD patients [157] (Fig. 22.1).



Fig. 22.1 The scheme above illustrates two branches of lipid oxidation products. The left branch shows lipid oxidation products that are produced under normal enzyme-mediated and autooxidation conditions. Normally oxygenated products are both pro-inflammatory (shown in red) and anti-inflammatory (shown in green). The right branch shows aberrant ROS-mediated oxidation products – lipid peroxidation products (also shown in red). The parent compound of most of these lipid products are derived from arachidonic acid

22.4 Conclusion

Lipid mediators are being increasingly appreciated as playing a significant role in physiological and pathophysiological inflammation. This is particularly prevalent in respiratory pathology. Identifying and quantifying the lipid pathways in lung disease such as asthma and COPD will greatly aid in the diagnosis, management, and therapy of the disease. In this context, high-throughput lipidomics along with sophistication in technology such as spectroscopic methods (ESI-MS and MALDI-MS) and refined data analysis is of paramount importance. Another important insight gleaned from lipid biology is related to nutrition. Recently it is considered beneficial to ingest a diet rich in particular type and quantity of lipid as well as balance the intake of ω –3 and ω -6 fatty acids. More research is needed to investigate the effects of such nutritional changes in mediating shifts in lipid balance, homeostasis, and metabolism.

References

- 1. Braman SS (2006) The global burden of asthma. Chest 130(1 Suppl):4S-12S
- Sullivan SD, Weiss KB (2001) Health economics of asthma and rhinitis. II Assessing the value of interventions. J Allergy Clin Immunol 107(2):203–210

- Pauwels RA, Buist AS, Calverley PM, Jenkins CR, Hurd SS (2001) Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. NHLBI/ WHO Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) Workshop summary. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 163(5):1256–1276
- Pauwels RA, Rabe KF (2004) Burden and clinical features of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Lancet 364(9434):613–620
- 5. Barnes PJ (1996) Pathophysiology of asthma. Br J Clin Pharmacol 42(1):3-10
- 6. Lemanske RF Jr, Busse WW (2003) Asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 111(2 Suppl):S502-S519
- 7. Holgate ST (2008) Pathogenesis of asthma. Clin Exp Allergy 38(6):872-897
- Barnes PJ (2008) Immunology of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Nat Rev Immunol 8(3):183–192
- 9. Larsson K (2007) Aspects on pathophysiological mechanisms in COPD. J Intern Med 262(3):311-340
- Salvi SS, Barnes PJ (2009) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in non-smokers. Lancet 374(9691):733–743
- Hogg JC, Chu F, Utokaparch S, Woods R, Elliott WM, Buzatu L et al (2004) The nature of small-airway obstruction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 350:2645–2653
- McDonough JE, Yuan R, Suzuki M, Seyednejad N, Elliott WM, Sanchez PG et al (2011) Small-airway obstruction and emphysema in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 365:1567–1575
- Barnes PJ, Burney PGJ, Silverman EK, Celli BR, Vestbo J, Wedzicha JA et al (2015) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Nat Rev Dis Primers 1:15076
- 14. Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V et al (2012) Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 380:2095–2128
- 15. The Global Asthma Report (2018) Auckland, New Zealand: Global Asthma Network, 2018
- Barnes PJ (2008) Immunology of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Nat Immunol Rev 8:183–192
- Brusselle GG, Joos GF, Bracke KR (2011) New insights into the immunology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Lancet 378:1015–1026
- Lemanske RF, Busse WW (2010) Asthma: clinical expression and molecular mechanisms. J Allergy Clin Immunol 125:S95–S102
- Chung KF, Adcock IM (2008) Multifaceted mechanisms in COPD: inflammation, immunity, and tissue repair and destruction. Eur Resp J 31:1334–1356
- Donnelly LE, Rogers DF (2008) Novel targets and drugs in inflammatory lung disease. Curr Opin Pharmacol 8(3):219–221
- Lipid mediators in health and disease: enzymes and receptors as therapeutic targets for the regulation of immunity and inflammation (2009) Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 49:123–150
- 22. Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F (2008) Cancer related inflammation. Nature 454:436–444
- Holmes C, Cunningham C, Zotova E, Woolford J et al (2009) Systemic inflammation and disease progression in Alzheimer disease. Neurology 73:768–774
- Gregor MF, Hotamisligil GS (2011) Inflammatory mechanisms in obesity. Annu Rev Immunol 29:415–445
- 25. Gerwick WH, Moghaddam M, Hamberg M (1991) Oxylipin metabolism in the red alga Gracilariopsis lemaneiformis: mechanism of formation of vicinal dihydroxy fatty acids. Arch Biochem Biophys 290(2):436–444
- Conrad DJ (1999) The arachidonate 12/15 lipoxygenases. A review of tissue expression and biologic function. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 17(1–2):71–89
- Funk CD (2001) Prostaglandins and leukotrienes: advances in eicosanoid biology. Science 294(5548):1871–1875
- Boyce JA (2008) Eicosanoids in asthma, allergic inflammation, and host defense. Curr Mol Med 8(5):335–349

- Chung KF (2005) Evaluation of selective prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) receptor agonists as therapeutic agents for the treatment of asthma. Sci STKE 2005(303):pe47
- Sala A, Folco G, Murphy RC (2010) Transcellular biosynthesis of eicosanoids. Pharmacol Rep 62(3):503–510
- Dohadwala M, Batra RK, Luo J, Lin Y et al (2002) Autocrine/paracrine prostaglandin E2 production by non-small cell lung cancer cells regulates matrix metalloproteinase-2 and CD44 in cyclooxygenase-2-dependent invasion. J Biol Chem 277:50828–50833
- 32. Sales KJ, Katz AA, Howard B, Soeters RP et al (2002) Cyclooxygenase-1 is up-regulated in cervical carcinomas: autocrine/paracrine regulation of cyclooxygenase-2, prostaglandin e receptors, and angiogenic factors by cyclooxygenase-1. Cancer Res 62:424–432
- Senior J, Sangha R, Baxter GS, Marshall K et al (1992) In vitro characterization of prostanoid FP-, DP-, IP- and TP receptors on the non-pregnant human myometrium. Br J Pharmacol 107:215–221
- 34. Dorsam RT, Gutkind JS (2007) G-protein-coupled receptors and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 7:79–94
- 35. Jakobsson PJ, Thoren S, Morgenstern R, Samuelsson B (1999) Identification of human prostaglandin E synthase: a microsomal, glutathione-dependent, inducible enzyme, constituting a potential novel drug target. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(13):7220–7225
- 36. Samuelsson B, Morgenstern R, Jakobsson PJ (2007) Membrane prostaglandin E synthase-1: a novel therapeutic target. Pharmacol Rev 59(3):207–224
- Hata AN, Breyer RM (2004) Pharmacology and signaling of prostaglandin receptors: multiple roles in inflammation and immune modulation. Pharmacol Ther 103:147–166
- Smyth EM, Grosser T, Wang M, Yu Y, FitzGerald GA (2009) Prostanoids in health and disease. J Lipid Res 50(Suppl):S423–S428
- Hardy CC, Robinson C, Tattersfield AE, Holgate ST (1984) The bronchoconstrictor effect of inhaled prostaglandin D2 in normal and asthmatic men. N Engl J Med 311:209–213
- 40. Barr RM, Koro O, Francis DM, Black AK et al (1988) The release of prostaglandin D2 from human skin in vivo and in vitro during immediate allergic reactions. Br J Pharmacol 94:773–780
- 41. Silver JS, Kearley J, Copenhaver AM, Sanden C, Mori M, Yu L et al (2016) Inflammatory triggers associated with exacerbations of COPD orchestrate plasticity of group 2 innate lymphoid cells in the lungs. Nat Immunol 17:626–635
- 42. Harrington LS, Lucas R, McMaster SK, Moreno L, Scadding G, Warner TD, Mitchell JA (2008) COX-1, and not COX-2 activity, regulates airway function: relevance to aspirinsensitive asthma. FASEB J 22(11):4005–4010
- 43. Swedin L, Neimert-Andersson T, Hjoberg J, Jonasson S, van Hage M, Adner M, Ryrfeldt A, Dahlen SE (2009) Dissociation of airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness by cyclooxygenase inhibition in allergen challenged mice. Eur Respir J 34(1):200–208
- 44. Gauvreau GM, Watson RM, O'Byrne PM (1999) Protective effects of inhaled PGE2 on allergen-induced airway responses and airway inflammation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 159(1):31–36
- 45. Schafer D, Lindenthal U, Wagner M, Bolcskei PL, Baenkler HW (1996) Effect of prostaglandin E2 on eicosanoid release by human bronchial biopsy specimens from normal and inflamed mucosa. Thorax 51(9):919–923
- 46. Hirata M, Hayashi Y, Ushikubi F, Yokota Y et al (1991) Cloning and expression of cDNA for a human thromboxane A2 receptor. Nature 349:617–620
- 47. Capra V, Habib A, Accomazzo MR, Ravasi S et al (2003) Thromboxane prostanoid receptor in human airway smooth muscle cells: a relevant role in proliferation. Eur J Pharmacol 474:149–159
- Rovati GE, Sala A, Capra V, Dahlen SE, Folco G (2010) Dual COXIB/TP antagonists: a possible new twist in NSAID pharmacology and cardiovascular risk. Trends Pharmacol Sci 31(3):102–107
- 49. Kurosawa M (1995) Role of thromboxane A2 synthetase inhibitors in the treatment of patients with bronchial asthma. Clin Ther 17(1):2–11. discussion 1

- Montuschi P, Kharitonov SA, Ciabattoni G, Barnes PJ (2003) Exhaled leukotrienes and prostaglandins in COPD. Thorax 58(7):585–588
- Montuschi P, Barnes PJ (2002) Exhaled leukotrienes and prostaglandins in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 109(4):615–620
- 52. Wenzel SE, Westcott JY, Larsen GL (1991) Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid mediator levels 5 minutes after allergen challenge in atopic subjects with asthma: relationship to the development of late asthmatic responses. J Allergy Clin Immunol 87(2):540–548
- 53. Kumlin M, Dahlen B, Bjorck T, Zetterstrom O, Granstrom E, Dahlen SE (1992) Urinary excretion of leukotriene E4 and 11-dehydro-thromboxane B2 in response to bronchial provocations with allergen, aspirin, leukotriene D4, and histamine in asthmatics. Am Rev Respir Dis 146(1):96–103
- 54. Oosterhoff Y, Kauffman HF, Rutgers B, Zijlstra FJ, Koeter GH, Postma DS (1995) Inflammatory cell number and mediators in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and peripheral blood in subjects with asthma with increased nocturnal airways narrowing. J Allergy Clin Immunol 96(2):219–229
- 55. Wenzel SE, Westcott JY, Smith HR, Larsen GL (1989) Spectrum of prostanoid release after bronchoalveolar allergen challenge in atopic asthmatics and in control groups. An alteration in the ratio of bronchoconstrictive to bronchoprotective mediators. Am Rev Respir Dis 139(2):450–457
- 56. Davi G, Basili S, Vieri M, Cipollone F, Santarone S, Alessandri C, Gazzaniga P, Cordova C, Violi F (1997) Enhanced thromboxane biosynthesis in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. The Chronic Obstructive Bronchitis and Haemostasis Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 156(6):1794–1799
- 57. Samuelsson B (2000) The discovery of the leukotrienes. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161:S2–S6
- Briscoe CP, Tadayyon M, Andrews JL, Benson WG et al (2003) The orphan G proteincoupled receptor GPR40 is activated by medium and long chain fatty acids. J Biol Chem 278:11303–11311
- 59. Kliewer SA, Sundseth SS, Jones SA, Brown PJ et al (1997) Fatty acids and eicosanoids regulate gene expression through direct interactions with peroxisome proliferator activated receptors alpha and gamma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:4318–4323
- 60. Dixon RA, Diehl RE, Opas E, Rands E, Vickers PJ, Evans JF, Gillard JW, Miller DK (1990) Requirement of a 5-lipoxygenase-activating protein for leukotriene synthesis. Nature 343(6255):282–284
- Jiang Y, Kanaoka Y, Feng C, Nocka K, Rao S, Boyce JA (2006) Cutting edge: interleukin 4-dependent mast cell proliferation requires autocrine/intracrine cysteinyl leukotrieneinduced signaling. J Immunol 177(5):2755–2759
- Thivierge M, Doty M, Johnson J, Stankova J, Rola-Pleszczynski M (2000) IL-5 up-regulates cysteinyl leukotriene 1 receptor expression in HL-60 cells differentiated into eosinophils. J Immunol 165(9):5221–5226
- 63. Vargaftig BB, Singer M (2003) Leukotrienes mediate murine bronchopulmonary hyperreactivity, inflammation, and part of mucosal metaplasia and tissue injury induced by recombinant murine interleukin-13. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 28(4):410–419
- Thivierge M, Stankova J, Rola-Pleszczynski M (2001) IL-13 and IL-4 up-regulate cysteinyl leukotriene 1 receptor expression in human monocytes and macrophages. J Immunol 167(5):2855–2860
- Camargo CA Jr, Smithline HA, Malice MP, Green SA, Reiss TF (2003) A randomized controlled trial of intravenous montelukast in acute asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167(4):528–533
- 66. Silverman RA, Nowak RM, Korenblat PE, Skobeloff E, Chen Y, Bonuccelli CM, Miller CJ, Simonson SG (2004) Zafirlukast treatment for acute asthma: evaluation in a randomized, double-blind, multicenter trial. Chest 126(5):1480–1489
- 67. Bisgaard H (2001) Pathophysiology of the cysteinyl leukotrienes and effects of leukotriene receptor antagonists in asthma. Allergy 56:7–11

- Shastri S, McNeill JR, Wilson TW, Poduri R et al (2001) Cysteinyl leukotrienes mediate enhanced vasoconstriction to angiotensin II but not endothelin-1 in SHR. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 281:H342–H349
- 69. Parameswaran K, Cox G, Radford K, Janssen LJ et al (2002) Cysteinyl leukotrienes promote human airway smooth muscle migration. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166:738–742
- Dahlen SE, Hedqvist P, Hammarstrom S, Samuelsson B (1980) Leukotrienes are potent constrictors of human bronchi. Nature 288(5790):484–486
- Hanna CJ, Bach MK, Pare PD, Schellenberg RR (1981) Slow reacting substances (leukotrienes) contract human airway and pulmonary vascular smooth muscle *in vitro*. Nature 290(5804):343–344
- Kanaoka Y, Boyce JA (2004) Cysteinyl leukotrienes and their receptors: cellular distribution and function in immune and inflammatory responses. J Immunol 173(3):1503–1510
- 73. Anderson ME, Allison RD, Meister A (1982) Interconversion of leukotrienes catalyzed by purified g-glutamyl transpeptidase: concomitant formation of leukotriene D4 and g-glutamyl amino acids. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 79(4):1088–1091
- 74. Carter BZ, Shi ZZ, Barrios R, Lieberman MW (1998) gamma-glutamyl leukotrienase, a gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase gene family member, is expressed primarily in spleen. J Biol Chem 273(43):28277–28285
- Lee CW, Lewis RA, Corey EJ, Austen KF (1983) Conversion of leukotriene D4 to leukotriene E4 by a dipeptidase released from the specific granule of human polymorphonuclear leucocytes. Immunology 48(1):27–35
- 76. Drazen JM, O'Brien J, Sparrow D, Weiss ST, Martins MA, Israel E, Fanta CH (1992) Recovery of leukotriene E4 from the urine of patients with airway obstruction. Am Rev Respir Dis 146(1):104–108
- 77. Kumlin M (2000) Measurement of leukotrienes in humans. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161(2 Pt 2):S102–S106
- Kumlin M, Dahlen B (2000) The challenge procedure influences the extent of allergeninduced urinary excretion of leukotriene E4. Clin Exp Allergy 30(4):585–589
- Evans JF, Dupuis P, Ford-Hutchinson AW (1985) Purification and characterization of leukotriene A4 hydrolase from rat neutrophils. Biochim Biophys Acta 840(1):43–50
- Biernacki WA, Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ (2003) Increased leukotriene B4 and 8-isoprostane in exhaled breath condensate of patients with exacerbations of COPD. Thorax 58:294–298
- Sladek K, Dworski R, Fitzgerald GA, Buitkus KL, Block FJ, Marney SR Jr, Sheller JR (1990) Allergen-stimulated release of thromboxane A2 and leukotriene E4 in humans. Effect of indomethacin. Am Rev Respir Dis 141(6):1441–1445
- 82. Liu C, Xu D, Liu L, Schain F, Brunnstrom A, Bjorkholm M, Claesson HE, Sjoberg J (2009) 15-lipoxygenase-1 induces expression and release of chemokines in cultured human lung epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 297(1):L196–L203
- Shannon VR, Chanez P, Bousquet J, Holtzman MJ (1993) Histochemical evidence for induction of arachidonate 15-lipoxygenase in airway disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 147(4):1024–1028
- 84. Chu HW, Balzar S, Westcott JY, Trudeau JB, Sun Y, Conrad DJ, Wenzel SE (2002) Expression and activation of 15-lipoxygenase pathway in severe asthma: relationship to eosinophilic phenotype and collagen deposition. Clin Exp Allergy 32(11):1558–1565
- Kuhn H, O'Donnell VB (2006) Inflammation and immune regulation by 12/15-lipoxygenases. Prog Lipid Res 45(4):334–356
- Denning GM, Stoll LL (2006) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: potential therapeutic targets in lung disease? Pediatr Pulmonol 41(1):23–34
- 87. Benayoun L, Letuve S, Druilhe A, Boczkowski J, Dombret MC, Mechighel P, Megret J, Leseche G, Aubier M, Pretolani M (2001) Regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma expression in human asthmatic airways: relationship with proliferation, apoptosis, and airway remodeling. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164(8 Pt 1):1487–1494
- Spears M, Donnelly I, Jolly L, Brannigan M, Ito K, McSharry C, Lafferty J, Chaudhuri R, Braganza G, Bareille P, Sweeney L, Adcock IM, Barnes PJ, Wood S, Thomson NC (2009)

Bronchodilatory effect of the PPAR-gamma agonist rosiglitazone in smokers with asthma. Clin Pharmacol Ther 86(1):49–53

- Huynh ML, Malcolm KC, Kotaru C, Tilstra JA, Westcott JY, Fadok VA, Wenzel SE (2005) Defective apoptotic cell phagocytosis attenuates prostaglandin E2 and 15-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid in severe asthma alveolar macrophages. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172(8):972–979
- Profita M, Sala A, Riccobono L, Pace E, Paterno A, Zarini S, Siena L, Mirabella A, Bonsignore G, Vignola AM (2000) 15(S)- HETE modulates LTB4 production and neutrophil chemotaxis in chronic bronchitis. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 279(4):C1249–C1258
- 91. Jacobs ER, Zeldin DC (2001) The lung HETEs (and EETs) up. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 280(1):H1–H10
- Powell WS, Rokach J (2005) Biochemistry, biology and chemistry of the 5-lipoxygenase product 5-oxo-ETE. Prog Lipid Res 44(2–3):154–183
- 93. Erlemann KR, Cossette C, Gravel S, Lesimple A, Lee GJ, Saha G, Rokach J, Powell WS (2007) Airway epithelial cells synthesize the lipid mediator 5-oxo-ETE in response to oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med 42(5):654–664
- 94. Morin C, Sirois M, Echave V, Gomes MM, Rousseau E (2007) Relaxing effects of 5-oxo-ETE on human bronchi involve BKCa channel activation. Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat 83(4):311–319
- Powell WS, Gravel S, MacLeod RJ, Mills E, Hashefi M (1993) Stimulation of human neutrophils by 5-oxo-6,8,11,14- eicosatetraenoic acid by a mechanism independent of the leukotriene B4 receptor. J Biol Chem 268(13):9280–9286
- 96. Guilbert M, Ferland C, Bosse M, Flamand N, Lavigne S, Laviolette M (1999) 5-Oxo-6,8,11,14-eicosatetraenoic acid induces important eosinophil transmigration through basement membrane components: comparison of normal and asthmatic eosinophils. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 21(1):97–104
- Muro S, Hamid Q, Olivenstein R, Taha R, Rokach J, Powell WS (2003) 5-oxo-6,8,11,14eicosatetraenoic acid induces the infiltration of granulocytes into human skin. J Allergy Clin Immunol 112(4):768–774
- Spector AA (2009) Arachidonic acid cytochrome P450 epoxygenase pathway. J Lipid Res 50(Suppl):S52–S56
- 99. Spector AA, Fang X, Snyder GD, Weintraub NL (2004) Epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EETs): metabolism and biochemical function. Prog Lipid Res 43(1):55–90
- 100. Le Quere V, Plee-Gautier E, Potin P, Madec S, Salaun JP (2004) Human CYP4F3s are the main catalysts in the oxidation of fatty acid epoxides. J Lipid Res 45(8):1446–1458
- Newman JW, Morisseau C, Hammock BD (2005) Epoxide hydrolases: their roles and interactions with lipid metabolism. Prog Lipid Res 44(1):1–51
- 102. Scarborough PE, Ma J, Qu W, Zeldin DC (1999) P450 subfamily CYP2J and their role in the bioactivation of arachidonic acid in extrahepatic tissues. Drug Metab Rev 31(1):205–234
- 103. Zeldin DC, Foley J, Ma J, Boyle JE, Pascual JM, Moomaw CR, Tomer KB, Steenbergen C, Wu S (1996) CYP2J subfamily P450s in the lung: expression, localization, and potential functional significance. Mol Pharmacol 50(5):1111–1117
- 104. Raunio H, Hakkola J, Hukkanen J, Pelkonen O, Edwards R, Boobis A, Anttila S (1998) Expression of xenobiotic-metabolizing cytochrome P450s in human pulmonary tissues. Arch Toxicol Suppl 20:465–469
- 105. Pascual JM, McKenzie A, Yankaskas JR, Falck JR, Zeldin DC (1998) Epoxygenase metabolites of arachidonic acid affect electrophysiologic properties of rat tracheal epithelial cells1. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 286(2):772–779
- 106. Salvail D, Dumoulin M, Rousseau E (1998) Direct modulation of tracheal cl--channel activity by 5,6- and 11,12-EET. Am J Phys 275(3 Pt 1):L432–L441
- 107. Dumoulin M, Salvail D, Gaudreault SB, Cadieux A, Rousseau E (1998) Epoxyeicosatrienoic acids relax airway smooth muscles and directly activate reconstituted KCa channels. Am J Phys 275(3 Pt 1):L423–L431

- 108. Pokreisz P, Fleming I, Kiss L, Barbosa-Sicard E, Fisslthaler B, Falck JR, Hammock BD, Kim IH, Szelid Z, Vermeersch P, Gillijns H, Pellens M, Grimminger F, van Zonneveld AJ, Collen D, Busse R, Janssens S (2006) Cytochrome P450 epoxygenase gene function in hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction and pulmonary vascular remodeling. Hypertension 47(4):762–770
- 109. Keseru B, Barbosa-Sicard E, Popp R, Fisslthaler B, Dietrich A, Gudermann T, Hammock BD, Falck JR, Weissmann N, Busse R, Fleming I (2008) Epoxyeicosatrienoic acids and the soluble epoxide hydrolase are determinants of pulmonary artery pressure and the acute hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstrictor response. FASEB J 22(12):4306–4315
- 110. Jubiz W, Radmark O, Lindgren JA, Malmsten C, Samuelsson B (1981) Novel leukotrienes: prod'ucts formed by initial oxygenation of arachidonic acid at C-15. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 99(3):976–986
- 111. Maas RL, Brash AR (1983) Evidence for a lipoxygenase mechanism in the biosynthesis of epoxide and dihydroxy leukotrienes from 15(S)-hydroperoxyicosatetraenoic acid by human platelets and porcine leukocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80(10):2884–2888
- 112. Feltenmark S, Gautam N, Brunnstrom A, Griffiths W, Backman L, Edenius C, Lindbom L, Bjorkholm M, Claesson HE (2008) Eoxins are proinflammatory arachidonic acid metabolites produced via the 15-lipoxygenase-1 pathway in human eosinophils and mast cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(2):680–685
- 113. Ono E, Mita H, Taniguchi M, Higashi N, Hasegawa M, Miyazaki E, Kumamoto T, Akiyama K (2009) Concentration of 14,15- leukotriene C4 (eoxin C4) in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid. Clin Exp Allergy 39(9):1348–1352
- 114. Sachs-Olsen C, Sanak M, Lang AM, Gielicz A, Mowinckel P, Lodrup Carlsen KC, Carlsen KH, Szczeklik A (2010) Eoxins: a new inflammatory pathway in childhood asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 126(4):859–867. e9
- 115. Das UN (2006) Essential fatty acids: biochemistry, physiology and pathology. Biotechnol J 1(4):420–439
- Cho HP, Nakamura M, Clarke SD (1999) Cloning, expression, and fatty acid regulation of the human delta-5 desaturase. J Biol Chem 274(52):37335–37339
- 117. Oliw EH, Brodowsky ID, Hornsten L, Hamberg M (1993) Bisallylic hydroxylation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by hepatic monooxygenases and its relation to the enzymatic and nonenzymatic formation of conjugated hydroxy fatty acids. Arch Biochem Biophys 300(1):434–439
- Oliw EH (1983) Analysis of 1,2-diols of linoleic, alpha-linolenic and arachidonic acid by gas chromatography--mass spectrometry using cyclic alkyl boronic esters. J Chromatogr 275(2):245–259
- Nagy L, Tontonoz P, Alvarez JG, Chen H, Evans RM (1998) Oxidized LDL regulates macrophage gene expression through ligand activation of PPARg. Cell 93(2):229–240
- 120. Altmann R, Hausmann M, Spottl T, Gruber M, Bull AW, Menzel K, Vogl D, Herfarth H, Scholmerich J, Falk W, Rogler G (2007) 13-Oxo-ODE is an endogenous ligand for PPARgamma in human colonic epithelial cells. Biochem Pharmacol 74(4):612–622
- 121. Itoh T, Fairall L, Amin K, Inaba Y, Szanto A, Balint BL, Nagy L, Yamamoto K, Schwabe JW (2008) Structural basis for the activation of PPARg by oxidized fatty acids. Nat Struct Mol Biol 15(9):924–931
- 122. Ozawa T, Sugiyama S, Hayakawa M, Satake T, Taki F, Iwata M, Taki K (1988) Existence of leukotoxin 9,10-epoxy-12-octadecenoate in lung lavages from rats breathing pure oxygen and from patients with the adult respiratory distress syndrome. Am Rev Respir Dis 137(3):535–540
- 123. Sevanian A, Mead JF, Stein RA (1979) Epoxides as products of lipid autoxidation in rat lungs. Lipids 14(7):634–643
- 124. Janakiram NB, Mohammed A, Rao CV (2011) Role of lipoxins, resolvins, and other bioactive lipids in colon and pancreatic cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev 30:507–523
- 125. Serhan CN, Hamberg M, Samuelsson B (1984) Lipoxins: novel series of biologically active compounds formed from arachidonic acid in human leukocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 81:5335–5339

- Chiang N, Arita M, Serhan CN (2005) Anti-inflammatory circuitry: lipoxin, aspirin-triggered lipoxins and their receptor ALX. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 73(3–4):163–177
- 127. Serhan CN, Samuelsson B (1988) Lipoxins: a new series of eicosanoids (biosynthesis, stereochemistry, and biological activities). Adv Exp Med Biol 229:1–14
- 128. Haeggstrom JZ, Rinaldo-Matthis A, Wheelock CE, Wetterholm A (2010) Advances in eicosanoid research, novel therapeutic implications. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 396(1):135–139
- 129. Levy BD, Lukacs NW, Berlin AA, Schmidt B et al (2007) Lipoxin A4 stable analogs reduce allergic airway responses via mechanisms distinct from CysLT1 receptor antagonism. FASEB J 21:3877–3884
- 130. Zhou M, Chen B, Sun H, Deng Z et al (2011) The protective effects of lipoxin A4 during the early phase of severe acute pancreatitis in rats. Scand J Gastroenterol 46:211–219
- 131. Levy BD, De Sanctis GT, Devchand PR, Kim E, Ackerman K, Schmidt BA, Szczeklik W, Drazen JM, Serhan CN (2002) Multi-pronged inhibition of airway hyper-responsiveness and inflammation by lipoxin A4. Nat Med 8(9):1018–1023
- 132. Bonnans C, Vachier I, Chavis C, Godard P, Bousquet J, Chanez P (2002) Lipoxins are potential endogenous anti-inflammatory mediators in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 165(11):1531–1535
- 133. Levy BD, Bonnans C, Silverman ES, Palmer LJ, Marigowda G, Israel E (2005) Diminished lipoxin biosynthesis in severe asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172(7):824–830
- 134. Vachier I, Bonnans C, Chavis C, Farce M, Godard P, Bousquet J, Chanez P (2005) Severe asthma is associated with a loss of LX4, an endogenous anti-inflammatory compound. J Allergy Clin Immunol 115(1):55–60
- 135. Serhan CN, Chiang N, Van Dyke TE (2008) Resolving inflammation: dual anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution lipid mediators. Nat Rev Immunol 8(5):349–361
- Kohli P, Levy BD (2009) Resolvins and protectins: mediating solutions to inflammation. Br J Pharmacol 158(4):960–971
- 137. Bannenberg G, Serhan CN (2010) Specialized pro-resolving lipid mediators in the inflammatory response: an update. Biochim Biophys Acta 1801(12):1260–1273
- Carlo T, Levy BD (2010) Molecular circuits of resolution in airway inflammation. Sci World J 10:1386–1399
- 139. Bannenberg GL (2010) Therapeutic applicability of anti-inflammatory and proresolving polyunsaturated fatty acid-derived lipid mediators. Sci World J 10:676–712
- Calder PC (2006) n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, inflammation, and inflammatory diseases. Am J Clin Nutr 83(6 Suppl):1505S–1519S
- 141. Harris WS, Miller M, Tighe AP, Davidson MH, Schaefer EJ (2008) Omega-3 fatty acids and coronary heart disease risk: clinical and mechanistic perspectives. Atherosclerosis 197(1):12–24
- 142. Serhan CN, Petasis NA (2011) Resolvins and protectins in inflammation resolution. Chem Rev 111:5922–5943
- 143. Levy BD, Kohli P, Gotlinger K, Haworth O et al (2007) Protectin D1 is generated in asthma and dampens airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness. J Immunol 178:496–502
- 144. Serhan CN, Yang R, Martinod K, Kasuga K et al (2009) Maresins: novel macrophage mediators with potent anti-inflammatory and proresolving actions. J Exp Med 206:15–23
- 145. Serhan CN (2010) Novel lipid mediators and resolution mechanisms in acute inflammation: to resolve or not? Am J Pathol 177:1576–1591
- 146. Levy BD, De Sanctis GT, Devchand PR, Kim E et al (2002) Multi-pronged inhibition of airway hyper-responsiveness and inflammation by lipoxin A4. Nat Med 8:1018–1023
- 147. Kirkham PA, Barnes PJ (2013) Oxidative stress in COPD. Chest 144:266-273
- Montuschi P, Barnes PJ, Roberts LJ (2004) Isoprostanes: markers and mediators of oxidative stress. FASEB J 18:1791–1800
- 149. Morrow JD, Minton TA, Roberts LJ (1992) The F2-isoprostane, 8- epi-prostaglandin F2a, a potent agonist of the vascular thromboxane/endoperoxide receptor, is a platelet thromboxane/ endoperoxide receptor antagonist. Prostaglandins 44(2):155–163

- Milne GL, Yin H, Morrow JD (2008) Human biochemistry of the isoprostane pathway. J Biol Chem 283(23):15533–15537
- 151. Roberts LJ 2nd, Milne GL (2009) Isoprostanes. J Lipid Res 50(Suppl):S219-S223
- 152. Montuschi P, Corradi M, Ciabattoni G, Nightingale J, Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ (1999) Increased 8-isoprostane, a marker of oxidative stress, in exhaled condensate of asthma patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 160(1):216–220
- 153. Dworski R, Murray JJ, Roberts LJ, Oates JA, Morrow JD, Fisher L, Sheller JR (1999) Allergen-induced synthesis of F2- isoprostanes in atopic asthmatics – evidence for oxidant stress. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 160(6):1947–1951
- 154. Gamble E, Grootendorst DC, Hattotuwa K, O'Shaughnessy T, Ram FS, Qiu Y et al (2007) Airway mucosal inflammation in COPD is similar in smokers and ex-smokers: a pooled analysis. Eur Respir J 30:467–471
- 155. Montuschi P, Collins JV, Ciabattoni G et al (2000) Exhaled 8-isoprostane as an in vivo biomarker of lung oxidative stress in patients with COPD and healthy smokers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162:1175–1177
- 156. Montuschi P, Ciabattoni G, Paredi P, Pantelidis P, du Bois RM, Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ (1998) 8-Isoprostane as a biomarker of oxidative stress in interstitial lung diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158(5):1524–1527
- 157. Wood LG, Gibson PG, Garg ML (2003) Biomarkers of lipid peroxidation, airway inflammation and asthma. Eur Respir J 21(1):177–186